Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences

Muthupandian Saravanan Hamed Barabadi *Editors*

Cancer Nanotheranostics Volume 2



Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences

Series Editor

Ram Prasad Department of Botany Mahatma Gandhi Central University Motihari, Bihar, India Nano and biotechnology are two of the 21st century's most promising technologies. Nanotechnology is demarcated as the design, development, and application of materials and devices whose least functional make up is on a nanometer scale (1 to 100 nm). Meanwhile, biotechnology deals with metabolic and other physiological developments of biological subjects including microorganisms. These microbial processes have opened up new opportunities to explore novel applications, for example, the biosynthesis of metal nanomaterials, with the implication that these two technologies (i.e., thus nanobiotechnology) can play a vital role in developing and executing many valuable tools in the study of life. Nanotechnology is very diverse, ranging from extensions of conventional device physics to completely new approaches based upon molecular self-assembly, from developing new materials with dimensions on the nanoscale, to investigating whether we can directly control matters on/in the atomic scale level. This idea entails its application to diverse fields of science such as plant biology, organic chemistry, agriculture, the food industry, and more.

Nanobiotechnology offers a wide range of uses in medicine, agriculture, and the environment. Many diseases that do not have cures today may be cured by nanotechnology in the future. Use of nanotechnology in medical therapeutics needs adequate evaluation of its risk and safety factors. Scientists who are against the use of nanotechnology also agree that advancement in nanotechnology should continue because this field promises great benefits, but testing should be carried out to ensure its safety in people. It is possible that nanomedicine in the future will play a crucial role in the treatment of human and plant diseases, and also in the enhancement of normal human physiology and plant systems, respectively. If everything proceeds as expected, nanobiotechnology will, one day, become an inevitable part of our everyday life and will help save many lives.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/15921

Muthupandian Saravanan • Hamed Barabadi Editors

Cancer Nanotheranostics

Volume 2



Editors Muthupandian Saravanan AMR and Nanomedicine Lab Department of Pharmacology Saveetha Dental College Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences (SIMATS) Chennai, India

Hamed Barabadi Department of Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, School of Pharmacy Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Science Tehran, Iran

 ISSN 2523-8027
 ISSN 2523-8035
 (electronic)

 Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences
 ISBN 978-3-030-76262-9
 ISBN 978-3-030-76263-6
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6
 ISBN 978-3-030-76263-6
 (eBook)

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Nanotechnology is an interdisciplinary research field that integrates chemistry, engineering, biology, and medicine. Nanomaterials offer tremendous opportunities as well as challenges for researchers. Of course, cancer is one of the world's most common health problems, responsible for many deaths. Exploring efficient anticancer drugs could revolutionize treatment options and help manage cancer mortality. Nanomedicine plays a significant role in developing alternative and more effective treatment strategies for cancer theranostics. This book mainly focuses on the emerging trends using nanomaterials and nanocomposites as alternative anticancer materials. The book is divided into three main topic areas: how to overcome existing traditional approaches to combat cancer, applying multiple mechanisms to target the cancer cells, and how nanomaterials can be used as effective carriers. The contents highlight recent advances in interdisciplinary research on processing, morphology, structure, and properties of nanostructured materials and their applications to combat cancer.

Cancer Nanotheranostics is comprehensive in that it discusses all aspects of cancer nanotechnology. Because of the vast amount of information, it was decided to split this material into two volumes. In the first volume of *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, we discuss the role of different nanomaterials for cancer therapy, including lipid-based nanomaterials, protein- and peptide-based nanomaterials, polymer-based nanomaterials, metal-organic nanomaterials, porphyrin-based nanomaterials, metal-based nanomaterials, exosome-based nanomaterials, and nano-antibodies. In the second volume, we discuss the nano-based diagnosis of cancer, nano-oncology for clinical applications, nano-immunotherapy, nano-based photothermal cancer therapy, nano-erythrosomes for cancer drug delivery, regulatory perspectives of nanomaterials, limitations of cancer nanotheranostics, the safety of nano-biomaterials for cancer nanotheranostics, and the role of artificial intelligence in cancer nanotheranostics.

Mekelle, Ethiopia Tehran, Iran Muthupandian Saravanan Hamed Barabadi

Contents

1	Nanotheranostics: Emerging Strategies for Early Diagnosis	
	and Therapy of Cancer.	1
	Rekha Pachaiappan and Kovendhan Manavalan	
	Introduction	1
	Global Scenario of Cancer	1
	Nanoscience and Nanotechnology in Cancer	2
	Various Nanotheranostic Agents	3
	Noble Metal-Based Nanotheranostic Agents	3
	Silica-Based Nanotheranostic Agents	7
	Dendrimer-Based Nanotheranostic Agents	8
	Polymeric-Based Nanotheranostic Agents	12
	Liposome-Based Nanotheranostic Agents	15
	Micelle-Based Nanotheranostic Agents	17
	Other Nanotheranostic Agents	20
	Conclusion and Future Direction	20
	References	23
2	Multifunctional Nanoparticles for Targeting Cancer	
	Nanotheranostics	29
	Ravichandran Manisekaran, Laura Susana Acosta-Torres,	
	René García-Contreras, and Jaime Santoyo-Salazar	
	Introduction to Cancer and Nanomedicine	29
	Multifunctional Magnetic-Based Hybrid Nanoparticles	31
	Graphene-Magnetic Nanocomposites (GO-MNPs)	31
	Gold-Magnetic Nanocomposites (Au-MNPs)	36
	Cell-Membrane-Camouflaged Magnetic Nanoparticles (CmC-	
	MNPs)	39
	Prospects and Challenges	44
	Conclusion	45
	References.	46

3	Nano-oncology: Clinical Application for Cancer Therapy	40
	Drive Circh and Seriesh Kenner Sehee	49
	Priya Singn and Sanjeed Kumar Sanoo	40
	Nana angologya Taongforming Concer Thereny	49 50
	Nano-oncology: Transforming Cancer Therapy	50
		51
	Delumenie Menonentieles	52 52
	Polymeric Nanoparticles	33 52
	Polymenc Micelles	33 54
	Dendrimers	54
	Protein-Drug Conjugate Nanoparticles.	54
	Polymer-Drug Conjugates.	33 55
	Clinical Application of Negative lagran in Operatory	33 50
	Clinical Application of Nanotechnology in Oncology	50
	Nanotechnology in Early Detection and Diagnosis	62 76
	Challenges in Clinical Translation	/0
	Challenges in Clinical Translation	83
	Product Development	80
	Bridging Gap Between Preclinical Efficacy and Clinical Outcome	86
	Advancing Novel Preclinical Models to Predict EPR.	8/
	Ioxicological Studies	8/
	Optimizing the Administration Route.	88
	A Look into the Future of Nano-oncology	86 00
	References	89
4	Cancer-Targeted Nanotheranostics: Recent Advances	
	and Future Perspectives	97
	Hector Katifelis and Maria Gazouli	
	Introduction	97
	Nanocarriers	98
	Liposomal Nanocarriers	98
	Polymeric Nanocarriers	99
	Inorganic Nanocarriers	102
	Anti-tumour Agents	104
	Nanoparticles in Medical Imaging	106
	Positron Emission Tomography	106
	Computed Tomography	107
	Nanotheranostics in Clinical Studies	108
	Limitations and Future Perspectives	109
	References	111
5	Nanotheranostics: The Future Remedy of Neurological Disorders	117
5	Saha Sohail and Fakhar-Ud-Din	11/
	Introduction	117
	Nanotheranostics and Neurological Disorders	117
	The CNS and Blood Brain Barrier, "The Opponent at the Decre"	11/
	Nanatashnalogy to Oversome DDD for Improved Drug Dalisser	110
	nanotechnology to Overcome BBB for improved Drug Denvery	120

	Carrier-Mediated Transcytosis (CMT)	120
	Receptor-Mediated Transcytosis (RMT)	121
	Adsorptive-Mediated Transcytosis (AMT)	122
	Cell-Mediated Transport.	122
	BBB Disruption-Enhanced Transport.	123
	Nanotheranostics: Developing Approaches for Early Diagnosis	
	and Therapy of CNS Disorders	124
	Neurological Disorders and Specific Targeted Theranostic	
	Nanocarriers in Neurological Diseases.	125
	Current Developments in Nanotheranostics for Neurological	
	Disorders	140
	Nanotechnology in Neurosurgery	140
	Challenges and Their Potential Solutions	140
	Future Prospects and Concluding Remarks	143
	References.	143
_		
6	Cancer Nanoimmunotherapy: Recent Advances	
	and New Opportunities.	155
	Chandra Veluchamy, Sathish-Kumar Kamaraj,	
	Ramasamy Thirumurugan, Manuel Sánchez-Cárdenas,	
	and Luis A. Sánchez-Olmos	
	Introduction.	155
	Nanoimmunotherapy.	156
	Mechanisms of Nanoparticle Therapeutics	157
	Developing Immunogenic Tumour Cell Death	158
	Ligand Presentation to Immune Cells.	159
	Nano-delivery Systems for Cancer Immunotherapy	159
	Antigenic Peptide Delivery Systems.	160
	Polymeric Systems	161
	Liposomes	162
	Exosomes	162
	Monoclonal Antibody (mAb) Delivery Systems	163
	Nucleic Acid-Based Delivery Systems	164
	Obstacles and Future Perspective	167
	Conclusions.	167
	References	168
7	Recent Advances in Lipid-Based Nanoformulations	
	for Breast Cancer Theranostics	175
	Sai Kiran S. S. Pindiprolu, Praveen Thaggikuppe Krishnamurthy,	
	Pavan Kumar Chintamaneni, V. V. V. Ravi Kiran Ammu,	
	and Kusuma Kumari Garikapati	
	Introduction	175
	Nanomedicine for Cancer Theranostics	177
	Design and Targeting Principles	177
	Localized Imaging of Tumours	179
	Light-Assisted Cancer Therapy	179

	Lipid-Based Nanoformulations for Breast Cancer Theranostics	180
	Liposomes	180
	Lipid Nanoformulations with a Solid Matrix	185
	Lipid Micelles	190
	Future Prospects	191
	Multifunctional Nanotheranostics	192
	Combinatorial Chemo-/Gene Therapy and Phototherapy	193
	Targeted Theranostics Towards BCSCs	193
	Stable Drug Loading and Prolonging Circulation Time	193
	Regulatory Aspects of Lipid-Based Nanoformulations	193
	Conclusion	194
	References	194
8	Nanoparticle for Photoresponsive Minimal-Invasive Cancer	
Ĩ.,	Therapy	201
	Shazid Md. Sharker	-01
	Introduction	201
	Minimal-Invasive Cancer Therapy	202
	Photodynamic Therapy (PDT)	203
	Photothermal Therapy (PTT)	203
	Combined Phototherapy and Chemotherapy	204
	Photoresponsive Nanoparticles (NPs)	204
	Light-Responsive Plasmonic NPs for PDT PTT and Diagnosis	205
	Light-Responsive Polymeric NPs for PDT, PTT, and Therapostics	200
	Light Responsive CDs for PDT PTT and Therapostics	200
	Light Desponsive CDTs for DDT, TT, and Theraporties	209
	Light Persponsive Crophane Oxides for DDT DTT	211
	and Thereposities	212
	Conclusions	213
	Deferences	214
	Kelefelices	213
9	Biologically Synthesized Plant-Derived Nanomedicines	
	and Their In vitro In vivo Toxicity Studies in Various	
	Cancer Therapeutics: Regulatory Perspectives	217
	Mohamed Sheik Tharik Abdul Azeeze, Santhosh Shanthi Bhupathi,	
	Elmutaz Belah Mohammad, Durairaj Kaliannan, Balamuralikrishnan	
	Balasubramanian, and Subramania Nainar Meyyanathan	
	Introduction	217
	Bioanalytical Approach-Estimation of Toxicity of Nanomaterials	221
	In vitro Assessment on Toxicity of Nanomaterials	221
	In vivo Toxicity Assessment Methods	222
	Physicochemical Parameters for Toxicity Assessment	222
	Toxicity of Carbon and Graphene-Based Nanomaterials	226
	Toxicity of Carbon Nanomaterials	226
	Toxicity of Polymeric Nanomaterials.	227
	In vivo Toxicity of Polymeric Nanomaterials	231
		201

Contents

	Toxicity of Metallic Nanoparticles	233
	In vitro Toxicity Studies of Gold Nanoparticles	233
	Toxicity Effects of TiO ₂ Nanoparticles	233
	In vitro Toxicity Studies of TiO ₂	233
	In vivo Toxicity Studies of TiO ₂	233
	Regulation Perspectives of Nanomaterial Toxicity	241
	Definition and Regulation Concerns for the Nanomaterial's	
	Characterizations.	241
	The Regulation Challenge for the Nanomaterials with Respect	
	to the Pharmaceutical Context	243
	Nanotoxicology and Biocompatibility	244
	In vitro Assessment Methods of Nanotoxicology	245
	In vivo Assessment Methods of Nanotoxicology	245
	General Evaluation Methods of Nanotoxicology	246
	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	247
	References	248
10	Nanoarythrosoma-Biohybrid Microswimmars for Cancar	
10	Therenostics Cargo Delivery	261
	Sree Gavathri Subharaju Usha Chockaiyan Sakthieaswari Pandi	201
	Aarthy Kannan and Muthupandian Sarayanan	
	Introduction	261
	Insight on Microswimmers Used for Anticancer Drug Cargo	262
	Characterization and Design of a Biohybrid Microswimmer	202
	for Cancer Nanotheranostics	265
	Functionalization of Micro-/Nanoswimmers with Different	-00
	Bioreceptors Toward Targeting Tumor Cells	266
	Lipid Insertion.	266
	Biotin-Avidin Bridges.	267
	EDC/NHS Coupling	267
	Antibody/Ligand-Receptor Conjugation	267
	Passive Adsorption (Hitchhiking)	268
	System Integration and Propelled Navigation of Microswimmers	
	to Promote Cancer Cell Targeting.	268
	Propelled Ultrasound Nanoswimmers Used for Identification	
	of miRNA in Intact Tumor Cells.	269
	Steered Segregation of Circulating Cancer Cells for Perception	269
	Enhanced Intracellular Cancerous Cargo Delivery By Powered	
	Cell Membrane Penetration	270
	Insight on Cancer Drug Delivery Erythrocyte-Based Nanomedicine	271
	Construction of Nanoerythrosome Employed By Cell Extrusion	
	Method	271
	Morphological and Physiochemical Characterization	
	of Nanoerythrocytes	272

	Mobility Assessment of Nanoerythrosome-Functionalized	
	Biohybrid Microswimmers	273
	Surface Functionalization of Erythrocyte-Based Nanomedicine	
	for Improved Drug Delivery in Cancer Nanotherapy	274
	Shape-Changing Nano- and Micromotors for Cancer Therapy	275
	Evaluation of Stability Profiles of Erythrosomes and In vitro	
	Release Studies	276
	Optimization of Drug Dosage in Nanoerythrosomes (NERs)	277
	Nano-/Microswimmers: Toward Clinical Translation.	277
	Biohybrid Microswimmers as Cargo Delivery Agents	278
	Future Perspectives	279
	References.	279
11	Role of Artificial Intelligence in Cancer Nanotheranostics	285
11	Usha Chockaiyan Abirami Sitharaniithan Kiruthika Lakehmi	205
	Deremesweren, and Meenekshi Selverei	
	Introduction	205
	Application of AL in Medical Imaging	203
	Computational Analysis of Multiplay Nanosanasan	201
	Computational Analysis of Multiplex Nanosensols	207
	Computed in the initial Network Computed in the initial sector in the initial sector is the initial sector in the initial sector is the initial sector in the initial sector is	287
	Computational Analysis in Nanopore Sequencing Using	200
	Artificial Neural Networks	290
	Role of Artificial Neural Networks in Nanoparticle Biosynthesis	290
	Optimizing Drug Combinations Using AI-Based Tools	292
	Utilization of Machine Learning Algorithms in Nanotheranostic	••••
	Formulation to Predict Encapsulation Efficiency	293
	Prediction of Personalized Drug Potency Using Computational	
	Tools	294
	Relating Drug Dosage, Biodistribution Profiles, and Therapeutic	
	Efficacy of Nanoparticles	294
	Rationalization of Nanomedicine Interaction with Membrane	
	Receptors	295
	Contribution of Artificial Neural Networks in Survival	
	Prediction of Cancer	296
	Predicting Potential Toxicity of Nanoparticles Using Computational	
	Analysis.	297
	Challenges in Clinical Implementation and Future Prospects	298
	References	299
12	Limitations of Current Cancer Theranostics	305
	Akshada Mhaske, Sayali Dighe, Shruti Ghosalkar, Vidhi Tanna,	
	Padmini Ravikumar, and Sujata P. Sawarkar	
	Introduction	305
	Current Nanotheranostic Platforms for Cancer.	306
	Gold Nanoparticle (AUNPs)	307
	Magnetic Nanoparticle (MNP)	307

	Quantum Dots (QD)	308
	Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs)	308
	Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles (MSNPs)	308
	Upconversion Nanoparticles (UCNPs)	308
	Polymeric Nanoparticles (PNPs)	309
	Polymeric Micelles (PMs)	309
	Solid Lipid Nanoparticles (SLNs)	309
	Limitations of Current Cancer Nanotheranostic Approach	310
	Design and Development Limitations.	310
	Biopharmaceutical Limitations	314
	Immunological Limitations.	314
	Limitations Related to the Interaction of Nanotheranostics	315
	Limitations Related to Tumor Targeting	317
	Limitation Related to the Safety of Nanotheranostics	318
	Pitfalls of Nanotheranostic Research	319
	Case Study	320
	Challenges in the Development of nab-Paclitaxel	320
	Regulatory Concerns of Cancer Nanotheranostics	321
	Regulatory Evaluation of Cancer Nanotheranostics	32
	Regulations of Combination Products and Companion Products	324
	Marketing of Cancer Nanotheranostics	325
	Conclusion	326
	References.	327
12	Safety of Nanchiamatorials for Cancer Nanotherenestics	222
15	Swete Bhenusheli, Vidhi Tenne, Vogesh Nimbelker	55.
	Padmini Ravikumar, and Suista P. Sawarkar	
	Introduction	333
	Nanobiomaterials Used in Cancer Therapostics	33.
	Safety Aspects	335
	Safety of Nanobiometerials	330
	Importance of Dose of Nanohiomaterials	3/1
	Safe by Design Strategy for Developing Safer Nanotherapeutics	341
	Gold Standard for Safety Assessment	3/4
	Toxicology Study	3/4
	In Vitro and in Vivo Toxicology Study in Vitro Assessment	54.
	of Nanomaterial Toxicity	316
	In Vivo Toxicology	3/6
	Biocompatibility Study	3/4
	Rick Assessment of Nanomaterials	350
	Risk Management of Nanomaterials	352
	Regulatory Aspects	35
	Legal Requirements	25/
	For Clinical Studies	254
	Fuvironmental Impact Considerations	25
		55

Global Regulatory Strategy	357
International Organization for Standardization (ISO)	358
Emerging Green Nanomaterial Approach for Cancer Theranostics	358
Plants Used as a Natural Source for Green Approach	358
Microorganisms Used as a Natural Source for Green Approach	359
Conclusion and Future Aspects.	360
References	361

Chapter 1 Nanotheranostics: Emerging Strategies for Early Diagnosis and Therapy of Cancer



Rekha Pachaiappan and Kovendhan Manavalan

Introduction

Global Scenario of Cancer

Worldwide, cancer was a great threat which produces physical and mental pain to the victim. After cardio-related problems, cancer holds the next place to cause death to the patients. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), cancer is the main cause of death and accounted for 7.6 million deaths in 2008. Key statistics report shows that the number of deaths due to cancer might reach 13 million by 2030. From low- and middle-income countries alone, ~10-11 million new cancer cases might be recorded by 2030. The WHO has initiated certain relevant strategies in order to reduce the economic burden and social stress caused by cancer. By supporting national cancer control programmes, it creates awareness, change in lifestyle, screening and vaccination which were done towards cancer. In this context, it's to be noted that early detection of cancer with appropriate treatment will improve the lifetime of cancer-affected people. Cancer types such as oral, breast, cervical and colorectal cancers are entirely curable if detected at an earlier stage followed by effective therapies (https://www.who.int/cancer/resources/kevfacts/en/). Current detection modalities of cancer include imaging methods like positron emission tomography, single photon emission computed tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasound imaging and hybrid of these techniques (Karpuz et al., 2018). In the treatment of cancer, physicians follow surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy,

R. Pachaiappan (🖂)

Sustainable Energy Management, Stella Maris College (Autonomous), Chennai, India

K. Manavalan

Department of Physics and Nanotechnology, SRM Institute of Science and Technology, Chengalpattu, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_1

hormonal therapy, immunotherapy, gene therapy and a combination of these thera-(https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment#:~:text=Some%20 pies people%20with%20cancer%20will,targeted%20therapy %2C%20or%20hormone%20therapy). Majorly chemotherapy was considered to increase the survival rate of the patient by solo or when combined with surgery and radiotherapy (https:// www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/326031). In particular survival rate of breast cancer was improved to 91%, 84% and 80% at 5, 10 and 15 years after diagnosis (https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-andstatistics/breast-cancer-facts-and-figures/breast-cancer-facts-andfigures-2019-2020.pdf). However, practically many impediments exist in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. Lack in significant cancer biomarkers, early diagnosis, efficient mass screening strategies and cancer awareness are the main difficulties in cancer diagnosis. In the case of the treatment process, the cancer site contains heterogeneous molecular structure, and the possibility of removing the entire cells from the tumour was difficult. Hence, some cells retain in the tumour as 'cancer stem cells' (CSCs), and targeting these CSCs is complex. Further, drug resistance characteristics of these CSCs make them resistant against anticancer drugs given during therapy period. Another fact is that CSCs are not producing appreciable cell division to allow chemotherapy agents to act on it. Further, lack of identification of genetic mutation is related to malignancy, deficiency in epigenetic profiling and demand of specific epigenetic drugs. Finally, during diagnosis of different cancer types, various difficulties are raised which increase the complexity in the treatment process (Chakraborty & Rahman, 2012).

Nanoscience and Nanotechnology in Cancer

In this scenario, the recent advancement in nanoscience and nanotechnology has introduced vast nanoparticles and nanocomposites in the field of oncology. These nanoparticles are smaller in size, exhibit higher surface-area-to-volume ratio, surface plasmon resonance, biocompatibility, higher stability, tunable optical property, multifunctionality, etc. Hence, find its key role in imaging, tumour targeting and drug delivery to proceed for cancer diagnosis and therapy. Integration of the words diagnostics and therapeutics has given out a new word 'theranostics' suggested by John Funkhouser in 2002 (https://www.ddw-online.com/theranostics-an-emergingtool-in-drug-discovery-and-commercialisation-1024-200210/). Novel features of nanoparticles made it readily available for both treatment and diagnosis of cancer and evolved as 'nanotheranostic' (Gindy & Prud'homme, 2009). Nanotheranostic agents are expected to possess certain features to carry out efficient diagnosis and therapy. A nanotheranostic agent must be biocompatible and less or no toxic towards the target system. Further, it should be stable under different physiological conditions when injected or introduced into the target. Also, it should have the capability to overcome the physical hindrances on its way to enter into the tissue or organ to be diagnosed and treated. These nanotheranostic agents settle more on the tumour

site due to leaky blood networks and then selectively inhibit the growth of cancer cells by interacting with it effectively (Acharya & Sahoo, 2011; Mura & Couvreur, 2012). Many exotic nanotheranostic agents were synthesized to improve the diagnosis and treatment modalities of cancer. Nanotheranostic agents have the ability to conjugate with different anticancer drugs. A nanocarrier carries the anticancer drugs and releases it upon the target cell under suitable optical excitation. The anticancer drugs might be biomolecules (peptides, enzymes, etc.) or conventional chemical drugs. For these nanotheranostic agents with anticancer drugs, the circulation time found to be elevated due to inhibition towards regular renal excretion. Drug delivery was targeted to specific tumour sites avoiding more accumulation on normal tissues (Ho et al., 2017). Many researchers have emerged with the successful nanoplatform by employing both organic and inorganic nanotheranostic agents in the detection and treatment of cancer. Inorganic nanotheranostic agents were synthesized from noble metals gold and silver, silica, various metal oxide and sulphides (Eyvazzadeh et al., 2017; Barabadi et al., 2020; He et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2016; Zou et al., 2018). Organic nanotheranostic agents include polymers, liposomes, organic/inorganic hybrid nanotheranostic agents, dendrimers and micelles (Perumal et al., 2019; Prasad et al., 2020; Kumar et al., 2020). In this review, the most recent nanotheranostic agents prepared from various inorganic- and organic-based nanoparticles were categorized and discussed with regard to its potential in cancer diagnosis, and therapy was given in detail. This chapter will surely provide the researchers the summary of recent nanotheranostic agents and help them evolve with an idea to

bring out new nanotheranostic agents.

Various Nanotheranostic Agents

Noble Metal-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

Noble metals gold and silver have their unique place in the cancer diagnosis and therapy. These metals have merits such as facile synthesis, biocompatibility, surface plasmon resonance, high surface-area-to-volume ratio, optical properties, flexible structure, multifunctionality, non-cytotoxicity, etc. For both in vivo and in vitro analyses, these nanoparticle-based nanotheranostic agents were employed in cancer imaging and therapy. Recent studies on gold- and silver-based nanotheranostic agents were elaborated below.

Gold-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

Gold nanoparticle in a colloid form was first synthesized by Michael Faraday in year 1857. Following this in the year 1908, Mie proposed that depending on the size of the nanoparticle, the colour of the nanoparticle/nanoparticle colloid varies. Due

to novel characteristic features of gold nanoparticle such as biocompatibility, high surface-area-to-volume ratio, simple synthesis process, desired size and shape, less toxicity during in vivo studies, surface plasmon resonance, etc. have made it to achieve its importance in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. Subsequently, gold nanoparticles were used in cancer theranostic because of its functionalization towards the tumour target agent and specific interaction on the target cancer cells.

Gold nanoparticles possess better bioconjugation with cancer cells when introduced into the human system. Multifunctionalized gold nanoparticles with nanopopcorn shape (~28 nm) have shown the imperative surface-enhanced Raman signal for human prostate cancer cells (LNCaP). This surface-enhanced Raman signal was better for prostate cancer cells when compared with that of non-cancerous and breast cancer cell lines in the presence of rhodamine 6G dye. The particular sensitive detection of prostate cancer cells was obtained when gold nanoparticles were excited with the near-infrared irradiation (785 nm of diode laser). Subsequently, the exposure of laser light caused the irreversible damage of the cancer cell due to the generation of localized heating known as photo-thermal effect. Prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) found to be more in prostate cancer cells than the normal cells producing alteration in diagnostic signals. So, the gold nanoparticles binded into the cancer cells upon excitation by near-infrared laser light have paved a way for the real-time early cancer diagnosis and destruction of cancer cells (Lu et al., 2010). Similarly, Nagy-Simon et al. (2018) have synthesized the gold nanoparticle loaded with IR-780 dye and coated with pluronic copolymer. This IR-780 dye was found to be extremely active at near-infrared regions and helps in cancer cell tracking. Preparation technique yields a reproducible nanoparticle which is found to be a stable system. Initially, nanoparticle preparation was validated for colon carcinoma cancer cells of murine sample (C26). Then, live cancer cell imaging was performed by employing surface-enhanced resonance Raman scattering (SERRS) microspectrometer. Photodynamic and photothermal therapies were employed to treat cancer tissues. It was observed that pluronic-fixed gold nanoparticles possess a cytotoxic effect under these therapies and showed an enhanced SERRS signal under NIR excitation. Further, the quantum yield of these gold nanoparticles is found to be like the photosensitizer present in organic solvent which produces singlet oxygen (Fig. 1.1).

Lin et al. (2017) have proposed the multifunctional unimolecular spherical nanocarrier fabricated from β -cyclodextrin-{poly(lactide)-poly(2micelle (dimethylamino)ethyl methacrylate)-poly[oligo(2-ethyl-2-oxazoline)methacrylate] $_{21}$ (β -CD-(PLA-PDMAEMA-PEtOxMA)), gold nanoparticle and doxorubicin (DOX). By increasing the concentration of doxorubicin, its penetration into the inner core of PLA was improved. In in vivo study xenografted HepG2 tumour was imaged using this gold nanoparticle-based nanohybrid detector which yielded more intensity than a regularly employed contrast agent omnipaque. In vitro and in vivo anticancer effects were performed with HePG2 liver cancer cells using this nanoparticle. Accumulation of nanoparticles in the tumour cells produced breakdown of the nucleus of the cancer cell leading to apoptosis. Thus, β-CD-(PLA-PDMAEMA-PEtOxMA, gold nanoparticle and DOX have combined to produce a better synergic



Fig. 1.1 Gold nanoparticle loaded with IR780 dye used as a nanotheranostic agents to perform photodynamic and photothermal therapies under near-infrared laser excitation for intracellular tracking by surface-enhanced resonance Raman scattering imaging. (Adopted from Nagy-Simon et al., 2018)

nanotheranostic effect in the detection of cancer cells using computed tomography imaging and delivery of drug both in vitro and in vivo studies based on pH conditions.

Miao and Tang (2019) have reported on the multipedal DNA walker strands formed on the base of gold nanoparticles used to identify the circulating tumour cells (CTC) available in the biofluids. CTC have transmembrane receptor protein which is binded with the integrated aptamer sequence. So, early detection was possible due to the accumulation of gold nanoparticles specifically on the surface of CTC. Here, they have utilized a reducing agent tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine to improve the electrochemical signal and to detect the CTC in blood samples at a rapid rate. Recently, Zhang et al. (2020) have designed a pH-based gold nanoparticle coupled with a zwitterionic surface (~15 nm) to produce an anticancer effect. From a phenomenon given by Otto Warburg, it was observed that the microenvironment of the tumour sites was more acidic in nature than the normal tissue sites known as 'Warburg effect' (Vander Heiden et al., 2009). The gold nanoparticles were launched more on the tumour target due to its acidic nature and accumulated into greater size of order (~180 nm). Photoacoustic signals were given out by the tumours upon near-infrared (808 nm) exposure producing appropriate imaging of the cancer spread. In addition to the detection of cancer cells, upon continuous light exposure, these gold-based nanotheranostic agents affect the tumour cells and destroy it with less side effects, known as photothermal therapy. Thus, simultaneously this pH-based gold nanoparticle with zwitterionic charge surfaces acts as a diagnostic and therapeutic agent. In depth research studies are needed to evaluate the toxicity, biodistribution and side effects of the gold nanoparticle to approve it as a good nanotheranostic agent.

Silver-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

Similar to gold nanoparticle, silver nanoparticle also possesses unique characteristics like biocompatibility, easy fabrication, high surface-area-to-volume ratio, cost effective, etc. Silver nanoparticles offer low toxicity, enhanced SERS signal, biodistribution and cellular uptake that made it readily available for the detection and therapy process, representing as an excellent nanotheranostic agent.

Triple-negative breast cancer cell lines (MDA-MB-231) were identified and treated using the nanocomposite made from silver nanoparticle combined with polymer chitosan and R-phycoerythrin protein. The binding status of the nanoparticle, polymer and protein was evaluated using flow cytometry analyses. Further, the activity of nanocomposite against the cancer cell was determined by evaluating the percentage of caspase protein and tumour suppressor gene with the release of reactive oxygen species. Nanocomposite produced was found to be highly stable providing real-time application both in diagnosis and therapy. This study suggested that silver-based chitosan-phycoerythrin was a potential nanotheranostic agent killing breast cancer cells but not affecting the normal cells (Thangam et al., 2015).

Sahoo et al. (2016) have demonstrated nanotheranostics technique in the diagnosis and therapy of HeLa and A549 cancer cell lines by employing silver nanoclusters conjugated with folic acid forming nanocomposite. Silver nanoclusters were found to exhibit high fluorescence upon optical excitation. These nanoclusters carry the prodrug paracetamol dimer (PD) to the target cell. Prodrug became active and toxic because of the emergence of reactive oxygen species from silver nanoparticles. Toxicity of PD induces apoptosis of cancer cells. Further, folic acid fixed in silver nanoparticles was employed to differentiate HeLa and A549 cell lines, depending on the overexpression of folic acid receptors and downregulation by those cell lines, respectively. Dual role of cancer diagnosis and therapy was successfully done with PD-silver nanocomposite.

Mishra and Kannan (2017) have developed the nanotheranostic agent by using metals (silver) merged with neodymium. These particles were found to possess fluorescence at near-infrared irradiation and magnetic characteristics when injected into the biosystem. In the presence of these silver-based nanoparticles, combinations of near-infrared imaging, magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography were possible in the detection of cancer cells. Computed tomography has produced contrast image as the silver nanoparticle was very small, whereas neodymium possesses large X-ray attenuation coefficient. Photothermal therapy was done with the silver-neodymium nanoparticle functionalized with chitosan on its surface. This polymer with bimetallic nanoparticle used to carry the paclitaxel an anticancer drug and delivers it into the cancer cells. Loading of drug with the nanoparticle was confirmed using isothermal titration calorimetry method which shows seven drug molecules fixed on a single nanoparticle. On interaction of drugs on the cancer cells, it gets destroyed while the healthy cells are retained. Ghaemi et al. (2018) have successfully reported on the silver nanoparticle embedded on the semiconducting material zinc oxide nanoparticle to yield a novel nanocomposite. This nanocomposite was tested against the detection and treatment of breast cancer. Since, the zinc oxide nanoparticles were active under ultraviolet excitation, it produces appreciable photoactivity under dark scenario. Reactive oxygen species were given out by the charge transfer that happened between silver and zinc oxide nanoparticles upon the suitable light excitation. Hence, the photocatalytic activity and reactive oxygen species generation support apoptosis of cancer cells. In detail, the p53 tumour suppressor gene, cytochrome complex and executioner caspase were activated to destroy the cancer cell. The mitochondrial pathway suggests that the ratio of BAX/BCl2 got increased which seems to produce cancer cell death in the presence of silver-zinc oxide nanocomposite. Further, the nanocomposite has been supported in imaging the cancer region by computed tomography and optical imaging techniques. Thus, this study had shown the capability of silver-based semiconductor nanocomposite as an agent in diagnosis and therapy of cancer.

Silica-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

Silica nanoparticles were considered for their novel properties such as biocompatibility, desired particle size and large pore volume for a given surface area. Hence, silica nanoparticles find their major role in the biomedical field for diagnosis and therapy by performing imaging and drug delivery of the target sample. Among porous silica nanoparticles, mesoporous silica was considered to be best in delivering the drug due to its small size ranging from 2 to 50 nm. Kresge et al. (1992) have reported on the fabrication of mesoporous ordered silica nanoparticle from aluminosilicate gel as a precursor and a suitable surfactant by employing liquid crystal method. The required size of mesoporous silica nanoparticle could be achieved by tuning the surfactant, experimental conditions and other chemicals. Vallet-Regi et al. (2001) have developed the disk-shaped mesoporous silica of various porous sizes using C12TAB and C16TAB as a surfactant to perform drug delivery. In this study, these silica nanoparticles were employed to carry the drug ibuprofen which released into the target, upon charging the nanoparticle.

Fan et al. (2017) have reported on mesoporous silica nanoparticles attached with the aggregation-induced emission luminogen and copper sulphate nanoparticles. Luminogen was used to induce fluorescence emission to produce imaging of the biological sample they encounter. Copper sulphate nanoparticles were used to produce a photothermal effect upon optical excitation (808 nm) along with chemotherapy to kill the cancer cells. Drug doxorubicin was introduced into the silica nanoparticles settled down in its pores. Doxorubicin was found to be released more from the pores under the near-infrared excitation and in an acidic environment created by the presence of cancer cells. In vitro cancer cell line study was done with HeLa and DLD-1 cells. Samples have exhibited the emission at the blue wavelength region for the given silicon-based nanocomposite. This study concludes that mesoporous silica nanocomposites have the potential in providing the anticancer effect along with chemotherapy and photothermal effect. Similarly, another work on a novel multifunctional upconversion nanoparticles coupled with mesoporous silica nanoparticles using surface-protected hot water etching technique was proposed by Fan et al. (2014). Both diagnosis and treatment of cancer were carried out successfully. In the detection of cancer cells, dual-mode magnetic resonance and upconversion luminescent imaging techniques were used. Chemotherapy, radiotherapy and photodynamic therapy were combined as 'trimodal therapy' under the exposure of near-infrared and X-ray radiations. In vitro study of upconversion-mesoporous silica nanoparticles have shown more destruction of HeLa cancer cell lines, together with drug Dtxl and radiotherapy. Both in vitro and in vivo studies have shown that cancer cells were treated and entirely destroyed. This study proves the potential of nanothernaostics approach using mesoporous silica nanoparticles with a synergetic effect of bimodal imaging and trimodal therapies.

Jin et al. (2018) have designed a multifunctional nanocomplex out of mesoporous silica nanoparticle capped by gold nanoparticle linked with the amino acid L-cysteine and ferrous iron ions. This silica-based nanocomplex was found to be the best anticancer agent. It works on the requirement such as the acidic pH level which controls the drug release followed by chemo-photothermal therapies. Based on Fenton reaction, the disintegration of hydrogen peroxide takes place to release more hydroxyl radicals which enhance the treatment efficacy. The potential of the mesoporous silica with gold nanoparticle and ferrous iron was checked against the in vivo study of mice. It was observed that after 2 weeks the treatment of tumour with a nanocomplex inhibited the growth of tumour along with chemo-photothermal therapy (Fig. 1.2).

Another work utilized silicon nanorods fabricated using microwave synthesis joined with gold nanoparticles to explore its characteristic as a nanotheranostic agent. Thus, the prepared silicon-gold nanorods were injected into the sample and exposed to near-infrared rays. These nanostructures possessed high photothermal stability and photothermal conversion efficiency, yielding better diagnostic data by exploring photoacoustic and infrared thermal imaging techniques. This was possible due to more deposition of modified nanostructures on the targeting tumour with peptide ligands of ~8.74% ID g⁻¹. In vivo study on mice models have shown no toxicity and destroyed the tumour cells alone and also no recurrence of cancer cells even after 60 days of photothermal therapy. Silicon-gold nanorods have exhibited dual features adapting multimodal imaging along with simplified surface modification which concludes its potential towards the real nanotheranostic approach (Cui et al., 2019).

Dendrimer-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

Dendrimers are hyperbranched molecules which were discovered by Fritz Vogtle in 1978. Synthesis of dendrimer was successfully done by Donald Tomalia and coworkers in 1980 simultaneously by George R. Newkome independently. Dendrimers



Fig. 1.2 Schematic representation of nanotheranostic agent prepared with the combination of mesoporous silica, iron and gold nanoparticles to provide drug delivery doxorubicin under near-infrared laser light irradiation produced reactive oxygen species to destroy cancer cells. Controlled mechanism occurred by forming and breaking of ligand coordination bonds between mesoporous silica, iron and gold nanoparticles. (Adopted from Jin et al., 2018)

mean 'trees' in Greek also known as 'cascade molecules'. Since it's a hyperbranched molecule, modifications in its structure include changes in its physicochemical property (Abbasi et al., 2014). The change in physicochemical characteristics made them readily available for cancer diagnostic imaging and anticancer therapies. Maciejewski was the first one to propose the dendrimer as molecular containers in 1982. Then the idea got extended to carry the anticancer drug to a specific target. Drug-conjugated dendrimer possesses several calibers like high solubility, less toxicity and tumour accumulation (Palmerston Mendes et al., 2017).

Chen et al. (2015) have designed the multifunctional dendrimer captured the gold nanoparticles combined with gadolinium (Gd) chelator and surface modification done by thiolated cyclo(Arg-Gly-Asp-Phe-Lys-(mpa)) (RGD) peptide (Gd–Au DENPs-RGD). Thus developed multifunctional dendrimer-based nanoparticles found to be stable at different pH ranging from 5 to 8 and temperature range 4-50 °C. The investigation has shown that with the obtained X-ray attenuation and T1 MR relaxometry (2.643 mM⁻¹ s⁻¹) properties, the Gd–Au DENPs-RGD have been probed to carry out the dual-mode imaging using computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging techniques. In vivo imaging of a xenograft small

tumour model overexpressing $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin via RGD-mediated targeting pathway was done, and the same could be employed for a variety of overexpressing $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ integrin tumours. Similarly, Xu et al. (2017) have also proposed on the fabrication of multifunctional dendrimer entrapped with gold nanoparticles and followed by modification using arginine-glycine-aspartic peptide. Radionuclide ^{99m}T_c having a half-life period of 6 h was fixed with prepared nanoparticles for labelling purposes. These nanocomplexes have shown characteristics such as biocompatibility, radiostability and uniform size. Imaging of overexpressing $\alpha_{\alpha}\beta_{\beta}$ integrin tumours was done with integrated dual-mode single photon emission computed tomography and computed tomography imaging methods. Both in vivo (subcutaneous tumour model) and in vitro analysis of cancer cells were performed in this dendrimer-based nanotheranostic study. In another work expressed by Nigam and Bahadur (2017), the peptide dendrimer is coupled with super paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle which acts as a stimuli-responsive carrier of drug to the target cancer sites. These nanoparticles were found to be better due to their unique properties like biocompatibility, stability and multifunctionality. Hence, this magnetic peptide dendrimer's drug transportation and releasing rate were challenging to a commonly used PAMAM dendrimer. These magnetic peptide dendrimers have successfully delivered the doxorubicin drug into the cancer cell supporting chemotherapy to produce magnetic hyperthermia in the cells to face the apoptosis and proved to be the best alternative to widely used common PAMAM dendrimers.

Another work proposed on the synthesis of ¹⁷⁷Lu dendrimer coupled with bombesin- folate and gold nanoparticle (¹⁷⁷Lu–DenAuNP–folate–bombesin) to locate internally T47D breast cancer cells and evaluated its characteristics as a nanotheranostic particle. This dendrimer-based nanocomplex had exhibited fluorescence emission after its exposure to near-infrared irradiation at 825 nm which leads to optical imaging of the cancer cell environment. Also, the nanocomplex possesses plasmonic properties, increasing the temperature of the cell from 39.1 °C to 46.8 °C. The rise in temperature causes a decrease in viability (~90%) of T47D cancer cells with an absorbed dose of (63.16 + 4.20 Gy). Thus these properties of ¹⁷⁷Lu–DenAuNP–folate–bombesin have paved a way for better optical detection, photothermal therapy and radiotherapy in the diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer (Mendoza-Nava et al., 2017).

Fan et al. (2019) have developed a nanotheranostic agent from pyridinefunctionalized generation 5 poly dendrimer fixed to copper (II) (G5.NHAc-Pyr/ Cu(II)) to detect tumour and tumour metastasis. By employing this dendrimer-based nanotheranostic agent, the detection and treatment of tumour were carried out with the combination of magnetic resonance imaging, radiotherapy and chemotherapy. In the presence of copper (II), the G5.NHAc-Pyr/Cu(II) nanocomplex was found to be stable, reducing the cancer cell proliferation and causing cell apoptosis. The detection with magnetic resonance imaging of xenografted tumour model and lung metastatic nodules was significant due to r_1 relaxivity of 0.7024 mM⁻¹ s⁻¹ under radiotherapy followed by improved chemotherapy of tumour models. They have reported that in order to treat a particular type of cancer the dendrimer complex with copper (II) may be altered with targeting ligand to act as a better nanotheranostic agent. Recently the same group, Fan et al. (2020), has developed another strategy in the field of nanotheranostics. They have introduced the nanocomplex out of phosphorous dendrimer combined with copper (II) complex (1G3-Cu) which enables the ultrasound in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer. For magnetic resonance (MR) imaging at T1 weightage, the relaxivity r_1 was found to be 0.7024 mM⁻¹ s⁻¹. Half maximal inhibitory concentration IC50 was found to be 1.24µM to produce complete inhibition against the pancreatic cell under investigation producing cell apoptosis. Along with apoptosis decrease in energy carrying intracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP), upregulation of Bcl-2-associated x protein, tumour protein P53 and PTEN protein and downregulation of Bcl-2 protein take place. Due to the ultrasound effect, high permeability was introduced in the cell wall and cell membrane which attracts more 1G3-Cu nanocomplexes which improves MR imaging and chemotherapy. The complex may be modified and coupled with ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction (UTMD) such that it could be adaptable for various types of cancer (Fig. 1.3).



Fig. 1.3 Schematic representation of phosphorous dendrimer coupled with copper (II) complexes for ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction to support magnetic resonance imaging and chemotherapy of tumour. Right picture represents the synthesized dendrimer-based nanotheranostic agent, and copper (II) ions are shown as blue balls. (Adopted from Fan et al., 2020)

Similarly, Inoue et al. (2019) have performed the ability of dendrimer (G2) as an inhibitor and its breaking effect on amyloidogenic transthyretin (ATTR) V30 M protein of β sheet structure. The ATTR triggers the formation of amyloid fibrils, misfolding in protein structures, by reducing the β sheet structure. Amyloid fibrils deposit on the tissue which requires a suitable therapy to inhibit its growth and a suitable treatment to remove it. Here, 3D-structured nanomaterials from polyamido-amine dendrimer (dendrimer) with cationic polymer have been injected into transgenic rats. The dendrimer (G2) has shown its potential in inhibiting and destroying those ATTR deposited on tissues of rats. The detailed mechanism of dendrimer (G2) can help implement it in the clinical setup for cancer nanotheranostic application.

Recently, Song et al. (2020) have reported on the preparation of LyP-1 peptidemodified ¹³¹I-labelled dendrimer. This dendrimer as a nanotheranostic agent was employed to carry out the multitask on single photon emission computed tomography imaging, radionuclide and antimetastasis therapies in the detection and treatment of cancer. Also, a study on cytocompatibility was done for ¹³¹I-dendrimer at a concentration of 0.1–10µM for the period of 24 h. It was noted that radiochemical purity and stability (>90%) were appreciable even at 16 h. Thus developed multifunctional platforms have improved the local hypoxia in the system leading to apoptosis of cancer cells. Another work by Chen et al. (2020) has fabricated multifunctional dendrimer entrapped the gold nanoparticles combined with Fluo-4. They have performed by entrapping 2-nm-sized gold nanoparticles into the poly(amidoamine) dendrimers modified with polyethylene glycol (hydroxyl terminated). Extra amine groups present on the dendrimers have undergone the acetylation process. Finally, the nanoprobe was emerged by the covalent bonding between the dendrimer and calcium ion in the presence of polyethylene glycol hydroxyl group. This nanoprobe has been employed in monitoring and tracking the T-cell due to its novel nature of cytocompatibility, high X-ray attenuation, water solubility and excellent T-cell labelling. Imaging was done as the nanoprobe possessed the fluorescence emissions upon irradiation. For this confocal fluorescence microscopy and computed tomography were employed to view the T-cells.

Polymeric-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

In nanotheranostic application, polymer nanoparticles are considered for its delivery of anticancer drugs. Drug delivery can be regulated by controlling the physicochemical properties like molecular weight, crystallinity, water solubility, etc. Both natural polymers and synthetic polymers were utilized for nanoparticles. in cancer theranostics, natural polymers like chitosan, albumin and collagen whereas in synthetic polymers polyethylene glycol, polylactic acid, poly glutamic acid are regularly used (Luk & Zhang, 2014).

Zhu et al. (2017) have engineered the semiconducting polymer which was active under exposure of near-infrared irradiation to carry out photodynamic therapy for advance and optimized treatment of cancer. The polymer acted as a NIR fluorescent photodynamic therapy agent. Nanoceria coupled with polymer has played an important role in regulating the reactive oxygen species based upon the pH level and has no reaction over NIR exposure. In a murine mouse model, the nanoceria-doped polymer has shown decreased damage to normal cells, whereas it improved photodynamic response towards the cancer cells. Thus, this study was a better example of an organic polymer-based approach in therapy of cancer.

Jia et al. (2017) have demonstrated the photodynamic therapy with plasma membrane-activatable polymeric nanodrug assembled with protoporphyrin IX (photosensitizer), polyethylene glycol and glycol chitosan. Due to π - π , strong stacking interaction protoporphyrin present in the core shell of nanoparticles has exhibited fluorescence quenching effect. However, when this nanocomplex encounters the plasma membrane, disassembly of the protoporphyrin from the core shell occurred and fixed to the plasma membrane due to its high affinity towards it. Now, the nanocomplex deposits more on the tumour after intravenous injection and laser irradiation have produced enhanced fluorescence signals and also generated singlet oxygen. Further, this scenario of high fluorescence emission is guided to carry out photodynamic therapy.

Similarly, Shao et al. (2019) have explained the triple collaborative method utilizing auto-fluorescent polymer nanotheranostic agents in self-monitorization of cancer therapy. The biodistribution of this polymer nanoparticle was observed due to its self-fluorescence property leading to the best real-time fluorescence and photoacoustic imaging. Enhanced photocytotoxicity and neovascularization with xenograft mouse model by this polymer nanocomplex were due to its efficient photothermal conversion property. Through this work they have shown the capability of nanocomplex polymers in inhibiting the growth of the tumour concurrently on tumour cells and vasculature which occurred by RNA interference, anti-angiogenesis and photothermal therapy process. An et al. (2018) have carried out the synthesis of bovine serum albumin (BSA)-regulated organic polymer to perform as a nanotheranostic agent. In this process, BSA coated on the gallic acid-iron (III) of size ~ 3.5 nm was generated. This nanoparticle possessed good biocompatibility and excellent response at near-infrared excitation. Ultrasmall size of nanoparticle helps them filtrate through renal excretion, thus reducing the potential toxicity. Magnetic resonance (MR) imaging (T1 weighted) of tumour-bearing mice model was recorded prior and after the injection of these polymer nanoparticles. It was observed that MR images were different and exhibiting respective changes with injection of polymer nanoparticles. The real-time MR imaging of tumours have shown the guidance to carry out laser ablation in the destruction of solid tumours. This study has created trust towards the polymer-based BSA-coated nanoparticle that could serve as a nanotheranostic agent.

Yang et al. (2019) have developed platinum encapsulated by prodrug polyphenols and gadolinium ions with thermal-sensitive polymers. Two types of polymers were employed, polyethylene glycol-perylene diimide-poly(diisopropanol amino ethyl methacrylate) and 2-octyldodecyl-perylene diimide-poly(ethylene glycol), in yielding nanotheranostic platform. These polymer-based nanoparticles were also responsive to mild pH environments. Near-infrared radiation from laser exposure has produced controlled drug release in the acidic microenvironment of the tumour. In vivo imaging with photoacoustic, magnetic resonance and positron emission tomography have shown the accumulation of polymer nanoparticles in the tumours. Subsequently with laser exposure of wavelength 671 nm have supported the combination of chemotherapy and photothermal therapy, taking these nanoparticles as a cancer nanotheranostic agent into the clinical environment.

Hu et al. (2019) have designed a gadolinium-chelated coupled polymer-based nanotheranostic agent. These nanomaterials have shown the admirable characteristics such as less biotoxicity and chemical and optical stability. In vivo imaging was carried out with this nanomaterial to analyse the antitumor effect under 24 h of administration in 4 T1 tumour-bearing syngeneic mice model. As expected the imaging of the tumour site got improved after the exposure of these nanomaterials into the cancer site. It's a semiconductor polymer with low band gap allowing NIR absorption for integration of photoacoustic imaging and second near-infrared fluorescence imaging (1000–1700). Magnetic resonance imaging (T1-weighted) guiding to perform photothermal therapy was due to the carboxyl group from polymer chelate with gadolinium ions. So, a unique organic nanotheranostic agent was evolved possessing good spatial resolution along with deep penetration to view and treat the tumours. Zarepour et al. (2019) have designed and fabricated a nanocomplex with three polymeric layers covering the iron oxide nanoparticles $(43\pm1.5 \text{ nm})$. The three layers were polymeric β -cyclodextrin, polyacrylic acid combined with sulfadiazine and polyethylenimine. Sulfadizine was hydrophobic which appears at the first and third layers. Here, doxorubicin was employed as an anticancer drug which was studied for its characteristics under normal and acidic pH environment, on/off switching mechanism followed for drug release. Mainly the biocompatibility test has proved that the nanocapsule possessed its anticancer effect on cancer cells even at low concentration of 0.3µg mL⁻¹, whereas no effect towards the components of blood or immune system. These biocompatibility tests were carried out using various methods: MTT assay, coagulation assay, hemolysis, MTT and complement activation. Thus, they have successfully proposed the 'switchable' nanotheranostic capsule depending on pH environment, cancer nanotherapeutic agent with low concentration and magnetic property of iron nanoparticles which provides 160% drug loading capacity.

Recently, Men et al. (2020) have developed a nanostructure made up of polymer coupled with doxorubicin-iohexol suspended at hydrogel which was found to be thermosensitive. When these nanostructures exposed to the near-infrared irradiation have experienced controlled melting and drugs were released at this state. Also, hydrogel degradation takes place upon NIR excitation. This unique nanomaterial found to enhance the synergic effect of imaging methods like photoacoustic imaging, computed tomography imaging and fluorescence imaging in producing the detection of tumour. Notably, tumours were appreciably treated with chemotherapy combined with photothermal therapy. Thus, this work proves the novelty of polymer hydrogel as a nanotheranostic agent integrating synergic effects of imaging techniques and chemo- and photothermal therapies under controlled drug release.

Liposome-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

In 1964, British haematologist Alec D. Bangham was the first to propose on liposomes. The name derived from two Greek words *lipo* and *soma* means fat and body, respectively. The main constituents of liposomes are phospholipids and cholesterol. It's a spherical structure consisting of two layers of lipids with aqueous core. Hence, hydrophilic substances are attracted towards aqueous core, and hydrophobic materials are encapsulated. Liposomes are noted for its remarkable nature of biocompatibility, nanosize, biodegradability, less toxicity, nanocarriers, etc. (Tang et al., 2018). Liposomal-based anticancer drugs of different types have been synthesized to target cancer cells.

Feng et al. (2017) have proposed on the synthesis of multipurpose liposome from encapsulation of AQ4N (hydrophilic) and hexadecylamine (hydrophobic) combined with photosensitizer chlorin e6 (hCe6) which chelated using copper isotope (⁶⁴Cu) forming an effective imaging probe. In vivo trimodal imaging was carried out positron emission tomography (PET), fluorescence and photoacoustic imaging methods with the liposome nanocomplex. After the injection of AQ4N-hCe6-liposome into the tumour mouse model, a light-emitting diode of 660 nm was exposed at the tumour site. Tumour sites loaded with liposome nanostructure have triggered severe hypoxia followed by activation of the AQ4N drug due to photo-irradiation. Thus, occurrence of tumour hypoxia induces the cancer treatment by sequential photodynamic therapy along chemotherapy as a significant treatment. Due to biocompatibility, tumour hypoxic nature, overcoming of classical photodynamic therapy and real-time imaging of AQ4N-hCe6-liposome had made it available as a cancer nanomedicine.

Chauhan et al. (2017) have fabricated the gold nanorods supported by liposomal nanohybrid in the diagnosis and therapy of cancer under near-infrared light excitation. The study was carried out against the breast cancer cell lines MDA-MB-231 using the gold-liposome nanohybrid. Notable effects were shown by this novel nanohybrid. First, remarkable mechanical strength of the liposome improved with gold nanorods by supporting the inner and outer layer of it. Control over the release of drug doxorubicin into the cellular environment. In particular, premature drugs were not released upon photothermal excitation. Nanohybrids have shown appreciable anticancer response towards the employment of both chemotherapy and photothermal therapy instead of any single therapy. Further, this biocompatible gold-liposome nanohybrid has exhibited the best contrast agent to carry out imaging, especially yielding highly resolved computed tomographic images guiding cancer therapies. So, this study was promising in giving out the best nanotheranostic agent using liposome-based gold nanohybrid. This nanohybrid had shown several potential characteristics such as biocompatibility, contrast agent, stability and photoactive which find its application in the field of oncology.

Shen et al. (2017) have reported on the development of a nanodelivery system based on liposome-encapsulated ruthenium polypyridine coordination complex $[(Ru(phen)_2dppz](ClO_4)_2]$. Breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231 were treated with

ruthenium complex. After being irradiated, an active compound ruthenium polypyridine emits strong fluorescence signals. Ruthenium complex integrates with hydrophobic lipid bilayers and settles more in the cancer cells and tumours. Liposome-ruthenium got settled in the cancer cell causing severe DNA damage interrupting G2/M phase and leading to apoptosis of those cancer cells. Growth of triple-negative breast cancer tumours was well inhibited by liposome-ruthenium. Imaging of liposome-ruthenium incorporated in cancer cells was obtained by utilizing confocal microspectroscopy, intravital microscopy and in vivo preclinical imaging techniques. In particular, liposome-ruthenium nanocomplex does not cause any physiochemical changes to the major organs and emerged as an adaptable nanotheranostic agent.

Sun et al. (2018) have engineered the liposome-based nanotheranostic agent by gadolinium-doped mesoporous silica nanoparticles coupled with indocyanine green fixed with thermosensitive liposomes loaded with doxorubicin drug (DOX@ GdMSNs-ICG-TSLs). Here gadolinium facilitates the T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging, whereas indocyanine green supports the near-infrared fluorescence imaging and photoacoustic imaging. Thus, the trimodal imaging system was obtained successfully. Under near-infrared laser, excitation doxorubicin and indocyanine green have supported to carry out the chemotherapy and photothermal therapy guided by trimodal imaging. Thus, an excellent trimodal imaging with chemo- and photothermal therapies was done by utilizing DOX@GdMSNs-ICG-TSLs to provide significant antitumor results for both in vivo and in vitro analysis.

Yu et al. (2018) have proposed the development of multi-compartment membranederived liposomes (MCLs). This was obtained by reassembling the cancer cell membranes with polysorbate/tween 80. In order to carry out the imaging and drug delivery, generated multi-compartments were joined with ⁸⁹Zr (deferoxamine chelator) and loaded with tetrakis(4-carboxyphenyl) porphyrin, respectively. Positron emission tomography (PET) and photodynamic therapy (PTT) were employed for imaging and therapy processes. Radiochemical stability was found to be high in turn supporting long-term PTT in in vivo study against 4 T1 tumours. Then the liposome-derived radionuclide particles were excreted through action of phagocyte system, i.e. reticuloendothelial system through hepatobiliary excretion process. Merits of this study include no toxicity by MCLs, detailed imaging data of lymph nodes by ⁸⁹Zr-MCLs and flexibility to adapt for other types of cells. Hence, a novel nanotheranostic platform for imaging and treatment of cancer was given out with liposomes.

Prabhakar and Banerjee (2019) have emerged with a nanotheranostic platform from nanobubble liposome complexes working under ultrasound to create imaging and drug delivery in cancer scenarios. This was done by the combination of chemotherapy medicine paclitaxel entrapped by liposomes (entrap efficiency ~85.4 ± 4.39%) incorporated with nanobubble. Conjugation efficiency was found to be ~98.7 ± 0.14%. Finally, a nanobubble paclitaxel liposome of size ~528.7 ± 31.7 nm was received. Sonoporation of MiaPaCa-2 cancer cells was performed by using ultrasound and a prepared nanobubble system. Cellular permeability was enhanced because of the above-said combination resulting in 2.5-fold increase in the uptake of liposomes from nanocomplex than individual liposomes. Several merits of nanobubble liposomes like echogenic stability, minimally invasive and more anticancer effect than commercial medicine ABRAXANE/PACLITAX. In order to find its place in clinics, some more deep preclinical studies need to be done.

Karpuz et al. (2020) have engineered the radiolabelled liposome of nanosize (150–180 nm) used for in vitro analysis of folate-target of non-small cell lung cancer (H1299 and A549). Liposome was covered by paclitaxel (PCX) and vinorelbine (VNB) containing encapsulation efficiency of 15% and 20%, respectively. After introduction of active- and passive-type targeted liposomes, the uptake rate was found to be more for H1299 cells than A549 cells. Also, higher rates of active targeted liposomes were uptaken by cells than the passive targeted ones. Significance of the anticancer effect was enhanced due to the inclusion of two drugs paclitaxel and vinorelbine instead of single-drug encapsulated liposomes. This in vitro study of co-drug-encapsulated biocompatible liposomes has exhibited nanotheranostic characteristics in the detection and treatment of non-small cell lung cancer through endocytosis initiated by folate receptor.

Recently, De Oliveira et al. (2020) have fabricated a novel nanotheranostic particle liposome, from 1.2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphatidylcholine, pluronic F127 which was covalently modified with a fluorescence probe 5(6)-carboxyfluorescein to perform photodynamic therapy. Thus the obtained polymer was subjected to solid dispersion technique followed by sonication to achieve the final lipid-based polymer liposome. These liposomes had vesicles of size 100 nm which was sufficient to entrap the photosensitizer verteporfin. Time-resolved fluorescence microspectroscopy was employed to determine the structure using fluorescence lifetime of the liposome. The fluorescence data of liposomes are found to possess monomeric form with heterogeneous distribution of verteporfin and 5(6)-carboxyfluorescein in its vesicles. Verteporfin have settled down in the nucleus level, whereas 5(6)-carboxyfluorescein was found in the liposome membrane. The capability of liposome in the detection and photodynamic therapy was done against glioblastoma multiforme cell line T98G. Verteporfin concentration of 1.0µmol L⁻¹ was sufficient to decrease 99% cell viability at blue LED excitation. This study had shown the efficient way of performing cancer therapy with photoactivated liposomes which were not toxic under the absence of light.

Micelle-Based Nanotheranostic Agents

Micelles are colloidal suspension formed by the aggregation of amphiphilic surfactant molecules. This term means tiny particle derived from the Latin word *mica* which means particle and then forms a new word tiny particle (elle diminutive) and coined during the nineteenth century. Mainly micelles due to their ultrasmall size, spherical shape with core, amphiphilic nature, etc. have been employed in drug delivery. Recent research works on micelles have shown the advancement in synthesis of various micelles and its role for anticancer drug delivery and in imaging techniques (Oerlemans et al., 2010).

Yang et al. (2018) have reported on the development of nanostructures based on polymer conjugated with near-infrared dye. Nanostructures formed with polymer and near-infrared dye have the capability to self-assemble themselves in order to create micelles. The biodegradable polymer involved in construction of nanostructure was responsible to yield hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide which amplifies the oxidative stress in the system. Due to excellent absorption in the near-infrared region, these micelle-based nanostructures facilitate dual imaging, i.e. fluorescence and photoacoustic imaging. In vivo study was carried out with these micelles on intravenous injection to tumour (~250 mm³)-bearing mice model. More number of micelles was settled down at tumour because of enhanced permeation and retention effect. Now, upon NIR laser irradiation, a strong fluorescence signal was emitted by the tumour with micelle nanostructure. The emission occurred after 24 h of injection and lasts for more than 48 h. Tumours were destroyed upon excitation with near-infrared laser light by the combination of photothermal effect and photodynamic therapy. Hence, this study has shown the potential of micelles with NIR excitation in producing dual imaging and photo anticancer therapy as a good nanotheranostic agent (Fig. 1.4).

Similarly, Chen et al. (2017) have designed the micelles from copper sulphide nanoparticles to explore its capacity for imaging and cancer therapy. Copper sulphide nanoparticles have increased in temperature upon near-infrared radiation due to the functionalization of polymers poly(acrylamide-acrylonitrile) and polyethylene glycol. This property enables them to use photothermal therapy. Further, poly(acrylamide-acrylonitrile) has displayed drug encapsulation due to transition



Fig. 1.4 Schematic diagram representing near-infrared dye conjugated hydroxyl radicalgenerating biodegradable polymer (HRGP-IR) micelles to carry out dual imaging fluorescence and photoacoustic imaging techniques followed by combinational anticancer therapy, with oxidative stress and thermal heating causing cancer cell apoptosis. (Adopted from Yang et al., 2018)

from hydrophobic to hydrophilic transition of micelles. This is due to the rise in the temperature of the polymer greater than the upper critical solution temperature upon excitation of the laser. This temperature arousal helps do controlled chemotherapy by NIR. Also, CuS-micelles coupled with aminoflavone-loaded GE11 peptides tested against triple-negative breast cancer model. Two-dimensional single-layered cells and three-dimensional multi-layered tumours were analysed with micelles. This nanotheranostic agent was found to be best in both imaging and therapies by NIR excitation. Here, photoacoustic imaging, chemotherapy and photothermal therapy have produced the synergic effect in the nanotheranostic of cancer.

Wang et al. (2019) have designed matrix metalloproteinase-2-controlled nanoscale micelles to provide cancer therapy by heterogeneic targeting. Nanoscale micelle system named as HEKM was introduced into the tumour environment. Tumour targeting effect was obtained when HEKM identifies and binds into the EGFR-HER2 complex (tumour heterogeneity marker). HEKM remains as nanorods under normal physiological condition. It changes its shape to sphere under tumour microenvironment due to the presence of matrix metalloproteinase-2. These nanospheres HEKM invade tissues of tumours leading to apoptosis through proapoptotic element integration. In vivo dual imaging was performed with magnetic resonance and near-infrared fluorescence imaging techniques along with fluorophores and gadolinium-loaded HEKM. Both in vivo and in vitro studies have shown that HEKM was suitable for heterogeneous tumour environments.

Yan et al. (2021) have engineered micelle-based nanostructure in liver cancer diagnosis and treatment. They have synthesized polymer (poly-*e*-caprolactone cystamine carboxymethyl chitosan-glycyrrhetinic acid) which self-assembles to micelles. These lipid-based structures are uniform and deliver anticancer drugs pheophorbide A and doxorubicin. Sensitiveness of micelles exists towards response characteristics of antioxidant glutathione. Lysosomes from liver carcinoma cells (HepG2) have made the release of pheophorbide A and doxorubicin drugs with a release rate of 92.1% and 86.3%, respectively. This co-delivery system of drugs improves the treatment of cancer. Tumour sites were accumulated with higher amounts of drugs by glycyrrhetinic acid and EPR effect. The capability of this nanoplatform was visualized by in vivo study on living tumour-bearing mice. Nearinfrared radiation was employed to irradiate the tumour site on mice. Then, a synergetic effect was achieved by utilizing photothermal therapy, photodynamic therapy and chemotherapy to have the improved inhibition rate by anticancer drugs. This study has insisted upon the simultaneous imaging and treatment of cancer exploring the concept of co-delivery drug system.

Recently, Wei et al. (2020) have proposed on the production of hybrid organosilica micellar-based upconversion nanoparticle to carry out cancer therapies. This hybrid nanoparticle consists of upconversion nanoparticle core at centre. Then the core was followed by hydrophobic polystyrene middle layer and then outer organic shell doped with disulphide. These middle and outer layers were loaded with Ce6 and doxorubicin respectively. Thus, the prepared micelles have shown good stability. Near-infrared laser light was employed to excite the core of upconversion nanoparticles. Through the photodynamic effect, transfer of energy happened in Ce6 to release cytotoxic 1O2. Based on cytotoxic and GSH response, the cell viability was recorded for SMMC-7721 and MCF-7/ADR cells. Release of loaded drug to inhibit tumour growth depends upon the higher amount of GSH present in tumour cells and disruption of disulphide-doped organic shells. In the case of normal cells, the negligible toxicity level was observed with these drugs. The values obtained clearly represents the potential of the synthesized upconversion nano-hybrid based on micelles loaded with Ce6 and DOX on tumour cells.

Other Nanotheranostic Agents

Apart from the above-discussed nanotheranostic agent, some other novel nanomaterials used in the diagnosis and therapy of cancer were represented in Table 1.1.

Conclusion and Future Direction

Organic, inorganic and hybrid nanotheranostic agents have shown significant results in cancer diagnosis and therapy due its discussed novelties. However, certain limitations are to be addressed in order to take it to successful real clinical practice. Both in vitro and in vivo studies have exhibited that the nanotheranostic effect depends upon the nanoparticle's size, shape and dosage injected. There might be a chance of affecting normal cells during imaging and therapy process. Also, if the nanocarriers used are insoluble, they might get accumulated on tissues. For example, gold nanoparticles have issues over non-biodegradability leading to accumulation in target tissues and toxicity (Lasagna-Reeves et al., 2010; Jain et al., 2014). In-depth understanding is required to evaluate the toxicity of nanoparticles and to fix the safe dose. Another issue with nanotheranostic agent speaks upon the stability of the nanoparticles. In lipid- and polymer-based nanotheranostic agent, stability issues were reported by several studies (Luk & Zhang, 2014). Due to hydrophilic property, high solubility of nanoparticle takes place which prevent prolong drug release to cause cancer cell apoptosis and in turn necrosis. After dissolving the nanoparticles, it was removed from the system circulation by regular clearance. Hence, concern to build up the nanotheranostic agent to improve solubility rates by opting to appropriate cross-linkers and binding moieties was given. Next is tumour targeting with the nanotheranostic agent. Tumour targeting efficiency of nanotheranostic agent is necessary to consider both active and passive tumour targeting mechanisms. Dynamics involved in active and passive process must be analysed to improve tumour targeting by a nanoparticle (Li et al., 2017). This could be achieved by conjugating the nanoparticle to suitable ligands so as to bind with the receptors released only from tumour target-enhancing cancer cell death. Also, it's necessary to consider cancer stem cells to produce complete cancer therapy. Successful cancer confrontation is possible when nanotheranostic agents are capable of doing early-stage diagnosis

			, - -		Diagnosis contrast	Drug for		, ,
Nanomaterial Nanotheranostic agent	Nanotheranostic agent		Excitation	Sample	agent	therapy	Study result	References
Zinc oxide Upconverted nanoparticle (ZnO) mesoporous silica shell-ZnO (UPSC-mSiO ₂ ·ZnO)	Upconverted nanoparticle mesoporous silica shell-ZnO (UPSC-mSiO ₂ -ZnO)		980 nm – NIR laser	HeLa cells (in vitro); Balb/c mouse (in vivo)	UPSC-mSiO ₂ -ZnO	Doxorubicin	Timodal imaging (CT, MRI and upconversion luminescence) with pH triggered, high therapeutic effect	Wang et al. (2015)
Iron-platinum fcc-FePt/PEGlyated GO (FePt): sheets graphene oxide (GO)	fcc-FePt/PEGlyated GO sheets e		Fluorescence	MCF-7, HeLa and HepG2 cells (in vitro); Mouse (in vivo)	FePt/GO; dimercaptosuccinic acid (DMSA)	Iron ions	Dual imaging (MRI and CT); WST-1 assay done - significant toxicity on MCF-7, HeLa and HepG2 cells - ROS generation	Yue et al. (2017)
Copper Gadolinium-CuS bovine 9 sulphide (CuS) serum albumin 11	Gadolinium-CuS bovine 9 iserum albumin 1k	9 112	80 nm NIR tser	SK-OV-3 cells (in vitro); SK-OV-3 tumour- bearing mice (in vivo)	Gd:CuS@BSA	Gd:CuS@ BSA+NIR	Dual imaging (MR and PA)-guided PTT; significant tumour target with no toxicity	Yang et al. (2016)
Europium complexes – 86 Grafted-oxidative dopamine N (ECOD)	Europium complexes – 8(Grafted-oxidative dopamine N (ECOD)	∞ Z)8 nm – IR laser	4 T1 cells (in vitro); 4 T1 tumour- bearing mice (in vivo)	Calcein-AM and propidium iodide	ECOD+Laser	CT/PL imaging- guided PTT; high iodine of ECOD leads to strong X-ray attenuation; low toxicity	Zou et al. (2019)

Table 1.1 Novel nanotheranostic materials for the diagnosis and therapy of cancer

--

21

(continued)

Tabl	e 1.1 (continued	[]						
s.					Diagnosis contrast	Drug for		
no.	Nanomaterial	Nanotheranostic agent	Excitation	Sample	agent	therapy	Study result	References
5.	Zinc ion	Zinc ion-doped Prussian blue	808 nm –	4 T1 cells (in	SPBZn	SPBZn(10%)	Effective result with	Shou et al.
		nanotheranostic agent	NIR laser	vitro); 4 T1		+ Laser	MRI and PTT-	(2020)
		(SPBZn)		tumour-			obtained Zn2+-	
				bearing mice			doped ultrasmall	
				(in vivo)			SPBZn(10%)	
							nanoprobe	
9.	Molybdenum	Molybdenum disulphide-	808 nm –	MCF-7-ADR	MoS2-PEI-HA +	Doxorubicin	PET imaging to	Dong et al.
	disulphide	polyethylenimine –	NIR laser	cells (in	NIR		provide spatial-	(2018)
		hyaluronic acid		vitro);			temporal controlled	
				MCF-7-ADR			accurate therapy	
				tumour-				
				bearing				
				BALB/c mice				
				(in vivo)				
7.	Iron oxide	Superparamagnetic iron	I	Colon cancer	Prussian blue	Doxorubicin	Cancer cell imaging	Zou et al.
		oxide-amphiphilic polymers-		cell line			and targeted drug	(2010)
		PEG combined with		(LS174T)			delivery depending	
		antibodyHuCC49 \DCH2 and					on pH	
		fluorescent dye 5-FAM						

22
guided by biomarkers at a molecular level and synergic effect of imaging techniques guided to perform therapeutic methods. Researchers are involved to achieve the superior nano-combater holding the above values to confront cancer.

Acknowledgement The authors are grateful to their family members and friends for their constant support and encouragement.

References

- Abbasi, E., Aval, S. F., Akbarzadeh, A., Milani, M., Nasrabadi, H. T., Joo, S. W., Hanifehpour, Y., Nejati-Koshki, K., & Pashaei-Asl, R. (2014). Dendrimers: Synthesis, applications, and properties. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 9(1), 247. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-247
- Acharya, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2011). PLGA nanoparticles containing various anticancer agents and tumour delivery by EPR effect. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 63(3), 170–183. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2010.10.008
- An, L., Yan, C., Mu, X., Tao, C., Tian, Q., Lin, J., & Yang, S. (2018). Paclitaxel-induced ultrasmall gallic acid-Fe@ BSA self-assembly with enhanced MRI performance and tumor accumulation for cancer theranostics. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10(34), 28483–28493. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsami.8b10625
- Barabadi, H., Vahidi, H., Kamali, K. D., Rashedi, M., & Saravanan, M. (2020). Antineoplastic biogenic silver nanomaterials to combat cervical cancer: A novel approach in cancer therapeutics. *Journal of Cluster Science*, 31(4), 659–672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10876-019-01697-3
- Chakraborty, S., & Rahman, T. (2012). The difficulties in cancer treatment. *Ecancermedicalscience*, 6, ed16. https://doi.org/10.3332/ecancer.2012.ed16
- Chauhan, D. S., Prasad, R., Devrukhkar, J., Selvaraj, K., & Srivastava, R. (2017). Disintegrable NIR light triggered gold nanorods supported liposomal nanohybrids for cancer theranostics. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 29(5), 1510–1518. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.7b00801
- Chen, G., Ma, B., Wang, Y., Xie, R., Li, C., Dou, K., & Gong, S. (2017). CuS-based theranostic micelles for NIR-controlled combination chemotherapy and photothermal therapy and photoacoustic imaging. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9(48), 41700–41711. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsami.7b14083
- Chen, M., Betzer, O., Fan, Y., Gao, Y., Shen, M., Sadan, T., Popovtzer, R., & Shi, X. (2020). Multifunctional dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles for labeling and tracking T cells via dual-modal computed tomography and fluorescence imaging. *Biomacromolecules*, 21(4), 1587–1595. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.0c00147
- Chen, Q., Wang, H., Liu, H., Wen, S., Peng, C., Shen, M., Zhang, G., & Shi, X. (2015). Multifunctional dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles modified with RGD peptide for targeted computed tomography/magnetic resonance dual-modal imaging of tumors. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87(7), 3949–3956. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.5b00135
- Cui, M., Liu, S., Song, B., Guo, D., Wang, J., Hu, G., Su, Y., & He, Y. (2019). Fluorescent silicon nanorods-based nanotheranostic agents for multimodal imaging-guided photothermal therapy. *Nano-Micro Letters*, 11(1), 73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40820-019-0306-9
- De Oliveira, D. C. S., de Freitas, C. F., Calori, I. R., Goncalves, R. S., Cardinali, C. A. E. F., Malacarne, L. C., Ravanelli, M. I., de Oliveira, H. P. M., Tedesco, A. C., Caetano, W., & Hioka, N. (2020). Theranostic verteporfin-loaded lipid-polymer liposome for photodynamic applications. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 212*, 112039. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2020.112039
- Dong, X., Yin, W., Zhang, X., Zhu, S., He, X., Yu, J., Xie, J., Guo, Z., Yan, L., Liu, X., & Wang, Q. (2018). Intelligent MoS2 nanotheranostic for targeted and enzyme-/pH-/NIR-responsive

drug delivery to overcome cancer chemotherapy resistance guided by PET imaging. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10(4), 4271–4284. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b17506

- Eyvazzadeh, N., Shakeri-Zadeh, A., Fekrazad, R., Amini, E., Ghaznavi, H., & Kamrava, S. K. (2017). Gold-coated magnetic nanoparticle as a nanotheranostic agent for magnetic resonance imaging and photothermal therapy of cancer. *Lasers in Medical Science*, 32(7), 1469–1477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10103-017-2267-x
- Fan, Y., Lin, L., Yin, F., Zhu, Y., Shen, M., Wang, H., Du, L., Mignani, S., Majoral, J. P., & Shi, X. (2020). Phosphorus dendrimer-based copper (II) complexes enable ultrasound-enhanced tumor theranostics. *Nano Today*, 33, 100899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2020.100899
- Fan, Y., Zhang, J., Shi, M., Li, D., Lu, C., Cao, X., Peng, C., Mignani, S., Majoral, J. P., & Shi, X. (2019). Poly (amidoamine) dendrimer-coordinated copper (II) complexes as a theranostic nanoplatform for the radiotherapy-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging and chemotherapy of tumors and tumor metastasis. *Nano Letters*, 19(2), 1216–1226. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. nanolett.8b04757
- Fan, Z., Ren, L., Zhang, W., Li, D., Zhao, G., & Yu, J. (2017). AIE luminogen-functionalised mesoporous silica nanoparticles as nanotheranostic agents for imaging guided synergetic chemo–/ photothermal therapy. *Inorganic Chemistry Frontiers*, 4(5), 833–839. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C7QI00046D
- Fan, W., Shen, B., Bu, W., Chen, F., He, Q., Zhao, K., Zhang, S., Zhou, L., Peng, W., Xiao, Q. and Ni, D. (2014). A smart upconversion-based mesoporous silica nanotheranostic system for synergetic chemo-/radio-/photodynamic therapy and simultaneous MR/UCL imaging. Biomaterials, 35(32), pp.8992–9002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.07.024
- Feng, L., Cheng, L., Dong, Z., Tao, D., Barnhart, T. E., Cai, W., Chen, M., & Liu, Z. (2017). Theranostic liposomes with hypoxia-activated prodrug to effectively destruct hypoxic tumors post-photodynamic therapy. ACS Nano, 11(1), 927–937. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.6b07525
- Ghaemi, B., Shaabani, E., Najafi-Taher, R., Jafari Nodooshan, S., Sadeghpour, A., Kharrazi, S., & Amani, A. (2018). Intracellular ROS induction by Ag@ ZnO core–shell nanoparticles: Frontiers of permanent optically active holes in breast cancer theranostic. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10(29), 24370–24381. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.8b03822
- Gindy, M. E., & Prud'homme, R. K. (2009). Multifunctional nanoparticles for imaging, delivery and targeting in cancer therapy. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 6(8), 865–878. https://doi. org/10.1517/17425240902932908
- He, Q., Ma, M., Wei, C., & Shi, J. (2012). Mesoporous carbon@ silicon-silica nanotheranostics for synchronous delivery of insoluble drugs and luminescence imaging. *Biomaterials*, 33(17), 4392–4402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.02.056
- Ho, B. N., Pfeffer, C. M., & Singh, A. T. (2017). Update on nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems in cancer treatment. *Anticancer Research*, 37(11), 5975–5981. https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.12044
- https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment#:~:text=Some%20people%20with%20 cancer%20will,targeted%20therapy %2C%20or%20hormone%20therapy. (available on 29 Nov 2020).
- https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/breastcancer-facts-and-figures/breast-cancer-facts-and-figures-2019-2020.pdf (available on 29 Nov 2020).
- https://www.ddw-online.com/theranostics-an-emerging-tool-in-drug-discovery-and-commercialis ation-1024-200210/.
- https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/326031 (available on 29 Nov 2020).

https://www.who.int/cancer/resources/keyfacts/en/ (available on 29 Nov 2020).

Hu, X., Tang, Y., Hu, Y., Lu, F., Lu, X., Wang, Y., Li, J., Li, Y., Ji, Y., Wang, W., & Ye, D. (2019). Gadolinium-chelated conjugated polymer-based nanotheranostics for photoacoustic/magnetic resonance/NIR-II fluorescence imaging-guided cancer photothermal therapy. *Theranostics*, 9(14), 4168. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.34390

- Inoue, M., Ueda, M., Higashi, T., Anno, T., Fujisawa, K., Motoyama, K., Mizuguchi, M., Ando, Y., Jono, H., & Arima, H. (2019). Therapeutic potential of polyamidoamine dendrimer for amyloidogenic transthyretin amyloidosis. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 10(5), 2584–2590. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.9b00059
- Jain, S., Coulter, J. A., Butterworth, K. T., Hounsell, A. R., McMahon, S. J., Hyland, W. B., Muir, M. F., Dickson, G. R., Prise, K. M., Currell, F. J., & Hirst, D. G. (2014). Gold nanoparticle cellular uptake, toxicity and radiosensitisation in hypoxic conditions. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*, 110(2), 342–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2013.12.013
- Jia, H. R., Jiang, Y. W., Zhu, Y. X., Li, Y. H., Wang, H. Y., Han, X., Yu, Z. W., Gu, N., Liu, P., Chen, Z., & Wu, F. G. (2017). Plasma membrane activatable polymeric nanotheranostics with self-enhanced light-triggered photosensitizer cellular influx for photodynamic cancer therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 255, 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.04.030
- Jin, R., Liu, Z., Bai, Y., Zhou, Y., Gooding, J. J., & Chen, X. (2018). Core-satellite mesoporous silica-gold nanotheranostics for biological stimuli triggered multimodal cancer therapy. *Advanced Functional Materials*, 28(31), 1801961. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201801961
- Karpuz, M., Silindir-Gunay, M., Kursunel, M. A., Esendaglı, G., Dogan, A., & Ozer, A. Y. (2020). Design and in vitro evaluation of folate-targeted, co-drug encapsulated theranostic liposomes for NON-SMALL cell lung cancer. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 101707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2020.101707
- Karpuz, M., Silindir-Gunay, M., & Ozer, A. Y. (2018). Current and future approaches for effective cancer imaging and treatment. *Cancer Biotherapy & Radiopharmaceuticals*, 33(2), 39–51. https://doi.org/10.1089/cbr.2017.2378
- Kresge, C. T., Leonowicz, M. E., Roth, W. J., Vartuli, J. C., & Beck, J. S. (1992). Ordered mesoporous molecular sieves synthesized by a liquid-crystal template mechanism. *Nature*, 359(6397), 710–712. https://doi.org/10.1038/359710a0
- Kumar, V., Khan, I., & Gupta, U. (2020). Lipid-dendrimer nanohybrid system or dendrosomes: Evidences of enhanced encapsulation, solubilization, cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of bortezomib. Applied Nanoscience, 10(11), 4049–4062. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13204-020-01515-7
- Lasagna-Reeves, C., Gonzalez-Romero, D., Barria, M. A., Olmedo, I., Clos, A., Ramanujam, V. S., Urayama, A., Vergara, L., Kogan, M. J., & Soto, C. (2010). Bioaccumulation and toxicity of gold nanoparticles after repeated administration in mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 393(4), 649–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.02.046
- Li, R., Zheng, K., Yuan, C., Chen, Z., & Huang, M. (2017). Be active or not: The relative contribution of active and passive tumor targeting of nanomaterials. *Nano*, 1(4), 346. https://doi. org/10.7150/ntno.19380
- Lin, W., Yao, N., Qian, L., Zhang, X., Chen, Q., Wang, J., & Zhang, L. (2017). pH-responsive unimolecular micelle-gold nanoparticles-drug nanohybrid system for cancer theranostics. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 58, 455–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.06.003
- Lu, W., Singh, A. K., Khan, S. A., Senapati, D., Yu, H., & Ray, P. C. (2010). Gold nano-popcornbased targeted diagnosis, nanotherapy treatment, and in situ monitoring of photothermal therapy response of prostate cancer cells using surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy. *Journal* of the American Chemical Society, 132(51), 18103–18114. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja104924b
- Luk, B. T., & Zhang, L. (2014). Current advances in polymer-based nanotheranostics for cancer treatment and diagnosis. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 6(24), 21859–21873. https://doi. org/10.1021/am5036225
- Men, X., Chen, H., Sun, C., Liu, Y., Wang, R., Zhang, X., Wu, C., & Yuan, Z. (2020). Thermosensitive polymer dot nanocomposites for trimodal computed tomography/photoacoustic/fluorescence imaging-guided synergistic chemo-photothermal therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.0c13252
- Mendoza-Nava, H., Ferro-Flores, G., Ramírez, F. D. M., Ocampo-García, B., Santos-Cuevas, C., Azorín-Vega, E., Jiménez-Mancilla, N., Luna-Gutiérrez, M., & Isaac-Olivé, K. (2017). Fluorescent, plasmonic, and radiotherapeutic properties of the 177Lu–dendrimer-AuNP–folate–

bombesin nanoprobe located inside cancer cells. *Molecular Imaging*, *16*, 1536012117704768. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536012117704768

- Miao, P., & Tang, Y. (2019). Gold nanoparticles-based multipedal DNA walker for ratiometric detection of circulating tumor cell. *Analytical Chemistry*, 91(23), 15187–15192. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.analchem.9b04000
- Mishra, S. K., & Kannan, S. (2017). A bimetallic silver–neodymium theranostic nanoparticle with multimodal NIR/MRI/CT imaging and combined chemo-photothermal therapy. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 56(19), 12054–12066. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.inorgchem.7b02103
- Mura, S., & Couvreur, P. (2012). Nanotheranostics for personalized medicine. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 64(13), 1394–1416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.06.006
- Nagy-Simon, T., Potara, M., Craciun, A. M., Licarete, E., & Astilean, S. (2018). IR780-dye loaded gold nanoparticles as new near infrared activatable nanotheranostic agents for simultaneous photodynamic and photothermal therapy and intracellular tracking by surface enhanced resonant Raman scattering imaging. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 517, 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2018.02.007
- Nigam, S., & Bahadur, D. (2017). Dendrimer-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles as stimuliresponsive drug carriers for thermally-activated chemotherapy of cancer. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 155, 182–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.04.025
- Oerlemans, C., Bult, W., Bos, M., Storm, G., Nijsen, J. F. W., & Hennink, W. E. (2010). Polymeric micelles in anticancer therapy: Targeting, imaging and triggered release. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 27(12), 2569–2589. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-010-0233-4
- Palmerston Mendes, L., Pan, J., & Torchilin, V. P. (2017). Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy. *Molecules*, 22(9), 1401. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules22091401
- Perumal, V., Sivakumar, P. M., Zarrabi, A., Muthupandian, S., Vijayaraghavalu, S., Sahoo, K., Das, A., Das, S., Payyappilly, S. S., & Das, S. (2019). Near infra-red polymeric nanoparticle based optical imaging in cancer diagnosis. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 199, 111630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2019.111630
- Prabhakar, A., & Banerjee, R. (2019). Nanobubble liposome complexes for diagnostic imaging and ultrasound-triggered drug delivery in cancers: A theranostic approach. ACS Omega, 4(13), 15567–15580. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b01924
- Prasad, R., Jain, N. K., Yadav, A. S., Chauhan, D. S., Devrukhkar, J., Kumawat, M. K., Shinde, S., Gorain, M., Thakor, A. S., Kundu, G. C., & Conde, J. (2020). Liposomal nanotheranostics for multimode targeted in vivo bioimaging and near-infrared light mediated cancer therapy. *Communications Biology*, 3(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-1016-z
- Roy, E., Patra, S., Madhuri, R., & Sharma, P. K. (2016). Stimuli-responsive poly (N-isopropyl acrylamide)-co-tyrosine@ gadolinium: Iron oxide nanoparticle-based nanotheranostic for cancer diagnosis and treatment. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 142*, 248–258. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2016.02.053
- Sahoo, A. K., Goswami, U., Dutta, D., Banerjee, S., Chattopadhyay, A., & Ghosh, S. S. (2016). Silver nanocluster embedded composite nanoparticles for targeted prodrug delivery in cancer theranostics. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, 2(8), 1395–1402. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.6b00334
- Shao, L., Li, Q., Zhao, C., Lu, J., Li, X., Chen, L., Deng, X., Ge, G., & Wu, Y. (2019). Auto-fluorescent polymer nanotheranostics for self-monitoring of cancer therapy via triple-collaborative strategy. *Biomaterials*, 194, 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.12.021
- Shen, J., Kim, H. C., Wolfram, J., Mu, C., Zhang, W., Liu, H., Xie, Y., Mai, J., Zhang, H., Li, Z., & Guevara, M. (2017). A liposome encapsulated ruthenium polypyridine complex as a theranostic platform for triple-negative breast cancer. *Nano Letters*, 17(5), 2913–2920. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b00132
- Shou, P., Yu, Z., Wu, Y., Feng, Q., Zhou, B., Xing, J., Liu, C., Tu, J., Akakuru, O. U., Ye, Z., & Zhang, X. (2020). Zn2+ doped ultrasmall prussian blue nanotheranostic agent for breast can-

cer photothermal therapy under MR imaging guidance. Advanced Healthcare Materials, 9(1), 1900948. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201900948

- Song, N., Zhao, L., Xu, X., Zhu, M., Liu, C., Sun, N., Yang, J., Shi, X., & Zhao, J. (2020). LyP-1modified multifunctional dendrimers for targeted antitumor and antimetastasis therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 12(11), 12395–12406. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.9b18881
- Sun, Q., You, Q., Wang, J., Liu, L., Wang, Y., Song, Y., Cheng, Y., Wang, S., Tan, F., & Li, N. (2018). Theranostic nanoplatform: Triple-modal imaging-guided synergistic cancer therapy based on liposome-conjugated mesoporous silica nanoparticles. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10(2), 1963–1975. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b13651
- Tang, W. L., Tang, W. H., & Li, S. D. (2018). Cancer theranostic applications of lipid-based nanoparticles. *Drug Discovery Today*, 23(5), 1159–1166.
- Thangam, R., Sundarraj, S., Vivek, R., Suresh, V., Sivasubramanian, S., Paulpandi, M., Karthick, S. V., Ragavi, A. S., & Kannan, S. (2015). Theranostic potentials of multifunctional chitosan–silver–phycoerythrin nanocomposites against triple negative breast cancer cells. *RSC Advances*, 5(16), 12209–12223. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA14043E
- Vallet-Regi, M., Ramila, A., Del Real, R. P., & Pérez-Pariente, J. (2001). A new property of MCM-41: Drug delivery system. *Chemistry of Materials*, 13(2), 308–311. https://doi. org/10.1021/cm0011559
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C., & Thompson, C. B. (2009). Understanding the Warburg effect: The metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science*, 324(5930), 1029–1033. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1160809
- Wang, Y., Song, S., Liu, J., Liu, D., & Zhang, H. (2015). ZnO-functionalized upconverting nanotheranostic agent: Multi-modality imaging-guided chemotherapy with on-demand drug release triggered by pH. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 54(2), 536–540. https://doi. org/10.1002/ange.201409519
- Wang, Z., Wang, Y., Jia, X., Han, Q., Qian, Y., Li, Q., Xiang, J., Wang, Q., Hu, Z., & Wang, W. (2019). MMP-2-controlled transforming micelles for heterogeneic targeting and programmable cancer therapy. *Theranostics*, 9(6), 1728. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.30915
- Wei, Z., Liu, X., Niu, D., Qin, L., & Li, Y. (2020). An upconversion nanoparticle-based organosilicamicellar hybrid nanoplatform for redox-responsive chemotherapy and NIR mediated photodynamic therapy. ACS Applied Bio Materials. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsabm.0c00524
- Xu, X., Zhao, L., Li, X., Wang, P., Zhao, J., Shi, X., & Shen, M. (2017). Targeted tumor SPECT/ CT dual mode imaging using multifunctional RGD-modified low generation dendrimerentrapped gold nanoparticles. *Biomaterials Science*, 5(12), 2393–2397. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C7BM00826K
- Yan, T., Hui, W., Zhu, S., He, J., Liu, Z., & Cheng, J. (2021). Carboxymethyl chitosan based redoxresponsive micelle for near-infrared fluorescence image-guided photo-chemotherapy of liver cancer. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 253, 117284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2020.117284
- Yang, W., Guo, W., Le, W., Lv, G., Zhang, F., Shi, L., Wang, X., Wang, J., Wang, S., Chang, J., & Zhang, B. (2016). Albumin-bioinspired Gd: CuS nanotheranostic agent for in vivo photoacoustic/magnetic resonance imaging-guided tumor-targeted photothermal therapy. ACS Nano, 10(11), 10245–10257. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.6b05760
- Yang, W., Noh, J., Park, H., Gwon, S., Singh, B., Song, C., & Lee, D. (2018). Near infrared dye-conjugated oxidative stress amplifying polymer micelles for dual imaging and synergistic anticancer phototherapy. *Biomaterials*, 154, 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2017.10.043
- Yang, Z., Dai, Y., Shan, L., Shen, Z., Wang, Z., Yung, B. C., Jacobson, O., Liu, Y., Tang, W., Wang, S., & Lin, L. (2019). Tumour microenvironment-responsive semiconducting polymerbased self-assembling nanotheranostics. *Nanoscale Horizons*, 4(2), 426–433. https://doi. org/10.1039/C8NH00307F
- Yu, B., Goel, S., Ni, D., Ellison, P. A., Siamof, C. M., Jiang, D., Cheng, L., Kang, L., Yu, F., Liu, Z., & Barnhart, T. E. (2018). Reassembly of 89Zr-labeled cancer cell membranes into mul-

ticompartment membrane-derived liposomes for PET-trackable tumor-targeted theranostics. *Advanced Materials*, *30*(13), 1704934. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201704934

- Yue, L., Wang, J., Dai, Z., Hu, Z., Chen, X., Qi, Y., Zheng, X., & Yu, D. (2017). pH-responsive, self-sacrificial nanotheranostic agent for potential in vivo and in vitro dual modal MRI/CT imaging, real-time, and in situ monitoring of cancer therapy. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 28(2), 400–409. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.6b00562
- Zarepour, A., Zarrabi, A., & Larsen, K. L. (2019). Fabricating B-cyclodextrin based pH-responsive nanotheranostics as a programmable polymeric nanocapsule for simultaneous diagnosis and therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 7017. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S221598
- Zhang, R., Wang, L., Wang, X., Jia, Q., Chen, Z., Yang, Z., Ji, R., Tian, J., & Wang, Z. (2020). Acid-induced in vivo assembly of gold nanoparticles for enhanced photoacoustic imagingguided photothermal therapy of tumors. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 9(14), 2000394. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.202000394
- Zhu, H., Fang, Y., Miao, Q., Qi, X., Ding, D., Chen, P., & Pu, K. (2017). Regulating near-infrared photodynamic properties of semiconducting polymer nanotheranostics for optimized cancer therapy. ACS Nano, 11(9), 8998–9009. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.7b03507
- Zou, P., Yu, Y., Wang, Y. A., Zhong, Y., Welton, A., Galbán, C., Wang, S., & Sun, D. (2010). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanotheranostics for targeted cancer cell imaging and pHdependent intracellular drug release. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 7(6), 1974–1984. https://doi. org/10.1021/mp100273t
- Zou, Y., Jin, H., Sun, F., Dai, X., Xu, Z., Yang, S., & Liao, G. (2018). Design and synthesis of a lead sulfide based nanotheranostic agent for computer tomography/magnetic resonance dual-mode-bioimaging-guided photothermal therapy. ACS Applied Nano Materials, 1(5), 2294–2305. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsanm.8b00359
- Zou, Y., Sun, F., Liu, C., Yu, C., Zhang, M., He, Q., Xiong, Y., Xu, Z., Yang, S., & Liao, G. (2019). A novel nanotheranostic agent for dual-mode imaging-guided cancer therapy based on europium complexes-grafted-oxidative dopamine. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 357, 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.09.139

Chapter 2 Multifunctional Nanoparticles for Targeting Cancer Nanotheranostics



Ravichandran Manisekaran D, Laura Susana Acosta-Torres D, René García-Contreras D, and Jaime Santoyo-Salazar D



Introduction to Cancer and Nanomedicine

Cancer is a disease condition of abnormal cell growth that divides uncontrollably leading to infiltration and destroying other healthy cells (Ahmad et al., 2019). It is usually caused by many external or genetic factors affecting any part of the body, resulting in more than 100 types of cancer. Most importantly, it is the second most disease responsible for causing 9.6 million deaths worldwide by 2018 (Bray et al., 2018). And the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates 29.5 million (M) new cases and approximately 16.5 M deaths by 2040 globally. In Europe, more than 20% of deaths are caused by cancer every year (~1.7 M deaths/year), the estimated number of 5.2 M new cases, and 2.5 M deaths after cardiovascular diseases (Raza

R. Manisekaran (🖂) · L. S. Acosta-Torres · R. García-Contreras

Laboratorio de Investigación Interdisciplinaria, Área de Nanoestructuras y Biomateriales, Escuela Nacional de Estudios Superiores Unidad León, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, León, Mexico

J. Santoyo-Salazar

Departamento de Física, Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional, CINVESTAV-IPN, Zacatenco, Mexico

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_2

et al., 2019) is represented in Fig. 2.1. The conventional therapies possess a plethora of side effects and are incapable of circumventing the biophysical barriers posed by tumor microphysiology (Shahbazi et al., 2016). Also, more than 80% of patients reportedly show a poor response to conventional therapy, ultimately increasing their healthcare costs. So, there is an urge to develop novel treatments and therapies to treat cancer, which is currently being achieved by the field of revolutionizing nanomedicine.

Nanomedicine, an innovative and promising field, plays a vital role in the efficient treatment and diagnosis of cancer by overcoming the drawbacks of conventional anticancer therapy (van der Meel et al., 2019). Last three decades, scientists have experimented with and exploited a huge number of nano-based formulations specifically for cancer theranostics. This is made possible by employing various nanostructures as a site-specific targeting agent mainly affecting the cancer cells and sparing the healthy ones which made its prominent path in research and development. In specific, the versatility of multifunctional nanoparticles has gained much more interest in the field of cancer therapy which revolutionizes early-stage detection, treatment, and therapy becoming altogether a theranostic agent (Seeta Rama Raju et al., 2015).

This area of multifunctionality opened vast research on using various combinations of size, shape, surface functionalization, targeting molecule, drug attachment, linkers, etc. In most cases, the amalgamation of both organic and inorganic nanomaterials gave a distinctive property for its efficient use (Navya et al., 2019). These nanoparticles are more effective and specifically advantageous in various aspects. For instance, prolonged blood circulation time, improving stability and solubility, controlled and sustained release of drugs, decrease immune system activation, less cytotoxicity to various organs was investigated to have better knowledge and indepth understanding of the system. This led to a major outbreak on biomedical purposes with their physicochemical properties leading to various clinical trials and practices. Based on the designing property of nanocarriers, it can be easily tuned to release the drugs by external manipulation such as heat and ultrasound also. Briefly,



Fig. 2.1 Estimated number of incident cases and deaths from 2018 to 2040 worldwide and in Europe for all cancer types. (Created with BioRender.com)

the doped multimetallic, organometallic, and mesoporous nanostructure finds its way in the field of healthcare and biomedical applications. For example, in the case of magnetoplasmonic nanoparticles, it can function as a drug delivery, photodynamic, photothermal, hyperthermal, and contrast agent which is widely used from diagnosis to prognosis (Urries et al., 2014). This kind of nanoparticles is strategically designed to attain a diverse therapeutic property to increase the possibility of finding a cure and to improve the patients' health substantially.

The major impact of anticancer nanotherapies is usually superior to the conventional systems because of its site-specific targeting and biodistribution of drugs, thus minimizing the drug toxicity to healthy tissues. So far, extensive research gave a potential outcome in the nano-based therapeutic strategy such as chemo and radiation, gene, and immunotherapies. Thus, the multifunctional or a combinatorial therapeutic agent will lead to the future of cancer nanotheranostics and the possibility of personalized medicine approach which could have a great impact on a patient's health by largely minimizing the side effects of current life-disrupting therapies.

Multifunctional Magnetic-Based Hybrid Nanoparticles

Magnetic nanostructures are one of the widely used and studied in cancer therapeutics (drug delivery, contrast agents, and hyperthermia) (Knežević et al., 2019) because of their unique superparamagnetic properties, and it can be externally manipulated using a magnetic field to target and deliver the drugs in a site-specific region (Farzin et al., 2020). In some cases, magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) have the inherent capability to differentiate the healthy and cancer cells based on their threshold electrical field which aids in inducing electroporation (Dehvari et al., 2018; Rodzinski et al., 2016). But it is mandatory for making it water-soluble to use it for biomedical applications which are usually done by post-surface functionalization process using surfactant molecules, polymers, etc. Thus, various materials were incorporated to have a synergistic effect for combinatorial therapy. So, here we have concentrated our spotlight on some of the successful and potential magnetic nanoparticle-based hybrids which include graphene, gold, and finally cell membrane-cloaking technology shown in Fig. 2.2. Some of the abovementioned hybrids are in the process of clinical translation which could have a major impact on the cancer patients in the future. Thus, we outline some of the major advancements and provide a current understanding for the readers.

Graphene-Magnetic Nanocomposites (GO-MNPs)

In the last few decades, the discovery of graphene received a wide interest in biomedical applications because of its inherent excellent properties like surface area, biocompatible, optical, electrical, mechanical, and thermal (Priyadarsini et al.,



Fig. 2.2 Schematic representation of magnetic-based hybrid nanostructures and their applications in the cancer theranostics. (Created with BioRender.com)

2018; Banerjee, 2018). To be specific, 2D-based materials such as graphene, graphene oxide, and reduced graphene oxide along with various covalent and noncovalent surface functionalities, doping, and other derivatives are extensively studied in material science (Cheng et al., 2017). Also, the coupling of various metallic and organic nanostructures, such as gold, magnetic, upconversion, and polymeric structures, further enhances the functionality to be employed for cancer disease. Thus, the multifunctional behavior and the possibilities were explored for bioimaging and sensing, targeted gene and drug delivery, photothermal and dynamic therapy along with combination therapies, theranostics, and finally tissue engineering (Syama & Mohanan, 2019). Currently, GO's immense application in biomedicine has been exploited with the MNPs as a composite to apply in the nanotheranostics (Alegret et al., 2017).

Xie et al. designed a multifunctional layer-by-layer assembly of GO-MNP nanosheets loaded with doxorubicin for drug delivery and photothermal therapy (PTT) (Fig. 2.3). In most cases, GO-MNPs aggregate/precipitate under physiological conditions which prevent its efficiency. But this self-assembled structure was produced with the help of natural polyelectrolytes (chitosan and sodium alginate) to decrease the aggregation of particles and also to increase the stability in the biological medium which is highly suitable for biological applications. Interestingly, using both electrostatic interaction and via π - π stacking, the drug loading was maximum which is more than 137% w/w. This nanocomposite showed enhanced dispersion, pH-based drug delivery, and PTT effect. The drug delivery was maximum at acidic pH (pH 5) by decreasing the interaction between the composite and doxorubicin which is favorable for attacking the cancer tissues. The case of PTT at near-infrared (NIR) laser (808 nm, 1 W/cm²) showed a concentration-dependent temperature increment to 51 and 53 °C at 100 µgmL⁻¹ and 200 µgmL⁻¹, respectively. Thus, this novel self-assembled nanocomposite proves it to be a multifunctional and highstable candidate for drug delivery and PTT (Xie et al., 2019).



Enhanced stability for drug delivery Targeted cellular Uptake Photothermal Therapy

Fig. 2.3 Layer-by-layer assembly of GO-MNP synthesis, drug-loading strategy, stability, cellular internalization, and its applications as a PTT agent. (Reprinted with permission from Ref. (Xie et al., 2019) from Elsevier)

The superparamagnetic behavior of MNPs is widely employed for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Zarepour et al., 2017; Stephen et al., 2011). There are very few studies where the researchers have developed and investigated GO-MNP nanocomposite to effectively employ it in MR-based imaging. So, Rodriguez et al. proposed a GO-MNP composite and exploited it for drug delivery, fluorescence, and MRI imaging. The authors synthesized multifunctional GO-MNPs labeled with doxorubicin as an anticancer drug for pH-based drug delivery system, exploit intrinsic fluorescence behavior of GO as a bioimaging agent and finally use the whole nanocomposite as a contrast marker in MRI. This system avoids the toxicity from the external fluorophores and increases the biocompatibility. From the results it is clearly shown that the drug loading of eight times less concentration than the usual amount resulted in ~62% killing of cancer cells. In case of in vivo MR imaging depicted, enhanced relaxivity values (~10.7) and optical pH sensing using GO fluorescence have been studied in vitro using different normal and cancer cell lines aided to track the doxorubicin internalization within 3 h of transfection with the signal difference of four- to fivefold representing the specificity of the nanosystem. Thus, this multimodal agent helps in drug delivery, tracking, and detection (Gonzalez-Rodriguez et al., 2019).

Last three decades, heavy metal gadolinium-based contrast agents for MRI have been widely used which have accumulated in most of the patient's tissue, especially in vital organs such as the brain, bone, and kidneys. The detrimental effects are seen with kidneys leading to renal toxicity (Rees et al., 2018). So now it is time to shed a spotlight on other non-toxic contrast agents. To address this issue, recently Luo et al. synthesized 5-nm-ultrasmall superparamagnetic MNPs which are functionalized with nano-GO and doxorubicin. This composite was employed for dual applications like pH-based chemotherapy and T1 MRI agent. The drug release was based on the pH responsiveness which differentiates the tissues from healthy and cancerous. The MR imaging in vivo studies were evaluated which shows the MNPs greatly contribute to r1 rather than r2 value resulting in high-resolution T1-weighted imaging which is due to the size of the nanoparticles. Later using cell counting kit-8 assay, renal and hepatic function tests were carried out to determine the cytotoxicity of the nanocomposite showing more than 90% of cell viability. This proves that the developed composite has a promising application as a T1 contrast agent (Luo et al., 2019) depicted in Fig. 2.4.

Recently, a versatile chemo-photodynamic platform was developed and studied its efficiency by Vinothini et al. In this work, reduced GO was used and decorated with the MNPs subsequently with a cancer drug camptothecin and a photosensitizer 4-hydroxycoumarin for a combinational therapy. The drug release was evaluated based on the pH-sensitive system and the photodynamic therapy (PDT) using a 365nm laser. The cytotoxicity of the nanocomposite was also determined using both healthy and cancerous cell lines. One of the major advantages of this design is to enhance the photo-irradiation behavior and stimuli-based drug release for effective synergistic effects on the cancer cells rather than the monotherapy. From the studies, it is determined that the synthesized nanocomposite is highly cytotoxic for its effective employment in both in vitro and in vivo studies. The drug release was maximum at the acidic pH which is based on the environment-based stimuli response. The PDT effect of 4-hydroxycoumarin in rats induced with breast cancer, under laser irradiation for a short period, showed an enhanced effect in vivo by generating reactive oxygen species (ROS), along with both nuclear and cellular damages, thus



Fig. 2.4 Schematic illustrations of the multifunctional GO-MNPs with doxorubicin loading and testing its efficacy in breast cancer model for both tumor diagnosis and therapy. (Reproduced from Ref. (Luo et al., 2019) with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry)

proving it to be an extraordinary and synergistic composite for dual therapies (Vinothini et al., 2020).

Most of the research is carried out on NPs based on its functionalization for cancer therapeutics with less interest in microsphere (MS) structure. In some studies, MSs were employed instead of NPs because of high porosity and surface area which can be highly suitable to maximize the loading of drugs, PDT agents, and other moieties. In the present investigation, the authors proposed an advanced approach to developing a chemo-photothermal nanocomposite system using MSs with hollowreduced GO intended to use it for PTT near-infrared (NIR)-light-responsive system (Fig. 2.5). And interestingly this study employs a 3D-reduced GO-connected structure, where very few reports have been published on this kind of structure. The fabrication of this system involves various processes, where reduced GO synthesis initially using a spray dry method using silicon dioxide which is later etched to obtain GO hollow MSs. Then the MNPs and doxorubicin were decorated on the reduced GO MSs. The resulting sphere exhibited a very high surface area $(\sim 120 \text{ m}^2\text{g}^{-1})$ and pore volume $(\sim 1 \text{ cm}^3\text{g}^{-1})$, which is advantageous for doxorubicin loading (~18%). The on-off pattern of NIR triggered PTT-induced enhanced conversion efficiency. The combinatorial chemo-photothermal therapy showed higher cytotoxicity in vitro confirming an enhanced antitumor efficiency of the MS-based drug delivery system (Liang et al., 2020).



Fig. 2.5 Schematic illustration representing the design and synthesis of reduced GO-MNPs with doxorubicin decoration for combined photothermal and chemotherapy for tumor inhibition (Liang et al., 2020)

Gold-Magnetic Nanocomposites (Au-MNPs)

Noble metals have always created a niche in the field of biomedical applications (Yagoob et al., 2020; Chugh et al., 2018), and it is the earliest known nanostructure to the field of nanotechnology. In specific, gold nanomaterials have always made their contribution and have also become an inevitable research topic in various sectors. Gold nanoparticles (GNPs) are widely celebrated and exploited for their tunability in shape, size, and surface chemistry, biologically non-reactive, and most importantly localized surface plasmon resonance (SPR) resulting in extraordinary optical, electronic, and thermal properties. Thus, novel synthesis and bioconjugation methods were employed in order to extend its suitability for in vivo diagnostics and therapeutics (Fan et al., 2020; Elahi et al., 2018). In the field of cancer theranostics, GNPs are constantly studied with the focus of using them as a drug delivery carrier, tumor imaging, photothermal, radiofrequency, and antiangiogenic therapies aiming to eradicate the disease (Peng et al., 2019; Sztandera et al., 2019). Thus, the researchers came out with a concept of a unique multimodal platform using the amalgamation of both MNPs and GNPs to synthesize majorly a core of MNPs and GNPs of various morphologies like satellite/shell/hybrid/star/rods or Janus-shaped nanostructures for treating, diagnosing, and preventing cancer. These magnetoplasmonic nanoparticles with proper design and biofunctionalization provided an innovative approach in site-specific targeting, diagnostic tools (MRI, computed tomography (CT), Raman, and photoacoustic), and therapies (PTT, PDT) (Manisekaran, 2018; Das et al., 2019). In this section, we chose some of the promising investigations and discussed them in detail.

Core-shell NPs are quite often employed for cancer theranostics (Mukherjee et al., 2020; Dhas et al., 2018). But the gold encapsulation is a tedious process to ensure complete coverage, and some researchers employ the iteration procedure to protect the MNPs from reactivity, oxidation, and other environmental factors (Wang et al., 2008). Our group has designed a core-shell NPs using an iterative-seeding method five times with co-functionalization of targeting agent-folic acid and anti-cancer drug-doxorubicin as a multifunctional nanovehicle for cancer theranostics. This process enhanced stability, cytocompatibility, and SPR compared to one-step procedure coating. The nanovehicle exhibited a first-order rate kinetics of drug profile at an endosomal pH, as an efficient T2 contrast agent in case of in vitro studies with the cancerous cell line and finally showed an increased temperature during the in vitro hyperthermia and chemohyperthermia which is capable enough to kill the cancer cells within a short span of time. This proves it to be a potential candidate as a versatile agent for cancer theranostics (Das et al., 2019).

Anisotropic gold nanostructures (nanostar, rods, plates, flowers, cubes, etc.) are one of the most fascinating discoveries in material science which has been widely exploited in the last two decades. These structures are synthesized using the seed/ seedless method by employing various polymers or surfactants, reducing agents chemically, or green approach (Ortiz-Castillo et al., 2020). The impact of slight morphology change is clearly seen majorly in the SPR adsorption mostly shifting from visible to NIR region which can be readily used for nano-bio-interface reactions (Stone et al., 2017). Some investigations used these structures along with MNPs to the next level of cancer theranostics (Singh et al., 2018).

Gold nanostars are efficiently used for surface-enhanced plasmon resonance (SERS)-based applications because of their hot-spot concept with signal enhancement in the case of diagnostics (Tian et al., 2016). But, Hung-Yu et al. designed a multifunctional platform using gold nanostar-coated MNPs with the surface functionalization of folic acid and employ three different versatile imaging agents (MR/ CT/photoacoustic-PA) and for PTT of cancerous tissues schematically illustrated in Fig. 2.6. Interestingly, this nanostructure possessed enhanced stability, heme, and cytocompatibility. After evaluating and finding the excellent characteristics of the NPs, it was further used as an imaging marker both in vitro and in vivo. For example, it expressed a high r2 relaxivity with the value of 549.07 mM⁻¹ s⁻¹ because of the superparamagnetic behavior of MNPs. Then in the case of CT phantom studies and PA imaging, the nanostar concentration is directly proportional to the signal enhancement which is calculated using the CT value and PA signal intensity vs nanostar concentration, respectively, and finally with PTT (808-nm laser, 1 W/cm², 300 s) expressed a temperature increment based on the nanostar concentration reaching up to 63.3 °C at 20 mM. It is also seen that by increasing the laser power to 1.5 W/cm² the temperature raised to 68.5 °C. Thus, it proved its multifunctionality and extended its possibility for different cancer types with translational medicine applications (Hu et al., 2016).

Multifunctional MNP-based Janus nanoparticles are exceptionally important because of their inherent magnetic, chemical, optical, and electronic properties (Bradley et al., 2016). Chen et al. investigated magnetoplasmonic Janus NPs for trimodal imaging and therapy of cancer cells with good stability and biocompatibility (Fig. 2.7). The synthesized structure resulted in a strong SPR band (786 nm) in the NIR region which makes it highly suitable for PTT. The NIR laser irradiation on Janus NPs which is incubated with the cells showed an instant temperature increment of 42 °C which resulted in damage and irreversible death. And interestingly, the authors say more than 40% of photothermal conversion efficiency value compared to other methods. The in vitro trimodal imaging in this study is aimed at



Fig. 2.6 Schematic illustration depicting the synthesis of versatile Au nanostar MNPs with folic acid (**a**) and their characterization representing the stability, morphology, and size distribution (b–e, **b**) (Hu et al., 2016)



Fig. 2.7 Schematic illustration of the Au-MNP-branched Janus nanoparticles for trimodal imaging agent and for in vitro PTT (**a**). TEM images of individual nanostructure and final nanoparticles along with its elemental mapping (A-I, **b**). (Reproduced from Ref. (Chen et al., 2017) with permission from The Wiley)

enhancing diagnostics featuring high accuracy, practicability, and efficacy. GNP's inherent higher X-ray absorption coefficient was exploited to use it as a CT imaging agent, where the signal enhancement was purely dependent on gold concentration. From the evaluation, it is identified that only 20 mg/ml was enough to have a similar signal with that of 300 mg/ml of conventional iodine. The magnetic property of MNPs was used for MR imaging which gave rise to an r2 relaxivity value of 93.5 mm⁻¹ s⁻¹ than the usual core-shell NPs. The Janus NPs represented a high PA signal attenuation leading to enhanced PA imaging based on the concentration, thus proving it to be an exceptional nanoplatforms for cancer theranostics (Chen et al., 2017).

Innovative nanostructures are designed by researchers aiming to synthesize an "all-in-one" multifunctional platform in the field of cancer theranostics. One such example is developing a hybrid magnetoplasmonic NPs which is made up of octahedral-shaped MNPs with spherical GNPs which is shown in Fig. 2.8. This dual platform was functionalized with two different fluorescent dyes (Cy5 and Nile red) and an anticancer drug (doxorubicin) for effective tracking and cargo delivery simultaneously. The major advantage of the octahedral MNP's shape represents very high magnetization and becomes perfectly suitable for MRI contrast agents. The capability of hybrid NPs was tested both in vitro and in vivo effectively. In the case of in vitro drug delivery, the release profile was a little less when compared to the free drug due to the time taken for passive diffusion, internalization, with the cell membrane, and finally delivering the drugs at the endolysosomal pH effectively. So, the authors studied the internalization based on the enhanced permeation and retention (EPR) effect which was found to be 3% in a period of 24-h injection. The sitespecific drug release was tracked using Cy5 dye which accumulated majorly in the tumorous tissue rather than the normal cells and proving its specificity. MR imaging in both in vitro and in vivo studies showed that they express high r2 relaxivity values



Fig. 2.8 Synthesis of Au-MNP's all-in-one platform as a theranostic agent (**a**), in vivo studies on NP accumulation in tumors (**b**), and photographs of T2-weighted MRI contrast agents (**c**) detected at various time intervals (Efremova et al., 2018)

which are due to its angular structure, high crystallinity, and magnetization effect (Efremova et al., 2018).

Cell-Membrane-Camouflaged Magnetic Nanoparticles (CmC-MNPs)

The nanomedicine sector is escalating tremendously and rapidly aiming to treat all life-threatening illnesses but still features a certain limitation of translation to clinical use efficiently. Thus, very few nanoformulations are successfully passed from clinical trials to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for patient use. Some of the important aspects are blood circulation time, toxicity, activation of an immune response, uptake by the reticuloendothelial system (RES), and not sitespecific. To overcome these issues, many biocompatible polymer-based formulations are administered (multiple times) with major FDA-approved products for many diseases. Nonetheless, it is necessary to find an efficient system that ultimately leads to biomimicry for designing a nanosystem composed of both natural and artificial nanomaterials (Li et al., 2018b). This quest is responsible for the stateof-the-art technology of cell membrane coating/camouflaging nanocarriers reported in 2011 (Hu et al., 2011), and its gradual development in the exploitation of various cell membrane timelines is depicted in Fig. 2.9. The cell is one of the life fundamental units with various biological moieties responsible for complex functionalities whose membrane can be employed for effective biointerfacing (Fang et al., 2018).

This novel technology employs various cellular membranes such as erythrocytes, leukocytes, platelets, immune cells, cancer cells, stem cells, fibroblast, etc. which are obtained by hypotonic isolation, thawing, or ultrasonic disruption. Then by using either membrane extrusion, electroporation, or ultrasonic treatment, it is fused with the desired NPs and the membrane of interest-based on applications or targeting the disease, thus resulting in numerous filing of patents and clinical studies (Liu et al., 2019). Considering cancer therapy, CmCs are widely investigated with tremendous possibilities involving different cell membranes for drug and gene delivery, imaging, photo- and immunotherapies, etc. (Wu et al., 2019; Pereira-Silva



Fig. 2.9 Timeline of major advancements in the development of cell membrane-encapsulated NPs in a decade (Chen et al., 2020). (Adapted with permission from Ref. (Chen et al., 2020) from Elsevier)

et al., 2020) Being a versatile theranostic tool, MNPs with various cell membrane encapsulations along with a wide range of surface functionalization are widely employed for immunotherapies because of their inherent properties like real-time characterization, magnetic navigation, monitoring cellular responses, etc. (Cheng et al., 2020), and we present in brief some of the outstanding achievements on CmC-MNPs.

One of the most interesting and alternative ways of encapsulating NPs was by a cancer cell membrane which avoids the tedious and biofunctionalization process. This structure helps stability, biocompatibility, and readily cellular uptake. So, Li et al. designed a cationic superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) functionalized with photosensitizer and in turn encapsulated with human hepatocellular carcinoma line cells and evaluated (in vitro and in vivo) antitumor efficacy and dual-mode MRI/NIR fluorescence imaging (Fig. 2.10). The synthesized nanocarrier represented high stability, better imaging agent in MRI, and generated ROS under 670-nm irradiation with anticancer effect (Li et al., 2018a).

Most of the studies employ post/surface functionalization to convert the hydrophobic nanoparticles to hydrophilic for efficient coating of the extracted cellular membrane. So, one of the recent investigations deals with the oil-to-water microemulsion to transfer hydrophobic semiconductor-based MNPs using well-known and highly exploited red blood cell (RBC) membranes to employ NIR-mediated PTT and MRI agents as shown in Fig. 2.11. Surprisingly this study aims to develop a nanostructure to use in the NIR-II window instead of conventional NIR-I-based PTT and also to enhance molecular imaging through MRI. Thus, in the case of PTT, it largely minimizes the scattering of light and increases the tissue adsorption favorable for efficient therapy with no recurrence of cancer cells. Therefore, the authors camouflaged the SPION@ Cu_{2-x} S nanoparticles with RBC membrane because of their outstanding circulation time, accessibility, and most importantly low immunogenicity (cluster of differentiation-CD47 and CD59 surface markers). The synthesized nanocluster was evaluated for in vitro PTT using 1064-nm laser irradiation which represented a photothermal conversion efficiency of 69.6%, and in the case of MRI, it resulted to be an excellent T2-weighted image agent with an r2 value of



Fig. 2.10 Schematic images of the cancer cell membrane-coated NPs for dual-modal imaging and PDT at 670 nm. (Reproduced from Ref. (Li et al., 2018a) with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry)

130 mM⁻¹ s⁻¹. Later, in vivo studies were conducted in BALB/c nude mice carrying HeLa tumors; under laser irradiation, the temperature in the tissue escalated rapidly and reached to 54.1 °C (10 min) when compared with control groups. In a 7.0 T MRI scanner, NP-treated mice were exposed after 24 h post-injection, representing an enhanced region of interest (ROI) intensity in the presence of a magnetic field with high accumulation and relaxivity. This proves the possibility of next-generation CmC-based MNPs with futuristic applications (Lin et al., 2020).

Last few years, the field of cancer immunotherapy is gaining its pace to become a novel and new universal therapy for the treatment of various cancer types by stimulating the immune system to diagnose and assault the tumor cells (Chen & Mellman, 2013). Considering cancer immunotherapy, there is a wide range of studies but lacking its potentiality in clinical approval and success. This is due to some of the major blockades, such as dealing with the highly complex tumor microenvironment (TME) which is caused by the tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and immunosuppressive cells (Van Der Burg et al., 2016). Thus, many researchers are developing a novel approach using NPs to produce an immune response like vaccines to generate antigen-specific responses to increase the efficacy of immunotherapies. Recently, a kind of cell death process has been identified known as ferroptosis which can be induced by the glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) resulting



Fig. 2.11 Schematic illustration of the synthesis of RBC membrane-encapsulated NPs (**a**) employed as an MRI and NIR-II PTT agent (**b**). (Reproduced from Ref. (Lin et al., 2020) with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry)

in the production and scavenging of ROS leading to lipid peroxidation in the cancer cells (Dixon et al., 2012). Based on this tactic, Jiang et al. designed a platelet membrane-camouflaged drug (sulfasalazine)-modified MNPs to employ it for in vivo ferroptosis-based immune checkpoint blockade therapy. The choice of platelet membrane is so specific because of its inherent advantage and increasing circulation time with less hepatic uptake.

The authors evaluated the cytotoxicity, cellular uptake, and production of lipid peroxide and finally assessed the ferroptosis both in vitro and in vivo to determine the efficacy of the designed biomimetic NPs. In general, the NPs are highly efficient not only in evasion from the immune system but also showed enhanced uptake by the metastasized tumor tissues. The in vivo study showed that the biomimetic NPs can enhance the process of ferroptosis by inhibiting certain pathways to increase the efficacy of blockade therapy, thereby decreasing the tumor growth, and the mechanism is depicted in Fig. 2.12. Thus, this novel system proved it to be clinically promising for combating cancer in a unique way rather than the common single therapies (Jiang et al., 2020).

In immunotherapy, TAMs play a vital role including tumor development, invasion, and migration of the cells, thereby inhibiting antitumor immune reaction. The TAMs are classified into two types, M1 and M2, cells for inhibiting and promoting tumor growth, respectively. But in most solid tumors, M2 dominates in tumor tissue development and accounts for the poor prognosis of patients (80%) (Bingle et al.,



Fig. 2.12 Schematic images showing the synthesis of platelet membrane-camouflaged MNPs (**a**) and mechanism of cell death by ferroptosis in metastasis tumors (**b**). (Reproduced from Ref. (Jiang et al., 2020) with permission from The Wiley)

2002). Thus, the nanomedicine field aims to regulate M1 type using novel drug carriers making it effective for TAM-based therapy. In specific, the keen interest among researchers is to promote the TAM polarization to M1 type dominantly for effective immunotherapy.

In the recent study, a biomimetic nanocarrier was developed to target breast cancer using MNPs with certain other specific markers encapsulated using the macrophage membrane to target with high specificity and for polarizing TAMs. This nanocarrier was composed of multiple elements, such as polymeric PLGA coating of MNPs which is encapsulated with imiquimod (R837), and then the whole structure is in turn engulfed using lipopolysaccharide-treated macrophage membrane. In this design, MNPs and R837 are used for macrophage stimulation by interferon regulatory factor 5 and nuclear factor kappa-B pathway, respectively. These help in enhancing the polarization of macrophages synergistically. Thus the in vivo studies showed the uptake of nanocarrier helps mainly in the TAM polarization from M2 to M1 which was confirmed by analyzing various signaling pathways. From the evaluation, it is seen that the ratio of M1/M2 polarization effect was found to be 2.88 by the synergetic effect of MNPs and R837 effectively. Thus, this extraordinary nanosystem shows an effective and enhanced antitumor effect and opens a novel line of research by manipulating TME for future cancer immunotherapy (Liu et al., 2020) (Fig. 2.13).



Fig. 2.13 Schematic illustrations of macrophage cell membrane-coated MNP nanocarriers (**a**) and the mechanism depicting the function of NPs responsible for the TAM polarization through various signaling pathways (**b**). (Reproduced from Ref. (Liu et al., 2020) with permission from The Wiley)

Prospects and Challenges

This chapter describes some of the major developments and potentials of magneticbased hybrid nanostructures including their design, strategies, and multifunctionalities in a broad spectrum. The different aspects of nanomaterials are widely exploited based on the area of interest and field of applications to fabricate an individual nanocarrier. Nonetheless, the field of nanomedicine has expanded enormously but with various limitations to make it to clinical transformations or the market for human use. But currently, the scenario is changing majorly because of more out-ofthe-box and biomimetic approaches. For example, the cell membrane technology gives an opportunity to use various cellular membranes, thereby helping in overcoming the major drawbacks of the conventional nanocarriers, considering all the abovementioned structures which provide huge flexibility and uniqueness in finetuning of their properties to increase the cargo-carrying efficiency. Thus, this kind of platform aids in specific targeting and attacking the cancerous cells instead of normal cells.

Hybrid-based nanostructures have enormous potential in cancer therapy but limited by a number of challenges preventing them from the clinical translation. First, the synthesis technique or production of these nanostructures is not completely mature considering the nano-bio-interface and biomimetic behavior, because the process of scaling-up or manufacturing on an industrial scale needs more precision and reproducibility in a high manner rather than the lab-scale level. Next, the major point is resources in the case of cell membrane technology, which is from a biological source. Each time the extraction protocol depends on the infrastructure, and sophistication of the workplace seems to be a major deal to obtain high-quality and sterile membranes. Then most importantly for the gram scale-up method, the culture technique must expand to meet the need to have a sufficient membrane. And novel strategies should be developed to isolate autologous blood cells to avoid the immune response of the structures. Then comes the critical factor in maintaining the purity and storage of the extracted cellular membranes which must be carried out aseptically for extended use. In the case of both graphene- and gold-based structures, more in-depth studies are unavoidable to have a concentration-dependent dose-response, biocompatibility, shelf-life, immune responses, and large-scale production techniques.

Despite several challenges, these hybrid nanoparticles which result from the amalgamation of both metallic and biomimetic structures establish the most outstanding and advantageous strategies for various types of applications in cancer therapy, such as targeting drug delivery, contrast, and phototherapy agents, with magnetic field manipulation to the precise location for enhanced therapeutic efficacy. This confirms the promising characteristics of these nanostructures and their potential to be a boon in nanomedicine. But in the coming days, the researchers are held to resolve and tackle certain issues associated with nano-based drug delivery systems pharmaco-kinetics, bio-interphase, and safety, in the human body to increase and improve the clinical translation prospects. Therefore, with these great efforts and measures, an excellent, safe, magnetic-based hybrid nanoparticle will become a favorable multifunctional platform in cancer.

Conclusion

Hybrid magnetic nanoparticles have reached a tremendous advancement in the last decade with various contributions from different nanostructures starting from semiconductor to metal. These novel structures with a huge potential can aid in clinical translation due to their inherent optical, magnetic, and structural properties as a versatile theranostic platform. The magnetic nanoparticles have become an inevitable nanostructure in the cancer theranostic field, and the researcher has a wide variety of opportunities to play and deliver a power-packed outcome. Thus, this chapter summarized some of the developments which mainly involves in the anisotropic structures of graphene (layer by layer, sheet, encapsulation), gold (star, shell, rods, particles), and most importantly the upcoming cell membrane technology (cancer cell, erythrocyte, macrophage membrane, platelet membrane) with their extended possibilities. The advantage of these nanostructures is based on the synthesis technique with high tunability in sizes, shapes, surface properties, and cloaking mainly to decrease the toxicity, nonspecific cellular internalization, enhance their targeting specificity/efficacy, finally increase blood circulation time, and minimize or avoid immune responses. Thus, a multifunctional or all-in-one hybrid structure can be responsible for future clinical transformations with a major impact on tumor imaging, drug targeting/delivery, and therapy in cancer patients. Future research and promising clinical trials are focused on overcoming the drawbacks and hurdles to develop innovative, novel safe, and efficient therapeutic/eradication methods soon.

References

- Ahmad, A., Khan, F., Mishra, R. K., & Khan, R. (2019). Precision cancer nanotherapy: Evolving role of multifunctional nanoparticles for cancer active targeting. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 62, 10475–10496.
- Alegret, N., Criado, A., & Prato, M. (2017). Recent advances of graphene-based hybrids with magnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 24, 529–536.
- Banerjee, A. N. (2018). Graphene and its derivatives as biomedical materials: Future prospects and challenges. *Interface Focus*, 8, 20170056.
- Bingle, L., Brown, N. J., & Lewis, C. E. (2002). The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: Implications for new anticancer therapies. *Journal of Pathology*, 196, 254–265.
- Bradley, L. C., Stebe, K. J., & Lee, D. (2016). Clickable Janus particles. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 138, 11437–11440.
- Bray, F., et al. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 68*, 394–424.
- Chen, D. S., & Mellman, I. (2013). Oncology meets immunology: The cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity*, *39*, 1–10.
- Chen, X., et al. (2017). Rational design of branched au–Fe3O4 Janus nanoparticles for simultaneous trimodal imaging and photothermal therapy of cancer cells. *Chemistry A Europe Journal*, 23, 17204–17208.
- Chen, H. Y., et al. (2020). Hybrid cell membrane-coated nanoparticles: A multifunctional biomimetic platform for cancer diagnosis and therapy. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 112, 1–13.
- Cheng, C., Li, S., Thomas, A., Kotov, N. A., & Haag, R. (2017). Functional Graphene Nanomaterials based architectures: Biointeractions, fabrications, and emerging biological applications. *Chemical Reviews*, 117, 1826–1914.
- Cheng, H. W., Tsao, H. Y., Chiang, C. S., & Chen, S. Y. (2020). Advances in magnetic nanoparticlemediated Cancer immune-Theranostics. Advanced Healthcare Materials, 2001451, 1–20.
- Chugh, H., et al. (2018). Role of gold and silver nanoparticles in cancer nano-medicine. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine Biotechnology*, 46, 1210–1220.
- Das, P., Fatehbasharzad, P., Colombo, M., Fiandra, L., & Prosperi, D. (2019). Multifunctional magnetic gold nanomaterials for cancer. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 37, 995–1010.
- Dehvari, K., Lin, P. T., & Chang, J. Y. (2018). Fluorescence-guided magnetic nanocarriers for enhanced tumor targeting photodynamic therapy. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 6, 4676–4686.
- Dhas, N. L., Raval, N. J., Kudarha, R. R., Acharya, N. S., & Acharya, S. R. (2018). Core-shell nanoparticles as a drug delivery platform for tumor targeting. In *Inorganic frameworks* as smart nanomedicines (pp. 387–448). William Andrew. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12813661-4.00009-2

- Dixon, S. J., et al. (2012). Ferroptosis: An iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell*, 149, 1060–1072.
- Efremova, M. V., et al. (2018). Magnetite-gold nanohybrids as ideal all-in-one platforms for theranostics. *Scientific Reports*, *8*, 1–19.
- Elahi, N., Kamali, M., & Baghersad, M. H. (2018). Recent biomedical applications of gold nanoparticles: A review. *Talanta*, 184, 537–556.
- Fan, J., Cheng, Y., & Sun, M. (2020). Functionalized gold nanoparticles: Synthesis, properties and biomedical applications. *Chemical Record.* tcr.202000087. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tcr.202000087
- Fang, R. H., Kroll, A. V., Gao, W., & Zhang, L. (2018). Cell membrane coating nanotechnology. Advanced Materials, 30, e1706759.
- Farzin, A., Etesami, S. A., Quint, J., Memic, A., & Tamayol, A. (2020). Magnetic nanoparticles in cancer therapy and diagnosis. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 9, 1–29.
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez, R., Campbell, E., & Naumov, A. (2019). Multifunctional graphene oxide/ iron oxide nanoparticles for magnetic targeted drug delivery dual magnetic resonance/ fluorescence imaging and cancer sensing. *PLoS One*, 14, 1–18.
- Hu, C. M. J., et al. (2011). Erythrocyte membrane-camouflaged polymeric nanoparticles as a biomimetic delivery platform. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108, 10980–10985.
- Hu, Y., et al. (2016). Multifunctional Fe 3 O 4 @ au core/shell nanostars: A unique platform for multimode imaging and photothermal therapy of tumors. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 28325.
- Jiang, Q., et al. (2020). Platelet membrane-camouflaged magnetic nanoparticles for ferroptosisenhanced cancer immunotherapy. *Small*, 16, 1–17.
- Knežević, N., Gadjanski, I., & Durand, J. O. (2019). Magnetic nanoarchitectures for cancer sensing, imaging and therapy. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 7, 9–23.
- Li, J., et al. (2018a). Cancer cell membrane-coated magnetic nanoparticles for MR/NIR fluorescence dual-modal imaging and photodynamic therapy. *Biomaterials Science*, 6, 1834–1845.
- Li, R., He, Y., Zhang, S., Qin, J., & Wang, J. (2018b). Cell membrane-based nanoparticles: A new biomimetic platform for tumor diagnosis and treatment. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*, 8, 14–22.
- Liang, C., et al. (2020). Facile approach to prepare rGO@Fe3O4 microspheres for the magnetically targeted and NIR-responsive chemo-photothermal combination therapy. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, *15*, 1–11.
- Lin, K., et al. (2020). Facile phase transfer of hydrophobic Fe3O4@Cu2-: XS nanoparticles by red blood cell membrane for MRI and phototherapy in the second near-infrared window. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 8, 1202–1211.
- Liu, Y., Luo, J., Chen, X., Liu, W., & Chen, T. (2019). Cell membrane coating technology: A promising strategy for biomedical applications. Nano-micro letters (Vol. 11). Springer.
- Liu, L., Wang, Y., Guo, X., Zhao, J., & Zhou, S. A. (2020). Biomimetic polymer magnetic nanocarrier polarizing tumor-associated macrophages for potentiating immunotherapy. *Small*, 16, 1–12.
- Luo, Y., et al. (2019). Engineering graphene oxide with ultrasmall SPIONs and smart drug release for cancer theranostics. *Chemical Communications*, 55, 1963–1966.
- Manisekaran, R. (2018). Design and evaluation of plasmonic/magnetic Au-MFe2O4 (M-Fe/Co/ Mn) core-shell nanoparticles functionalized with doxorubicin for cancer therapeutics. Springer Theses vol. 4. Springer International Publishing.
- Mukherjee, S., Liang, L., & Veiseh, O. (2020). Recent advancements of magnetic nanomaterials in cancer therapy. *Pharmaceutics*, 12, 147.
- Navya, P. N., et al. (2019). Current trends and challenges in cancer management and therapy using designer nanomaterials. *Nano Convergence*, 6, 23.
- Ortiz-Castillo, J. E., Gallo-Villanueva, R. C., Madou, M. J., & Perez-Gonzalez, V. H. (2020). Anisotropic gold nanoparticles: A survey of recent synthetic methodologies. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 425, 213489.

- Peng, J., Liang, X., & Calderon, L. (2019). Progress in research on gold nanoparticles in cancer management. *Medicine (United States)*, 98, e15311.
- Pereira-Silva, M., et al. (2020). Biomimetic cancer cell membrane-coated nanosystems as nextgeneration cancer therapies. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 17, 1515–1518.
- Priyadarsini, S., Mohanty, S., Mukherjee, S., Basu, S., & Mishra, M. (2018). Graphene and graphene oxide as nanomaterials for medicine and biology application. *Journal of Nanostructure in Chemistry*, 8, 123–137.
- Raza, F., et al. (2019). Cancer nanomedicine: Focus on recent developments and self-assembled peptide nanocarriers. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 7, 7639–7655.
- Rees, J. A., et al. (2018). Evaluating the potential of chelation therapy to prevent and treat gadolinium deposition from MRI contrast agents. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 2–10.
- Rodzinski, A., et al. (2016). Targeted and controlled anticancer drug delivery and release with magnetoelectric nanoparticles. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 1–14.
- Seeta Rama Raju, G., Benton, L., Pavitra, E., & Yu, J. S. (2015). Multifunctional nanoparticles: Recent progress in cancer therapeutics. *Chemical Communications*, *51*, 13248–13259.
- Shahbazi, R., Ozpolat, B., & Ulubayram, K. (2016). Oligonucleotide-based theranostic nanoparticles in cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 11, 1287–1308.
- Singh, A. V., et al. (2018). Anisotropic gold nanostructures: Optimization via in silico modeling for hyperthermia. ACS Applied Nano Materials, 1, 6205–6216.
- Stephen, Z. R., Kievit, F. M., & Zhang, M. (2011). Magnetite nanoparticles for medical MR imaging. *Materials Today*, 14, 330–338.
- Stone, J. W., Alkilany, A. M., Hamaly, M. A., & Canonico-May, S. (2017). Biomedical applications of anisotropic gold nanoparticles. In *Nanostructure science and technology* (pp. 399–426). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-59662-4_13
- Syama, S., & Mohanan, P. V. (2019). Comprehensive application of graphene: Emphasis on biomedical concerns. *Nano-Micro Letters*, 11, 1–31.
- Sztandera, K., Gorzkiewicz, M., & Klajnert-Maculewicz, B. (2019). Gold nanoparticles in Cancer treatment. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 16, 1–23.
- Tian, F., et al. (2016). Gold nanostars for efficient in vitro and in vivo real-time SERS detection and drug delivery via plasmonic-tunable Raman/FTIR imaging. *Biomaterials*, *106*, 87–97.
- Urries, I., et al. (2014). Magneto-plasmonic nanoparticles as theranostic platforms for magnetic resonance imaging, drug delivery and NIR hyperthermia applications. *Nanoscale*, 6, 9230–9240.
- Van Der Burg, S. H., Arens, R., Ossendorp, F., Van Hall, T., & Melief, C. J. M. (2016). Vaccines for established cancer: Overcoming the challenges posed by immune evasion. *Nature Reviews. Cancer, 16*, 219–233.
- van der Meel, R., et al. (2019). Smart cancer nanomedicine. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 14, 1007–1017.
- Vinothini, K., et al. (2020). A magnetic nanoparticle functionalized reduced graphene oxide-based drug carrier system for a chemo-photodynamic cancer therapy. *New Journal of Chemistry*, 44, 5265–5277.
- Wang, L., et al. (2008). Core@shell nanomaterials: Gold-coated magnetic oxide nanoparticles. Journal of Materials Chemistry, 18, 2629–2635.
- Wu, M., et al. (2019). Cell membrane camouflaged nanoparticles: A new biomimetic platform for cancer photothermal therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 4431–4448.
- Xie, M., et al. (2019). Layer-by-layer modification of magnetic graphene oxide by chitosan and sodium alginate with enhanced dispersibility for targeted drug delivery and photothermal therapy. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, 176, 462–470.
- Yaqoob, S. B., Adnan, R., Rameez Khan, R. M., & Rashid, M. (2020). Gold, silver, and palladium nanoparticles: A chemical tool for biomedical applications. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 8, 376.
- Zarepour, A., Zarrabi, A., & Khosravi, A. (2017). SPIONs as nano-theranostics agents. Springer Briefs in Applied Sciences and Technology, 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-3563-0_1.

Chapter 3 Nano-oncology: Clinical Application for Cancer Therapy and Future Perspectives



Priya Singh and Sanjeeb Kumar Sahoo

Introduction

Cancer is a multifactorial disease involving dynamic changes in the genome due to defects in regulatory pathways that control normal cell homeostasis and proliferation. The consequence of such defects is uncontrolled proliferation of cells which invade normal tissues and organs and eventually metastasize to spread throughout the body (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Despite significant understanding of mechanisms underlying the disease and technological and therapeutic advances, cancer is still the second main cause of death globally (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer).

There are several factors which govern poor treatment outcomes. One of them is late detection of cancer, which significantly increases the mortality rate. The available diagnostic techniques include imaging (via X-ray, computed tomography (CT), endoscopy, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and ultrasound) and morphological analysis of cells or tissues. These imaging techniques can detect cancer at a stage when there are visible changes in the tissues, but by that time, several cancer cells have already proliferated and some have even metastasized. Moreover, these imaging techniques cannot distinguish between malignant and benign tumors. On the other hand, morphological analysis of tissues by histopathology or cytology cannot be used independently for early diagnosis of cancer (Zhang et al., 2019). Another reason for treatment failure is that conventional chemotherapeutics have nonspecific distribution and poor drug delivery to the target site which causes severe side effects and eventually leads to multidrug resistance (Wang et al., 2008). Further, the new class of anti-neoplastic drugs are antibodies, proteins, and nucleic acids which are unstable in vivo and undergo rapid degradation before reaching the target site (Mu & Yan, 2018). Another major reason for poor treatment outcomes is metastasis and

P. Singh \cdot S. K. Sahoo (\boxtimes)

Institute of Life Sciences, Bhubaneswar, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_3

relapse which are responsible for 90% of cancer-related deaths (Seyfried & Huysentruyt, 2013). Research evidence suggests that a small sub-population of cells called cancer stem cells (CSCs) are responsible for driving metastasis and relapse because of their inherent ability of self-renewability, differentiation, and chemore-sistance. Available chemotherapeutic agents target only rapidly proliferating bulk cancer cells, thereby enriching slow-cycling CSCs in the tumor mass which then reseed new tumors (Singh et al., 2017; Mohapatra et al., 2020). Accordingly, there is a requirement for a more sensitive and accurate diagnostic method, specific targeting, efficient drug delivery, and new therapies targeting CSCs for reducing the morbidity and mortality associated with the disease.

Nanotechnology is a branch of science which amalgamates physics, chemistry, biology, and engineering for the development of a diverse array of nanoparticles which find application in varied fields including medical and healthcare applications (Ventola, 2012; Sahoo & Labhasetwar, 2003). These nanoparticles have at least one dimension in size range of 1 to 100 nm, which imparts them with unique physical, structural, and optical properties that enable them to interact with the biological system at a molecular level. The material composition of nanoparticles is such that they have the ability to self-assemble and can maintain stability and specificity (Wang et al., 2008). By virtue of these properties, nanotechnology can offer significantly advantageous applications which can address the unfulfilled clinical needs of oncology (Di Lorenzo et al., 2018).

In this chapter we have addressed first how nanotechnology can transform oncology; second, types and characteristics of different nanoparticles which can be used for diagnosis and treatment of cancer; and lastly, we have illustrated the current state of the art of nano-oncology with discussion on nanoformulations which are in the market or are undergoing clinical trials. In addition, it also sheds light on the challenges in clinical translation of nanomedicine and future perspectives.

Nano-oncology: Transforming Cancer Therapy

The application of nanotechnology for detection, diagnosis, and therapy of cancer is termed as nano-oncology. The two major goals for achieving better cancer treatment are to increase the targeting selectivity and enable the therapeutic or diagnostic agents to reach the target site overcoming the biological barriers (Ferrari, 2005). If nanotechnology is employed efficiently with established cancer research, it can serve as an excellent tool to accomplish the above goals. Nanoparticles are capable of selective targeting by employing passive or active targeting which prevents damage to healthy tissues and also helps the drug reach the target site with minimal loss in activity (Bamrungsap et al., 2012; Sahoo et al., 2007). In passive targeting, the nanoparticles take advantage of the unique pathophysiological properties of tumor vasculature such as enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect (Wang et al., 2008). In comparison to normal tissues, the vasculature of a tumor is leaky as it is composed of poorly aligned defective endothelial cells with gaps as large

600-800 nm. Further, lack of smooth muscle layer and hyper production of vascular mediators like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), bradykinin and others result in hyperpermeable vascular architecture which allows nanoparticles to extravasate and accumulate in tumor, and since the lymphatic drainage is poor, it allows for longer retention. This phenomenon is termed as EPR effect (Greish, 2010; Acharya & Sahoo, 2011). It is observed that when a drug is delivered through nanoparticles, there is approximately a tenfold or higher increase in drug accumulation in tumor as compared to its native form (Northfelt et al., 1996). However, there are several factors which affect the accumulation of drug by this phenomenon like biocompatibility, surface characteristics, size, and circulation half-life of nanoparticle and the degree of angiogenesis, size, type, and location of tumor (Maeda et al., 2013; Prabhakar et al., 2013). Because of this prevailing heterogeneity in EPR, an alternative strategy of active targeting was evolved. In active targeting nanoparticles are conjugated with targeting moiety that specifically binds a receptor or antigen which is exclusively present or overexpressed in cancer cell surface, thereby increasing the selectivity of drug for cancer cells. Thus, in totality it can be said that both the strategies increase the selectivity of the drug, but passive targeting increases the accumulation of nanoparticles in the tumor microenvironment, whereas active targeting facilitates the uptake of nanoparticles directly by cancer cells (Bazak et al., 2015).

Further, nanotechnology can not only bestow selective targeting but can also be used to increase the pharmaceutical properties of drugs like solubility, stability, and circulation half-life drugs. It can also enable sustained drug release, help in delivery of bio-macromolecular drugs like antibodies and genes, co-delivery of multiple therapeutic agents to overcome multiple drug resistance (MDR) (Parhi et al., 2012), and provide more sensitive detection, diagnosis, and imaging of cancer (Shi et al., 2017; Parveen et al., 2012). These will be discussed in detail in subsequent sections. Thus, it can be rightly said that nanotechnology-based therapeutics can significantly improve the treatment outcomes in oncology and have the potential to reshape or transform the present stature of cancer therapy.

Nanotechnology Toolbox for Cancer Therapy

Before proceeding to the application of nanotechnology in oncology, it is essential to have an overview of current nanotechnologies available at our disposal. Nanoparticles can be made from diverse materials like lipids, polymers, inorganic metals, ceramics, and others. Depending on the type of material used and the method employed, nanoparticles vary in size, shape, and properties (Wang et al., 2008). This section describes various types of nanoparticles available for cancer therapeutics (Fig. 3.1).



Fig. 3.1 Schematic representation of different types of nanoparticles used in oncology with information regarding size range and clinically approved formulation

Liposomes

Liposomes are spherical and self-assembling artificial vesicles composed of lipid bilayers surrounding an aqueous core. Because liposomes have lipid bilayer which is the core component of cell membrane structure, research interest in this nanoparticle began early, and eventually these became the first nanoparticles to be used in medicine (Min et al., 2015). Liposomes are used extensively for drug delivery due to their ease of preparation, biodegradability, and acceptable toxicity. They are formed impulsively when an amphiphilic liquid is added to aqueous solution, generating spheres of size 30 nm to several micrometers (Akbarzadeh et al., 2013). They can be employed to encapsulate both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs, where hydrophilic drug remains in aqueous core, whereas hydrophobic drug gets encapsulated between the lipid bilayers (Tran et al., 2017). The first generation of liposomes had an unmodified phospholipid surface, and their size was around 400 nm. Because of this large size, they were rapidly cleared by the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS) which requires preliminary opsonization by the immune system; thus, the second generation of liposomes came into existence. These liposomes were called stealth liposomes and had a covering of hydrophilic carbohydrates or polymer, usually polyethylene glycol (PEG) on the surface. The process of coating the surface of liposomes with hydrophilic PEG chains is termed as PEGvlation which helps repel the absorption of opsonin proteins on the surface, thereby blocking the opsonization process and significantly increasing the circulation half-life. The third generation of liposomes have increased selectivity and specificity as they incorporate targeting ligand on the surface (Reggio et al., 2011).

Polymeric Nanoparticles

Polymeric nanoparticles are solid carriers of the size range 10-1000 nm which are composed of natural or synthetic polymers. Natural polymers which are used include chitosan, gelatin, dextran, and alginate. The synthetic polymers provide an edge over natural polymers as they allow tunability of many key factors like biodegradability, molecular weight, and hydrophobicity. The synthetic polymers used include poly(lactic acid) (PLA), PEG, and poly(glycolic acid) (PGA) and their copolymers which have been extensively studied and approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) owing to their biocompatibility, biodegradability, and safety profile (Tran et al., 2017; Reggio et al., 2011). Polymeric nanoparticles are extensively researched because of several properties such as ease of synthesis, water solubility, biocompatibility, biodegradability, non-immunogenicity, non-toxicity, and low cost (Bolhassani et al., 2014; Parveen & Sahoo, 2008). Broadly there are two strategies for preparation of polymeric nanoparticles which include top-down and bottom-up approach. In top-down approach, pre-formed polymers are dispersed to produce nanoparticles. The techniques used to prepare nanoparticles from topdown method solvent emulsification-evaporation, solvent emulsification-diffusion, dialysis, and nanoprecipitation. In a bottom-up approach, monomers are polymerized to form nanoparticles. Techniques used for this approach include emulsion polymerization, interfacial polycondensation, interfacial polymerization, and molecular inclusion (Rai et al., 2019). The anti-cancer drug can be entrapped, dissolved, encapsulated, adsorbed, or covalently linked to the polymeric backbone. Polymeric nanoparticles are used for controlled drug release as they have dense metrics with well-known degradation curves, which makes it easier to play with drug release as compared to other drug delivery systems (Tran et al., 2017).

Polymeric Micelles

Micelles are spherical nano-constructs with a core-shell structure and narrow size distribution of 10–100 nm. They are formed spontaneously by self-assembly of amphiphilic molecules in aqueous media to form closed lipid monolayers with hydrophobic core and polar surface (shell) to minimize the system energy. The hydrophobic core determines the drug loading capacity, drug release profile, and stability, which depends on the type of material used for forming the core. The hydrophilic shell determines the steric stability and protects the nanoparticle from sequestration by reticuloendothelial system (RES), thus increasing the circulation time of the nanoparticle. The surface can be modified by incorporating targeting moiety which can increase the selectivity of tumor targeting (Yousefpour Marzbali & Yari Khosroushahi, 2017). Critical miceller concentration (CMC) is the concentration of surfactant above which micelles are formed, and it is a characteristic feature of surfactants. Generally high molecular weight and hydrophobicity result in

low CMC which provides higher stability. Higher CMC means a higher concentration of surfactant will be required to prevent the micelle from dissociation, and this high level of surfactant can be toxic to cells. As micelles are subjected to dilution upon administration, it is advantageous to use low CMC surfactants (Lu et al., 2018). Polymeric micelles are capable of controlled release and can deliver two or more drugs or imaging agents simultaneously. The drug can be released by diffusion through polymeric matrix, erosion of biodegradable polymer, or polymer swelling (Oerlemans et al., 2010).

Dendrimers

Dendrimers are hyper-branched, spherical, and synthetic macromolecules with easily modifiable surfaces. Because of their easily adjustable shape and size, they are burgeoning as an important class of nanoparticles for drug delivery. Their architecture is composed of three main topological components: a central core, repetitive branching units, and multiple peripheral functional groups. The addition of concentric branched layers around the central core is referred to as generation of dendrimer, which is responsible for highly amplified, symmetrical, and globular structure. The size of dendrimer ranges from 1 to 15 nm. Chemotherapeutic drugs or oligonucleotides can be encapsulated or attached either to the internal core region through hydrophobic interactions, chemical linkage, or hydrogen bonds or bound to the surface through electrostatic adsorption or covalent bond formation (Palmerston Mendes et al., 2017). The dendrimers which are most widely researched and used for biomedical application include poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) and poly(propylene imine) dendrimers. PAMAM dendrimers have numerous active amine groups on the surface which makes them highly water soluble. This property is harnessed for enhancing the solubility of hydrophobic drugs. In addition to this, the surface of PAMAM dendrimers can be engineered with numerous reactive groups which can enhance the targeting selectivity of the nanoparticle (Chauhan, 2018).

Protein-Drug Conjugate Nanoparticles

Protein-based nanoparticles are stable, biodegradable, metabolizable, and nonimmunogenic with ease of modification of the surface and particle size. These can be used for controlled release of drugs by incorporating them in the microscopic structure of biodegradable polymers. These particles can covalently attach drugs and ligands (Verma et al., 2018; Parveen & Sahoo, 2006). Further, due to the very small size of protein nanoparticles, they can be transmitted through the cell by endocytosis. The proteins used in these nanoparticles include water-soluble proteins like bovine and human serum albumin; and water-insoluble proteins like gliadin and zein. They can be prepared by various chemical, physical, and self-assembly methods. The chemical methods used include coacervation/desolvation and emulsion-based methods where shape and size of nanoparticle can be controlled. Physical methods include electrospray and nanospray techniques which are easy for industrial scale-up. Self-assembly methods generate nanoparticles with high stability and encapsulation efficiency, but the shape and size cannot be controlled (Hong et al., 2020).

Polymer-Drug Conjugates

Polymer-drug conjugates are also referred to as polymeric pro-drugs. They are composed of three main components, namely, solubilizing agent, targeting moiety, and the drug, and all these are covalently incorporated in the polymeric backbone (Alven et al., 2020). The application of biological molecules like active enzyme, proteins, peptides, and nucleic acid as drugs is well established in medicine. But the problem associated with this therapeutic technique is rapid clearance and enzymatic degradation on administration. Further, some of these proteins and peptides can induce immunogenic response, which in turn leads to rapid clearance. Most of these molecules have poor solubility, and they require solvents for administration, which themselves are toxic. Polymer-drug conjugates are able to address the above issues and improve the clinical outcomes of such drugs. Conjugation of polymers to drugs such as proteins and peptides provides several biological and pharmacological advantages. When hydrophilic polymers are used, they increase the solubility of proteins and peptides, thus eliminating the requirement of toxic solvents. Further, the conjugation increases the size of these small molecules which increases the circulation time by reducing the uptake of small molecules by RES and decreasing the renal clearance. This increase in size also reduces off-target effects and therefore reduces the systemic toxicity. Furthermore, they increase the stability of these molecules to enzymatic degradation and immune-mediated clearance (Min et al., 2015). The polymers which are used for formulation of this type of nanoparticles include PEG, N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide (HPMA), and PLA.

Inorganic Nanoparticles

Magnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticles

Iron oxide compounds in a nanoparticulate form possess superparamagnetic properties which are otherwise not found in them. Due to this they serve as excellent contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), where they can provide strong paramagnetic signals in the presence of an external magnetic field (A. Singh & Sahoo, 2014). These magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles consist of three principal components, namely, a magnetic core which is used as a carrier for both contrast and therapeutic agents, a coating for stability, and a therapeutic agent. Additionally, it may contain a targeting moiety for tumor-specific targeting. These nanoparticles can be used for cancer diagnosis and treatment as they can serve as both contrast agents and a carrier for drugs or genes (Dilnawaz & Sahoo, 2015). Further, these nanoparticles can produce heat; thus they can be used for clinical hyperthermia. Current research on these nanoparticles focusses on loading both contrast and therapeutic agents in the same nanoparticle for developing theranostic agent which can be used for personalized medicine for real-time monitoring of therapeutic response (Martinkova et al., 2018).

Gold Nanoparticles

Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) have excellent optical properties due to which they find application in ultrasensitive detection and imaging-based therapeutic techniques (P. Singh et al., 2018). Further, gold is a high Z-element. It has a high number of protons and neutrons in its nucleus, which can help enhance the effect of radio-therapy. On exposure of electromagnetic radiation to AuNPs, the electrons are excited which produces strong fields, resulting in production of localized heat on relaxation. This heat is sufficient enough to destroy the surrounding cancer cells. Because of this, AuNPs not only find application in radiotherapy but also in photo-thermal therapy (PTT) and photodynamic therapy (PDT) (Hainfeld et al., 2004). AuNPs can be easily conjugated with drugs, nucleic acids, and proteins; thus they can also be used for delivery of therapeutic agents (Daraee et al., 2016).

Hafnium Nanoparticles

Hafnium oxide is a chemically inert inorganic compound which has a high Z-number and, thus, has been used as a radiosensitizer. When these hafnium oxide nanoparticles are excited by radiation, the electron density increases, and thus absorption leads to production of localized heat on relaxation within the irradiated tissue. As these nanoparticles are chemically inert, they are well tolerated both locally and systemically; thus, they can enhance the therapeutic window of radiotherapy (Pottier et al., 2014).

Clinical Application of Nanotechnology in Oncology

Nanomedicine is a relatively new field in medicine. Despite this it has already contributed to the development of several products ranging from in vitro diagnostic agents, contrast agents for imaging, and therapeutics to medical devices. There are around 20 nanomedicine products in the market for cancer (Table 3.1). Apart from this, there are several clinical trials going on for already approved nanomedicine for

Tal	de 3.1 List of nanofo	rmulations clinically approv	ed for oncology				
S.	Trade name and	Noncorticla transforme	Ammonian indication	Approved	Route of	Number of studies on ClinicalTrials.	Dafarrances
2 	Cancer therapy	ivanopancie typomug		(juar)	aummanauon	801	
	Doxil (Janssen)	Liposomal doxorubicin (PEGylated)	Refractory ovarian cancer AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma (secondary to chemotherapy) Multiple myeloma (secondary, in combination of bortezomib)	FDA (1995) EMA (1996)	Intravenous injection	635	(https://www. accesdata.fda. gov) (https:// www. clinicaltrials.gov) (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
2.	DaunoXome (Galen)	Liposomal daunorubicin (non-PEGylated)	HIV-associated Kaposi's sarcoma	FDA (1996)	Intravenous injection	151	(https://www. accessdata.fda. gov; https://www. clinicaltrials.gov) (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
, i	Myocet (Teva UK)	Liposomal doxorubicin (non-PEGylated)	Metastatic breast cancer (primary, in combination with cyclophosphamide)	EMA (2000)	Intravenous injection	٥	(https://www. ema.europa.eu; https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
							(continued)

for oncolo
approved
clinically
nulations
nanoforn
List of
3.1

Tabl	e 3.1 (continued)						
S.	Trade name and company	Nanoparticle type/drug	Approved indication	Approved (vear)	Route of administration	Number of studies on ClinicalTrials. gov	References
4.	Abraxane (Celgene)	Albumin particle-bound paclitaxel	NSCLC (primary, in combination with carboplatin when surgery and radiation are not the options) Metastatic breast cancer (secondary to chemotherapy) Metastatic pancreatic cancer (primary, in combination with gemcitabine)	EMA (2005) EMA (2008)	Intravenous injection	1315	(https://www. accessdata.fda. gov; https://www. clinicaltrials.gov) (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
5.	vY XEOS CPX-351 (Jazz Pharmaceuticals)	Liposomal formulation of cytarabine/ daunorubicin (5:1 M ratio)	Acute myeloid leukemia (primary)	FDA (2017) EMA (2018)	Intravenous injection	28	(Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; https://www. accessdata.fda. gov; https://www. clinicaltrials.gov)
Ö	Marqibo (Spectrum)	Liposomal vincristine (non-PEGylated)	Philadelphia chromosome- negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia (in second or greater relapse or whose disease has progressed following two or more anti-leukemia therapies)	FDA (2012)	Intravenous injection	345	(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; https://www. accessdata.fda. gov)

58
		References	(https://www.	ema.europa.eu;	Anselmo $\&$	Mitragotri, 2019;	https://www.	clinicaltrials.gov)	(https://www.	clinicaltrials.gov;	Anselmo $\&$	Mitragotri, 2019;	https://www.	accessdata.fda.	gov)	(https://www.	accessdata.fda.	gov; https://www.	clinicaltrials.gov)	(Thakor &	Gambhir, 2013)	(https://www.	clinicaltrials.gov;	https://www.	accessdata.fda.	gov; Dinndorf	ct al., 2007)
Number of studies on	ClinicalTrials.	gov	3						33							32						62					
	Route of	administration	Intravenous	injection					Intravenous	injection						Intrathecal	injection					Intramuscular or	intravenous	injection			
	Approved	(year)	EMA (2009)						FDA (2015)							FDA (2007)						FDA (1994)					
		Approved indication	Osteosarcoma (primary	following surgery)					Metastatic pancreatic cancer	(secondary, after disease	progression following	gemcitabine-based therapy)				Lymphomatous	meningitismeningitis					Acute lymphocytic leukaemia					
		Nanoparticle type/drug	Liposomal mifamurtide	(non-PEGylated)					Liposomal irinotecan	(PEGylated)						Liposomal cytarabine						Covalent conjugation of	PEG with	L-asparaginase			
	Trade name and	company	MEPACT	(Millennium)					Onivyde	MM-398	(Merrimack)					DepoCyt	(SkyPharma Inc.)					Oncaspar	(Enzon	Pharmaceuticals)			
	s.	no.	7.						%							9.						10.					

S. Trade name and no. company Member of studies on company Number of studies on copocidies on copocin company Numbe	Tabl	e 3.1 (continued)																																	
11.ZinostatinConjugation product of kinalamerHCCApproved in lapan in 1994Intra-arterial0Okusaka et al. (2012; Okusaka11.ZinostatinXinnanouchi laterZinostatin with vinbacherZinostatin with et al., 19982012; Okusaka et al.11.Gaucched by Astellas Pharma)sich-half-butylate)Bedvarched by sich-half-butylate)Constance2013; https://2013; https://12.Genesol PMPolymeric micelle of Biopharm)Polymeric micelle of BronticApproved in in 2006Intra-entonial injection2013; https://2013; https://13.Eligard (Tolmar)Polymeric micelle of Biopharm)Polymeric micelle of breast cancer (primary)NCT 030085122013; https://2013; https://13.Eligard (Tolmar)Polymeric micelle of Biopharm)Polymeric micelle of breast cancer (primary)Subtutaneous injectionIntra-enteret al.13.Eligard (Tolmar)Polymeric micele of fragment A of with scienceAdvanced postate cancer princionPolymeric injectionNCT 030085122013; https://14.Ottak (Tolmar)Polymeric mericPolymeric mericPolymeric mericPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolymeric principlicanPolym	S.	Trade name and company	Nanoparticle type/drug	Approved indication	Approved (year)	Route of administration	Number of studies on ClinicalTrials. gov	References																											
12.Genecol PMPolymeric micelle of bacittaxelRecurrent and metastatic bouh KoreaApproved in injectionIntravenous1(Wemer et al., cumitation)13.EligandPolymeric matrixNSCLC (primary)South KoreaNCT03008512Www.13.EligandPolymeric matrixAdvanced prostate cancerFDA (2002)Subcutaneous105(https://www.13.EligandFolymeric matrixAdvanced prostate cancerFDA (2002)Subcutaneous105(https://www.14.OntakPolymeric matrixAdvanced prostate cancerFDA (1012)Subcutaneous105(https://www.14.OntakRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentPOA (initialIntravenous2014)(https://www.15.OptakRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentPOA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.15.OpaxioRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentPOA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastoma2012)approvalinjectiongov.2014)15.OpaxioRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentPOA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.16.OpaxioRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentPOA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.16.OpaxioRecombinant fusionPersistent or receptorPOA (initialIntravenousPOA (initial<	11.	Zinostatin stimalamer (launched by Yamanouchi later Astellas Pharma)	Conjugation product of zinostatin with SMANCS or SMA (polystyrene-co-maleic acid-half-butylate) copolymer	HCC	Approved in Japan in 1994	Intra-arterial injection	0	(Okusaka et al., 2012; Okusaka et al., 1998)																											
13. EligardPolymeric matrix formulation of leuprolideAdvanced prostate cancerFDA (2002)Subcutaneous105(htps://www.13. (Tolmar)formulation of leuprolideacetateAdvanced prostate cancerFDA (2002)Subcutaneous105(htps://www.14. (Tolmar)acetateRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentFDA (initialInirjectionWeissig et al., 2014)14. (Tisai)Recombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentFDA (initialIntravenous0(htps://www.15. OntakRecombinant fusionCD25 component of the IL-22008)1094 (initialinjectiongov)gov)15. OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaCD25 component of the IL-22008)gov)govi, Weissiggovi, Weissig15. OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphannipectiongovi, Weissiggovi, Weissig16. (TutarelVeil Therapeutics)Polymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaGovigovigovigovi17. (Cell Therapeutics)PolygutamatePolygutamateDovigovigovigovigovi <tr <="" td=""><td>12.</td><td>Genexol PM (Samyang Biopharm)</td><td>Polymeric micelle of paclitaxel</td><td>Recurrent and metastatic breast cancer (primary) NSCLC (primary)</td><td>Approved in South Korea in 2006</td><td>Intravenous injection</td><td>1 NCT03008512</td><td>(Werner et al., 2013; https:// www. clinicaltrials.gov)</td></tr> <tr><td>14.OntakRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentFDA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.14.(Eisai)protein of fragment A ofcutaneous T-cell lymphomaapprovalinjectionaccessdata.fda.15.votein of fragment Awhose malignant cells express1994/fullapproval injectiongov; Weissig15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesCD25 component of the LL-22008)polyet al., 2014)15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphanIntravenous0(Weissig et al., 2014)16.poliglumex)conjugated withconjugated with2012)2012)2014)2014)</td><td>13.</td><td>Eligard (Tolmar)</td><td>Polymeric matrix formulation of leuprolide acetate</td><td>Advanced prostate cancer</td><td>FDA (2002)</td><td>Subcutaneous injection</td><td>105</td><td>(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Weissig et al., 2014) (https://www. accessdata.fda. gov)</td></tr> <tr><td>15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphanIntravenous0(Weissig et al., 2014)(paclitaxelwith paclitaxeldrug status in poliglumex)injection2014)2014)poliglumex)conjugated with2012)2012)2014)</td><td>14.</td><td>Ontak (Eisai)</td><td>Recombinant fusion protein of fragment A of diphtheria toxin and subunit binding to interleukin-2 receptor</td><td>Persistent or recurrent cutaneous T-cell lymphoma whose malignant cells express CD25 component of the IL-2 receptor</td><td>FDA (initial approval 1994/ full approval in 2008)</td><td>Intravenous injection</td><td>0</td><td>(https://www. accessdata.fda. gov; Weissig et al., 2014)</td></tr> <tr><td></td><td>15.</td><td>Opaxio (paclitaxel poliglumex) (Cell Therapeutics)</td><td>Polymeric nanoparticles with paclitaxel conjugated with polyglutamate</td><td>Glioblastoma</td><td>FDA (orphan drug status in 2012)</td><td>Intravenous injection</td><td>0</td><td>(Weissig et al., 2014)</td></tr>	12.	Genexol PM (Samyang Biopharm)	Polymeric micelle of paclitaxel	Recurrent and metastatic breast cancer (primary) NSCLC (primary)	Approved in South Korea in 2006	Intravenous injection	1 NCT03008512	(Werner et al., 2013; https:// www. clinicaltrials.gov)	14.OntakRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentFDA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.14.(Eisai)protein of fragment A ofcutaneous T-cell lymphomaapprovalinjectionaccessdata.fda.15.votein of fragment Awhose malignant cells express1994/fullapproval injectiongov; Weissig15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesCD25 component of the LL-22008)polyet al., 2014)15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphanIntravenous0(Weissig et al., 2014)16.poliglumex)conjugated withconjugated with2012)2012)2014)2014)	13.	Eligard (Tolmar)	Polymeric matrix formulation of leuprolide acetate	Advanced prostate cancer	FDA (2002)	Subcutaneous injection	105	(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Weissig et al., 2014) (https://www. accessdata.fda. gov)	15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphanIntravenous0(Weissig et al., 2014)(paclitaxelwith paclitaxeldrug status in poliglumex)injection2014)2014)poliglumex)conjugated with2012)2012)2014)	14.	Ontak (Eisai)	Recombinant fusion protein of fragment A of diphtheria toxin and subunit binding to interleukin-2 receptor	Persistent or recurrent cutaneous T-cell lymphoma whose malignant cells express CD25 component of the IL-2 receptor	FDA (initial approval 1994/ full approval in 2008)	Intravenous injection	0	(https://www. accessdata.fda. gov; Weissig et al., 2014)		15.	Opaxio (paclitaxel poliglumex) (Cell Therapeutics)	Polymeric nanoparticles with paclitaxel conjugated with polyglutamate	Glioblastoma	FDA (orphan drug status in 2012)	Intravenous injection	0	(Weissig et al., 2014)
12.	Genexol PM (Samyang Biopharm)	Polymeric micelle of paclitaxel	Recurrent and metastatic breast cancer (primary) NSCLC (primary)	Approved in South Korea in 2006	Intravenous injection	1 NCT03008512	(Werner et al., 2013; https:// www. clinicaltrials.gov)																												
14.OntakRecombinant fusionPersistent or recurrentFDA (initialIntravenous0(https://www.14.(Eisai)protein of fragment A ofcutaneous T-cell lymphomaapprovalinjectionaccessdata.fda.15.votein of fragment Awhose malignant cells express1994/fullapproval injectiongov; Weissig15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesCD25 component of the LL-22008)polyet al., 2014)15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphanIntravenous0(Weissig et al., 2014)16.poliglumex)conjugated withconjugated with2012)2012)2014)2014)	13.	Eligard (Tolmar)	Polymeric matrix formulation of leuprolide acetate	Advanced prostate cancer	FDA (2002)	Subcutaneous injection	105	(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Weissig et al., 2014) (https://www. accessdata.fda. gov)																											
15.OpaxioPolymeric nanoparticlesGlioblastomaFDA (orphanIntravenous0(Weissig et al., 2014)(paclitaxelwith paclitaxeldrug status in poliglumex)injection2014)2014)poliglumex)conjugated with2012)2012)2014)	14.	Ontak (Eisai)	Recombinant fusion protein of fragment A of diphtheria toxin and subunit binding to interleukin-2 receptor	Persistent or recurrent cutaneous T-cell lymphoma whose malignant cells express CD25 component of the IL-2 receptor	FDA (initial approval 1994/ full approval in 2008)	Intravenous injection	0	(https://www. accessdata.fda. gov; Weissig et al., 2014)																											
	15.	Opaxio (paclitaxel poliglumex) (Cell Therapeutics)	Polymeric nanoparticles with paclitaxel conjugated with polyglutamate	Glioblastoma	FDA (orphan drug status in 2012)	Intravenous injection	0	(Weissig et al., 2014)																											

60

References	(https://www.fda. gov/drugs; Alphandéry et al., 2015) (https://www. clinicaltrials.gov)	(Martinelli et al., 2019; Weissig et al., 2014)	(https:// adisinsight. springer.com; Tran et al., 2017)	(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)	(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Salvioni et al., 2019)		(https://www. clinicaltrials.gov; Fortuin et al., 2018)
Number of studies on ClinicalTrials. gov	72	0	0	6	1 NCT03326102		L
Route of administration	Intravenous injection	Intratumoral injection	Intravenous injection	Selective transcatheter arterial or intrahepatic lesion injection	Oral		Intravenous injection
Approved (year)	FDA (2019)	EMA (2013)	Taiwan (1998)	FDA (2019)	Korea (2016)		Netherlands (2013)
Approved indication	Adjuvant treatment of patients with HER2-positive early breast cancer who have residual invasive disease after neoadjuvant taxane- and trastuzumab-based treatment	Glioblastoma	Metastatic breast cancer (secondary), ovarian cancer (secondary), and AIDS- related Kaposi's sarcoma	Locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma	Gastric cancer		Imaging of lymph node metastases
Nanoparticle type/drug	Protein-drug conjugate of trastuzumab (Herceptin), connected via a stable linker to a microtubule assembly inhibitor (DM1)	Aminosilane-coated superparamagnetic iron (hyperthermia)	Liposomal doxorubicin	Hafnium oxide nanoparticles (radiosensitizer)	Paclitaxel lipid nanoparticles	naging)	Dextran-coated iron oxide nanoparticles
Trade name and company	Kadcyla (Roche)	NanoTherm (MagForce)	Lipo-Dox (Taiwan Liposome Company)	NBTXR3	DHP107	Cancer diagnosis (in	Combidex (Ferumoxtran-10) (AMAG)
S.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.		21.

exploring their role in other indications. Further, numerous non-approved nanomedicines are in clinical trials (Table 3.2), and around 18 new nanomedicines (for intravenous injection) have entered clinical trials since 2016. Out of these 18 nanomedicines, 17 are for cancer (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019). From this it can be inferred that hopes for nanotechnology to meet the unmet challenges of cancer are high. In the subsequent sections of this chapter, we will explore the clinical data available on nanomedicines which are both approved or are undergoing clinical trials for application in cancer (for nanoformulations in clinical trials, we have selected those trials which are recruiting, not yet recruiting, active, not recruiting studies).

Nanotechnology in Early Detection and Diagnosis

In the fight against cancer, early detection and diagnosis are without doubt one of the most efficient means for effective cancer treatment. For instance, patients with breast cancer when detected at a local stage show a 5-year survival rate of nearly 90% in comparison to merely 27% when detected at an advanced metastasis stage (Y. Zhang et al., 2019). Similar data is reported for lung cancer where the 5-year survival rate is 57% when diagnosed at stage I compared with only 3% when diagnosed at stage IV (Crosby et al., 2020). The available techniques lack sensitivity to detect cancer at an early stage. Nanoparticles by virtue of their small size have large surface-area-to-volume ratio in comparison to bulk materials which allows for surface functionalization with antibodies, small molecules, aptamers, peptides, and other functional groups. This functionalization can help detect cancer-specific biomarkers. Further, as it allows for incorporation of various binding ligands, multivalent effects can be achieved, thereby increasing the specificity and sensitivity of available detection and diagnostic techniques.

Nano-enabled In Vitro Diagnostic Devices

In vitro diagnostics are tests based on detection of various biological molecules found in blood, urine, saliva, and other tissues of the body. They are helpful in screening, diagnosis, and monitoring therapeutic response of a disease. These in vitro diagnostic devices are biosensors which include a biological recognition element (enzyme/antibody/nucleic acid/cell/aptamer) and a transducer which is used to convert biochemical reaction into a measurable signal which can be detected (Fig. 3.2). The transduction mechanisms may depend on electronic, magnetic, or light effects. In the case of cancer, there are certain biomarkers which are released in the body like secreted or cell surface proteins, tumor-shed exosomes, circulating tumor DNA, miRNA, and others which can be used for early detection of cancer or tumor recurrence. But the problem associated with biomarker detection is that the concentration of these is very low in body fluids, which makes it immensely challenging to detect. Further, heterogeneity in the abundance of biomarkers within

		References		(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)	(Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; https:// www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)	(continued)
ecruiting studies)	Number of studies in ClinicalTrials.	gov		64	l NCT03823989 (Ph 1): recruiting	4 NCT04509466 (Ph 2): not yet recruiting NCT03776279 (Ph 2): recruiting NCT04548700 (Ph 1): not yet recruiting NCT04331743 (Ph 1): not yet recruiting	
cruiting, and active, not n		Investigated indication		Solid tumors	Solid tumors	Lymphoma, breast cancer, & and advanced HCC	
ig clinical trials (recruiting, not yet rec		Drug		Eribulin mesylate	Mitomycin C	Mitoxantrone	
anoformulations undergoir		Type of nanoparticle	herapy	Liposome	PEGylated liposome	Liposome	
3.2 List of unapproved n		Name/company	Nanotechnology in chemol	Halaven E7389-LF (Eisai)	Promotil (LipoMedix Pharmaceuticals)	Mitoxantrone hydrochloride liposome (CSPC ZhongQi Pharmaceutical Technology)	
Table	s.	no.	-	:	5	ι. Έ	

Table .	5.2 (continued)					
S. No.	Vame/company	Type of nanoparticle	Drug	Investigated indication	Number of studies in ClinicalTrials. gov	References
4 1 0 F	.ipusu Nanjing Luye Sike Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.)	Liposome	Paclitaxel	Advanced squamous non-small cell lung cancer	1 NCT02996214 (Ph 4): active, not recruiting	(Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; https:// www. clinicaltrials. gov)
5. (LiPlasome Pharma)	Liposome (specific degradation- controlled drug release by phospholipase A2 (PLA2)	Cisplatin	Phase 1: advanced or refractory solid tumors Phase 2 Part: Metastatic breast cancer, prostate cancer, and skin cancer	1 NCT01861496 (Ph 1/2): active, not recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
6. /	AZD2811 AstraZeneca with BIND herapeutics)	Polymeric nanoparticles (PLA-PEG copolymer matrix with PEG blocks oriented toward particle surface, slow release)	AZD2811 (Aurora B kinase inhibitor)	Relapsed small-cell lung cancer subjects with c-MYC expression and acute myeloid leukemia	2 NCT04525391 (Ph 2): Recruiting NCT03217838 (Ph 1/2): Recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov) (https://www. ddfevent.com)
7. (VC-6004 Nanocarrier)	Polymeric micelle	Cisplatin	Head and neck cancer (secondary, after failed platinum regimen)	1 NCT03771820 (Ph 2): recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)

 Table 3.2 (continued)

(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Young et al., 2011)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)
2 NCT03585673 (Ph 2): recruiting NCT04066335 recruiting	1 NCT03742713 (Ph 2): recruiting	2 NCT03531827 (Ph 2): recruiting NCT02769962 (Ph 1/2): recruiting	L	2 NCT03388749 (Ph 1/2): recruiting NCT03315039 (Ph ½): active, not recruiting
Esophageal carcinoma and advanced solid tumor	Platinum-resistant ovarian cancer	Progressive metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer and relapsed/refractory small-cell lung cancer	Metastatic colorectal cancer, sarcoma, PEComa, and high-grade recurrent glioma	Acute myeloid leukemia
Docetaxel	Docetaxel	Camptothecin	Rapamycin	Annamycin
Micelle	Micelle	Polymeric nanoparticle (cyclodextrin- polyethylene glycol (CD-PEG) co-polymer)	Protein nanoparticles (albumin bound)	Liposome
Docetaxel-PM DOPNP201 (Samyang Biopharmaceuticals)	CriPec (Cristal Therapeutics)	CRLX101 (Cerulean)	ABI-009 (Aadi with Celgene)	Liposomal Annamycin (Moleculin Biotech)
∞	9.	10.	11.	12.

(continued)

	References	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)	 Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019; https:// www. clinicaltrials. gov) 	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)		(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov) st
	Number of studies in ClinicalTrials. gov	1 NCT03387917 (Ph 1): recruiting	1 NCT0316806 (Ph 1/2): recruiting	1 NCT03382340 (Ph 1/2): recruiting		3 NCT03067051 (Ph 1): Recruiting NCT03033225 (Ph 2): Recruiting NCT04590664 (Ph 1/2): Not ye
	Investigated indication	Advanced solid tumors	Advanced solid tumors or soft tissue sarcoma	Advanced solid tumors		Recurrent prostate cancer, Solid Pancreatic Tumors or Advanced Pancreatic Cancer & Recurrent High-Grade EGFR- Mutated Glioblastoma
	Drug	Doxorubicin	Epirubicin	Stat-3/NF-kB/poly tyrosine kinase inhibitor and low-dose doxorubicin		Verteporfin
	Type of nanoparticle	Liposome	Micelle	Micelle		Liposome
e 3.2 (continued)	Name/company	TLD-1/Talidox (InnoMedica)	NC-6300 (Nanocarrier)	Imx-110 (Immix Biopharma Australia)	Nanotechnology in PDT	Visudyne (Bausch and Lomb)
Table	S. no.	13.	14.	15.		16.

(Obaid et al., 2016; https:// www. clinicaltrials. gov) (https:// adisinsight.		(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov) (Stern et al., 2016)	(continued)
1 NCT03003065 (Ph 2): Recruiting		2 NCT02536183 (Ph 1): Recruiting NCT03749850 (Ph 1): Recruiting	2 NCT04240639 Recruiting NCT02680535 (Active, not recruiting)	
Inoperable Bile Duct Cancers (PDT)		Pediatric Refractory Solid tumors & Breast cancer	Prostate cancer	
Meta-tetra(hydroxyphenyl)chlorin (mTHPC), also known as temoporfin or Foscan		Doxorubicin	Gold nanoparticles	
Liposome		Liposome (thermosensitive release)	Inorganic nanoparticles (PEG-coated silica gold nanoshells)	
Foslip (Originator: QuantaNova, Developer: Biolitec)	Nanotechnology in PDT	ThermoDox (Celsion)	AuroShell (Nanospectra Biosciences)	
17.		18.	19.	

Tabl	le 3.2 (continued)					
s.					Number of studies in ClinicalTrials.	
no.	Name/company	Type of nanoparticle	Drug	Investigated indication	gov	References
	Nanotechnology in radioth	erapy				
20.	AGuIX nanoparticles	Inorganic nanoparticles	Polysiloxane Gadolinium	Advanced cervical cancer & brain metastases	3 NCT03308604 (Ph 1): Recruiting NCT03818386 (Ph 2): Recruiting NCT04094077 NCT03818386 (Ph 2): Recruiting Recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)
	Nanotechnology in gene th	erapy				
21.	Oncoprex (Genprex)	Liposome	FUS1 (TUSC2) Tumor suppressor gene	Lung cancer	1 NCT01455389 (Ph 1/2): Active, not recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
22.	siRNA-EphA2-DOPC (M.D. Anderson Cancer Center)	Liposome	siRNA for EphA2 knockdown	Solid tumors	1 NCT01591356 (Ph 1): Recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)

68

(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov) (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Senzer et al., 2013)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)	(continued)
2 NCT04196257 (Ph 1): Not yet recruiting NCT02781883 (Ph 2): Recruiting	3 NCT02340117 (Ph 2): Recruiting NCT03554707 (Early Ph 1): Not yet recruiting NCT02354547 (Ph 1): Recruiting	1 NCT02410733 (Ph 1): Active, not recruiting	
Advanced or recurrent solid tumors	Metastatic Pancreatic cancer, Recurrent or Progressive CNS Malignancies & PMID: 23609015	Cancer vaccine for advanced melanoma	
Growth factor-bound protein-2 (Grb-2) antisense oligonucleotide	Wild-type p53 sequence	Four naked ribonucleic acid (RNA)-drug products (DPs) RBL001.1, RBL002.2, RBL003.1, and RBL004.1	
Neutral liposomes	Cationic liposome (targeting moiety: anti-transferrin receptor antibody)	Liposomes	
BP1001 (Bio-Path Holdings)	SGT-53 (SynGene Therapeutics)	Lipo-Merit (BioNTech RNA Pharmaceuticals)	
23.	24.	25.	

abl	e 3.2 (continuea)					
S. no.	Name/company	Type of nanoparticle	Drug	Investigated indication	Number of studies in ClinicalTrials. gov	References
26.	MTL-CEBPA (Mina alpha)	Amphoteric liposomes (pH-triggered endosomal escape for intracellular delivery)	"Small"- or "short"-activating RNAs (saRNA) for inducing expression of transcription factor CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha (CEBPα), a tumor suppressor and critical regulator of hepatocyte function	Advanced solid tumours	1 NCT04105335 (Ph 1): Recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Setten et al., 2018)
	Nanotechnology in immur	totherapy				
27.	m-RNA-4157 (ModemaTX, Inc.)	Lipid nanoparticle	mRNA targeting 20 tumor- associated antigens (TAAs) that are specifically expressed by the patient's cancer cells	Solid Tumors & High-Risk Melanoma (Personalized cancer vaccine)	2 NCT03313778 (Ph 1): Recruiting NCT03897881 (Ph 2): Recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Kowalski et al., 2019)
28.	mRNA-2416 (ModemaTX, Inc.)	Lipid nanoparticle	mRNA encoding for the OX40L protein, which is a co-stimulatory membrane-bound protein that enhances the expansion, function, and survival of T cells to attack cancer cells	Solid tumor malignancies or lymphoma	1 NCT03323398 (Ph 1): Recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Kowalski et al., 2019) (https://www. modernatx.com)
29.	Anti-EGFR-IL-dox Swiss group for clinical Cancer research	Immunoliposomes (anti-EGFR)	Doxorubicin	Advanced triple- negative EGFR positive breast cancer	1 NCT02833766 (Ph 2): Active, not recruiting	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)
						_

 Table 3.2 (continued)

(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)		(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; https:// www.ema. europa.eu)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov)	(https://www. clinicaltrials. gov; Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019)
1 NCT02316457 (Ph 1): Active, not recruiting)	6	1 NCT03199274 (early Ph 1): Recruiting	21	1 NCT03906643 (Ph 1): Recruiting	×	1 NCT02106598 (Ph 1/2): Recruiting
Triple-negative breast cancer		HCC, breast cancer, ocular melanoma, head and neck cancer, and sarcome	HCC	Liver neoplasms, prostate, breast and pancreatic cancer	Solid tumor	HCC & breast cancer	Image-guided intraoperative mapping of nodal metastases
RNA (specificity for antigen expression on a patient's tumor) Personalized cancer immunotherapy	-	Perflutren (as ultrasound contrast agent)	Perflutren (as ultrasound contrast agent)	Sulfur hexafluoride (ultrasound contrast agent)	HSP90 inhibitor-linked verteporfin	F-butane (ultrasound contrast agent)	Near-infrared fluorophore and ¹²⁴ I
Liposomes	imaging of cancer	Lipid microspheres	Protein nanoparticles (albumin stabilized)	Lipid nanoparticle	Liposome	Lipid nanoparticle	Silica nanoparticles (PEG and surface functionalized with cRGDY, tumor- targeting peptide)
IVAC_W_bre1_uID (BioNTech SE)	Nanotechnology in in vivo	Definity (Lantheus Medical Imaging)	Optison (GE Healthcare)	SonoVue (Bracco imaging)	Visudyne (Bausch and Lomb)	Sonazoid (GE Healthcare)	Cornell Dots (C -Dots) (Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center)
30.		31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.

(continued)

71

(continued)
3.2
able
<u></u>

Tabl	e 3.2 (continued)					
					Number of	
					studies in	
S.					ClinicalTrials.	
no.	Name/company	Type of nanoparticle	Drug	Investigated indication	gov	References
37.	ONM-100	Micelle	Indocyanine green	Intraoperative	1	(https://www.
				fluorescence imaging	NCT03735680	clinicaltrials.
				agent for the detection	(Ph 2):	gov; Anselmo &
				of cancer	Recruiting	Mitragotri,
						2019)



Fig. 3.2 Illustration of application of nanotechnology in in-vitro and in-vivo diagnosis of cancer. In in-vitro diagnosis, nanoparticles help to detect extracellular cancer biomarkers or cancer cells in samples collected from patients, which could help in early detection of cancer. In in-vivo imaging, nanotechnology not only helps to detect cancer, but can also aid in surgery by helping in delineating tumor margins, identifying residual cancer cells and locating metastatic lymph nodes

patients is another barrier in its translation. Nanotechnology-enabled in vitro diagnostic devices can address these problems as they offer high selectivity and sensitivity and detection of multiple targets simultaneously (Y. Zhang et al., 2019). However, presently there are no nano-enabled in vitro diagnostic devices for cancer in the market, but there are several nanoparticle-based medical screens and tests already in use for other indications like the use of AuNPs for home pregnancy tests (https:// www.cancer.gov/nano/cancer-nanotechnology/detection-diagnosis#in-vitro). So. research is actively being conducted in this field, and the hopes for translation of this technique in cancer are high. One such research was conducted at Northwestern University where they designed a nanoparticle-based bio-barcode assay for ultrasensitive detection of free prostate-specific antigen (PSA) for identification of disease relapse after surgical treatment of prostate cancer. This technique utilizes magnetic nanoparticles (MMPs) functionalized with PSA monoclonal antibodies which bind to target proteins in the sample. These MMP-protein hybrids are then combined with AuNPs which are highly functionalized with DNA barcodes and polyclonal anti-PSA. Target protein-specific DNA barcodes are then released in solution and are detected by scanometric assay with sensitivities in femto-picomolar range (Nam et al., 2003). Another nanoparticle-based diagnostic magnetic resonance sensor platform operated by smartphone technology was developed by Ralph Weissleder at Massachusetts General Hospital for accurate diagnosis of malignant aspirate biopsies. Weissleder's system utilizes tumors from fine-needle

nanoparticle-based magnetic affinity ligands for detection of protein markers that are associated with cancer. This system exploits changes in the transverse relaxation signal of water molecules in a magnetic field as a sensing mechanism for magnetic nanoparticle-labeled analytes. They conducted experiments with this technology in a clinical setting using cells obtained through fine-needle aspiration of suspected lesions in 50 patients. They further validated the results with an independent cohort of 20 other patients. They reported a 96% accuracy in cancer diagnosis which was way ahead of clinical analyses by immunohistochemistry (Haun et al., 2011).

In Vivo Imaging

In vivo imaging platforms have provided immense opportunities for both clinical diagnosis and research by endowing the means to peer deeply within tissues in living objects. These imaging techniques create the image of internal structure and tissues. The visibility of these physiological structures can be greatly enhanced by the use of contrast agents. By employing nanotechnology, contrast images with high resolution can be obtained which is essential for precise and accurate diagnosis. Nanotechnology-based contrast agents can significantly enhance the detection of tumor in vivo by conventional scanning and imaging devices such as MRI, PET, and CT scans (Fig. 3.2). This is mainly because nanomaterials can deliver large imaging payloads, allow for multiplexing, and yield improved sensitivity. In certain imaging modalities, nanomaterials themselves are used as a source of image signal rather than as a delivery platform (Smith & Gambhir, 2017). One such example is Combidex-enhanced MRI (CEM) which is also known as magnetic resonance lymphography. Combidex (ferumoxtran-10) is a dextran-coated iron oxide nanoparticle of size range 20-50 nm which has been approved for clinical use in the Netherlands for imaging of lymph node metastases. Lymph node status in patients with prostate cancer is evaluated either by imaging or lymphadenectomy. Lymphadenectomy is an invasive method where extended pelvic lymph node dissection (e-PLND) is the standard procedure to detect metastatic lymph nodes in intermediate and high-risk prostate cancer patients. The procedure evaluates lymph nodes only in the dissection field and misses small and/or distant nodes. It is reported that in 60-80% of proven lymph node-positive patients, lymph nodes were present outside the e-PLND. Thus, the sensitivity of this technique is quite low. The other technique available for assessing is imaging which is non-invasive and is of two types, conventional and functional. Both the techniques are unable to detect small metastatic nodes, and as metastatic nodes in prostate cancer are small, the sensitivity of these techniques is reduced. Since the early 1990s, CEM has shown very promising results, but unfortunately it was withdrawn from the registration process in Europe by the manufacturer. But, Radboud University Medical Center (Radboudumc) obtained all rights and documents for Combidex in 2013, and with the help of an accredited pharmacy, they were able to manufacture the contrast agent with original specifications. In 2015, the rights were transferred to SPL Medical B.V. in Nijmegen, the Netherlands, which is presently the sole manufacturer for the contrast agent. Combidex is administered intravenously with a slow-drip infusion 24-36 h prior to MRI imaging. The nanoparticles are taken up by macrophages, which accumulate in normal lymph nodes, whereas metastatic nodes do not uptake these nanoparticles. Therefore, in MRI images normal lymph nodes appear black, whereas metastatic nodes appear white. Thus, with CEM, there is a sharply defined distinction with normal and metastatic nodes (Fortuin et al., 2018). Another example of nanotechnology-based contrast agent is Definity which are lipid microspheres comprising echogenic microbubbles filled with octafluoropropane gas. It is developed by Lantheus Medical Imaging and was approved by the FDA in 2001 as an injectable cardiovascular ultrasound enhancement agent (https://www.accessdata.fda. gov). It is now in clinical trials for ultrasound enhancement for early-stage detection of liver, breast, ovary intraocular, and pancreatic cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials. goy). Optison is a GE healthcare-developed nanotechnology-based ultrasound contrast agent which was FDA approved in 1997 for echocardiography. Optison are microspheres of human serum albumin with perflutren for contrast enhancement in ultrasound imaging procedures (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov). They are presently in clinical trials for detection of sentinel lymph nodes which are the first targets of cancer cell and for screening of renal cell carcinoma recurrence. Apart from this they are in early phase I clinical trial for assessing whether perflutren protein type A microsphere contrast-based ultrasound can work in improving response to radioembolization therapy in patients with liver cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials. gov). SonoVue, a nanotechnology-based product developed by Bracco Imaging, is an ultrasound contrast agent consisting of phospholipid-stabilized microbubble containing sulfur hexafluoride. It was approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in 2001 for echocardiography (https://www.ema.europa.eu). It is now in clinical trials for early detection of liver neoplasms, prostate, breast, and pancreatic cancer, which are difficult to detect in early stages (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Another nanotechnology-based product in clinical trials is Cornell Dots (C Dots) which are silica nanoparticles that deliver near-infrared fluorophore (optical imaging contrast agent) and radiolabeled iodine (124I, PET contrast agent) in the same platform. They are coated with PEG and surface functionalized with cRGDY (cyclic arginine-glycine-aspartic acid) targeting peptide for tumor-specific targeting (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019). C Dots have been undergoing FDA Investigational New Drug (IND) clinical trials for metastatic melanoma since 2010 and have successfully made through initial clinical trials. These are intended to be used for realtime image-guided intraoperative mapping of nodal metastases where they would assist the surgeon in removing metastatic lymph nodes. They are also in clinical trials for other cancers like breast, brain, and colorectal cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Nanotechnology in Treatment and Therapy

Conventional cancer therapy includes chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and surgery. Nanotechnology finds application in these fields by improving the pharmacokinetics and targeting ability of chemotherapeutics, enhancing radiosensitization, and aiding surgery by better diagnostic imaging. Additionally, the ease of fabrication and engineering of nanoparticles is helping to develop novel therapies for cancer like gene therapy, immunotherapy, and photodynamic therapy (Misra et al., 2010) (Fig. 3.3). This section of chapter will illustrate the clinical status of nanotechnology in advancement of oncotherapy.

Nanocarriers for Delivering Chemotherapy

Conventional chemotherapeutics is the major treatment approach used either individually or in combination with other therapies for cancer. But its effects are significantly reduced due to several limitations which include poor aqueous solubility, lack of selectivity for cancer cells, short circulation time, systemic toxicity, and development of MDR (Chidambaram et al., 2011). Thus, the long-established use of nanotechnology in oncology has shown to improve the pharmacokinetics, targeting selectivity, and delivery of chemotherapeutics to the tumor tissues. This is achieved through either encapsulating or conjugating the drug to nanoparticles which act as delivery systems. And by virtue of their inherent characteristics, they are able to improve the overall therapeutic index of the drug and selectively deliver the therapeutics to tumor tissues either by passive or active targeting (Cho et al., 2008). This



Fig. 3.3 Figurative representation of application of nanotechnology in varied therapies for oncology where nanoparticles helps in improving the pharmacokinetics of the therapeutic agent and selective targeting of tumor

has led to the development of several nanomedicines which have been approved and are extensively used for different types of cancer. The first nanomedicine which was approved for cancer is DOXIL which is a liposomal formulation of doxorubicin. Doxorubicin is one of the first chemotherapeutics for cancer and is used in various cancers like gastric, lung, ovarian, breast myeloma, lymphomas, leukemia, and sarcoma. But, one of the major side effects of this drug is severe cardiotoxicity which is dependent on dose and is cumulative (Rivankar, 2014). As liposomes offer several advantages as delivery vehicles like they can deliver both hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs and can improve the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of the encapsulated drug, scientists began hypothesizing that it could improve the therapeutic index of doxorubicin. The first generation of liposomal doxorubicin which entered in clinical trials was of the size range 300-500 nm and had doxorubicin encapsulated in lipid bilayer. Pharmacokinetics and biodistribution studies revealed that DOXIL, though administered at higher dose, provided lower peak levels of free doxorubicin. This was mainly because liposomes were rapidly cleared from circulation by reticuloendothelial system (RES) or MPS due to their large size. Thus, liposomes encountered a major problem in their translation. This led to the development of a second generation of liposomes which were coated with PEG on the surface to make "stealth liposomes" which were not easily detected by RES. This new formulation entered clinical trials between 1991 and 1994 in Israel with the aim of the study to understand the pharmacokinetics of DOXIL. The study revealed that DOXIL had remarkably higher area under curve (AUC) in comparison to native doxorubicin. Further, the volume of distribution was much smaller for DOXIL (4 L) in comparison to native doxorubicin (25 L), and the clearance of DOXIL was also slower as compared to native doxorubicin. Intriguingly, the drug concentration in malignant effusions was 4-16-fold higher for DOXIL as compared to free doxorubicin. This result was one of the first in a clinical setting to support the concept of EPR utilized by nanoparticles. Eventually the drug entered the clinical investigation phase and received the first FDA-accelerated approval for treatment of chemotherapyrefractory Kaposi's sarcoma associated with AIDS in 1995 (Min et al., 2015). Later it received FDA-accelerated approval for treatment-refractory ovarian cancer in 1999 and for relapsed and refractory multiple myeloma in 2007 as a combination treatment with bortezomib (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov). There are around 635 clinical trials going on DOXIL for various cancers (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Another liposomal formulation approved for cancer is DaunoXome which is a non-PEGylated liposome formulation of daunorubicin. Daunorubicin is an anthracycline drug from which doxorubicin is obtained. DaunoXome, entered in clinical trials for AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma and pharmacokinetic study, revealed that both AUC and alpha half-life of DaunoXome were significantly better as compared to native daunorubicin. Further, investigators found that in 22 patients who received DaunoXome, the partial response (PR) or clinical complete response (CR) rate was 55% (Gill et al., 1995). Further, randomized phase III trials were conducted to compare the effect of DaunoXome and doxorubicin, and it was found that overall response rate was almost the same (Gill et al., 1996). Based on these results, DaunoXome was granted accelerated approval by the FDA for Kaposi's sarcoma in

1996 (Kaposi's sarcoma: DaunoXome approved, 1996). Clinical trials were also conducted to compare DaunoXome and DOXIL, and it was found that DaunoXome was less potent in comparison to DOXIL. It has been evaluated for several cancers, but since it does not offer higher efficiency in comparison to other standard treatments, it has not been approved for other cancers (Min et al., 2015). There are around 151 clinical trials going on for DaunoXome for various types of cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Arabinofuranosyl cytidine commonly known as cytarabine (ara-C) is an antimetabolite class of chemotherapeutic used for certain types of leukemia and lymphomas. It is one of the few drugs which is effective in treating meningeal leukemia. But the intrathecal administration of drugs is toxic and requires frequent dosing (Baker et al., 1991). As one of the key features of liposomes is long circulation time and slow drug release (Bozzuto & Molinari, 2015), investigators thought employing these as delivery vehicles can address the clinical issues of cytarabine. This led to the development of liposomal cytarabine called DepoCyt, which uses multivesicular liposomes as a depot for cytarabine. DepoCyt entered clinical trials in 1991, and phase I clinical trial revealed that DepoCyt had prolonged half-life in comparison to free cytarabine (Chamberlain et al., 1993). Based on the encouraging results of phase I trial, two randomized clinical trials were undertaken to compare DepoCyt with cytarabine (Glantz et al., 1999). In both trials the response rate was significantly higher for DepoCyt in comparison to cytarabine, which eventually led to its FDA-accelerated approval for lymphomatous meningitis in 1999. The formulation received full approval in 2007 (https://www. accessdata.fda.gov). There are around 32 clinical trials going on DepoCyt for various cancers (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Other liposomal formulations which have been approved for treatment of cancer include VYXEOS, Myocet, Margibo, MEPACT, and Onivyde. VYXEOS is a first nanoformulation having dual drug loading to be approved by the FDA in 2017 and EMA in 2018 for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. It is a liposomal formulation containing cytarabine and daunorubicin in the ratio (5:1 M ratio) (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019). It is currently undergoing 28 clinical trials for various indications in cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials. gov). Myocet is a non-PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin which was granted approval by the EMA in 2000 for sale in Europe and Canada as the first line of treatment for metastatic breast cancer in combination with cyclophosphamide (https:// www.ema.europa.eu). There are around six clinical trials going on Myocet for various cancers (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Margibo is a non-PEGylated liposomal vincristine which received approval for a rare condition in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative (Ph-) acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) in second or greater relapse by the FDA in 2012. Presently, Marqibo is undergoing around 345 clinical trials for different indications in cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Another non-PEGylated liposomal formulation is MEPACT which encapsulates mifamurtide as an immune modulator. The product received EMA approval for use in the European Union for treatment of high-grade non-metastatic osteosarcoma in 2009 (https://www.ema.europa.eu). It is presently undergoing three clinical trials for osteosarcoma (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Onivyde, a PEGylated liposomal formulation of irinotecan which is a topoisomerase I inhibitor, has been approved by the FDA in 2015 for use in combination with fluorouracil and leucovorin for treatment of metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas after disease progression following gemcitabine-based therapy (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov). Currently, it is undergoing 38 clinical trials for different indications of cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Apart from liposomes, protein nanoparticles-based chemotherapeutics are also in the market. One such successful formulation is Abraxane. It is an albumin-bound nanoformulation of paclitaxel which has been granted FDA approval in 2005 for treatment of metastatic breast cancer (secondary), for locally advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (primary) in combination with carboplatin, and as first-line treatment for metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas in combination with gemcitabine (https://www.accessdata.fda.gov). Paclitaxel has limited aqueous solubility, so initially it was prepared as a Cremophor-/ethanol-based preparation to improve its solubility and in vivo delivery. But this preparation had several side effects like acute hypersensitivity reaction leading to severe and at times fatal allergic responses, decreased drug clearance, and volume of distribution. Thus, the Cremophor EL delivery system decreased the therapeutic index of paclitaxel and increased the toxicity. This led to the search for a new delivery system for paclitaxel which eventually resulted in development of Abraxane that greatly enhanced the overall solubility and in vivo transport efficiency of the drug, without causing any toxicity (Min et al., 2015). Abraxane is presently undergoing around 1315 clinical trials for different types of cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). The type of nanoparticle-based formulation in the market for oncology is Oncaspar. It is a polymer-drug conjugate formed by covalent conjugation of PEG with native L-asparaginase which was approved by the FDA in 1994 for use in acute lymphocytic leukemia patients who developed hypersensitivity to the free form of asparaginase (Dinndorf et al., 2007). It is undergoing around 79 clinical trials for different indications of cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Zinostatin stimalmer is another drug-polymer conjugate which was approved for use in Japan in 1994 for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). It is a conjugation product of neocarzinostatin (Zinostatin) with SMANCS or SMA (polystyrene-co-maleic acid-half-butylate) copolymer (Okusaka et al., 2012).

Polymeric micelle formulations are also clinically available for oncology application. One such formulation is Genexol PM which is composed of amphiphilic diblock copolymer, monomethoxy poly(ethylene glycol)-block-poly(D, L-lactide) (mPEG-PDLLA) and paclitaxel. It has been approved for use as a first-line therapy for recurrent and metastatic breast cancer and NSCLC in South Korea in 2006. The formulation shows reduced toxicity in comparison to Taxol (Werner et al., 2013). Currently it is undergoing phase II clinical trial to assess the activity and safety profile of weekly administered Genexol PM in patients with advanced HCC for whom sorafenib treatment has failed (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Apart from these there are other nanotechnology-based chemotherapeutics which are not approved but are under clinical investigation. The details of which are provided in Table 3.2.

Nanotechnology in Photodynamic Therapy (PDT)

Photodynamic therapy is an emerging treatment strategy which is based on the excitation of non-toxic photosensitizers (PS) by light of a specific wavelength that matches the absorption properties of PS, resulting in production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that are toxic to the target cancerous tissues. The success of PDT depends on the selection of PS. A suitable PS should be selective to neoplastic cells, excited by far-red or near-infrared spectral regions, and capable of yielding longlived triple excited stages. The generation of ROS depends on two distinct pathways which are interchangeable. In type 1 pathway, electron transfer to or from the triple excited state of PS leads to the production of oxygen-free radicals such as hydroxyl radicals, superoxide, and hydroperoxides. Type 2 pathway leads to the production of singlet oxygen where triple excited PS interacts to molecular oxygen which is triplet in its ground state leading to singlet excited to singlet ground-state relaxation (Mfouo Tynga & Abrahamse, 2018). For effective and safe PDT, it is guintessential that PS is delivered in therapeutic concentration to target cancerous tissues without being absorbed by non-target tissues. But there are two problems in realizing this outcome. One of it is that PS being highly hydrophobic in nature accumulates in aqueous environment which results in lower efficiency as their monomeric form is more photoactive, and the other is PS lacks specificity for tumor tissues. Both the issues can be effectively addressed by employing nanotechnology in PDT, where nanoparticles can deliver PS specifically to target cancer cells and at the same type prevent these hydrophobic agents from stacking up by preventing them from aqueous environment (Hamblin et al., 2015). The first nanotechnology-based PS formulation to get FDA approval is Visudyne® (verteporfin) which is a non-PEGylated liposomal formulation of PS benzoporphyrin derivative (BPD) consisting of egg phosphatidylglycerol, dimyristoyl phosphatidylcholine, ascorbyl palmitate, and butylated hydroxytoluene. It has been approved as a first-line treatment for agerelated macular degeneration (AMD) in year 2000. The success of PDT using Visudyne® in AMD has led to its investigation in cancer. One such investigation was conducted in advanced pancreatic cancer, where a 690-nm laser light was delivered after 60-90 min of sensitization with Visudyne®, under computed tomography (CT) guidance for photochemical activation of Visudyne® within the tumor interstitium. It was observed that at 40 J, this therapy induced 12 mm of necrosis in the tumor without any adverse effects. Thus, it was concluded that verteporfin PDT in locally advanced pancreatic cancer is safe and effective. Though presently it is not approved for cancer therapy, several clinical trials are ongoing in different types of cancer (Obaid et al., 2016). It is undergoing four clinical trials for cancer (https:// www.clinicaltrials.gov). Other nanotechnology-based products in context of PDT in clinical trials are Foslip and Fospeg, which are liposomal formulations of PS metatetra(hydroxyphenyl)chlorin (mTHPC), also known as temoporfin or Foscan. Foslip is a conventional liposomal formulation, whereas Fospeg is a PEGylated liposomal formulation. It has been observed that the PDT efficiency of both the formulations is higher in comparison to native PS, but in context of tumor selectivity, Fospeg is more efficient in comparison to Foslip (Obaid et al., 2016). Presently, Foslip is undergoing one clinical trial for inoperable bile duct cancers. However, there are no ongoing clinical trials on Fospeg.

Nanotechnology in Photothermal Therapy (PTT)

PTT is another phototherapy used for cancer treatment apart from PDT where a photothermal (PT) agent is stimulated by both a near-infrared laser and vibrational energy to produce local heating through optical absorption for selective killing of cancer cells (Montaseri et al., 2020). Recently nanomaterials have garnered significant attention in this field as they can themselves act as photothermal transducers as they exhibit strong absorption in the near-infrared range (Doughty et al., 2019). This strategy of employing NP-mediated hyperthermia is advantageous as selective hyperthermia in tumor tissues can be achieved without toxicity to healthy tissues. In PTT, once intratumoral accumulation of plasmonic nanoparticles is achieved following administration, they are illuminated with near-infrared light which causes synchronized oscillations in electrons of the conduction band in nanoparticles which converts light energy into heat that kills cancer cells (Pinto & Pocard, 2018). Several nanomaterials with different structures have been explored for PTT like gold, tungsten, copper, carbon-based materials, iron oxide, and molybdenum (Fernandes et al., 2020). Of these plasmonic gold nanostructures and iron nanoparticles have made it to the clinical trials. Currently, PEG-coated silica gold nanoshells, called AuroShell®, are undergoing two clinical trials for anti-cancer PTT specifically termed AuroLase® therapy (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Early-phase clinical trials for evaluation of safety of AuroShell®-directed PTT in the treatment of prostate disease have found that the safety profile of AuroShell particles is excellent (Stern et al., 2016). Another NP-based PTT in clinical trials is Magnablate, which is an iron oxide nanoparticle that has completed phase 0 clinical trial for thermal ablation of prostate cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). PTT is also being evaluated for aiding in selective activation of nanotechnology-based therapeutics in tumors. One such clinical investigation has been conducted with ThermoDox® which is a PEGylated liposomal formulation of doxorubicin to thermally release the drug upon radiofrequency ablation (RFA). It has completed Phase III HEAT trial for HCC, and the results indicate that employing extended duration of RFA can be critical in improving the outcome. This finding has led to a new phase III trial, OPTIMA for HCC (Obaid et al., 2016).

Delivering or Synergizing Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy is one of the most effective treatment modalities in oncology with more than 60% of cancer patients receiving the therapy during the course of treatment. Since the discovery of ionizing radiation's capacity to cause cytotoxicity through DNA damage, they have been extensively used clinically to kill rapidly proliferating cancer cells as they are more susceptible to DNA damage. Radiotherapy

can be applied through both external beams (electrons, protons, or photons) and internal radioactive source depending on the type of tumor, its location, and size. Though a lot of progresses have been made in the field, still several challenges exist. These challenges include reducing the toxicity to healthy tissues and increasing the therapeutic efficiency in tumors which are resistant or exhibit low response to radiotherapy (Zhao et al., 2016). These unmet challenges can be addressed by employing nanotechnology, where nanoparticles can be used as a cargo for delivering radionucleotides or radiosensitizers in tumors, thereby enhancing the tumor selectivity and at the same time alleviating toxicity to normal tissues (Mi et al., 2016). There are several radioisotopes which are used in cancer therapy which include betaemitters, like 188Re, 166Ho, 186Re, 89Sr, 32P, and 90Y, and alpha-emitters, like 211At, 225Ac, and 213Bi (Hamoudeh et al., 2008). But the major problem associated with radioisotopes is that they are rapidly eliminated from the body either through renal clearance or by MPS owing to their small size. Several preclinical studies have shown that encapsulating or conjugating these radioisotopes with nanocarriers can significantly enhance their biological half-life (L. Zhang et al., 2010). However, one liposomal formulation of Rhenium-188, 188Re-BMEDAliposome, entered phase 1 clinical trials in 2014 for evaluating the maximum tolerance dose (MTD) and safety profile in patients with primary solid tumor in advanced or metastatic stage. But it has been terminated in 2020 due to some concerns regarding the accumulation of radioactivity in the liver and spleen (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Interestingly, one nanotechnology-based radio-enhancing agent, NBTXR3, has been approved by the FDA in 2019 for the treatment of locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma. NBTXR3 is a spherical 50-nm size hafnium oxide nanoparticle which is functionalized with a negative surface charge. After its injection in the tumor, the tumor is irradiated with high-energy photons from external beams, which are absorbed by tissues leading to the generation of electrons that activate the hafnium oxide nanoparticles. These excited nanoparticles then emit high-energy electrons leading to the production of high levels of ROS which further causes double-stranded DNA damage, thereby enhancing the effect of radiotherapy (Anselmo & Mitragotri, 2019). Currently, NBTXR3 is undergoing nine clinical trials for different indications in cancer (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov). Apart from this, gadolinium-based AGuIX nanoparticles have recently entered in phase 1 clinical trial for evaluating the safety and tolerability of escalating doses of AGuIX-NP in combination with radiation and cisplatin in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer. There are two more clinical trials going on with AGuIX nanoparticles for the treatment of brain metastases (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Chemo- and radiation therapies are concurrently required for the treatment of several cancers; this combination therapy is termed as chemoradiotherapy. But this combination therapy causes a significant increase in toxicity. For instance, Shimmyo et al. have reported that the chemoradiotherapy bears a mortality risk of 5% which is higher than both the individual therapies in lung cancer (Minami-Shimmyo et al., 2012). Thus, there is a need for novel approaches to reduce the toxicity associated with chemoradiotherapy. In this context, radiotherapy with nanotechnology-based

chemotherapeutics has been explored in several clinical trials. The first reported clinical trial of this sort used liposomal doxorubicin (Caelyx) with radiotherapy for the treatment of NSCLC and head and neck cancer. The results indicated 40% complete response and 87% partial response for patients with stage IIIb of NSCLC (Koukourakis et al., 1999). There are around 271 clinical trials going on with Abraxane and radiotherapy in different indications of cancer (https://www.clinical-trials.gov).

Delivering Gene Therapy

Gene therapy is a novel treatment modality which has bloomed from the increasing knowledge of tumor cells and its surrounding microenvironment. It involves introduction of exogenous nucleic acids, such as genes, miRNAs, siRNAs, oligonucleotides, or gene segments to cancer cells or its microenvironment for silencing the oncogenes or restoring the expression of tumor suppressor genes or allowing synthesis of an exogenous protein. A detailed account on these mechanisms is beyond the scope of this chapter; however it has been very nicely outlined in a recent review (Roma-Rodrigues et al., 2020). There are two mechanisms of gene transfer into tumor cells, namely, ex vivo and in vivo. In the ex vivo approach, tumor cells from patients are collected, propagated, and genetically mutated which are then transferred back into the host. This approach however is not very suitable in the case of cancer because it requires proliferation of transfected cells, which is antagonistic to the main objective of cancer gene therapeutics that aims to inhibit the tumor progression by targeting the proliferative ability of cancer cells (Amer, 2014). The other approach is in vivo where therapeutic nucleic acids are introduced systematically or pre-systemically via oral, transdermal, ocular, or nasal delivery route depending on the type and location of tumor. But the problem with this approach is that nucleic acids are highly unstable in systemic circulation, sensitive to degradation by nucleases, and susceptible for phagocyte uptake and renal clearance (Chen et al., 2016). Thus, they require the use of vectors or carriers which can protect them from degradation and deliver them efficiently to the tumor. For this, initially, viral vectors were explored, but immunogenicity, poor selectivity, insertional mutagenesis, and poor delivery efficiency led to the search of other delivery systems (Roma-Rodrigues et al., 2020). Nanotechnology-based gene delivery systems have been found to increase the stability of genetic therapies as they protect these agents from degradation and also facilitate their endosomal escape which is a critical step for efficient nucleic acid therapeutics (Balazs & Godbey, 2011). The area of nano-based gene therapy in oncology is in its infancy, so presently no product is clinically available in the market, but in the last two decades, several products have entered in phase I/II clinical trials (Table 3.2). Adenovirus type 5 E1A gene has been found to have antitumor activity which is demonstrated through repression of HER-2/neu and induction of apoptosis. Preclinical studies in HER-2/neu-overexpressing breast and ovarian cancers in nude mice have shown that E1A gene therapy indeed caused regression of these tumors. Based on these results, cationic liposomal formulation of E1A gene has been assessed for feasibility in patients with both HER-2/neuoverexpressing and low HER-2/neu-expressing breast and ovarian cancers in a phase I clinical trial. The results indicated that the therapy was well tolerated and most importantly the expression of E1A gene was observed in tumor cells suggesting successful gene therapy (Hortobagyi et al., 2001). Another phase I clinical trial has been conducted with liposomal nanodelivery complex (scL) consisting of antitransferrin receptor (TfR), scFv, as the targeting molecule for the delivery of p53 tumor suppressor gene (SGT-53) in advanced solid tumors. It was observed that treatment showed minimal side effects with only one patient experiencing serious side effects of chest pain and tachycardia. Further, in the context of treatment response, it was found that the majority of patients demonstrated stable disease (Senzer et al., 2013). In another phase I trial, Atu027, which is a liposomal formulation containing siRNA that silences the expression of protein kinase N3 in vascular endothelium, was evaluated for safety in advanced solid tumors. The formulation was well tolerated with only low-grade toxicities and led to stabilization of disease in 41% of the patients after at least 8 weeks (Schultheis et al., 2014).

Nano-enabled Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy offers immense scope in transforming oncology by a number of approaches involving immune checkpoint blockade and cellular therapies. As of now, the observed effect of immunotherapy has been moderate for a subset of cancer like melanoma and microsatellite-unstable cancers with approximately 35% objective response rate, but response rate for most of the cancer is generally low. In order to enhance the impact of immunotherapy in oncology, a greater understanding of the tumor-host immune system is required. Further, there are several challenges which impede this therapy, for instance, dosing can be limited due to lack of specificity which elicits auto-immune-type pathologies. Also, it is a challenge to break the local immune tolerance in tumors without breaking the systemic immune tolerance. Recent advancements in the field of nanotechnology bestow opportunities to significantly improve the arena of cancer immunotherapy by providing with the system that can enable the release of payloads (immunostimulatory or immunomodulatory molecules) on particular cell types and at a specific anatomical location (Goldberg, 2019). Apart from this, several new nano-immuno-based approaches are being investigated for oncology like nanoparticle vaccines, nanoparticle-based capturing of tumor antigens following radiotherapy to develop personalized treatments, and employing nanotechnology to create immune depots in or near tumors for in situ vaccination. Not only this, nano-enabled devices are also being harnessed for molecular and functional analysis of single cells to investigate both tumor and immune cells in order to elucidate biomarkers and understand immune responses to therapy. However, all these are in a nascent stage of development and will gradually advance as our understanding of cancer immunotherapy will evolve (https://www. cancer.gov/nano/cancer-nanotechnology/treatment#immunotherapy). As of now there are only a few nano-based immunotherapies which have entered in clinical

trials for cancer. One of them is CYT-6091 (Aurimune) which is a colloidal goldbound tumor necrosis factor (TNF α). TNF α is a potent anti-cancer molecule which causes apoptosis, cell lysis, and induction of pro-inflammatory pathways. But its exogenous administration causes severe side effects like hypotension, septic shock, etc. which are bottleneck in its clinical translation. This led to the search for a delivery system which could reduce the toxicity, and eventually nanotechnology was sought for; gold-bound TNF α NPs were developed which were able to improve the killing of tumors and at the same time reduced the toxicity in preclinical models. But the problem with this system was that it was rapidly cleared by macrophages in the RES. So, a new formulation was developed which used PEGylation to reduce the detection by RES where thiol-derivatized PEG was conjugated with recombinant TNF α on the gold NP surface. These nanoparticles were tested in several different preclinical studies, and it was observed that they improved the biodistribution and showed significant antitumor effects. The promising preclinical results subsequently led to its first clinical trial in advanced or metastatic solid tumor malignancies to evaluate the safety profile, where it was found that CYT-6091 is safe for use in humans. Cytimmune, the manufacturer of Aurimune is planning for phase II trials to further establish the clinical efficacy (Min et al., 2015). In another phase I clinical trial, a mutanome-engineered RNA immunotherapy (MERIT) is being investigated with liposomal IVAC_W_bre1_uID and IVAC_M_uID in triplenegative breast cancer as a novel concept of individualized cancer (IVAC) immunotherapy. The TNBC-MERIT trial uses two complementary strategies, the IVAC® WAREHOUSE (IVAC W bre1 uID) which targets shared tumor-associated antigens and the IVAC® MUTANOME (IVAC_M_uID) concept, which identifies tumor-specific mutations in single patient and targets multiple neo-antigens derived from mutated epitopes, thus resulting in two custom-made IVAC® investigational medicinal products (IMPs) (IVAC_W_bre1_uID and IVAC_M_uID) for individual patients (https://www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Challenges in Clinical Translation

The field of nanotechnology has progressed significantly in the past few decades with extensive research being undertaken which has resulted in reporting new nanoformulations and their novel applications on an almost daily basis. Thus, the academic progress has been overwhelming, but the clinical translation and industrial acceptance of nanomedicine have been quite grim. In this section we will discuss the challenges in the clinical developmental path of nanomedicine starting from issues related to product development followed by preclinical and clinical aspects. A careful consideration of end-point users and market requirements in the early phase of development may contribute to promote success of nanomedicine in clinics (Metselaar & Lammers, 2020; Singh et al., 2020).

Product Development

The chemistry (structural and physicochemical) of nanomedicine is far more complex in comparison to conventional formulations like capsules, pills, tablets, and injections which pose several challenges in their large-scale manufacturing like batch-to-batch variability, scalability problems, poor quality control, high cost of manufacturing, poor consistency and storage stability of the final product, and degradation of the encapsulated active pharmaceutical agent during manufacturing process. Further, the task becomes even more difficult with multi-functional nanoparticles, which have multiple targeting moieties, encapsulate more than one therapeutic agent, or have surface modifications with coating. This integration of multiple components in one nanocarrier increases steps in the production process which consequently leads to problems in large-scale good manufacturing (cGMP) production with added difficulty in evaluation of quality assurance and quality control (Hua et al., 2018). As per FDA guidelines, chemistry, manufacturing, and controls (CMC) information is mandatory for investigational new drugs (IND) in each phase of trials in order to ensure the identity, purity, potency, and quality of drug and its product (https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information). Thus, it is essential that the manufactured nanomedicine is well characterized and is reproducible, so that it does not face rejections in initiation for clinical translation.

Bridging Gap Between Preclinical Efficacy and Clinical Outcome

The next major challenge is the translation of preclinical efficacy to clinical success. There are several examples of nanoformulations which have shown very promising results in animals but failed miserably when tested in patients. This may be because the efficacy of nanomedicines is essentially dependent on pharmacokinetics, tissue distribution, accumulation, penetration, and payload release at target site which are critically influenced by tumor vasculature, stroma, and macrophage infiltration at target site. And these tissue morphology aspects vary dramatically in animal model versus human patients, as well as among different patients (Metselaar & Lammers, 2020). Attempts should be made to use suitable animal models which are reflective of human disease. As compared to orthotopic sites, subcutaneous models are less reliable due to abnormal stromal and vascular biology. Further, the effect on immunological parameters should also be assessed during preclinical testing which would help in predicting the toxicity profile of nanomedicine. In addition to this, phase 0 studies should be done which would give information regarding pharmacokinetic profile and tumor localization potential of nanoformulations in humans. The advantage of this trial is that it is cheaper than phase I clinical trials and provides quicker feedback on clinical feasibility of the investigated nanomedicine (Gharpure et al.,

2015). But still we need better tools and technologies to bridge the gap between preclinical efficacy and clinical outcome.

Advancing Novel Preclinical Models to Predict EPR

Targeting ability is one of the major advantages of employing nanoparticles which helps in increasing the efficacy and at the same time reducing off-target effects (Attia et al., 2019). As most of the nanoparticles rely on the EPR effect for selective accumulation in tumors, it becomes imperative to develop techniques which could accurately predict EPR effects for assessing the accuracy of delivery (Gharpure et al., 2015). For this, we need to put efforts in understanding the inter- and intra-individual heterogeneity of the EPR effect along with establishing tools to image EPR-based targeting. In this context Theek et al. used contrast-enhanced functional ultrasound imaging to characterize EPR-mediated passive drug targeting of near-infrared fluorophore-labeled polymeric drug carrier (pHPMA-Dy750) in CT26 tumor-bearing mice and found that a higher number of nanoparticles accumulated in highly vascularized tumors. This study provided the concept of using simple ultrasound imaging of vasculature to predict EPR effects, which can be utilized in other preclinical and clinical models (Theek et al., 2014).

Toxicological Studies

Another major challenge in clinical translation of nanomedicine is addressing the gap between preclinical toxicological studies and safety in patients. Apart from the inherent toxicity profile of encapsulated payload (drug or diagnostic agent), nanomedicines can cause toxicity at three different levels. Firstly, the biodistribution profile of drugs significantly changes when delivered through nanoparticles, thus resulting in the uptake and release of drug at off-target sites, may result in local overexposure and toxicity. It is widely known that nanoparticles have high propensity for accumulation in lymphoid organs and kidney. Secondly, unexpected toxicity may occur from the use of components which are not yet declared safe in humans. Though safety profile of commonly used phospholipids and polymers in nanomedicine has been studied, the use of different synthetic components for surface functionalization, coatings, and deployment of targeting ligands in multi-functional nanomedicine can have a significant impact on toxicological profile of nanomedicines following in vivo administration. The toxicity issues at these two levels can be addressed by employing early preclinical pharmacokinetic and biodistribution studies. Further, off-target toxicity can be assessed by extensive histopathological study and using clinical chemistry protocols, taking void nanocarriers in different doses as key controls (Metselaar & Lammers, 2020; Hua et al., 2018). The third level where nanomedicine may show safety issues is at the immunological level which are difficult to predict using small laboratory animals. Certain specific nanoparticle– blood interactions have been reported to elicit complement cascade activation which play a major role in immunological side effects. Thus, to address this issue, cell interaction and complement binding assays can be performed in vitro. Further, for preclinical toxicological studies, lager animals like pigs can be used (Szebeni et al., 2018).

Optimizing the Administration Route

The route of administration used during preclinical studies to evaluate the efficacy of nanomedicine should be the same as that expected to be administered in patients (Gharpure et al., 2015). This would help in reducing the response rate and therapeutic efficacy variability in preclinical and clinical studies to some extent. In certain preclinical studies, intratumoral injections are given to prove the efficacy of nanomedicine (Al-Ghananeem et al., 2009; Chattopadhyay et al., 2012); however, it is not always possible to give intratumoral injections in patients like in the case of metastatic disease. In these circumstances the same effects would not be obtained when it would be given by another route as the nanomedicine will have to incur several biological barriers before reaching the tumor. Thus, it is important to optimize the route of administration during preclinical studies.

A Look into the Future of Nano-oncology

Nanotechnology has already established its potential in oncology with several formulations already in the market for both diagnosis and therapeutics. But it still holds immense potential in revolutionizing the field by providing means of integrating novel technologies to further aid in diagnosis and therapy. The relatively new additions in the field of nano-oncology are photoacoustic tomography (PAT), theranostic nanomedicine, nano-based cancer stem cell therapies, and personalized medicine. PAT is an upcoming imaging modality which is based on acoustic detention of optical absorption from either internal chromophore like deoxy-hemoglobin and oxy-hemoglobin or external contrast agents like nanoparticles to generate images of high resolution in both the optical ballistic and diffusive regimes (Xia et al., 2014). The amalgamation of PAT with nanoparticles probes holds a huge potential in increasing the sensitivity as well as accuracy of detention of cancer in early stages (Conde et al., 2012). The other new technology in nanomedicine is theranostic which is the combination of diagnosis and therapy. Nanotechnology by virtue of its ability to carry multiple components in one nano-cargo holds the ability to deliver both the therapeutic and diagnostic agents simultaneously which would help in monitoring real-time therapeutic response, studying off-target effects, and developing personalized medicine (Lymperopoulos et al., 2017). Another very recent advancement in the field of nano-oncology is the development of nano-based cancer stem cell therapies. Cancer stem cells are notorious cells in tumor mass which are responsible for chemoresistance, metastasis, and relapse that are the major hurdles in achieving complete cancer cure. Till today there is no therapy in the market which could target and kill these cells, but nanotechnology provides hope for specific targeting of CSCs. Nanoparticles can be engineered in such a way that they themselves can differentiate CSCs into non-CSC phenotype, which would then be more susceptible to available chemotherapeutics (Geng et al., 2020). Not only this, nanotechnology holds the potential of developing personalized medicine which could assess response or risk of disease in individual patients. It opens new avenues to design tools which can obtain and integrate biological information from biomarkers, cancer cells, and tumor environments from individual patients to design materials which can respond according to the received information (PMID: 30563441). The success of these new nano-fields can bring paradigm shift in clinical oncology.

References

- Acharya, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2011). PLGA nanoparticles containing various anticancer agents and tumour delivery by EPR effect. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 63(3), 170–183. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2010.10.008.
- Akbarzadeh, A., Rezaei-Sadabady, R., Davaran, S., Joo, S. W., Zarghami, N., Hanifehpour, Y., et al. (2013). Liposome: Classification, preparation, and applications. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 8(1), 102. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276x-8-102.
- Al-Ghananeem, A. M., Malkawi, A. H., Muammer, Y. M., Balko, J. M., Black, E. P., Mourad, W., et al. (2009). Intratumoral delivery of paclitaxel in solid tumor from biodegradable hyaluronan nanoparticle formulations. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 10(2), 410–417. https://doi.org/10.1208/ s12249-009-9222-5.
- Alphandéry, E., Grand-Dewyse, P., Lefèvre, R., Mandawala, C., & Durand-Dubief, M. (2015). Cancer therapy using nanoformulated substances: Scientific, regulatory and financial aspects. *Expert Review of Anticancer Therapy*, 15(10), 1233–1255. https://doi.org/10.1586/1473714 0.2015.1086647
- Alven, S., Nqoro, X., Buyana, B., & Aderibigbe, B. A. (2020). Polymer-drug conjugate, a potential therapeutic to combat breast and lung cancer. *Pharmaceutics*, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics12050406.
- Amer, M. H. (2014). Gene therapy for cancer: Present status and future perspective. *Molecular and Cellular Therapies*, 2, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/2052-8426-2-27.
- Anselmo, A. C., & Mitragotri, S. (2019). Nanoparticles in the clinic: An update. *Bioengineering & Translational Medicine*, 4(3), e10143. https://doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10143
- Attia, M. F., Anton, N., Wallyn, J., Omran, Z., & Vandamme, T. F. (2019). An overview of active and passive targeting strategies to improve the nanocarriers efficiency to tumour sites. *The Journal* of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 71(8), 1185–1198. https://doi.org/10.1111/jphp.13098
- Baker, W. J., Royer, G. L., Jr., & Weiss, R. B. (1991). Cytarabine and neurologic toxicity. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 9(4), 679–693. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.1991.9.4.679.
- Balazs, D. A., & Godbey, W. (2011). Liposomes for use in gene delivery. *Journal of Drug Delivery*, 326497. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/326497

- Bamrungsap, S., Zhao, Z., Chen, T., Wang, L., Li, C., Fu, T., et al. (2012). Nanotechnology in therapeutics: A focus on nanoparticles as a drug delivery system. *Nanomedicine (London, England)*, 7(8), 1253–1271. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.12.87
- Bazak, R., Houri, M., El Achy, S., Kamel, S., & Refaat, T. (2015). Cancer active targeting by nanoparticles: A comprehensive review of literature. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 141(5), 769–784. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-014-1767-3.
- Bolhassani, A., Javanzad, S., Saleh, T., Hashemi, M., Aghasadeghi, M. R., & Sadat, S. M. (2014). Polymeric nanoparticles: Potent vectors for vaccine delivery targeting cancer and infectious diseases. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, 10(2), 321–332. https://doi.org/10.4161/ hv.26796.
- Bozzuto, G., & Molinari, A. (2015). Liposomes as nanomedical devices. International Journal of Nanomedicine, 10, 975–999. https://doi.org/10.2147/ijn.s68861.
- Chamberlain, M. C., Khatibi, S., Kim, J. C., Howell, S. B., Chatelut, E., & Kim, S. (1993). Treatment of leptomeningeal metastasis with intraventricular administration of depot cytarabine (DTC 101). A phase I study. *Archives of Neurology*, 50(3), 261–264. https://doi. org/10.1001/archneur.1993.00540030027009.
- Chattopadhyay, N., Fonge, H., Cai, Z., Scollard, D., Lechtman, E., Done, S. J., et al. (2012). Role of antibody-mediated tumor targeting and route of administration in nanoparticle tumor accumulation in vivo. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 9(8), 2168–2179. https://doi.org/10.1021/ mp300016p
- Chauhan, A. S. (2018). Dendrimers for drug delivery. *Molecules*, 23(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules23040938.
- Chen, J., Guo, Z., Tian, H., & Chen, X. (2016). Production and clinical development of nanoparticles for gene delivery. *Molecular Therapy. Methods & Clinical Development*, 3, 16023. https:// doi.org/10.1038/mtm.2016.23.
- Chidambaram, M., Manavalan, R., & Kathiresan, K. (2011). Nanotherapeutics to overcome conventional cancer chemotherapy limitations. *Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 14(1), 67–77. https://doi.org/10.18433/j30c7d.
- Cho, K., Wang, X., Nie, S., Chen, Z. G., & Shin, D. M. (2008). Therapeutic nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14(5), 1310–1316. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-1441
- Conde, J., Doria, G., & Baptista, P. (2012). Noble metal nanoparticles applications in cancer. Journal of Drug Delivery, 751075. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/751075
- Crosby, D., Lyons, N., Greenwood, E., Harrison, S., Hiom, S., Moffat, J., et al. (2020). A roadmap for the early detection and diagnosis of cancer. *The Lancet Oncology*, 21(11), 1397–1399. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(20)30593-3
- Daraee, H., Eatemadi, A., Abbasi, E., Fekri Aval, S., Kouhi, M., & Akbarzadeh, A. (2016). Application of gold nanoparticles in biomedical and drug delivery. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology*, 44(1), 410–422. https://doi.org/10.3109/21691401.2014.955107.
- Di Lorenzo, G., Ricci, G., Severini, G. M., Romano, F., & Biffi, S. (2018). Imaging and therapy of ovarian cancer: Clinical application of nanoparticles and future perspectives. *Theranostics*, 8(16), 4279–4294. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.26345
- Dilnawaz, F., & Sahoo, S. K. (2015). Therapeutic approaches of magnetic nanoparticles for the central nervous system. *Drug Discovery Today*, 20(10), 1256–1264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. drudis.2015.06.008
- Dinndorf, P. A., Gootenberg, J., Cohen, M. H., Keegan, P., & Pazdur, R. (2007). FDA drug approval summary: Pegaspargase (oncaspar) for the first-line treatment of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *The Oncologist*, 12(8), 991–998. https://doi.org/10.1634/ theoncologist.12-8-991.
- Doughty, A. C. V., Hoover, A. R., Layton, E., Murray, C. K., Howard, E. W., & Chen, W. R. (2019). Nanomaterial applications in photothermal therapy for cancer. *Materials (Basel)*, 12(5). https:// doi.org/10.3390/ma12050779.

- Fernandes, N., Rodrigues, C. F., Moreira, A. F., & Correia, I. J. (2020). Overview of the application of inorganic nanomaterials in cancer photothermal therapy. *Biomaterials Science*, 8(11), 2990–3020. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0bm00222d
- Ferrari, M. (2005). Cancer nanotechnology: Opportunities and challenges. Nature Reviews. Cancer, 5(3), 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1566.
- Fortuin, A. S., Brüggemann, R., van der Linden, J., Panfilov, I., Israël, B., Scheenen, T. W. J., et al. (2018). Ultra-small superparamagnetic iron oxides for metastatic lymph node detection: Back on the block. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/wnan.1471
- Geng, Y., Amante, J. J., Goel, H. L., Zhang, X., Walker, M. R., Luther, D. C., et al. (2020). Differentiation of cancer stem cells through nanoparticle surface engineering. ACS Nano, 14(11), 15276–15285. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.0c05589.
- Gharpure, K. M., Wu, S. Y., Li, C., Lopez-Berestein, G., & Sood, A. K. (2015). Nanotechnology: Future of oncotherapy. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(14), 3121–3130. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-14-1189
- Gill, P. S., Espina, B. M., Muggia, F., Cabriales, S., Tulpule, A., Esplin, J. A., et al. (1995). Phase I/II clinical and pharmacokinetic evaluation of liposomal daunorubicin. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 13(4), 996–1003. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.1995.13.4.996.
- Gill, P. S., Wernz, J., Scadden, D. T., Cohen, P., Mukwaya, G. M., von Roenn, J. H., et al. (1996). Randomized phase III trial of liposomal daunorubicin versus doxorubicin, bleomycin, and vincristine in AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 14(8), 2353–2364. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.1996.14.8.2353
- Glantz, M. J., LaFollette, S., Jaeckle, K. A., Shapiro, W., Swinnen, L., Rozental, J. R., et al. (1999). Randomized trial of a slow-release versus a standard formulation of cytarabine for the intrathecal treatment of lymphomatous meningitis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17(10), 3110–3116. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.1999.17.10.3110
- Goldberg, M. S. (2019). Improving cancer immunotherapy through nanotechnology. Nature Reviews. Cancer, 19(10), 587–602. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-019-0186-9.
- Greish, K. (2010). Enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect for anticancer nanomedicine drug targeting. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 624, 25–37. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-60761-609-2_3.
- Hainfeld, J. F., Slatkin, D. N., & Smilowitz, H. M. (2004). The use of gold nanoparticles to enhance radiotherapy in mice. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, 49(18), N309–N315. https:// doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/49/18/n03.
- Hamblin, M. R., Chiang, L. Y., Lakshmanan, S., Huang, Y. Y., Garcia-Diaz, M., Karimi, M., et al. (2015). Nanotechnology for photodynamic therapy: A perspective from the Laboratory of Dr. Michael R. Hamblin in the Wellman Center for Photomedicine at Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School. *Nanotechnology Reviews*, 4(4), 359–372. https://doi. org/10.1515/ntrev-2015-0027
- Hamoudeh, M., Kamleh, M. A., Diab, R., & Fessi, H. (2008). Radionuclides delivery systems for nuclear imaging and radiotherapy of cancer. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 60(12), 1329–1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2008.04.013
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*, 100(1), 57–70. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81683-9.
- Haun, J. B., Castro, C. M., Wang, R., Peterson, V. M., Marinelli, B. S., Lee, H., et al. (2011). Micro-NMR for rapid molecular analysis of human tumor samples. *Science Translational Medicine*, 3(71), 71ra16. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3002048
- Hong, S., Choi, D. W., Kim, H. N., Park, C. G., Lee, W., & Park, H. H. (2020). Protein-based nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. *Pharmaceutics*, 12(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics12070604.
- Hortobagyi, G. N., Ueno, N. T., Xia, W., Zhang, S., Wolf, J. K., Putnam, J. B., et al. (2001). Cationic liposome-mediated E1A gene transfer to human breast and ovarian cancer cells and

its biologic effects: A phase I clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 19(14), 3422–3433. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2001.19.14.3422

https://adisinsight.springer.com.

https://www.accessdata.fda.gov.

https://www.cancer.gov/nano/cancer-nanotechnology/detection-diagnosis#in-vitro.

https://www.cancer.gov/nano/cancer-nanotechnology/treatment#immunotherapy.

https://www.clinicaltrials.gov.

https://www.ddfevent.com.

https://www.ema.europa.eu.

https://www.fda.gov/drugs.

https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information.

https://www.modernatx.com.

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer.

Hua, S., de Matos, M. B. C., Metselaar, J. M., & Storm, G. (2018). Current trends and challenges in the clinical translation of nanoparticulate nanomedicines: Pathways for translational development and commercialization. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9, 790. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2018.00790.

Kaposi's sarcoma: DaunoXome approved. (1996). AIDS Treat News, (no. 246), 3-4.

- Koukourakis, M. I., Koukouraki, S., Giatromanolaki, A., Archimandritis, S. C., Skarlatos, J., Beroukas, K., et al. (1999). Liposomal doxorubicin and conventionally fractionated radiotherapy in the treatment of locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer and head and neck cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17(11), 3512–3521. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.1999.17.11.3512
- Kowalski, P. S., Rudra, A., Miao, L., & Anderson, D. G. (2019). Delivering the messenger: Advances in technologies for therapeutic mRNA delivery. *Molecular Therapy*, 27(4), 710–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.02.012.
- Lu, Y., Yue, Z., Xie, J., Wang, W., Zhu, H., Zhang, E., et al. (2018). Micelles with ultralow critical micelle concentration as carriers for drug delivery. *Nature Biomedical Engineering*, 2(5), 318–325. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-018-0234-x.
- Lymperopoulos, G., Lymperopoulos, P., Alikari, V., Dafogianni, C., Zyga, S., & Margari, N. (2017). Application of theranostics in oncology. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 989, 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57348-9_10.
- Maeda, H., Nakamura, H., & Fang, J. (2013). The EPR effect for macromolecular drug delivery to solid tumors: Improvement of tumor uptake, lowering of systemic toxicity, and distinct tumor imaging in vivo. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 65(1), 71–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2012.10.002.
- Martinelli, C., Pucci, C., & Ciofani, G. (2019). Nanostructured carriers as innovative tools for cancer diagnosis and therapy. APL Bioengineering, 3(1), 011502. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5079943
- Martinkova, P., Brtnicky, M., Kynicky, J., & Pohanka, M. (2018). Iron oxide nanoparticles: Innovative tool in cancer diagnosis and therapy. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, 7(5). https:// doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201700932
- Metselaar, J. M., & Lammers, T. (2020). Challenges in nanomedicine clinical translation. Drug Delivery and Translational Research, 10(3), 721–725. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13346-020-00740-5.
- Mfouo Tynga, I., & Abrahamse, H. (2018). Nano-mediated photodynamic therapy for cancer: Enhancement of cancer specificity and therapeutic effects. *Nanomaterials (Basel)*, 8(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/nano8110923.
- Mi, Y., Shao, Z., Vang, J., Kaidar-Person, O., & Wang, A. Z. (2016). Application of nanotechnology to cancer radiotherapy. *Cancer Nanotechnology*, 7(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12645-016-0024-7.
- Min, Y., Caster, J. M., Eblan, M. J., & Wang, A. Z. (2015). Clinical translation of nanomedicine. *Chemical Reviews*, 115(19), 11147–11190. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00116.
- Minami-Shimmyo, Y., Ohe, Y., Yamamoto, S., Sumi, M., Nokihara, H., Horinouchi, H., et al. (2012). Risk factors for treatment-related death associated with chemotherapy and thoracic

radiotherapy for lung cancer. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*, 7(1), 177–182. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTO.0b013e31823c4c07.

- Misra, R., Acharya, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2010). Cancer nanotechnology: Application of nanotechnology in cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today*, 15(19–20), 842–850. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.drudis.2010.08.006.
- Mohapatra, P., Singh, P., & Sahoo, S. K. (2020). Phytonanomedicine: A novel avenue to treat recurrent cancer by targeting cancer stem cells. *Drug Discovery Today*, 25(8), 1307–1321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2020.06.003
- Montaseri, H., Kruger, C. A., & Abrahamse, H. (2020). Recent advances in porphyrin-based inorganic nanoparticles for cancer treatment. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21093358.
- Mu, Q., & Yan, B. (2018). Editorial: Nanoparticles in cancer therapy-novel concepts, mechanisms, and applications. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9, 1552. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2018.01552.
- Nam, J. M., Thaxton, C. S., & Mirkin, C. A. (2003). Nanoparticle-based bio-bar codes for the ultrasensitive detection of proteins. *Science*, 301(5641), 1884–1886. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1088755
- Northfelt, D. W., Martin, F. J., Working, P., Volberding, P. A., Russell, J., Newman, M., et al. (1996). Doxorubicin encapsulated in liposomes containing surface-bound polyethylene glycol: Pharmacokinetics, tumor localization, and safety in patients with AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 36(1), 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1552-4604.1996.tb04152.x
- Obaid, G., Broekgaarden, M., Bulin, A. L., Huang, H. C., Kuriakose, J., Liu, J., et al. (2016). Photonanomedicine: A convergence of photodynamic therapy and nanotechnology. *Nanoscale*, 8(25), 12471–12503. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5nr08691d.
- Oerlemans, C., Bult, W., Bos, M., Storm, G., Nijsen, J. F., & Hennink, W. E. (2010). Polymeric micelles in anticancer therapy: Targeting, imaging and triggered release. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 27(12), 2569–2589. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-010-0233-4
- Okusaka, T., Okada, S., Ishii, H., Ikeda, M., Nakasuka, H., Nagahama, H., et al. (1998). Transarterial chemotherapy with zinostatin stimalamer for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncology*, 55(4), 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1159/000011863.
- Okusaka, T., Kasugai, H., Ishii, H., Kudo, M., Sata, M., Tanaka, K., et al. (2012). A randomized phase II trial of intra-arterial chemotherapy using SM-11355 (Miriplatin) for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Investigational New Drugs*, 30(5), 2015–2025. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10637-011-9776-4.
- Palmerston Mendes, L., Pan, J., & Torchilin, V. P. (2017). Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy. *Molecules*, 22(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules22091401.
- Parhi, P., Mohanty, C., & Sahoo, S. K. (2012). Nanotechnology-based combinational drug delivery: An emerging approach for cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today*, 17(17–18), 1044–1052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2012.05.010
- Parveen, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2006). Nanomedicine: Clinical applications of polyethylene glycol conjugated proteins and drugs. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 45(10), 965–988. https://doi. org/10.2165/00003088-200645100-00002.
- Parveen, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2008). Polymeric nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 16(2), 108–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/10611860701794353.
- Parveen, S., Misra, R., & Sahoo, S. K. (2012). Nanoparticles: A boon to drug delivery, therapeutics, diagnostics and imaging. *Nanomedicine*, 8(2), 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nano.2011.05.016.
- Pinto, A., & Pocard, M. (2018). Photodynamic therapy and photothermal therapy for the treatment of peritoneal metastasis: A systematic review. *Pleura and Peritoneum*, 3(4), 20180124. https:// doi.org/10.1515/pp-2018-0124

- Pottier, A., Borghi, E., & Levy, L. (2014). New use of metals as nanosized radioenhancers. *Anticancer Research*, 34(1), 443–453.
- Prabhakar, U., Maeda, H., Jain, R. K., Sevick-Muraca, E. M., Zamboni, W., Farokhzad, O. C., et al. (2013). Challenges and key considerations of the enhanced permeability and retention effect for nanomedicine drug delivery in oncology. *Cancer Research*, 73(8), 2412–2417. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.can-12-4561
- Rai, R., Alwani, S., & Badea, I. (2019). Polymeric nanoparticles in gene therapy: New avenues of design and optimization for delivery applications. *Polymers (Basel)*, 11(4). https://doi. org/10.3390/polym11040745.
- Reggio, C., Pagni, E., Raffa, V., & Cuschieri, A. (2011). Nano-oncology: Clinical application for cancer therapy and future perspectives. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 10. https://doi. org/10.1155/2011/164506
- Rivankar, S. (2014). An overview of doxorubicin formulations in cancer therapy. *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics*, 10(4), 853–858. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-1482.139267.
- Roma-Rodrigues, C., Rivas-García, L., Baptista, P. V., & Fernandes, A. R. (2020). Gene therapy in cancer treatment: Why go nano? *Pharmaceutics*, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics12030233.
- Sahoo, S. K., & Labhasetwar, V. (2003). Nanotech approaches to drug delivery and imaging. Drug Discovery Today, 8(24), 1112–1120. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1359-6446(03)02903-9
- Sahoo, S. K., Parveen, S., & Panda, J. J. (2007). The present and future of nanotechnology in human health care. *Nanomedicine*, 3(1), 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2006.11.008.
- Salvioni, L., Rizzuto, M. A., Bertolini, J. A., Pandolfi, L., Colombo, M., & Prosperi, D. (2019). Thirty years of cancer nanomedicine: Success, frustration, and Hope. *Cancers (Basel)*, 11(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11121855.
- Schultheis, B., Strumberg, D., Santel, A., Vank, C., Gebhardt, F., Keil, O., et al. (2014). Firstin-human phase I study of the liposomal RNA interference therapeutic Atu027 in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 32(36), 4141–4148. https://doi. org/10.1200/jco.2013.55.0376
- Senzer, N., Nemunaitis, J., Nemunaitis, D., Bedell, C., Edelman, G., Barve, M., et al. (2013). Phase I study of a systemically delivered p53 nanoparticle in advanced solid tumors. *Molecular Therapy*, 21(5), 1096–1103. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2013.32.
- Setten, R. L., Lightfoot, H. L., Habib, N. A., & Rossi, J. J. (2018). Development of MTL-CEBPA: Small activating RNA drug for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*, 19(8), 611–621. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389201019666180611093428.
- Seyfried, T. N., & Huysentruyt, L. C. (2013). On the origin of cancer metastasis. *Critical Reviews* in Oncogenesis, 18(1–2), 43–73. https://doi.org/10.1615/critrevoncog.v18.i1-2.40.
- Shi, J., Kantoff, P. W., Wooster, R., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2017). Cancer nanomedicine: Progress, challenges and opportunities. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 17(1), 20–37. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc.2016.108.
- Singh, A., & Sahoo, S. K. (2014). Magnetic nanoparticles: A novel platform for cancer theranostics. *Drug Discovery Today*, 19(4), 474–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2013.10.005.
- Singh, D., Minz, A. P., & Sahoo, S. K. (2017). Nanomedicine-mediated drug targeting of cancer stem cells. *Drug Discovery Today*, 22(6), 952–959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2017.04.005.
- Singh, P., Pandit, S., Mokkapati, V., Garg, A., Ravikumar, V., & Mijakovic, I. (2018). Gold nanoparticles in diagnostics and therapeutics for human cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071979.
- Singh, D., Dilnawaz, F., & Sahoo, S. K. (2020). Challenges of moving theranostic nanomedicine into the clinic. *Nanomedicine (London, England)*, 15(2), 111–114. https://doi.org/10.2217/ nnm-2019-0401
- Smith, B. R., & Gambhir, S. S. (2017). Nanomaterials for in vivo imaging. *Chemical Reviews*, 117(3), 901–986. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00073.
- Stern, J. M., Kibanov Solomonov, V. V., Sazykina, E., Schwartz, J. A., Gad, S. C., & Goodrich, G. P. (2016). Initial evaluation of the safety of Nanoshell-directed Photothermal therapy in the
treatment of prostate disease. International Journal of Toxicology, 35(1), 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1091581815600170

- Szebeni, J., Simberg, D., González-Fernández, Á., Barenholz, Y., & Dobrovolskaia, M. A. (2018). Roadmap and strategy for overcoming infusion reactions to nanomedicines. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 13(12), 1100–1108. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-018-0273-1
- Thakor, A. S., & Gambhir, S. S. (2013). Nanooncology: The future of cancer diagnosis and therapy. CA: a Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 63(6), 395–418. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21199.
- Theek, B., Gremse, F., Kunjachan, S., Fokong, S., Pola, R., Pechar, M., et al. (2014). Characterizing EPR-mediated passive drug targeting using contrast-enhanced functional ultrasound imaging. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 182, 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.03.007.
- Tran, S., DeGiovanni, P. J., Piel, B., & Rai, P. (2017). Cancer nanomedicine: A review of recent success in drug delivery. *Clinical and Translational Medicine*, 6(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40169-017-0175-0.
- Ventola, C. L. (2012). The nanomedicine revolution: Part 1: Emerging concepts. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 37(9), 512–525.
- Verma, D., Gulati, N., Kaul, S., Mukherjee, S., & Nagaich, U. (2018). Protein based nanostructures for drug delivery. *Journal of Pharmaceutics (Cairo)*, 9285854. https://doi. org/10.1155/2018/9285854
- Wang, X., Yang, L., Chen, Z. G., & Shin, D. M. (2008). Application of nanotechnology in cancer therapy and imaging. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 58(2), 97–110. https://doi. org/10.3322/ca.2007.0003.
- Weissig, V., Pettinger, T. K., & Murdock, N. (2014). Nanopharmaceuticals (part 1): Products on the market. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9, 4357–4373. https://doi.org/10.2147/ ijn.s46900
- Werner, M. E., Cummings, N. D., Sethi, M., Wang, E. C., Sukumar, R., Moore, D. T., et al. (2013). Preclinical evaluation of Genexol-PM, a nanoparticle formulation of paclitaxel, as a novel radiosensitizer for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics, 86*(3), 463–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.02.009.
- Xia, J., Yao, J., & Wang, L. V. (2014). Photoacoustic tomography: Principles and advances. *Electromagn Waves (Camb)*, 147, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.2528/pier14032303.
- Young, C., Schluep, T., Hwang, J., & Eliasof, S. (2011). CRLX101 (formerly IT-101)-A Novel Nanopharmaceutical of Camptothecin in clinical development. *Current Bioactive Compounds*, 7(1), 8–14. https://doi.org/10.2174/157340711795163866.
- Yousefpour Marzbali, M., & Yari Khosroushahi, A. (2017). Polymeric micelles as mighty nanocarriers for cancer gene therapy: A review. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 79(4), 637–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-017-3273-1.
- Zhang, L., Chen, H., Wang, L., Liu, T., Yeh, J., Lu, G., et al. (2010). Delivery of therapeutic radioisotopes using nanoparticle platforms: Potential benefit in systemic radiation therapy. *Nanotechnology, Science and Applications*, 3, 159–170. https://doi.org/10.2147/nsa.s7462.
- Zhang, Y., Li, M., Gao, X., Chen, Y., & Liu, T. (2019). Nanotechnology in cancer diagnosis: Progress, challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, 12(1), 137. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-019-0833-3.
- Zhao, J., Zhou, M., & Li, C. (2016). Synthetic nanoparticles for delivery of radioisotopes and radiosensitizers in cancer therapy. *Cancer Nanotechnology*, 7(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12645-016-0022-9.

Chapter 4 Cancer-Targeted Nanotheranostics: Recent Advances and Future Perspectives



Hector Katifelis and Maria Gazouli

Introduction

Cancer represents a leading cause of morbidity and mortality at a global scale. Based on the WHO statistics, cancer is the cause of 9.6 million deaths in 2018, while approximately 17% of deaths is due to malignancies (World Health Organization, 2018). Even worse, new cases are expected to rise to 22 million by 2040 (Kohler et al., 2015). Thus, the need for the development of new methods for the efficient and personalized cancer management is of high priority.

During the past years, several potential applications of nanoparticles in the field of medicine have been studied thoroughly in critical areas that involve targeted drug delivery and medical imaging.

One of the most promising approaches is the combination of therapy and diagnosis (mostly refers to medical imaging) in a single platform (in the case of nanoparticles, it is referred to as a nanoplatform). These approaches resulted in the development of nanotheranostics which are expected to be important tools in the hands of clinicians. The need for such nanoplatforms is highlighted by the rapidly growing numbers of related publications (Viswanadh et al., 2018). Hopefully, these nanoplatforms will allow the monitoring of the disease (the extent of the affected tissues) and the visualization of the drug delivery kinetics, while the therapeutic efficacy will be increased.

In the current chapter, we present the most important concepts of nanotheranostics towards cancer management. In the first paragraphs, we discuss the most common forms of nanocarriers, and subsequently we examine their potential in therapeutic and imaging applications. Finally, the most novel nanoplatforms in

e-mail: mgazouli@med.uoa.gr

H. Katifelis · M. Gazouli (🖂)

Laboratory of Biology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_4

clinical studies are described, while a discussion about translating nanotheranostics into clinical practice and their limitations is discussed at the end of the chapter.

Nanocarriers

Carriers (which due to their nanoscale size are referred to as nanocarriers) are a crucial element of every nanotheranostic system which aims to fuse therapeutic and imaging agents in a single platform (the terms nanoplatforms and nanocarriers are equivalent). Several types of nanomaterials have been studied for their potential uses in such platforms ranging from organic polymers to noble metal nanocarriers (Daglar et al., 2014; Fatima et al., 2020). Figure 4.1 shows some commonly used nanocarriers. In the following paragraphs, we will discuss the most promising carriers to date, liposomal, polymeric and inorganic nanocarriers.

Liposomal Nanocarriers

Phospholipids (and most importantly phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylethanolamine and phosphatidylserine) are the most aberrant components of any mammalian cellular membrane. Theoretically, any type of nanocarrier that would use these molecules would be expected to be highly biocompatible. Indeed, lipid nanoparticles of miscellaneous forms (such as micelles) have already been used in drug delivery systems. A typical example of the use of liposomal solutions in clinical practice is the use of doxorubicin (an anti-tumor agent) in the form of liposome injection (Access Data FDA, 2020). However, doxorubicin is not the sole drug that makes use of the unique opportunities that liposomal carriers offer. Several other drugs are



Fig. 4.1 Nanotheranostic platforms can use different types of nanoparticles that range from inorganic compounds such as SiO_2 (**a**) to organic compounds that include dendrimers (**b**) and liposomes (**c**). (Copyright Wiley-VCH GmbH. Reproduced with permission) (Ma et al., 2016)

already available for clinicians to prescribe, while the list of other liposomal-based drugs under clinical trials is constantly growing (Bulbake et al., 2017).

The liposomes used in these formulations can be of either natural origin or alternatively via chemical synthesis, while their size varies; some formulations are only a few nm in diameter, while others are more than an order of magnitude larger. When it comes to liposome formulation, a typical method is the rehydration of a lipid film followed by sonication (Luk et al., 2012). In order to form a theranostic nanocarrier, an additional step is required; an additional functional agent has to be loaded.

Due to the dual nature of a liposome (it contains a hydrophobic phase between the lipid layer and a hydrophilic aqueous core), they represent one of the most versatile "vehicles" for an agent to be attached. Whether hydrophilic or hydrophobic, many different agents in terms of chemistry and aqueous behaviour can be loaded. To date, many anti-tumor agents apart from doxorubicin have been successfully merged with nanocarriers in order to achieve a targeted release. Among these, cisplatin, one of the most efficient chemotherapeutic drugs and one of the most notorious for its side effects, has been added in liposomal formulations (Aldossary, 2019; Zahednezhad et al., 2020). However, the advantages of liposomes are not limited to their ability of loading both hydrophilic and hydrophobic agents. They also shield the loaded agents from the extracellular hostile environments that they face which results in prolonged circulation time and enhanced tumor accumulation which is boosted due to the enhanced permeability and retention effect (EPR Effect) (Golombek et al., 2018).

It should be noted that liposomes are not the only lipid-based nanocarriers available. Other formulations including oil-in-water emulsions that can encapsulate metal oxide nanoparticles (most notably iron oxides) and a dye (Cy7) that allows the monitoring of the effectiveness of a particular carrier are used in combination with the conventional MRI so as for medical imaging of increased clinical value to be obtained (Ma et al., 2016). Furthermore, solid nanolipids have been employed to deliver a combination of paclitaxel and a Bcl-2 targeting siRNA into cancer cells (Bae et al., 2013; Albuquerque et al., 2015).

Another advantage of using structures similar to these of a typical cell is immune clearance evasion. Membranes derived from red blood cells have been fused with polymer nanoparticles and have shown prolonged elimination half-life, a finding indicative of their possible anti-tumor potential (Hu et al., 2011).

Polymeric Nanocarriers

Polymeric nanoparticles represent a vast category of highly heterogeneous nanoparticles that include, among others, oligodendrimers, polymersomes and microbubbles. Their main purpose is to achieve a drug delivery technique with increased efficiency. A conjugation between a polymer and a chemotherapeutic drug (or any other type of drug) may augment the hydrodynamic size, decrease metabolic clearance and at the same time provide a sufficient blood circulation half time. Combined, these parameters can improve the accumulation at tumor sites, while at the same time off-target effects could be reduced. The most commonly used polymers used in such conjugates are PEG and PLGA which have already met the approval criteria. The addition of an additional drug or imaging agent to increase the theranostic efficiency is currently a field of intense research (Ma et al., 2016).

Dendrimers represent a class of organic, intensely branched molecules with a dense exterior surface with several applications in medicine. When compared to standard polymers, these nanoparticles can form mono-dispersive nanostructures with abundant functional groups. Thus, theranostic agents can be bound via noncovalent bonds, while functional linkages permit responses triggered by different stimuli that can lead to the release of its cargo (in our case a chemotherapeutic drug).

Several dendrimer-based systems have been described in the field of cancer theranostics that include, among others, PPI (polypropylenimine) and PEG (polyethylene glycol) (Lo et al., 2013).

Shi et al. found that a dendrimer-based platform of generation 5-entrapped gold nanoparticle linked with a-tocopheryl succinate can increase CT imaging quality without reducing its therapeutic effects (Zhu et al., 2014).

Another type of polymers used in nanoplatforms is the amphiphilic block copolymers. These blocks contain a hydrophilic compartment (such as PEG) and a lipophilic compartment which triggers a controlled accumulation of these blocks due to hydrophobic interactions that occur inside an aqueous medium. Moreover, this block can be used to form structures of different shapes and sizes such as micelles and vesicles which are among the most useful structures that can serve the purposes of nanotheranostics. Such a structure has already been prepared by Liu et al. These structures are made from PEG-b-PKGA vesicles that have been loaded with doxorubicin and gadolinium that allow MR imaging while they show anti-cancer effects simultaneously (Liu et al., 2014b). A similar nanotheranostic approach was adopted by Chen et al. In this study, a chemotherapeutic compound and a fluorescent dye were engulfed in a polymeric micelle. This resulted in a nanotheranostic compound that allowed an image-guided anti-cancer treatment (Wan et al., 2014).

Despite the promising results of several self-assembled formulations, some major limitations are present. Most importantly, these structures may self-disassemble when the micelle concentration is not high enough. Another important issue is the maximum drug capacity that can be loaded in micelles. When approaches use both an imaging agent and a therapeutic one, the available space is limited. Thus, the anti-cancer drug load may be smaller to that of a micelle loaded only with an anti-cancer agent. A related issue is a possible mismatch between the fluorescent dye and the therapeutic agent that could disturb the desirable ratio among them, resulting in poor clinical outcomes.

Other possible candidates for theranostic applications are proteins. Their increased biocompatibility and their versatile nature that allows several modifications make them ideal molecules for such uses. Other advantages of proteins include their biodegradation and their non-immunogenic nature. By using a polypeptide that is composed of repetitions of a small peptide sequence, their assembly into

vesicles (or micelles) can be performed with increased precision. Zhu et al. (2015) used elastin-like polypeptides in order to build nanostructures (via self-assembly) that are stimuli-responsive. Interestingly, these formulations resulted in an almost full tumor regression.

Another example of the use of proteins is drug delivery systems based on albumin. Albumin is the most abundant protein in human plasma, and it is not surprising that it was one of the first proteins to be studied for such applications. An albuminbased system that aims to deliver paclitaxel (another chemotherapeutic agent) has already been approved by the FDA from 2005 (Mackay et al., 2009). Another abundant protein, apoferritin (which is ferritin without the Fe atoms) has also been used in nanoplatforms. Cutrin et al. (2013) encapsulated an MRI contrast agent and curcumin in apoferritin. The result was a nanocarrier which showed increased bioavailability, while the therapeutic effects of curcumin were preserved.

Practically, protein of any origin can be tested in nanocarrier formation. Indeed, nature has provided science several invaluable drugs and most notably antibiotics such as penicillin that allowed the treatment of the so-called white plague, tuberculosis (Barberis et al., 2017).

Thus, it is reasonable that several non-human proteins have been employed in nanocarrier formulations. For instance, gelatin has been widely used in nanocarriers. A 2019 study (Abdelrady et al., 2019) showed that gelatin nanocarriers were capable of delivering methotrexate during lung cancer therapy. The findings of this study were indicative of gelatin nanocarrier's potency; the IC50 of methotrexate was reduced to a fourth of that of methotrexate alone. A great advantage of gelatin is its abundant ionizable groups that allow the conjugation of several drugs or any other type of chemical modifications (Lohcharoenkal et al., 2014).

Another promising candidate is elastin. This protein is crucial for the connective tissue function as its name suggests it provides elasticity. A recent study (Dhandhukia et al., 2017) revealed that elastin-like nanocarriers were capable of suppressing tumor growth in a mouse model. This action was mediated by the encapsulation of rapamycin which resulted in superior tissue targeting.

Interestingly, researchers have moved even further from humans and animals, and plant proteins have also been tested recently. One of these is gliadin, a gluten protein that can be found in wheat and that has already been used in several pharmaceutical products (Arangoa et al., 2000). Its natural origin combined with its high biocompatibility and biodegradability has made it a potent tool in the field of nanophytotechnology. A recent study showed that anti-cancer drugs can be loaded into gliadin nanoparticles for the treatment of breast cancer (Gulfam et al., 2012), while its uses have been studied outside the field of oncology, even in the treatment of auto-immune diseases (Freitag et al., 2020).

Proteins found in milk may also be of use for such purposes. Two milk proteins b-lactoglobulin and casein have studied for their potential use as nanocarriers. The former has the characteristic of retaining its conformation even at acidic tissue environments while at the same time it can resist proteolytic processes (such as chymo-tryptic digestion). Its low cost combined with its abundance makes it a promising candidate for several drug delivery systems. A 2019 study (Bijari et al., 2019)

showed that irinotecan-loaded b-lactoglobulin nanoparticles had an increased effect on HT-29 cancer cells compared to the free drug.

Casein has also favourable physicochemical properties. It can withstand most processing treatments (heat and mechanical stress included), leaving its micelles intact. An in vivo study (Gao et al., 2019) showed prolonged survival times in mice that received casein nanoparticles loaded with 10-hydroxycamptothecin compared to the group that received 10-hydroxycamptothecin alone. At the same time, these nanocarriers managed to bypass the blood-brain barrier, which most of the time limits the therapeutic effect of conventional drugs. Thus, casein nanoparticles have a potential use for brain tumors and other brain pathologies.

Due to their abundance, soy proteins have been studied for several purposes in the field of medicine. Its balance between amino acids with different side chains (polar, non-polar and charged side chains) allows its conjugation with both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs. A 2019 study (Qian et al., 2019) employed phenylboronic acid in soy nanoparticles in order to make the tumor's environment. Indeed, these nanoparticles reduced the interstitial fluid pressure (which is increased in solid tumors due to blood vessel leakage and lymph vessel malformations). This finding is promising, since by reducing IFP, solid tumors could become sensitive to anti-tumor agents that otherwise could not penetrate the tumor cell (Heldin et al., 2004).

Inorganic Nanocarriers

Inorganic nanocarriers represent another wide category that includes several different nanomaterials with the potential use in theranostic nanosystems. Several metals including gold (Au) and platinum (Pt) as well as non-metals most notably silica (Si) have been tested the past decades to such uses (Lin et al., 2016).

Indeed, silica nanoparticles have been used in various forms that include, among others, mesoporous, solid and hollow nanoparticles. Additionally, the sol-gel preparation technique in SiO_2 nanoparticles allows the stabilization and the cross-linking between various therapeutic and diagnostic agents by forming a SiO_2 shell.

A 2020 study (Carniato et al., 2019) used a delivery system based on mesoporous Si that included rhodamine dyes, while the porous were impregnated with mitoxantrone (a chemotherapeutic agent). Interestingly, this nanotherapeutic system showed increased cytotoxicity on the MFC7 cells compared to the free drug, while medical imaging that was obtained (by using MRI scan) showed increased contrast enhancement when compared to untreated cells.

Another study (He et al., 2014) showed that mesoporous Si nanoparticles loaded with ruthenium polypyridyl complexes exhibit an increased cytotoxic effect on cancer cells via the induction of apoptotic pathways. The autofluorescence of the Ru complex served as an imaging agent making this formulation a promising theranostic nanocarrier.

Equally promising are the results of another type of non-metal nanocarriers, carbon-based platforms. These platforms are characterized by their high versatility

in terms of their possible formations. Fullerene nanoparticles (which are an allotrope of carbon and are composed of carbons linked with single and double bonds that form a mesh) are widely used in several biomedical applications (Lin & Lu, 2012). Their applications involve their use in cancer diagnostics (Sagman, 2002) and cancer treatment such as the targeting of cancer of melanoma. Their ability to bypass the BBB is also indicative of their potency as nanotheranostic carriers (Lin & Lu, 2012).

Carbon nanotubes are also valuable tools in cancer nanotheranostics. An easy way to visualize their shape is thinking of them as a graphene sheet that rolls up in many different ways forming the "nanotube". Their main classification refers to the number of layers that form the tube's walls. Thus, carbon nanotubes are categorized as either single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) or multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) (Sanginario et al., 2017). CNTs can be loaded with anti-cancer agents which can be attached covalently or noncovalently. Noncovalent bond is important, since it has been suggested that any covalent modification of the therapeutic agent could decrease its anti-cancer potency. On the other hand, the weaker nature of noncovalent bond strength could decrease the attachment efficacy. Regarding the targeted drug delivery, a novel and promising approach includes the sealing of the nanotube's end with molecules that can be cleaved intracellularly. Thus, when the CNT has reached its destination (in this case the cancer cell), it can unload its cargo and selectively affects its target and no other tissue cells. Additionally, the CNT environment allows the attachment not only of drugs such as paclitaxel but also of small interfering RNA (Madani et al., 2011).

Graphene is another form of carbon that has been intensively studied the past few years. Its unique characteristics involve its particularly large surface area and the ease for cargoes to be loaded. Recently, Zhang et al. attached doxorubicin and Gd complexes to graphene oxide nanoparticles and showed their theranostic behaviour (Zhang et al., 2013).

Metallic nanoparticles represent perhaps the most important category of inorganic nanocarriers. Several different metals both noble and basic (and their alloys) have been tested with promising results. For instance, gold nanoparticles have been shown as potent contrast agents in X-ray scans and computed tomography (Mahan & Doiron, 2018). Similarly, Cu nanoparticles have been proved efficient for PET imaging applications (Lu et al., 2018). Recently, Han et al. (2019) showed that iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs) can be used in dual modal imaging for the detection of breast cancer.

When compared to other nanoplatforms (regarding theranostic applications), metal nanoparticles have several important advantages. Firstly, their synthetic routes are well characterized, and practically metal nanoparticles can be formed in almost any desired shape and size (Abedini et al., 2016). Secondly, many metal NPs can serve as therapeutic agents on their own. For example, Ag NPs have been shown as promising anti-cancer agents in the literature (Raja et al., 2020). Thirdly, the versa-tile nature of metals allows their integration in structures of different metals that can have a synergistic effect. Lian et al. (2014) showed that IONPs engulfed in Au nanoshells can be used as MRI contrast agents and photothermal therapy (PTT). This

action was mediated due to a peak in the plasmonic resonance of the Au nano-shell in the near-infrared region.

The list of nanoparticles that can be used in theranostic nanocarriers is constantly growing in size as new materials are being tested. Semiconductor crystals, titanium dioxide nanoparticles (TiO₂ NPs) and metal organic frameworks (MOFs) have also been tested as promising candidates. MOFs are characterized by an excellent drug-loading capacity, bionic catalytic properties and satisfactory biocompatibility. Moreover, MOFs can be modified so as active targeting to be achieved via the use of ligands or the addition of antibodies (Cai et al., 2020).

All the aforementioned available materials for nanoplatforms make the whole process of selecting the most suitable nanocarrier a challenge. Moreover, among the myriad combinations between the different nanocarriers, therapeutic and diagnostic agents to make a selection of the most suitable make this challenge even greater. Important factors that will favour a nanocarrier over another include its maximum cargo loading capacity (in this case, a chemotherapeutic agent) and its release profile at tumour tissues. Additionally, the nanocarrier needs to be biocompatible; immune responses must not be triggered. The differences between the intensity of the EPR effect among different nanocarriers must be taken into serious consideration. The EPR effect refers to the selective accumulation of a substance at tumour tissue due to vessel malformation and poor lymphatic drainage (Patra et al., 2018). This effect represents a passive targeting approach that can result in a more efficient theranostic nanocarrier with less off-target effects. Another major limitation that may occur is possible alterations of physicochemical characteristics when switching from in vitro approaches to the bloodstream. Critical parameters include the nanoplatform's stability and its biological half-life. Finally, every nanocarrier with a potential of being translated into a clinical tool needs to be easily modified and to have an affordable production cost (Ma et al., 2016).

Anti-tumour Agents

Most conventional cancer therapies include chemotherapy, radiotherapy and surgery either alone or combined. However, each of them is tied with several side effects that severely affect a patient's life or worse; the possible side effects could exclude him from a potential therapy. Chemotherapy side effects may include thrombocytopenia and anaemia, cardiotoxicity, nausea and vomiting, among others (Oun et al., 2018). Radiation is associated too with several side effects. These include not only with the direct action of radiation (such as skin ulcers) but indirect effects as in the cases of head and neck cancer where it could lead to tooth decay and tooth loss because of the destruction of saliva glands (Mohan et al., 2019). Surgical approaches, apart from the risk that are associated with any surgical procedure, sometimes require patient rehabilitation and replacement of the lost tissues, since healthy tissue must also be removed in order to ensure no cancer cells were left behind (Benjamin, 2014). Despite the serious side effects of any chemotherapy, its beneficial effects are considered greater, and this is the reason they are still used in clinical practice, since it increases the patient survival rates (Huang et al., 2017). The standard chemotherapy agent categorization includes different classes of chemotherapeutic drugs including alkylating agents (such as cisplatin), anti-metabolites (dehydrogenase inhibitors, nucleoside inhibitors, topoisomerase II inhibitors, kinase inhibitors) (Abotaleb et al., 2018), anti-tumor antibiotics (such as plicamycin) (Gao et al., 2020) and phytogenic anti-tumour agents. Figure 4.2 shows some common side effects of cisplatin as well as its chemical structure.

Unfortunately, despite the plethora of available cancer chemotherapy options, very few cancer nanomedicines have gained FDA approval. Indicative of the lack of such medicines is the publication of a review commenting exactly on the scarcity of nano-chemotherapeutic agents (Venditto & Szoka Jr, 2013). The first cancer nano-drug to be approved was Doxil (PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin) in 1995, followed by DaunoXome (liposomal daunorubicin). The past 5 years, five nanodrugs have been approved either in Europe or in the USA for cancer treatment: ONIVYDE (liposomal irinotecan), DHP107 (paclitaxel lipid nanoparticles), Vyxeos (liposomal daunorubicin combined with cytarabine), Apealea (a micellar form of paclitaxel) and Hensify (which is composed of hafnium oxide nanoparticles) (Salvioni et al., 2019).

A promising approach for incorporation with theranostic nanoplatforms is the use of prodrugs (precursor forms of drugs that are inactive). The use of prodrugs can be beneficial in terms of reducing the drug's toxicity other than the target tissues. For instance, Cao et al. used a cisplatin prodrug in a nanoparticle formulation (cationic lipid-assisted nanoparticles) in order to load greater amounts on the cancer cells and to counter tumour drug resistance (Cao et al., 2016).



Fig. 4.2 Adverse effects of cisplatin (a) and the chemical structure of cisplatin (alkylating agent) (b)

A major goal of each delivery system is its ability to load and subsequently deliver a high drug amount at the desired target. However, an increased amount of drug may decrease its solubility in aqueous solvents. In order to avoid this issue, several nanosystems use platforms with a high surface-area-to-volume ratio or mesoporous formulations for use in theranostic approaches (Ma et al., 2016). Porous Si nanoparticles have been successfully integrated sorafenib (a kinase inhibitor) with a drug-loading percentage of approximately 28%, while the therapeutic agents can be released in a sustained fashion (Wang et al., 2015).

Another major barrier that cancer nanodrugs need to overcome is multidrug resistance (MDR) which is usually triggered by single-drug treatment protocols. A possible strategy to deal with this issue is the simultaneous administration of antitumor agents with P-glycoprotein inhibitors. Indeed, recent studies showed that this combination decreased cell viability compared to the use of the chemotherapeutic agent alone. Interestingly, the P-glycoprotein inhibitor when used alone did not provoke any decrease of cellular viability (Nanayakkara et al., 2018). Masking the charge of anti-tumour agents could also decrease MDR (Brigger et al., 2002).

A second commonly used approach is the simultaneous use of two different chemotherapeutic agents so as for synergistic effects to take action. However, this is no easy feat. Common issues that may occur during the combination of different drugs is the limited solubility of one or both drugs, limited permeation (which may result in a difference than the desired intracellular levels of both drugs) and even different drug stabilities (Jain & Thareja, 2019).

Nanoparticles in Medical Imaging

Imaging quality is a major characteristic of any theranostic nanosystem. Both preclinical and clinical trials involve computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ultrasounds (US) and positron emission tomography scan (PET scan) (Sanchez et al., 2013). All the aforementioned techniques are characterized by their excellent sensitivity and specificity making them reliable diagnostic methods that can be used during the initial diagnosis and during the monitoring of the disease (e.g. PET scan is a valuable technique to evaluate the effectiveness of a cancer treatment that involves surgical excision). Additionally, they can be used for the patient follow-up for the early detection of a possible metastatic site (Vensby et al., 2017).

Positron Emission Tomography

PET scan is an imaging technique commonly used during nuclear medicine applications. It is capable of providing 3D images that can be either static or dynamic (realtime imaging). Shortly, its principle of function includes the use of a nuclide that emits b+ radiation (positrons) which after a very short distance are annihilated via the collision with an electron. Thus, two opposite photos occur and are subsequently detected by the imaging system. So far, the most commonly conventional PET radioisotopes include ¹¹C and ¹⁸F (which can replace an H atom in a glucose molecule) (Ma et al., 2016; Vaquero & Kinahan, 2015). The complexation of the nuclide and the nanoparticle is an important aspect for the development of any radiotracer. The most common radiolabelling strategy involves the attachment of the radioactive metal to the nanosystem via chelators. Thus a "cold" nanoparticle is used, and the isotope is subsequently added, converting it into a "hot" nanoparticle. One of the most promising classes of radiolabelled theranostic nanoparticles, suitable for PET scan imaging, is silica nanoparticles. Their biocompatible nature and their well-defined chemistry make silica a promising candidate for the incorporation in PET scan imaging theranostic nanosystems. Ultrasmall silica NPs (with diameter of approximately 6 nm) have been approved by the US FDA while they have already been used for imaging in metastatic melanoma (Phillips et al., 2014; Goel et al., 2017).

Computed Tomography

CT imaging is an X-ray technique widely used in medicine that was developed more than half a century ago by Hounsefield and Cormack (Goodman, 2010). Currently, the clinically approved contrast agents that are used include small iodinated molecules and several barium (Ba) suspensions (Cormode et al., 2014). Unfortunately, these agents have been proved nephrotoxic in several cases, and thus renal function must always be checked. Thus, several patients may be excluded from the use of these agents and the increased imaging quality that this technique could offer (Andreucci et al., 2014). The fact that these agents are used in large doses due to their low X-ray absorption could also trigger hypersensitivity reactions (Ma et al., 2016). The basic principles of both PET scan and CT are shown in Fig. 4.3.

Nanotechnology research has focused on the development of several potential materials that could serve as CT contrast agents. Metals with high atomic numbers (Z greater than 50) are believed to be effective agents for CT imaging. A recent example is the research of Liu et al. who used PEGylated WO3-x nanoparticles for CT imaging applications merged with photothermal therapy. The formulation used showed no harmful effects upon normal tissue. On the contrary, tumour cells were ablated when exposed to near-infrared radiation (NIR) making this nanomaterial for nanotheranostic applications (Liu et al., 2014a).



Fig. 4.3 The source of information during a PET scan derives from two opposite-direction photons that occur after an annihilation event between an electron and a positron (**a**). During a CT scan, the source of radiation is placed outside the patient, and the medical image is formed from the photons that reach the detector array (**b**). (Adapted from Open Access journal under the term of Creative Commons Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License) (Cormode et al., 2014)

Nanotheranostics in Clinical Studies

The past 25 years, 50 different nanomedicines have received FDA approval and are currently used in clinical practice (Ventola, 2017). Most commonly approved formulations include polymeric, liposomal and nanocrystal nanodrugs, while drug delivery nanosystems based on NPs have been employed in approved nanodrugs including metal oxides and several other inorganic compounds (Ventola, 2017; Bobo et al., 2016). It is worth noting that a large percentage of the already approved nanodrugs are characterized by a reduced toxicity, while their efficacy is not heavily improved compared to standard formulations. Indeed, the main reason that several nanodrugs have failed clinical development is their inability to show a higher efficacy, since reduced toxicity can be already achieved by other drugs (conventional drugs and nanodrugs) (Caster et al., 2017). The basic characteristics of clinical trials (phase I and II) are shown in Fig. 4.4.

Nanoplatin (NC-6004, NanoCarrier Co., Ltd.) is a micellar formulation of cisplatin and is currently being investigated under phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials either alone or combined with other chemotherapeutic agents such us gemcitabine. Another nanoformulation that is being tested is SN-38. Sn-38 is an active metabolite of a topoisomerase inhibitor (irinotecan). At least two phase 1 trials have been completed and a phase 2 trial in solid tumours (including breast cancer and non-small cell lung carcinoma, NSCLC). Additionally, Genexol PM (Samyang Biopharma) which is a micellar PEGylated formulation of paclitaxel is considered as an alternative to Kolliphor-based paclitaxel. This nanodrug has already been approved for use in patients with metastatic breast cancer in South Korea and currently is under phase 2 clinical trials in other countries.



Fig. 4.4 The basic characteristics of phase I (a) and phase II (b) of a clinical trial

Cornell dots are capable of inducing cellular death and to reduce tumor size after several injections in treated mice. Their structure is based on an internal Si core which is labelled with a NIR dye, a targeting moiety and a polymer layer. This formulation results in a stable nanoparticle which is more than 20 times brighter than any conventional solution of the dye used. A human trial that involved five participants demonstrated a promising pharmacokinetic and safety profile when used as an imaging agent (Bobo et al., 2016).

Limitations and Future Perspectives

Although there are several research papers focusing on the benefits of several nanodrugs and nanoformulation for the treatment of cancer, there are several reasons that these agents fail to be translated into clinical practice. One of the most important limitations is the often-limited comprehension of interactions between biological components and the nanoparticle itself. Most importantly, the protein corona means that the nanoparticle's surface is covered with proteins which heavily alters its stability, clearance and the possible immune response. The formulation of bloodlike media is a promising effort that will allow the deeper understanding of this phenomenon. Regarding theranostic system, the control of the nanostructure's physicochemical properties is crucial. Usually, theranostic systems consist of an imaging and a therapeutic agent that work separately. Thus, accurate control is essential so as for the results of preclinical trials and in vitro research to be validated in clinical practice. An answer to that problem could be the development of smart theranostic systems. For instance, environmental stimuli that could include pH changes and enzymes at the target tissue could facilitate the accumulation or the activation of the nanoplatform. In order for this goal to be accomplished, the targeting agents and therapeutic agents could be designed so as to work synergistically and without negatively affecting the actions of one another.

Another important issue is the technical challenges that occur during productions. For example, in 2017, the production of DepoCyt was halted due to nonspecified technical issues that affected its production (He et al., 2019; Pacira halts production of Depocyt, 2020).

Moreover, safety issues occur, despite the toxicity screening that each and every product under clinical trial has to face. Two examples are the MRX45 which failed at phase 1 since one out of five patients experienced serious adverse events from the immunity system and MM-3210 (2019) which also failed in phase 1 since it caused cumulative peripheral neuropathy (Mirna Therapeutics Halts Phase 1 Clinical Study of MRX34, 2020; Merrimack Discontinues Development of MM-310, 2020).

Another issue is the "controversial" EPR effect. While initially it was believed that the EPR effect was one of the greatest advantages of the use of nanoparticles that resulted in the tumor passive targeting (it has even been referred to as the golden principle), controversial statements are common in newer research papers. Such cases include the failure of the EPR effect in clinical studies or the presence of the EPR effect on mice but its absence on humans. An additional barrier is the poor pharmacokinetics that several nanoparticles show. The bloodstream levels of several nanoparticles draw rapidly due to the mononuclear phagocyte system. The speed of this process, which can range from minutes to hours, can affect the drug efficacy and can even lead to non-specific distribution of the nanoparticles to unwanted sites (Albanese et al., 2012). It should also be noted that despite the plethora of cancer animal models, their reliability at some cases is less than satisfactory. No known animal models can reproduce all the aspects of human disease (including cancerdriving mutations and the metastatic profile). This could be the reason that great differences occur in the therapeutic efficacy of a given drug between preclinical and clinical studies (Shi et al., 2017).

In summary, theranostic nanosystems are more than promising strategies that could bring precision medicine into clinical practice. There are several and important barriers in this field, but the intrinsic advantages of nanoparticles will sooner or later allow their extended use in clinical trials. For that purpose, the combined knowledge of researchers of different scientific backgrounds (chemistry and material science, biology and medicine) will ensure the know-how of building a successful and at the same time smart nanosystem that its different parts (therapeutic and imaging agents) will work synergistically in order to provide maximum results.

References

- Abdelrady, H., Hathout, R. M., Osman, R., Saleem, I., & Mortada, N. D. (2019). Exploiting gelatin nanocarriers in the pulmonary delivery of methotrexate for lung cancer therapy. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 133, 115–126.
- Abedini, A., Bakar, A. A. A., Larki, F., Menon, P. S., & Islam, S. (2016). Recent advances in shapecontrolled synthesis of noble metal nanoparticles by radiolysis route. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 11(1), 287.
- Abotaleb, M., Kubatka, P., Caprnda, M., Varghese, E., & Büsselberg, D. (2018). Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy Chemotherapeutic agents for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer: An update. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 101, 458–477.
- Access Data FDA. Highlights of Prescribing Information. Reference ID: 3691294 https:// www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2015/050718s046lbl.pdf. Last accessed: 18 October 2020.
- Albanese, A., Tang, P. S., & Chan, W. C. (2012). The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems. *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering*, *14*, 1–16.
- Albuquerque, J., Moura, C. C., Sarmento, B., & Reis, S. (2015). Solid lipid nanoparticles: A potential multifunctional approach towards rheumatoid arthritis theranostics. *Molecules*, 20(6), 11103–11118.
- Aldossary, S. A. (2019). Review on pharmacology of Cisplatin: Clinical use, toxicity and mechanism of resistance of Cisplatin. *Biomedical and Pharmacology Journal*, 12, 7–15.
- Andreucci, M., Solomon, R., & Tasanarong, A. (2014). Side effects of radiographic contrast media: Pathogenesis, risk factors, and prevention. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 741018.
- Arangoa, M. A., Pronchel, G., Orecchioni, A. M., Renedo, M. J., Duchene, D., & Irache, J. M. (2000). Bioadhesive potential of gliadin nanoparticulate systems. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 11(4), 333–341.
- Bae, K. H., Lee, J. Y., Lee, S. H., Park, T. G., & Nam, Y. S. (2013). Optically traceable solid lipid nanoparticles loaded with siRNA and paclitaxel for synergistic chemotherapy with in situ imaging. Advanced Healthcare Materials, 2, 576–584.
- Barberis, I., Bragazzi, N. L., Galluzzo, L., & Martini, M. (2017). The history of tuberculosis: From the first historical records to the isolation of Koch's bacillus. *Journal of Preventive Medicine* and Hygiene, 58(1), E9–E12.
- Benjamin, D. J. (2014). The efficacy of surgical treatment of cancer- 20 years later. *Medical Hypotheses*, 82(4), 412–420.
- Bijari, N., Ghobadi, S., & Derakhshandeh, K. (2019). β-lactoglobulin-irinotecan inclusion complex as a new targeted nanocarrier for colorectal cancer cells. *Research in Pharmaceutical Science*, 14(3), 216–227.
- Bobo, D., Robinson, K. J., Islam, J., Thurect, K. J., & Corrie, S. R. (2016). Nanoparticle-based medicines: A review of FDA-approved materials and clinical trials to date. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 33(10), 2373–2387.
- Brigger, I., Dubernet, C., & Couvreur, P. (2002). Nanoparticles in cancer therapy and diagnosis. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 13;54(5), 631–651.
- Bulbake, U., Doppalapudi, S., Kommineni, N., & Khan, W. (2017). Liposomal formulations in clinical use: An updated review development. *Pharmaceutics*, 27(9), 12.
- Cai, M., Chen, G., Qin, L., Qu, C., Dong, X., Ni, J., & Yin, X. (2020). Metal organic frameworks as drug targeting delivery vehicles in the treatment of cancer. *Pharmaceutics*, 12(3), 232.

- Cao, Z. T., Chen, Z. Y., Sun, C. Y., Li, H. J., Wang, H. X., Cheng, Q. Q., Zuo, Z. Q., Wang, J. L., Liu, Y. Z., Wang, Y. C., & Wang, J. (2016). Overcoming tumor resistance to cisplatin by cationic lipid-assisted prodrug nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 95, 9–19.
- Carniato, F., Alberti, D., Lapadula, A., Martinelli, J., Isidoro, C., Geninatti Crich, S., & Tei, L. (2019). Multifunctional Gd-based mesoporous silica nanotheranostic for anticancer drug delivery. *Journal of Material Chemistry B*, 7, 3143–3152.
- Caster, J. M., Patel, A. N., Zhang, T., & Wang, A. (2017). Investigational nanomedi- cines in 2016: A review of nanotherapeutics currently undergoing clinical trials. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology*, 9(1), e1416.
- Cormode, D. P., Naha, P. C., & Fayad, Z. A. (2014). Nanoparticle contrast agents for computed tomopgrahy: A focus on micelles. *Contrast Media & Molecular Imaging*, 9(1), 37–52.
- Cutrin, J. C., Crich, S. G., Burghelea, D., Dastrù, W., & Aime, S. (2013). Curcumin/Gd loaded apoferritin: A novel "theranostic" agent to prevent hepatocellular damage in toxic induced acute hepatitis. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 10(5), 2078–2085.
- Daglar, B., Ozgur, E., Corman, M. E., Uzun, L., & Demirel, G. B. (2014). RSC Advances Polymeric nanocarriers for expected nanomedicine: Current challenges and future prospects. *RSC Advances*, 4, 48639–48659.
- Dhandhukia, J. P., Shi, P., Peddi, S., Li, Z., Aluri, S., Ju, Y., Brill, D., Wang, W., Janib, S. M., Lin, Y. A., Liu, S., Cui, H., & MacKay, J. A. (2017). Bifunctional elastin-like polypeptide nanoparticles bind rapamycin and integrins and suppress tumor growth in vivo. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 15;28(11), 2715–2728.
- Fatima, N., Gromnicova, R., Loughlin, J., Sharrack, B., & Male, D. (2020). Gold nanocarriers for transport of oligonucleotides across brain endothelial cells. *PLoS One*, 15(0), e0236611.
- Freitag, T. L., Podojil, J. R., Pearson, R. M., Fokta, F. J., Sahl, C., Messing, M., Andersson, L. C., Leskinen, K., Saavalainen, P., Hoover, L. I., Huang, K., Phippard, D., Maleki, S., King, N. J. C., Shea, L. D., Miller, S. D., Meri, S. K., & Getts, D. R. (2020). Gliadin nanoparticles induce immune tolerance to gliadin in mouse models of celiac disease. *Gastroenterology*, 158(6), 1667–1681.
- Gao, C., Lang, J., Zhu, Y., Ling, C., Cheng, Z., Li, R., Qin, J., Lu, W., & Wang, J. (2019). Metholmodified casein nanoparticles loading 10-hydroxycamptothecin for glioma targeting therapy. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*, 9(4), 843–857.
- Gao, Y., Shang, Q., Li, W., Guo, W., Stojadinovic, A., & Mannion, C. (2020). Antibiotics for cancer treatment: A double-edged sword. *Journal of Cancer*, 11(17), 5135–5149.
- Goel, S., England, C. G., Chen, F., & Cai, W. (2017). Positron emission tomography and nanotechnology: A dynamic duo for cancer theranostics. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 113, 157–176.
- Golombek, S. K., May, J. M., Theek, B., Appold, L., Drude, N., Kiessling, F., & Lammers, T. (2018). Tumor targeting via EPR: Strategies to enhanced patient responses. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 130, 17–38.
- Goodman, L. R. (2010). The Beatles, the Nobel prize, and CT scanning of the chest. *Clinical North America*, 48(1), 1–7.
- Gulfam, M., Kim, J., Lee, J., Ku, B., Chung, B., & Chung, B. G. (2012). Anticancer drug-loaded gliadin nanoparticles induce apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *Langmuir: The ACS Journal of Surfaces and Colloids*, 28, 8216–8223.
- Han, C., Zhang, A., Kong, Y., Yu, N., Xi, T., Dou, B., Li, K., Wang, Y., Li, J., & Xu, K. (2019). Multifunctional iron oxide-carbon hybrid nanoparticles for targeted fluorescent/MR dualmodal imaging and detection of breast cancer cells. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 1067, 115–128.
- He, L., Huang, Y., Zhu, H., Pang, G., Zheng, W., Wong, Y. S., & Chen, T. (2014). Cancer-targeted monodisperse mesoporous silica nanoparticles as carrier of ruthenium polypyridyl complexes to enhance theranostic effects. *Advanced Functional Materials*, 24, 2754.
- He, H., Liu, L., Morin, E. E., Liu, M., & Schwendeman, A. (2019). Survey of clinical translation of cancer manomedicines: Lessons learned from successes and failures. Accounts of Chemical Research, 52(9), 2445–2461.

- Heldin, C. H., Rubin, K., Pietras, K., & Östman, A. (2004). High interstitial fluid pressure An obstacle in cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 4(10), 806–813.
- Hu, C. M. J., Zhang, L., Aryal, S., Cheung, C., Fang, R. H., & Zhang, L. (2011). Erythrocyte membrane-camouflaged polymeric nanoparticles as a biomimetic delivery platform. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(27), 10989–10985.
- Huang, C., Ju, D., Chang, C., Reddy, P. M., & Velmurugan, B. K. (2017). A review on the effects of current chemotherapy drugs and natural agents in treating non – Small cell lung cancer. *Biomedicine (Taipei)*, 7(4), 12–23.
- Jain, A. K., & Thareja, S. (2019). In vitro and in vivo characterization of pharmaceutical nanocarriers used for drug delivery. Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology, 47(1), 524–539.
- Kohler, B. A., Sherman, R. L., Howlader, N., Jemal, A., Ryerson, A. B., Henry, K. A., Boscoe, F. P., Cronin, K. A., Lake, A., Noone, A. M., Henley, S. J., Eheman, C. R., Anderson, R. N., & Penberthy, L. (2015). Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2011, featuring incidence of breast cancer subtypes by race/ethnicity, poverty, and state. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 107, djv048.
- Lin, C. M., & Lu, T. Y. (2012). C60 fullerene derivatized nanoparticles and their application to therapeutics. *Recent Patents on Nanotechnology*, 6, 105–113.
- Lin, A. Y., Young, J. L., Nixon, A. V., & Drezek, R. A. (2014). Encapsulated Fe3O4/Ag complexed cores in hollow gold nanoshells for enhanced theranostic magnetic resonance imaging and photothermal therapy. *Small*, 10(16), 3246–3251.
- Lin, G., Mi, P., Chu, C., Zhang, J., & Liu, G. (2016). Inorganic nanocarriers overcoming multidrug resistance for cancer theranostics. *Advanced Science (Weinheim)*, 3(11), 1600134.
- Liu, J., Han, J., Kang, Z., Golamaully, R., Xu, N., Li, H., & Han, X. (2014a). In vivo near-infrared photothermal therapy and computed tomography imaging of cancer using novel tungstenbased theranostic probe. *Nanoscale*, 6, 5770–5776.
- Liu, Q., Zhu, H., Qin, J., Dong, H., & Du, J. (2014b). Theranostic vesicles based on bovine serum albumin and poly(ethylene glycol)-block-poly(l-lactic-co-glycolic acid) for magnetic resonance imaging and anticancer drug delivery. *Biomacromolecules*, 15(5), 1586–1592.
- Lo, S. T., Kumar, A., Hsieh, J. T., & Sun, X. (2013). Dendrimer nanoscaffolds for potential theranostics of prostate cancer with a focus on radiochemistry. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 10(3), 793–812.
- Lohcharoenkal, W., Wang, L., Chen, Y. C., & Rojanasakul, Y. (2014). Protein nanoparticles as drug delivery carriers for cancer therapy. *BioMed Research International*, 194(1), 1996–1997.
- Lu, H., Wang, L. Z., Wilson, B. K., McManus, S. A., Jumai'an, J., Padakanti, P. K., Alavi, A., Mach, R. H., & Prud'homme, R. K. (2018). Copper loading of preformed nanoparticles for PET-imaging applications. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 10(4), 3191–3199.
- Luk, B. T., Fang, R. H., & Zhang, L. (2012). Lipid- and polymer-based nanostructures for cancer theranostics. *Theranostics*, 2(12), 1117–1126.
- Ma, Y., Huang, J., Song, S., Chen, H., & Zhang, Z. (2016). Cancer-targeted nanotheranostics: Recent advances and perspectives. *Small*, 12(36), 4936–4954.
- Mackay, J. A., Chen, M., McDaniel, J. R., Liu, W., Simnick, A. J., & Chilkoti, A. (2009). Selfassembling chimeric polypeptide-doxorubicin conjugate nanoparticles that abolish tumours after a single injection. *Nature Materials*, 8(12), 993–999.
- Madani, S. Y., Naderi, N., Dissanayake, O., Tan, A., & Seifalian, A. M. (2011). A new era of cancer treatment: Carbon nanotubes as drug delivery tools. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 6, 2963–2979.
- Mahan, M. M., & Doiron, A. L. (2018). Gold nanoparticles as X-ray, CT, and multimodal imaging contrast agents: Formulation, targeting, and methodology. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 5837276, 1–15.
- Merrimack Discontinues Development of MM-310. http://investors.merrimack.com/newsreleases/news-release-details/merrimack-discontinues-development-mm-310. Accessed 1 Nov 2020.

- Mirna Therapeutics Halts Phase 1 Clinical Study of MRX34. https://www.businesswire.com/ news/home/20160920006814/en/Mirna-Therapeutics-Halts-Phase-1-Clinical-Study. Accessed 1 Nov 2020.
- Mohan, G., Hamna, A., Jijo, A. J., Devi, S., Narayanasamy, A., & Vellingiri, B. (2019). Recent advances in radiotherapy and its associated side effects in cancer — A review. *The Journal of Basic and Applied Zoology*, 80, 14.
- Nanayakkara, A. K., Follit, C. A., Gang, C., & Williams, N. S. (2018). Targeted inhibitors of P-glycoprotein increase mortality of multidrug resistant tumor cells. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 967.
- Oun, R., Moussa, Y., & Wheate, N. (2018). The side effects of platinum-based chemotherapy drugs: A review for chemists. *Dalton Theranostics*, 47, 6645–6653.
- Pacira halts production of Depocyt. https://www.biopharmadive.com/news/pacira-depocyt-endproduction-discontinue/446507/. Accessed 1 Nov 2020.
- Patra, J. K., Das, G., Fraceto, L. F., Vangelie, E., Campos, R., Rodriguez, P., Acosta-Torres, L. S., Diaz-Torres, L. A., Grill, R., Swamy, M. K., Sharma, S., & Habtemariam, S. S. H. (2018). Nano based drug delivery systems: Recent developments and future prospects. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 16, 71.
- Phillips, E., Penate-Medina, O., Zanzonico, P. B., Carvajal, R. D., Mohan, P., Ye, Y., Humm, J., Gonen, M., Kalaigian, H., Schoder, H., Strauss, H. W., Larson, S. M., Wiesner, U., & Bradbury, M. S. (2014). Clinical translation of an ultrasmall inorganic optical-PET imaging nanoparticle probe. *Science Translational Medicine*, *6*, 260ra149.
- Qian, X., Ge, L., Yuan, K., Li, C., Zhen, X., Cai, W., Cheng, R., & Jiang, X. (2019). Theranostics targeting and microenvironment-improving of phenylboronic acid-decorated soy protein nanoparticles with different sizes to tumor. *Theranostics*, 9(24), 7417–7430.
- Raja, G., Jang, Y., Suh, J., Kim, H., Ahn, S. H., & Kim, T. (2020). Microcellular environmental regulation of silver nanoparticles in cancer therapy: A critical review. *Cancers (Basel)*, 12(3), 664.
- Sagman, U. (2002). Application and commercial prospects of fullerenes in medicine and biology. In *Perspectives of fullerene nanotechnology* (pp. 145–153). Kluwer Academic (Pt 4).
- Salvioni, L., Rizzuto, M. A., Bertolini, J. A., Pandolfi, L., Colombo, M., & Prosperi, D. (2019). Thirty years of cancer nanomedicine: Success, frustration, and hope. *Cancers (Basel)*, 11(12), 1855.
- Sanchez, F., Orero, A., Soriano, A., Correcher, C., Conde, P., Gonazelz, A., Hernandez, L., Moliner, L., Rodiguez-Alvarez, M. K., Vidal, L. F., Benlloch, J. M., Chapman, S. E., & Leevy, W. M. (2013). ALBIRA: A small a imal PET/SPECT/CT imaging system. *Medical Physics*, 40(5), 051906.
- Sanginario, A., Miccoli, B., & Demarchi, D. (2017). Carbon nanotubes as an effective opportunity for cancer diagnosis and treatment. *Biosensor (Basel)*, 7, 1–23.
- Shi, J., Kantoff, P. W., Wooster, R., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2017). Cancer nanomedicine: Progress, challenges and opportunities. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 17, 20–37.
- Vaquero, J. J., & Kinahan, P. (2015). Positron emission tomography: Current challenges and opportunities for technological advances in clinical and preclinical imaging systems. *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering*, 17, 385–414.
- Venditto, V. J., & Szoka, F. C., Jr. (2013). Cancer nanomedicines: So many papers so little drugs. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 65(1), 80–88.
- Vensby, P. H., Schmidt, G., Kjær, A., & Fischer, B. M. (2017). The value of FDG PET / CT for follow-up of patients with melanoma: A retrospective analysis. *American Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*, 6, 255–262.
- Ventola, C. L. (2017). Progress in nanomedicine: approved and investigational nanodrugs. Progress in Nanomedicine PT, 42(12), 742–755.
- Viswanadh, M. K., Singh, R. P., Agrawal, P., & Mehata, A. K. (2018). Nanotheranostics: Emerging strategies for early diagnosis and therapy of brain cancer. *Nano*, 2(1), 70–86.
- Wan, Z., Mao, H., Guo, M., Li, Y., Zhu, A., Yang, H., He, H., Shen, J., Zhou, L., Jiang, Z., Ge, C., Chen, C., Yang, X., Liu, G., & Chen, H. (2014). Highly efficient hierarchical micelles

integrating photothermal therapy and singlet oxygen-synergized chemotherapy for cancer eradication. *Theranostics*, 4(4), 399–411.

- Wang, C. F., Sarparanta, M. P., Makila, R. M., Hyvonen, M. L. K., Laakkonen, P. M., Salonen, J. J., Hirvonen, J. T., Airaksinen, A. J., & Santos, H. A. (2015). Multifunctional porous silicon nanoparticles for cancer theranostics. *Biomaterials*, 48, 108–118.
- World Health Organization. (2018). Fact Sheets. Cancer. Website: https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/cancer. Last accessed: 17 Oct 2020.
- Zahednezhad, F., Zakeri-Milani, P., Mojarrad, J. S., & Valizadeh, H. (2020). The latest advances of cisplatin liposomal formulations: Essentials for preparation and analysis. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 17(4), 523–541.
- Zhang, M., Cao, Y., Chong, Y., Ma, Y., Zhang, H., Deng, Z., Hu, C., & Zhang, Z. (2013). Graphene oxide based theranostic platformfor T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging and drug delivery. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 5(24), 13325.
- Zhu, J., Zheng, L., Wen, S., Tang, Y., Shen, M., Zhang, G., & Shi, X. (2014). Targeted cancer theranostics using alpha-tocopheryl succinate-conjugated multifunctional dendrimer entrapped gold nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 35(25), 7635–7643.
- Zhu, A., Miao, K., Deng, Y., Ke, H., He, H., Yang, T., Guo, M., Li, Y., Guo, Z., Wang, Y., Yang, X., Zhao, Y., & Chen, H. (2015). Dually pH/reduction-responsive vesicles for ultrahigh-contrast fluorescence imaging and thermo-chemotherapy-synergized tumor ablation. ACS Nano, 9(8), 7874–7885.

Chapter 5 Nanotheranostics: The Future Remedy of Neurological Disorders



Saba Sohail and Fakhar-Ud-Din

Introduction

Nanotheranostics and Neurological Disorders

Nanotheranostics

An emerging and promising area of medicine "theranostics" inculcates both diagnosis and therapy and treats difficult diseases effectively (Sumer & Gao, 2008). The existing treatment modalities are only for treating limited populations and only at the selective stage of disease, so that there is a firm need to develop a subjectspecific approach that provides superior therapeutic regimen and improved prognosis (Xie et al., 2010). Nanotheranostics involves nanotechnology to treat different diseases effectively with improved diagnosis and therapy. It incorporates different types of nanocarriers, e.g. dendrimers, micelles, liposomes, niosomes, inorganic, polymer conjugates and metal nanocarriers (Din et al., 2017; Khatoon et al., 2017; Mir et al., 2017; Shahzad et al., 2020). The advantage of nanotheranostics is to treat disease at its early phase, so it acts as a new angled, advanced form and game changer class to treat various diseases at the level of cell or molecule with the help of nanotechnology and due to incorporated therapeutic and diagnostic moiety (Janib et al., 2010). Nanotheranostics has a great potential to cure deadly neurological disorders (WHO report, 2007). This chapter depicts a detail review on the new breakthroughs in advance nanotheranostics for treating neurodegenerative diseases.

S. Sohail (\boxtimes) · Fakhar-Ud-Din (\boxtimes)

Nanomedicine Research Group, Department of Pharmacy, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

Saba Sohail and Fakhar-Ud-Din contributed equally with all other contributors.

e-mail: sabasohail@bs.qau.edu.pk; fudin@qau.edu.pk

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_5

Nanotheranostics as Both Therapeutic and Diagnostic Moieties

Deadly diseases are cured in an effective manner if treated at an early phase. It is an area of great concern that all treatments that exists are not very much effective in diagnosing and treating brain disorders at an initial disease stage; therefore the game changer nanotheranostics can diagnose and treat disease effectively and help in individualizing neuronanomedicine. The usually used diagnostic agents in nanotheranostics are quantum dots, iron oxides, radionuclides, heavy metals and fluorescent dyes. Some therapeutic agents are organic drugs, proteins, hydrophobic agents, genetic materials and peptides (Janib et al., 2010; Xie et al., 2010; Ye & Chen, 2011). Nanocarriers are the main components of nanotheranostics besides imaging or diagnostic agents. Nanocarriers stimulate pharmacokinetics, increases distribution of incorporated therapeutic or diagnostic moiety at specific site (Wicki et al., 2015), increases efficiency of drug, reduces the toxicity due to reducing nonspecific biodistribution (Bhojani et al., 2010; Kawasaki & Player, 2005). These nanocarriers are functionalized with certain ligands or biomarkers for achieving specific treatment and diagnostic ability in the real time. In addition therapeutic entities like hydrophobic agents, oligonucleotides and peptide drugs showed improved stability when entrapped into the nanoparticles (Muthu et al., 2014).

The CNS and Blood-Brain Barrier: "The Opponent at the Doors"

The neurological diseases show a social, economic and medical problem of chief attention, because their incidence is increasing day by day along with increases in life expectancy (Hofman et al., 2011). The aetiology of neurodegenerative diseases is known, but still their performance is still a challenge in the therapeutic interventions in the neurological disorders, although potential treatment is provided by experimental studies for CNS disorders. The CNS is a complicated and vulnerable system that has evolved efficient defence systems against external substances. Ironically, the strength of these defensive mechanisms makes therapeutic interventions in the CNS more difficult. As a result, the battle against neurological illnesses is often fought "at the gates" of the brain. The three major barriers that exchange fluid between blood and brain parenchyma include blood-brain barrier (BBB), choroid plexus epithelium and arachnoid epithelium. The blood-brain barrier is the structural foundation of the functional system known as the neurovascular unit, which is produced by a monolayer of endothelial cells. Endothelial cells contain high concentration of p-glycoproteins. The p-glycoproteins that are ATP dependent hinder diffusion of the huge molecular weight hydrophobic molecules (approximately 400 Da) while actively passing small molecular weight drugs out of the brain (Schinkel, 1999). Thus BBB permeates hydrophobic small molecules while for transportation of large molecules follows receptor-mediated endocytosis or



Fig. 5.1 Graphical representation of the numerous mechanisms of entrance of molecules and specific pathways that transverse the blood-brain barrier (BBB)

carrier-mediated systems. Figure 5.1 illustrates the schematic representation showing the mechanism of entrance of molecules and specific pathways that cross the BBB. Those molecules that do not transport through the above mechanisms follow some other strategies to penetrate through the parenchyma of the brain to further reach and target the site of action. One way to bypass BBB is by using intraparenchymal injection of the needed substance. For continuous drug infusion, another uses implantable system that further use osmotic pumps or enhanced convection devices. The surgical invasive and risky procedures can't be used when implantable tools traverse the crucial areas of the brain. These devices are also used for intraventricular or intrathecal administration of drugs that contain cerebrospinal fluid brain barrier that evades BBB. Intranasal administration is a new noninvasive method of bypassing the blood-brain barrier and allowing big charged medicinal molecules to enter the brain (Dhuria et al., 2010). Rather bypassing it disrupts the BBB temporarily and perforates the tight junctions of endothelial cells. The osmotic shock transiently opens the BBB by using mannitol, arabinose or hypertonic solutions that act on receptors of bradykinin (Borlongan & Emerich, 2003) and induce focalized perforation in small parts of the brain by using MRI-guided ultrasound with changes during BBB opening is a dangerous procedure and suppresses the mechanism that further regulate the entry of molecules in the brain (Diringer & Zazulia, 2004; Suzuki et al., 1988). There are also some suitable methods that penetrate the molecules across the brain parenchyma without altering the BBB, when the earlymentioned mechanisms are inaccessible or unsuitable. The use of chemical derivatives partially modifies drug structure to increase penetration of drug across BBB, while its activity is not affected such as by adding aliphatic chains to enhance lipophilicity (Vlieghe & Khrestchatisky, 2013). Another option is to use prodrugs that is not active in their native state but later active by undergoing some enzymatic or chemical changes in the parenchyma of the brain (Rautio et al., 2008). The most multifaceted approach is by using drug carriers "Trojan horses" that contain the therapeutic agent that can effectively cross the BBB. In this scenario, nanotechnology shows an effective role to combat these deadly neurological disorders.

Nanotechnology to Overcome BBB for Improved Drug Delivery

Nanocarriers involved in drug delivery system can increase the penetration across the brain by the use of influx transporters. In this section of the chapter, we highlighted the brain-targeting nanoparticle-based delivery strategies that include receptormediated transcytosis (RMT), adsorptive-mediated transcytosis (AMT), cell-mediated transport, carrier-mediated transport and BBB disruption-enhanced transport.

Carrier-Mediated Transcytosis (CMT)

The CMT is an important corridor to transport nutrients and hormones. Glutathione or glucose molecules attach to the carrier proteins and move from one side to another side of the membrane by concentration gradient after activating the conformational pathway in these carrier proteins. For the diagnosis and treatment of gliomas, the reported nutrient transporters such as GLUT1, large amino acid transporter 1 (LAT 1) and choline transporters show promising delivery for the nanoparticle-based drug delivery system (NDDS) (Du et al., 2014; Guo et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2013). Among all transporters, the most famous one GLUT1 is expressed in increased levels in brain capillary endothelial cell (BCEC) receptors (Uchida et al., 2011). Recently research group of scientists, Anraku et al., developed an approach that increased the BBB passage of glycosylated nanoparticles with the function of glycaemic-control (Anraku et al., 2017). The findings indicated that these glycosylated nanoparticles pass from BBB through these GLUT1 transporters, with its uptake that depends on the concentration of glucose in the blood. Mannose and

mannose analogues in addition to glucose can also target the GLUT1 transporter, and they have higher binding affinity as compared to glucose (Umezawa & Eto, 1988). In this scenario, another group of research scientists, Singh et al., designed p-aminophenyl-a-D-mannopyranoside (MAN)-modified solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) used for the brain transport of docetaxel (DTX) (Singh et al., 2015). Moreover, Ying et al. efficiently designed liposomes functionalized with (MAN) to transport the daunorubicin across BBB for the effective management of glioma (Ying et al., 2010).

Receptor-Mediated Transcytosis (RMT)

RMT transports big endogenous molecules that are significant for the functioning of the brain, whereas CMT transports small molecules into the brain. Several macromolecules or ligand-binding nanoparticles move across the BBB due to the presence of receptors on the luminal side of the BBB. Among all of these receptors, the most well-established ones are Tf receptor 1 (TfR1), glutathione receptor, LDL receptors (LDLRs), lactoferrin (Lf) receptor, scavenger receptor class B type 1 and insulin receptors (Banks, 2016; Chen & Liu, 2012). TfR1 receptor has been widely studied due to the promising role in the clinical translation (Choudhury et al., 2018). It increases the delivery of iron via the intracellular trade of iron-binding plasma glycoprotein tf in the brain (Moos & Morgan, 2000). Moreover, this one is overexpressed in blood-brain barrier and brain tumours (Prior et al., 1990). Many Tf-based nanoplatforms have been broadly used in brain distribution (Choudhury et al., 2018). So in this scenario, research group of scientists, Zhu et al., designed indocyanine green (ICG)-holo-Tf nanoplatforms for bimodal photoacoustic/fluorescence (PA/FL) imaging-guided photothermal therapy (PTT) designed for the management of orthotopic U87MG tumours (Zhu et al., 2017). Additional study developed conjugates that are modified Tf micelles encapsulated with cyclo-(Arg-Gly-Asp) (cRGD)-paclitaxel (PTX) that efficiently increased the mean survival time of orthotopic U87MG tumour mice from 34.8 to 42.8 days by paclitaxel-loaded micelle (Zhang et al., 2012). The most extensively considered receptors for delivery of the brain includes LDLRs, importantly peptides (Apo B and Apo E fragments and angiopep-2 (ANG) (Salvia et al., 2016). LDLRs includes a receptor's family such as (LDLR, LDLR-related protein 1 (LRP1), and LRP2) that further interfere the cholesterol-rich LDL endocytosis, such as apolipoproteins, cholesterol and tocopherol (Lanthier et al., 2002). Among all the aforementioned receptors, LRP-1 is the most important to deal with due to its increased expression on the BBB and many categories of tumour cells including malignant glioma cancer cells (Boyé et al., 2017). A 19-mer peptide (ANG) (TFFYGGSRGKRNNFKTEEY) shows powerful closeness to LRP-1. The two ANG-conjugated forms with drug that entered the clinical trials include ANG4043 (ANG-trastuzumab conjugate) and ANG1005 (ANG-PTX conjugate) for the management of brain metastasis from HER2+ breast cancer and repeated high-grade glioma, respectively. A group of researchers, Jiang et al., developed ANG-conjugated polymersomes (ANG-PS) to deliver an effective natural protein toxin saporin (SAP) to the neurons (Jiang et al., 2018a).

Adsorptive-Mediated Transcytosis (AMT)

CMT and RMT depend on the specific receptors or transporters (Anraku et al., 2017; Cox et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2018a, b), and AMT is used for transportation of large molecules and depends on electrostatic interactions among substrates that are positively charged and plasma membrane that are negatively charged. It has a non-specific binding as compared to RMT. Moreover, AMT shows high capacity and low-binding affinity to RMT. The transportation saturation capacity is for threefold high for AMT as compared to RMT (Hervé et al., 2008). AMT transports many peptides or proteins (CPPs and cationic proteins) through the BBB via AMT pathway (Lu et al., 2005; Salvia et al., 2016; Zou et al., 2013). A research collection of scientists, Lin et al., designed nanocarriers composed of CPP conjugated with albumin to transport the two hydrophobic drugs synergistically (fenretinide and PTX) for the treatment of brain tumour (Lin et al., 2016).

Cell-Mediated Transport

Generally, some side effects are reported for pathways such as CMT, RMT and AMT in the penetration across the BBB, and moreover no one of these receptors/ transporters is used for the brain delivery exclusively. Protein and peptide use may be restricted due to its instability and immunogenicity. Recently cell-mediated transport has obtained an increasing acceptance. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Clavreul et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2013; Li et al., 2011; Qiao et al., 2018), neural stem cells (NSCs) (Cheng et al., 2013; Gutova et al., 2013), macrophages (Li et al., 2017) and exosomes (Jia et al., 2018) are capable of transporting the therapeutic and diagnostic agent to malignant gliomas, due to its intrinsic tumour-homing capacity (Ali & Chen, 2015). MSC has the self-renewal property and monitors the cells of tumour. It is utilized for the distribution of many cargoes, such as replicationcompetent oncolytic adenovirus (CRAd), herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-tk), IL-2, IL-18, IL-23, TRAIL, TNF-a, and TNF-b for therapy against oncolytic virus, immunotherapy and anti-glioma chemotherapy (Kosztowski et al., 2009). But it is difficult to encapsulate multifunctional modalities in these stem cells for the therapeutic and diagnostic purposes in various diseases. So to overcome these impediments, MSCs can be manipulated with multifaceted nanocarriers by cellular internalization or surface conjugation method. Authors reported that mesenchymal stem cells modified with multi-disciplinary FITC/ZW800/64Cu/Gd3+ entrapped mesoporous silica nanocarriers for the treatment of gliomas and multiplexed FL/PET/MR imaging (Huang et al., 2013). The findings indicated that these NP-labelled MSCs have high-fold tumour accumulation compared to free NPs and provide targeted drug delivery in gliomas (Huang et al., 2013). Moreover, another research group of scientists, Kim et al., modified MSCs with mesoporous silicacoated hollow manganese oxide (HMnO@mSiO₂) nanocarriers by cellular internalization with the method of electroporation (Kim et al., 2011), and the findings indicated that these nanocarriers showed sustained release over 14 days in mice brain (Kim et al., 2011). In addition, another group of research scientists, Li et al., developed silica-based nanorattles that encapsulated doxorubicin (SN-DOX) with antibodies and precisely bind to CD73/CD90 proteins that are overexpressed on MSC membranes (Li et al., 2011). The results indicated that improved apoptosis and suppression of tumours grow due to extended and enhanced biodistribution of DOX in tumours by SN-DOX-labelled MSC nanoplatforms as compared to free DOX or SN-DOX (Li et al., 2011). Currently bi-functional luminescence nanocomposites (LPLNP-PTT/TRAIL) have been reported by Wu et al. to monitor MSCs and bring apoptosis in tumour cells by TRAIL gene therapy (Wu et al., 2017). These nanocomposites simultaneously showed persistent fluorescence in NIR region along with effective migration in glioblastoma cells in vitro and in vivo and resulted in effective reduced growth of glioblastoma (Wu et al., 2017). MSC nanoplatforms has a promising role in brain tumour and shows a great role in stem cell-based theranostics agents in clinical applications.

BBB Disruption-Enhanced Transport

A significant transport called BBB disruption is used for enhanced BBB penetration of nanoplatforms. Another promising strategy, focused ultrasound (FUS) with microbubbles (MBs), induces opening of the BBB and is used for the localized delivery of pharmaceutical agents (Fan et al., 2016). Recently a research group of scientists, Zheng et al., simultaneously designed a 50-nm hollow mesoporous organosilica nanoplatform (HMON) into the orthotopic brain tumour with exposure by FUS strategy (Wu et al., 2018). Other external stimuli other than FUS that includes hyperthermia effects or produces mechanical forces on brain capillary endothelial cells (BCECs) produce opening of the BBB for the brain delivery. A research group of scientists, Choi et al., used near-infrared (NIR) ultrasound pulsed laser to persuade leakage transiently in the blood vessel, but integrity cannot be effected, and these are used for the delivery of various nanomodalities into the healthy brain such as quantum dots (QDs), tetramethylrhodamine-conjugated magnetic oxide NP and FITC-dextran (Choi et al., 2011). The brain permeability can also be amplified by the use of various chemical modulators. A research group of scientists, Han et al., reported strategies like autocatalytic brain tumour targeting (ABTT) for increased delivery of nanocarriers in brain delivery (Han et al., 2016). In this scenario, less amount of ABTT-NPs via transcytosis or passive diffusion deliver to the brain, but after transversing BBB, the nanocarriers discharge the BBB modulators and open BBB transiently. It showed enhanced NP penetration and ultimately increased brain accumulation. In addition, authors also reported ABTTrelated brain priming approaches can also be used for the greater transfer of smallmolecule drugs (PTX) and genes (such as plasmid-expressing tumour necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (pTRAIL) for the management of malignant brain cancer (Han et al., 2016).

Nanotheranostics: Developing Approaches for Early Diagnosis and Therapy of CNS Disorders

The treatment methods that are currently used to treat neurodegenerative diseases are radiotherapy, chemotherapy, surgery and immunotherapy; in addition some new treatments that are used to treat neurological disorders are gene therapy, stem cell therapy and hyperthermia therapy (Delhaye et al., 2012; Simonato et al., 2013; Thomas & Omuro, 2014; Yoo et al., 2013). However, for the efficient therapy, diagnosis at early stage is important so various imaging techniques such as single-photon emission tomography (SPECT), MRI, CT, X-rays and positron emission tomography (PET) will guide to decide timely and further reduce recurrent therapies and occurrence of disease (Nasrallah & Wolk, 2014; Pereira et al., 2014; Perrin et al., 2009; Small et al., 2006). There are still limited treatments that are successful despite of the fact that there are many progresses in the management of CNS diseases in the area of diagnostic modalities, due to certain drawbacks of current treatments that includes (1) time-consuming and low sensitivity in MRI (Ladd et al., 2018), (2) meagre permeability and increased breakup in brain tissues in fluorescence imaging (Louie, 2010), (3) along with drug there is inability to track disease progression and (4) toxic effects shown in normal brain tissues in case of PET and SPECT due to the absence of targeting ability in these imaging techniques that are radioactive based (Lu & Yuan, 2015). In addition, various conventional treatments such as chemotherapy, photodynamic therapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy and surgery faced various challenges that includes (1) incapacity to pass through BBB, (2) insufficient uptake of drug in tissues of the brain, (3) nonspecific delivery and biodistribution, (4) meagre biocompatibility, (5) solubility is poor along with low half-life and less retention time and (6) irritating effects on healthy cells that are rapidly dividing. To control all these limitations and to attain efficient delivery through the brain, there is an unrelenting necessity to develop advanced methods that have high resolution, high sensitivity, deep penetration power and ability to track the development of the disease in the real time along with biosafety. In this scenario, ultra-small multimodal nanotheranostics plays a key role and shows a great potential for therapy as well as biomedical imaging of neurological diseases (Miao et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2016c). In a chapter review of this section, we have made an effort to provide a glance of targeted nanotheranostic nanocarriers in various neurodegenerative diseases in the research field. We wish that this chapter review will be contributing in inspiring the collection of information of clinicians

and researchers on numerous nanotheranostics nanoplatforms that are under examination, as effective therapeutics against various neurodegenerative disorders. There are many types of targeted theranostic nanocarriers such as polymeric NPs (PNPs), lipid NPs, organic, metal-based NPs (Fig. 5.2) and some others that are being explored for the potential treatment of diagnosis and treatment of CNS disorders (Lim et al., 2013; Peng et al., 2015). The applications of theranostic nanocarriers are assembled and explained in Table 5.1.

Neurological Disorders and Specific Targeted Theranostic Nanocarriers in Neurological Diseases

The growing occurrence of neurodegenerative diseases stated that it is the most shared reason of global death and disability and in addition considered as irregular physical situation of nervous system. The leading causes of death are by various



Fig. 5.2 Theranostic nanocarriers used in brain disorders

126				S. Sohall and Fakhar-
STS	References	Agyare et al. (2014)	Liao et al. (2012)	Zhen et al. (2017)
cal studies in CNS disorde	Result	Used for contrast imaging of cerebrovascular amyloid with MRI, SPECT, reduced pro-inflammatory cytokine as contrast to cyclophosphamide	Disorganized Aβ fibrillation and break the preformed fibrils	Amplifying photoacoustic brightness for silica-coated SPNs as compared to SPNs, photothermal heating rate increased, moreover also provides increased fluorescence and PA imaging for polymeric nanocarriers by surface engineering method
ses and preclinic	Neurologic diseases	AD	AD	Brain cancer
neurological disea	Therapeutic moiety	CYC (cyclo- phosphamide)	1	1
or the treatment of	Imaging/ diagnostic moiety	Magnevist® (MRI contrast agent)	AuNPs	Fluorescence and photoacoustic brightness imaging
: nanocarriers explored fo	Animal model/cell lines used	Human brain microvascular endothelial cell line (hCMEC/D3)	Neuroblastoma cells, BE(2)-C	In vitro 4T1 human breast cancer epithelial cell line and in vivo includes the use of tumour-induced female mice
sentation of theranostic	Ligand attached/ transport method used	IgG-antiamyloid antibody + chitosan + 1251	Carboxyl- conjugated AuNPs (negatively charged)	Cyclic RGD peptides
5.1 Tabular repre-	Theranostic NPs with hydrodynamic size (nm)	Magnetic nanocarriers (Magnevist®) (Gd-DTPA) with 239 ± 4.1 nm	Au nanoparticles (30 nm)	Double-coated silica shells with layers of semiconducting polymer with ~ 15 nm
Table	S. no.		5.	ς.

126

(2016a)	Shiraishi et al. (2017)	Wen et al. (2012)	Sonali et al. (2016b)
Nanoplatform of phosphatidylserine- targeting liposome (PS-L) increase targeted delivery across the brain of contrast agents by effectively penetrate through BBB	Diagnosis for evaluation of rtPA- haemorrhage risks	Findings indicate that increased brain targeting, enhanced fluorescence intensity, approximately 2.4 folds increased in drug accumulation	Increased drug delivery, provides targeted therapy, approximately two folds more effectively than non-targeted liposomes
Brain cancer	Ischemic stroke	Parkinson's disease	Brain cancer
1	1	Apomorphine	Docetaxel
Iron oxide nanocarriers and near-infrared fluorescence (NIR) dye/NIR fluorescence imaging and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)	Gadolinium/ magnetic resonance imaging	Quantum dots	Quantum dots (QDs)
In vitro U87MG human glioma cell line, in vivo includes the use of tumour- induced nude mice	In vivo Wistar male rats	Female nude mice	Rats used Charles Foster (CF)
Phosphatidylserine- targeting antibody	1	Endocytosis	Transferrin
Liposomes with 109.98± 0.54 nm	Gd micelles with $20.2 \pm 2.8 \text{ nm}$	~140 nm	Tocopheryl polyethylene glycol succinate (TPGS) liposomes with size below 200 nm
4.	S.	6 .	7.

(continued)

Tabl	e 5.1 (continued)							
S. no.	Theranostic NPs with hydrodynamic size (nm)	Ligand attached/ transport method used	Animal model/cell lines used	Imaging/ diagnostic moiety	Therapeutic moiety	Neurologic diseases	Result	References
×.	Carboxymethyl dextran (CMC) – magnetoliposome with (50–100 nm)	Passive transport	Human neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y) cells	Supramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs)	Doxorubicin (DOX)	Brain tumour	Increased drug-loading capacity and enhanced stability, efficient T2 contrast agent, decreased toxicity as compared to doxorubicin	Guo et al. (2015)
9.	M40401 liposomes with $170 \pm 50 \text{ nm}$	Porphyrins	Mice used	Mn(11) cation	Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	Cerebral ischemia	Used as T1 contrast agent for MRI imaging, increased neuroprotective outcome of mimetic SOD	Shazeeb et al. (2014)
10.	$Stealth \\ immunoliposome \\ with \sim 100 \text{ nm}$	Anti-HSP72	Rats induced with ischemia	Rhodamine/ gadolinium	Citicoline	Cerebral ischemia	As targeted theranostic nanoplatform, provides targeted therapy	Agulla et al. (2013)

128

Table	e 5.1 (continued)							
S. no.	Theranostic NPs with hydrodynamic size (nm)	Ligand attached/ transport method used	Animal model/cell lines used	Imaging/ diagnostic moiety	Therapeutic moiety	Neurologic diseases	Result	References
14.	Polymeric nanoparticle with <100 nm	Endocytosis	Rat	Supermagnetic iron oxide	Temozolomide (TMZ)	Glioma (malignant)	Increased the survival rate, efficiently reduces the growth of glioma, used as MRI contrast agent, provided convection-enhanced drug delivery (CED)	Bernal et al. (2014)
15.	Iron oxide cores coated with chitosan with 76 nm	Chlorotoxin	Used of GBM6- bearing mice	SPION	O6-Benzylgua- nine (+oral temozolomide)	Brain tumour	Real-time monitoring by MRI, biodistribution in the tumour region significantly	Stephen et al. (2014)
16.	Polyfluorene- chitosan with 150 nm	Adsorptive transcytosis	Hybridoma cell line derived from endothelial cells (EAhy 926.1)	Polyfluorene	Polyfluorene	AD and presenile dementia	Inhibits amyloid conjugates, a novel polymer conjugate, sensing ability due to their distinctive optical properties	Chowdhury et al. (2018)

	Zhang et al. (2014b)	Su et al. (2016)	Bhojani et al. (2010)	(continued)
	Provides specific delivery to amyloid plaque in mice brain, high distribution, and uptake in the brain	Significant shrinkage of tumour after time period of 7 days, provided brain tumour therapy in a safe manner, used as MRI contrast agent both in in vitro and in vivo	Increased survival rate significantly, provides targeted drug delivery, increased therapeutic efficiency	
	Alzheimer's disease (AD)	Brain tumour	Brain tumour	
	Coumarin-6	Doxorubicin	Photofrin	
	1,1-Dioctadecyl- 3,3,3,3-tetrameth ylindotricarbo- cyanine iodide (DIR)	Iron oxide	Iron oxide	
	Alzheimer's disease mice model	U87-Luc2 tumour- induced mice	Rats with glioma	
	TGN and QSH peptides	G23 peptide-/ receptor-mediated endocytosis	F3 peptide	
-	Polyethylene glycol-poly lactic acid nanoparticles (PEG-PLA NPs) with approximately 100 nm	Iron oxide core with alginate coat with 139.6 nm	Polymeric nanoparticle with 125± 11.12 nm	
	17.	18.	19.	

	References	Zhang et al. (2016b)	Li et al. (2018b)	Dehvari and Lin (2012)
	Result	Real-time checking and movement of neural stem cells (NSCs) by SPIONs, increased cellular uptake, improve neurological changes	Provides controlled drug release with high loading capacity, memory deficit improved, traceable and self-assembled nanocarriers	Provides a temperature- sensitive and magnetic drug delivery system along with specific drug delivery
	Neurologic diseases	AD	AD	AD
	Therapeutic moiety	siSOX9	let-7b antisense oligonucleotide and simvastatin	1
	Imaging/ diagnostic moiety	SPIONs	SPIONs	SPIONs
	Animal model/cell lines used	2×Tg (transgenic) – mice that have induced Alzheimer's disease	2×Transgenic mice that have induced Alzheimer's disease	1
	Ligand attached/ transport method used	CPP/endocytosis	Endocytosis	Anti-Aβ monoclonal antibodies (aAβmA bs)
5.1 (continued)	Theranostic NPs with hydrodynamic size (nm)	Poly(2- hydroxyethyl methacrylate)- RA-poly (carboxybetaine) (PHEMA-RA- PCB-CPP) polymeric nanocarrier with approximately 100 nm	PCB polymer with 150 nm	SPIONs with 10 nm
Table	S. no.	20.	21.	22.

132

S. Sohail and Fakhar-Ud-Din
Skaat et al. (2013)	Guo et al. (2015)	Gao et al. (2018)
Inhibits amyloid beta (Ap40) fibrillation by five folds, detects (Ap40) by using fluorescence and MRI imaging	Provides controlled release in a H_2 O_2 -responsive manner, inhibits oxidative stress, MRI imaging detects aggregated A β	Increased rate of survival, glioma- targeted drug delivery, provides image-guided chemotherapy
AD	AD	Brain tumour
BAM10	Rutin	Paclitaxel
Fluorescent SPIONs	Iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs)	Near-infrared region (NIR) fluorophore IR640 B
Used transgenic mice with (AD) disease	APPswe/PS1dE9 transgenic mouse used	Used orthotopic U87-GFP tumour- induced mice
Anti-Aβ monoclonal antibodies (aAβmA bs)	Penetration	c(RGDyK)
SPIONs with $15.0 \pm 1.3 \text{ nm}$	Iron oxide magnetic nanocarriers with 13 nm	Den-RGD-Reg peptide nanocarrier with 7.9 nm
23	24.	25.

neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), epilepsy, Parkinson's disease (PD), ischemic stroke, multiple sclerosis, migraine, neuroinfections, malignant glioma and traumatic disorders. These disorders affect the central and peripheral nervous system. Approximately 50 million of people around the globe suffer from epilepsy according to the World Health Organization (WHO) report (WHO report, 2007). Approximately 47 million people suffer from dementia among that 36 million have (AD) (Realdon et al., 2016). Stroke is one of the foremost causes of death globally according to recent reports and findings. The prevalence rate of stroke was 42.4 million in 2015, while haemorrhagic stroke prevalence was about 18.7 million, and ischemic stroke was 24.9 million globally according to the report of the American Heart Association (Feigin et al., 2015). Among all types of cancers, brain cancer is one of the most invasive and fatal category of neurological disorders (Davis, 2016; McFaline & Lee, 2018). Gliomas are heterogeneous and consist of approximately 27% of brain tumour categories and 80% of malignant tumours. Glioblastoma is the most frequent glioma and comprises of 56% with poor consequences. These disorders affect patient lives and their families, cause huge socioeconomic burden affecting individuals and society multifariously. So here the game changer nanotheranostics save and raise the patient's quality of life that can't be treated with conventional treatment modalities successfully; also it presents a special boon for patients suffering from various brain disorders.

Alzheimer's Disease

Today millions of people affected due to Alzheimer's disease (AD) neurological disorder. It occurs due to amyloid plaque aggregation accumulation that is caused by Aβ protein aggregation and hyperphosphorylated tau protein aggregating due to intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) (Faraji & Wipf, 2009; Gabathuler, 2010; Kaur et al., 2008). Moreover, the characteristics of disease include loss of verbal fluency and loss of temporal and spatial orientation. The theory that is accepted widely for the cause of AD is amyloid cascade hypothesis. The results show the buildup and accumulation of Aβ42, which promotes additional pathological effects such as the presence of NFTs, decreased the release of neurotransmitters along with disruption of the synaptic transmission and activation of astrocytes and microglia in the response of chronic inflammation that ultimately leads to dementia and causes neuronal loss. Researchers are working to develop suitable nanoplatforms that diagnose and treat CNS diseases (Begley, 2004; Kreuter et al., 2003). Stealth liposomes reported by Tanifum et al. for the encapsulation of AB targeted lipid conjugates for deposition of amyloid plaque in the preclinical model (Tanifum et al., 2012). The results indicated the efficient delivery across BBB and binding with deposited Aß plaque. Zhang et al. designed polyethylene glycol-poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles (PEG-PLGA NPs) modified with lectin that efficiently increased the delivery through the brain by intranasal administration (Zhang et al., 2014a). Combination of Solanum tuberosum lectin (STL) to nanocarriers with incorporated basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) increased the attachment with N-acetyl glucosamine on the nasal membrane for increased brain distribution and resulting in even-size nanocarriers that has negative zeta potential. For tracing of brain delivery of 125 I-bFGF, use radioisotopic tracing method by intranasal administration for brain delivery in rats. These Nps (STL-bFGF-NP) was more effective than many other preparations for memory and spatial learning of AD rats. Zhang et al. designed and targeted bi-functional nanocarriers that consist of PEG-PLGA-NPs (Zhang et al., 2014b). The PEG-PLGA-NPs were surface conjugated with two peptides TGNC and OSH. TGNC targeted ligands at BBB, while OSH has an excellent closeness with AB42. These surface-engineered NPs provide increased and targeted brain delivery in amyloid plaque of AD models in mice. These PEG-PLGA-NPs formed toxic formation of oligomers by self-aggregation and showed avoidance of A β 1–40 and A β 1–42 peptides and moreover also showed enhanced fluorescence due to higher affinity with A β species. Hu et al. designed a nanotheranostic platform (Congo red/rutin-MNPs) for targeted drug delivery and in vivo imaging of AB plaques alongside with H₂O₂-controlled release of therapeutic agent rutin. The results indicated the stimuli-responsive distribution of rutin via Aβ-induced manufacture of H2O2 and identification of amyloid plaques by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Hu et al., 2015).

Epilepsy

The main CNS disorder "epilepsy" shows disruption in nerve cell activity and further causes spontaneous and recurrent epileptic seizures in the brain. Epilepsy is classified into generalized and partial seizures. Both sides of hemispheres are affected in generalized seizures (De Tiège et al., 2007; Fisher & Ho, 2002), and they are classified further into absence, myoclonic, grand mal, atonic, clonic and tonic seizures, whereas in partial seizures, small areas of the brain are affected. Moreover, epilepsy is classified into symptomatic, presumed symptomatic (cryptogenic) and idiopathic. Scientists are focused and working to deliver antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) that target the brain and in turn reduce adverse effects and seizures. Various methods including IV injection and pills are used to deliver AEDs through the brain but with certain limitations associated with limited penetration through BBB. The best alternative is to encapsulate these AEDs into nanocarriers for effective free AED delivery in the brain. The reported causes of epilepsy are malformation, infection in the brain, head trauma, arteriovenous malformations, reduced oxygen supply, perinatal injuries and cerebrovascular diseases (Moody et al., 1974; Rutecki et al., 1985). Huang et al. (2009) designed a chip to deliver antiepileptic drug ethosuximide (ESM). The chip was made up of magnetic core-shell nanocarriers that encapsulated drug into the electrically conductive elastic polyethylene terephthalate (PET) substrate by using the technique of electrophoresis. The in vivo findings indicated reduced seizures and reduction in spike and wave discharge in the epileptic patients. The chip methodology is highly affective as related to conventional drug delivery owing to broader versatility, dosage improvement and easy surgery. Polymeric nanocarriers are efficient to deliver AEDs owing to high stability in the biological

fluids, and its preparation technique is easy (Couvreur & Vauthier, 2006). A research group of scientists prepared a nanoplatform composed of superficial covered poly(butylcyanoacrylate) with polysorbate 80 was designed as a noncompetitive N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist, and MRZ 2/576 (8-chloro4hydroxy-1-oxo-1,2-dihydropyridazino[4,5-b] quinoline5-oxide choline salt) was encapsulated into NMDA. The polysorbate coating on these NPs attaches to apolipoprotein E and B (Friese et al., 2000), when exposed to blood, and in turn showed high brain delivery across BBB. Another group of researchers, Hsiao et al., developed injectable nanogel which has a property of thermo-gelling (Hsiao et al., 2012). In a Long Evans rat model, nanogels loaded with ESM were found to be effective in suppressing spike-wave discharges. MRI was used to observe noninvasively the gel clearance at the site of administration. Ying et al. prepared (Ying et al., 2014) electroresponsive hydrogel NPs (ERHNPs) that manipulated with brain-targeting ligand peptide angiopep-2 (ANG) that promoted the release of phenytoin and AED after triggered by external magnetic field. Fu et al., prepared (Fu et al., 2016) functionalized SPIONs targeted with anti-1L-1ß monoclonal antibody (mAb) used for MRI diagnosis and treatment. The results showed increased particles in astrocytes and neurons in antiepileptic tissues along with efficiently provided therapeutic brain delivery.

Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative illness in which there is loss of neurons that produce dopamine (DA) that originates from substantia nigra pars compacta to the corpus striatum. Because DA is important in the transfer of electric impulses to normal physical motion, its absence causes bradykinesia, stiffness, and resting tremor. Levodopa is an effective drug that is used to treat PD, but it causes a long-term side effects (Singh et al., 2007). In PD patients there is development and deposition of Lewy bodies that are composed of protein alpha-synuclein proteins. Many routes (sublingual, rectal, pulmonary) are used, but they are not much effective, and there is still a challenge to deliver the localized and targeted drug delivery for the researchers. Moreover, if the drug is not completely distributed, that results further in dyskinesia and psychiatric problems. Advancements in nanotechnology help overcome the impediments that are placed in the management of PD. Yurek et al. (2009) prepared plasma-derived glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (pGDNF) DNA NPs and when injected into the striatum produced GDNF protein overexpression and in turn provided neurotrophic support to DA neurons. Wen et al. developed a modified nanocarriers with odorranalectin (OL) by adding OL-conjugated with polyethylene glycol-poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (OL-PEG-PLGA) nanoplatforms (Wen et al., 2011). The findings indicated that these nanocarriers increased the delivery of macromolecular drug urocortin-loaded NPs (UCN-NPs) in PD. Hu et al. (2011) designed lactoferrin NPs (LF NPs) and found very successful methodology for the treatment of PD.

Huntington's Disease

Huntington's disease (HD) is a neurological disease that affects mostly cortical, striatal and spiny neurons. The features of this disease show rapid involuntary actions, alterations in mood and oxidative injury that leads to death. Moreover, also neural loss is seen in HD due to dysfunction of mitochondria. In addition, changes seen in intracellular pathway that are accountable for the existence of neurons are also shown in the development of HD. The pathogenesis of HD involves dysfunction of mitochondria, but the exact causes for pathogenesis of HD remain unidentified (Morrison, 2010; Pringsheim et al., 2012; Ross & Tabrizi, 2011; Schon & Manfredi, 2003; The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group, 1993; Wexler et al., 2004). There is a need of development of the method that can overcome the impairment in mitochondria for the successful treatment, and none other than nanotheranostics have the potential to treat these HD disorders. Sandhir et al. (2014) developed entrapped curcumin solid lipid nanoparticles (C-SLNs) to improved 3-nitropropionic acid-induced HD rats. The findings showed the increased Nrf2 mRNA expression along with increased nuclear and cytosolic fractions. Bhatt et al. (2015) developed rosmarinic acid (RA)-loaded SLNs, and findings indicated that RA-SLNs showed a promising tool for effective treatment against PD through administration by intranasal route.

Ischemic Stroke

Ischemic stroke is the foremost reason of death or disability, and here nanotheranostic nanocarriers show high efficiency for this disease treatment. For the detection of stroke, various biomarkers were measured that includes glial fibrillary acidic protein and vascular cell adhesion molecule that may have conjugated with nanocarriers followed by computed tomography or MRI scan (Jickling & Sharp, 2011). For acute ischemic stroke, improvement of fibrin targeted nanocarriers as a substitute to recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (r-TPA) and has a striking targeted strategy to decline illness and death in patients. Some other nanoparticles include quantum dots (QDs) which were successfully used to deliver TPA (Chen et al., 2012; Lin et al., 2013; Marsh et al., 2011). Dendrimers also displayed high efficacy to deliver heparin in rodent model of ischemic stroke, thus efficiently preventing deep vein thrombosis (Bai & Ahsan, 2009). Regarding carbon nanotube (CNT) applications in stroke, it exhibited the electrical neutrality in the injured tissues of neurons and thus increased functional recovery (Moon et al., 2012). Researchers studied anandamide CNTs showed enhanced cell viability and reduction of oxidative stress and thus have been proposed as an efficient nanoplatform with neuroprotective effects (Hassanzadeh et al., 2017). In this context NGF (nerve growth factor) played a crucial role in CNS disorders (AD, ischemic stroke) as NGF promotes the antioxidant protein expression and prevents neuronal insult and excitotoxic damage (Bianchi et al., 2012; Fantacci et al., 2013; Lad et al., 2003). Meanwhile efficiency of NGF has been affected negatively due to slow penetration in tissues and its short half-life and also affected by environmental factors (Pfister et al., 2007). NGF-conjugated nanomaterials that target the brain have been developed in this regard (Kurakhmaeva et al., 2009). A research group of scientists designed amine-functionalized CNT-NGF that showed enhanced neuroprotective effects by suppressing cytotoxicity induced by ischemia (Allen & Bayraktutan, 2009; Hassanzadeh et al., 2017). In recent studies, polyphenolic compound showed great efficiency against ischemic stroke owing to their antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects (Hassanzadeh et al., 2015). However, its efficiency is inadequate owing to their small half-lives and poor penetration across BBB (Adam et al., 2002; Li et al., 2008). So in this scenario, numerous nanoformulations incorporated in these polyphenolic compounds were designed to improve the pharmaceutical and pharmacological properties of these compounds and in turn reduce ischemia-related damage of neurons (Ghosh et al., 2013; Kakkar et al., 2013).

Multiple Sclerosis

MS is a chronic neuroinflammatory disease marked by degeneration of neurons and immune cell invasion of the central nervous system, particularly lymphocytes and macrophages (Banks, 2016). The cause yet be unknown but linked to various environmental factors that include smoking, low levels of vitamin D, some genetic factors and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (Brown, 2016). Among the ages of 20 and 40 years, approximately 20 million people suffer globally from MS (Brown, 2016). MS is classified into relapse-remitting MS (RRMS), primary progressive MS (PPMS) and secondary progressive MS (SPMS) (Schmidt, 2016). The nanomaterialbased approach provides a promising role for the management of MS as shown in animal models of MS (Kannan et al., 2012; Menjoge et al., 2010). Specifically, vttrium and cerium oxides (Y_2O_3 and CeO_2) NPs showed mitigation of ROS in vitro by using hippocampal cells of neurons (Orive et al., 2009; Schubert et al., 2006). Furthermore, other authors designed poly(amidoamine) dendrimers that showed therapeutic localization in astrocytes and microglia cells of brain diseases, ultimately reduced neuroinflammation and improved motor function (Dai et al., 2010; Kanwar et al., 2012). Machtoub et al. injected ultra-small superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (USPIO-NPs) conjugated with anti-CD4 antibodies, and results showed successfully imaging of brain lymphocytes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) models of rat brain via MRI and surface-enhanced coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering microscopy (SECARS) (Machtoub et al., 2010). Another group of research scientists designed teriflunomide-nanostructured lipid carriers (TFM-NLCs) in MS by intranasal route, and results indicated that TFM-NLCs produced remyelination in cuprizone-managed animals and further decreased the entry number in elevated plus maze (EPM) model (Gadhave & Kokare, 2019). Another group of scientists designed dimethyl fumarate (DMF) nanolipoidal nanocarriers for the treatment of MS. Results indicated that these DMF nanocarriers rejuvenated the myelin sheath, effective brain delivery along with reduced dosage frequency (Kumar et al., 2018).

Gliomas

A familiar category of tumour that originates from glia guides the developing neurons. Gliomas make up about 33% of all brain tumours and come in a variety of aggressiveness and differentiation grades. Symptoms depends upon the part of the brain damaged and moreover also depend on the degree of malignancy; they include headache, vomiting, nausea, vertigo, speech difficulties, motor alterations and in advanced phases of seizures a common demonstration too. Classification of glioma as reported by the World Health Organization (WHO) includes astrocytoma, glioblastoma, anaplastic astrocytoma, oligodendrogliomas, ependymomas and mixed gliomas (Wesseling & Capper, 2018). Among all glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most ordinary malignant and comprises greater than 60% of primary astrocytomas (Rock et al., 2012). GBM is rarely common in children, but it is most common in adults as a high-grade primary brain tumour (Aldape et al., 2015). GBM is known as the lethal form of brain tumour and originating from glial cells. The survival rate is 14 months despite of many therapies and its combination (chemotherapy, radiation therapy), so there is a firm need to develop such strategies to eradicate the GBM in an effective way (Hanif et al., 2017; Koshy et al., 2012). Another recent approach used is immunotherapy, but still it cannot eradicate the tumours completely, and recurrence occurs due to intratumoral heterogeneity in patients. Several nanoformulations marked with specific ligands showed notably improvement in elimination and treatment of brain tumours (Dixit et al., 2015; Gao et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2017; Madhankumar et al., 2006; Mahmud et al., 2018). Another research group of scientists designed theranostic polyfunctional gold ironoxide nanoparticles (polyGIONs) conjugated with surface therapeutic miRNA to mice in GBM. The results indicated trafficking and multimodality imaging in vivo along with concurrent systemically delivered temozolomide (TMZ) effectively in intranasal delivery (Uday et al., 2019). Another research group of scientists developed cetuximab (C225) entrapped core-shell Fe₃ O₄ @Au magnetic nanoparticles (Fe₃ O₄ @Au-C225 composite-targeted MNPs) against magneto-photothermal therapy against the cells of glioma. The results indicated that it showed a great potential to treat human glioma and used a potential of great value to medical use in the future (Lu et al., 2018). Wang et al. designed core/shell/shell NaYF4:Yb, Er@ NaGdF4:Yb@NaNdF4:Yb nanoplates and searched their utilization in NIR-II FL imaging and photodynamic therapy (PDT) of glioblastoma. The results indicated that these NPs showed increase accumulation in brain tumours, showed enhanced tumoricidal activity, and resulted in complete removal of glioblastoma at the 25th day post treatment (Wang et al., 2017).

Current Developments in Nanotheranostics for Neurological Disorders

Nanotechnology in Neurosurgery

In near the future, nanosurgery will be the upcoming medical frontline in neurobiology that contributes to advancements in neurosurgery (Ebbesen & Jensen, 2006; Kohli & Elezzabi, 2009). Nanosurgery will remove the defects in cellular or subcellular levels and also involves nanoimaging. Synthetic nanomagnetic materials (such as cytobots and karyobots) will have magnificent properties and will regenerate the axons which damaged and halted the deleterious processes (such as haemorrhaging) by nanomanipulations (Freitas, 2005; Khawaja, 2011). Nano-neuromodulators and nonsurgical nanorepairs will be stimulating and monitoring the damaged neurons. In this context, in the last period, single-cell nanosurgery was the philosophy of neurosciences, but the recent advances of QDs for nanoimaging multifaceted nanocarriers for neuromodulations, and AFM cantilever for nanomanipulations became reality (Jeffries et al., 2007). Moreover, a research group of scientists implanted AFM tip as sharp needle's nanoscissors that can penetrate only 1 micrometre in cell wall. This was much gentle than the routine method that was tough to control in microcapillary procedures. AFM tip easily penetrates to the nucleus and returns back, and the cell wall returns to its normal shape (Obataya et al., 2005). It further rises in the new perspective for single-cell neurorepair like the coating tip with monoclonal antibodies (mAb) that interacts specifically to traffic of intracellular proteins and enables real-time monitoring of intracellular chemistry. Microrobotics and nanobodies, which use tiny magnetically driven spinning screws to swim along veins and deliver medications to infected tissues or even burrow into damaged brain cells, have gone from science fiction to reality (Hernot et al., 2012; Wang & Gao, 2012).

Challenges and Their Potential Solutions

BBB-crossing nanoplatforms provided excessive chances to transport imaging probe and therapeutic moieties for efficient treatment of brain disorders. In view of this, NanoTherm and Opaxia therapy approved by European Regulatory Agency seem promising. Although there are many promising strategies, they are still facing many limitations, and effort must be made to translate nanotheranostics from the bench to the bedside of the patients. The major issue facing is inconsistent metabolic destiny of nanoacarriers after the systemic administration. In incubation of biological fluids, nanocarriers from protein corona adsorb molecules on their surface that further alter their surface chemistry and charge (Walkey et al., 2012) and nullify their potential diagnostic and therapeutic performance. This issue can be solved by coating nanoparticles with PEG chains that reduced macrophage uptake

and opsonization and increases blood circulation. However, it is reported by other studies that further issues occurred due to immunogenicity of PEG moiety (Shukla et al., 2018). Recently, a research group of scientists, Cox et al., recognize that protein corona from blood to brain faces dramatic and dynamic molecular remodelling during transportation however stable beyond BBB (Cox et al., 2018). The authors designed mercapto-1-undecanesulfonate (MUS)-covered gold NP (All MUS NP) nanoplatforms and displayed their BBB passage capability by bio-TEM of hCMEC/ D3 cells to visualize the apical to basolateral dynamic movement of these internalized nanocarriers (All MUS NPs). Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) study of protein corona NPs in the Transwell system (Cox et al., 2018) indicates that nominated proteins were enhanced in blood side (apical compartment), whereas undetectable proteins were visualized in the basolateral compartment (brain side). These findings indicated that protein corona NP alters after interaction with BBB, so it is a significant aspect to deal when manipulating and analysing nanocarriers for diagnosis and treatment for neurological disorders. The second challenge is the limited brain delivery, despite of many targeted nanotheranostic nanocarriers to transverse BBB, targeting proteins or receptors in brain capillary endothelial cells (BCECs), but is still challenging due to some receptors shown in healthy brain tissues as well. Furthermore, BBB and blood-tumour barrier (BTB) further hamper the drug buildup and diffusion in brain delivery. In this scenario, highly selective and preferred targeting ligands are required for NP functionalization. New developments are conductive to enhancing brain delivery that includes integration of NPs with cell-penetrating peptide (CPP) and development of spherical-shaped NPs (rod like, worm like) (Lin et al., 2016; Zeng et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2017). For on-demand drug release in a spatiotemporally controlled manner, more emphasis should be made on TME-responsive nanosystems. For the transformation of these nanocarrier-based theranostics, agent safety remains a predominant factor that needs to be highly addressed. It is worth mentioning that most efficient nanocarriers assemble in major organs (liver, kidneys, spleen) before removal. Moreover, the aforementioned systemic toxicity and possible neurotoxicity caused by far-off targeted nanocarriers remain the legal concerns in healthy brain tissues. Several metal and metal oxide nanocarriers caused neurotoxicity through increased oxidative stress and induce cellular apoptosis (Su et al., 2018). Examples include TiO₂ and ZnO NPs in CNS which were found to result in cellular inhibition, imbalance in oxidative stress, DNA damage and ultimately neurodegeneration (Aijie et al., 2017). The promising answer to this matter is to conceal NPs with biocompatible polymers or cell membrane (Cai et al., 2016; Guo et al., 2017; Rao et al., 2016), or another one is to modify nanocarriers with surface-conjugated braintargeting ligands that promote effective brain delivery as well as reduce the far-off targeted delivery in healthy brain tissues. Another solution to reduce neurotoxicity is to avoid premature drug release by developing TME-responsive nanoplatforms that release their cargoes in a responsive manner. Although some nanoformulations cause low acute and systemic toxicity, their side effects of long-term and clearance mechanism are not completely recognized. Furthermore, additional practical matters include extended stability, reproducibility and immunogenicity of these nanoparticles that impede their clinical applications. Despite the current challenges of scientific and regulatory approvals for clinical translation, the novel development of multifunctional theranostic nanocarriers with high BBB-crossing capacity for brain disorders includes tumour selectivity, and it remains a great boon (Fig. 5.1). In addition, clinical studies using theranostic-based nanoplatforms, which have been done for diagnosis and treatment of CNS disorders, are concise and discussed in Table 5.2.

S. no.	Theranostic NPs	Description	Brain disorders/ cancer type	References and/or identifier/clinical trial ID/phase
1.	Gold Nanocarriers	To evaluate the efficiency of NU-0129 (nucleic acids organized on the external of a round gold nanocarrier)	Glioblastoma	NCT03020017 Early Phase 1
2.	Ferumoxytol	Superparamagnetic iron oxide covered with polyglucose sorbitol carboxymethyl ether	Epilepsy	NCT02084303
3.	⁶⁷ Cu-peptide conjugates	MTD study of ⁶⁴ Cu-SARTATE	Neuroblastoma	NCT04023331 Phase 1 and 2
4.	Ferumoxytol	Composed of superparamagnetic iron oxide coated with polyglucose sorbitol carboxymethyl ether	Brain glioblastoma	NCT00660543 Yankeelov et al. (2014)
5.	Nanoliposomal CPT-11	Liposomal irinotecan	Recurrent high-grade gliomas	NCT00734682 and NCT02022644
6.	Ferumoxytol	Composed of superparamagnetic iron oxide covered with polyglucose sorbitol carboxymethyl ether	Brain neoplasm	NCT00659126 Yankeelov et al. (2014)
7.	SGT-53	Nanocomplex of liposomes incorporating a wild category p53 DNA arrangement, used in conjugation with temozolomide	Recurrent glioblastoma	NCT02340156
8.	Ferumoxtran-10	Ultra-small superparamagnetic iron oxides coated with dextran	Multiple sclerosis	Singh et al., (2010)
9.	Caelyx TM	PEGylated liposomal DOX (PEG-Dox)	Brain tumour	NCT02766699
10.	Ferumoxides (Feridex)	Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanocarriers coated with dextran	Multiple sclerosis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	Tomitaka et al. (2019)
11.	Ferumoxytol	Superparamagnetic iron oxide covered with polyglucose sorbitol carboxymethyl ether	Migraine headache	NCT02549898

 Table 5.2
 Tabular representation of clinical stage of development of nanotheranostics systems for neurological disorders

Future Prospects and Concluding Remarks

Despite the continuous improvements in the technical arena, brain-associated disorders remain a significant problem with high danger of mortality. Apart from the above-mentioned therapy and imaging techniques, we can glance in novel bioengineering devices such as 4D and two-photon imaging that can detect the movement of NPs at the BBB and brain tumours over a period of time (Scheibe et al., 2011; Tang et al., 2019). Furthermore, recent advances in genome editing, such as the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)/CRISPRassociated (Cas) 9 system (Li et al., 2018a), may bring new technologies for delivering genetic materials to the brain, particularly for the treatment of brain cancer. Moreover, nanoplatforms that can cross BBB can treat various advance stages of brain disorders such as stroke, PD, AD and epilepsy as mentioned above in the section of targeted theranostic nanocarriers for brain disorders (Saraiva et al., 2016). NPs modified with BBB or disease-targeting ligands are used to deliver cargoes to dopaminergic neurons for PD and deliver neuronal stem cells for the repair of neurons and targeting microglia for neuroinflammation (Khan et al., 2018). The issues like opsonization and toxicity must be addressed for clinical applications of neurological disorders. The use of nanoplatforms to treat brain disorders is yet in its initial phases. In recent years improvements in techniques for imaging and therapy of brain disorders enhanced our living understanding. Even though BBB is still a powerful challenge, nanocarrier-based delivery systems (ligand functionalization) show promising results preclinically. Moreover, some backup solutions to enhance nanoformulations into brain delivery include focused ultrasound (FUS)/chemical/biological-facilitated BBB distraction. In contrary to other therapeutic and imaging agents, nanoparticles have the ability to modify some adjustments in shape, size and ligand-targeting ability to control the impediments linked with blood-brain barrier and blood-tumour barrier (BTB). We expect that more efforts and continued developments in the area of nanomedicine will overcome multiple snags and will further improve patient outcomes and quality of life, and then we can shift innovation from laboratory to the bedside of the patient for individualized therapy.

References

- Adam, A., Crespy, V., Verny, M. A. L., Leenhardt, F., Leuillet, M., Demigné, C., & Rémésy, C. (2002). The bioavailability of ferulic acid is governed primarily by the food matrix rather than its metabolism in intestine and liver in rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132(7), 1962–1968.
- Agulla, J., Brea, D., Campos, F., Sobrino, T., Argibay, B., Soufi, W. A., Blanco, M., Castillo, J., & Cabrer, P. R. (2013). *In vivo* theranostics at the peri-infarct region in cerebral ischemia. *Theranostics*, 4(1), 90–105.
- Agyare, E. K., Jaruszewski, K. M., Curran, G. L., Rosenberg, J. T., Grant, S. C., Lowe, V. J., Ramakrishnan, S., Paravastu, A. K., Poduslo, J. F., & Kandimalla, K. K. (2014). Engineering theranostic nanovehicles capable of targeting cerebrovascular amyloid deposits. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 185(1), 121–129.

- Aijie, C., Huimin, L., Jia, L., Lingling, O., Limin, W., Junrong, W., Xuan, L., Xue, H., & Longquan, S. (2017). Central neurotoxicity induced by the instillation of ZnO and TiO₂ nanoparticles through the taste nerve pathway. *Nanomedicine*, *12*(20), 2453–2470.
- Aldape, K., Zadeh, G., Mansouri, S., Reifenberger, G., & Deimling, A. V. (2015). Glioblastoma: Pathology, molecular mechanisms and markers. *Acta Neuropatholigica*, 129(6), 829–848.
- Ali, I. U., & Chen, X. (2015). Penetrating the blood-brain barrier: Promise of novel nanoplatforms and delivery vehicles. ACS Nano, 9(10), 9470–9474.
- Allen, C. L., & Bayraktutan, U. (2009). Oxidative stress and its role in the pathogenesis of ischaemic stroke. *International Journal of Stroke*, 4(6), 461–470.
- Anraku, Y., Kuwahara, H., Fukusato, Y., Mizoguchi, A., Ishii, T., Nitta, K., Matsumoto, Y., Toh, K., Miyata, K., & Uchida, S. (2017). Glycaemic control boosts glucosylated nanocarrier crossing the BBB into the brain. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1–9.
- Bai, S., & Ahsan, F. (2009). Synthesis and evaluation of pegylated dendrimeric nanocarrier for pulmonary delivery of low molecular weight heparin. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 26(3), 539–548.
- Banks, W. A. (2016). From blood-brain barrier to blood-brain interface: New opportunities for CNS drug delivery. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 15(4), 275–292.
- Begley, D. J. (2004). Delivery of therapeutic agents to the central nervous system: The problems and the possibilities. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 104(1), 29–45.
- Bernal, G. M., LaRiviere, M. J., Mansour, N., Pytel, P., Cahill, K. E., Voce, D. J., Kang, S., Spretz, R., Welp, U., Noriega, S. E., Nunez, L., Larsen, G. F., Weichselbaum, R. R., & Yamini, B. (2014). Convection-enhanced delivery and *in vivo* imaging of polymeric nanoparticles for the treatment of malignant glioma. *Nanomedicine*, 10(1), 149–157.
- Bhatt, R., Singh, D., Prakash, A., & Mishra, N. (2015). Development, characterization and nasal delivery of rosmarinic acid-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for the effective management of huntington's disease. *Drug Delivery*, 22(7), 931–939.
- Bhojani, M. S., Dort, M. V., Rehemtulla, A., & Ross, B. D. (2010). Targeted imaging and therapy of brain cancer using theranostic nanoparticles. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 7(6), 1921–1929.
- Bianchi, P., Rocco, M. L., Bellis, A. D., & Aloe, L. (2012). Effect of intranasal NGF administration in injured spinal cord and leptin levels in adult rats. *Adipobiology*, 4(1), 67–75.
- Borlongan, C., & Emerich, D. (2003). Facilitation of drug entry into the CNS via transient permeation of blood brain barrier: Laboratory and preliminary clinical evidence from bradykinin receptor agonist Cereport. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 60(3), 297–306.
- Boyé, K., Pujol, N., Alves, I. D., Chen, Y. P., Daubon, T., Lee, Y. Z., Dedieu, S., Constantin, M., Bello, L., Rossi, M., Bjerkvig, R., Sue, S. C., Bikfalvi, A., & Billottet, C. (2017). The role of CXCR3/LRP1 cross-talk in the invasion of primary brain tumors. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1571–1591.
- Brown, C. (2016). Aetiology: Neighbourhood watch. Nature, 540(7631), S4-S6.
- Cai, X., Bandla, A., Mao, D., Feng, G., Qin, W., Liao, L. D., Thakor, N., Tang, B. Z., & Liu, B. (2016). Biocompatible red fluorescent organic nanoparticles with tunable size and aggregation-induced emission for evaluation of blood-brain barrier damage. *Advanced Materials*, 28(39), 8760–8765.
- Chen, Y., & Liu, L. (2012). Modern methods for delivery of drugs across the blood–brain barrier. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 64(7), 640–665.
- Chen, J. P., Yang, P. C., Ma, Y. H., Tu, S. J., & Lu, Y. J. (2012). Targeted delivery of tissue plasminogen activator by binding to silica-coated magnetic nanoparticle. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 7(1), 5137–5149.
- Cheng, Y., Morshed, R., Cheng, S. H., Tobias, A., Auffinger, B., Wainwright, D. A., Zhang, L., Yunis, C., Han, Y., Chen, C. T., Lo, L. W., Aboody, K. S., Ahmed, A. U., & Lesniak, M. S. (2013). Nanoparticle-programmed self-destructive neural stem cells for glioblastoma targeting and therapy. *Small*, 9(24), 4123–4129.
- Choi, M., Ku, T., Chong, K., Yoon, J., & Choi, C. (2011). Minimally invasive molecular delivery into the brain using optical modulation of vascular permeability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(22), 9256–9261.

- Choudhury, H., Pandey, M., Chin, P. X., Phang, Y. L., Cheah, J. Y., Ooi, S. C., Mak, K. K., Pichika, M. R., Kesharwani, P., & Hussain, Z. (2018). Transferrin receptors-targeting nanocarriers for efficient targeted delivery and transcytosis of drugs into the brain tumors: A review of recent advancements and emerging trends. *Drug Delivery and Translational Research*, 8(5), 1545–1563.
- Chowdhury, S. R., Mondal, S., Muthuraj, B., Balaji, S. N., Trivedi, V., & Krishnan Iyer, P. (2018). Remarkably efficient blood-brain barrier crossing polyfluorene-chitosan nanoparticle selectively tweaks amyloid oligomer in cerebrospinal fluid and Aβ1-40. ACS Omega, 3(7), 8059–8066.
- Clavreul, A., Montagu, A., Lainé, A. L., Tétaud, C., Lautram, N., Franconi, F., Passirani, C., Vessières, A., Montero-Menei, C. N., & Menei, P. (2015). Targeting and treatment of glioblastomas with human mesenchymal stem cells carrying ferrociphenol lipid nanocapsules. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 10(1), 1259–1271.
- Couvreur, P., & Vauthier, C. (2006). Nanotechnology: Intelligent design to treat complex disease. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 23(7), 1417–1450.
- Cox, A., Andreozzi, P., Magro, R. D., Fiordaliso, F., Corbelli, A., Talamini, L., Chinello, C., Raimondo, F., Magni, F., Tringali, M., Krol, S., Silva, P. J., Stellacci, F., Masserini, M., & Re, F. (2018). Evolution of nanoparticle protein corona across the blood-brain barrier. ACS Nano, 12(7), 7292–7300.
- Dai, H., Navath, R. S., Balakrishnan, B., Guru, B. R., Mishra, M. K., Romero, R., Kannan, R. M., & Kannan, S. (2010). Intrinsic targeting of inflammatory cells in the brain by polyamidoamine dendrimers upon subarachnoid administration. *Nanomedicine*, 5(9), 1317–1329.
- Davis, M. E. (2016). Glioblastoma: Overview of disease and treatment. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 20(5), S2–S8.
- De Tiège, X., Laufs, H., Boyd, S. G., Harkness, W., Allen, P. J., Clark, C. A., Connelly, A., & Cross, J. H. (2007). EEG-fMRI in children with pharmacoresistant focal epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, *48*(2), 385–389.
- Dehvari, K., & Lin, K. S. (2012). Synthesis, characterization and potential applications of multifunctional PEO-PPOPEO- magnetic drug delivery system. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 19(30), 5199–5204.
- Delhaye, C., Mahmoudi, M., & Waksman, R. (2012). Hypothermia therapy: Neurological and cardiac benefits. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 59(3), 197–210.
- Dhuria, S. V., Hanson, L. R., & Frey, W. H., II. (2010). Intranasal delivery to the central nervous system: Mechanisms and experimental considerations. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 99(4), 1654–1673.
- Din, F. U., Aman, W., Ullah, I., Qureshi, O. S., Mustapha, O., Shafique, S., & Zeb, A. (2017). Effective use of nanocarriers as drug delivery systems for the treatment of selected tumors. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 12(1), 7291–7309.
- Diringer, M. N., & Zazulia, A. R. (2004). Osmotic therapy. Neurocritical Care, 1(2), 219–233.
- Dixit, S., Novak, T., Miller, K., Zhu, Y., Kenney, M. E., & Broome, A. M. (2015). Transferrin receptor-targeted theranostic gold nanoparticles for photosensitizer delivery in brain tumors. *Nanoscale*, 7(5), 1782–1790.
- Du, D., Chang, N., Sun, S., Li, M., Yu, H., Liu, M., Liu, X., Wang, G., Li, H., & Liu, X. (2014). The role of glucose transporters in the distribution of p-aminophenyl-α-d-mannopyranoside modified liposomes within mice brain. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 182(1), 99–110.
- Ebbesen, M., & Jensen, T. G. (2006). Nanomedicine: Techniques, potentials, and ethical implications. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2006(5), 51516–51527.
- Fan, C. H., Cheng, Y. H., Ting, C. Y., Ho, Y. J., Hsu, P. H., Liu, H. L., & Yeh, C. K. (2016). Ultrasound/magnetic targeting with SPIO-DOX-microbubble complex for image-guided drug delivery in brain tumors. *Theranostics*, 6(10), 1542–1556.
- Fantacci, C., Capozzi, D., Ferrara, P., & Chiaretti, A. (2013). Neuroprotective role of nerve growth factor in hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. *Brain Sciences*, 3(3), 1013–1022.

- Faraji, A. H., & Wipf, P. (2009). Nanoparticles in cellular drug delivery. *Bioorganic and Medicine Chemistry*, 17(8), 2950–2962.
- Feigin, V. L., Krishnamurthi, R. V., Parmar, P., Norrving, B., Mensah, G. A., Bennett, D. A., Collo, S. B., Moran, A. E., Sacco, R. L., Truelsen, T., Davis, S., Pandian, J. D., Naghavi, M., Forouzanfar, M. H., Nguyen, G., Johnson, C. O., Vos, T., Meretoja, A., Murray, C. J., & Roth, G. A. (2015). Update on the global burden of ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke in 1990-2013: The GBD 2013 study. *Neuroepidemiology*, 45(3), 161–176.
- Fisher, R. S., & Ho, J. (2002). Potential new methods for antiepileptic drug delivery. CNS Drugs, 16(9), 579–593.
- Freitas, R. A. J. (2005). Nanotechnology, nanomedicine and nanosurgery. *International Journal of Surgery*, 3(4), 243–246.
- Friese, A., Seiller, E., Quack, G., Lorenz, B., & Kreuter, J. (2000). Increase of the duration of the anticonvulsive activity of a novel NMDA receptor antagonist using poly(butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles as a parenteral controlled release system. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics* and Biopharmaceutics, 49(2), 103–109.
- Fu, T., Kong, Q., Sheng, H., & Gao, L. (2016). Value of functionalized superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles in the diagnosis and treatment of acute temporal lobe epilepsy on MRI. *Neural Plasticity*, 2016(1), 2412958–2412971.
- Gabathuler, R. (2010). Approaches to transport therapeutic drugs across the blood-brain barrier to treat brain diseases. *Neurobiology of Disease*, *37*(1), 48–57.
- Gadhave, D. G., & Kokare, C. R. (2019). Nanostructured lipid carriers engineered for intranasal delivery of teriflunomide in multiple sclerosis: Optimization and *in vivo* studies. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 45(5), 839–851.
- Gao, H., Qian, J., Cao, S., Yang, Z., Pang, Z., Pan, S., Fan, L., Xi, Z., Jiang, X., & Zhang, Q. (2012). Precise glioma targeting of and penetration by aptamer and peptide dual-functioned nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 33(20), 5115–5123.
- Gao, X., Yue, Q., Liu, Y., Fan, D., Fan, K., Li, S., Qian, J., Han, L., Fang, F., Xu, F., Geng, D., Chen, L., Zhou, X., Mao, Y., & Li, C. (2018). Image-guided chemotherapy with specifically tuned blood brain barrier permeability in glioma margins. *Theranostics*, 8(11), 3126–3137.
- Ghosh, A., Sarkar, S., Mandal, A. K., & Das, N. (2013). Neuroprotective role of nanoencapsulated quercetin in combating ischemia-reperfusion induced neuronal damage in young and aged rats. *PLoS One*, 8(4), 57735–57747.
- Guo, J., Gao, X., Su, L., Xia, H., Gu, G., Pang, Z., Jiang, X., Yao, L., Chen, J., & Chen, H. (2011). Aptamer-functionalized PEG-PLGA nanoparticles for enhanced anti-glioma drug delivery. *Biomaterials*, 32(31), 8010–8020.
- Guo, H., Chen, W., Sun, X., Liu, Y. N., Li, J., & Wang, J. (2015). Theranostic magnetoliposomes coated by carboxymethyl dextran with controlled release by low-frequency alternating magnetic field. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 118(1), 209–217.
- Guo, B., Sheng, Z. H., Kenry, D. H., Hu, X. W., Lin, S. D., Xu, C. B., & Liu, H. R. (2017). Biocompatible conjugated polymer nanoparticles for highly efficient photoacoustic imaging of orthotopic brain tumors in the second near-infrared window. *Materials Horizon*, 4(1), 1151–1156.
- Gutova, M., Frank, J. A., D'Apuzzo, M., Khankaldyyan, V., Gilchrist, M. M., Annala, A. J., Metz, M. Z., Abramyants, Y., Herrmann, K. A., Ghoda, L. Y., Najbauer, J., Brown, C. E., Blanchard, M. S., Lesniak, M. S., Kim, S. U., Barish, M. E., Aboody, K. S., & Moats, R. A. (2013). Magnetic resonance imaging tracking of ferumoxytol-labeled human neural stem cells: Studies leading to clinical use. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, *2*(10), 766–775.
- Han, L., Kong, D. K., Zheng, M. Q., Murikinati, S., Ma, C., Yuan, P., Li, L., Tian, D., Cai, Q., Ye, C., Holden, D., Park, J. H., Gao, X., Thomas, J. L., Grutzendler, J., Carson, R. E., Huang, Y., Piepmeier, J. M., & Zhou, J. (2016). Increased nanoparticle delivery to brain tumors by autocatalytic priming for improved treatment and imaging. ACS Nano, 10(4), 4209–4218.
- Hanif, F., Muzaffar, K., Perveen, K., Malhi, S. M., & Simjee, U. S. (2017). Glioblastoma multiforme: A review of its epidemiology and pathogenesis through clinical presentation and treatment. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention, 18(1), 3–9.

- Hassanzadeh, P., Atyabi, F., & Dinarvand, R. (2015). Resveratrol: More than a phytochemical. *Biomedical Reviews*, 26(1), 13–21.
- Hassanzadeh, P., Arbabi, E., Atyabi, F., & Dinarvand, R. (2017). Nerve growth factor-carbon nanotube complex exerts prolonged protective effects in an *in vitro* model of ischemic stroke. *Life Sciences*, 179(1), 15–22.
- Hernot, S., Unnikrishnan, S., Du, Z., Shevchenko, T., Cosyns, B., Broisat, A., Toczek, J., Caveliers, V., Muyldermans, S., Lahoutte, T., Klibanov, A. L., & Devoogdt, N. (2012). Nanobody-coupled microbubbles as novel molecular tracer. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 158(2), 346–353.
- Hervé, F., Ghinea, N., & Scherrmann, J. M. (2008). CNS delivery via adsorptive transcytosis. American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists, 10(3), 455–472.
- Hofman, A., Duijn, C. M. V., Franco, O. H., Ikram, M. A., Janssen, H. L., Klaver, C. C., Kuipers, E. J., Nijsten, T. E., Stricker, B. H. C., & Tiemeier, H. (2011). The Rotterdam study: 2012 objectives and design update. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 26(8), 657–686.
- Hsiao, M. H., Larsson, M., Larsson, A., Evenbratt, H., Chen, Y. Y., Chen, Y. Y., & Liu, D. M. (2012). Design and characterization of a novel amphiphilic chitosan nanocapsule-based thermo-gelling biogel with sustained *in vivo* release of the hydrophilic anti-epilepsy drug ethosuximide. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 161(3), 942–948.
- Hu, K., Shi, Y., Jiang, W., Han, J., Huang, S., & Jiang, X. (2011). Lactoferrin conjugated PEG-PLGA nanoparticles for brain delivery: Preparation, characterization and efficacy in Parkinson's disease. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 415(1–2), 273–283.
- Hu, B., Dai, F., Fan, Z., Ma, G., Tang, Q., & Zhang, X. (2015). Nanotheranostics: Congo Red/Rutin-MNPs with enhanced magnetic resonance imaging and H₂O₂-responsive therapy of alzheimer's disease in APPswe/PS1dE9 transgenic mice. *Advanced Materials*, 27(37), 5499–5505.
- Huang, W. C., Hu, S. H., Liu, K. H., Chen, S. Y., & Liu, D. M. (2009). A flexible drug delivery chip for the magnetically-controlled release of anti-epileptic drugs. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 139(3), 221–228.
- Huang, X., Zhang, F., Wang, H., Niu, G., Choi, K. Y., Swierczewska, M., Zhang, G., Gao, H., Wang, Z., Zhu, L., Choi, H. S., Lee, S., & Chen, X. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cell-based cell engineering with multifunctional mesoporous silica nanoparticles for tumor delivery. *Biomaterials*, 34(7), 1772–1780.
- Janib, S. M., Moses, A. S., & MacKay, J. A. (2010). Imaging and drug delivery using theranostic nanoparticles. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 62(11), 1052–1063.
- Jeffries, G. D., Edgar, J. S., Zhao, Y., Shelby, J. P., Fong, C., & Chiu, D. T. (2007). Using polarizationshaped optical vortex traps for single-cell nanosurgery. *Nano Letters*, 7(2), 415–420.
- Jia, G., Han, Y., An, Y., Ding, Y., He, C., Wang, X., & Tang, Q. (2018). NRP-1 targeted and cargoloaded exosomes facilitate simultaneous imaging and therapy of glioma *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Biomaterials*, 178(1), 302–316.
- Jiang, Y., Yang, W., Zhang, J., Meng, F., & Zhong, Z. (2018a). Protein toxin chaperoned by LRP-1targeted virus-mimicking vesicles induces high-efficiency glioblastoma therapy *in vivo*. *Advanced Materials*, 30(30), 1800316–1800323.
- Jiang, Y., Zhang, J., Meng, F., & Zhong, Z. (2018b). Apolipoprotein E peptide-directed chimeric polymersomes mediate an ultrahigh-efficiency targeted protein therapy for glioblastoma. ACS Nano, 12(11), 11070–11079.
- Jickling, G. C., & Sharp, F. R. (2011). Blood biomarkers of ischemic stroke. *Neurotherapeutics*, 8(3), 349–360.
- Kakkar, V., Muppu, S. K., Chopra, K., & Kaur, I. P. (2013). Curcumin loaded solid lipid nanoparticles: An efficient formulation approach for cerebral ischemic reperfusion injury in rats. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 85(3), 339–345.
- Kannan, S., Dai, H., Navath, R. S., Balakrishnan, B., Jyoti, A., Janisse, J., Romero, R., & Kannan, R. M. (2012). Dendrimer-based postnatal therapy for neuroinflammation and cerebral palsy in a rabbit model. *Science Translational Medicine*, 4(130), 130–146.
- Kanwar, J. R., Sun, X., Punj, V., Sriramoju, B., Mohan, R. R., Zhou, S. F., Chauhan, A., & Kanwar, R. K. (2012). Nanoparticles in the treatment and diagnosis of neurological disorders: Untamed dragon with fire power to heal. *Nanomedicine*, 8(4), 399–414.

- Kaur, I. P., Bhandari, R., Bhandari, S., & Kakkar, V. (2008). Potential of solid lipid nanoparticles in brain targeting. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 127(2), 97–109.
- Kawasaki, E. S., & Player, A. (2005). Nanotechnology, nanomedicine, and the development of new, effective therapies for cancer. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 1(2), 101–109.
- Khan, F. A., Almohazey, D., Alomari, M., & Imofty, S. A. (2018). Impact of nanoparticles on neuron biology: Current research trends. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 13(1), 2767–2776.
- Khatoon, M., Shah, K. U., Din, F. U., Shah, S. U., Rehman, A. U., Dilawar, N., & Khan, A. N. (2017). Proniosomes derived niosomes: Recent advancements in drug delivery and targeting. *Drug Delivery*, 24(2), 56–69.
- Khawaja, A. M. (2011). The legacy of nanotechnology: Revolution and prospects in neurosurgery. *International Journal of Surgery*, 9(8), 608–614.
- Kim, T., Momin, E., Choi, J., Yuan, K., Zaidi, H., Kim, J., Park, M., Lee, N., McMahon, M. T., Quinones-Hinojosa, A., Bulte, J. W., Hyeon, T., & Gilad, A. A. (2011). Mesoporous silicacoated hollow manganese oxide nanoparticles as positive T1 contrast agents for labeling and MRI tracking of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 133(9), 2955–2961.
- Kohli, V., & Elezzabi, A. Y. (2009). Prospects and developments in cell and embryo laser nanosurgery. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews:Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 1(1), 11–25.
- Koshy, M., Villano, J. L., Dolecek, T. A., Howard, A., Mahmood, U., Chmura, S. J., Weichselbaum, R. R., & McCarthy, B. J. (2012). Improved survival time trends for glioblastoma using the SEER 17 population-based registries. *Journal of Neurooncology*, 107(1), 207–212.
- Kosztowski, T., Zaidi, H. A., & Quiñones-Hinojosa, A. (2009). Applications of neural and mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. *Expert Review of Anticancer Therapy*, 9(5), 597–612.
- Kreuter, J., Ramge, P., Petrov, V., Hamm, S., Gelperina, S. E., Engelhardt, B., Alyautdin, R., Briesen, H. V., & Begley, D. J. (2003). Direct evidence that polysorbate-80-coated poly(butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles deliver drugs to the CNS via specific mechanisms requiring prior binding of drug to the nanoparticles. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 20(3), 409–416.
- Kumar, P., Sharma, G., Gupta, V., Kaur, R., Thakur, K., Malik, R., Kumar, A., Kaushal, N., & Raza, K. (2018). Preclinical explorative assessment of dimethyl fumarate-based biocompatible nanolipoidal carriers for the management of multiple sclerosis. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 9(5), 1152–1158.
- Kurakhmaeva, K. B., Djindjikhashvili, I. A., Petrov, V. E., Balabanyan, V. U., Voronina, T. A., Trofimov, S. S., Kreuter, J., Gelperina, S., Begley, D., & Alyautdin, R. N. (2009). Brain targeting of nerve growth factor using poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 17(8), 564–574.
- Lad, S. P., Neet, K. E., & Mufson, E. J. (2003). Nerve growth factor: Structure, function and therapeutic implications for alzheimer's disease. *Current Drug Targets CNS and Neurological Disorders*, 2(5), 315–334.
- Ladd, M. E., Bachert, P., Meyerspeer, M., Moser, E., Nagel, A. M., Norris, D. G., Schmitter, S., Speck, O., Straub, S., & Zaiss, M. (2018). Pros and cons of ultra-high-field MRI/MRS for human application. *Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy*, 109(1), 1–50.
- Lanthier, J., Bouthillier, A., Lapointe, M., Demeule, M., Béliveau, R., & Desrosiers, R. R. (2002). Down-regulation of protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase in human epileptic hippocampus contributes to generation of damaged tubulin. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 83(3), 581–591.
- Lee, C., Hwang, H. S., Lee, S., Kim, B., Kim, J. O., Oh, K. T., Lee, E. S., Choi, H. G., & Youn, Y. S. (2017). Rabies virus-inspired silica-coated gold nanorods as a photothermal therapeutic platform for treating brain tumors. *Advanced Materials*, 29(13), 1–8.
- Li, F. Q., Su, H., Wang, J., Liu, J. Y., Zhu, Q. G., Fei, Y. B., Pan, Y. H., & Hu, J. H. (2008). Preparation and characterization of sodium ferulate entrapped bovine serum albumin nanoparticles for liver targeting. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 349(1–2), 274–282.

- Li, L., Guan, Y., Liu, H., Hao, N., Liu, T., Meng, X., Fu, C., Li, Y., Qu, Q., Zhang, Y., Ji, S., Chen, L., Chen, D., & Tang, F. (2011). Silica nanorattle-doxorubicin-anchored mesenchymal stem cells for tumor-tropic therapy. ACS Nano, 5(9), 7462–7470.
- Li, T. F., Li, K., Wang, C., Liu, X., Wen, Y., Xu, Y. H., Zhang, Q., Zhao, Q. Y., Shao, M., Li, Y. Z., Han, M., Komatsu, N., Zhao, L., & Chen, X. (2017). Harnessing the cross-talk between tumor cells and tumor-associated macrophages with a nano-drug for modulation of glioblastoma immune microenvironment. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 268(1), 128–146.
- Li, L., Hu, S., & Chen, X. (2018a). Non-viral delivery systems for CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing: Challenges and opportunities. *Biomaterials*, 171(1), 207–218.
- Li, Y., Li, Y., Ji, W., Lu, Z., Liu, L., Shi, Y., Ma, G., & Zhang, X. (2018b). Positively charged polyprodrug amphiphiles with enhanced drug loading and reactive oxygen species-responsive release ability for traceable synergistic therapy. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 140(11), 4164–4171.
- Liao, Y. H., Chang, Y. J., Yoshiike, Y., Chang, Y. C., & Chen, Y. R. (2012). Negatively charged gold nanoparticles inhibit alzheimer's amyloid-β fibrillization, induce fibril dissociation, and mitigate neurotoxicity. *Small*, 8(23), 3631–3639.
- Lim, C. K., Singh, A., Heo, J., Kim, D., Lee, K. E., Jeon, H., Koh, J., Kwon, I. C., & Kim, S. (2013). Gadolinium-coordinated elastic nanogels for *in vivo* tumor targeting and imaging. *Biomaterials*, 34(28), 6846–6852.
- Lin, K. Y., Kwong, G. A., Warren, A. D., Wood, D. K., & Bhatia, S. N. (2013). Nanoparticles that sense thrombin activity as synthetic urinary biomarkers of thrombosis. ACS Nano, 7(10), 9001–9009.
- Lin, T., Zhao, P., Jiang, Y., Tang, Y., Jin, H., Pan, Z., He, H., Yang, V. C., & Huang, Y. (2016). Blood-brain-barrier-penetrating albumin nanoparticles for biomimetic drug delivery via albumin-binding protein pathways for antiglioma therapy. ACS Nano, 10(11), 9999–10012.
- Louie, A. (2010). Multimodality imaging probes: Design and challenges. *Chemical Reviews*, 110(5), 3146–3195.
- Lu, F. M., & Yuan, Z. (2015). PET/SPECT molecular imaging in clinical neuroscience: Recent advances in the investigation of CNS diseases. *Quantitative Imaging in Medicine and Surgery*, 5(3), 433–447.
- Lu, W., Zhang, Y., Tan, Y. Z., Hu, K. L., Jiang, X. G., & Fu, S. K. (2005). Cationic albuminconjugated pegylated nanoparticles as novel drug carrier for brain delivery. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 107(3), 428–448.
- Lu, Q., Dai, X., Zhang, P., Tan, X., Zhong, Y., Yao, C., Song, M., Song, G., Zhang, Z., Peng, G., Guo, Z., Ge, Y., Zhang, K., & Li, Y. (2018). Fe₃ O₄ @Au composite magnetic nanoparticles modified with cetuximab for targeted magnetophotothermal therapy of glioma cells. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 13(1), 2491–2505.
- Machtoub, L., Pfeiffer, R., Backovic, A., Frischauf, S., & Wick, M. C. (2010). Molecular imaging cellular SPIO uptake with nonlinear optical microscopy. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 41(3), 159–164.
- Madhankumar, A. B., Webb, B. S., Mintz, A., Sheehan, J. M., & Connor, J. R. (2006). Interleukin-13 receptor-targeted nanovesicles are a potential therapy for glioblastoma multiforme. *Molecular Cancer Therpeutics*, 5(12), 3162–3169.
- Mahmud, H., Kasai, T., Khayrani, A. C., Asakura, M., Oo, A. K. K., Du, J., Vaidyanath, A., El-Ghlban, S., Mizutani, A., Seno, A., Murakami, H., Masuda, J., & Seno, M. (2018). Targeting glioblastoma cells expressing CD44 with liposomes encapsulating doxorubicin and displaying chlorotoxin-IgG fc fusion protein. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(3), 659–674.
- Marsh, J. N., Hu, G., Scott, M. J., Zhang, H., Goette, M. J., Gaffney, P. J., Caruthers, S. D., Wickline, S. A., Abendschein, D., & Lanza, G. M. (2011). A fibrin-specific thrombolytic nanomedicine approach to acute ischemic stroke. *Nanomedicine*, 6(4), 605–615.
- McFaline, J. R. F., & Lee, E. Q. (2018). Brain tumors. Americal Journal of Medicine, 131(8), 874–882.

- Meairs, S., & Alonso, A. (2007). Ultrasound, microbubbles and the blood-brain barrier. Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology, 93(1-3), 354–362.
- Menjoge, A. R., Kannan, R. M., & Tomalia, D. A. (2010). Dendrimer-based drug and imaging conjugates: Design considerations for nanomedical applications. *Drug Discovery Today*, 15(5–6), 171–185.
- Miao, Q., Xie, C., Zhen, X., Lyu, Y., Duan, H., Liu, X., Jokerst, J. V., & Pu, K. (2017). Molecular afterglow imaging with bright, biodegradable polymer nanoparticles. *Nature Biotechnology*, 35(11), 1102–1110.
- Mir, M., Ishtiaq, S., Rabia, S., Khatoon, M., Zeb, A., Khan, G. M., Rehman, A. U., & Din, F. U. (2017). Nanotechnology: From *in vivo* imaging system to controlled drug delivery. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 12(1), 500–516.
- Moody, W. J., Futamachi, K. J., & Prince, D. A. (1974). Extracellular potassium activity during epileptogenesis. *Experimental Neurology*, 42(2), 248–263.
- Moon, S. U., Kim, J., Bokara, K. K., Kim, J. Y., Khang, D., Webster, T. J., & Lee, J. E. (2012). Carbon nanotubes impregnated with subventricular zone neural progenitor cells promotes recovery from stroke. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 7(1), 2751–2765.
- Moos, T., & Morgan, E. H. (2000). Transferrin and transferrin receptor function in brain barrier systems. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 20(1), 77–95.
- Morrison, P. J. (2010). Accurate prevalence and uptake of testing for huntington's disease. *Lancet Neurology*, 9(12), 1147.
- Muthu, M. S., Mei, L., & Feng, S. S. (2014). Nanotheranostics: Advanced nanomedicine for the integration of diagnosis and therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 9(9), 1277–1280.
- Nasrallah, I. M., & Wolk, D. A. (2014). Multimodality imaging of alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative dementias. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 55(12), 2003–2011.
- Obataya, I., Nakamura, C., Han, S., Nakamura, N., & Miyake, J. (2005). Nanoscale operation of a living cell using an atomic force microscope with a nanoneedle. *Nano Letters*, 5(1), 27–30.
- Orive, G., Anitua, E., Pedraz, J. L., & Emerich, D. F. (2009). Biomaterials for promoting brain protection, repair and regeneration. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(9), 682–692.
- Peng, H., Liu, X., Wang, G., Li, M., Bratlie, K. M., Cochran, E., & Wang, Q. (2015). Polymeric multifunctional nanomaterials for theranostics. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 3(34), 6856–6870.
- Pereira, G. C., Traughber, M., Jr., & Muzic, R. F., Jr. (2014). The role of imaging in radiation therapy planning: Past, present, and future. *BioMed Research International*, 2014(1), 231090–231100.
- Perrin, R. J., Fagan, A. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2009). Multimodal techniques for diagnosis and prognosis of alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 461(7266), 916–922.
- Pfister, L. A., Papaloïzos, M., Merkle, H. P., & Gander, B. (2007). Nerve conduits and growth factor delivery in peripheral nerve repair. *Journal of the Peripher Nervous System*, 12(2), 65–82.
- Pringsheim, T., Wiltshire, K., Day, L., Dykeman, J., Steeves, T., & Jette, N. (2012). The incidence and prevalence of huntington's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Movement Disorders*, 27(9), 1083–1091.
- Prior, R., Reifenberger, G., Wechsler, W., & Virchows, A. (1990). Transferrin receptor expression in tumors of the human nervous system: Relation to tumor type, grading and tumor growth fraction. *Virchows Archiv. A, Pathological Anatomy and Histopathology, 416*(16), 491–496.
- Qiao, Y., Gumin, J., MacLellan, C. J., Gao, F., Bouchard, R., Lang, F. F., Stafford, R. J., & Melancon, M. P. (2018). Magnetic resonance and photoacoustic imaging of brain tumor mediated by mesenchymal stem cell labeled with multifunctional nanoparticle introduced via carotid artery injection. *Nanotechnology*, 29(16), 165101–116532.
- Rajora, M. A., Ding, L., Valic, M., Jiang, W., Overchuk, M., Chen, J., & Zheng, G. (2017). Correction: Tailored theranostic apolipoprotein E3 porphyrin-lipid nanoparticles target glioblastoma. *Chemical Science*, 8(8), 5803–5804.
- Rao, L., Bu, L. L., Cai, B., Xu, J. H., Li, W. F., Zhang, Z. J., Sun, S. S., Guo, W., Liu, T. H., & Zhao, X. Z. (2016). Cancer cell membrane-coated upconversion nanoprobes for highly specific tumor imaging. *Advanced Materials*, 28(1), 3460–3466.

- Rautio, J., Laine, K., Gynther, M., & Savolainen, J. (2008). Prodrug approaches for CNS delivery. *The AAPS Journal*, 10(1), 92–102.
- Realdon, O., Rossetto, F., Nalin, M., Baroni, I., Cabinio, M., Fioravanti, R., Saibene, F. L., Alberoni, M., Mantovani, F., Romano, M., Nemni, R., & Baglio, F. (2016). Technology-enhanced multidomain at home continuum of care program with respect to usual care for people with cognitive impairment: The ability-TelerehABILITation study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16(1), 425–434.
- Rock, K., McArdle, O., Forde, P., Dunne, M., Fitzpatrick, D., O'Neill, B., & Faul, C. (2012). A clinical review of treatment outcomes in glioblastoma multiforme-the validation in a non-trial population of the results of a randomised phase III clinical trial: Has a more radical approach improved survival? *British Journal of Radiology*, 85(1017), 729–733.
- Ross, C. A., & Tabrizi, S. J. (2011). Huntington's disease: From molecular pathogenesis to clinical treatment. *Lancet Neurology*, 10(1), 83–98.
- Rutecki, P. A., Lebeda, F. J., & Johnston, D. (1985). Epileptiform activity induced by changes in extracellular potassium in hippocampus. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 54(5), 1363–1374.
- Saesoo, S., Sathornsumetee, S., Anekwiang, P., Treetidnipa, C., Thuwajit, P., Bunthot, S., Maneeprakorn, W., Maurizi, L., Hofmann, H., Rungsardthong, R. U., & Saengkrit, N. (2018). Characterization of liposome-containing SPIONs conjugated with anti-CD20 developed as a novel theranostic agent for central nervous system lymphoma. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 161*(1), 497–507.
- Salvia, B. O., Navarro, M. S., Giralt, E., & Teixidó, M. (2016). Blood-brain barrier shuttle peptides: An emerging paradigm for brain delivery. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 45(17), 4690–4707.
- Sandhir, R., Yadav, A., Mehrotra, A., Sunkaria, A., Singh, A., & Sharma, S. (2014). Curcumin nanoparticles attenuate neurochemical and neurobehavioral deficits in experimental model of huntington's disease. *Neuromolecular Medicine*, 16(1), 106–118.
- Saraiva, C., Praça, C., Ferreira, R., Santos, T., Ferreira, L., & Bernardino, L. (2016). Nanoparticlemediated brain drug delivery: Overcoming blood-brain barrier to treat neurodegenerative diseases. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 235(1), 34–47.
- Scheibe, S., Dorostkar, M. M., Seebacher, C., Uhl, R., Lison, F., & Herms, J. (2011). 4D in *in vivo* 2-photon laser scanning fluorescence microscopy with sample motion in 6 degrees of freedom. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 200(1), 47–53.
- Schinkel, A. H. (1999). P-glycoprotein, a gatekeeper in the blood-brain barrier. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 36(2-3), 179–194.
- Schmidt, C. (2016). Biology: A degenerative affliction. Nature, 540(7631), S2-S3.
- Schon, E. A., & Manfredi, G. (2003). Neuronal degeneration and mitochondrial dysfunction. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 111(3), 303–312.
- Schubert, D., Dargusch, R., Raitano, J., & Chan, S. W. (2006). Cerium and yttrium oxide nanoparticles are neuroprotective. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 342(1), 86–91.
- Shahzad, K., Mushtaq, S., Rizwan, M., Khalid, W., Atif, M., Din, F. U., Ahmad, N., Abbasi, R., & Ali, Z. (2020). Field-controlled magnetoelectric core-shell CoFe₂O₄@ BaTiO₃ nanoparticles as effective drug carriers and drug release *in vitro*. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 119(1), 111444–111458.
- Shazeeb, M. S., Feula, G., & Bogdanov, A., Jr. (2014). Liposome-encapsulated superoxide dismutase mimetic: Theranostic potential of an MR detectable and neuroprotective agent. *Contrast Media and Molecular Imaging*, 9(3), 221–228.
- Shiraishi, K., Wang, Z., Kokuryo, D., Aoki, I., & Yokoyama, M. (2017). A polymeric micelle magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast agent reveals blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeability for macromolecules in cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 253(1), 165–171.
- Shukla, A. A., Rameez, S., Wolfe, L. S., & Oien, N. (2018). High-throughput process development for biopharmaceuticals. Advances in Biochemical Engineering/ Biotechnology, 165(1), 401–441.

- Simonato, M., Bennett, J., Boulis, N. M., Castro, M. G., Fink, D. J., Goins, W. F., Gray, S. J., Lowenstein, P. R., Vandenberghe, L. H., Wilson, T. J., Wolfe, J. H., & Glorioso, J. C. (2013). Progress in gene therapy for neurological disorders. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 9(5), 277–291.
- Singh, N., Pillay, V., & Choonara, Y. E. (2007). Advances in the treatment of parkinson's disease. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 81(1), 29–44.
- Singh, N., Jenkins, G. J., Asadi, R., & Doak, S. H. (2010). Potential toxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION). *Nano Reviews*, 1(1), 5358–5373.
- Singh, I., Swami, R., Jeengar, M. K., Khan, W., & Sistla, R. (2015). P-Aminophenyl-α-dmannopyranoside engineered lipidic nanoparticles for effective delivery of docetaxel to brain. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, 188(1), 1–9.
- Skaat, H., Slakmon, E. C., Grinberg, I., Last, D., Goez, D., Mardor, Y., & Margel, S. (2013). Antibody-conjugated, dual-modal, near-infrared fluorescent iron oxide nanoparticles for antiamyloidgenic activity and specific detection of amyloid-β fibrils. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 8(1), 4063–4076.
- Small, G. W., Kepe, V., Ercoli, L. M., Siddarth, P., Bookheimer, S. Y., Miller, K. J., Lavretsky, H., Burggren, A. C., Cole, G. M., Vinters, H. V., Thompson, P. M., Huang, S. C., Satyamurthy, N., Phelps, M. E., & Barrio, J. R. (2006). PET of brain amyloid and tau in mild cognitive impairment. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 355(25), 2652–2663.
- Sonali, Singh, R. P., Sharma, G., Kumari, L., Koch, B., Singh, S., Bharti, S., Rajinikanth, P. S., Pandey, B. L., & Muthu, M. S. (2016a). RGD-TPGS decorated theranostic liposomes for brain targeted delivery. *Colloids Surface B: Biointerfaces*, 147(1), 129–141.
- Sonali, Singh, R. P., Singh, N., Sharma, G., Vijayakumar, M. R., Koch, B., Singh, S., Singh, U., Dash, D., Pandey, B. L., & Muthu, M. S. (2016b). Transferrin liposomes of docetaxel for brain-targeted cancer applications: Formulation and brain theranostics. *Drug Delivery*, 23(4), 1261–1271.
- Stephen, Z. R., Kievit, F. M., Veiseh, O., Chiarelli, P. A., Fang, C., Wang, K., Hatzinger, S. J., Ellenbogen, R. G., Silber, J. R., & Zhang, M. (2014). Redox-responsive magnetic nanoparticle for targeted convection-enhanced delivery of O6-benzylguanine to brain tumors. ACS Nano, 8(10), 10383–10395.
- Su, C. H., Tsai, C. Y., Tomanek, B., Chen, W. Y., & Cheng, F. Y. (2016). Evaluation of blood-brain barrier-stealth nanocomposites for in situ glioblastoma theranostics applications. *Nanoscale*, 8(15), 7866–7870.
- Su, B., Guan, Q., & Yu, S. (2018). The neurotoxicity of nanoparticles: A bibliometric analysis. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 34(12), 922–929.
- Sumer, B., & Gao, J. (2008). Theranostic nanomedicine for cancer. Nanomedicine, 3(2), 37-40.
- Suzuki, M., Iwasaki, Y., Yamamoto, T., Konno, H., & Kudo, H. (1988). Sequelae of the osmotic blood-brain barrier opening in rats. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 69(3), 421–428.
- Tang, W., Fan, W., Lau, J., Deng, L., Shen, Z., & Chen, X. (2019). Emerging blood-brain-barrier crossing nanotechnology for brain cancer theranostics. Chemical Society Reviews, 48(11), 2967–3014. http://doi.org/10.1039/c8cs00805a
- Tanifum, E. A., Dasgupta, I., Srivastava, M., Bhavane, R. C., Sun, L., Berridge, J., Pourgarzham, H., Kamath, R., Espinosa, G., Cook, S. C., Eriksen, J. L., & Annapragada, A. (2012). Intravenous delivery of targeted liposomes to amyloid-β pathology in APP/PSEN1 transgenic mice. *PLoS* One, 7(10), 48515–48529.
- The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group. (1993). A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on huntington's disease chromosomes. *Cell*, 72(6), 971–983.
- Thomas, A. A., & Omuro, A. (2014). Current role of anti-angiogenic strategies for glioblastoma. Current Treatment Options in Oncology, 15(4), 551–566.
- Tomitaka, A., Kaushik, A., Kevadiya, B. D., Mukadam, I., Gendelman, H. E., Khalili, K., Liu, G., & Nair, M. (2019). Surface-engineered multimodal magnetic nanoparticles to manage CNS diseases. *Drug Discovery Today*, 24(3), 873–882.

- Uchida, Y., Ohtsuki, S., Katsukura, Y., Ikeda, C., Suzuki, T., Kamiie, J., & Terasaki, T. (2011). Quantitative targeted absolute proteomics of human blood–brain barrier transporters and receptors. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 117(2), 333–345.
- Uday, K., Sukumar, R., Bose, J. C., Malhotra, M., Babikir, H. A., Afjei, R., Robinson, E., Zeng, Y., Chang, E., Habte, F., Sinclair, R., Gambhir, S. S., Massoud, T. F., & Paulmurugan, R. (2019). Intranasal delivery of targeted polyfunctional gold–iron oxide nanoparticles loaded with therapeutic microRNAs for combined theranostic multimodality imaging and presensitization of glioblastoma to temozolomide. *Biomaterials*, 218(1), 119342–119399.
- Umezawa, F., & Eto, Y. (1988). Liposome targeting to mouse brain: Mannose as a recognition marker. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 153(3), 1038–1044.
- Vlieghe, P., & Khrestchatisky, M. (2013). Medicinal chemistry based approaches and nanotechnology-based systems to improve CNS drug targeting and delivery. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, 33(3), 457–516.
- Walkey, C. D., Olsen, J. B., Guo, H., Emili, A., & Chan, W. C. (2012). Nanoparticle size and surface chemistry determine serum protein adsorption and macrophage uptake. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 134(4), 2139–2147.
- Wang, J., & Gao, W. (2012). Nano/microscale motors: Biomedical opportunities and challenges. ACS Nano, 6(7), 5745–5751.
- Wang, P., Wang, C., Lu, L., Li, X., Wang, W., Zhao, M., Hu, L., Toni, A. M. E., Li, Q., & Zhang, F. (2017). Kinetics-mediate fabrication of multi-model bioimaging lanthanide nanoplates with controllable surface roughness for blood brain barrier transportation. *Biomaterials*, 141(1), 223–232.
- Wen, Z., Yan, Z., Hu, K., Pang, Z., Cheng, X., Guo, L., Zhang, Q., Jiang, X., Fang, L., & Lai, R. (2011). Odorranalectin-conjugated nanoparticles: Preparation, brain delivery and pharmacodynamic study on parkinson's disease following intranasal administration. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 151(2), 131–138.
- Wen, C. J., Zhang, L. W., Suwayeh, S. A. A., Yen, T. C., & Fang, J. Y. (2012). Theranostic liposomes loaded with quantum dots and apomorphine for brain targeting and bioimaging. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 7(1), 1599–1611.
- Wesseling, P., & Capper, D. (2018). WHO 2016 classification of gliomas. Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology, 44(2), 139–150.
- Wexler, N. S., Lorimer, J., Porter, J., Gomez, F., Moskowitz, C., Shackell, E., Marder, K., Penchaszadeh, G., Roberts, S. A., Gayán, J., Brocklebank, D., Cherny, S. S., Cardon, L. R., Gray, J., Dlouhy, S. R., Wiktorski, S., Hodes, M. E., Conneally, P. M., Penney, J. B., Gusella, J., Cha, J. H., Irizarry, M., Rosas, D., Hersch, S., Hollingsworth, Z., MacDonald, M., Young, A. B., Andresen, J. M., Housman, D. E., De Young, M. M., Bonilla, E., Stillings, T., Negrette, A., Snodgrass, S. R., Jaurrieta, M. D. M., Arroyo, M. A. R., Bickham, J., Ramos, J. S., Marshall, F., Shoulson, I., Rey, G. J., Feigin, A., Arnheim, N., Cruz, A. A., Acosta, L., Alvir, J., Fischbeck, K., Thompson, L. M., Young, A., Dure, L., O'Brien, C. J., Paulsen, J., Brickman, A., Krch, D., Peery, S., Hogarth, P., Higgins, D. S., Jr., & Landwehrmeyer, B. (2004). Venezuelan kindreds reveal that genetic and environmental factors modulate Huntington's disease age of onset. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *101*(10), 3498–3503.
- Wicki, A., Witzigmann, D., Balasubramanian, V., & Huwyler, J. (2015). Nanomedicine in cancer therapy: Challenges, opportunities, and clinical applications. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 200(1), 138–157.
- World Health Organization. (2007). Neurological disorders affect millions globally: WHO report.
- Wu, S. Q., Yang, C. X., & Yan, X. P. (2017). A dual-functional persistently luminescent nanocomposite enables engineering of mesenchymal stem cells for homing and gene therapy of glioblastoma. Advanced Functional Materials, 27(11), 1604992–1605001.
- Wu, M., Chen, W., Chen, Y., Zhang, H., Liu, C., Deng, Z., Sheng, Z., Chen, J., Liu, X., Yan, F., & Zheng, H. (2018). Focused ultrasound-augmented delivery of biodegradable multifunc-

tional nanoplatforms for imaging-guided brain tumor treatment. Advanced Science, 5(4), 1700474–1700485.

- Xie, J., Lee, S., & Chen, X. (2010). Nanoparticle-based theranostic agents. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 62(11), 1064–1079.
- Yankeelov, T. E., Abramson, R. G., & Quarles, C. C. (2014). Quantitative multimodality imaging in cancer research and therapy. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 11(11), 670–680.
- Ye, Y., & Chen, X. (2011). Integrin targeting for tumor optical imaging. *Theranostics*, 1(1), 102–125.
- Ying, X., Wen, H., Lu, W. L., Du, J., Guo, J., Tian, W., Men, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, R. J., & Yang, T. Y. (2010). Dual-targeting daunorubicin liposomes improve the therapeutic efficacy of brain glioma in animals. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 141(2), 183–192.
- Ying, X., Wang, Y., Liang, J., Yue, J., Xu, C., Lu, L., Xu, Z., Gao, J., Du, Y., & Chen, Z. (2014). Angiopep-conjugated electro-responsive hydrogel nanoparticles: Therapeutic potential for epilepsy. *Angew Chem International Edition in English*, 53(46), 12436–12440.
- Yoo, J., Kim, H. S., & Hwang, D. Y. (2013). Stem cells as promising therapeutic options for neurological disorders. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 114(4), 743–753.
- Yurek, D. M., Flectcher, A. M., Kowalczyk, T. H., Padegimas, L., & Cooper, M. J. (2009). Compacted DNA nanoparticle gene transfer of GDNF to the rat striatum enhances the survival of grafted fetal dopamine neurons. *Cell Transplantation*, 18(10), 1183–1196.
- Zeng, L. J., Zou, L.L., Yu, H.Y., He, X.Y., Cao, H.Q., Zhang, Z.W., Yin, Q., Zhang, P.C., Gu, W.W., Chen, L.L., & Li, Y.P. (2016). Treatment of malignant brain tumor by tumor-triggered programmed wormlike micelles with precise targeting and deep penetration. Advanced Functional Materials, 26(1), 4201–4212. http://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201600642
- Zhang, P., Hu, L., Yin, Q., Feng, L., & Li, Y. (2012). Transferrin-modified c[RGDfK]-paclitaxel loaded hybrid micelle for sequential blood-brain barrier penetration and glioma targeting therapy. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 9(6), 1590–1598.
- Zhang, C., Chen, J., Feng, C., Shao, X., Liu, Q., Zhang, Q., Pang, Z., & Jiang, X. (2014a). Intranasal nanoparticles of basic fibroblast growth factor for brain delivery to treat alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 461(1–2), 192–202.
- Zhang, C., Wan, X., Zheng, X., Shao, X., Liu, Q., Zhang, Q., & Qian, Y. (2014b). Dual-functional nanoparticles targeting amyloid plaques in the brains of alzheimer's disease mice. Biomaterials, 35(1), 456–465. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.09.063
- Zhang, L., Habib, A. A., & Zhao, D. (2016a). Phosphatidylserine-targeted liposome for enhanced glioma-selective imaging. *Oncotarget*, 7(25), 38693–38706.
- Zhang, R., Li, Y., Hu, B., Lu, Z., Zhang, J., & Zhang, X. (2016b). Traceable nanoparticle delivery of small interfering RNA and retinoic acid with temporally release ability to control neural stem cell differentiation for alzheimer's disease therapy. *Advanced Materials*, 28(30), 6345–6352.
- Zhang, S., Sun, C., Zeng, J., Sun, Q., Wang, G., Wang, Y., Wu, Y., Dou, S., Gao, M., & Li, Z. (2016c). Ambient aqueous synthesis of ultrasmall PEGylated Cu_{2-x} Se nanoparticles as a multifunctional theranostic agent for multimodal imaging guided photothermal therapy of cancer. Advanced Materials, 28(40), 8927–8936.
- Zhen, X., Feng, X., Xie, C., Zheng, Y., & Pu, K. (2017). Surface engineering of semiconducting polymer nanoparticles for amplified photoacoustic imaging. *Biomaterials*, 127(1), 97–106.
- Zhu, M., Sheng, Z., Jia, Y., Hu, D., Liu, X., Xia, X., Liu, C., Wang, P., Wang, X., & Zheng, H. (2017). Indocyanine green-holo-transferrin nanoassemblies for tumor-targeted dual-modal imaging and photothermal therapy of glioma. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 9(45), 39249–39258.
- Zou, L. L., Ma, J. L., Wang, T., Yang, T. B., & Liu, C. B. (2013). Cell-penetrating peptide-mediated therapeutic molecule delivery into the central nervous system. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 11(2), 197–208.

Chapter 6 Cancer Nanoimmunotherapy: Recent Advances and New Opportunities



Chandra Veluchamy, Sathish-Kumar Kamaraj, Ramasamy Thirumurugan, Manuel Sánchez-Cárdenas, and Luis A. Sánchez-Olmos

Introduction

Cancer is known as the very common deadly illness that affects human beings adversely worldwide. Mutations that occur in the DNA within cells cause cancer. DNA is packaged and folded into a greater number of individual genes, each of which contains a set of instructions informing the cell about the functions that all have to be performed by the cells and also how to grow and divide. If errors occur in the instructions, it could cause the cell to stop its normal function, and that leads a cell to become cancerous. To overcome problems like this, modern therapeutic paths are required because of the complication of cancer as a disease. The usual immunotherapy depends on in vivo immune balance controlled by unfavourable (tumour) and favourable (host) factors. But it is very hard to keep up such linear immune balance. When it comes to nanoimmunotherapy, nanocarriers could produce potential, stable, organized and targeted transmission of drugs for effective treatment and/or stimulating immune reactions. Pharmaceutical nanotechnology also known as cancer nanotechnology or nanomedicine has been giving an efficient

C. Veluchamy

S.-K. Kamaraj (🖂)

R. Thirumurugan

M. Sánchez-Cárdenas · L. A. Sánchez-Olmos

Direccion de Postgrado e Investigación, Universidad Politécnica de Aguascalientes, Aguascalientes, Mexico

School of Biosciences and Technology, Vellore Institute of Technology, Vellore, India

Laboratorio de medio ambiente sostenible, Instituto Tecnológico El Llano (ITEL), TecNM-Instituto Tecnológico El Llano Aguascalientes (ITEL), Aguascalientes, Mexico e-mail: sathish.k@llano.tecnm.mx

Laboratory of Aquabiotics/Nanoscience, Department of Animal Science, School of Life Sciences, Bharathidasan University, Tiruchirappalli, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_6

quick fix to sort out the barriers of traditional immunotherapy (Li et al., 2014). The main advantage of cancer nanoimmunotherapy is that nanomedicines-therapeutics made up of transporter components usually lesser than 100 nm—had been made for widening the uptaking of chemotherapy substances by carcinoma and for reducing their off-target toxicity. Nanomedicines, such as NPs, gather within tumours via the improved permeation and retention effect, targeting the drug in tumour sites (Irvine & Dane, 2020). Nanoparticle (NP) delivery methods have been formulated to sort out many obstacles to the safe and efficient transfer of nucleic acid therapeutics to immune cells. NPs protect the therapeutic cargo, to evade nuclease degradation and to increase circulation half-life (Whitehead et al., 2014). Nanosystems formed to arrive at immune particles and cells might let the improvement of accesses that would utilize the patient's immune structure as a further precise tool to fight against cancer (Conniot et al., 2014). In recent days, cancer immunotherapy using NPs have been developed due to their effective role in cancer treatment. The following chapter brings to light an in-depth picture of nanoimmunotherapy that is paramount in cancer treatment. We would address the futuristic technology of artificial intelligence (AI).

Nanoimmunotherapy

Nanoimmunotherapy is mainly designed to develop nanotechnology to sort out the issues occurring in immunotherapy, and its focus is mainly about different types of nanocarrier development to deliver antigens to dendritic cells in a constant, limited and targeted way. We extend to emphasis mechanisms of NPs on tumour therapeutics. Cancer nanomedicine generally targets to advance the direct destroying of tumour cells by developing the delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs to tumours and metastases. Recently, nanomedicine formulations are utilized to increase the potentiality of anticancer immunity with clinically settled immunotherapeutics (Shi & Lammers, 2019). A promising solution to separate with the traditional drug advancement example and direct the delivery of immunotherapeutics is driving their action on target tissues (i.e. tumours and tumour-draining lymph nodes) or cell types, to control the time duration and location of immune modulation. To overcome this, nanomedicine-based proposals, i.e. the formulation of drugs in transporter materials that are lesser than ~100 nm, may increase both the defence and the therapeutic effectiveness of bountiful immunotherapies (Irvine & Dane. 2020). Nanoimmunotherapy is developed in nanotechnology to strengthen immunotherapy, which combines the advancement of nanocarriers to deliver antibodies on targeted tumour cells (passive immunotherapy) and of antigens to dendritic cells to induce immune reactions towards the disease (Li et al., 2013a, b).

Mechanisms of Nanoparticle Therapeutics

Nanoparticle therapeutics are customarily fragmented makeup of therapeutic bodies like nucleic acids, proteins, mini-molecule drugs, peptides and elements that gather with the therapeutic entities, such as lipids and polymers to form NPs. Those NPs could have increased anticancer properties correlated with the therapeutic bodies they contain (Davis et al., 2010). Targeted NPs have the following features that differentiate those NPs from other therapeutic approaches for cancer. (i) NPs can transport a huge payload of drug material and also save them from depravity. For instance, a 70-nm nanoparticle can have relatively 2000 short interfering RNA (siRNA) molecules (Bartlett & Davis, 2007). (ii) The NPs are adequately abundant to consist of various targeting ligands that would let on multivalent attaching to cell-surface receptors (Hong et al., 2007). (iii) NPs are big enough to shelter various kinds of drug molecules. Numerous therapeutic mediations can be applied together with a nanoparticle in a controlled way. (iv) The discharge kinetics of drug molecules from NPs could be modified to meet the mode of action. For instance, topoisomerase I inhibitors such as the camptothecin-based chemotherapeutic drugs are reversible binders of the enzyme. So, the mechanism of action for camptothecin-based drugs on the topoisomerase I enzyme recommends enhanced strength with extended exposure to the drug (Pommier, 2004). (iv) NPs can have the capability of bypass multidrug resistance processes that associate cell-surface protein pumps (e.g. glycoprotein P), as they go into cells through endocytosis. The physicochemical properties of the NPs could determine the stage of complexity for its function, whether it is organic or inorganic. For example, reacting nanoparticle's surface area with thiols could promptly functionalize gold NPs, whereas organic polymers need more plan of actions so that side chains 475 are reactive prior to the nanoparticle synthesis (Shi et al., 2009). Generally, it may control the mixing of these traits by nanoparticle construction that could reduce the adverse side effects of anticancer medicines while increasing potency, and results obtained by clinical studies are proposed that this potential is opening to be understood.

Nanomedicinebased drug formulations had formerly been generated for changing the pharmacokinetics and toxicity outlines of chemotherapy promoters and to develop their aggregation in cancer-affected cells. The capability of focusing on drugs could be within cancer cells or the tumours.

The tumour microenvironment (TME) is applicable of improving immunotherapy. Nevertheless, nanomaterials also let on new mechanisms of action for immunotherapy promoters, including the potentiality to show ligands to the immune cells, drive intracellular transfer of cell-impermeable mixture and restrict the drugreleasing time and/or activation. Mechanism of nanoparticles delivery has been described in Fig. 6.1.



Fig. 6.1 Mechanism of nanoparticle delivery

Developing Immunogenic Tumour Cell Death

An anti-tumour immune response could be promoted by tumour cell death which is stated as immunogenic cell death (ICD). Nanomedicine formulations are a potential method to develop ICD since the cytotoxic agents could get targeted in tumour cells. Also, nanomaterials would be made to precisely interact with outer energy sources, letting on amplification of ICD provoked by therapies called radiotherapy and magnetic hyperthermia (Duan et al., 2019). Nanomedicines could be utilized as radio enhancers that straight away combine with ionizing radiation to improve ICD (Rancoule et al., 2016). By exchanging magnetic fields to induce paramagnetic iron oxide NPs within the tumour macro-environment, localized hyperthermia could be understood. Tumour ICD can be evoked by localized hyperthermia, whereas CD8+ T-cell-mediated immune response can also be promoted by the same in preclinical models of glioma, colon adenocarcinoma and melanoma (Toraya-Brown et al., 2016; Yanase et al., 1998). After getting positive results from these preclinical studies, it was clinically studied for the utilization of magnetic NPs to induce tumour hyperthermia. Since iron NPs studied comparatively very less or non-toxic and are acceptable to functionalize with targeting molecules, they have the potentiality to be successful. The experiment was done on encapsulation of oxaliplatin in the same nanoparticle-granted mixed ICD-promoting reactions like photodynamic therapy, chemotherapy and provoked regression of irradiated primary tumours and nonirradiated secondary tumours in mouse models of colorectal cancer (He et al., 2016).

Ligand Presentation to Immune Cells

The advancement of ligand-targeted NPs to remove solid tumours is expressed in advance to have a great impact on human wellness. The choice of a targeting ligand is mainly instructed by the receptors existing on the target cells. Clustering ligands on NPs contain a major profit of strengthening the affinity of receptor binding. This renowned phenomenon can increase ligand affinity by various orders of magnitude because of the simultaneous occupation of receptor-binding sites on the cell surface. Targeted NPs will drive the path to decrease the lethal side effects of general cancer treatments and to reduce the number of deaths related to cancer worldwide (Duskey & Rice, 2014). Ligands of NPs connect with cell-surface receptors which let on the gathering of high intracellular NP concentrations by receptor-mediated endocytosis. For example, cyclo-arginine-glycine-glutamic acid (cRGD) is a peptide that attaches to integrin receptors expressed on the surfaces of various kinds of tumours (Ahmad et al., 2019). Polymeric micelles for siRNA delivery consist of a cRGD ligand over the micellar surface that especially identifies tumour cells and increases their intracellular ability (Christie et al., 2012). PK2 (FCE28069), an HPMA-polymer-Gly-Phe-Leu-Gly-doxorubicin conjugate which has sugar galactosamine, was the pioneer nanoparticle targeted at the ligand to arrive at the clinic. The galactosebased ligand is used against the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR), and that reacts on hepatocytes. Hence, it is believed that its high expression is maintained on primary liver cancer cells (Seymour et al., 2002).

Nano-delivery Systems for Cancer Immunotherapy

Nanocarriers encompass multipurpose composition, tunable size and morphology, and surface functions. Immuno-nanomedicine is one of the advanced techniques that have been utilized in different ways in cancer therapy. Nanocarriers could be classified into inorganic NPs, polymeric NPs, lipid-based nanovesicles, DNA nano-structures, biomimetic and naturally derived particles based on their composition. Nanosystem-based identification of specific tumour neoantigens is a promising field (Wang et al., 2018a, b). Since nanomaterials have several significant characteristics such as high effectiveness for drug loading, low drug loss ratio and high stability of avoiding body clearance, they act as effective drug delivery carriers (Shi et al., 2011). Further, we discussed in detail about antigenic peptide delivery systems and monoclonal antibody (mAb) delivery systems. Nano-delivery using various systems has been shown in Fig. 6.2.



Fig. 6.2 Different types of nano-delivery system targeting cancer cells

Antigenic Peptide Delivery Systems

Although several nanostructures exist, peptide self-gathered nanostructures have gained more consideration for anticancer drug delivery and become a promising platform to treat cancer. The peptide has the potentiality of self-assembling into several various types of nanostructures like NPs, nanotubes, nanovesicles and nanofibers that form hydrogels (Yu et al., 2015). These hydrogels with injectable features could also be utilized directly to contact with the tumour sites for enhancing the potency of tumour treatment (Yishay-Safranchik et al., 2014). Gold nanorods inserted dipeptide microspheres and stacked with the anticancer agent, doxorubicin (DOX), have been chosen as a smart drug delivery stage for natural, steady and pulsatile drug release. Outcomes of the experiments revealed the ability to attain a sustained and on-demand DOX discharge from the microspheres by using the laser exposure timing (Erdogan et al., 2016). NPs' surface chemistry can be designed to target tumour-derived protein antigens. The NPs which are designed to capture the antigen further improve the exposure between the antigens to APC. Researchers showed the utilization of NPs that capture antigens (AC-NPs) increases the abscopal effect, a phenomenon by which local radiotherapy provokes a systematic response of immune cells and also the reversion of metastatic lesions. Radiation would generate pro-inflammatory proteins and enhance the liability of immune cells to tumour-specific antigens once the cancer cells are induced to death (Barker et al., 2015). A study showed the natural properties of antigen clubbing over NPs (adsorption versus encapsulation) and the surfactants (poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) or PF127) disturbed the DC activation, and it has been revealed that antigen-adsorbed NPs promote the MHC II on DCs in a highly expressed way, whereas antigenencapsulated NPs promote the maximum expression of MHC I. It was concluded that antigen-encapsulated NPs promoted the response of antigen-specific T-cell (Zupančič et al., 2017). Delivering peptide antigens fixed to NPs provides various benefits. NPs are capable of protecting the peptides from enzyme peptidases, during prolonged transportation of peptide circulation and delivery. Virus-like distribution in NPs helps them get identified and captured by antigen-presenting cells, driving to a huger gathering of antigens in lymphoid tissues. Antigens and immune adjuvants could be simultaneously co-delivered by NPs to prevent immune tolerance (Kuai et al., 2017).

Polymeric Systems

Delivery of antigens or antibodies towards either cancer cells or dendritic cells (active immunotherapy or passive immunotherapy) to provoke the immune system would happen efficiently by the polymeric NPs because of their composition, convenient particle size and particular intelligent characteristics (Li et al., 2013b). Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) is one of the most successfully used biodegradable polymers that was approved by the FDA. Various types of therapeutics had been encapsulated in PLGA NPs for their potential use in the field of the pharmaceutical industry. Tumour lysate, OVA and antigenic peptides are loaded in PLGA particles to evoke T-cell responses after intradermal injection (Cruz et al., 2014; Mueller et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2011). A pH-responsive amphiphilic polymeric micelle has been fabricated by the group of researchers in order to dual delivery of OVA antigen and CpG adjuvant at the same time (Wilson et al., 2013). The responses of anti-tumours can rebuild after depleting MDSCs (myeloid-derived suppressor cells) with nanomaterials. MDSCs are valuable types of immunosuppressive cells, which have been found in several types of cancers such as gastrointestinal cancer, breast cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma and lung cancer (Parker et al., 2015). Poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(propylene sulphide) (PEG-PSS) polymer micelles are loaded with 6-thioguanine (MCTG) to deplete MDSCs in tumour-bearing mice and increase T-cell-mediated anti-tumour responses (Jeanbart et al., 2015). Recently, endosome-disrupting polymersomes have been utilized by Wilson and his colleagues for intracellular delivery of interferon gene stimulator (STING) agonist in which the natural formation does not overpass the cell membrane. Therapy with these polymersomes made better the anticancer immunity as well as the efficiency of checkpoint blockade therapy substantially (Shae et al., 2019). Rowan, Figdor and their fellow workers engineered synthetic APCs made on poly(isocyano peptide) altering with three to five anti-CD3 antibodies/150-200 nm of the polymer chain by which the expression of CD69 (early T-cell activation marker) has been induced and also the IFN- γ production has been promoted (Mandal et al., 2013). Gao and associates used NPs based on pH-sensitive PEG-polymethacrylate polymers for the efficient delivery of antigens to APCs in lymph nodes. NPs loaded with antigen evoked forceful vaccination than free antigens incorporated with conventional adjuvants (e.g. polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (i.e. poly(I:C))), likely by stimulating the pathway of STING (Luo et al., 2017).

Liposomes

Nanocapsules, liposomes, micelles, nanoemulsions and solid lipid NPs are generally known lipid-based NPs that are administered by different directions such as oral, topical and parenteral (Dong & Mumper, 2010). A liposome is the most known NPs that are accepted medicine for cancer treatment (Ou et al., 2014). Since liposomes have the ability to raise the targeting and reduce the elimination and harmful adverse effects of chemotherapeutic agents, they are promising targets and delivery materials of the chemotherapy (Mandal et al., 2017). The study was described that doxorubicin (DOX) loaded with PEGylated egg phosphatidylcholine-cholesterol liposomes containing ~100 nm passively assembled in the tumour vessels of a multidrug-resistant breast cancer xenograft model, expressing a phenomenal antitumour effect, where the free DOX fails to deliver any detectable therapeutic reaction (Kibria et al., 2016). Mitoxantrone (MTO), anthracenedione relevant to anthracyclines, was encapsulated in PEGylated liposomes, and these MTOencapsulated liposomes reduced the toxicity that let on the highest MTO dose administration of maximum MTO dose administration to treat breast carcinoma on mice (Pedrosa et al., 2015). A new nanocarrier of emulsion liposomes having perfluoropentane nanodroplet inside the aqueous interior of a dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine liposome, along with the anticancer drug DOX, has been explained. Studies carried out in vitro resulted in liposomes showing an effective release of DOX over the application of less-intensity ultrasound at 20 kHz, 1.0 MHz and 3.0 MHz. This new drug delivery process ensures the effective delivery of DOX, and comparatively they are capable of minimizing the adverse effects of cardiotoxicity produced by DOX than old stealth liposomes (Lin et al., 2014). Liposome particles either with encapsulated cytokines (IL-15, IL-21) or drugs (glycogen synthase kinase-3 β inhibitor TWS119) were conjoined on the living T-cell surface through thiol-reactive maleimide head groups over the surface of lipid bilayer particles. These surfacecoated NPs are not harmful to their carrier T-cells which have not interfered with intrinsic cell action or migration patterns. The function of these carrier cells extensively improved with the utilization of very few drug doses, and that was not effective enough while using alone old systemic routes. After crossing the endothelial barrier, 83% (± 3%) of their original NP cargo was still physically attached to the carrier CD8+ T-cells (Stephan et al., 2010).

Exosomes

Exosomes delivered as resourceful drug tools have gained attention because of their internal skill of shuttling proteins, lipids and genes among cells and their native affinity towards target cells. Salient properties of exosomes, such as the size of nanoscope, less immunogenicity, great biocompatibility, encapsulation of several cargoes and the strength to defeat biological blockades, differentiate them from

other nanocarriers (Zhang et al., 2019). Exosomes show an effective drug delivery because of their satisfactory biodistribution, biocompatibility and low immunogenicity. Exosomes contain better permeability and could pass the utmost biological membranes. Inspired by natural exosomes, researchers developed exosomes mimicking nanocarriers for siRNA delivery. A good yield of nano-sized vesicles, called exosome-mimics (EMs), by extruding non-tumourigenic epithelial MCF-10A cells through filters with various pore sizes was obtained (Yang et al., 2016). After encapsulated in exosome-based nanocarriers, protein/peptide drugs can obtain improved pharmacokinetic properties, increased bioavailability and the potentiality to reach and penetrate targeting tissues (Sterzenbach et al., 2017). Apart from native exosomes, exosomes using particular ligands could be made and designed in vitro to spot tumour cells effectively. For example, av integrin-specific iRGD peptide provides exosomes which were utilized to supply doxorubicin and strengthened the anti-tumour efficacy in av integrin positive breast cancer cells in vivo compared to free drug group (Tian et al., 2014). Different therapeutic cargoes such as anti-cancer drugs and cancer gene suppressors could be packed with exosomes in order to destroy cancer cells efficiently. Notably, exosomes give their therapeutic cargoes straight away to the cellular compartment with the capability of mediating cell-tocell communication (Li et al., 2018; Turturici et al., 2014). Doxorubicin (DOX), paclitaxel (PTX), celastrol and curcumin are chemotherapeutic drugs that have been found to encapsulate into exosomes. Diverse explorations have proved that the drug-loaded exosomes are capable of increasing the effectiveness of chemotherapy (Hadla et al., 2016; Aqil et al., 2016). Exosomes have the feature of showing improved stability of blood which allows them to move far inside the body under both physiological and pathological conditions. Additionally, exosomes are having a hydrophilic core, which makes them as host water-soluble drugs (Jiang & Gao, 2017). Because of the advancements on tumour treatment, exosomes are used in cancer diagnosis, immunotherapy and drug delivery vehicles (Li et al., 2018).

Monoclonal Antibody (mAb) Delivery Systems

Cancer cell-specific treatment became possible with the improvement of a technique to develop monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) in year 1975 (Köhler & Milstein, 1975). Nanomaterials facilitated the supply of bioactive monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and drugs to tumours which encompass the great advantage as they are well-known to improve permeability and retention (EPR) effect as well. The combination of leaky tumour vasculature and poor tumour drainage through the lymphatics provides a better advantage for nanoconjugates (Torchilin, 2005; Hofheinz et al., 2005). For the first time in year 1982, Levy and fellow workers used mAbs to cure human malignancy (Miller et al., 1982). It has not been done until 1986, and then the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first monoclonal antibody [Orthoclone OKT3). The FDA approved the first humanized monoclonal antibody in 1997 against CD25 to treat multiple sclerosis in adults. Russia approved

Nanoparticle delivery	Targeted cancer type	References	
Liposome	Advanced colorectal cancer	ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00361842	
	Hepatocellular carcinoma	NCT02112656	
	Metastatic breast cancer	MM-398 (Inman, 2015)	
Colloid gold NPs Late-stage cancers		NCT00356980	
Polymeric micelle	Breast cancer and non-small cell lung cancer	Smith (2013)	
	Lymphoblastic leukaemia	Cerqueira et al. (2015)	
Monoclonal antibody: CD20	CD20-positive B-cell non- Hodgkin's lymphoma	Asadujjaman et al. (2020)	
Monoclonal antibody: EGFR	Metastatic colorectal and head and neck carcinoma	-	
Dendrimers	Leukaemia	Tekade et al. (2009)	
	Glioblastoma	Kaneshiro and Lu (2009)	
Lipid NP-siRNA against PLK1	Advanced hepatocellular carcinoma	NCT01808638	
Lipid NP-siRNA against KSP	Solid tumours	NCT00882180 and NCT01158079	

Table 6.1 Types of nanoparticle delivery in cancer immunotherapy

the first cancer vaccine Oncophage in 2008. Sipuleucel-T (Provenge) was approved by the FDA in 2010 as therapeutic cancer to treat prostate cancer (Waldmann, 2003; Parish, 2003). Schneck's team examined the synergy between PLGA-based antigenpresenting cells and anti-PD1 monoclonal antibody (mAb). This particular combination promoted the higher-level secretion of IFN- γ in vitro and delayed tumour growth in vivo with long survival (Kosmides et al., 2017). In many cases, anti-CD28 mAbs are alone, not able to work, and their usage has to be followed by antigendependent T-cell receptor (TCR)-interfered signals to activate T-cells. 4-1BB which is also called as CD137 is possible to identify on T-cells, natural killer cells, DCs, mast cells and even sometimes endothelial cells of metastatic tumours (Vinay & Kwon, 2012). Application of anti-4-1BB in this receptor induces signalling pathways that drive to the strengthened expression of anti-apoptotic genes. As like 4-1BB, OX40 is another type of the TNF receptor superfamily, and anti-OX40 mAbs are efficient to stimulate CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells (Aspeslagh et al., 2016). Adjuvants, cytokines, and mAbs all perform as immunotherapeutic agents that would benefit from the improved transport given by nano-delivery. Table 6.1 shows the different types of nanoparticle delivery in cancer immunotherapy.

Nucleic Acid-Based Delivery Systems

The extreme need for a vector that is able to perform efficiently in transporting and supplying nucleic acid (NA) therapeutics towards the target cells has prompted intense research. NA delivery methods could be of endogenous (viral vectors) or

exogenous (natural and synthetic delivery materials) origin (Yin et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2019). Nanomaterials play important roles in the delivery system of siRNA, and nanomaterial-mediated siRNA delivery in cancer immunotherapy is one of the major directions for future clinical cancer therapy. siRNA is known as a doublestranded RNA that contains the length of 19-21 nucleotides and has been broadly checked for potential cancer therapy in animal models. Nano-sized non-viral carriers like liposomes, polyethyleneimine (PEI), polypeptides, chitosan, inorganic NPs, etc. have been promoted as promising vehicles in the process of nucleic acid delivery (Mei et al. 2019). RNAi consists of post-transcriptional gene silencing mediated by endogenously produced mini (19-25 base pairs) oligoribonucleotides with the potency of degrading a target RNA specifically and selectively, thus repressing translation of an encoded protein (Whitehead et al., 2009). NA therapeutics have been considered as effective applicants for cancer treatment, including immunotherapy (Opalinska & Gewirtz, 2002). NA therapeutics are a broad category of DNA or RNA; they are plasmids, mRNA, ASO, siRNA, miRNA, small-activating RNA (saRNA), aptamers, gene-editing gRNA as well as immunomodulatory DNA/ RNA. NA therapeutics are multifunctionalities ranging from gene expression alteration (up- or downregulating) to immune response modulation (Pastor et al., 2018; Kleinman et al., 2008; Ishikawa & Barber, 2008). siRNA is responsible for gene regulation, whereas ASO is responsible for regulating gene expression after transcription and silence-targeted genes further regulating intracellular signalling pathway which plays a role in cancer progression (Dahlman et al., 2014). NA immune stimulants such as unmethylated cytosine-guanine deoxynucleotides (CpG), poly I:C, 5'-triphosphate RNA as well as di-cyclic nucleotides that active stimulator interferon genes (STING) stimulate anticancer immune activation (Barber, 2015; Vollmer & Krieg, 2009; Kyi et al., 2018). mRNA therapeutics and plasmid DNA (pDNA) can be made to express proteins or peptides of interest, such as antigens or cancer immunotherapeutic proteins. Genome editing-related nucleic acids such as gRNA are currently started using to edit target genes accurately which could modulate gene expression for cancer immunotherapy (Gilboa et al., 2015; Yin et al., 2017). The ability of mRNA to express essentially any proteins and peptides for a longer duration on nuclear localization for gene expression makes mRNA therapeutics of tremendous potential for versatile applications, including cancer immunotherapy (Sahin et al., 2014). mRNA can now be manufactured in vitro at large scales at a low cost. Particularly, mRNA can be reproducibly synthesized by in vitro transcription (IVT) using DNA templates, a T7, a T3 or an Sp6 phage RNA polymerase (Pardi et al., 2018). These technology developments have altogether provided RNA therapeutics as a very powerful platform for cancer immunotherapy by multipurpose approaches like ex vivo mRNA transfer for therapeutic adoptive cell engineering and using cancer-specific antigen-encoding mRNA as tumour therapeutic vaccines (Sahin et al., 2014). siRNA is a dsRNA that consists of 21-23 nucleotides. siRNA guides RNA-induced silencing complexes to bind to the specific sequence of mRNA and subsequently degrades it. Given that some genes are highly expressed in many diseases including cancer, siRNA can be used as a therapeutic agent to silence them (Agrawal et al., 2003). Guillermo et al. showed that hMCP1 siRNA-DOPC

NPs suppress tumour growth and decrease the infiltration of CD68+ and F4/80+ macrophage cells in tumour samples obtained from mice models that are under dayto-day restraint stress (Armaiz-Pena et al., 2015). Arvizo et al. delivered MICU1 siRNA/positively charged AuNPs to human ovarian cancer cell lines (OVCAR5, OV167 and OV202). The decreased expression of *Bcl-2* simultaneously raises in the range of cytosolic [Ca2]_{cyto} leading to the activation of the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis. An experiment shows MICU1 as a novel regulator, which prevents apoptosis in tumour cells (Arvizo et al., 2013). EZH2 is a histone-lysine N-methyltransferase enzyme and is functional in some cell processes. It tends to be increased in some tumour cells. EZH2 suppresses the expression of vasohibin-1 with antiangiogenic properties. Gharpure et al. established that siRNA coated with CS NPs, along with docetaxel against EZH2, reduces angiogenesis and tumour mass in HeyA8 and SKOV-3ip1 orthotopic mouse models (Gharpure et al., 2014). In a study, Lingegowda et al. used a siRNA targeting the platinum resistance genes ATP7A and ATP7B in ovarian carcinoma. For in vivo delivery, they utilized neutral nanoliposome DOPC with incorporated siRNA to decrease the expression of ATP7B in 48 h. Tumour shrinkage, cancer cell apoptosis and proliferation reductions have been reported (Mangala et al., 2009). Hatakeyama et al. delivered CTGF (a key factor in hypothermia resistance) siRNA-DOPC nanoliposome to xenograft HTRSKOV-3 and HeyA8 mice. And then PEG-CuS NPs were intravenously injected. Due to CTGF underexpression and hyperthermia, tumour burden was decreased in the HeyA8 model. Besides, local hyperthermia and CTGF silencing led to decreased metastasis rate and tumour burden in HTR SKOV-3 tumours (Hatakeyama et al., 2016). Clinical trials involving lipoplexes containing RNA oligonucleotides are at the starting blocks within the Mutanome Engineered Nanomaterials 2016, 6, 131 15 of 22RNA Immuno-Therapy (MERIT) project, an initiative that has got research financial support from the European Union, coordinated by BioNTech AG. CLs to shape RNA lipoplexes, namely, MERIT-Lipo (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02410733), has been selected for the clinical trial entitled "Evaluation the safety and tolerability of i.v. administration of a cancer vaccine in patients with advanced melanoma (Lipo-MERIT)". The cationic liposomes of the Lipo-MERIT vaccine entail four naked ribonucleic acid (RNA)-drug products (DPs) such as RBL001.1, RBL002.2, RBL003.1 and RBL004.1. These are the ability to induce antigen-specific CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell responses in contradiction of designated malignant melanoma-associated antigens. The corresponding investigation under the clinical phase I trial (Campani et al., 2016). Anti-tumour immune responses are elevated by adjuvants. NA-based adjuvants include CpGoligodeoxynucleotide (CpG-ODN) (Wang et al., 2016, 2018a, b; Kadiyala et al., 2019), polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) (Yang et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2019) and cyclic guanosine monophosphate-adenosine monophosphate (cGMP). These can induce pattern recognition receptors (PRR) and consequently activate the immune response (Shae et al., 2019; Cheng et al., 2018; Wilson et al., 2018).

Obstacles and Future Perspective

NPs have been revealing a huge promise in cancer immunotherapy. However, it should be noted that the obstacles of this technology meet the stability of nanodimensions at the target site under different physiological circumstances, protein corona formation and accumulation. Therefore, it should be discussed the fundamental to incorporate systematic investigations on nanomaterials with biological systems, to finalize the nano-formulation in the nano-treatment. Further, we would give a glimpse of futuristic technology like artificial intelligence in cancer nanoimmunotherapy. Nanotechnology with its special features can multiply cancer immunotherapy considering the present barriers and technical complications. The growth of nanotechnology, more specifically NPs, grants a novel paradigm for cancer immunotherapy. For instance, we could say that few researchers have obtained PD-1-expressing cellular NPs utilizing genetically designed cells to give immunological molecules of smaller sizes. New concepts for personalized immunotherapy may attain by these strategies. Although the targeting capability of NPs is confined by the controllability, they can play an exclusive role in targeted delivery for cancer immunotherapy. The main obstacle in all types of therapy depends on the time, dose and patient-specific at any point of treatment. To sort out these issues, the development towards nanomedicine-mediated co-delivery of multiple treatments has created the potentiality of collaborating artificial intelligence (AI) along with nanomedicine for maintaining the optimization of combinatorial nanotherapy. AI-facilitated paths that essentially account for things like drug targeting, ratiometric delivery and other features are activated by nanotechnology-mediated delivery, and also a dynamic patient reaction to treatment would need exceptional levels of actionability during drug administration. This necessity shows the chances for the field of artificial intelligence (AI) (Zarrinpar et al., 2016). Nanomaterials encompass an extraordinary function in targeted delivery to provide effective cancer immunotherapy, though their targeting capacity is narrowed by the controllability of nanomaterials. Hence, the use of nanomaterials relies on the advancement of analysis and characterization techniques, as well as the constant updating of clinical data.

Conclusions

The advent of nanotechnological development in cancer immunotherapy exhibited the prominent results to overcome the obstacles of transferring water-soluble drugs in hydrophobic lipid particles, improving the target-specific activity and delivering rapid phagocytosis by immune cells. Futuristic technology of artificial intelligence would pave the improvement in the selection and advance the process in nanoimmune cancer therapy. To date, the significance of nanomaterials on cancer patients and clinical transformations is insufficient. Despite the clinical evolution of nanomaterials which still has a lot of objections, challenges and questions, the improvement of nanotechnology, clinical research and the form and fabrication of nanomaterials will largely support the evolution of safe and powerful cancer immunotherapeutics. The interfusion and prolongation of nanotechnology, as well as the cancer immunotherapy, will move ahead in the future world.

References

- Agrawal, N., Dasaradhi, P. V. N., Mohmmed, A., Malhotra, P., Bhatnagar, R. K., & Mukherjee, S. K. (2003). RNA interference: Biology, mechanism, and applications. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 67(4), 657–685.
- Ahmad, K., Lee, E. J., Shaikh, S., Kumar, A., Rao, K. M., Park, S. Y., Jin, J. O., Han, S. S., & Choi, I. (2019). Targeting integrins for cancer management using nanotherapeutic approaches: Recent advances and challenges. In *Seminars in Cancer Biology*. Academic Press.
- Aqil, F., Kausar, H., Agrawal, A. K., Jeyabalan, J., Kyakulaga, A. H., Munagala, R., & Gupta, R. (2016). Exosomal formulation enhances therapeutic response of celastrol against lung cancer. *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, 101(1), 12–21.
- Armaiz-Pena, G. N., Gonzalez-Villasana, V., Nagaraja, A. S., Rodriguez-Aguayo, C., Sadaoui, N. C., Stone, R. L., Matsuo, K., Dalton, H. J., Previs, R. A., Jennings, N. B., & Dorniak, P. (2015). Adrenergic regulation of monocyte chemotactic protein 1 leads to enhanced macrophage recruitment and ovarian carcinoma growth. *Oncotarget*, 6(6), 4266.
- Arvizo, R. R., Moyano, D. F., Saha, S., Thompson, M. A., Bhattacharya, R., Rotello, V. M., Prakash, Y. S., & Mukherjee, P. (2013). Probing novel roles of the mitochondrial uniporter in ovarian cancer cells using NPs. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(24), 17610–17618.
- Asadujjaman, M., Cho, K. H., Jang, D. J., Kim, J. E., & Jee, J. P. (2020). Nanotechnology in the arena of cancer immunotherapy. Archives of Pharmacal Research, 43(1), 58–79.
- Aspeslagh, S., Postel-Vinay, S., Rusakiewicz, S., Soria, J. C., Zitvogel, L., & Marabelle, A. (2016). Rationale for anti-OX40 cancer immunotherapy. *European Journal of Cancer*, *52*, 50–66.
- Barber, G. N. (2015). STING: Infection, inflammation and cancer. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15(12), 760–770.
- Barker, H. E., Paget, J. T., Khan, A. A., & Harrington, K. J. (2015). The tumour microenvironment after radiotherapy: Mechanisms of resistance and recurrence. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 15(7), 409–425.
- Bartlett, D. W., & Davis, M. E. (2007). Physicochemical and biological characterization of targeted, nucleic acid-containing NPs. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 18(2), 456–468.
- Campani, V., Salzano, G., Lusa, S., & De Rosa, G. (2016). Lipid nanovectors to deliver RNA oligonucleotides in cancer. *Nanomaterials*, 6(7), 131.
- Cerqueira, B. B. S., Lasham, A., Shelling, A. N., & Al-Kassas, R. (2015). Nanoparticle therapeutics: Technologies and methods for overcoming cancer. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics* and Biopharmaceutics, 97, 140–151.
- Cheng, N., Watkins-Schulz, R., Junkins, R. D., David, C. N., Johnson, B. M., Montgomery, S. A., Peine, K. J., Darr, D. B., Yuan, H., McKinnon, K. P., & Liu, Q. (2018). A nanoparticleincorporated STING activator enhances antitumor immunity in PD-L1–insensitive models of triple-negative breast cancer. JCI Insight, 3(22), e120638.
- Christie, R. J., Matsumoto, Y., Miyata, K., Nomoto, T., Fukushima, S., Osada, K., Halnaut, J., Pittella, F., Kim, H. J., Nishiyama, N., & Kataoka, K. (2012). Targeted polymeric micelles for siRNA treatment of experimental cancer by intravenous injection. ACS Nano, 6(6), 5174–5189.
- Conniot, J., Silva, J. M., Fernandes, J. G., Silva, L. C., Gaspar, R., Brocchini, S., Florindo, H. F., & Barata, T. S. (2014). Cancer immunotherapy: Nanodelivery approaches for immune cell targeting and tracking. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 2, 105.
- Cruz, L. J., Rosalia, R. A., Kleinovink, J. W., Rueda, F., Löwik, C. W., & Ossendorp, F. (2014). Targeting NPs to CD40, DEC-205 or CD11c molecules on dendritic cells for efficient CD8+ T cell response: A comparative study. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 192, 209–218.
- Dahlman, J. E., Barnes, C., Khan, O. F., Thiriot, A., Jhunjunwala, S., Shaw, T. E., Xing, Y., Sager, H. B., Sahay, G., Speciner, L., & Bader, A. (2014). In vivo endothelial siRNA delivery using polymeric NPs with low molecular weight. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 9(8), 648.
- Davis, M. E., Chen, Z., & Shin, D. M. (2010). Nanoparticle therapeutics: An emerging treatment modality for cancer. In *Nanoscience and technology: A collection of reviews from nature journals* (pp. 239–250).
- Dong, X., & Mumper, R. J. (2010). Nanomedicinal strategies to treat multidrug-resistant tumors: Current progress. *Nanomedicine*, 5(4), 597–615.
- Duan, X., Chan, C., & Lin, W. (2019). Nanoparticle-mediated immunogenic cell death enables and potentiates cancer immunotherapy. AngewandteChemie International Edition, 58(3), 670–680.
- Duskey, J. T., & Rice, K. G. (2014). Nanoparticle ligand presentation for targeting solid tumors. AAPS Pharmscitech, 15(5), 1345–1354.
- Erdogan, H., Yilmaz, M., Babur, E., Duman, M., Aydin, H. M., & Demirel, G. (2016). Fabrication of plasmonicnanorod-embedded dipeptide microspheres via the freeze-quenching method for near-infrared laser-triggered drug-delivery applications. *Biomacromolecules*, 17(5), 1788–1794.
- Gharpure, K. M., Chu, K. S., Bowerman, C. J., Miyake, T., Pradeep, S., Mangala, S. L., Han, H. D., Rupaimoole, R., Armaiz-Pena, G. N., Rahhal, T. B., & Wu, S. Y. (2014). Metronomic docetaxel in PRINT NPs and EZH2 silencing have synergistic antitumor effect in ovarian cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 13(7), 1750–1757.
- Gilboa, E., Berezhnoy, A., & Schrand, B. (2015). Reducing toxicity of immune therapy using aptamer-targeted drug delivery. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 3(11), 1195–1200.
- Hadla, M., Palazzolo, S., Corona, G., Caligiuri, I., Canzonieri, V., Toffoli, G., & Rizzolio, F. (2016). Exosomes increase the therapeutic index of doxorubicin in breast and ovarian cancer mouse models. *Nanomedicine*, 11(18), 2431–2441.
- Hatakeyama, H., Wu, S. Y., Lyons, Y. A., Pradeep, S., Wang, W., Huang, Q., Court, K. A., Liu, T., Nie, S., Rodriguez-Aguayo, C., & Shen, F. (2016). Role of CTGF in sensitivity to hyperthermia in ovarian and uterine cancers. *Cell Reports*, 17(6), 1621–1631.
- He, C., Duan, X., Guo, N., Chan, C., Poon, C., Weichselbaum, R. R., & Lin, W. (2016). Coreshell nanoscale coordination polymers combine chemotherapy and photodynamic therapy to potentiate checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 1–12.
- Hofheinz, R. D., Gnad-Vogt, S. U., Beyer, U., & Hochhaus, A. (2005). Liposomal encapsulated anti-cancer drugs. Anti-Cancer Drugs, 16(7), 691–707.
- Hong, S., Leroueil, P. R., Majoros, I. J., Orr, B. G., Baker, J. R., Jr., & Holl, M. M. B. (2007). The binding avidity of a nanoparticle-based multivalent targeted drug delivery platform. *Chemistry* & *Biology*, 14(1), 107–115.
- Inman, S. (2015). FDA approves second-line MM-398 regimen, for metastatic pancreatic cancer. In OncLive.
- Irvine, D. J., & Dane, E. L. (2020). Enhancing cancer immunotherapy with nanomedicine. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 20(5), 321–334.
- Ishikawa, H., & Barber, G. N. (2008). STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. *Nature*, 455(7213), 674–678.
- Jeanbart, L., Kourtis, I. C., Van Der Vlies, A. J., Swartz, M. A., & Hubbell, J. A. (2015). 6-Thioguanine-loaded polymeric micelles deplete myeloid-derived suppressor cells and enhance the efficacy of T cell immunotherapy in tumor-bearing mice. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 64(8), 1033–1046.
- Jiang, X. C., & Gao, J. Q. (2017). Exosomes as novel bio-carriers for gene and drug delivery. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 521(1–2), 167–175.
- Kadiyala, P., Li, D., Nuñez, F. M., Altshuler, D., Doherty, R., Kuai, R., Yu, M., Kamran, N., Edwards, M., Moon, J. J., & Lowenstein, P. R. (2019). High-density lipoprotein-mimicking

nanodiscs for chemo-immunotherapy against glioblastoma multiforme. ACS Nano, 13(2), 1365–1384.

- Kaneshiro, T. L., & Lu, Z. R. (2009). Targeted intracellular codelivery of chemotherapeutics and nucleic acid with a well-defined dendrimer-based nanoglobular carrier. *Biomaterials*, 30(29), 5660–5666.
- Kibria, G., Hatakeyama, H., Sato, Y., & Harashima, H. (2016). Anti-tumor effect via passive antiangiogenesis of PEGylated liposomes encapsulating doxorubicin in drug resistant tumors. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 509(1–2), 178–187.
- Kleinman, M. E., Yamada, K., Takeda, A., Chandrasekaran, V., Nozaki, M., Baffi, J. Z., Albuquerque, R. J., Yamasaki, S., Itaya, M., Pan, Y., & Appukuttan, B. (2008). Sequenceand target-independent angiogenesis suppression by siRNA via TLR3. *Nature*, 452(7187), 591–597.
- Köhler, G., & Milstein, C. (1975). Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature*, 256(5517), 495–497.
- Kosmides, A. K., Meyer, R. A., Hickey, J. W., Aje, K., Cheung, K. N., Green, J. J., & Schneck, J. P. (2017). Biomimetic biodegradable artificial antigen presenting cells synergize with PD-1 blockade to treat melanoma. *Biomaterials*, 118, 16–26.
- Kuai, R., Ochyl, L. J., Bahjat, K. S., Schwendeman, A., & Moon, J. J. (2017). Designer vaccine nanodiscs for personalized cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Materials*, 16(4), 489–496.
- Kyi, C., Roudko, V., Sabado, R., Saenger, Y., Loging, W., Mandeli, J., Thin, T. H., Lehrer, D., Donovan, M., Posner, M., & Misiukiewicz, K. (2018). Therapeutic immune modulation against solid cancers with intratumoral poly-ICLC: A pilot trial. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 24(20), 4937–4948.
- Li, W., Feng, S. S., & Guo, Y. (2013a). Polymeric nanoparticulates for cancer immunotherapy. Nanomedicine, 8(5), 679–682.
- Li, W., Zhang, L., Zhang, G., Wei, H., Zhao, M., Li, H., Guo, S., Gao, J., Kou, G., Li, B., & Dai, J. (2013b). The finely regulating well-defined functional polymeric nanocarriers for antitumour immunotherapy. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 13(5), 643–652.
- Li, W., Wei, H., Li, H., Gao, J., Feng, S. S., & Guo, Y. (2014). Cancer nanoimmunotherapy using advanced pharmaceutical nanotechnology. *Nanomedicine*, 9(16), 2587–2605.
- Li, X., Wang, Y., Wang, Q., Liu, Y., Bao, W., & Wu, S. (2018). Exosomes in cancer: Small transporters with big functions. *Cancer Letters*, 435, 55–65.
- Lin, C. Y., Javadi, M., Belnap, D. M., Barrow, J. R., & Pitt, W. G. (2014). Ultrasound sensitive eLiposomes containing doxorubicin for drug targeting therapy. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 10(1), 67–76.
- Luo, M., Wang, H., Wang, Z., Cai, H., Lu, Z., Li, Y., Du, M., Huang, G., Wang, C., Chen, X., & Porembka, M. R. (2017). A STING-activating nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12(7), 648.
- Mandal, S., Eksteen-Akeroyd, Z. H., Jacobs, M. J., Hammink, R., Koepf, M., Lambeck, A. J., van Hest, J. C., Wilson, C. J., Blank, K., Figdor, C. G., & Rowan, A. E. (2013). Therapeutic nanoworms: Towards novel synthetic dendritic cells for immunotherapy. *Chemical Science*, 4(11), 4168–4174.
- Mandal, A., Bisht, R., Rupenthal, I. D., & Mitra, A. K. (2017). Polymeric micelles for ocular drug delivery: From structural frameworks to recent preclinical studies. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 248, 96–116.
- Mangala, L. S., Zuzel, V., Schmandt, R., Leshane, E. S., Halder, J. B., Armaiz-Pena, G. N., Spannuth, W. A., Tanaka, T., Shahzad, M. M., Lin, Y. G., & Nick, A. M. (2009). Therapeutic targeting of ATP7B in ovarian carcinoma. Clinical Cancer Research, 15(11), 3770–3780
- Mei, Y., Wang, R., Jiang, W., Bo, Y., Zhang, T., Yu, J., ... & Ma, W. (2009). Recent progress in nanomaterials for nucleic acid delivery in cancer immunotherapy. Biomaterials science, 7(7), 2640–2651.
- Miller, R. A., Maloney, D. G., Warnke, R., & Levy, R. (1982). Treatment of B-cell lymphoma with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 306(9), 517–522.

- Mueller, M., Reichardt, W., Koerner, J., & Groettrup, M. (2012). Coencapsulation of tumor lysate and CpG-ODN in PLGA-microspheres enables successful immunotherapy of prostate carcinoma in TRAMP mice. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 162(1), 159–166.
- Opalinska, J. B., & Gewirtz, A. M. (2002). Nucleic-acid therapeutics: Basic principles and recent applications. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 1(7), 503–514.
- Pardi, N., Hogan, M. J., Porter, F. W., & Weissman, D. (2018). mRNA vaccines—a new era in vaccinology. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 17(4), 261.
- Parish, C. R. (2003). Cancer immunotherapy: The past, the present and the future. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 81(2), 106–113.
- Parker, K. H., Beury, D. W., & Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. (2015). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: Critical cells driving immune suppression in the tumor microenvironment. In *Advances in cancer research* (Vol. 128, pp. 95–139). Academic Press.
- Pastor, F., Berraondo, P., Etxeberria, I., Frederick, J., Sahin, U., Gilboa, E., & Melero, I. (2018). An RNA toolbox for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 17(10), 751–767.
- Pedrosa, L. R. C., van Tellingen, O., Soullié, T., Seynhaeve, A. L., Eggermont, A. M., Ten Hagen, T. L., Verheij, M., & Koning, G. A. (2015). Plasma membrane targeting by short chain sphingolipids inserted in liposomes improves anti-tumor activity of mitoxantrone in an orthotopic breast carcinoma xenograft model. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 94, 207–219.
- Pommier, Y. (2004). Camptothecins and topoisomerase I: A foot in the door. Targeting the genome beyond topoisomerase I with camptothecins and novel anticancer drugs: Importance of DNA replication, repair and cell cycle checkpoints. *Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents*, 4(5), 429–434.
- Qu, M. H., Zeng, R. F., Fang, S., Dai, Q. S., Li, H. P., & Long, J. T. (2014). Liposome-based codelivery of siRNA and docetaxel for the synergistic treatment of lung cancer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 474(1–2), 112–122.
- Rancoule, C., Magné, N., Vallard, A., Guy, J. B., Rodriguez-Lafrasse, C., Deutsch, E., & Chargari, C. (2016). NPs in radiation oncology: From bench-side to bedside. *Cancer Letters*, 375(2), 256–262.
- Sahin, U., Karikó, K., & Türeci, Ö. (2014). mRNA-based therapeutics—Developing a new class of drugs. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 13(10), 759–780.
- Seymour, L. W., Ferry, D. R., Anderson, D., Hesslewood, S., Julyan, P. J., Poyner, R., Doran, J., Young, A. M., Burtles, S., & Kerr, D. J. (2002). Hepatic drug targeting: Phase I evaluation of polymer-bound doxorubicin. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 20(6), 1668–1676.
- Shae, D., Becker, K. W., Christov, P., Yun, D. S., Lytton-Jean, A. K., Sevimli, S., Ascano, M., Kelley, M., Johnson, D. B., Balko, J. M., & Wilson, J. T. (2019). Endosomolyticpolymersomes increase the activity of cyclic dinucleotide STING agonists to enhance cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 14(3), 269–278.
- Shi, Y., & Lammers, T. (2019). Combining nanomedicine and immunotherapy. Accounts of Chemical Research, 52(6), 1543–1554.
- Shi, M., Lu, J., & Shoichet, M. S. (2009). Organic nanoscale drug carriers coupled with ligands for targeted drug delivery in cancer. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 19(31), 5485–5498.
- Shi, J., Xiao, Z., Kamaly, N., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2011). Self-assembled targeted nanoparticles: Evolution of technologies and bench to bedside translation. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 44(10), 1123–1134.
- Smith, A. D. (2013). Big moment for nanotech: Oncology therapeutics poised for a leap. In OncLive.
- Stephan, M. T., Moon, J. J., Um, S. H., Bershteyn, A., & Irvine, D. J. (2010). Therapeutic cell engineering with surface-conjugated synthetic NPs. *Nature Medicine*, 16(9), 1035–1041.
- Sterzenbach, U., Putz, U., Low, L. H., Silke, J., Tan, S. S., & Howitt, J. (2017). Engineered exosomes as vehicles for biologically active proteins. *Molecular Therapy*, 25(6), 1269–1278.

- Tekade, R. K., Dutta, T., Gajbhiye, V., & Jain, N. K. (2009). Exploring dendrimer towards dual drug delivery: pH responsive simultaneous drug-release kinetics. *Journal of Microencapsulation*, 26(4), 287–296.
- Tian, Y., Li, S., Song, J., Ji, T., Zhu, M., Anderson, G. J., Wei, J., & Nie, G. (2014). A doxorubicin delivery platform using engineered natural membrane vesicle exosomes for targeted tumor therapy. *Biomaterials*, 35(7), 2383–2390.
- Toraya-Brown, S., Sheen, M. R., Zhang, P., Chen, L., Baird, J. R., Demidenko, E., Turk, M. J., Hoopes, P. J., Conejo-Garcia, J. R., & Fiering, S. (2016). Local hyperthermia treatment of tumors induces CD8+ T cell-mediated resistance against distal and secondary tumors. In Handbook of immunological properties of engineered nanomaterials: Volume 3: Engineered nanomaterials and the immune cell function (pp. 309–347).
- Torchilin, V. P. (2005). Recent advances with liposomes as pharmaceutical carriers. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 4(2), 145–160.
- Turturici, G., Tinnirello, R., Sconzo, G., & Geraci, F. (2014). Extracellular membrane vesicles as a mechanism of cell-to-cell communication: Advantages and disadvantages. *American Journal* of Physiology-Cell Physiology, 306(7), C621–C633.
- Vinay, D. S., & Kwon, B. S. (2012). Immunotherapy of cancer with 4-1BB. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 11(5), 1062–1070.
- Vollmer, J., & Krieg, A. M. (2009). Immunotherapeutic applications of CpGoligodeoxynucleotide TLR9 agonists. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 61(3), 195–204.
- Waldmann, T. A. (2003). Immunotherapy: Past, present and future. Nature Medicine, 9(3), 269–277.
- Wang, C., Sun, W., Wright, G., Wang, A. Z., & Gu, Z. (2016). Inflammation-triggered cancer immunotherapy by programmed delivery of CpG and anti-PD1 antibody. *Advanced Materials*, 28(40), 8912–8920.
- Wang, K., Wen, S., He, L., Li, A., Li, Y., Dong, H., Li, W., Ren, T., Shi, D., & Li, Y. (2018a). "Minimalist" nanovaccine constituted from near whole antigen for cancer immunotherapy. *ACS Nano*, 12(7), 6398–6409.
- Wang, Z., Liu, W., Shi, J., Chen, N., & Fan, C. (2018b). Nanoscale delivery systems for cancer immunotherapy. *Materials Horizons*, 5(3), 344–362.
- Whitehead, K. A., Langer, R., & Anderson, D. G. (2009). Knocking down barriers: Advances in siRNA delivery. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 8(2), 129–138.
- Whitehead, K. A., Dorkin, J. R., Vegas, A. J., Chang, P. H., Veiseh, O., Matthews, J., Fenton, O. S., Zhang, Y., Olejnik, K. T., Yesilyurt, V., & Chen, D. (2014). Degradable lipid NPs with predictable in vivo siRNA delivery activity. *Nature Communications*, 5(1), 1–10.
- Wilson, J. T., Keller, S., Manganiello, M. J., Cheng, C., Lee, C. C., Opara, C., Convertine, A., & Stayton, P. S. (2013). pH-Responsive nanoparticle vaccines for dual-delivery of antigens and immunostimulatory oligonucleotides. ACS Nano, 7(5), 3912–3925.
- Wilson, D. R., Sen, R., Sunshine, J. C., Pardoll, D. M., Green, J. J., & Kim, Y. J. (2018). Biodegradable STING agonist NPs for enhanced cancer immunotherapy. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 14(2), 237–246.
- Xiao, Y., Shi, K., Qu, Y., Chu, B., & Qian, Z. (2019). Engineering NPs for targeted delivery of nucleic acid therapeutics in tumor. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical. *Development*, 12, 1–18.
- Yanase, M., Shinkai, M., Honda, H., Wakabayashi, T., Yoshida, J., & Kobayashi, T. (1998). Antitumor immunity induction by intracellular hyperthermia using magnetite cationic liposomes. *Japanese Journal of Cancer Research*, 89(7), 775–782.
- Yang, Z., Xie, J., Zhu, J., Kang, C., Chiang, C., Wang, X., Wang, X., Kuang, T., Chen, F., Chen, Z., & Zhang, A. (2016). Functional exosome-mimic for delivery of siRNA to cancer: In vitro and in vivo evaluation. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 243, 160–171.
- Yin, H., Kanasty, R. L., Eltoukhy, A. A., Vegas, A. J., Dorkin, J. R., & Anderson, D. G. (2014). Non-viral vectors for gene-based therapy. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 15(8), 541–555.

- Yin, H., Kauffman, K. J., & Anderson, D. G. (2017). Delivery technologies for genome editing. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 16(6), 387.
- Yishay-Safranchik, E., Golan, M., & David, A. (2014). Controlled release of doxorubicin and Smac-derived pro-apoptotic peptide from self-assembled KLD-based peptide hydrogels. *Polymers for Advanced Technologies*, 25(5), 539–544.
- Yu, Z., Xu, Q., Dong, C., Lee, S. S., Gao, L., Li, Y., D'Ortenzio, M., & Wu, J. (2015). Selfassembling peptide nanofibrous hydrogel as a versatile drug delivery platform. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 21(29), 4342–4354.
- Zarrinpar, A., Lee, D. K., Silva, A., Datta, N., Kee, T., Eriksen, C., Weigle, K., Agopian, V., Kaldas, F., Farmer, D., & Wang, S. E. (2016). Individualizing liver transplant immunosuppression using a phenotypic personalized medicine platform. *Science Translational Medicine*, 8(333), 333–349.
- Zhang, Z., Tongchusak, S., Mizukami, Y., Kang, Y. J., Ioji, T., Touma, M., Reinhold, B., Keskin, D. B., Reinherz, E. L., & Sasada, T. (2011). Induction of anti-tumor cytotoxic T cell responses through PLGA-nanoparticle mediated antigen delivery. *Biomaterials*, 32(14), 3666–3678.
- Zhang, M., Zang, X., Wang, M., Li, Z., Qiao, M., Hu, H., & Chen, D. (2019). Exosome-based nanocarriers as bio-inspired and versatile vehicles for drug delivery: Recent advances and challenges. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 7(15), 2421–2433.
- Zupančič, E., Curato, C., Paisana, M., Rodrigues, C., Porat, Z., Viana, A. S., Afonso, C. A., Pinto, J., Gaspar, R., Moreira, J. N., & Satchi-Fainaro, R. (2017). Rational design of NPs towards targeting antigen-presenting cells and improved T cell priming. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 258, 182–195.

Chapter 7 Recent Advances in Lipid-Based Nanoformulations for Breast Cancer Theranostics



Sai Kiran S. S. Pindiprolu, Praveen Thaggikuppe Krishnamurthy, Pavan Kumar Chintamaneni, V. V. V. Ravi Kiran Ammu, and Kusuma Kumari Garikapati

Introduction

Breast cancer is one of the world's leading causes of cancer deaths in women. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), it is expected that the deaths due to breast cancer can reach 17.5 million by year 2050 (Ferlay et al., 2010). Several theories are proposed on the origin of breast cancer. There are several theories proposed to explain its origin. 'Misplacement somatic stem cell' theory hypothesizes that breast cancer originates from misplacement of mammary somatic stem cells (Wang et al., 2013). 'Linear hierarchy model' postulates that breast cancer arises from the deregulation of self-renewal in mammary stem cells (Dontu et al., 2003; Wicha et al., 2003). According to this theory, tumour-initiating breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) originate from acquired mutations of normal stem cells (NSCs). It was also reported that BCSCs develop by epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in response to chemotherapeutic agents and environmental toxicants (Owens & Naylor, 2013; Pindiprolu et al., 2018b). The conventional therapeutic modalities for breast cancer include radiation therapy, chemotherapy with anticancer agents (tamoxifen, doxorubicin (DOX), paclitaxel (PTX), docetaxel, cisplatin, etc.) and in severe cases surgery (Zhao et al., 2016; Swaminathan et al., 2013; Sai Kiran Pindiprolu et al., 2020). These treatment modalities, however, are associated with

P. K. Chintamaneni

S. K. S. S. Pindiprolu

Department of Pharmacology, Aditya Pharmacy College, Surampalem, East Godavari, Andhra Pradesh, India

P. T. Krishnamurthy (⊠) · V. V. V. Ravi Kiran Ammu · K. K. Garikapati Department of Pharmacology, JSS College of Pharmacy, JSS Academy of Higher Education and Research, Ooty, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Pharmaceutics, Raghavendra Institute of Pharmaceutical Education and Research (RIPER), Anantapuramu, Andhra Pradesh, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_7

significant limitations like chemo-/radioresistance, off-target effects, incomplete eradication, induction of EMT, and tumour relapse (Vinogradov & Wei, 2012).

In recent years, the emergence of nanosized (up to 1000 nm) formulations or nanomedicines improved the therapeutic outcomes in cancer (Singh & Lillard Jr, 2009). These nanoformulations can easily permeate via the leaky vasculature of the tumour tissues and lead to passive drug targeting. This is called enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect (Torchilin, 2011). Tumour-targeted nanoformulations enhance the cellular internalization of therapeutic or diagnostic agents by the process of endocytosis (Siddhartha et al., 2018). The surface of these nanoformulations can be altered/modified by using ligands binding to the cancer cell-specific receptors to enhance the targeting efficiency further. Different research groups are working on developing nanoformulations for improving the therapeutic efficacy of anticancer agents. These include carbon nanotubes (Miyako et al., 2008), solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) (Pindiprolu et al., 2018a), lipid drug conjugates (LDCs), nanostructured lipid carriers (NLCs) (Chintamaneni et al., 2017), polymeric nanoparticles (Muntimadugu et al., 2016), lipidic micelles, etc. (You et al., 2015). A compelling body of evidence suggests accurate and informative visualization of tumours and anticancer agents within the tumours can play an essential role in designing effective treatment plans. To achieve this, researchers focused on formulating combined diagnostic and therapeutic (theranostic) modalities in a single nanocarrier (Pindiprolu et al., 2018c). Nanotheranostics allow real-time monitoring of drug distribution, on-demand release, response and efficacy, in a non-invasive and real-time manner. Theranostic modalities, therefore, overcome the limitations associated with conventional chemotherapeutic agents (Liu et al., 2018). Nanotheranostics are multicomponent nanosized formulations, made of organic or inorganic materials, capable of theranostic actions, such as gene/drug delivery (Sola et al., 2020), light-assisted therapy (photodynamic therapy (PDT) (Pais-Silva et al., 2017) and photothermal therapy (PTT)) and imaging modalities (magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), photoacoustic imaging (PAI), positron emission tomography (PET) and single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT)) (Naczynski et al., 2014) (Figs. 7.1 and Table 7.1). Nanotheranostics offer advantages such as enhanced accumulation in tumours, controlled drug release and multiple imaging modalities for optimized therapeutic outcomes. In recent years, various nanoformulations are being developed and tested in clinical trials for theranostic applications in cancer (Table 7.2). Among different nanotheranostic modalities, lipid-based nanoformulations offer several advantages for cancer theranostics. They include biocompatibility, improved cellular uptake, controlled drug release, etc. (Pindiprolu et al., 2019). In the present chapter, we discuss the recent advancements in the lipidbased nanoformulations (liposomes, SLNs, NLCs, LDCs and lipid micelles) for theranostics applications in breast cancer.



Fig. 7.1 (a) EPR effect and (b) design of nanotheranostic modality

	Technique	Advantages	Disadvantages
Therapeutic modalities	Photothermal therapy	Efficient heat production Do not require oxygen to interact with the target cell Less harmful to healthy tissues	Unable to penetrate deeper tissues Costly
	Photodynamic therapy	High sensitivity Targeted therapy Non-invasive	Unable to penetrate deeper tissues Ineffective against metastasized tumours
Diagnostic (imaging) modalities	Fluorescence Imaging	High sensitivity Multi-colour imaging	Limited clinical translation Low depth penetration
	MRI	Clinical translation High resolution and soft tissue contrast	High cost Long imaging time
	PET	Clinical translation High sensitivity with unlimited penetration	High cost
	SPECT	Clinical translation Unlimited penetration	Limited spatial resolution

Table 7.1 Primary therapeutic and diagnostic modalities in cancer theranostics

Nanomedicine for Cancer Theranostics

Design and Targeting Principles

The passive targeting strategy utilizes the unique tumour microenvironment and the physicochemical properties of nanoparticles. Nanoparticles with average size of 100-200 nm, after *i.v.* administration, get accumulated in the tumour tissues

S.			Clinical trial ID/
no.	Nanoformulation	Cancer	phase
1.	Carbon nanoparticles	Colorectal tumour	NCT03350945
2.	Gold nanoparticles	Glioblastoma	NCT03020017/
			Phase 1
3.	hafnium oxide (HfO2) nanoparticle	Prostate cancer	NCT02805894/
			Phase 1
4.	Liposomes	Breast cancer	NCT03409198/
			Phase 2B
5.	Polymeric nanoparticles	Acute myeloid leukaemia	NCT03217838/
			Phase I
6.	Polysiloxane Gd-nanoparticles	Advanced cervical cancer	NCT03308604/
		0.111	Phase I
1.	Protein-based nanoparticles	Solid tumours	NC102495896/
0	Silico nononortiolog	Colon, head and neals	NCT02106508/
0.	Sinca nanoparticles	breast cancer	Phase 2
0	Polymeric nanoparticles	Colon cancer	NCT03774680/
).	r orymene nanoparticles	coloir cancer	Phase 1
		Solid tumour	NCT03712423/
			Phase 1
		Prostate cancer	NCT03531827/
			Phase 2
10.	Liposomes	Solid tumours	NCT02271516/
			Phase 1
11.	Liposomes	Solid tumours	NCT02191878/
			Phase 3
12.	Micelles	Head and neck squamous	NCT02639858/
		cell carcinoma	Phase 2
13.	Protein-based nanoparticles	Bladder cancer	NCT02009332/
			Phase I
		CICL	NC100211198/
1.4	67Cu poptido conjugatos	Naurahlastama	NCT04022221/
14.	o/Cu-peptide conjugates	Neurobiastollia	Phase 2
15	CCK2 receptor targeting 111	Thyroid carcinoma	NCT03246659/
15.	CCR2 receptor targeting 111	Thyroid caremonia	Phase 1
16.	Gold nanoparticles	Lung cancer	NCT01679470
17.	Superparamagnetic iron oxide	Head and neck cancer	NCT01895829/
171	nanoparticles (SPIONs)		Phase 1
18.	Lipid-based nanoparticles	Liver tumours	NCT02181075/
	1 1		Phase1
19.	Polymeric nanoparticles	Squamous cell, NSCLC	NCT02283320/
			Phase 2
20.	Protein-based nanoparticles	Solid tumours	NCT02975882/
			Phase 1
21.	PSMA conjugates	Prostate cancer	NCT03392428/
			Phase 2

 Table 7.2
 Nanoformulations in clinical trials for cancer theranostics

passively, due to the presence of leaky vasculature and abnormal tissue architecture. Further, the absence of lymphatic drainage in these tumour tissues retains nanoparticles and results in EPR effect (Ward & Thompson, 2012; Torchilin, 2011; Maeda et al., 2000). Thus, passive targeting by nanoparticles reduces the off-target effects of encapsulated anticancer agents and improves their anticancer effects. However, a compelling body of evidence suggests that sufficient cellular internalization and targeting cannot be achieved with a passive targeting strategy. Hence, in recent years scientists have focused their research towards active targeted delivery by mod-ifying the surface of nanoparticles with tumour-targeting ligands (antibodies, pep-tides, proteins, aptamers, nucleic acids, proteins, polysaccharides, small molecules). These ligands recognize and can bind to complementary receptors or molecules, which are generally overexpressed on tumour cells. Thus, an active targeting approach improves the cell specificity, cellular uptake and anticancer efficiency of encapsulated anticancer drugs (Zhang et al., 2012; Torchilin, 2010).

Localized Imaging of Tumours

Specific and early imaging (diagnosis) of tumours is a major challenge in oncology. The limitations associated with small molecular imaging agents are rapid clearance, non-specific biodistribution, low uptake by the tumour tissues, nephrotoxicity, poor biocompatibility and low image resolution. In recent years, materials such as Br, Gd, Pb, U, Dy, Cu, Yb, AU, Bi, Lu and organic dyes were, therefore, extensively owing to their high radiocontrast imaging ability (Singh et al., 2011; Nasongkla et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2015; Shaik et al., 2020). However, their low cellular uptake and toxicities due to off-target actions are the significant limitations of these contrast agents. In this context, nanocarriers offer several benefits by overcoming the limitations associated with these contrast agents, enabling effective bio-imaging and diagnosis of cancer (Li et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2017).

Light-Assisted Cancer Therapy

PDT is one of the promising approaches in cancer diagnosis and treatment, which utilizes photosensitizers (PSs) for the eradication of tumours. In PDT, tumours are destroyed by the toxic oxygen species, ROS, produced by these PS upon exposure to light. However, off-target effects of PSs, oxidative stress in healthy tissues and low cellular uptake are the PDT limitations. Further, the clinically approved PSs like porphyrin and its derivatives in the visible region limit penetration of light, which reduces their PDT efficiency (Moret et al., 2013; Edmonds et al., 2012).

PTT is another attractive approach for light- and heat-mediated non-invasive and selective ablation of tumours. Moreover, greater depths of penetration of NIR light, high photo conversion efficiency and lower uptake by healthy tissues make PTT an

efficient approach to deal with tumours. However, off-target effects of ROS and low cellular uptake of photothermal agents are the limitations of PTT (Yoon et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017). Nanomedicine overcomes the setbacks associated with PDT/PTT and improves the therapeutic outcomes in cancer. In recent years various nanoformulations are being developed for efficient PDT/PTT in addition to image-guided anticancer therapy (Xie et al., 2020).

Lipid-Based Nanoformulations for Breast Cancer Theranostics

Lipid-based nanoformulations are one of the most significantly investigated in breast cancer theranostics. They have resulted in several advantages owing to their biodegradability and biocompatibility. Further, their formulation can be personalized for various applications. Herein, we discuss recent advances in lipid-based nanoformulations for breast cancer theranostics (Fig. 7.2).

Liposomes

Liposomes are spherical bilayers of lipids, which are formed by the controlled selfassembly, and are having hydrophilic interior moiety and hydrophobic exterior moiety (Joo et al., 2013; Díaz & Vivas-Mejia, 2013). These are the first-generation lipidic nanoformulations, explored for intracellular delivery of chemotherapeutic agents (Yingchoncharoen et al., 2016). They can be classified as multilamellar vesicles $(0.5-10 \,\mu\text{m})$ with multiple lipid bilayers based on the particle size and a number of lipid layers, giant unilamellar vesicles (1000 nm), large unilamellar vesicles (100 nm) and small unilamellar vesicles (20-100 nm) (Yingchoncharoen et al., 2016). The charge on the surface of the liposomes determines their cellular uptake and in vivo circulation capabilities (Su et al., 2012). Liposomes are classified as anionic, cationic and neutral based on surface charge. Neutral and anionic liposomes adsorb fewer serum proteins and have longer circulation half-life than cationic nanoparticles (Allen, 1994). However, cationic nanoparticles have been shown to have greater cell uptake (Sood et al., 2013). Modified liposomes such as transfersomes are made of phospholipids and an edge activator, generally an extended single-chain surfactant (Honeywell-Nguyen & Bouwstra, 2005). Ethosomes are another class of modified liposomes comprising phospholipids and ethanol. Phosphatidylcholine, DSPE, DOPE, etc. are commonly used lipids in the preparation of liposomes (Godin & Touitou, 2003). Controlled release, effective intracellular delivery of chemotherapeutics and ease of preparation are the advantages of liposomes. However, drug leakage during storage is the limitation of liposomes (Yingchoncharoen et al., 2016).



Fig. 7.2 Lipid-based nanoformulations for breast cancer theranostics

Preparation of Liposomes

Thin Film Hydration

In this method, liposomes can be prepared by dispersing lipids or their mixtures in a suitable organic solvent. The mixture of lipids and the organic solvent is subjected to rotary flash evaporation under reduced pressure, to form a thin film of dry lipid. The formed dry lipid film will be hydrated by adding aqueous buffer and by maintaining temperatures beyond phase transition temperature of the lipids employed. While maintaining the conditions, the mixture is agitated until the entire lipid film gets dispersed (preferably for 1 hour), resulting in formation of liposomes (Singh et al., 2019, 2020). The formed liposomes are further size reduced by sonication or by extrusion through polycarbonate filters, to get liposomes of desired size ranges. Even though the method is easy and is widely employed for the formulation of liposomes, it suffers from potential limitations of low drug encapsulation efficiencies (Yingchoncharoen et al., 2016).

Reverse-Phase Evaporation

This technique involves the preparation of a water-in-oil emulsion, with lipids, buffers and excess of organic phase by sonication or mechanical process. Followed by which the organic solvent is completely removed under vacuum, resulting in the formation of oligolamellar and large unilamellar vesicles. This technique is useful in the formation of inverted micelles (Vemuri & Rhodes, 1995; Laouini et al., 2012).

Detergent Removal Method

In this method, lipids are solubilized in a detergent to form mixed micelles. Then detergent will be removed either by dialysis, chromatography or adsorption (Torchilin et al., 2003; Vemuri & Rhodes, 1995).

Heating Method

This method doesn't involve any organic solvent and is one of the most uncomplicated and fast processes in a liposome preparation. The lipid components are hydrated at temperatures above phase transition temperatures of lipid for about 1 hour. by mechanical stirring (generally at about 120 °C), in glycerol (3% v/v). As they are prepared by a direct heating method, further sterilization is not required. This enables ease of formulation and scale-up (Patil & Jadhav, 2014).

Spray Drying

This method involves dispersing lipids into organic solvents, followed by sonication and spray drying. The obtained amorphous product can be hydrated using aqueous media. This results in the formation of lipid vesicles with high encapsulation efficiencies. The vesicular size of the final product depends on the volume of the aqueous phase used for hydrating the spray-dried product (Laouini et al., 2012).

Freeze-Drying

This method involves dispersing lipids in tertbutyl alcohol/solvent system at appropriate ratios. The above mixture is then sterilized and is processed for freeze-drying at controlled temperature and pressure conditions. This freeze-dried product, when dispersed in aqueous media, results in the formation of homogenous liposomal suspension (Patil & Jadhav, 2014). Particle size instability during freeze-drying, high production cost and varying EE are the limitations associated with this method (Ranade & Cannon, 2011).

Supercritical Reverse-Phase Evaporation

In this method, lipid components are dissolved in pressurized carbon dioxide with ethanol. Following which, the mixture is subjected to quick depressurization, along with simultaneous mixing, resulting in rapid precipitation of lipids into the aqueous phase, thereby forming liposomes (Frederiksen et al., 1997).

Applications of Liposomes in Breast Cancer Theranostics

A variety of liposomal such as Doxil[®] and Margibo[®] have already been clinically approved for the treatment of breast cancer (Barenholz, 2012). Liposomes have also been studied as carriers for a variety of imaging agents including ¹⁴C and ⁶⁴Cu isotopes, quantum dots (QDs), gadolinium contrast agents, fluorescent probes and superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs). Liposomes are thus emerging as theranostic tools, with a wide range of anticancer applications (Al-Jamal & Kostarelos, 2011). Encapsulating MRI contrast agents into liposomal carriers together with anticancer agents is an effective approach for developing advanced nanotheranostics with non-invasive MRI. Mikhaylov et al. prepared ferrimagnetic iron oxide (FMIO) nanoparticles and cathepsin-encapsulated long-circulating liposomes for simultaneous imaging and killing of cancer cells. This liposomal formulation resulted in an improved MRI imaging with greater uptake by the tumour cells and adjacent stroma. This liposomal nanoformulation is a non-invasive, real-time tool for breast cancer (Mikhaylov et al., 2011). In another study, the authors reported the beneficial effects of liposomes encapsulated with hypoxia-activated prodrug (AO4N) and hCe6 for breast cancer theranostics. After chelation with ⁶⁴Cu, these liposomes displayed properties suitable for PET. Further, it was reported that combining PET, fluorescence and PAI with PDT enhanced the anticancer theranostics by sequential PDT and hypoxia-activated therapy. Overall, this liposomal theranostic tool is a promising candidate for breast cancer theranostics (Feng et al., 2017). Rizzitelli et al. have developed a long-circulating liposomal nanoformulation encapsulated with gadoteridol and doxorubicin. After systemic administration, the nanoformulation resulted in localized drug release by ultrasound. This approach significantly improved the therapeutic efficacy in a breast tumour model (Rizzitelli et al., 2015). Folate receptor (FR) is an important cell surface receptor reported to be overexpressed on the surface of breast cancer cells due to their abnormal metabolism. FR is an essential target for tumour-specific delivery and imaging of therapeutic agents (Meier et al., 2010). In a recent study, Liu et al. have formulated multifunctional Gd-DTPA-ONB (GDO) lipid by introducing the Gd-DTPA contrast agent moiety and nitro-benzyl ester lipid for enhanced breast cancer theranostics (Fig. 7.3). In another study, doxorubicin-loaded, FR-targeted long-circulating liposomes containing polymers enhance theranostic efficacy in breast cancer (Gabizon et al., 2003; Moret et al., 2013). This nanotheranostic platform was found to be safe for treatment of breast cancer. In another study, He et al. have developed luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) receptor-targeted liposomes by conjugating gonadorelin (LHRH ligand) to the liposomal nanocarriers containing magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (MIONs) and anticancer drug, mitoxantrone. This nanotheranostic formulation effectively controlled tumour progression, in addition to realtime and non-invasive tumour visualization (He et al., 2014). In another study, Lozano and coworkers reported the theranostics propensity of long-circulating liposomes co-encapsulated with ICG and doxorubicin, functionalized with a monoclonal antibody (hCTM01). The authors demonstrated non-invasive theranostics by



Fig. 7.3 GDO liposomes as an MRI contrast agent, in comparison with commercially available Gd-DTPA. (a) T_1 -weighted MR images of different Gd-equal concentrations of Gd-DTPA and GDO. (b) A plot of $1/T_1$ against Gd concentration. (c) T_1 -weighted MR images of mice injected with GDO liposomes. (d) Comparison of signal intensities of Gd-DTPA and GDO in the liver and kidney of mice (Liu et al., 2019). (Reproduced with permission, Copyright Elsevier 2019)

multispectral optoacoustic tomography (MSOT) and anticancer activity of liposomal nanotheranostics in breast cancer model (Gubbins, 2016).

Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) is an aggressive breast cancer subtype with higher tumour relapse and metastasis (Dietze et al., 2015). Dai et al. developed integrin α 3 receptor-targeted liposomes loaded with DOX and a NIR probe (DiD) and evaluated for efficacy in the TNBC model. In this study, the authors reported the beneficial effects of liposomes for significant regression and real-time monitoring of tumours (Dai et al., 2014). In another study, the authors prepared liposomes loading DOX, gemcitabine, or cisplatin, as well as the corresponding DNA barcode for probing the tumour sensitivity towards chemotherapeutic agents. After systemic administration, the liposomes can target tumour cells, confirmed by the fluorescent monitoring of the diagnostic imaging agent fluorescent dye indocyanine green (ICG). The DNA barcode established the superior therapeutic efficacy of gemcitabine compared to other tested drugs. PDT is an effective treatment modality, owing to its selectivity, residual systemic toxicity and non-invasive nature (Pais-Silva et al., 2017). In an in vivo proof-of-concept study, the authors reported the beneficial effects of long-circulating thermosensitive liposomes for PDT by incorporating ICG in liposomes. Liposomal tumour accumulation and excellent tolerability, with almost nearly complete tumour eradication, was observed from NIR imaging (Yoon et al., 2017). Zhao et al. developed long-circulating thermal-responsive liposomes for chemo-PDT. The liposomes containing doxorubicin and ICG were designed, and their efficacy was evaluated in vivo in a rodent model. The developed liposomal formulation allowed temperature-controlled release of DOX along with real-time imaging of biodistribution.

Further, significant tumour regression with minimal off-target effects was observed in this study. It was reported that Ru-derived complexes had marked anticancer and imaging propensity without affecting healthy cells (Luk et al., 2012). Shen et al. have fabricated long-circulating liposomes containing Ru polypyridine complex for simultaneous imaging and induction of apoptosis in TNBC cells. This biocompatible, liposomal nanoformulation was found to be effective in selective induction of apoptosis in TNBC cells (Shen et al., 2017).

Lipid Nanoformulations with a Solid Matrix

Lipid nanoformulations with the solid matrix are interesting vectors for tumourtargeted drug delivery. These include:

(i) SLNs

SLNs or lipospheres are often referred to as second-generation liposomes. They are nanoparticles with 50–1000 nm size range. SLNs are made of fatty acids and also contain surfactants (Weber et al., 2014; Talluri et al., 2017). Easy preparation, stability and controlled drug release are some of the advantages of SLNs. Triglycerides, phospholipids, lipid acids (e.g. stearic acid, palmitic acid), glyceride mixtures or waxes and cholesterol are common lipids in the preparation of SLN formulations. Tween 80, lecithin and sodium glycolate are commonly used lipids for SLN preparation (Feng & Mumper, 2013). Compatibility for intravenous (i.v.) administration, controlled drug delivery and better cellular internalization are the characteristics of SLNs for useful applications in tumour-targeted drug delivery. However, drug expulsion and low drug-loading capacity are the limitations of SLNs (Muchow et al., 2008). SLNs have a wide range of theranostic applications in breast cancer (Weber et al., 2014).

(ii) NLCs

NLCs consist of a mixture of solid and liquid lipids with distinct nanostructures (Weber et al., 2014; Muchow et al., 2008; Pindiprolu et al., 2020). The lipid matrix of NLCs varies from crystal to amorphous structure. Compared to SLNs, NLCs have higher drug loading and better release profiles. However, rapid clearance is the disadvantage of NLCs (Shao et al., 2015; Patlolla et al., 2010; Beloqui et al., 2016). Soya bean oil, oleic acid, vitamin E/ α -tocopherol, corn oil, etc. are the liquid lipids used in the preparation of NLCs. Stearic acid, carnauba wax, cetyl palmitate, glyceryl monocaprate, etc. are the solid lipids used in the preparation of NLCs. Tween 80, lecithin, sodium dodecyl sulphate, etc. are the emulsifiers used in the preparation of NLCs (Beloqui et al., 2016). NLCs are gaining interest in their theranostic

applications due to their high versatility. Further, high drug-loading capacity and improved stability at room temperature are the advantages of NLCs over SLNs for their applications in cancer theranostics (Beloqui et al., 2016).

(iii) LDCs

LDCs or lipidic prodrugs are prepared by the formation of salts with fatty acids or by covalent bonds, dipole moments, ion interactions, electrostatic interactions or hydrogen bonds either to the lipid directly or with the help of a functional spacer group (Hussain et al., 2015; Müller & Olbrich, 2004; Muchow et al., 2008; Müller & Olbrich, 1999). Further, surface modification of LDCs with suitable ligands provides active targeted drug delivery. LDCs are similar to SLNs and NLCs in terms of preparation methods and lipid components. The physicochemical challenges of drugs/photosensitizer dyes can be overcome with LDCs (Müller & Olbrich, 2004; Olbrich et al., 2002).

Preparation of Lipid Nanoformulations with the Solid Matrix

Homogenization

In this method, lipid nanoparticles are formed by dispersing the hot lipid phase (up to 90 °C) into an aqueous phase containing surfactants. The pre-emulsion is homogenized at 90 °C. Finally, the obtained o/w emulsion is cooled down to room temperature to solidify the nanoparticles (Weber et al., 2014; Muchow et al., 2008).

Emulsification Solvent Evaporation

In this method, the dissolved lipids in the organic solvent will be added to the aqueous phase with continuous stirring at 70–80 °C. Then the organic phase will be removed by continuous stirring. The obtained nanoemulsion will be then cooled to 5 °C to form lipid nanoparticles (Talluri et al., 2017; Pindiprolu et al., 2019).

Microemulsion Method

In this method, the oil and aqueous phases are heated up to the same temperature. Then the hot aqueous phase will be added to the oil phase under stirring. The hot o/w emulsion is dispersed in cold water at a 1:50 ratio to obtain solidified lipid nanoparticles (Siddhartha et al., 2018).

Ultrasonic Solvent Emulsification Method

In this method, lipid nanoparticles are formed by dissolving lipid phase in the organic phase (dichloromethane) and heated up to 50 °C. After partial evaporation of the organic solvent, the aqueous phase containing surfactants will be added. The obtained emulsion is sonicated for an appropriate time and finally cooled (Muchow et al., 2008).

Applications in Breast Cancer Theranostics

SLNs

IR-780 iodide is a NIR dye with higher fluorescence intensity and strong optical absorbance at 700-900 nm. Following laser irradiation, IR-780 can kill cancer cells in a non-invasive manner. However, hydrophobicity off-target effects are the challenges for the clinical use of IR-780 (Pais-Silva et al., 2017). Kuang et al. reported the theranostic efficacy of tumour-targeted IR-780 iodide dye-loaded SLNs to monitor PTT. These theranostic SLNs were biocompatible, stable and selectively accumulated at the tumour site (Peira et al., 2003). In another study, Kallinen et al. have reported the beneficial effects of thermally hydrocarbonized porous silicon (THCPSi)-SLN nanocomposite for passive targeting and imaging of breast cancer. The authors encapsulated THCPSi nanoparticles within SLNs to form THCPSi-SLN nanocomposite (THCPSi-SLNC) and radiolabelled with 18F (a PET-compliant dye) for imaging. The efficacy of developed THCPSi-SLNC was evaluated in an orthotopic breast cancer model. The authors reported that encapsulation of THCPSi in SLN improved the accumulation of nanoformulation at the tumour site at a 7-week point of time (Kallinen et al., 2014). SLNs are promising carriers for PSs/ dyes for enhancing their phototherapeutic efficacy. Meso-(tetrahydroxyphenyl) chlorin (mTHPC) is one of the most potent photoactive compounds for clinical use. However, its effective intracellular delivery is challenging. It was reported that mTHPC-encapsulated SLNs enhanced the PDT efficacy in MCF-7 cells. (Navarro et al., 2014).

Brezaniova et al. have prepared stable thermoresponsive SLNs of temoporfin (T-SLNP). The prepared SLNs have a particle size below 50 nm. The efficacy of SLNs was evaluated in vitro using 4T1 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Besides, the efficacy was evaluated in tumour-bearing Nu/Nu mice (Brezaniova et al., 2016) (Fig. 7.4). In another study, the authors developed trastuzumab-functionalized SLNs loaded with quantum dots and rapamycin for HER-2-targeted breast cancer theranostics. The results showed enhanced therapeutic efficacy of targeted SLNs over native drugs and unconjugated SLNs in the SKBR3 cells. Further, the authors demonstrated enhanced inhibition of the mTOR signalling pathway and enhanced apoptosis. The bio-imaging propensity of SLNs was studied in both monolayer and 3D tumour spheroid models (Parhi & Sahoo, 2015).

NLCs

Huipeng Li et al. have recently reported the beneficial effects of NLCs for targeted delivery of IR-780 and PTT of breast cancer cells. In this study, the author's developed CXCR4 receptor-targeted NLCs with AMD3100 (CXCR4 antagonist) and IR-780 (IR-780-AMD-NLCs). CXCR4-mediated tumour targeting and IR-780-induced PTT resulted in the prevention of metastasis. The encapsulated IR-780 displays better PTT than naïve IR-780 delivery system holds a potential for PTT-induced anticancer effects and preventing metastasis (Li et al., 2017) (Fig. 7.5). In another study, Zhang et al. developed folic acid (FA)-modified NLCs loaded with PTX and chlorin e6 (Ce6). The NLCs have long circulation and tumour targeting. This system also enhanced the solubility and intracellular uptake of PTX and Ce6. Besides, after laser irradiation, this nanoformulation produced sufficient local ROS and induced cytotoxicity in breast cancer cells. Overall, these findings demonstrated that PDT combined with chemotherapy might have more significant tumour regression and theranostic effects (Zhang et al., 2019).



Fig. 7.4 PS temoporfin (T-SLNP) for PDT of breast cancer. (Reproduced with permission, Copyright Elsevier 2016) (Brezaniova et al., 2016)



Fig. 7.5 (a) Confocal images of 4T1-luc cells incubated with FRET-AMD-NLCs. (b) The FRET signal change of FRET-AMD-NLCs in plasma. (c) Plasma concentration time curves of IR-780-AMD-NLCs after intravenous injection of various IR-780 formulations. (Reproduced with permission, Copyright Elsevier 2017) (Li et al., 2017)

LDCs

Muddineti et al. have recently synthesized PEGylated lipid and Ce6 conjugate nanoformulation for enhanced cancer imaging and NIR light-induced PDT. In another study, Lee et al. have developed fatty acid-conjugated PS nanoformulation for tumour targeting and PDT (Muddineti et al., 2020). In this work, the authors prepared PS LDC formulation comprising oleic acid (OA), pullulan (polymer) and Ce6 (OA-Pullulan-Ce6, OPuC). In this study, the imaging and anticancer propensities of OPuC were observed in colon, breast, and lung cancer cell lines. OPuC was reported to exhibit 3.27-fold greater cell uptake than non-OA-conjugated polymer (Pullulan-Ce6, PuC). Upon NIR irradiation, OPuC could generate singlet oxygen and results in cellular apoptosis and necrosis. OA-conjugated polymeric PS is, therefore, a potential tumour targeting and PDT agent for effective theranostics of breast cancer (Lee & Na, 2020). Also, in recent years, the researchers are focused on surface modification of nanoparticles with lipids to enhance their cellular uptake,

to achieve multifunctionality and to improve biocompatibility. For instance, Junjing Yin et al. have prepared PEGylated phospholipid membrane-coated catalase nanoparticles for targeting tumour hypoxia and enhanced chemo-PDT. The hydrophobic photodynamic agent of DiD and cytotoxic soravtansine were inserted in the phospholipid membrane of 1,2-distearoyl-snglycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-[methoxy(PEG)-2000] (DSPE-PEG). This lipid membrane was then surface modified on catalase nanoparticles to develop the nanocatalase system of DiD and soravtansine (Cat@PDS). Cat@PDS nanoformulation penetrated deep tumour sites and resulted in combinational chemo-PDT of breast cancer (Yin et al., 2020). In another study, Tang et al. have developed lipid-coated calcium phosphate nanoparticles (LCP NPs) for tumour-targeted combined PTT and gene therapy of TNBC. In this work, lipid-coated calcium phosphate nanoparticles (LCP NPs) were devised, with the out-layer lipids being readily PEGylated. The surface was further functionalized with a bispecific antibody (BsAb) of the EGFR receptor for targeted delivery. Cell death (CD) siRNA and ICG were co-loaded into LCP NPs for efficient NIR imaging and anticancer effects (Fig. 7.4). LCP-BsAb NPs are, therefore, promising theranostic platforms for breast cancer (Tang et al., 2019).

Lipid Micelles

Lipid micelles are colloidal lipidic amphiphilic systems (Torchilin, 2005). Unlike liposomes (lipid bilayer structure), they form a monolayer with the lipophilic tails forming the inner core and hydrophilic heads. They may be either spherical rods or ellipsoidal structures (Arleth et al., 2005). Lipid micelles can effectively deliver hydrophobic drugs, which are localized in the inner core of the micellar structure (Mu et al., 2005). Lipid micelles have the potential for effective intracellular delivery of drugs and genes to cancer cells. However, they have limited drug-loading capacity due to their low hydrophobic volume (Feng & Mumper, 2013).

Preparation of Lipid Micelles

Lipid micelles can be prepared by dispersing lipids in an organic solvent. The solution will then be injected into an excessive aqueous media to form lipid nanoparticles. Ether/ethanol is used as an organic solvent to form micelles and is diluted to a point below CMC, causing dissolved lipids to self-assemble in the aqueous phase and form small particles (under 100 nm) (Deamer & Bangham, 1976).

Applications of Lipid Micelles in Breast Cancer Theranostics

Lipid micelles are promising theranostic nanoformulations with the advantage of small size (5-100 nm), encapsulation of hydrophobic drugs/contrast agents, long circulation and greater cellular uptake for theranostic applications (Arleth et al., 2005). Tymish Y et al. have developed a phospholipid micellar nanoformulation for MRI-guided cancer therapy. Magnetoplasmonic nanoplatform combining gold nanorods (GNR) and FeO nanoparticles within phospholipid-based polymeric nanomicelles (PGRFe) was prepared. An external magnetic field guides the fabricated nanotheranostic micelles. The application of an external field enhances photoacoustic signal and also results in enhanced cell uptake. Upon laser irradiation, formulation efficiently generates plasmonic nanobubbles in cancer cells causing cell destruction. The combined plasmonic and magnetic functionalities of these nanoplatforms enable efficient anticancer theranostics (Ohulchanskyy et al., 2013). In another study, Kang et al. have developed EGFR-targeted lipid micelles coencapsulating QDs and PTX for breast cancer theranostics. In this work, the authors co-encapsulated QD and PTX in lipid micelles for imaging and eradication of breast cancer cells. Further, to achieve an active target, the surface of lipid micelle nanoformulation was modified with EGFR aptamer or antibody. The developed micellar nanoformulation specifically accumulated in EGFR-positive MDA-MB 453 breast cancer cells and for imaging and enhanced tumour regression (Kang et al., 2018). Lipid micellar nanoformulations are, therefore, promising nanocarriers for theranostic applications in breast cancer (Fig. 7.6).

Future Prospects

Nanotheranostics is the fastest-growing field in life sciences. The biocompatibility, biodegradability, structural simplicity and extended functionality make lipid-based nanoformulations as promising tools for theranostic applications in cancer (Yang et al., 2015; Pindiprolu et al., 2018c; Paliwal et al., 2014). However, successful clinical translation of these nanoformulations for theranostic application in breast cancer is still challenging. The primary concerns with lipid-based nanotheranostics include (i) limited preclinical and clinical efficacy and safety data; (ii) complete eradication of tumours and precise imaging of tumours are still challenging to achieve; (iii) biodegradation and clearance mechanisms need to be elucidated; and (iv) the interactions between tumour microenvironment and nanotheranostics are yet to be elucidated (Chen et al., 2017; Kievit & Zhang, 2011). To overcome the above challenges to improve the theranostic and clinical translation potential of lipid-based nanoformulations in breast cancer, the following strategies can be adopted.



Fig. 7.6 NIR images of Cy5-dsDNA and ICG dual-labelled LCPs NP in human, murine tumour xenograft models (**a**). Nude mice-bearing MDA-MB-468 human tumour xenografts. Tumours are indicated with circles and arrows. Ex vivo images of tumour tissues collected from sacrificed mice at excitation wavelength for Cy5 (**b**) and ICG (**d**). Semi-quantitative analysis of fluorescent signals of tumour tissues for Cy5 (**c**) and ICG (**e**). (Reproduced with permission, Copyright Elsevier 2017) (Tang et al., 2019)

Multifunctional Nanotheranostics

Tumour imaging with different modalities, monitoring of drug/gene delivery, stimuli-sensitive release of payload and enhanced image-guided treatment or surgical removal of tumours can be achieved by incorporation of multiple components in a single formulation (Li et al., 2014; He et al., 2014). However, multifunctions and diverse components in a single nanotheranostic formulation make the system complicated and pose significant difficulties for scale-up and clinical translation. Researchers should, therefore, also focus on scale-up challenges for the effective design of multifunctional lipid-based nanotheranostics (Paliwal et al., 2014).

Combinatorial Chemo-/Gene Therapy and Phototherapy

Chemotherapy, phototherapy and radiation therapy are stand-alone treatments so far for a variety of cancers. However, these alone are not sufficient for the complete eradication of tumours. A combination of these stand-alone strategies could be more beneficial for significant tumour regression. In recent years, researchers, therefore, focused on combinatorial strategies such as a combination of chemotherapeutic agents and gene therapy with PSs to achieve complete tumour eradication (Abeylath et al., 2011; Amreddy et al., 2018).

Targeted Theranostics Towards BCSCs

A compelling body of evidence suggests that the presence of tumours initiating BCSCs even after chemotherapy or radiotherapy results in tumour relapse. Elimination of BCSCs along with bulk tumour cells results in a radical cure for breast cancer. It is, therefore, necessary to develop lipid-based nanoformulations to target self-renewal pathways for imaging and elimination of BCSCs (Pindiprolu, Krishnamurthy, & Chintamaneni, 2018b; Pindiprolu & Pindiprolu, 2019).

Stable Drug Loading and Prolonging Circulation Time

Stable drug loading within a nanoformulation is necessary for enhanced bioavailability and the improved pharmacokinetic relationship between drug and delivery systems. Covalent conjugation, active loading or strong complexation between the drug and the vehicle result in stable drug loading. Stable incorporation methods are needed to establish effective delivery and theranostics of PSs in breast cancer. PEG surface modification or other hydrophilic modifications is a recognized approach for prolonging circulation time, minimizing non-specific binding and reducing clearance by immune cells. Extending circulation time may to some extent mitigate the effect of their poor extravasation into tissues (Knop et al., 2010; Maeda et al., 2000).

Regulatory Aspects of Lipid-Based Nanoformulations

Biocompatible and inert lipids without significant toxicity are needed to be employed for effective clinical applications of lipidic nanoformulations. The use of lipids/ excipients listed as generally regarded as safe (GRAS) by US FDA needs to be utilized for preparing lipid nanoformulations (Burdock & Carabin, 2004). Besides, an inactive ingredient guide (IIG) also provides the safest concentrations of excipients in nanoformulations (FDA, 2009). By considering the data from GRAS and IIG, the formulation scientist can select the excipients for developing a new lipidic nanoformulation. Further, quality and safety issues associated with these formulations in preclinical and clinical studies are essential from the regulator's point of view as the lipids are used to undergo a chemical modification in the structure during conjugation, which may alter their properties (Namiki et al., 2011). Further, immunological reactions and toxicity profile of lipid-based nanoformulations need to be well studied for successful theranostic applications of lipid-based nanoformulations.

Conclusion

With the advent of nanomedicine, there is a paradigm shift in the imaging and treatment of cancer. In recent years, researchers focused on developing nanotheranostics for simultaneous tumour imaging and therapy. Nanotheranostics offer advantages such as enhanced tumour accumulation, controlled drug release and multiple imaging modalities for optimized therapeutic outcomes. A compelling body of evidence suggests that nanotheranostic have promising efficacy and negligible side effects. Further, nanotheranostics is a clinical 'weapon' for targeted cancer therapy. Among various nanotheranostics, lipid-based nanoformulations offer multiple advantages for imaging and therapy of breast cancer. They include biocompatibility, improved cell uptake and reduced off-target effects. However, nanotheranostics are struggling for clinical translation due to their multifunctionality and complexity. Multidisciplinary collaborations and knowledge interchange between academia, biomedical scientists and medical specialists are, therefore, needed to address the various translational challenges of nanotheranostics.

References

- Abeylath, S. C., Ganta, S., Iyer, A. K., & Amiji, M. (2011). Combinatorial-designed multifunctional polymeric nanosystems for tumor-targeted therapeutic delivery. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 44(10), 1009–1017.
- Al-Jamal, W. T., & Kostarelos, K. (2011). Liposomes: From a clinically established drug delivery system to a nanoparticle platform for theranostic nanomedicine. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 44(10), 1094–1104.
- Allen, T. M. (1994). Long-circulating (sterically stabilized) liposomes for targeted drug delivery. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 15(7), 215–220.
- Amreddy, N., Babu, A., Panneerselvam, J., Srivastava, A., Muralidharan, R., Chen, A., et al. (2018). Chemo-biologic combinatorial drug delivery using folate receptor-targeted dendrimer nanoparticles for lung cancer treatment. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 14(2), 373–384.

- Arleth, L., Ashok, B., Onyuksel, H., Thiyagarajan, P., Jacob, J., & Hjelm, R. P. (2005). Detailed structure of hairy mixed micelles formed by phosphatidylcholine and PEGylated phospholipids in aqueous media. *Langmuir*, 21(8), 3279–3290.
- Barenholz, Y. C. (2012). Doxil®—The first FDA-approved nano-drug: Lessons learned. Journal of Controlled Release, 160(2), 117–134.
- Beloqui, A., Solinís, M. Á., Rodríguez-Gascón, A., Almeida, A. J., & Préat, V. (2016). Nanostructured lipid carriers: Promising drug delivery systems for future clinics. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 12(1), 143–161.
- Brezaniova, I., Hruby, M., Kralova, J., Kral, V., Cernochova, Z., Cernoch, P., et al. (2016). Temoporfin-loaded 1-tetradecanol-based thermoresponsive solid lipid nanoparticles for photodynamic therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 241, 34–44.
- Burdock, G. A., & Carabin, I. G. (2004). Generally recognized as safe (GRAS): History and description. *Toxicology Letters*, 150(1), 3–18.
- Chen, H., Zhang, W., Zhu, G., Xie, J., & Chen, X. (2017). Rethinking cancer nanotheranostics. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 2(7), 1–18.
- Chintamaneni, P. K., Krishnamurthy, P. T., Rao, P. V., & Pindiprolu, S. S. (2017). Surface modified nano-lipid drug conjugates of positive allosteric modulators of M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Medical Hypotheses*, 101, 17–22.
- Dai, W., Yang, F., Ma, L., Fan, Y., He, B., He, Q., et al. (2014). Combined mTOR inhibitor rapamycin and doxorubicin-loaded cyclic octapeptide modified liposomes for targeting integrin α 3 in triple-negative breast cancer. *Biomaterials*, *35*(20), 5347–5358.
- Deamer, D., & Bangham, A. (1976). Large volume liposomes by an ether vaporization method. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes, 443(3), 629–634.
- Díaz, M. R., & Vivas-Mejia, P. E. (2013). Nanoparticles as drug delivery systems in cancer medicine: Emphasis on RNAi-containing nanoliposomes. *Pharmaceuticals.*, 6(11), 1361–1380.
- Dietze, E. C., Sistrunk, C., Miranda-Carboni, G., O'Regan, R., & Seewaldt, V. L. (2015). Triplenegative breast cancer in African-American women: Disparities versus biology. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 15(4), 248–254.
- Dontu, G., Al-Hajj, M., Abdallah, W. M., Clarke, M. F., & Wicha, M. S. (2003). Stem cells in normal breast development and breast cancer. *Cell Proliferation*, 36(s1), 59–72.
- Edmonds, C., Hagan, S., Gallagher-Colombo, S. M., Busch, T. M., & Cengel, K. A. (2012). Photodynamic therapy activated signaling from epidermal growth factor receptor and STAT3: Targeting survival pathways to increase PDT efficacy in ovarian and lung cancer. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 13(14), 1463–1470.
- FDA U. (2009). Inactive ingredient guide. Division of Drug Information Resources.
- Feng, L., & Mumper, R. J. (2013). A critical review of lipid-based nanoparticles for taxane delivery. *Cancer Letters*, 334(2), 157–175.
- Feng, L., Cheng, L., Dong, Z., Tao, D., Barnhart, T. E., Cai, W., et al. (2017). Theranostic liposomes with hypoxia-activated prodrug to effectively destruct hypoxic tumors post-photodynamic therapy. ACS Nano, 11(1), 927–937.
- Ferlay, J., Héry, C., Autier, P., & Sankaranarayanan, R. (2010). Global burden of breast cancer. In Breast cancer epidemiology (pp. 1–19). Springer.
- Frederiksen, L., Anton, K., Hoogevest, P. V., Keller, H. R., & Leuenberger, H. (1997). Preparation of liposomes encapsulating water-soluble compounds using supercritical carbon dioxide. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 86(8), 921–928.
- Gabizon, A., Shmeeda, H., & Barenholz, Y. (2003). Pharmacokinetics of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 42(5), 419–436.
- Godin, B., & Touitou, E. (2003). Ethosomes: New prospects in transdermal delivery. *Critical Reviews in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems*, 20(1), 63–102.
- Gubbins, J. D. (2016). Engineering theranostic liposomes for image guided drug delivery as a novel nanomedicine for cancer therapy. The University of Manchester (United Kingdom).

- He, Y., Zhang, L., Zhu, D., & Song, C. (2014). Design of multifunctional magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles/mitoxantrone-loaded liposomes for both magnetic resonance imaging and targeted cancer therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 9, 4055.
- Honeywell-Nguyen, P. L., & Bouwstra, J. A. (2005). Vesicles as a tool for transdermal and dermal delivery. Drug Discovery Today: Technologies, 2(1), 67–74.
- Hussain, A., Usman Mohd Siddique, M., Kumar Singh, S., Samad, A., Beg, S., & Wais, M. (2015). Lipid-drug conjugates for oral bioavailability enhancement. *Recent Patents on Nanomedicine*, 5(2), 87–95.
- Joo, K.-I., Xiao, L., Liu, S., Liu, Y., Lee, C.-L., Conti, P. S., et al. (2013). Crosslinked multilamellar liposomes for controlled delivery of anticancer drugs. *Biomaterials*, 34(12), 3098–3109.
- Kallinen, A. M., Sarparanta, M. P., Liu, D., Makila, E. M., Salonen, J. J., Hirvonen, J. T., et al. (2014). In vivo evaluation of porous silicon and porous silicon solid lipid nanocomposites for passive targeting and imaging. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 11(8), 2876–2886.
- Kang, S. J., Jeong, H. Y., Kim, M. W., Jeong, I. H., Choi, M. J., You, Y. M., et al. (2018). Anti-EGFR lipid micellar nanoparticles co-encapsulating quantum dots and paclitaxel for tumortargeted theranosis. *Nanoscale*, 10(41), 19338–19350.
- Kievit, F. M., & Zhang, M. (2011). Cancer nanotheranostics: Improving imaging and therapy by targeted delivery across biological barriers. *Advanced Materials*, 23(36), H217–HH47.
- Knop, K., Hoogenboom, R., Fischer, D., & Schubert, U. S. (2010). Poly (ethylene glycol) in drug delivery: Pros and cons as well as potential alternatives. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 49(36), 6288–6308.
- Laouini, A., Jaafar-Maalej, C., Limayem-Blouza, I., Sfar, S., Charcosset, C., & Fessi, H. (2012). Preparation, characterization and applications of liposomes: State of the art. *Journal of Colloid Science and Biotechnology*, 1(2), 147–168.
- Lee, S., & Na, K. (2020). Oleic acid conjugated polymeric photosensitizer for metastatic cancer targeting in photodynamic therapy. *Biomaterials Research.*, 24(1), 1–8.
- Li, L., Liu, T., Fu, C., Liu, H., Tan, L., & Meng, X. (2014). Multifunctional silica-based nanocomposites for cancer nanotheranostics. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 10(9), 1784–1809.
- Li, H., Wang, K., Yang, X., Zhou, Y., Ping, Q., Oupicky, D., et al. (2017). Dual-function nanostructured lipid carriers to deliver IR780 for breast cancer treatment: Anti-metastatic and photothermal anti-tumor therapy. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 53, 399–413.
- Liu, Y., Zhen, W., Jin, L., Zhang, S., Sun, G., Zhang, T., et al. (2018). All-in-one theranostic nanoagent with enhanced reactive oxygen species generation and modulating tumor microenvironment ability for effective tumor eradication. ACS Nano, 12(5), 4886–4893.
- Liu, C., Ewert, K. K., Wang, N., Li, Y., Safinya, C. R., & Qiao, W. (2019). A multifunctional lipid that forms contrast-agent liposomes with dual-control release capabilities for precise MRIguided drug delivery. *Biomaterials*, 221, 119412.
- Luk, B. T., Fang, R. H., & Zhang, L. (2012). Lipid-and polymer-based nanostructures for cancer theranostics. *Theranostics*., 2(12), 1117.
- Maeda, H., Wu, J., Sawa, T., Matsumura, Y., & Hori, K. (2000). Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: A review. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 65(1–2), 271–284.
- Meier, R., Henning, T. D., Boddington, S., Tavri, S., Arora, S., Piontek, G., et al. (2010). Breast cancers: MR imaging of folate-receptor expression with the folate-specific nanoparticle P1133. *Radiology*, 255(2), 527–535.
- Mikhaylov, G., Mikac, U., Magaeva, A. A., Itin, V. I., Naiden, E. P., Psakhye, I., et al. (2011). Ferri-liposomes as an MRI-visible drug-delivery system for targeting tumours and their microenvironment. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 6(9), 594–602.
- Miyako, E., Nagata, H., Hirano, K., Sakamoto, K., Makita, Y., Nakayama, K.-I., et al. (2008). Photoinduced antiviral carbon nanohorns. *Nanotechnology*, *19*(7), 075106.
- Moret, F., Scheglmann, D., & Reddi, E. (2013). Folate-targeted PEGylated liposomes improve the selectivity of PDT with meta-tetra (hydroxyphenyl) chlorin (m-THPC). *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 12(5), 823–834.

- Mu, L., Elbayoumi, T., & Torchilin, V. (2005). Mixed micelles made of poly (ethylene glycol)– phosphatidylethanolamine conjugate and d-α-tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate as pharmaceutical nanocarriers for camptothecin. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 306(1–2), 142–149.
- Muchow, M., Maincent, P., & Müller, R. H. (2008). Lipid nanoparticles with a solid matrix (SLN®, NLC®, LDC®) for oral drug delivery. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 34(12), 1394–1405.
- Muddineti, O. S., Rompicharla, S. V. K., Kumari, P., Bhatt, H., Ghosh, B., & Biswas, S. (2020). Lipid and poly (ethylene glycol)-conjugated bi-functionalized chlorine e6 micelles for NIRlight induced photodynamic therapy. *Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy*, 29, 101633.
- Müller, R., & Olbrich, C. (1999). Arzneistoffträger zur kontrollierten Wirkstoffapplikation hergestellt aus nicht-kovalenten Lipidmatrix-Arzneistoff-Konjugaten. *German Patent Application.*, 199(64), 085.8.
- Müller, R. H., & Olbrich, C. (2004). Lipid matrix-drug conjugates particle for controlled release of active ingredient. Google Patents.
- Muntimadugu, E., Kumar, R., Saladi, S., Rafeeqi, T. A., & Khan, W. (2016). CD44 targeted chemotherapy for co-eradication of breast cancer stem cells and cancer cells using polymeric nanoparticles of salinomycin and paclitaxel. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 143*, 532–546.
- Naczynski, D. J., Tan, M. C., Riman, R. E., & Moghe, P. V. (2014). Rare earth nanoprobes for functional biomolecular imaging and theranostics. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 2(20), 2958–2973.
- Namiki, Y., Fuchigami, T., Tada, N., Kawamura, R., Matsunuma, S., Kitamoto, Y., et al. (2011). Nanomedicine for cancer: Lipid-based nanostructures for drug delivery and monitoring. *Accounts of Chemical Research*, 44(10), 1080–1093.
- Nasongkla, N., Bey, E., Ren, J., Ai, H., Khemtong, C., Guthi, J. S., et al. (2006). Multifunctional polymeric micelles as cancer-targeted, MRI-ultrasensitive drug delivery systems. *Nano Letters*, *6*(11), 2427–2430.
- Navarro, F. P., Creusat, G., Frochot, C., Moussaron, A., Verhille, M., Vanderesse, R., et al. (2014). Preparation and characterization of mTHPC-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for photodynamic therapy. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 130*, 161–169.
- Ohulchanskyy, T. Y., Kopwitthaya, A., Jeon, M., Guo, M., Law, W.-C., Furlani, E. P., et al. (2013). Phospholipid micelle-based magneto-plasmonic nanoformulation for magnetic field-directed, imaging-guided photo-induced cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 9(8), 1192–1202.
- Olbrich, C., Gessner, A., Kayser, O., & Müller, R. H. (2002). Lipid-drug-conjugate (LDC) nanoparticles as novel carrier system for the hydrophilic antitrypanosomal drug diminazenediaceturate. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 10(5), 387–396.
- Owens, T. W., & Naylor, M. J. (2013). Breast cancer stem cells. Frontiers in physiology, 4, 225.
- Pais-Silva, C., de Melo-Diogo, D., & Correia, I. J. (2017). IR780-loaded TPGS-TOS micelles for breast cancer photodynamic therapy. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 113, 108–117.
- Paliwal, R., Babu, R. J., & Palakurthi, S. (2014). Nanomedicine scale-up technologies: Feasibilities and challenges. AAPS PharmSciTech, 15(6), 1527–1534.
- Parhi, P., & Sahoo, S. K. (2015). Trastuzumab guided nanotheranostics: A lipid based multifunctional nanoformulation for targeted drug delivery and imaging in breast cancer therapy. *Journal* of Colloid and Interface Science, 451, 198–211.
- Patil, Y. P., & Jadhav, S. (2014). Novel methods for liposome preparation. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, 177, 8–18.
- Patlolla, R. R., Chougule, M., Patel, A. R., Jackson, T., Tata, P. N., & Singh, M. (2010). Formulation, characterization and pulmonary deposition of nebulized celecoxib encapsulated nanostructured lipid carriers. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 144(2), 233–241.

- Peira, E., Marzola, P., Podio, V., Aime, S., Sbarbati, A., & Gasco, M. R. (2003). In vitro and in vivo study of solid lipid nanoparticles loaded with superparamagnetic iron oxide. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 11(1), 19–24.
- Pindiprolu, S. H., & Pindiprolu, S. K. S. (2019). CD133 receptor mediated delivery of STAT3 inhibitor for simultaneous elimination of cancer cells and cancer stem cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Medical Hypotheses, 129*, 109241.
- Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Chintamaneni, P. K., Krishnamurthy, P. T., & Ratna Sree Ganapathineedi, K. (2018a). Formulation-optimization of solid lipid nanocarrier system of STAT3 inhibitor to improve its activity in triple negative breast cancer cells. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*. (just-accepted), 1–25.
- Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Krishnamurthy, P. T., & Chintamaneni, P. K. (2018b). Pharmacological targets of breast cancer stem cells: A review. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 391(5), 463–479.
- Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Krishnamurthy, P. T., Chintamaneni, P. K., & Karri, V. V. S. R. (2018c). Nanocarrier based approaches for targeting breast cancer stem cells. *Artificial Cells*, *Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology.*, 46(5), 885–898.
- Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Chintamaneni, P. K., Krishnamurthy, P. T., & Ratna Sree Ganapathineedi, K. (2019). Formulation-optimization of solid lipid nanocarrier system of STAT3 inhibitor to improve its activity in triple negative breast cancer cells. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 45(2), 304–313.
- Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Kumar, C. S. P., Golla, V. S. K., Pindiproli, L., & Ramachandra, R. (2020). Pulmonary delivery of nanostructured lipid carriers for effective repurposing of salinomycin as an antiviral agent. *Medical Hypotheses*, 143, 109858.
- Ranade, V. V., & Cannon, J. B. (2011). Drug delivery systems. CRC press.
- Rizzitelli, S., Giustetto, P., Cutrin, J. C., Castelli, D. D., Boffa, C., Ruzza, M., et al. (2015). Sonosensitive theranostic liposomes for preclinical in vivo MRI-guided visualization of doxorubicin release stimulated by pulsed low intensity non-focused ultrasound. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 202, 21–30.
- Sai Kiran Pindiprolu, S. S., Krishnamurthy, P. T., Ghanta, V. R., & Chintamaneni, P. K. (2020). Phenyl boronic acid-modified lipid nanocarriers of niclosamide for targeting triple-negative breast cancer. *Nanomedicine*, 15(16), 1551–1565.
- Shaik, E. B., Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Phanikumar, C. S., Samuel, T., Kumar, B. N., Santhoshi, P. M., et al. (2020). Optical emissions of chitosan modified LaAlO3: Bi3+, Tb3+ nanoparticles for bio labeling and drug delivery to breast cancer cells. *Optical Materials*, 107, 110162.
- Shao, Z., Shao, J., Tan, B., Guan, S., Liu, Z., Zhao, Z., et al. (2015). Targeted lung cancer therapy: Preparation and optimization of transferrin-decorated nanostructured lipid carriers as novel nanomedicine for co-delivery of anticancer drugs and DNA. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 10, 1223.
- Shen, J., Kim, H.-C., Wolfram, J., Mu, C., Zhang, W., Liu, H., et al. (2017). A liposome encapsulated ruthenium polypyridine complex as a theranostic platform for triple-negative breast cancer. *Nano Letters*, 17(5), 2913–2920.
- Siddhartha, V. T., Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Chintamaneni, P. K., Tummala, S., & Nandha, K. S. (2018). RAGE receptor targeted bioconjuguate lipid nanoparticles of diallyl disulfide for improved apoptotic activity in triple negative breast cancer: In vitro studies. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine,* and Biotechnology., 46(2), 387–397.
- Singh, R., & Lillard, J. W., Jr. (2009). Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, 86(3), 215–223.
- Singh, A., Dilnawaz, F., Mewar, S., Sharma, U., Jagannathan, N., & Sahoo, S. K. (2011). Composite polymeric magnetic nanoparticles for co-delivery of hydrophobic and hydrophilic anticancer drugs and MRI imaging for cancer therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 3(3), 842–856.

- Singh, M. K., Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Sanapalli, B. K. R., Yele, V., & Ganesh, G. (2019). Tumor homing peptide modified liposomes of capecitabine for improved apoptotic activity and HER2 targeted therapy in breast cancer: In vitro studies. *RSC Advances*, 9(43), 24987–24994.
- Singh, M. K., Pindiprolu, S. K. S., Sanapalli, B. K. R., Yele, V., & Ganesh, G. (2020). HER2 targeted biological macromolecule modified liposomes for improved efficacy of capecitabine in breast cancer. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 150, 631–636.
- Sola, P., Krishnamurthy, P., Chintamaneni, P. K., Pindiprolu, S., & Kumari, M. (2020). Novel drug delivery systems of β2 adrenoreceptor agonists to suppress SNCA gene expression and mitochondrial oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease management. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 17, 1119–1132. https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2020.1779218
- Sood, S., Jawahar, N., Jain, K., Gowthamarajan, K., & Nainar, M. S. (2013). Olanzapine loaded cationic solid lipid nanoparticles for improved oral bioavailability. *Current Nanoscience*, 9(1), 26–34.
- Su, W., Wang, H., Wang, S., Liao, Z., Kang, S., Peng, Y., et al. (2012). PEG/RGD-modified magnetic polymeric liposomes for controlled drug release and tumor cell targeting. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 426(1–2), 170–181.
- Swaminathan, S. K., Roger, E., Toti, U., Niu, L., Ohlfest, J. R., & Panyam, J. (2013). CD133targeted paclitaxel delivery inhibits local tumor recurrence in a mouse model of breast cancer. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 171(3), 280–287.
- Talluri, S. V., Kuppusamy, G., Karri, V. V. S. R., Yamjala, K., Wadhwani, A., Madhunapantula, S. V., et al. (2017). Application of quality-by-design approach to optimize diallyl disulfideloaded solid lipid nanoparticles. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology.*, 45(3), 474–488.
- Tang, J., Li, B., Howard, C. B., Mahler, S. M., Thurecht, K. J., Wu, Y., et al. (2019). Multifunctional lipid-coated calcium phosphate nanoplatforms for complete inhibition of large triple negative breast cancer via targeted combined therapy. *Biomaterials*, 216, 119232.
- Torchilin, V. P. (2005). Lipid-core micelles for targeted drug delivery. *Current Drug Delivery*, 2(4), 319–327.
- Torchilin, V. P. (2010). Passive and active drug targeting: Drug delivery to tumors as an example. In *Drug delivery* (pp. 3–53). Springer.
- Torchilin, V. (2011). Tumor delivery of macromolecular drugs based on the EPR effect. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 63(3), 131–135.
- Torchilin, P. V., Torchilin, V., Torchilin, V., & Weissig, V. (2003). Liposomes: A practical approach (Vol. 264). Oxford University Press.
- Vemuri, S., & Rhodes, C. (1995). Preparation and characterization of liposomes as therapeutic delivery systems: A review. *Pharmaceutica Acta Helvetiae*, 70(2), 95–111.
- Vinogradov, S., & Wei, X. (2012). Cancer stem cells and drug resistance: The potential of nanomedicine. *Nanomedicine*, 7(4), 597–615.
- Wang, R. A., Li, Z. S., Zhang, H. Z., Zheng, P. J., Li, Q. L., Shi, J. G., et al. (2013). Invasive cancers are not necessarily from preformed in situ tumours—An alternative way of carcinogenesis from misplaced stem cells. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 17(7), 921–926.
- Ward, P. S., & Thompson, C. B. (2012). Metabolic reprogramming: A cancer hallmark even warburg did not anticipate. *Cancer Cell*, 21(3), 297–308.
- Weber, S., Zimmer, A., & Pardeike, J. (2014). Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) and nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) for pulmonary application: A review of the state of the art. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 86(1), 7–22.
- Wicha, M., Dontu, G., Al-Hajj, M., & Clarke, M. (2003). Stem cells in normal breast development and breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, 5(S1), 50.
- Xie, Z., Fan, T., An, J., Choi, W., Duo, Y., Ge, Y., et al. (2020). Emerging combination strategies with phototherapy in cancer nanomedicine. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 49, 8065–8087.
- Yang, D., Li, C., & Lin, J. (2015). Multimodal cancer imaging using lanthanide-based upconversion nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine*, 10(16), 2573–2591.

- Yin, J., Cao, H., Wang, H., Sun, K., Li, Y., & Zhang, Z. (2020). Phospholipid membrane-decorated deep-penetrated nanocatalase relieve tumor hypoxia to enhance chemo-photodynamic therapy. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*, 10, 2246–2257.
- Yingchoncharoen, P., Kalinowski, D. S., & Richardson, D. R. (2016). Lipid-based drug delivery systems in cancer therapy: What is available and what is yet to come. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 68(3), 701–787.
- Yoon, H.-J., Lee, H.-S., Lim, J.-Y., & Park, J.-H. (2017). Liposomal indocyanine green for enhanced photothermal therapy. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9(7), 5683–5691.
- You, J., Zhao, J., Wen, X., Wu, C., Huang, Q., Guan, F., et al. (2015). Chemoradiation therapy using cyclopamine-loaded liquid–lipid nanoparticles and lutetium-177-labeled core-crosslinked polymeric micelles. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 202, 40–48.
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, H., Wang, X., Wang, J., Zhang, X., & Zhang, Q. (2012). The eradication of breast cancer and cancer stem cells using octreotide modified paclitaxel active targeting micelles and salinomycin passive targeting micelles. *Biomaterials*, 33(2), 679–691.
- Zhang, Q., Zhao, J., Hu, H., Yan, Y., Hu, X., Zhou, K., et al. (2019). Construction and in vitro and in vivo evaluation of folic acid-modified nanostructured lipid carriers loaded with paclitaxel and chlorin e6. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 569, 118595.
- Zhao, F., Ming, J., Zhou, Y., & Fan, L. (2016). Inhibition of Glut1 by WZB117 sensitizes radioresistant breast cancer cells to irradiation. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 77(5), 963–972.

Chapter 8 Nanoparticle for Photoresponsive Minimal-Invasive Cancer Therapy



Shazid Md. Sharker

Introduction

Cancer treatment is one of the most challenging problems confronting the worldwide healthcare system. The most common types are breast, lung, liver, stomach, and brain cancer, which are about ten million new cases every year. The cancer therapies used against this devastating disease are chemotherapeutic drugs, radiation, and surgical interventions. The choice of therapy depends on location, staging, and types of cancer (Sharker, 2019). Each of these therapies has some advantages and disadvantages because these cytotoxic treatments often kill healthy tissues and can cause resistance in cancer cells.

Another effective strategy that is currently gaining huge attention toward the researchers is the light-induced minimal-invasive cancer phototherapy, which includes photodynamic therapy (PDT) and photothermal therapy (PTT) (Gürbüz et al., 2020). In cancer phototherapy, the applied low energetic light has no interaction with the tissue area, and light can trigger externally from the body. The use of light to activate DDS for chemotherapy is yet another attempt to reduce the side effects and toxic effects of cancer chemotherapy. Moreover, combination treatments are a widely accepted strategy in cancer therapy, where surgical intervention, radiation, and chemotherapy are administered concurrently to cancer patients. It would therefore be desirable to develop photo-based therapies that may provide benefit from chemo- or radiotherapy with minimal adverse health effects (Huang & El-Sayed, 2011). The minimal-invasive therapy like chemotherapy, radiation, and phototherapy may gain popularity to cancer patients as they allow at least hospitalization, rehabilitation, and side effects.

S. Md. Sharker (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, North South University, Dhaka, Bangladesh e-mail: shazid.sharker@northsouth.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_8

The use of light as a therapy dates back 3000 years. During that time, traditional Egyptians, Chinese, and Indians medicine used light to treat rickets, vitiligo, psoriasis, and other skin diseases. In modern medicine, Niels Ryberg Finsen received the Nobel Prize in 1903 for his treatments of cutaneous tuberculosis and smallpox pustules with ultraviolet (UV) and red light. This is the inauguration of a systematic study and understanding of the photochemical and photophysical processes of diseases and its treatment. As a result, the direct use of light has been used in vitamin-D deficiency, neonatal jaundice, manic depression, and other diseases (Tong & Kohane, 2012).

Light is a form of energy known as electromagnetic radiation (EMR). All types of light can travel at the same velocity with straight lines; however, they vary owing to the different sizes of wavelengths. For example, humans can visualize the spectral region of 400–600 nm of wavelength. Ultraviolet (UV) light has a shorter wavelength (200–400 nm), while infrared (IR) rays have a longer wavelength (600 nm–few μ m size). Light consists of photons, and the wavelength of light is inversely proportional to energy ($E = h\nu$) (Tong & Kohane, 2012).

Based on the nature of medium in which it is propagating, light can be absorbed, transmitted, scattered, or reflected. The biological organic molecules, hemoglobin, and tissue heterogeneity have scattered and absorbed most UV and visible light, whereas the longer (650–900 nm) wavelength near-infrared (NIR) light can reach up to 10 cm depth. In this context, the maximum tissue-permeable NIR light and light-responsive NPs can be used for minimal-invasive optical imaging and phototherapy.

Minimal-Invasive Cancer Therapy

Moreover, the absorbed light can induce specific photochemical or photophysical reactions in the presence of light-responsive agents (Fig. 8.1). Those useful properties can be used for therapeutic or diagnostic purposes or both. The photochemical reaction included photo-cleavage or photo-switching, whereas the photophysical interaction included generation of cytotoxic singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$) or conversion of light into hyperthermia. Photoresponsive targeted cytotoxic $^{1}O_{2}$ therapy, known as photodynamic therapy (PDT), and photothermal heat-mediated therapy, known as photothermal therapy (PTT), are the main two branches of minimal-invasive cancer phototherapy (Gürbüz et al., 2020). At the same time, the emission of light at different wavelengths from light-responsive agents can induce bioimaging and diagnosis. Systemic study and understanding of photochemistry and nanotechnology in one platform has contributed to the clinical translation of promising NPs to address minimal-invasive PDT and PTT.



Fig. 8.1 Light-responsive nanoparticles (NPs) for the applications of PDT, PTT, and chemotherapy and theranostics

Photodynamic Therapy (PDT)

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) needed photosensitizer (PS) agents, which are excited in the presence of molecular oxygen (O₂). The subsequent photochemical reactions have generated reactive oxygen species (ROS) and transform the molecular oxygen (O₂) to cytotoxic singlet oxygen ¹O₂ species. The reactive and singlet oxygen species followed two pathways: direct necrosis and apoptosis and indirect microvascular damage and antitumor immune responses (Hou et al., 2018).

The first PDT-based clinical results were in a dermatological site for the treatment of skin cancer. The key challenges involved in this PDT are tissue thickness, dose of PS, and continuity of treatments. Moreover, traditional PS are facing difficulty in water solubility, stability, and untargeted activity with the diseased tissue. Additionally, typical PDT agents utilize short-wavelength (UV and visible) light for activation, which cannot penetrate deep inside the tissue. PS agents having targeted molecule-modified nanocarriers and upconversion (UC) nanomaterials which can convert long-wavelength excitation light to short-wavelength have the potential merits to improve curative effect and reduce side effects (Hou et al., 2018). Moreover, several nanocarrier-based PDT agents also showed promising fluorescence imaging capability, which can empower imaging-guided therapy and diagnosis, following optimum cancer therapy. Currently, NIR-responsive organic fluorescence dye including ICG, IR825, and IR780 and inorganic and hybrid nanomaterials like gold nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes, and graphene oxide have performed improve and efficacious PDT (Kim et al., 2016a).

Photothermal Therapy (PTT)

Photothermal therapy (PTT) has utilized a photosensitizer (PS) which can convert light energy into heat to kill cancer cells (Hou et al., 2018). The tissue-penetrating near-infrared (NIR) light and tumor-targeted photothermal agents are the main two factors controlling the efficiency of PTT. The ligand-based active targeting and the nano-fabrication-based passive targeting strategy can be used to define the control delivery of PTT agents. Moreover, imaging modules, like fluorescence imaging-guided PTT, may have a precise tumor-killing effect. Typically, the temperature above 42 °C exerts antitumor effects by damaging the tumor cell membrane, destroying the cytoskeleton, and inhibiting DNA synthesis. The duration and extent of PTT can be optimized through controlling NIR laser power or the concentration of photothermal agents. However, increasing laser power is associated with biosafety issues, and photothermal agents might not provide complete biocompatibility (Hou et al., 2018).

Moreover, heat shock proteins (HSPs) may overexpress during PTT, which allow repair of protein damage and cell apoptosis. The tumor cells can get protection, and the resulting heat resistance slows down the effects of PTT. The use of antagonizing HSPs, such as HSP70 and HSP90, during treatment could overcome the failure of PTT. Additionally, PTT-based hyperthermia can activate immune response by secreting cytokines and upregulating the expression of HSPs. The innate immunity and the adaptive immune system activated by tumor-associated antigens and hyper-thermia therapy can kill residual or metastatic tumors (Ali et al., 2016).

Combined Phototherapy and Chemotherapy

Chemotherapies are typically cytotoxic small molecular drugs that can kill fast proliferating cells. It is the first choice of cancer treatment, and chemotherapy can increase the life span of cancer patients when it is possible to cure cancer (Gürbüz et al., 2020). The main side effect of cytotoxic chemotherapeutic drugs is that it also affects normal healthy tissue like digestive tracts and the bone marrow. The therapeutic success depends on the extent of cytotoxicity between normal cells and cancer cells. Therefore, the choice of drug, the dosage, and their biodistribution determine the effectiveness of chemotherapy. Moreover, because most chemotherapeutic drugs are poorly aqueous-soluble, they can only be administered one at a time, and their pharmacokinetic profiles allow them to be rapidly excreted before tumor accumulation. Those limitations can be overcome by developing nanocarrier systems for commonly used chemotherapeutic drugs including doxorubicin (DOX), docetaxel (DTX), cisplatin (CPT), and paclitaxel (PTX). In this context, the long blood circulation time of nanocarriers is required for sufficient accumulation at the tumor site. However, most nanocarriers are usually taken by the liver and spleen during blood circulation, and long-term deposition becomes a toxic effect for a particular organ. As a result, there are still challenges in preventing drug release during circulation and controlling supply at the tumor site (Gürbüz et al., 2020). Combinational therapies including radiotherapy with chemotherapy and PTT and PDT with chemotherapy can beat this challenge by corporately fighting cancer.

Photoresponsive Nanoparticles (NPs)

The incident light which is the basis of photoresponsive NPs can cause photon injury. It depends on power density, spot size, irradiation time, and wavelength of incident light. The most common photon injury is photothermal damage where rising temperature damages surrounding tissue through protein denaturation, detritions of molecular tertiary structure, and subsequent fluidization of membranes. Based on the power of photothermal heat, the cell may undergo apoptosis (55–58 °C), apoptosis and necrosis (60–68 °C), or direct cell death (72 °C or higher) (Tong & Kohane, 2012). The increased and controllable photothermal heat in a target tumor is used in PTT. The incident light can also interact with endogenous chromospheres, like heme proteins and flavoproteins for the generation of free radicals. The free radical is another form of photochemical damage in the living system. Typically, long-term exposure to high energetic (short-wavelength UV) light is responsible for such photochemical injury.

The American National Standards Institute (ANSI) recommended maximum permissible exposures (MPEs) for different energetic light. The MPEs depend on light duration, pulse of light, and wavelength of light (Tong & Kohane, 2012). For the 10 W cm⁻² (watt per square centimeter) power sources in a 700-nm continuous wave, it is no longer than 1 sec. In case of longer wavelengths, higher power fluxes are permissible. Typically, NIR-responsive NPs have been triggered by a 0.1-10 W cm⁻² power source with a continuous pulse laser in most cancer therapies.
Light-Responsive Plasmonic NPs for PDT, PTT, and Diagnosis

Photoresponsive NPs have been synthesized to perform cancer therapy and are classified into inorganic (metallic), organic (polymeric, liposome), and hybrid systems. The nanosized metallic nanoparticles are photoactive and have a distinct photophysical property. Metallic NPs possess free electrons which are oscillating on its surface. The incident light with similar frequency can interact with an oscillating electron, and the collective coherent oscillation of metal exhibits absorption of resonance light. However, based on size and shape, the metallic NPs can also scatter or couple incident light. The distinct photophysical properties of metallic NPs are known as localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR) (Huang & El-Sayed, 2011).

Light absorption in metallic NPs is due to the loss of photon energy by inelastic (lost or increased) processes, whereas light scattering results in electronic oscillation of photon energy in NPs. Interestingly, the scattering phenomenon has contributed to the emission of photons with the same frequency as the incident light. The photophysical light absorption and scattering properties of metallic NPs can be explained by Mie theory. The presence of LSPR effect in most of the metallic NPs can increase both light absorption and scattering efficiencies. For example, inorganic gold NPs have 1000 times the absorption or scattering properties of any existing organic molecule. This makes them well-suited as photoresponsive agents (Fig. 8.2) (Huang & El-Sayed, 2011; Sharker et al., 2015a).

The unique LSPR of metallic NPs depends on the particle size, shape, structure, electron charge density, and the surrounding medium on the particle surface. For example, spherical gold (AuNPs), silver (AgNPs), and copper (CuNPs) nanoparticles have a strong light absorption band in visible areas, whereas other metallic NPs exhibit broad and weak absorption bands in the UV area. Furthermore, modified hollow structures or core-shell NPs can show a red shift (longer wavelength) when compared to unmodified NPs (Huang & El-Sayed, 2011). The shape of NPs, such as rods, triangles, or branch structure, can also red shift the wavelength, known as anisotropic effects.



Fig. 8.2 Light-responsive plasmonic NPs and photochemical conversion for the applications of PDT, PTT, and chemotherapy and diagnosis

Among the different noble metallic NPs, the gold nanoparticle (AuNPs) has been explored more in cancer therapy. In cancer therapy, the LSPR frequency of AuNPs can be shifted to the NIR area by changing the structure and shape (Huang & El-Sayed, 2011). This is particularly important because the NIR light can penetrate significantly in biological tissue. For example, in core-shell NPs, the silica core at 100–200 nm and a shell of gold at 5–20 nm demonstrated coupling between the inner and outer shell surfaces for red-shifting of the absorption band. It has been found that decreasing thickness of the core-shell ratio can control predictable shift from visible to NIR absorption area. As a result, the absorption band changes from 700 nm to 1000 nm, owing to the decreasing shell thickness from 20 nm to 5 nm. The metallic LSPR frequency has decreased near-exponentially with the decreasing shell thickness-to-core radius ratio. The rational nano-chemical synthesis and nanotechnology approach allow us to develop NPs according to our needs.

The surface of metallic NPs allows conversion of absorbed light energy into heat. This includes a series of photophysical processes where the absorbed light energy oscillates the surface electron of the metal. The simultaneous electron-electron and electron-phonon relaxation as a result of oscillating electrons has generated substantial hot electron temperature in this metallic lattice. At the end of this translation, the lattices cool again through phonon-phonon relaxation, but the heat is dissipated from the particles into the surrounding medium (Huang & El-Sayed, 2011). Such light-to-heat conversion and heat propagation can be strategically used to raise the local temperature of the local environment. For sufficient amounts, heat from these hot NPs can change the function of the cells and even destroy them. For example, in photothermal therapy (PTT), cancer cells can be hyperthermally destroyed by targeted delivery and irradiation of metallic NPs.

Moreover, photoactivated metallic NPs can generate cytotoxic singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_{2})$ that is used in another cancer therapy called photodynamic therapy (PDT). With respect to LSPR of metallic NPs, it is assumed that a low-energy state of some NPs can transfer energy from irradiated absorbed light to molecular oxygen (O₂). Though molecular oxygen is present in living cells, target delivery and generation of singlet oxygen can be used to destroy cancer cells.

In addition to photoresponse property, metallic NPs like AuNPs have the potential to be used in cancer diagnosis. It can be used as a contrast agent or luminescence NPs for bioimaging exploration. Furthermore, the photothermal property of AuNPs opens up the possibility of developing a heat-responsive drug delivery system (DDS). For example, temperature-responsive polymer-coated AuNPs and loaded drugs can release in response to rising heat. In liposome DDS, photothermal heat has shown microbubble generation, leading to breaking of the liposome and drug release (You et al., 2012). It can be accomplished upon light irradiation to trigger the release of drug for the maintenance of dose-response curve. Even though the biocompatibility and biodistribution of metallic NPs remain contradictory, light-trigger DDS is a promising branch for anticancer drug and gene delivery.

Light-Responsive Polymeric NPs for PDT, PTT, and Theranostics

Photoresponsive organic NPs have shown promising outcomes for cancer phototherapy and diagnosis. Such organic NPs like liposome, polymeric micelles, polymersomes, and dendrimers possess favorable stability, biocompatibility, and biodegradability to satisfy clinical translation of diagnostic and therapeutic demand (Fig. 8.3). Moreover, organic NPs can be easily modified by a simple chemical route, which can load versatile drugs and deliver them to the targeted disease site without degradation.

The unique NIR-responsive organic NPs can efficiently harvest light for emission, allowing for versatile optical imaging while also acting as a PDT and PTT agent. Nonetheless, there are still some challenges, and further research is needed to address them for their future clinical translation. For example, some NPs are low photo-stable, do not intrinsically absorb light, and have a poor light-to-heat conversion efficiency (PTT), a low level of singlet oxygen generation (PDT), and clearance issues. To address this issue, novel conjugated polymer dyes, biodegradable biomaterials with attached cancer ligands, and antibodies must be developed for photo-switching moiety during NP synthesis can precisely overcome the above shortcoming. The photo-cleavable group can either disrupt or deform the NP structure where irradiate light can be absorbed the most to perform photoresponsive activity. Advance formulation strategy could control NP size less than 5 nm, which can solve clearance issues through urinary excretion. Thus, the interface of biology



Fig. 8.3 Light-responsive polymeric NPs and functional modification for the application of PDT, PTT, and chemotherapy and theranostics

and chemistry in nanotechnology should be tailored for the application of NIRresponsive organic NPs clinically.

In photoresponsive NPs, the photochemistry and photoactivity of conjugated or loaded dye slightly differ when compared with free state. The free dye molecule absorbs light energy and releases fluorescence emission, whereas in nanosystems, the conversion of heat or singlet oxygen has been noticed in different organic photoresponsive NPs.

Previous studies showed that heat-sensitive liposomes loaded IR780 dye in its lipid layer and DOX loaded in the aqueous cavity can perform photoresponsive chemotherapy release. The mechanism was that the NIR laser excited IR780 to produce heat that will disrupt liposome structure, finally allowing DOX to be released from the liposome. In one example, organic NPs made by photocaging groups were shown to have an automatically degraded cleavage moiety, allowing loaded dyes to be released. Furthermore, organic NPs made with methoxy polyethvlene glycol (mPEG) and poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) conjugated to porphyrin have shown a micelle-like structure capable of loading both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs (Denkova et al., 2018). The release of those drugs could be controlled thermally by irradiation of NIR laser. The NIR light-irradiated organic liposome composed of pyropheophorbide has shown promising light to conversion efficiency for the use of PTT. Such systems can simultaneously deliver DOX during thermal therapy. The study and use of dual functional organic NPs have recently gain considerable interest, which might be due to PTT potentially improving the efficacy of chemotherapy.

Organic NPs photoactivated with photosensitizers can not only serve as phototherapeutic agents but also act as optical nanoagents for bioimaging. The NIRabsorbing organic nanoparticles or loaded MR (magnetic resonance), US (ultrasound), and CT (computed tomography) contrast within organic NPs endow them with single-modal or multimodal imaging-guided cancer therapy. Previous biological activity studies performed on photosensitizer organic NPs revealed that they should be water-soluble and tumor-targetable, have a high yield of heat or singlet oxygen generation, and be rapidly eliminated from healthy tissue.

Light-Responsive CDs for PDT, PTT, and Theranostics

Carbon dots (CDs) offer the development of theranostic (therapeutic and diagnostic) nanoparticles for combined cancer imaging and therapy. The fascinating photoluminescence (PL) property of CDs can be used in different biomedical fields accurately, like cancer diagnosis and therapy. Typically, the CDs show a full absorption spectrum in the ultraviolet (UV) region, owing to the extensive π -conjugated electrons in an sp2 atomic framework. It attributed π - π * transition for aromatic C=C bonds and n- π * transition for the C=O bonds or other connected groups. Additionally, the CDs with different size, composition, structure, or surface passivation effect can change its light absorption spectrum (Kim et al., 2016a; Gupta et al., 2014). However, the emission spectrum of CDs shows excitation-dependent behavior ranging from UV to visible or near-infrared (NIR) region. Therefore, it is highly promising for multicolor bioimaging applications. Although the mechanism of PL emission is still a controversial issue of CDs, it is an important tool for biomedical use. For this, there are two proposed mechanisms: the quantum confinement effect (QCE) mechanism based on the band gap of the conjugated π -electron and the edge effect mechanism based on the surface defect states of both sp3- and sp2-hybridized carbons. This result has increased the localization of electrons on CDs and contributes to multicolor fluorescence emissions. Furthermore, the inherent photostability and introduction of surface passivation properties could amplify the fluorescent properties and empower the biological application in different ways. In the case of surface passivation (functionalization), the increased densities of the π -electron have facilitated the radiative combination and the quantum confinement of electronhole (e/h) pair that improves fluorescent properties of raw CDs (Sharker et al., 2015b) (Fig. 8.4).

CDs or FCNs (fluorescent carbon nanoparticles) are considered an excellent luminescence probe for bioimaging due to their unique optical properties, size tuning capacity, surface functionalization capacity, and less photo-blinking and photobleaching characteristics (Sharker et al., 2015b). Though the surface functionalization of CDs is a complicated engineering method, the resultant fabricated and functionalized CDs are capable of exhibiting multiple functions. They can work as a remarkable drug carrier system and a gene delivering aid. Still, they can also be modified as an excellent phototherapeutic agent and sensor molecule for various therapeutic and diagnostic purposes, possibly due to their maximum drug-loading capacity (Choi et al., 2014). Numerous in vitro and in vivo studies have shown low or nontoxic nature of CDs compared to other fluorescent nanomaterials. Moreover, there is the ease of administration of CDs via different routes, such as oral, nasal, and parenteral, which make them better and more convenient forms of drug delivery systems to deliver therapeutic substances.

The ability to generate detectable acoustic waves in response to excitation waves is another attractive property of CDs, which can work as contrast agents in



Fig. 8.4 (a) The photoresponsive carbon dot (CDs) NPs and the potential applications for PDT, PTT, and chemotherapy and diagnosis, (b) the light-responsive fluorescence and energy conversion process of CDs

photoacoustic imaging. An essential feature of photoacoustic imaging is that it offers an excellent spatial resolution to monitor the smallest areas, like axillary lymph nodes in breast cancer. Moreover, light-triggered photosensitizing properties of CDs alone or, in combination with photosensitizing agents, can generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) in tumor cells. This is another branch of cancer therapy, commonly known as near-infrared (NIR) light-irradiated photodynamic therapy (PDT). For example, PEG-functionalized CDs with photosensitizer chlorin (Ce6), protoporphyrin, or zinc phthalocyanine (ZnPc) were generated ROS under the excitation of CDs for targeted PDT (Choi et al., 2014).

Like PDT, the NIR-responsive photothermal therapies (PTT) can hyperthermally kill the targeted cancer cells. Different carbon-based NPs have this ability to absorb NIR light in the electromagnetic spectrum and consequently convert into reasonable heat to thermally destroy the malignant cells. For example, the carbonized polydopamine (pDa) have performed NIR-responsive photothermal conversion and multicolor fluorescence emission in different excitation wavelengths (Kim et al., 2016a). Moreover, CD-based hybrid systems can simultaneously perform PDT, PTT, and pH or NIR-responsive drug release. Such a multifunctional smart delivery system enables synergistic cancer therapy. For example, PEG chitosan-integrated CD nanogels have shown pH and NIR light dual-responsive drug release and PTT against tumor cells. In another attempt, carbonized fluorescence hyaluronic acid (HA-FCN)conjugated boronic acid (BA) with β-cyclodextrin showed multi-responsive paclitaxel (PTX) DDS (Sharker et al., 2015c). This kind of DDS exploits acidic pH-dependent and remote external NIR-responsive on-demand cooperative controlling strategy. Such development of cooperative stimulus-responsive DDS having bioimaging potentiality is a promising method for chemotherapeutic release that can be adjusted according to physiological needs (Sharker et al., 2015b).

Light-Responsive CNTs for PDT, PTT, and Theranostics

The carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are one-dimensional (1D) needle-like structures which have generated significant interest in cancer therapy and diagnosis. Structurally, the CNTs are sp2-hybridized cylindrical tube-like shape carbon-based nanomaterials. The CNTs are prepared by rolling single- or multi-layered sp2 carbon, known as single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWNTs) (Liang & Han, 2006). The unique CNTs belong to a vast surface area that can load small molecular as well as large molecular drugs and diagnostic probes.

The CNTs are soluble in a wide range of solvents and can be covalently functionalized on their side walls and the edge of tubes. The functionalization of CNTs is a first step to load the therapeutic agents. Moreover, conjugation of a diagnostic probe would provide added advantages for bioimaging, detection, and monitoring of the treatment process. The potential applications of CNTs can lead to the development of several new drug delivery systems that are still poorly explored. The CNTs, specifically SWNTs, have intense NIR absorption bands due to the presence of intact sp2-hybridized carbon sheets resembling graphene. It has been found that the NIR light absorption band has decreased with an increased level of chemical conjugation. However, the chemical functionalization offers greater water solubility and biocompatibility. The mechanism behind the NIR responsiveness is that the energy levels of one-dimensional (1D) SWNTs have split due to quantum confinement effects. The 1 eV (electron volt) energy band gaps between the SWNTs allowed exciton wavelength-dependent fluorescence emission in the NIR area (Barone et al., 2005). The characteristic Stokes shift (energy band gaps) in this NIR area provided lower autofluorescence of biological tissues during bioimaging and diagnosis.

The incident light absorbed by NIR-responsive SWNTs can act as a photochemical catalyst in surrounding molecules. The photochemical reactions organized by SWNTs with molecular oxygen (O2) are able to generate cytotoxic singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$). The photodynamic conversion of cytotoxic $^{1}O_{2}$ can play a key role in cancer PDT. Although several photoresponsive NPs have already shown promising PDT, the SWNTs can be an interesting one due to NIR responses. For example, the non-covalent conjugation of SWCNTs with pyrenyl-functionalized distyryl-BODIPY has shown PDT agent in response to 660 nm light. In another study, photosensitizer 5-aminolevulinic acid-loaded polyamidoamine dendrimer-modified MWCNTs exhibited photodynamic destruction of tumor when they were excited to 632 nm light. Furthermore, the zinc monocarboxyphenoxy phthalocyanine (ZnMCPPc) with spermine- and uridine-loaded SWCNTs have shown high level of triplet and $^{1}O2$ yield for the efficient PDT against melanoma A375 cells (Gupta et al., 2019).

Concurrent diagnosis and therapy is the key feature of CNTs in cancer theragnostics. The CNTs allowed broad electromagnetic absorbance spectrum in the NIR windows that can be a unique feature for the development of next-generation photothermal agents (Singh & Torti, 2013). This is because the NIR-responsive CNTs can efficiently convert the absorbed light into heat for the photothermal ablation of tumors. The absorbed NIR light allows CNTs to migrate excited states, and when it does, it releases absorbed energy in the form of vibrational energy, which is converted into heat energy to exhibit photothermal therapy (PTT). Moreover, it has been observed that the broad absorption window of CNTs is more advantageous than that of plasmonic metallic NPs, whose absorption band changes with size and shape of particles.

The photothermal studies of CNTs are well-known established methods in cancer therapy. However, the exciting result has been found in NIR-induced treatment of vascular inflammation, remote control gene expression, and implantable bioelectronic devices operated by laser irradiation from outside the body (Singh & Torti, 2013). Moreover, combining PTT and PDT can be a more efficient cancer treatment than only PDT or PTT. For example, Ru(II) complex SWCNTs (Ru-SWCNTs) produce ${}^{1}O_{2}$ through the photothermal effect of this complex, which exhibits enhanced anticancer efficacy. It is not surprising that new engineering strategies and unique functionalization schemes of CNTs have tremendous potential for human biological use.

Light-Responsive Graphene Oxides for PDT, PTT, and Theranostics

Graphene and its derivative graphene oxide (GO) have shown the most promising nanomaterials for cancer diagnosis and therapy. Structurally, graphene is two-dimensional (2D) and sp2-hybridized, and GO consists of both sp2- and sp3-hybridized planar carbon sheets. The planar carbon sheets bonded together to form a π -conjugated hexagonal pattern like a honeycomb. The basal plane of GO consists of a network of sp2- and sp3-hybridized carbons bearing hydroxyl (-OH) and epoxide (-O-) groups, whereas the edges are furnished by carboxyl (-COOH) and carbonyl (-CO-) functional groups (Lin et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2015).

The source of carbon-based GO is mainly graphene, which is available everywhere and can be prepared at a low cost. An essential feature of GO on its basal plane is pi-pi stacking/interaction, which can attach various molecules to its surface. Additionally, the carboxyl (-COOH), carbonyl (-CO-), and hydroxyl (-OH) of graphene oxide allow the conjugation of different therapeutic agents. The attached and conjugated GO nanocomplexes have the potential to improve the aqueous solubility of different anticancer therapies, a major problem facing most chemotherapeutic agents. The experimental results GO nanocomplexes promise to deliver a broad range of therapeutic agents in upcoming advanced drug delivery systems. In recent years, the analyses of GO nanocomplexes have led us to believe that it has the potential to solve cancer diagnosis and therapy at an early stage (Kim et al., 2015).

The GO can conjugate with organic photosensitizer through π - π stacking, hydrophobic interactions, and electrostatic interaction (Karimi et al., 2017; Sharker et al., 2016). The versatile interaction allows for increased loading efficiency and highly efficient PDT. Moreover, PDT can achieve the cancer target with the simultaneous conjugation of a targeting ligand. The photodynamic activities are caused by lipid peroxidation, depolarization of mitochondrial, increased caspase-3 activity, and finally apoptosis and death of target cancer cells.

The novel features of photosensitizer-loaded GO make them well-suited for cancer therapy. For example, chlorine e6 (Ce6), zinc phthalocyanine (ZnPc), and 2-(1-hexyloxyethyl)-2-devinyl pyropheophorbide- α (HPPH) molecules loaded with PEGylated GO have shown high-rated singlet oxygen production ability sufficient for PDT (Kim et al., 2016b). Even though their fluorescence emission intensity has decreased due to the quenching properties of graphene oxide, their cellular uptake and permeability are very promising.

The GO sheets have broad UV to NIR absorption windows, which can be a potential candidate for hyperthermia cancer therapy (PTT). The presence of characteristic band gaps and edges/defects of GO has contributed reasonable photoluminescent properties and produces intensive heat at the time of laser irradiation. In PTT, the heat production efficiency depends on light absorbance ability. The light absorption efficiency of GO can be increased significantly when it is reduced. The reduced graphene oxide (rGO) can be developed through chemical and physical approaches including heat and light exposure. Moreover, polyethylene glycol (PEG)

and hyaluronic acid (HA)-modified biocompatible GO and fluorescent dyes such as Cy7, Hilyte647, or rhodamine B-loaded GO have shown bioimaging-guided PTT when they were applied into xenograft mice (Kim et al., 2016b).

GO can attach hydrophobic aromatic compounds like anticancer drugs by π - π stacking and hydrophobic interaction. The strategic design of GO-drug complex with a targeting agent can serve as a controlled drug release system. The nanosized GO carrier system belongs to a vast surface area and showed better accumulation in tumor microenvironments (Sharker et al., 2015d). Moreover, PDT and PTT can be anchored with this carrier system to achieve multimodal cancer therapy.

Previous studies showed that doxorubicin (DOX) can be released from the PEG-GO-DOX complex in response to glutathione (GSH) and NIR hyperthermia treatment. The NIR-induced photothermal heat has disrupted the endosome, which allows GO-DOX to escape into the cytoplasmic matrix. In other studies, the PEGylated GO with branched polyethyleneimine (BPEI) has performed combined DOX delivery and PTT. The interesting layer-by-layer methods were used for GO-poly (allylamine-hydrochloride)(PAH) nanocomplexes and pH-responsive drug delivery and PTT simultaneously. The photothermal chemotherapy may reduce chemotherapy resistance, which has prompted extensive study in this area. For example, the protein-functionalized reduced graphene oxide (rGO) nanosheet showed stimuli-responsive controlled DDS. The multifunctional GO-IONP-PEG-DOX complex was developed by superparamagnetic graphene oxide-iron oxide with loaded DOX, which showed NIR-responsive PTT, magnetically targeted DOX delivery, and magnetic resonance (MR) imaging of tumor (Kim et al., 2016b).

Conclusions

A collective effort from nanotechnology has required the development of cancer phototherapeutics to overcome the hurdle of translating photoresponsive NPs. The preliminary works of photoresponsive NPs are very promising because of small sizes, functionalization potentiality, and the ability to introduce multiple therapeutic agents on its surface. Moreover, the photoluminescence properties of photoresponsive NPs play an additional advantage for the bioimaging and diagnosis of tumors. The combined therapeutic with diagnostic functionality is known as theranostics, which holds the main potential of photoresponsive NPs to address the challenges of cancer therapy. It can be a paradigm shift in the way that we traditionally treat cancer. In photoresponsive NPs, cancer therapeutic is still in the midst of development; however, it has the technical capability to develop a brand-new DDS that can bring new hope for diagnosing, treating, and preventing cancer in the near future.

References

- Ali, M. R., Ali, H. R., Rankin, C. R., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2016). Targeting heat shock protein 70 using gold nanorods enhances cancer cell apoptosis in low dose plasmonic photothermal therapy. *Biomaterials*, 102, 1–8.
- Barone, P. W., Baik, S., Heller, D. A., & Strano, M. S. (2005). Near-infrared optical sensors based on single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Nature Materials*, 4(1), 86–92.
- Choi, Y., Kim, S., Choi, M. H., Ryoo, S. R., Park, J., Min, D. H., & Kim, B. S. (2014). Highly biocompatible carbon nanodots for simultaneous bioimaging and targeted photodynamic therapy in vitro and in vivo. Advanced Functional Materials, 24(37), 5781–5789.
- Denkova, A. G., de Kruijff, R. M., & Serra-Crespo, P. (2018). Nanocarrier-mediated photochemotherapy and photoradiotherapy. Advanced Healthcare Materials, 7(8), 1701211.
- Gupta, A., Shaw, B. K., & Saha, S. K. (2014). Bright green photoluminescence in aminoazobenzene-functionalized graphene oxide. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 118(13), 6972–6979.
- Gupta, N., Rai, D. B., Jangid, A. K., & Kulhari, H. (2019). A review of theranostics applications and toxicities of carbon nanomaterials. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 20(6), 506–532.
- Gürbüz, B., Sümeyra, A. Y. A. N., Bozlar, M., & Üstündağ, C. B. (2020). Carbonaceous nanomaterials for phototherapy: A review. *Emergent Materials*, 3, 1–24.
- Hou, X., Tao, Y., Pang, Y., Li, X., Jiang, G., & Liu, Y. (2018). Nanoparticle-based photothermal and photodynamic immunotherapy for tumor treatment. *International Journal of Cancer*, 143(12), 3050–3060.
- Huang, X., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2011). Plasmonic photo-thermal therapy (PPTT). Alexandria Journal of Medicine, 47(1), 1–9.
- Karimi, M., Sahandi Zangabad, P., Baghaee-Ravari, S., Ghazadeh, M., Mirshekari, H., & Hamblin, M. R. (2017). Smart nanostructures for cargo delivery: Uncaging and activating by light. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 139(13), 4584–4610.
- Kim, S. H., Lee, J. E., Sharker, S. M., Jeong, J. H., In, I., & Park, S. Y. (2015). In vitro and in vivo tumor targeted photothermal cancer therapy using functionalized graphene nanoparticles. *Biomacromolecules*, 16(11), 3519–3529.
- Kim, S. H., Sharker, S. M., Lee, H., In, I., Lee, K. D., & Park, S. Y. (2016a). Photothermal conversion upon near-infrared irradiation of fluorescent carbon nanoparticles formed from carbonized polydopamine. *RSC Advances*, 6(66), 61482–61491.
- Kim, H., Chung, K., Lee, S., Kim, D. H., & Lee, H. (2016b). Near-infrared light-responsive nanomaterials for cancer theranostics. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 8(1), 23–45.
- Liang, H. D., & Han, D. M. (2006). Multi-walled carbon nanotubes as sorbent for flow injection on-line microcolumn preconcentration coupled with flame atomic absorption spectrometry for determination of cadmium and copper. *Analytical Letters*, 39(11), 2285–2295.
- Lin, L. S., Cong, Z. X., Li, J., Ke, K. M., Guo, S. S., Yang, H. H., & Chen, G. N. (2014). Graphiticphase C 3 N 4 nanosheets as efficient photosensitizers and pH-responsive drug nanocarriers for cancer imaging and therapy. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 2(8), 1031–1037.
- Sharker, S. M. (2019). Hexagonal boron nitrides (white graphene): A promising method for cancer drug delivery. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 9983.
- Sharker, S. M., Kim, S. M., Lee, J. E., Choi, K. H., Shin, G., Lee, S., Lee, K. D., Jeong, J. H., Lee, H., & Park, S. Y. (2015a). Functionalized biocompatible WO3 nanoparticles for triggered and targeted in vitro and in vivo photothermal therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 217, 211–220.
- Sharker, S. M., Kim, S. M., Lee, J. E., Jeong, J. H., In, I., Lee, K. D., Lee, H., & Park, S. Y. (2015b). In situ synthesis of luminescent carbon nanoparticles toward target bioimaging. *Nanoscale*, 7(12), 5468–5475.

- Sharker, S. M., Kim, S. M., Kim, S. H., In, I., Lee, H., & Park, S. Y. (2015c). Target delivery of β-cyclodextrin/paclitaxel complexed fluorescent carbon nanoparticles: Externally NIR light and internally pH sensitive-mediated release of paclitaxel with bio-imaging. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 3(28), 5833–5841.
- Sharker, S. M., Lee, J. E., Kim, S. H., Jeong, J. H., In, I., Lee, H., & Park, S. Y. (2015d). pH triggered in vivo photothermal therapy and fluorescence nanoplatform of cancer based on responsive polymer-indocyanine green integrated reduced graphene oxide. *Biomaterials*, 61, 229–238.
- Sharker, S. M., Kang, E. B., Shin, C. I., Kim, S. H., Lee, G., & Park, S. Y. (2016). Near-infraredactive and pH-responsive fluorescent polymer-integrated hybrid graphene oxide nanoparticles for the detection and treatment of cancer. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 133(32), 43791.
- Singh, R., & Torti, S. V. (2013). Carbon nanotubes in hyperthermia therapy. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 65(15), 2045–2060.
- Tong, R., & Kohane, D. S. (2012). Shedding light on nanomedicine. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 4(6), 638–662.
- You, J., Zhang, R., Zhang, G., Zhong, M., Liu, Y., Van Pelt, C. S., Liang, D., Wei, W., Sood, A. K., & Li, C. (2012). Photothermal-chemotherapy with doxorubicin-loaded hollow gold nanospheres: A platform for near-infrared light-trigged drug release. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 158(2), 319–328.

Chapter 9 Biologically Synthesized Plant-Derived Nanomedicines and Their In vitro-- In vivo Toxicity Studies in Various Cancer Therapeutics: Regulatory Perspectives



Mohamed Sheik Tharik Abdul Azeeze, Santhosh Shanthi Bhupathi, Elmutaz Belah Mohammad, Durairaj Kaliannan, Balamuralikrishnan Balasubramanian, and Subramania Nainar Meyyanathan

Introduction

Cancer remains a big health issue all over the world and is the second largest cause of mortality. As per the World Health Organization report, 9.6 million deaths were reported in 2018, and more than 9.8 million deaths at the end of 2020 were expected (https://www.who.int/health-topics/cancer#tab=tab_1). There are several therapies for the management of different forms of cancer. The most effective treatment used to treat certain forms of cancer is chemotherapy in conjunction with cytotoxic agents (Santhosh et al., 2020a; Santhosh & Chandrasekar, 2020). However, these

M. S. T. A. Azeeze · S. S. Bhupathi · S. N. Meyyanathan (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Analysis, JSS College of Pharmacy (A Constituent College of JSS Academy of Higher Education and Research), Ooty, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, JSS College of Pharmacy (A Constituent College of JSS Academy of Higher Education and Research), Ooty, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: snmeyyanathan@jssuni.edu.in

E. B. Mohammad Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Puntland State University, Garowe, Somalia

D. Kaliannan Department of Environmental Science, School of Life Sciences, Periyar University, Salem, Tamil Nadu, India

B. Balasubramanian

Department of Food Science and Biotechnology, College of Life Sciences, Sejong University, Seoul, South Korea

Santhosh Shanthi Bhupathi and Balamuralikrishnan Balasubramanian equally contributed as first author.

therapeutic approaches are correlated with serious adverse effects, particularly multidrug resistance (Huang et al., 2017; Housman et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2019). There are several adverse side effects from chemotherapy alone or in conjunction with cytotoxic drug treatment or radiation therapy (Suganya et al., 2020; Santhosh et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018). The National Cancer Institute (USA) has promoted studies into the possible antitumor activities of plant extracts focused on these adverse side effects (Menon et al., 2018). The discovery of anticancer medications is believed to be an important step forward for natural compounds derived from medicinal plants. Since the 1960s, examination of active compounds isolated from herbal plants has been of great interest for different biological activities, such as anticancer behavior. Many herbal plants have shown resistance against many metabolic disorders and cancers (Vetrivel et al., 2019; Santhosh et al., 2020b; Yuan et al., 2016; Santhosh et al., 2020c). Methods, such as nanotechnology, in numerous fields attracted and influenced major streams including drug delivery, chip laboratory, delivery vehicle, diagnostics, barcoding, cosmetics, paints, solar cells, batteries, chromatography, and so on (Saifi et al., 2018). In connection to that, the medicinal plant-derived nanoparticles have been a particular interest among researchers because of their minimal size. Nanotechnology is widely recognized below the size limit of 100 nm (Santhosh et al., 2015a; Rajakumar et al., 2017; Santhosh et al., 2015b).

There are no definite limits on the size spectrum; however, particles within the submicron range can be found in the literature. In contrast, humans are more exposed to a variety of nanosized materials, and modern growing nanotechnology fields become another potential risk to the lives of humans (Bahadar et al., 2016). Due to their smaller size, nanoparticles enter into all parts of the body by bypassing biological barriers in almost all major organs. Recently, researchers have proven with in vitro and in vivo studies that the nanoparticles act as a gas during inhalation and reach the liver, spleen, brain, heart, etc. while taken orally as well as inhaled, disrupting the normal cell biochemical environment (Sarwar et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020a).

The normal difficulties related with existing malignancy medicines are confinement of the treatment to tumor destinations, drug obstruction by tumors, and short medication course times (Thakkar et al., 2020). Additionally, toxicity-related anticancer drugs prompt significant side effects, for example, heart-related problems and decreased white blood cells (Park et al., 2020). Immune systems are further activated so as to clear nanoparticles from the human body since the approximate half-life of nanoparticles is about 700 days in the lungs, which ultimately affect the respiratory system. In order to overcome the issues associated with toxicity in nanoparticle usage to humans, distinctive intuition intending to add to safe utilization of nanoparticles is urgently required (Salieri et al., 2020). Latest nanotechnologybased cancer therapy drug delivery technologies are both on the market and in clinical trial investigations (Barkat et al., 2020; Slika & Patra, 2020). Moreover, nanocarriers have benefits in drug delivery due to the large surface size, good solubility, higher entrapment efficiency, lower degradation, low toxicity, etc. It leads to enhanced bioavailability and therapeutic effectiveness. Various nanocarriers, such

Nanoscale materials	Chances of threat toward the human body
Carbon, silver, and gold nanoparticles	Toxicity to the respiratory tract and liver
Carbon nanoparticles	Pulmonary toxicity, inflammation of the lungs, development of excess fibrous connective tissue in organs, and cytotoxicity
Cadmium-based nanomaterials	Toxic liver disease, pulmonary toxicity, cell and DNA smash-up. Impaired development and cytotoxicity
Copper and copper oxide nanoparticles	Damaging the immune system
Titanium dioxide nanoparticles	Damages genetic material within a cell that triggers mutations that can lead to cancer; damage to the brain or peripheral nervous system
Zinc oxide nanoparticles	Severe toxicity to the liver
Quantum dots	Decreases sperm count and quality, embryo toxicity, and teratogenicity
Nanometal-organic framework materials	Toxicity of reproductive and respiratory organs, immunotoxicity, neurotoxicity, carcinogenicity

 Table 9.1 Risks related to nanoparticles toward humans

as liposomes, nanoparticles, SLNs, carbon nanotubes, nanosuspension, and nanoemulsion, are the thrust research area in herbal drug delivery of cytotoxic drugs (Mir et al., 2020).

Plants are an important source of novel compounds with anticancer activity, high therapeutic activity, and fewer side effects compared to synthetic drugs, such as paclitaxel (PTX), vincristine, vinblastine, irinotecan, topotecan, etoposide, teniposide, saffron derivatives, curcumin, etc. There are studies on numerous herbal anticancer medicines, such as curcumin liposomal formulation and PTX nanomicelle among others. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are carbon-based materials composed of graphite sheets rolled in the form of a tube, creating either single-walled or multiwalled CNTs. Focused on those developments, some of the US FDA-approved anticancer nanomedicines are now in clinical use, such as paclitaxel (Abraxane) and doxorubicin (Doxil). The metal nanoparticles such as Ag, Au, Ce, Zn, and Ti have many biomedical applications. Moreover, carbon-based nanoparticles play a prominent role in a variety of biomedical and industrial applications. Twofold specific characteristics of nanoparticles such as ultrafine scale, high surface area, surface charge, and adsorption make them an enormous tool for different applications (Montané et al., 2020; Lichota & Gwozdzinski, 2018; Jogi et al., 2018; Salatin et al., 2015).

The goal of nanomedicine, nanotechnology, and nanotoxicology is to improve human health (Saifi et al., 2018). Larger amounts of manufacturing the natural and anthropogenic nanoparticles predispose the atmosphere to overexposure. Nanoparticles endanger plants, animals, humans, and other environmental biosystems. Total overall studies suggest that these nanoparticles have a strong environmental effect which threatens the health of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (Karn et al., 2009). Toxicological evaluation of nanomaterials is crucial. We have very few toxicological data on the scope of nanotechnology research about safety of



Scheme 9.1 Nanoparticle-mediated targeted drug delivery to cancer stem cells



Scheme 9.2 Plant-based nanoparticles through cancer mechanism

nanomaterials. The well-being parts of nanoparticles have brought worries up in businesses, research networks, and administrative bodies.

There are no such outlined rules for toxicological assessment of nanomaterials. In this section, we have centered around therapeutic plants and biologically synthesized nanoparticles from herbal plants with possible anticancer exercises and nanotoxicological issues, as well as diverse in vitro and in vivo toxicological investigations completed with the absolute most generally utilized nanoparticles. Risks related to nanoparticles toward the human body are listed in Table 9.1. Further, Scheme 9.1 and 9.2 depict the nanoparticle-mediated targeted drug delivery to malignant stem cells and cancer mechanism via plant-based nanoparticles, respectively.

Bioanalytical Approach-Estimation of Toxicity of Nanomaterials

Different techniques are accessible for the toxicity assessment of nanoparticles on organisms. The methods for toxicity assessment can be classified as in vitro, in vivo, and in silico modeling.

In vitro Assessment on Toxicity of Nanomaterials

One of the essential techniques is the measurement of in vitro nanoparticle toxicity. Lower cost, quicker, and minimum ethical concerns are included in the focus points. Necrosis assay, oxidative stress assay, proliferation assay, apoptosis assay, and DNA damage assays can be categorized through assessments (Fig. 9.1).

The MTT assay is often referred to as a colorimetric assay used to assess cell metabolic activity. (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) is a tetrazolium salt (MTT) that is most frequently used to test nanoparticles for in vitro toxicity. Rahmani et al. reported superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles evaluated their cellular toxicities by MTT assay (Rahmani et al., 2020). Mohan et al. (2020) reported that the IC_{50} value of myricetin gold nanoparticles was found to be 13µg/mL against the MCF-7 cell line. It showed the depolarization of mitochondrial membrane potential and production of reactive oxygen species. Carneiro & El-Deiry (2020) have reviewed the apoptosis pathways and other signaling pathways that interact in cancer therapy. Yang et al. demonstrated that lemon-derived extracellular vesicles (LDEVs) can induce apoptosis of gastric cancer cells. They have used a flow cytometer to perform an apoptosis experiment and found that the LDEVs induced substantial apoptosis in three cell lines of gastric cancer (Yang et al., 2020). Evidence suggests that the oxidative stress in cell culture systems can cause apoptosis and DNA damage (Ryter et al., 2007). Biochemical markers such as malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) have been investigated for oxidative impact (Akhtar et al., 2010). The toxicity of different nanomaterials was studied in vitro on both regular and malignant cell lines. Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs), and metal nanoparticles such as Ag, Au, Ti, and Si are two of the major nanoparticles studied.



Fig. 9.1 In vitro assessment methods

In vivo Toxicity Assessment Methods

Usually, in vivo toxicity testing was conducted on animal models, such as mice and rats. Biodistribution, clearance, hematology, serum chemistry, and histopathology are assessment tools for in vivo toxicity (Fig. 9.2).

Nanoparticles are identified by radiolabels, and clearance can be carried out by analyzing the excretion rate and metabolism of nanoparticles at different times of exposure. Some other approaches for in vivo toxicity evaluation are serum chemistry changes and cell types. Nanoparticles exposed cell, tissue, and organ histopathology (Table 9.2).

Physicochemical Parameters for Toxicity Assessment

In materials that interact with biological systems, particle size and surface area play a prominent role. Apparently, reducing the size of the materials leads to an exponential increase in the area of the surface relative to the thickness, making the surface of the nanomaterials more reactive to itself and its neighboring environment. How



Fig. 9.2 In vivo assessment methods

the device reacts, distributes, and removes the materials was determined by the size and surface area (Powers et al., 2007).

Size, Surface Area, and Surface Electrostatic Status

Cytotoxicity was caused by nanomaterials resulting from the interaction between the surface and cellular components of the nanomaterials. If the diameter goes down, the surface area of the particle steadily increases. Thus, while particles have the same structure, they may have significantly different levels of cytotoxicity depending on both particle size and surface reactivity. In addition, particle size induces substantial differences in the in vivo delivery and distribution process of drugs. Chemical properties and size-dependent cytotoxicity are important in determining the cytotoxicity of nanomaterials in this sense, but the amount of sizedependent cytotoxicity is also important. In vitro cytotoxicity of nanoparticles of

Evaluations	Methods	Advantages	Disadvantages				
In vitro evaluation using dye exclusion method	Trypan blue, eosin, Congo red,	Simple, cheap, and a good indicator of membrane integrity and dead cells	Counting errors, poor dispersion of cells, inaccurate dilution of cells				
Dye exclusion	Erythrosine B assays	Versatility and biosafety	Time-consuming and labor-intensive				
Colorimetric assays	MTT assay	Simple to use, safe, and highly reproducible	It forms purple needle- shaped crystals in the cells and insoluble in water				
	MTS assay	In vitro cytotoxicity assay, rapid, economic, and precise	This assay has an incubation time of 1–3 hours				
	XTT assay	High sensitivity and precision	The efficiency of the XTT assay depends on the reductive ability of viable mitochondrial dehydrogenase cells				
	WST-1 assay	It is easy to use, is safe, has a high reproducibility	The normal WST-1 incubation time is 2 hours				
	WST-8 assay	WST-8 is not cell-permeable	Changes in intracellular metabolic activity that have no direct impact on overall cell viability influence the reduction of assay substrates				
	LDH assay	Reliability, speed, and simple evaluation	The key drawback of this assay is that the intrinsic activity of serum and some other compounds is LDH				
	SRB assay	Simple, fast, and sensitive	For high assay results, cellular clumps/aggregates should be avoided				
	NRU assay	Speed and rapid evaluation are some of the benefits of this test	-				
	Crystal violet assay	Quick and versatile assay	Insensitive to modifications in the metabolic activity of cells				
Fluorometric assays	alamarBlue assay	Inexpensive and more sensitive than tetrazolium assays	Test compound fluorescent interference and the frequently ignored; there can be clear toxic effects on the cells				
	CFDA-AM assay	Nontoxic to cells	There is scope for fluorescent interference from test compounds				

 Table 9.2
 Methods of estimating the toxicity of nanomaterials

(continued)

Evaluations	Methods	Advantages	Disadvantages
Luminometric	ATP assay	Most sensitive	Limited by reproducibility
assays	Real-time viability assay	Measurement of cell viability/cytotoxicity	Maximum incubation time
In vivo evaluations	Zebrafish	Low cost relative to mouse husbandry; in vivo imaging	Expensive to maintain and also more difficult to modify genetically Several duplicate genes
	Mouse, rat, and guinea pig	Reduce the human trials	Both have a nonethical nature and a lengthier period of evaluation
In silico evaluations	Computational simulation	Relation between nanotoxicity and physicochemical properties. The developed data set is focused on the accurate findings of experimental toxicity obtained through in vitro and in vivo studies	In silico findings cannot be relayed entirely because the findings in vitro and in vivo can differ from the results in silico

Table 9.2(continued)

various sizes using different cell types, culture conditions, and exposure times was examined by various researchers (Perumal et al., 2020). He et al. developed the rhodamine B-labeled carboxylate chitosan-grafted size-dependent absorption polymeric nanoparticles with different particle sizes and similar zeta potentials (-35 mV) to deliver the protein drugs (He et al., 2012). Many toxicological studies have shown that, compared to larger particles of the same material, small nanoparticles <100 nm from plant source have potential effects on larvicidal activity (Cittrarasu et al., 2019). The effect of nanoparticle size on in vivo pharmacokinetics and cellular interaction was reported (Hoshyar et al., 2016). The variables relating to the biodistribution and clearance of nanoparticles were demonstrated by Wei et al. (2018). The zebrafish model was documented as a predictive screening model to test the macrophage clearance of in vivo liposomes (Sieber et al., 2019). The in vivo assessment of safety, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of laser-synthesized gold nanoparticles has been demonstrated by Bailly et al. (2019). The quantum dot size and surface-grafted peptide density on cellular absorption and cytotoxicity were assessed by Maksoudian et al. (2020). Similarly, previous studies have reported that the size-dependent cellular uptake and localization profiles of silver nanoparticles, cell type-based and size-dependent cellular uptake, cytotoxicity, and in vivo distribution of gold nanoparticles were demonstrated (Wu et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2017; Xia et al., 2019).

Morphology

Morphology is a critical issue and a significant problem in nanotoxicology. Nanoscale fibers (e.g., carbon nanotubes), like other well-established inhalable fibers (e.g., asbestos), are considered to pose a serious risk of pulmonary toxicity. In addition, prolonged exposure can cause numerous cancers (Wright et al., 2020). It is difficult to determine whether single nanotubes or an array of such tubes have a certain toxic effect. Few studies have found carbon nanotubes to be more dangerous than other ultrafine black carbon or silica powders. Lung lesions above the legal allowable exposure level have been found by many staff exposed to single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) (Bustamante, n.d.; Das et al., 2018). Interestingly, CNTs have been shown to cause targeted death of kidney cells through impaired growth of cells caused by adhesive reduction of cells. Human penetration of fuller-ene (also called buckyball) has resulted in significant lung injury (Tripathi et al., 2015).

Status of Agglomeration

Agglomeration may be a potent stimulator of human inflammatory lung injury, regardless of any physical and chemical properties of nanoparticles, such as chemical compounds (Gupta & Xie, 2018). It has been assumed that exposure to higher levels of such chemicals contributes to serious chronic diseases such as fibrosis and cancer (Shin et al., 2015). In a living organism, it remains to be identified which characteristics cause any toxicological effects.

Toxicity of Carbon and Graphene-Based Nanomaterials

Toxicity of Carbon Nanomaterials

In biomedical areas, including drug delivery, biomedical imaging, biosensors, tissue engineering, and cancer treatment, carbon nanomaterials are widely used. Nevertheless, numerous studies on the toxicity of CNTs have been carried out, still suffering from their toxic effect on biological systems (Mohanta et al., 2019). Several studies have stated that the CNT toxicity is caused by different factors. The influence of metal impurities in the CNTs may significantly affect toxicity (Yuan et al., 2019; Pumera & Miyahara, 2009). The length-dependent retention of CNTs in the pleural space of mice initiates sustained inflammation, and progressive fibrosis was reported by Murphy et al. (2011). The CNTs and its properties in relation to pulmonary toxicology have been studied (Donaldson et al., 2006). They analyzed the invaluable factors in recognizing important toxicity factors, such as scale, shape, purity, and functionality, which can attenuate CNT toxicity (Madani et al., 2013).

Moreover, Nam et al. suggested that solubilizing agent sodium dodecyl sulfate played a significant role in toxicity of CNTs and solubilized SWCNTs exert genotoxic effect in renal epithelial cells. Nanosized carbon nanoparticle C-60 for optimized delivery of berberine into leukemia (CCRF-CEM) cells has been investigated by Grebinyk et al. (2019); C60-berberine nanocomplexes increased particle size steadily from 110 to 152 nm. In a range of concentrations from 5 to 50μ M, free berberine exhibited dose- and time-dependent toxicity against CCRF-CEM cells. The IC₅₀ value of berberine was found to decrease by 3.2, 4.8, and 6.3 times in the C60-Ber nanocomplexes at 1:2, 1:1, and 2:1 molar ratios, respectively (Table 9.3).

Due to its distinctive properties for medicinal use, CNTs have drawn considerable interest. Via surface functional groups, drugs and biological molecules may bind to the CNTs or can be loaded within the tubes. Reports suggest that up to five million drug molecules can load CNTs with a diameter of 80 nm. The CNTs are well-investigated for the delivery of anticancer herbal medicines such as PTX, quercetin, ginsenoside, oridonin, analogues to camptothecin, derivatives of gallic acid, vinblastine, and betulinic acid (Table 9.4).

CNTs are novel carriers which are used for drug delivery, especially for anticancer herbal drugs. The structure of CNTs is such that it enables loading of drugs inside the tube and also allows surface coating of the drug on the tubes. Conjugation of targeting moieties or functionalization through polymers enables drug attachment and higher loading efficiency. Many in vitro reports are available about CNTbased herbal drugs. However, more focus and investigations about in vivo and clinical studies are still required for CNT-based herbal drugs to establish this novel architect as promising delivery vehicles.

Toxicity of Polymeric Nanomaterials

Chitosans

Facchi et al. successfully obtained the physical cross-linked sodium tripolyphosphate (TPP) nanoparticles based on N, N-dimethyl chitosan (DMC) and N, N, N-trimethyl chitosan (TMC), using water/benzyl alcohol emulsion. Curcumin (CUR) was loaded into nanoparticles and simulated intestinal fluid and in simulated gastric fluid was tested in controlled release experiments. Cytotoxicity studies showed that, compared to unloaded TMC/TPP particles, only loaded TMC/TPP particles containing CUR were marginally cytotoxic to human cervical tumor cells (SiHa cells). Alternatively, loaded nanoparticles (TMC/TPP/CUR and DMC/TPP/ CUR) were more biocompatible than unloaded NPs (TMC/TPP and DMC/TPP/ CUR), in particular, with safe VERO cells (Facchi et al., 2016). Dhanavel et al. have recently reported that the chitosan-reduced graphene oxide (CS/rGO) nanocomposite loaded with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) and CUR) was prepared using a simple chemical method. With the addition of 5-FU + CUR-loaded CS/rGO nanocomposite, synergistic cytotoxicity was observed, demonstrating the system's efficacy in

Table 9.3 Toxicity of carboi	n and graphene-based nano	materials				
Source	Formulation	Size (nm)	Cell line	Assays	Cancer type	References
Catharanthus roseus	Carbon quantum dot- hydrothermal carbonization technique	5	MCF-7	MTT assay, cytotoxicity, and bioimaging	Breast cancer	Arumugham et al. (2020)
Doxorubicin	Carboxymethyl cellulose/graphene quantum dot nanocomposite hydrogel films filled with doxorubicin	4–6	K562	MTT assay	Blood cancer	Javanbakht & Namazi (2018)
Tea leaves	Cadmium sulfide (CdS) quantum dots (QDs) using waste matured tea leaves	2.5-4	MCF-7 cells, IC ₅₀ –30μg/mL	MTT assay, Western blot analysis	Breast cancer	Shivaji et al. (2019)
Gynostemma pentaphyllum	Core-shell nanocarriers with ZnO quantum dot-conjugated Au nanoparticle	12.2	Hela	In vitro cytotoxicity	Cervical cancer	Chen et al. (2013)
Angelica species	Copper oxide quantum dots (CuO QDs) on chitosan	5-10	The human osteoblast cells	MTT assay		Hu et al. (2019)
(C-dots/PEI/Au), (C-dots/ PEI/Ag) dots/ polyethyleneimine/silver dots/polyethyleneimine/ gold	Microwave irradiation method	6.5 ± 2	Vero cell line	No sign of toxicity. Very low conc. 200 mg/mL; biocompatibility assay, MTT assay		Emam et al. (2017)

 Table 9.3
 Toxicity of carbon and graphene-based nanomaterials

$5.6 \pm 1.1 \text{ nm}$ H1299 and A549 50µg/mL CCK-8 assay analysisHuman lungTian et al. $6f \text{ cell viability, cell cycle}$ $6f \text{ cell viability, cell cycle}$ $carcinoma$ (2016) $6f \text{ intribution analysis,}$ $cell \text{ lines}$ $cell \text{ lines}$ (2016) $6f \text{ intribution analysis,}$ $cell \text{ lines}$ $cell \text{ lines}$	nethods MKN45 cell line High toxicity for the SWCNTPTX-FA sample Gastric Tavakolifart SWCNTPTX-FA sample cancer et al. (2016) compared to PTX (50 ml) after 48 h. MTT assay MTT assay	nethod MD-MBA-231, L929, human Cell growth of CuO QDs/ CS-Ang by concentration- dependent cytotoxicity Anticancer (2015) umbilical vein dependent cytotoxicity anticancer	placement ~100 nm HCT-116, MCF-7, Dose-dependent cytotoxic effect Colon Khan et al. HEK-293 on both HCT-116 and MCF-7 cancer, (2020) cells. MTT assay clonocenic assay
 50µg/mL CC of cell viabil distribution a immunoblot immunofluoi	High toxicit: SWCNTPTY SWCNTPTY compared to 48 h. MTT assay	Cell growth CS-Ang by dependent cy assessment	7, Dose-depend on both HC7 cells. MTT assay,
H1299 and A549	MKN45 cell line	MD-MBA-231, L929, human umbilical vein endothelial cells	HCT-116, MCF-7 HEK-293
5.6 ± 1.1 nm			~100 nm
Purchased	Chemical methods	Chemical method	Solvent displacement technique
 Hydroxyl-modified graphene quantum dots	Single-walled carbon nanotube-paclitaxel-folic acid conjugate	TAT-CS conjugates, MWCNTs-TC and MWCNTs-C	Quantum dots encapsulated with curcumin

Biological source	Formulations	Size (nm)	Cell line	Assav	Cancer type	Ref
Paclitaxel	Conjugation with polyethylene- imine, folic acid -MWCNTs	20	HeLa, HUVEC cells	Confocal microscopy assay, MTT assay	Cervical cancer	Tian et al. (2011)
Quercetin	Conjugation with poly-methacrylic acid. MWCNTs	NA	HeLa	Cell viability test	Cervical cancer	Cirillo et al. (2013)
Ginsenoside	MWCNTs	NA	MCF-7 PANC-1	MTT assay, double-label immunocytochemi- cal staining	Breast cancer/ pancreas cancer	Lahiani et al. (2016)
Oridonin	Conjugation with carboxylic acid-MWCNTs	0.30	HepG-2 cell. IC ₅₀ - 7.29 μg/ mL	Cytotoxicity testing, CCK-8 assays	Liver cancer	Wang & Li (2016)
Camptothecin	Conjugation with diamino trimethylene glycol-MWCNTs	-	MKN-28 H22 tumor cells- mouse	Cytotoxicity	Gastric cancer	Wu et al. (2009)
Betulinic acid	Conjugation with COOH -MWCNTs	-	A549, HepG2 IC_{50} -2.7 and 11.0µg/ mL,	Cytotoxicity assay	Lung cancer, liver cancer	Tan et al. (2014a)
Paclitaxel	Conjugation with PEGylation- SWCNTs	20.6	4T1 murine breast cancer	Cell toxicity assay	Breast cancer	Liu et al. (2008)
Betulinic acid	Conjugation with COOH- SWCNTs Conjugation with PEG Tween-80 Tween-20 chitosan- SWCNTs	_	3T3, A549, HepG2	Cytotoxicity evaluation	Lung cancer, liver cancer	Tan et al. (2014b), Tan et al. (2016)

 Table 9.4
 The CNT-based carrier for anticancer drug delivery

inhibiting the growth of HT-29 colon cancer cells. Better cytotoxicity for dual-drugcharged nanocomposites with an IC50 of 23.8µg/mL was observed (Dhanavel et al., 2020). The enhanced apoptotic and anticancer potential of paclitaxel-loaded chitosan-based biodegradable nanoparticles has been stated by Gupta et al. (2017). Kumar et al. (2018) have reported that MTT assays on NCI-H460 cells evaluated the vincristine-loaded folic acid chitosan-conjugated nanoparticles.

Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)

Prabhuraj et al. (2020a) using the nanoprecipitation process encapsulated curcumin and niclosamide in poly(lactic-co-glycolide) (PLGA) nanoparticles in the presence of poly(vinyl alcohol). Dual-drug-loaded PLGA nanoparticles had a higher anticancer effect on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells compared to a bare two-drug mixture in DMSO with an IC50 value of 13 (μ M). In addition, in the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer, PEGylated PLGA nanoparticles are used to deliver curcumin to MDA-MB-231 and L929 cells (Prabhuraj et al., 2020b). Sufi et al. have reported the drug retention of curcumin and indole-curcumin analogs (ICA)-laden polysorbate 80-stabilized PLGA nanoparticles against colon cancer cell line SW480. On the SW480 cell line, IC₅₀ of free CUR and ICA were found to be 25–27 μ M and 15–17 μ M for 24 hours, respectively (Sufi et al., 2020). Kumari et al. (2020) have developed that the CUR-loaded PLGA nanoparticles showed significant cytotoxicity toward HepG2 cells, whereas they were found to be cytocompatible toward HEK293 cells. Durymanov et al. (2020) developed the intravenous silibinin-loaded PLGA-based nanoparticles to reduce drug-induced hepatotoxicity.

Poly(amidoamine) Dendrimers

Ghaffari et al. reported that trapping CUR in a polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimer improved its solubility and bioavailability, and a polyplex was formed to build PAMAM-Cur/Bcl-2 siRNA nanoparticles by grafting Bcl-2 siRNA to the amine surface groups. Higher cytotoxicity than PAMAM-CUR and free CUR were seen (Ghaffari et al., 2020). Bhatt et al. have synthesized octa-arginine (R) and vitamin-E succinate (VES), conjugated to the PEGylated generation 4 polyamidoamine dendrimer (D) to form delivery carrier (RVES-PD). The efficacy of RVES-PD-paclitaxel antitumor in vivo was determined using tumor-bearing B16F10 mice. The cytotoxicity study showed that in the paclitaxel range of concentrations of $0-50\mu$ g/mL, RVES-PD-paclitaxel showed high cytotoxicity of paclitaxel compared to nontargeted VES-PD- paclitaxel and free paclitaxel (Bhatt et al., 2020).

In vivo Toxicity of Polymeric Nanomaterials

Chitosans

Zafar et al. demonstrated enhanced chemotherapeutic efficacy of chitosan-grafted lipid nano-capsules beside resistant human breast cancer cells with co-delivery of docetaxel and thymoquinone. They found that antiangiogenic activity in vivo was assessed using chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assay, which showed a superior antiangiogenic effect (Zafar et al., 2020). In order to increase water solubility and bioavailability, CUR was encapsulated by liposomes (CUR-Lip) that were further coated with thiolated chitosan (CSSH) to form liposomal hydrogels (CSSH/CUR-Lip gel). The in vivo experiment demonstrated that the CSSH/CUR-Lip gel prevents the BC from recurring after tumor resection and repairs the injured cells in the CSSH/CUR-Lip gel group (Li et al., 2020b).

Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)

Gracia et al. developed PLGA curcumin and tested it in various subcutaneous models of prostate cancer xenograft in nude mice (PC3, 22rv1, and DU145 PCa cell lines). Their findings contrasted with those of immunohistochemical study (Trichromic, Ki67 and TUNEL stainings) assessed by tumor progression of the commercial preparation of curcumin (Gracia et al., 2019). Malathi et al. (2020) developed the nanopatterned PLGA films using cast molding technique based on polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS). In vivo analysis in the skin papilloma cancer Swiss albino mice model was used to find the therapeutic efficacy of 1000 succinate (TPGS) combinations with curcumin, and tocopherol poly(ethylene glycol) was explored. Godara et al. (2020) prepared and characterized the lipid-PLGA hybrid paclitaxel nanoparticles using a single-phase nanoprecipitation process. In vivo experiments found that when compared to nanoparticles without a lipid coat, lipidcoated human serum albumin-based nanoparticles showed extended circulation period.

Poly(amidoamine) Dendrimers

Montazerabadi et al. (2019) developed third-generation dendrimers by using methoxy-PEGylated poly(amidoamine) along with curcumin and iron oxide nanoparticles. Chen et al. (2004) reported that more cytotoxic and hemolytic than anionic or PEGylated dendrimers were found to be cationic dendrimers. Patel et al. (2016) suggested that sialic acid, glucosamine, and concanavalin A can be used as ligands to incorporate poly(propyleneimine) dendrimers to improve anticancer drug delivery to the brain for improved therapeutic outcome. Anti-ovarian cancer activity of poly(propyleneimine) antibody conjugates containing encapsulated paclitaxel was reported in vivo by Jain et al. (2015). Rompicharla et al. have demonstrated the effective targeting of paclitaxel in cancer using biotin-functionalized PEGylated poly(amidoamine) dendrimer conjugation (Rompicharla et al., 2019).

Toxicity of Metallic Nanoparticles

In vitro Toxicity Studies of Gold Nanoparticles

Gold as a nanomaterial has been extensively researched in recent years due to its use in various biomedical applications. In general, gold in bulk form is known to be an inert material, but the literature is not consistent in the case of nanoparticles, and some studies highlight the significance of nanometer size in the biological effects observed. In the documented in vitro experiments, the most common approach was to evaluate cytotoxicity after exposure to gold nanoparticles of different sizes and, at times, most frequently between 3 and 24 hours, using the MTT assay (Dykman & Khlebtsov, 2011). Several studies have reported biocompatibility of the gold nanoparticles (Sulaiman et al., 2020) (Table 9.5).

Toxicity Effects of TiO₂ Nanoparticles

In vitro Toxicity Studies of TiO₂

A broad variety of experiments using different cell models were performed to test the in vitro toxicity of TiO2 nanoparticles. Several studies examine toxic effects but at very high doses as well (Kose et al., 2020). Ekstrand-Hammarström et al. (2012) compared the toxicity of various TiO2 nanoparticles in normal human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cells and epithelial cell lines (A549 and BEAS-2B). Carbon black and titanium dioxide nanoparticles (15 nm) have been shown to cause apoptotic cell death in bronchial epithelial cells, according to Hussain et al. (2010). Several experiments have stated that TiO₂ nanoparticles can cause damage to DNA using, e.g., the comet assay, but results from some experiments are negative or indicate only effects when UV light is present (Karlsson, 2010). TiO₂ nanoparticles can cause inflammation, damage to the respiratory tract, fibrosis, and lung tumors and can be carcinogenic to humans. While cancer is a disease involving mutation, several studies on the genotoxicity of TiO₂ nanoparticles have been conducted (Chen et al., 2014).

In vivo Toxicity Studies of TiO₂

Oberdörster et al. (Riediker et al., 2019) explored that the chances of primary particle size could influence the fate of particles after they are dumped and cause health issues. Pulmonary and oral toxicity studies have explored the influence of surface modifications and particle size through in vivo (Warheit & Brown, 2019). In summary, DNA disruption and cytotoxic effects have been seen in vitro studies of TiO_2

Table 7.3 Diversion incorporation	anoparticie		unial sources our way	ucury antaryous		
Biological source and family	Metal	Shape and size	Cell line	IC ₅₀	Tests	Ref
Vitis vinifera (Vitaceae)	Gold	Spherical (20–45)	HBL- 100	NA	Induction of apoptosis	Amarnath et al. (2011)
Couroupita guianensis (Lecythidaceae)	Gold	Spherical, triangular, tetragonal, pentagonal with irregular (7–48)	09-TH	5.14µM	MTT assay, DNA fragmentation, apoptosis by DAPI staining, and comet assay for DNA damage	Geetha et al. (2013)
Dysosma pleiantha (Berberidaceae)	Gold	Spherical (127)	HT1080	200µM	Cell viability using trypan blue exclusion assay, actin and (4,6-diamidino-2- phenylindole dihydrochloride) DAPI staining, transwell migration assay, Rac1-GTP assay	Karuppaiya et al. (2013)
Cajanus cajan (Fabaceae)	Gold	Spherical (29)	HepG2	6µg/mL	MTT, annexin-V/PI double-staining assay, cell cycle, comet assay, and flow cytometric analysis for apoptosis	Ashokkumar et al. (2014)
Punica granatum (Punicaceae)	Gold	Spherical (5-2)	Hela	62.5µg/mL	MTT assay	Lokina et al. (2014)
Corallina officinalis (Corallinaceae)	Gold	Spherical (14.57 ± 1)	MCF-7	NA	Cytotoxic activity, DNA fragmentation assay	El-Kassas & El-Sheekh (2014)
Podophyllum hexandrum (Berberidaceae)	Gold	Spherical (5–35)	Hela	20µg/mL	Cell viability, apoptosis	Jeyaraj et al. (2014)

 Table 9.5
 Biosynthesized nanoparticles mediated from natural sources on toxicity analysis

<i>Acalypha indica</i> Linn (Euphorbiaceae)	Gold	Spherical (20–30)	MDAMB-231	NA	MTT assay, acridine orange/ ethidium bromide dual staining, Caspase-3 assay, DNA fragmentation assay	Krishnaraj et al. (2014)
Cassia auriculata (Caesalpiniaceae)	Gold	Spherical (21)	A549	10µg/mL	Cytotoxicity, DNA fragmentation	Parveen & Rao (2015)
Illicium verum (Illiciaceae)	Gold	Hexagon (20–50)	A549	NA	Cell viability and cytotoxicity, oxidative stress, Caspase-3-7 levels	Sathishkumar et al. (2015)
Antigonon leptopus (Polygonaceae)	Gold	Spherical (22)	MCF-7	(GI50 = 257.8µg/mL)	Cytotoxic activity using MTT assay, DPPH free radical scavenging assay	Balasubramani et al. (2015)
Plumbago zeylanica (Plumbaginaceae)	Gold	Spherical (16)	DAL cell line	NA	MTT assay, DNA binding studies	Velammal et al. (2016)
Nigella sativa (Ranunculaceae)	Gold	Spherical (15–28)	A549	28.37μg/mL	MTT assay	Manju et al. (2016)
<i>Genipa americana</i> (Rubiaceae)	Gold	Spherical (15–40)	A549	NA	Cancer cell proliferation, MTT assay	Kumar et al. (2016)
Hibiscus sabdariffa (Malvaceae)	Gold	Spherical (10–60)	U87	1.5 ng/mL	MTT assay, analysis of cellular DNA degradation, degradation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	Mishra et al. (2016)
Rhus chinensis (Anacardiaceae)	Gold	Oval and spherical	Hep3B MG63	150µg/mL	Antiproliferative assay, immunofluorescence staining	Patil et al. (2017)
		(20-40)	MKN 28			
						(continued)

Table 9.5 (continued)						
Biological source and family	Metal	Shape and size	Cell line	IC ₅₀	Tests	Ref
<i>Commelina nudiflora</i> (Commelinaceae)	Gold	Spherical, triangular (24–150)	HCT116	200µg/mL	MTT, flow cytometry, and reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction	Kuppusamy et al. (2016)
Abutilon indicum (Malvaceae)	Gold	Spherical (1-20)	HT29	24 hours/210µg/mL 48 hours/180µg/mL	MTT assay, acridine orange/ ethidium bromide (AO/EB) staining, annexinV-Cy3 staining, DAPI staining	Mata et al. (2016)
Tribulus terrestris (Zygophyllaceae)	Gold	Triangular, spherical (7)	AGS	NA	Cell viability assay by annexin-V/propidium iodide (PI) staining	Gopinath et al. (2019)
Sesuvium portulacastrum L. (Aizoaceae)	Gold	Spherical (37)	A549	14µg/mL	Cytotoxic assay, acridine orange/ethidium bromide (AO/EB) double-staining assay, DCFH-DA staining, rhodamine staining, DAPI staining	Ramalingam et al. (2016)
Musa paradisiaca (Musaceae)	Gold	Spherical (8)	MCF-7	24 hours <8μg/mL 48 hours/8μg/mL	Cell viability assay, cell cycle analysis and comet assay,	Suganya et al. (2016)
			MDAMB-231	24 hours <2μg/mL 48 hours/2μg/mL	apoptosis detection by dual-staining assay	
Phoenix dactylifera (Arecaceae)	Gold	Spherical (95)	MCF-7	4.76µg/mL	Cytotoxicity, apoptosis, immunoassay	Banu et al. (2018)
Alternanthera bettzickiana (Amaranthaceae)	Gold	Spherical, aggregated (80–120)	A549	NA	MTT assay, DNA fragmentation study, protein assay, nuclear staining, Western blotting	Nagalingam et al. (2018)

Table 9.5 (continued)

	_					
Solidago canadensis (Asteraceae)	Gold	Spherical, triangular, and rod-like shape (238)	H4IIE- <i>luc</i> rat hepatoma cells. HuTu-80 cells	NA	Cytotoxicity assay	Botha et al. (2019)
Dragon fruit	Gold	Spherical, oval, and triangular (10–20)	MCF-7/ MDA-MB-231	NA	Cytotoxicity study	Divakaran et al. (2019)
Gelidium pusillum (Gelidiaceae)	Gold	Spherical to pseudo- spherical-shaped (12)	(MDA-MB-231)	43.09 ± 1.6µg/mL	MTT assay, apoptotic staining	Jeyarani et al. (2020)
Commiphora wightii (Burseraceae)	Gold	Spherical, triangular, and hexagonal (27.91)	MCF-7	66.11µg/mL	MTT assay	Uzma et al. (2020)
Annona muricata (Annonaceae)	Gold	Spherical (15)	Hep2	10.94µg/mL	Cytotoxicity	Kamala & Iyer (2020)
<i>Ecklonia cava</i> (Lessoniaceae)	Silver	Spherical (15–30)	HeLa	59µg/mL	Cytotoxicity assay, annexin V-FITC/propidium iodide (PI) staining	Venkatesan et al. (2016)
<i>Citrullus colocynthis</i> (L.) (Cucurbitaceae)	Silver	Spherical (31)	HEp-2 cell	3.42µg/mL	MTT assay, caspase –3 assay, lactate dehydrogenase leakage assay, and DNA fragmentation assay	Satyavani et al. (2011)
Artemisia princeps (Asteraceae)	Silver	Spherical (20)	A549	30µg/mL	DNA fragmentation, cell viability of L132 and A549 cells	Gurunathan et al. (2015)
						(continued)

Table 9.5 (continued)						
Biological source and family	Metal	Shape and size	Cell line	IC ₅₀	Tests	Ref
Trapa natans (Lythraceae)	Silver	Spherical (30–90)	A431	64.2µg/mL	MTT assay	Saber et al. (2018)
Nepeta deflersiana (Lamiaceae)	Silver	Spherical (33)	HeLa cells	5µg/mL	MTT assay, cytotoxicity by neutral red uptake (NRU) assay, apoptosis/necrosis assessment using annexin V-PE and 7-AAD	Al-Sheddi et al. (2018)
Punica granatum (Punicaceae)	Silver	Spherical (30)	A549	54.5µg/mL	MTT assay, apoptotic assays, Caspase assay	Padinjarathil et al. (2018)
Abutilon indicum (Malvaceae)	Silver	Spherical (5-25)	COL0205	4μg/mL	MTT assay	Mata et al. (2015)
Gracilaria edulis (Gracilariaceae)	Silver	Spherical (55–99)	PC3	39.60µg/mL	MTT assay	Priyadharshini et al. (2014)
Phyllanthus emblica (Phyllanthaceae)	Silver	Spherical and cubic (188)	HEp-2 cell	20µg/mL	Cytotoxicity assay	Rosarin et al. (2013)
Cyperus conglomeratus (Cyperaceae)	Silver	Spherical (70–100)	MCF-7	5µg/mL	MTT Assay, V-FITC-PI double-staining kit, and real-time PCR for apoptotic gene	Al-Nuairi et al. (2020)
Phaseolus vulgaris (Fabaceae)	Copper oxide	Spherical (26.6)	HeLa	NA	Sulforhodamine-B assay	Nagajyothi et al. (2017)
Zingiber officinale (Zingiberaceae)/ Allium sativum (Amaryllidaceae)	Copper	Spherical (22.70 ± 5.67)	HeLa and HepG2	NA	MTT assay	Yaqub et al. (2020)

238

Saravanakumar et al. (2019)	Sankar et al. (2014)	Yugandhar et al. (2017)	Sulaiman et al.	(2018)		Rehana et al.	ssay (2017)												Aygun et al.	(2020)	(F
Cell viability, DAPI and Rh123 staining apoptosis, Western blot analysis	MTT assay, apoptosis	MTT assay	Cell viability assay,	clonogenicity assay, cytotoxicity using crystal violet dye, mitochondrial membrane potential assay	fuerin powning and	MTT assay, apoptosis by	Hoechst 33258 staining as												Cytotoxicity study		
24.7μg/mL	200µg/mL	NA	2.27µg/mL	1.47µg/mL		25.55 ± 1.96 ,	$22.45 \pm 1.32, 25.32 \pm 1.82,$	$26.71 \pm 1.24, 19.77 \pm 0.98$	26.73 ± 1.67 ,	$21.63 \pm 1.44, 23.22 \pm 1.36,$	$30.08 \pm 1.84, 20.32 \pm 1.16$	$28.59 \pm 2.08, 22.59 \pm 1.96,$	$25.59 \pm 1.61, 29.58 \pm 1.34,$	21.66 ± 1.22	$26.03 \pm 1.84, 20.15 \pm 1.22,$	$25.05 \pm 1.31, 34.37 \pm 1.81,$	18.11 ± 0.93	>100	36.86µg/mL	19.83µg/mL	
A 549	A 549	MDA-MB-231	SKOV-3	AMJ-13		MCF-7 HeLa Hep-2 A549 NHDF									MDA-MB-231	HeLa					
Spherical (110)	Spherical (577)	Spherical (17.2)	Spherical	(20–50)		Spherical (12)													Spherical (1-6)		
Copper	Copper oxide	Copper oxide	Copper	and copper oxide		Copper	and	copper	oxide										Pt		
Trichoderma asperellum (Hypocreaceae)	Ficus religiosa (Moraceae)	Syzygium alternifolium (Wt.) (Myrtaceae)	Olea europaea (Oleaceae)			Azadirachta indica	(Meliaceae), Hibiscus	rosa-sinensis (Malvaceae),	Murraya koenigii	(Rutaceae), Moringa	oleifera (Moringaceae),	and Tamarindus indica	(Fabaceae)						Nigella sativa L.		

Table 9.5 (continued)						
Biological source and family	Metal	Shape and size	Cell line	IC ₅₀	Tests	Ref
Punica granatum	Pt	Spherical (20–100)	MCF-7	17.84µg/mL	Cell viability test, propidium iodide staining, comet assay	Şahin et al. (2018)
Padina gymnospora	Pt	Truncated octahedral, tetrahedral, and spherical (25)	<i>Artemia salina</i> nauplii	$(LC_{s0}) 100 \pm 4 \text{ mg/mL}$	Anti-crustacean assay	Ramkumar et al. (2017)
Mentha piperita	Pt	Spherical (54.3)	HCT 116	20µg/mL	Cytotoxicity assay	Yang et al. (2017)

continued
9.5
Table

nanoparticles but only at very high doses. Inflammatory and genotoxic effects are shown in animal studies, indicating that inhalation should be avoided, while exposure to the skin (e.g., TiO_2 with low photocatalytic activity) is unlikely to pose much risk (Table 9.6).

Regulation Perspectives of Nanomaterial Toxicity

Nanotechnology has emerged over the previous years, and currently, its revolution has been utilized in multiple sectors through an integrated approach. Moreover, increases in the number of products containing nanomaterials and nanotechnology-based applications have become widely available. The pharmaceutical field isn't an exception in this revolution, where nanotechnology is tremendously involved in the drug development process with the capability of providing a new and innovative medical solution to fulfill the current existence gap in healthcare (Bleeker et al., 2013; Perez de la, 2014).

Definition and Regulation Concerns for the Nanomaterial's Characterizations

The use of nanotechnology applications in medicine is referred to as nanomedicine, which is defined as the use of nanomaterials for prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and monitoring of diseases. However, still, there is a controversy regarding the uniform and standard definition of nanomaterials among the different international regulatory agencies. Therefore, several efforts took place to find a more relevant descriptive definition of nanomaterials, since nanomaterials have very small particle sizes with novel physicochemical properties which are different from the bulk chemical equivalent materials (Tinkle et al., 2014). Also, it is necessary to establish a definition that explicitly describes the presence of nanomaterials. Indeed, a definition to distinguish whether the material is considered as nanomaterial or not was created by the European Commission (EC); however, the EC definition was not further categorized as the present nanomaterial hazardous or safe. The US FDA has considered nanomaterials as any materials within the range of nanoscale or certain materials that pose related dimension-dependent characteristics. On the other hand, it recognizes nanotechnology products as products that consist of or are manufactured using nanomaterials (Bleeker et al., 2013; Guidance, 2011). As per the EC, nanomaterials refer to a natural, adjuvant, or manufactured material containing particles, either in an unbound state or as an aggregate with a size range of 1-100 nm for \geq 50% of the particles according to the number size distribution. Materials whose surface area by volume is more than 60 m²/cm³ as well as material with one or more external dimension structure below 1 nm, like single-walled carbon nanotubes and
	Reference	Hariharan et al. (2020)	Maheswari et al. (2020)	Aswini et al. (2020)	Sharma et al. (2018)
city studies of TiO2 nanoparticles mediated from plant sources	Assays	MTT cell viability assay, acridine orange/ ethidium bromide (AO/EtBr) staining, dichlorodihydrofhuorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) assay	MTT assay	MTT assay	MTT assay
	IC ₅₀	115µg/mL	NA	53.65µg/mL. LC ₅₀ (18.960 mg/ mL)	400µg/mL
	Cell line	A549	KB oral cancer cell line	A549	HepG2
	Shape and size	Rod-shaped and small spherical. 38 and 57 nm	Rod and spherical. 7.5 nm, 9.5 nm, 12.5 nm, 11.5 nm	Tetragonal structure and spherical. 47 nm	Crystalline 45 nm
	Formulations	Green hydrothermal synthesized Ag@ TiO ₂ nanoparticles	Biomodified TiO ₂ nanoparticles -hydrothermal method	Bioengineered TiO ₂ nanoparticles-green synthesis	TiO ₂ nanoparticles
Table 9.6 Toxid	Biological source	Aloe vera	Withania somnifera, Eclipta prostrata, Glycyrrhiza glabra	Ledebouria revoluta	Rheum emodi

fullerenes, should be recognized as nanomaterials (Commission Recommendation, 2011).

Overall, with respect to the former definition of nanomaterials, there are three fundamental components to determine the presence of nanomaterials:

- I. *Size:* It's one of the important aspects to be taken into consideration while determining the presence of nanomaterials. Though 1–100 nm is the conventional size range of nanomaterials, however, there is no clear cutoff line to set this limit. Additionally, the maximum size that should be used to consider the material as nanomaterial is a random value, because the biological and physicochemical properties of the material do not change randomly at 100 nm; therefore, with respect to this context, it is assumed that other properties also should be considered.
- II. *Particle size distribution (PSD):* The PSD reflects the material size variation, and it's one of the largely used parameters for distinguishing the nanomaterials from other bulk chemical equivalent materials since nanomaterials are usually exhibiting the polydisperse properties.
- III. Surface area: Determining the surface area by volume is additionally strengthening the legislation of the nanomaterial's regulation. The defined limit of surface area by volume for considering the material as nanomaterials is more than 60 m²/cm³; however, the PSD shall prevail, even though the material surface area by volume is lower than 60 m²/cm³ (Bleeker et al., 2013; Boverhof et al., 2015; Lövestam et al., 2010).

The Regulation Challenge for the Nanomaterials with Respect to the Pharmaceutical Context

The novel physicochemical properties of nanomaterials provided great opportunities in the majority of the drug development process. However, some of the concerns regarding their safety aspects were raised, predominantly, the nano-formulation safety concern, which can result in alteration in the pharmacokinetic parameters including the absorption, distribution metabolism, and elimination. Moreover, the ability to cross biological barriers more easily, their toxic characteristics, and their prolonged presence in the human body and environment are some examples of concerns over the involvement of nanomaterials in pharmaceutical files (Bleeker et al., 2013; Perez de la, 2014; Tinkle et al., 2014; Guidance, 2011). These nanoformulation alterations and other safety concerns are posing a significant challenge in pharmaceutical development and manufacturing processes, primarily in the identification of the critical parameters and technologies for analyzing and evaluating the safety aspects of nanomedicine (Hodge et al., 2010; Gaspar et al., 2014; Sainz et al., 2015). Quality by Design (QbD), in conjunction with process analytical technology (PAT), is one of the important systems recognized for the systematic regulation and control of nanomaterials involved in pharmaceutical drug development

processes. Quality by Design work is mainly based on the identification of quality attribute (QA), which is known as the biological, physical, and chemical, or any other relevant properties of nanomaterials (U.S Food and Drug Administration, 2004; European Medicines Agency, 2017). It is important to note that these nanomaterials properties may be altered during and/or after the manufacturing processes; such modifications are considered as QA and should be controlled with a certain range of quality (Verma et al., 2009; Riley & Li, 2011; Bastogne, 2017). PAT is playing a major role in evaluating and controlling the QA during the manufacturing process by designing, analyzing, and controlling the attributed performance and quality of raw materials and intermediated and finished products, which eventually lead to ensuring the safety of any high-quality nanomedicine product.

Nanotoxicology and Biocompatibility

Appropriate compatibility between the biological environment and the administered drug is one of the essential requirements in the design of a safe and effective drug delivery system. Biocompatibility refers to the capability of a material to produce an appropriate effect on the targeted organ without triggering undesired response (Williams, 2003; Keck & Müller, 2013). Therefore, ensuring appropriate biocompatibility during the nanomedicine manufacturing process through certain biocompatibility testing program at the preclinical level is crucial for safe and effective nanomedicine; on the other hand, if biocompatibility is not granted nanomaterials, then it's inevitable that toxicological concern arises (Hussain et al., 2015). The biocompatibility assessment at the preclinical testing level for the nanomaterials involved in vivo studies complemented by certain in vitro assay to prove safety. Despite the efforts made from different pharmaceutical regulatory agencies, academia, and other governmental bodies to develop guidelines and protocols for shortand long-term nanotoxicological assessments, still, nanomaterials are handled as conventional chemical materials. However, several initiatives from the FDA, OECD, and EC scientific projects emphasize on the regulatory aspects concerning the safety of nanomaterials. Identifying various physicochemical properties of nanomaterials and correlating them with the effect on the organs are important for a better understanding of how certainly nanomaterials interact with the living system (Juillerat-Jeanneret et al., 2015).

Surface physicochemical properties, shape, and size of nanomaterials play a major role in the pharmacokinetics of nanomaterials, particularly the distribution of nanoparticles in the body. For example, the large nanoparticles were found distributed in the liver and blood, whereas nanoparticles with 10 nm size were detected in the heart, kidney, blood, liver, spleen, thymus, and testis (De Jong et al., 2008; Adabi et al., 2017). Note that the serum proteins available in the systemic blood circulation influence the cellular uptake of the nanoparticles; therefore, considering an assessment of protein profile through in vivo studies is required crucially for

ensuring safe and effective nanoparticle concentration index at the cellular level (Keck et al., 2013).

The clearance of nanomaterials is relying upon the surface and size of nanoparticles, for example, large size nanoparticles more than 200 nm are uptaken by the liver, spleen, and bone marrow through the mononuclear phagocytic system, whereas small-sized nanoparticles below 20–30 nm are rapidly excreted through the renal system (Moghimi et al., 2001). However, still, studies are required to certainly explain the absorption, biodistribution, degradation, and elimination of nanoparticles in the living systems.

In vitro Assessment Methods of Nanotoxicology

The in vitro assay approach was one of the important methods for evaluating the toxic effects of nanoparticles, which includes the studies of cytotoxicity potency of nanoparticles through providing detailed information about the biological interaction between the cells and nanoparticles including the inflammatory responses, cell viability, and stress (Kroll et al., 2009). The major merits of in vitro assay include less time consumption, not expensive, and minimum ethical concerns. However, the main drawbacks of in vitro experiments are lacking the ability to reproduce the entire complex and interrelated mechanism at the cell, tissues, and membranes of the human body; moreover, in vitro assay also cannot predict the compensatory response of the human body when it's imposed with a toxic effect. Nevertheless, the possible interaction between the reagents used in the in vitro assay and the nanoparticles can lead to significant changes in the physicochemical properties of the nanoparticles and consequently influence the adsorption, biodistribution, dissolution, and PH of the nanoparticles (Kroll et al., 2009; Fadeel et al., 2013). Therefore, many concerns have been raised about the integrity and harmony of nanotoxicological data produced by the in vitro assay. Novel approaches for consistent evaluation of nanoparticle cytotoxicity are, hence, demanded. In this regard, new models like silicon nanotoxicology have emerged, which has combined the power of information technology (computational tools) and biostatistics tools to provide more accurate and various possible nanotoxicological pathways (Warheit, 2008; Raunio, 2011).

In vivo Assessment Methods of Nanotoxicology

The in vivo experimental approach involves evaluating the nanotoxicity in the animal models. Mainly, the in vivo studies evaluate the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of nanoparticles through assessing the biodistribution, cytotoxicity, metabolism, and excretion of rats or mice imposed with nanoparticles. In the biodistribution studies, the determination of various allocation pathways of the nanoparticles to the organ cell and tissue is carried out through radiolabel technique, which detects the presence or absence of the nanoparticles in living or dead animals (Kim et al., 2001). Another method for in vivo assessment is evaluating metabolism, excretion, and changes in serum chemistry profile at various time points after nanoparticle exposure (Li et al., 2001; Baker et al., 2008). The cytotoxicity level in cells imposed by nanoparticles can be also determined by histopathology of organ cells and tissues using an advanced technique such as microfluids and micro-electrochemistry (Zhu et al., 2008; Ewing et al., 1983).

General Evaluation Methods of Nanotoxicology

Several evaluation methods exist to find out the impact of nanoparticles toxic effects on the organism of living systems, including:

Colony Forming Efficiency (CFE) Assay or Plate Count Method

The biological toxic effect of the nanomaterials can be evaluated by counting the number of the cells prior and post-exposure of treatment with nanoparticles. It determines the capability of the surviving cells to produce colonies, and the counting process takes place using a plate reader, microscope, or naked-eye approach. The cells are diluted first prior to counting the cell numbers before and after exposure to the nanoparticle treatment, and the results are presented as a relative ratio. Reduction in the number of formed colonies reveals cytotoxic effects, whereas a decrease in colony size indicates cytostatic effects. The CFE assay method for counting the formed colonies may sometimes underestimate the actual number of living cells since bacteria can replicate in clumps or chains. Indeed, when using the microscopic approach, the number may be overestimated, because it takes into account both living and dying cells. Therefore, there is a controversial concern when determining the nanoparticles' biological effects through the microscopic approach. However, the antibacterial activity was evaluated using the plate count method for copper nanoparticles, zinc oxide nanoparticles, and silver nanoparticles (Kumar et al., 2017; Mohamed et al., 2017; Lv et al., 2018; Orou et al., 2018).

Optical Density (OD)

The safety and efficacy of antibacterial consist of nanomaterials can also be evaluated using ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy at 600 nm OD. The amount of scattered light from the cell determine the antibacterial activity of the nanoparticles. A reference solution consisting of a mixture of sterilized water plus bacterial solution has to be compared to the sample solution at OD600 carried out under similar incubation conditions to determine the bacterial growth rate under the exposure to nanoparticles. Various nanoparticles, such as metal complexes, Ag nanoparticles, and BaTiO3, and their effects on the bacterial growth rate of *E. coli* were studied using the OD technique (Qiao et al., 2019; Alshareef et al., 2017; Shah et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2018).

Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP) Cell Viability Assay

The living cells gain their energy in the form of ATP; therefore, measuring the ATP generated by bacteria incubated with nanoparticle solution helps in evaluating nanotoxicology. Almost all of the ATP is constant in the cell, which by default adds the advantage of more accuracy in terms of quantitative measurements of ATP amount changes, which reflect the estimation of the present living bacteria in the sample. The measurement of ATP is considered by the generated light from the conversion of D-luciferin to oxyluciferin via luciferase. This generated light is quantified by using luminometer and expressed as relative light unit (RLU)/mol of ATP, which has a linear relationship with the cell viability; hence, it is used for evaluating the nanotoxicology impact (Kumar et al., 2017). There are several other testing techniques used for evaluating the cytotoxicity of nanoparticles, such as the omics method, fluorescence microscope, solid-state nuclear magnetic resonance studies, oxidative stress, apoptosis, proliferation, and necrosis assays (Soares et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2011; Greish et al., 2012; Perovic, n.d.).

Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Using bionanomaterials as nanoparticles in the anticancer drug delivery mechanism continues to be a significant field of future nano-pharmaceutical studies. It is clear that bionanomaterials will bring many developments in drug delivery and will continue to draw interest from this field's researchers. Extensive study has been carried out concerning nanosized drug carriers based on natural and synthetic polymers. The use of biomaterial nanoparticles as drug carriers has been expanded to help in the delivery of antibiotics, anticancer medications, vaccines, and genomes. Not only do biomaterials with special characteristics such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, and nontoxicity have a vast range of applications, but they are also capable of being modified and functionalized to meet those criteria. These particles can be modified to have unique properties to assist them in successful drug delivery and release of drugs, such as improved bioavailability, active targeting of the site of administration by receptor recognition, and reduced recognition by the immune system. Several studies have been performed in the case of tumor targeting and anticancer drug delivery via nanocarriers from biomaterials. Development of large-scale manufacturing processes to prepare large quantities of nanoparticles is needed. These manufacturing methods ought to be cost-effective and time-efficient and allow the control of particle size and surface properties, directly influencing drug release. Despite developments made in research on drug carriers with polymeric

nanoparticles, in vivo testing is required to help resolve the challenges that have been faced in in vitro research and to expand the findings and knowledge that have been collected so far. It should really be noted that while these drug delivery systems show positive reports in in vitro studies, they may fail in vivo trials. In vivo and clinical trial research can help to much better understand and address the mechanisms for drug targeting and drug uptake. In conclusion, despite the major advances shown in recent findings, a lot of problems and obstacles must still be overcome and answered.

References

- Adabi, M., Naghibzadeh, M., Adabi, M., Zarrinfard, M. A., Esnaashari, S. S., Seifalian, A. M., Faridi-Majidi, R., Tanimowo Aiyelabegan, H., & Ghanbari, H. (2017). Biocompatibility and nanostructured materials: Applications in nanomedicine. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology*, 45(4), 833–842.
- Akhtar, M. J., Ahamed, M., Kumar, S., Siddiqui, H., Patil, G., Ashquin, M., & Ahmad, I. (2010). Nanotoxicity of pure silica mediated through oxidant generation rather than glutathione depletion in human lung epithelial cells. *Toxicology*, 276(2), 95–102.
- Al-Nuairi, A. G., Mosa, K. A., Mohammad, M. G., El-Keblawy, A., Soliman, S., & Alawadhi, H. (2020). Biosynthesis, characterization, and evaluation of the cytotoxic effects of biologically synthesized silver nanoparticles from cyperus conglomeratus root extracts on breast cancer cell line MCF-7. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 194(2), 560–569.
- Alshareef, A., Laird, K., & Cross, R. B. (2017). Shape-dependent antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles on Escherichia coli and Enterococcus faecium bacterium. *Applied Surface Science*, 424, 310–315.
- Al-Sheddi, E. S., Farshori, N. N., Al-Oqail, M. M., Al-Massarani, S. M., Saquib, Q., Wahab, R., Musarrat, J., Al-Khedhairy, A. A., & Siddiqui, M. A. (2018). Anticancer potential of green synthesized silver nanoparticles using extract of Nepeta deflersiana against human cervical cancer cells (HeLA). *Bioinorganic Chemistry and Applications*, 2018, 9390784.
- Amarnath, K., Mathew, N. L., Nellore, J., Siddarth, C. R., & Kumar, J. (2011). Facile synthesis of biocompatible gold nanoparticles from Vites vinefera and its cellular internalization against HBL-100 cells. *Cancer Nanotechnology*, 2(1–6), 121–132.
- Arumugham, T., Alagumuthu, M., Amimodu, R. G., Munusamy, S., & Iyer, S. K. (2020). A sustainable synthesis of green carbon quantum dot (CQD) from Catharanthus roseus (white flowering plant) leaves and investigation of its dual fluorescence responsive behavior in multi-ion detection and biological applications. *Sustainable Materials and Technologies*, 23, e00138.
- Ashokkumar, T., Prabhu, D., Geetha, R., Govindaraju, K., Manikandan, R., Arulvasu, C., & Singaravelu, G. (2014). Apoptosis in liver cancer (HepG2) cells induced by functionalized gold nanoparticles. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 123*, 549–556.
- Aswini, R., Murugesan, S., & Kannan, K. (2020). Bio-engineered TiO2 nanoparticles using Ledebouria revoluta extract: Larvicidal, histopathological, antibacterial and anticancer activity. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 1–1.
- Aygun, A., Gülbagca, F., Ozer, L. Y., Ustaoglu, B., Altunoglu, Y. C., Baloglu, M. C., Atalar, M. N., Alma, M. H., & Sen, F. (2020). Biogenic platinum nanoparticles using black cumin seed and their potential usage as antimicrobial and anticancer agent. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 179, 112961.
- Bahadar, H., Maqbool, F., Niaz, K., & Abdollahi, M. (2016). Toxicity of nanoparticles and an overview of current experimental models. *Iranian Biomedical Journal*, 20(1), 1.

- Bailly, A. L., Correard, F., Popov, A., Tselikov, G., Chaspoul, F., Appay, R., Al-Kattan, A., Kabashin, A. V., Braguer, D., & Esteve, M. A. (2019). In vivo evaluation of safety, biodistribution and pharmacokinetics of laser-synthesized gold nanoparticles. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–2.
- Baker, G. L., Gupta, A., Clark, M. L., Valenzuela, B. R., Staska, L. M., Harbo, S. J., Pierce, J. T., & Dill, J. A. (2008). Inhalation toxicity and lung toxicokinetics of C60 fullerene nanoparticles and microparticles. *Toxicological Sciences*, 101(1), 122–131.
- Balasubramani, G., Ramkumar, R., Krishnaveni, N., Pazhanimuthu, A., Natarajan, T., Sowmiya, R., & Perumal, P. (2015). Structural characterization, antioxidant and anticancer properties of gold nanoparticles synthesized from leaf extract (decoction) of Antigonon leptopus Hook. & Arn. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 30, 83–89.
- Banu, H., Renuka, N., Faheem, S. M., Ismail, R., Singh, V., Saadatmand, Z., Khan, S. S., Narayanan, K., Raheem, A., Premkumar, K., & Vasanthakumar, G. (2018). Gold and silver nanoparticles biomimetically synthesized using date palm pollen extract-induce apoptosis and regulate p53 and Bcl-2 expression in human breast adenocarcinoma cells. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 186(1), 122–134.
- Barkat, M. A., Das, S. S., Beg, S., & Ahmad, F. J. (2020). Nanotechnology-based phytotherapeutics: Current status and challenges. In *Nanophytomedicine* (pp. 1–17). Springer.
- Bastogne, T. (2017). Quality-by-design of nanopharmaceuticals–a state of the art. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 13(7), 2151–2157.
- Bhatt, H., Ghosh, B., & Biswas, S. (2020). Cell-penetrating peptide and α-tocopherol-conjugated poly (amidoamine) dendrimers for improved delivery and anticancer activity of loaded paclitaxel. ACS Applied Bio Materials, 3(5), 3157–3169.
- Bleeker, E. A., de Jong, W. H., Geertsma, R. E., Groenewold, M., Heugens, E. H., Koers-Jacquemijns, M., van de Meent, D., Popma, J. R., Rietveld, A. G., Wijnhoven, S. W., & Cassee, F. R. (2013). Considerations on the EU definition of a nanomaterial: Science to support policy making. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 65(1), 119–125.
- Botha, T. L., Elemike, E. E., Horn, S., Onwudiwe, D. C., Giesy, J. P., & Wepener, V. (2019). Cytotoxicity of Ag, Au and Ag-Au bimetallic nanoparticles prepared using golden rod (Solidago canadensis) plant extract. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–8.
- Boverhof, D. R., Bramante, C. M., Butala, J. H., Clancy, S. F., Lafranconi, M., West, J., & Gordon, S. C. (2015). Comparative assessment of nanomaterial definitions and safety evaluation considerations. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 73(1), 137–150.
- Bustamante, J. M. (n.d.). Lung cellular interactions with engineered nanomaterials (Doctoral dissertation, University of California, Davis).
- Carneiro, B. A., & El-Deiry, W. S. (2020). Targeting apoptosis in cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews*. *Clinical Oncology*, 17(7), 395-417.
- Chen, H. T., Neerman, M. F., Parrish, A. R., & Simanek, E. E. (2004). Cytotoxicity, hemolysis, and acute in vivo toxicity of dendrimers based on melamine, candidate vehicles for drug delivery. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 126(32), 10044–10048.
- Chen, T., Zhao, T., Wei, D., Wei, Y., Li, Y., & Zhang, H. (2013). Core–shell nanocarriers with ZnO quantum dots-conjugated Au nanoparticle for tumor-targeted drug delivery. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, *92*(2), 1124–1132.
- Chen, T., Yan, J., & Li, Y. (2014). Genotoxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles. *Journal of Food* and Drug Analysis, 22(1), 95–104.
- Cirillo, G., Vittorio, O., Hampel, S., Iemma, F., Parchi, P., Cecchini, M., Puoci, F., & Picci, N. (2013). Quercetin nanocomposite as novel anticancer therapeutic: Improved efficiency and reduced toxicity. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 49(3), 359–365.
- Cittrarasu, V., Balasubramanian, B., Durairaj, K., et al. (2019). Fabrication and characterization of noble crystalline silver nanoparticles from *Ceropegia bulbosa* Roxb root tuber extract for antibacterial, larvicidal and histopathology applications. *Nanoscience and Nanotechnology Letters*, 11, 1–11.

- Commission Recommendation. (2011). Commission Recommendation of 18 October 2011 on the definition of nanomaterial 2011/696/EU. Official Journal of the European Union, (275), 38–40.
- Das, R., Leo, B. F., & Murphy, F. (2018). The toxic truth about carbon nanotubes in water purification: A perspective view. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 13(1), 183.
- De Jong, W. H., Hagens, W. I., Krystek, P., Burger, M. C., Sips, A. J., & Geertsma, R. E. (2008). Particle size-dependent organ distribution of gold nanoparticles after intravenous administration. *Biomaterials*, 29(12), 1912–1919.
- Dhanavel, S., Revathy, T. A., Sivaranjani, T., Sivakumar, K., Palani, P., Narayanan, V., & Stephen, A. (2020). 5-Fluorouracil and curcumin co-encapsulated chitosan/reduced graphene oxide nanocomposites against human colon cancer cell lines. *Polymer Bulletin*, 77(1), 213–233.
- Divakaran, D., Lakkakula, J. R., Thakur, M., Kumawat, M. K., & Srivastava, R. (2019). Dragon fruit extract capped gold nanoparticles: Synthesis and their differential cytotoxicity effect on breast cancer cells. *Materials Letters*, 236, 498–502.
- Donaldson, K., Aitken, R., Tran, L., Stone, V., Duffin, R., Forrest, G., & Alexander, A. (2006). Carbon nanotubes: A review of their properties in relation to pulmonary toxicology and workplace safety. *Toxicological Sciences*, 92(1), 5–22.
- Dong, X., Liu, L., Zhu, D., Zhang, H., & Leng, X. (2015). Transactivator of transcription (TAT) peptide–chitosan functionalized multiwalled carbon nanotubes as a potential drug delivery vehicle for cancer therapy. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 10, 3829.
- Durymanov, M., Permyakova, A., & Reineke, J. (2020). Pre-treatment with PLGA/silibinin nanoparticles mitigates dacarbazine-induced hepatotoxicity. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 8, 495.
- Dykman, L. A., & Khlebtsov, N. G. (2011). Gold nanoparticles in biology and medicine: Recent advances and prospects. Acta Naturae (англоязычная версия), 3(2(9)), 34–55.
- Ekstrand-Hammarström, B., Akfur, C. M., Andersson, P. O., Lejon, C., Österlund, L., & Bucht, A. (2012). Human primary bronchial epithelial cells respond differently to titanium dioxide nanoparticles than the lung epithelial cell lines A549 and BEAS-2B. *Nanotoxicology*, 6(6), 623–634.
- El-Kassas, H. Y., & El-Sheekh, M. M. (2014). Cytotoxic activity of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles with an extract of the red seaweed Corallina officinalis on the MCF-7 human breast cancer cell line. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention, 15(10), 4311–4317.
- Emam, A. N., Loutfy, S. A., Mostafa, A. A., Awad, H., & Mohamed, M. B. (2017). Cyto-toxicity, biocompatibility and cellular response of carbon dots–plasmonic based nano-hybrids for bioimaging. *RSC Advances*, 7(38), 23502–23514.
- ICG guideline Q8 (R2) on pharmaceutical development. [Internet]. European Medicines Agency 2017. [cited 16 August 2020]. Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guid-ances/ucm073507.pdf
- Ewing, A. G., Bigelow, J. C., & Wightman, R. M. (1983). Direct in vivo monitoring of dopamine released from two striatal compartments in the rat. *Science*, 221(4606), 169–171.
- Facchi, S. P., Scariot, D. B., Bueno, P. V., Souza, P. R., Figueiredo, L. C., Follmann, H. D., Nunes, C. S., Monteiro, J. P., Bonafé, E. G., Nakamura, C. V., & Muniz, E. C. (2016). Preparation and cytotoxicity of N-modified chitosan nanoparticles applied in curcumin delivery. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 87, 237–245.
- Fadeel, B., Feliu, N., Vogt, C., Abdelmonem, A. M., & Parak, W. J. (2013). Bridge over troubled waters: Understanding the synthetic and biological identities of engineered nanomaterials. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology*, 5(2), 111–129.
- Gaspar, R. S., Florindo, H. F., Silva, L. C., Videira, M. A., Corvo, M. L., Martins, B. F., & Silva-Lima, B. (2014). Regulatory aspects of oncologicals: Nanosystems main challenges. In *Nano*oncologicals (pp. 425–452). Springer.
- Geetha, R., Ashokkumar, T., Tamilselvan, S., Govindaraju, K., Sadiq, M., & Singaravelu, G. (2013). Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles and their anticancer activity. *Cancer Nanotechnology*, 4(4–5), 91–98.

- Ghaffari, M., Dehghan, G., Baradaran, B., Zarebkohan, A., Mansoori, B., Soleymani, J., Dolatabadi, J. E., & Hamblin, M. R. (2020). Co-delivery of curcumin and Bcl-2 siRNA by PAMAM dendrimers for enhancement of the therapeutic efficacy in HeLa cancer cells. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 188, 110762.
- Godara, S., Lather, V., Kirthanashri, S. V., Awasthi, R., & Pandita, D. (2020). Lipid-PLGA hybrid nanoparticles of paclitaxel: Preparation, characterization, in vitro and in vivo evaluation. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 109, 110576.
- Gopinath, V., Priyadarshini, S., MubarakAli, D., Loke, M. F., Thajuddin, N., Alharbi, N. S., Yadavalli, T., Alagiri, M., & Vadivelu, J. (2019). Anti-Helicobacter pylori, cytotoxicity and catalytic activity of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles: Multifaceted application. *Arabian Journal* of Chemistry, 12(1), 33–40.
- Gracia, E., Mancini, A., Colapietro, A., Mateo, C., Gracia, I., Festuccia, C., & Carmona, M. (2019). Impregnation of curcumin into a biodegradable (Poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid, PLGA) support, to transfer its well known *In Vitro* effect to an *In Vivo* prostate cancer model. *Nutrients*, 11(10), 2312.
- Grebinyk, A., Prylutska, S., Buchelnikov, A., Tverdokhleb, N., Grebinyk, S., Evstigneev, M., Matyshevska, O., Cherepanov, V., Prylutskyy, Y., Yashchuk, V., & Naumovets, A. (2019). C60 fullerene as an effective nanoplatform of alkaloid Berberine delivery into leukemic cells. *Pharmaceutics.*, 11(11), 586.
- Greish, K., Thiagarajan, G., & Ghandehari, H. (2012). In vivo methods of nanotoxicology. In Nanotoxicity (pp. 235–253). Humana Press.
- Guidance, D. (2011). Guidance for industry considering whether an FDA-regulated product involves the application of nanotechnology. *Biotechnology Law Report.*, 30(5), 613–616.
- Gupta, R., & Xie, H. (2018). Nanoparticles in daily life: Applications, toxicity and regulations. Journal of Environmental Pathology, Toxicology and Oncology, 37(3), 209–230.
- Gupta, U., Sharma, S., Khan, I., Gothwal, A., Sharma, A. K., Singh, Y., Chourasia, M. K., & Kumar, V. (2017). Enhanced apoptotic and anticancer potential of paclitaxel loaded biodegradable nanoparticles based on chitosan. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 98, 810–819.
- Gurunathan, S., Jeong, J. K., Han, J. W., Zhang, X. F., Park, J. H., & Kim, J. H. (2015). Multidimensional effects of biologically synthesized silver nanoparticles in Helicobacter pylori, Helicobacter felis, and human lung (L132) and lung carcinoma A549 cells. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 10(1), 1–7.
- Hariharan, D., Thangamuniyandi, P., Christy, A. J., Vasantharaja, R., Selvakumar, P., Sagadevan, S., Pugazhendhi, A., & Nehru, L. C. (2020). Enhanced photocatalysis and anticancer activity of green hydrothermal synthesized Ag@ TiO2 nanoparticles. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 202,* 111636.
- He, C., Yin, L., Tang, C., & Yin, C. (2012). Size-dependent absorption mechanism of polymeric nanoparticles for oral delivery of protein drugs. *Biomaterials*, 33(33), 8569–8578.
- Hodge, G. A., Bowman, D., & Maynard, A. (2010). International handbook on regulating nanotechnologies. Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd..
- Hoshyar, N., Gray, S., Han, H., & Bao, G. (2016). The effect of nanoparticle size on in vivo pharmacokinetics and cellular interaction. *Nanomedicine*, 11(6), 673–692.
- Housman, G., Byler, S., Heerboth, S., Lapinska, K., Longacre, M., Snyder, N., & Sarkar, S. (2014). Drug resistance in cancer: An overview. *Cancers*, 6(3), 1769–1792.

https://www.who.int/health-topics/cancer#tab=tab_1

- Hu, Z., Tang, Y., Yue, Z., Zheng, W., & Xiong, Z. (2019). The facile synthesis of copper oxide quantum dots on chitosan with assistance of phyto-angelica for enhancing the human osteoblast activity to the application of osteoporosis. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 191, 6–12.
- Huang, C. Y., Ju, D. T., Chang, C. F., Reddy, P. M., & Velmurugan, B. K. (2017). A review on the effects of current chemotherapy drugs and natural agents in treating non–small cell lung cancer. *Biomedicine*, 7(4), 23.

- Hussain, S., Thomassen, L. C., Ferecatu, I., Borot, M. C., Andreau, K., Martens, J. A., Fleury, J., Baeza-Squiban, A., Marano, F., & Boland, S. (2010). Carbon black and titanium dioxide nanoparticles elicit distinct apoptotic pathways in bronchial epithelial cells. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 7(1), 1–7.
- Hussain, S. M., Warheit, D. B., Ng, S. P., Comfort, K. K., Grabinski, C. M., & Braydich-Stolle, L. K. (2015). At the crossroads of nanotoxicology in vitro: Past achievements and current challenges. *Toxicological Sciences*, 147(1), 5–16.
- Jain, N. K., Tare, M. S., Mishra, V., & Tripathi, P. K. (2015). The development, characterization and in vivo anti-ovarian cancer activity of poly (propylene imine)(PPI)-antibody conjugates containing encapsulated paclitaxel. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 11(1), 207–218.
- Javanbakht, S., & Namazi, H. (2018). Doxorubicin loaded carboxymethyl cellulose/graphene quantum dot nanocomposite hydrogel films as a potential anticancer drug delivery system. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 87, 50–59.
- Jeyaraj, M., Arun, R., Sathishkumar, G., MubarakAli, D., Rajesh, M., Sivanandhan, G., Kapildev, G., Manickavasagam, M., Thajuddin, N., & Ganapathi, A. (2014). An evidence on G2/M arrest, DNA damage and caspase mediated apoptotic effect of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles on human cervical carcinoma cells (HeLa). *Materials Research Bulletin*, 52, 15–24.
- Jeyarani, S., Vinita, N. M., Puja, P., Senthamilselvi, S., Devan, U., Velangani, A. J., Biruntha, M., Pugazhendhi, A., & Kumar, P. (2020). Biomimetic gold nanoparticles for its cytotoxicity and biocompatibility evidenced by fluorescence-based assays in cancer (MDA-MB-231) and non-cancerous (HEK-293) cells. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 202, 111715.
- Jogi, H., Maheshwari, R., Raval, N., Kuche, K., Tambe, V., Mak, K. K., Pichika, M. R., & Tekade, R. K. (2018). Carbon nanotubes in the delivery of anticancer herbal drugs. *Nanomedicine*, 13(10), 1187–1220.
- Juillerat-Jeanneret, L., Dusinska, M., Fjellsbø, L. M., Collins, A. R., Handy, R. D., Riediker, M., & NanoTEST Consortium. (2015). Biological impact assessment of nanomaterial used in nanomedicine. Introduction to the NanoTEST project. *Nanotoxicology*, 9(sup1), 5–12.
- Kamala Priya, M. R., & Iyer, P. R. (2020). Antiproliferative effects on tumor cells of the synthesized gold nanoparticles against Hep2 liver cancer cell line. *Egyptian Liver Journal.*, 10(1), 1–2.
- Karlsson, H. L. (2010). The comet assay in nanotoxicology research. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 398(2), 651–666.
- Karn, B., Kuiken, T., & Otto, M. (2009). Nanotechnology and in situ remediation: A review of the benefits and potential risks. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 117(12), 1813–1831.
- Karuppaiya, P., Satheeshkumar, E., Chao, W. T., Kao, L. Y., Chen, E. C., & Tsay, H. S. (2013). Anti-metastatic activity of biologically synthesized gold nanoparticles on human fibrosarcoma cell line HT-1080. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 110, 163–170.
- Keck, C. M., & Müller, R. H. (2013). Nanotoxicological classification system (NCS)–a guide for the risk-benefit assessment of nanoparticulate drug delivery systems. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 84(3), 445–448.
- Keck, C. M., Jansch, M., & Müller, R. H. (2013). Protein adsorption patterns and analysis on IV nanoemulsions—the key factor determining the organ distribution. *Pharmaceutics.*, 5(1), 36–68.
- Khan, F. A., Lammari, N., Muhammad Siar, A. S., Alkhater, K. M., Asiri, S., Akhtar, S., Almansour, I., Alamoudi, W., Haroun, W., Louaer, W., & Meniai, A. H. (2020). Quantum dots encapsulated with curcumin inhibit the growth of colon cancer, breast cancer and bacterial cells. *Nanomedicine*, 15(10), 969–980.
- Kim, S. C., Kim, D. W., Shim, Y. H., Bang, J. S., Oh, H. S., Kim, S. W., & Seo, M. H. (2001). In vivo evaluation of polymeric micellar paclitaxel formulation: Toxicity and efficacy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 72(1–3), 191–202.

- Kose, O., Tomatis, M., Leclerc, L., Belblidia, N. B., Hochepied, J. F., Turci, F., Pourchez, J., & Forest, V. (2020). Impact of the physicochemical features of TiO2 nanoparticles on their in vitro toxicity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 33, 2324–2337.
- Krishnaraj, C., Muthukumaran, P., Ramachandran, R., Balakumaran, M. D., & Kalaichelvan, P. T. (2014). Acalypha indica Linn: Biogenic synthesis of silver and gold nanoparticles and their cytotoxic effects against MDA-MB-231, human breast cancer cells. *Biotechnology Reports.*, 4, 42–49.
- Kroll, A., Pillukat, M. H., Hahn, D., & Schnekenburger, J. (2009). Current in vitro methods in nanoparticle risk assessment: Limitations and challenges. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics* and Biopharmaceutics, 72(2), 370–377.
- Kumar, B., Smita, K., Cumbal, L., Camacho, J., Hernández-Gallegos, E., de Guadalupe, C.-L. M., Grijalva, M., & Andrade, K. (2016). One pot phytosynthesis of gold nanoparticles using Genipa americana fruit extract and its biological applications. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 62, 725–731.
- Kumar, V., Sharma, N., & Maitra, S. S. (2017). In vitro and in vivo toxicity assessment of nanoparticles. *International Nano Letters.*, 7(4), 243–256.
- Kumar, N., Salar, R. K., Prasad, M., & Ranjan, K. (2018). Synthesis, characterization and anticancer activity of vincristine loaded folic acid-chitosan conjugated nanoparticles on NCI-H460 non-small cell lung cancer cell line. *Egyptian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences.*, 5(1), 87–99.
- Kumari, A., Guliani, A., Shukla, A. K., Kumar, S., & Acharya, A. (2020). Green surfactant based synthesis of curcumin loaded poly lactic-co-glycolic acid nanoparticles with enhanced solubility, photo-stability and anti-biofilm activity. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 59, 101884.
- Kuppusamy, P., Ichwan, S. J., Al-Zikri, P. N., Suriyah, W. H., Soundharrajan, I., Govindan, N., Maniam, G. P., & Yusoff, M. M. (2016). In vitro anticancer activity of Au, Ag nanoparticles synthesized using Commelina nudiflora L. aqueous extract against HCT-116 colon cancer cells. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 173(2), 297–305.
- Lahiani, M. H., Eassa, S., Parnell, C., Nima, Z., Ghosh, A., Biris, A. S., & Khodakovskaya, M. V. (2016). Carbon nanotubes as carriers of Panax ginseng metabolites and enhancers of ginsenosides Rb1 and Rg1 anti-cancer activity. *Nanotechnology*, 28(1), 015101.
- Li, Y. P., Pei, Y. Y., Zhang, X. Y., Gu, Z. H., Zhou, Z. H., Yuan, W. F., Zhou, J. J., Zhu, J. H., & Gao, X. J. (2001). PEGylated PLGA nanoparticles as protein carriers: Synthesis, preparation and biodistribution in rats. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 71(2), 203–211.
- Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhu, C., Guo, T., Xia, Q., Hou, X., Liu, W., & Feng, N. (2020a). Folic acid modified lipid-bilayer coated mesoporous silica nanoparticles co-loading paclitaxel and tanshinone IIA for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 27, 119576.
- Li, R., Lin, Z., Zhang, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Lyu, Y., Li, X., Zhou, C., Wu, G., Ao, N., & Li, L. (2020b). Injectable and in situ-formable thiolated chitosan-coated liposomal hydrogels as curcumin carriers for prevention of in vivo breast cancer recurrence. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 12(15), 17936–17948.
- Lichota, A., & Gwozdzinski, K. (2018). Anticancer activity of natural compounds from plant and marine environment. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(11), 3533.
- Lin, S., Zhao, Y., Xia, T., Meng, H., Ji, Z., Liu, R., George, S., Xiong, S., Wang, X., Zhang, H., & Pokhrel, S. (2011). High content screening in zebrafish speeds up hazard ranking of transition metal oxide nanoparticles. ACS Nano, 5(9), 7284–7295.
- Liu, Z., Chen, K., Davis, C., Sherlock, S., Cao, Q., Chen, X., & Dai, H. (2008). Drug delivery with carbon nanotubes for in vivo cancer treatment. *Cancer Research*, *68*(16), 6652–6660.
- Liu, J., Rojas-Andrade, M. D., Chata, G., Peng, Y., Roseman, G., Lu, J. E., Millhauser, G. L., Saltikov, C., & Chen, S. (2018). Photo-enhanced antibacterial activity of ZnO/graphene quantum dot nanocomposites. *Nanoscale*, 10(1), 158–166.

- Lokina, S., Suresh, R., Giribabu, K., Stephen, A., Sundaram, R. L., & Narayanan, V. (2014). Spectroscopic investigations, antimicrobial, and cytotoxic activity of green synthesized gold nanoparticles. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy.*, 129, 484–490.
- Lövestam, G., Rauscher, H., Roebben, G., Klüttgen, B. S., Gibson, N., Putaud, J. P., & Stamm, H. (2010). Considerations on a definition of nanomaterial for regulatory purposes. *Joint Research Centre (JRC) Reference Reports.*, 80, 00–41.
- Lv, Q., Zhang, B., Xing, X., Zhao, Y., Cai, R., Wang, W., & Gu, Q. (2018). Biosynthesis of copper nanoparticles using Shewanella loihica PV-4 with antibacterial activity: Novel approach and mechanisms investigation. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 347, 141–149.
- Madani, S. Y., Mandel, A., & Seifalian, A. M. (2013). A concise review of carbon nanotube's toxicology. Nano Reviews., 4(1), 21521.
- Maheswari, P., Harish, S., Navaneethan, M., Muthamizhchelvan, C., Ponnusamy, S., & Hayakawa, Y. (2020). Bio-modified TiO2 nanoparticles with Withania somnifera, Eclipta prostrata and Glycyrrhiza glabra for anticancer and antibacterial applications. *Materials Science and Engineering: C, 108*, 110457.
- Maksoudian, C., Soenen, S. J., Susumu, K., Oh, E., Medintz, I. L., & Manshian, B. B. (2020). A multiparametric evaluation of quantum dot size and surface-grafted peptide density on cellular uptake and cytotoxicity. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 31(4), 1077–1087.
- Malathi, S., Pavithra, P. S., Sridevi, S., & Verma, R. S. (2020). Fabrication of nanopatterned PLGA films of curcumin and TPGS for skin cancer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 578, 119100.
- Manju, S., Malaikozhundan, B., Vijayakumar, S., Shanthi, S., Jaishabanu, A., Ekambaram, P., & Vaseeharan, B. (2016). Antibacterial, antibiofilm and cytotoxic effects of Nigella sativa essential oil coated gold nanoparticles. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *91*, 129–135.
- Mata, R., Nakkala, J. R., & Sadras, S. R. (2015). Biogenic silver nanoparticles from Abutilon indicum: Their antioxidant, antibacterial and cytotoxic effects in vitro. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 128, 276–286.*
- Mata, R., Nakkala, J. R., & Sadras, S. R. (2016). Polyphenol stabilized colloidal gold nanoparticles from Abutilon indicum leaf extract induce apoptosis in HT-29 colon cancer cells. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 143, 499–510.
- Menon, S., Shrudhi Devi, K. S., Santhiya, R., Rajeshkumar, S., & Kumar, V. (2018). Selenium nanoparticles: A potent chemotherapeutic agent and an elucidation of its mechanism. *Colloids* and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 170, 280–292.
- Mir, R. H., Pottoo, F. H., Sawhney, G., Masoodi, M. H., & Bhat, Z. A. (2020). Nanophytomedicine ethical issues, regulatory aspects, and challenges. In *Nanophytomedicine* (pp. 173–192). Springer.
- Mishra, P., Ray, S., Sinha, S., Das, B., Khan, M. I., Behera, S. K., Yun, S. I., Tripathy, S. K., & Mishra, A. (2016). Facile bio-synthesis of gold nanoparticles by using extract of Hibiscus sabdariffa and evaluation of its cytotoxicity against U87 glioblastoma cells under hyperglycemic condition. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 105, 264–272.
- Moghimi, S. M., Hunter, A. C., & Murray, J. C. (2001). Long-circulating and target-specific nanoparticles: Theory to practice. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 53(2), 283–318.
- Mohamed, M. M., Fouad, S. A., Elshoky, H. A., Mohammed, G. M., & Salaheldin, T. A. (2017). Antibacterial effect of gold nanoparticles against Corynebacterium pseudotuberculosis. *International Journal of Veterinary Science and Medicine.*, 5(1), 23–29.
- Mohan, U. P., Sriram, B., Panneerselvam, T., Devaraj, S., MubarakAli, D., Parasuraman, P., Palanisamy, P., Premanand, A., Arunachalam, S., & Kunjiappan, S. (2020). Utilization of plantderived Myricetin molecule coupled with ultrasound for the synthesis of gold nanoparticles against breast cancer. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 393, 1963–1976.
- Mohanta, D., Patnaik, S., Sood, S., & Das, N. (2019). Carbon nanotubes: Evaluation of toxicity at biointerfaces. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Analysis.*, 9(5), 293–300.

- Montané, X., Kowalczyk, O., Reig-Vano, B., Bajek, A., Roszkowski, K., Tomczyk, R., Pawliszak, W., Giamberini, M., Mocek-Płóciniak, A., & Tylkowski, B. (2020). Current perspectives of the applications of polyphenols and flavonoids in cancer therapy. *Molecules*, 25(15), 3342.
- Montazerabadi, A., Beik, J., Irajirad, R., Attaran, N., Khaledi, S., Ghaznavi, H., & Shakeri-Zadeh, A. (2019). Folate-modified and curcumin-loaded dendritic magnetite nanocarriers for the targeted thermo-chemotherapy of cancer cells. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology.*, 47(1), 330–340.
- Murphy, F. A., Poland, C. A., Duffin, R., Al-Jamal, K. T., Ali-Boucetta, H., Nunes, A., Byrne, F., Prina-Mello, A., Volkov, Y., Li, S., & Mather, S. J. (2011). Length-dependent retention of carbon nanotubes in the pleural space of mice initiates sustained inflammation and progressive fibrosis on the parietal pleura. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *178*(6), 2587–2600.
- Nagajyothi, P. C., Muthuraman, P., Sreekanth, T. V., Kim, D. H., & Shim, J. (2017). Green synthesis: In-vitro anticancer activity of copper oxide nanoparticles against human cervical carcinoma cells. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, 10(2), 215–225.
- Nagalingam, M., Kalpana, V. N., & Panneerselvam, A. (2018). Biosynthesis, characterization, and evaluation of bioactivities of leaf extract-mediated biocompatible gold nanoparticles from Alternanthera bettzickiana. *Biotechnology Reports.*, 19, e00268.
- Orou, S. F., Hang, K. J., Thien, M. T., Ying, Y. L., Diem, N. D., Goh, B. H., Pung, S. Y., & Pung, Y. F. (2018). Antibacterial activity by ZnO nanorods and ZnO nanodisks: A model used to illustrate "Nanotoxicity Threshold". *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, 62, 333–340.
- Padinjarathil, H., Joseph, M. M., Unnikrishnan, B. S., Preethi, G. U., Shiji, R., Archana, M. G., Maya, S., Syama, H. P., & Sreelekha, T. T. (2018). Galactomannan endowed biogenic silver nanoparticles exposed enhanced cancer cytotoxicity with excellent biocompatibility. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 118, 1174–1182.
- Park, J. H., Dehaini, D., Zhou, J., Holay, M., Fang, R. H., & Zhang, L. (2020). Biomimetic nanoparticle technology for cardiovascular disease detection and treatment. *Nanoscale Horizons.*, 5(1), 25–42.
- Parveen, A., & Rao, S. (2015). Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of biosynthesized gold and silver nanoparticles on human cancer cell lines. *Journal of Cluster Science*, 26(3), 775–788.
- Patel, H. K., Gajbhiye, V., Kesharwani, P., & Jain, N. K. (2016). Ligand anchored poly (propyleneimine) dendrimers for brain targeting: Comparative in vitro and in vivo assessment. *Journal* of Colloid and Interface Science, 482, 142–150.
- Patil, M. P., Ngabire, D., Thi, H. H., Kim, M. D., & Kim, G. D. (2017). Eco-friendly synthesis of gold nanoparticles and evaluation of their cytotoxic activity on cancer cells. *Journal of Cluster Science*, 28(1), 119–132.
- Perez de la Ossa, D. *Quality aspects of nano-based medicines*. Presentation presented at, 2014; SME Workshop: Focus on quality for medicines containing chemical entities London.
- Perovic, S. (n.d.). Schrödinger's and Everett's interpretations of quantum mechanics and Bohr's experimental critique.
- Perumal, B., Balamuralikrishnan, B., Durairaj, K., Mahendran, D., Hesam, K., Sungkwon, P., Shreeshivadasan, C., Chew, T. L., Viji, M., & Arumugam, M. (2020). Phyco-synthesis of silver nanoparticles mediated from marine algae *Sargassum myriocystum* and its potential biological and environmental applications. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 11, 5255–5271.
- Powers, K. W., Palazuelos, M., Moudgil, B. M., & Roberts, S. M. (2007). Characterization of the size, shape, and state of dispersion of nanoparticles for toxicological studies. *Nanotoxicology*, *1*(1), 42–51.
- Prabhuraj, R. S., Bomb, K., Srivastava, R., & Bandyopadhyaya, R. (2020a). Dual drug delivery of curcumin and niclosamide using PLGA nanoparticles for improved therapeutic effect on breast cancer cells. *Journal of Polymer Research*, 27(5), 1–13.
- Prabhuraj, R. S., Kartik, B., Rohit, S., & Rajdip, B. (2020b). Selection of superior targeting ligands using PEGylated PLGA nanoparticles for delivery of curcumin in the treatment of triplenegative breast cancer cells. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 57, 101722.

- Priyadharshini, R. I., Prasannaraj, G., Geetha, N., & Venkatachalam, P. (2014). Microwavemediated extracellular synthesis of metallic silver and zinc oxide nanoparticles using macroalgae (Gracilaria edulis) extracts and its anticancer activity against human PC3 cell lines. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 174(8), 2777–2790.
- Pumera, M., & Miyahara, Y. (2009). What amount of metallic impurities in carbon nanotubes is small enough not to dominate their redox properties? *Nanoscale*, 1(2), 260–265.
- Qiao, Z., Yao, Y., Song, S., Yin, M., & Luo, J. (2019). Silver nanoparticles with pH induced surface charge switchable properties for antibacterial and antibiofilm applications. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 7(5), 830–840.
- Rahmani, R., Gharanfoli, M., Gholamin, M., Darroudi, M., Chamani, J., Sadri, K., & Hashemzadeh, A. (2020). Plant-mediated synthesis of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) using Aloe vera and flaxseed extracts and evaluation of their cellular toxicities. *Ceramics International*, 46(3), 3051–3058.
- Rajakumar, G., Gomathi, T., Thiruvengadam, M., Rajeswari, V. D., Kalpana, V. N., & Chung, I. M. (2017). Evaluation of anti-cholinesterase, antibacterial and cytotoxic activities of green synthesized silver nanoparticles using from Millettia pinnata flower extract. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 103, 123–128.
- Ramalingam, V., Revathidevi, S., Shanmuganayagam, T., Muthulakshmi, L., & Rajaram, R. (2016). Biogenic gold nanoparticles induce cell cycle arrest through oxidative stress and sensitize mitochondrial membranes in A549 lung cancer cells. *RSC Advances*, 6(25), 20598–20608.
- Ramkumar, V. S., Pugazhendhi, A., Prakash, S., Ahila, N. K., Vinoj, G., Selvam, S., Kumar, G., Kannapiran, E., & Rajendran, R. B. (2017). Synthesis of platinum nanoparticles using seaweed Padina gymnospora and their catalytic activity as PVP/PtNPs nanocomposite towards biological applications. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 92, 479–490.
- Raunio, H. (2011). In silico toxicology-non-testing methods. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 2, 33.
- Rehana, D., Mahendiran, D., Kumar, R. S., & Rahiman, A. K. (2017). Evaluation of antioxidant and anticancer activity of copper oxide nanoparticles synthesized using medicinally important plant extracts. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 89, 1067–1077.
- Riediker, M., Zink, D., Kreyling, W., Oberdörster, G., Elder, A., Graham, U., Lynch, I., Duschl, A., Ichihara, G., Ichihara, S., & Kobayashi, T. (2019). Particle toxicology and health-where are we? *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 16(1), 19.
- Riley, B. S., & Li, X. (2011). Quality by design and process analytical technology for sterile products—where are we now? AAPS PharmSciTech, 12(1), 114–118.
- Rompicharla, S. V., Kumari, P., Bhatt, H., Ghosh, B., & Biswas, S. (2019). Biotin functionalized PEGylated poly (amidoamine) dendrimer conjugate for active targeting of paclitaxel in cancer. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 557, 329–341.
- Rosarin, F. S., Arulmozhi, V., Nagarajan, S., & Mirunalini, S. (2013). Antiproliferative effect of silver nanoparticles synthesized using amla on Hep2 cell line. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 6(1), 1.
- Ryter, S. W., Kim, H. P., Hoetzel, A., Park, J. W., Nakahira, K., Wang, X., & Choi, A. M. (2007). Mechanisms of cell death in oxidative stress. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 9(1), 49–89.
- Saber, M. M., Mirtajani, S. B., & Karimzadeh, K. (2018). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Trapa natans extract and their anticancer activity against A431 human skin cancer cells. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, 47, 375–379.
- Şahin, B., Aygün, A., Gündüz, H., Şahin, K., Demir, E., Akocak, S., & Şen, F. (2018). Cytotoxic effects of platinum nanoparticles obtained from pomegranate extract by the green synthesis method on the MCF-7 cell line. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 163*, 119–124.
- Saifi, M. A., Khurana, A., & Godugu, C. (2018). Nanotoxicology: Toxicity and risk assessment of nanomaterials. In *Nanomaterials in chromatography* (pp. 437–465). Elsevier.
- Sainz, V., Conniot, J., Matos, A. I., Peres, C., Zupanöiö, E., Moura, L., Silva, L. C., Florindo, H. F., & Gaspar, R. S. (2015). Regulatory aspects on nanomedicines. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 468(3), 504–510.

- Salatin, S., Maleki Dizaj, S., & Yari, K. A. (2015). Effect of the surface modification, size, and shape on cellular uptake of nanoparticles. *Cell Biology International*, 39(8), 881–890.
- Salieri, B., Kaiser, J. P., Rösslein, M., Nowack, B., Hischier, R., & Wick, P. (2020). Relative potency factor approach enables the use of in vitro information for estimation of human effect factors for nanoparticle toxicity in life-cycle impact assessment. *Nanotoxicology*, 14(2), 275–286.
- Sankar, R., Maheswari, R., Karthik, S., Shivashangari, K. S., & Ravikumar, V. (2014). Anticancer activity of Ficus religiosa engineered copper oxide nanoparticles. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 44, 234–239.
- Santhosh, S. B., & Chandrasekar, M. J. (2020). Isoelectric point based dual sensitive peptidedrug conjugate prodrug to target solid tumors. *International Journal of Peptide Research and Therapeutics*, 10, 1–5.
- Santhosh, S. B., Yuvarajan, R., & Natarajan, D. (2015a). Annona muricata leaf extract-mediated silver nanoparticles synthesis and its larvicidal potential against dengue, malaria and filariasis vector. *Parasitology Research*, 114(8), 3087–3096.
- Santhosh, S. B., Ragavendran, C., & Natarajan, D. (2015b). Spectral and HRTEM analyses of Annona muricata leaf extract mediated silver nanoparticles and its Larvicidal efficacy against three mosquito vectors Anopheles stephensi, Culex quinquefasciatus, and Aedes aegypti. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 153*, 184–190.
- Santhosh, S. B., Nanjan, M. J., & Chandrasekar, M. J. (2019). Ovarian solid tumors: Current treatment and recent developments using stimuli-responsive polymers: A systemic review. *Journal* of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 51, 621–628.
- Santhosh, S. B., Dutta, D., Nath, L. K., Nanjan, M. J., & Chandrasekar, M. J. (2020a). Targeting ovarian solid tumors by pH triggered thermosensitive peptide-doxorubicin conjugate. *Journal* of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 59, 101856.
- Santhosh, S. B., Natarajan, D., Deepak, P., Gayathri, B., Kaviarasan, L., Naresh, P., Nanjan, M. J., & Chandrasekar, M. J. (2020b). Metabolic enzyme inhibitory and larvicidal activity of biosynthesized and heat stabilized silver nanoparticles using Annona muricata leaf extract. *BioNanoScience*, 1–2.
- Santhosh, S. B., Chandrasekar, M. J., Kaviarasan, L., Deepak, P., Silambarasan, T., Gayathri, B., & Natarajan, D. (2020c). Chemical composition, antibacterial, anti-oxidant and cytotoxic properties of green synthesized silver nanoparticles from Annona muricata L.(Annonaceae). *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology.*, 13(1), 33–39.
- Saravanakumar, K., Shanmugam, S., Varukattu, N. B., MubarakAli, D., Kathiresan, K., & Wang, M. H. (2019). Biosynthesis and characterization of copper oxide nanoparticles from indigenous fungi and its effect of photothermolysis on human lung carcinoma. *Journal of Photochemistry* and Photobiology B: Biology, 190, 103–109.
- Sarwar, M., Xia, Y. X., Liang, Z. M., Tsang, S. W., & Zhang, H. J. (2020). Mechanistic pathways and molecular targets of plant-derived anticancer ent-kaurane diterpenes. *Biomolecules*, 10(1), 144.
- Sathishkumar, M., Pavagadhi, S., Mahadevan, A., & Balasubramanian, R. (2015). Biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles and related cytotoxicity evaluation using A549 cells. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 114, 232–240.
- Satyavani, K., Gurudeeban, S., Ramanathan, T., & Balasubramanian, T. (2011). Biomedical potential of silver nanoparticles synthesized from calli cells of Citrullus colocynthis (L.) Schrad. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 9(1), 43.
- Shah, A. A., Khan, A., Dwivedi, S., Musarrat, J., & Azam, A. (2018). Antibacterial and antibiofilm activity of barium titanate nanoparticles. *Materials Letters*, 229, 130–133.
- Sharma, D., Parveen, K., Oza, A., & Ledwani, L. (2018). Synthesis of anthraquinone-capped TiO 2 nanoparticles using R. emodi roots: Preparation, characterization and cytotoxic potential. Rendiconti Lincei. *Scienze Fisiche e Naturali.*, 29(3), 649–658.
- Shin, S. W., Song, I. H., & Um, S. H. (2015). Role of physicochemical properties in nanoparticle toxicity. *Nanomaterials*, 5(3), 1351–1365.

- Shivaji, K., Balasubramanian, M. G., Devadoss, A., Asokan, V., De Castro, C. S., Davies, M. L., Ponmurugan, P., & Pitchaimuthu, S. (2019). Utilization of waste tea leaves as bio-surfactant in CdS quantum dots synthesis and their cytotoxicity effect in breast cancer cells. *Applied Surface Science*, 487, 159–170.
- Sieber, S., Grossen, P., Uhl, P., Detampel, P., Mier, W., Witzigmann, D., & Huwyler, J. (2019). Zebrafish as a predictive screening model to assess macrophage clearance of liposomes in vivo. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine, 17*, 82–93.
- Slika, L., & Patra, D. (2020). A short review on chemical properties, stability and nanotechnological advances for curcumin delivery. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 17(1), 61–75.
- Soares, S., Sousa, J., Pais, A., & Vitorino, C. (2018). Nanomedicine: Principles, properties, and regulatory issues. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 6, 360.
- Sufi, S. A., Hoda, M., Pajaniradje, S., Mukherjee, V., Coumar, S. M., & Rajagopalan, R. (2020). Enhanced drug retention, sustained release, and anti-cancer potential of curcumin and indolecurcumin analog-loaded polysorbate 80-stabilizied PLGA nanoparticles in colon cancer cell line SW480. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 588, 119738.
- Suganya, K. U., Govindaraju, K., Kumar, V. G., Karthick, V., & Parthasarathy, K. (2016). Pectin mediated gold nanoparticles induces apoptosis in mammary adenocarcinoma cell lines. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 93, 1030–1040.
- Suganya, M., Balamuralikrishnan, B., Ravindran, B., Soon, W. C., Ponmurugan, P., Galal, A. E., Mariadhas, V. A., Naif, A. D., & Veeramuthu, D. (2020). Synthesis and characterization of proanthocyanidin-chitosan nanoparticles: An assessment on human colorectal carcinoma HT-29 cells. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 210, 111966.
- Sulaiman, G. M., Tawfeeq, A. T., & Jaaffer, M. D. (2018). Biogenic synthesis of copper oxide nanoparticles using olea europaea leaf extract and evaluation of their toxicity activities: An in vivo and in vitro study. *Biotechnology Progress*, 34(1), 218–230.
- Sulaiman, G. M., Waheeb, H. M., Jabir, M. S., Khazaal, S. H., Dewir, Y. H., & Naidoo, Y. (2020). Hesperidin loaded on gold nanoparticles as a drug delivery system for a successful biocompatible, anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory and phagocytosis inducer model. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–6.
- Sun, X. Y., Gan, Q. Z., & Ouyang, J. M. (2017). Size-dependent cellular uptake mechanism and cytotoxicity toward calcium oxalate on Vero cells. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 41949.
- Tan, J. M., Karthivashan, G., Arulselvan, P., Fakurazi, S., & Hussein, M. Z. (2014a). Characterization and in vitro studies of the anticancer effect of oxidized carbon nanotubes functionalized with betulinic acid. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 8, 2333.
- Tan, J. M., Karthivashan, G., Arulselvan, P., Fakurazi, S., & Hussein, M. Z. (2014b). Sustained release and cytotoxicity evaluation of carbon nanotube-mediated drug delivery system for betulinic acid. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2014, 862148.
- Tan, J. M., Karthivashan, G., Abd Gani, S., Fakurazi, S., & Hussein, M. Z. (2016). Biocompatible polymers coated on carboxylated nanotubes functionalized with betulinic acid for effective drug delivery. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 27(2), 26.
- Tavakolifard, S., Biazar, E., Pourshamsian, K., & Moslemin, M. H. (2016). Synthesis and evaluation of single-wall carbon nanotube-paclitaxel-folic acid conjugate as an anti-cancer targeting agent. Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology., 44(5), 1247–1253.
- Thakkar, S., Sharma, D., Kalia, K., & Tekade, R. K. (2020). Tumor microenvironment targeted nanotherapeutics for cancer therapy and diagnosis: A review. Acta Biomaterialia, 101, 43–68.
- Tian, Z., Shi, Y., Yin, M., Shen, H., & Jia, N. (2011). Functionalized multiwalled carbon nanotubesanticancer drug carriers: Synthesis, targeting ability and antitumor activity. *Nano Biomedicine* & Engineering., 3(3), 157–162.
- Tian, X., Xiao, B. B., Wu, A., Yu, L., Zhou, J., Wang, Y., Wang, N., Guan, H., & Shang, Z. F. (2016). Hydroxylated-graphene quantum dots induce cells senescence in both p53-dependent andindependent manner. *Toxicology Research*, 5(6), 1639–1648.

- Tinkle, S., McNeil, S. E., Mühlebach, S., Bawa, R., Borchard, G., Barenholz, Y., Tamarkin, L., & Desai, N. (2014). Nanomedicines: Addressing the scientific and regulatory gap. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1313(1), 35–56.
- Tripathi, A. C., Saraf, S. A., & Saraf, S. K. (2015). Carbon nanotropes: A contemporary paradigm in drug delivery. *Materials.*, 8(6), 3068–3100.
- Guidance for industry PAT—A framework for innovative pharmaceutical development, manufacturing, and quality assurance. U.S Food and Drug Administration. [Internet]. Fda.gov. 2004 [cited 16 August 2020]. Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ ucm070305.pdf
- Uzma, M., Sunayana, N., Raghavendra, V. B., Madhu, C. S., Shanmuganathan, R., & Brindhadevi, K. (2020). Biogenic synthesis of gold nanoparticles using Commiphora wightii and their cytotoxic effects on breast cancer cell line (MCF-7). *Process Biochemistry*, 92, 269–276.
- Velammal, S. P., Devi, T. A., & Amaladhas, T. P. (2016). Antioxidant, antimicrobial and cytotoxic activities of silver and gold nanoparticles synthesized using Plumbago zeylanica bark. *Journal* of Nanostructure in Chemistry, 6(3), 247–260.
- Venkatesan, J., Kim, S. K., & Shim, M. S. (2016). Antimicrobial, antioxidant, and anticancer activities of biosynthesized silver nanoparticles using marine algae Ecklonia cava. *Nanomaterials*, 6(12), 235.
- Verma, S., Lan, Y., Gokhale, R., & Burgess, D. J. (2009). Quality by design approach to understand the process of nanosuspension preparation. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 377(1–2), 185–198.
- Vetrivel, C., Balamuralikrishnan, B., Durairaj, K., Sungkwon, P., et al. (2019). Biological mediated Ag nanoparticles from *Barleria longiflora* for antimicrobial activity and photocatalytic degradation using methylene blue. *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology.*, 47(1), 2424–2430.
- Wang, C., & Li, W. (2016). Preparation, characterization, and in vitro and vivo antitumor activity of oridonin-conjugated multiwalled carbon nanotubes functionalized with carboxylic group. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2016, 1–7.
- Wang, Z., Qi, F., Cui, Y., Zhao, L., Sun, X., Tang, W., & Cai, P. (2018). An update on Chinese herbal medicines as adjuvant treatment of anticancer therapeutics. *BioScience Trends.*, 12(3), 220–239.
- Wang, X., Zhang, H., & Chen, X. (2019). Drug resistance and combating drug resistance in cancer. Cancer Drug Resistance, 2, 141–160.
- Warheit, D. B. (2008). How meaningful are the results of nanotoxicity studies in the absence of adequate material characterization? *Toxicological Sciences*, 101(2), 183–185.
- Warheit, D. B., & Brown, S. C. (2019). What is the impact of surface modifications and particle size on commercial titanium dioxide particle samples?—A review of in vivo pulmonary and oral toxicity studies–Revised 11-6-2018. *Toxicology Letters*, 302, 42–59.
- Wei, Y., Quan, L., Zhou, C., & Zhan, Q. (2018). Factors relating to the biodistribution & clearance of nanoparticles & their effects on in vivo application. *Nanomedicine*, 13(12), 1495–1512.
- Williams, D. (2003). Revisiting the definition of biocompatibility. *Medical Device Technology*, 14(8), 10.
- Wright, M. D., Buckley, A. J., & Smith, R. (2020). Estimates of carbon nanotube deposition in the lung: Improving quality and robustness. *Inhalation Toxicology*, 32(7), 282–298.
- Wu, W., Li, R., Bian, X., Zhu, Z., Ding, D., Li, X., Jia, Z., Jiang, X., & Hu, Y. (2009). Covalently combining carbon nanotubes with anticancer agent: Preparation and antitumor activity. ACS Nano, 3(9), 2740–2750.
- Wu, M., Guo, H., Liu, L., Liu, Y., & Xie, L. (2019). Size-dependent cellular uptake and localization profiles of silver nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 4247.
- Xia, Q., Huang, J., Feng, Q., Chen, X., Liu, X., Li, X., Zhang, T., Xiao, S., Li, H., Zhong, Z., & Xiao, K. (2019). Size-and cell type-dependent cellular uptake, cytotoxicity and in vivo distribution of gold nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 14, 6957.

- Yang, C., Wang, M., Zhou, J., & Chi, Q. (2017). Bio-synthesis of peppermint leaf extract polyphenols capped nano-platinum and their in-vitro cytotoxicity towards colon cancer cell lines (HCT 116). *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 77, 1012–1016.
- Yang, M., Liu, X., Luo, Q., Xu, L., & Chen, F. (2020). An efficient method to isolate lemon derived extracellular vesicles for gastric cancer therapy. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 18(1), 1–2.
- Yaqub, A., Malkani, N., Shabbir, A., Ditta, S. A., Tanvir, F., Ali, S., Naz, M., Kazmi, S. A., & Ullah, R. (2020). Novel biosynthesis of copper nanoparticles using Zingiber and Allium sp. with synergic effect of doxycycline for anticancer and bactericidal activity. *Current Microbiology*, 77(9), 2287–2299.
- Yuan, H., Ma, Q., Ye, L., & Piao, G. (2016). The traditional medicine and modern medicine from natural products. *Molecules*, 21(5), 559.
- Yuan, X., Zhang, X., Sun, L., Wei, Y., & Wei, X. (2019). Cellular toxicity and immunological effects of carbon-based nanomaterials. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 16(1), 18.
- Yugandhar, P., Vasavi, T., Devi, P. U., & Savithramma, N. (2017). Bioinspired green synthesis of copper oxide nanoparticles from Syzygium alternifolium (Wt.) Walp: Characterization and evaluation of its synergistic antimicrobial and anticancer activity. *Applied Nanoscience*, 7(7), 417–427.
- Zafar, S., Akhter, S., Ahmad, I., Hafeez, Z., Rizvi, M. M., Jain, G. K., & Ahmad, F. J. (2020). Improved chemotherapeutic efficacy against resistant human breast cancer cells with codelivery of Docetaxel and Thymoquinone by Chitosan grafted lipid nanocapsules: Formulation optimization, in vitro and in vivo studies. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 186*, 110603.
- Zhu, M. T., Feng, W. Y., Wang, B., Wang, T. C., Gu, Y. Q., Wang, M., Wang, Y., Ouyang, H., Zhao, Y. L., & Chai, Z. F. (2008). Comparative study of pulmonary responses to nano-and submicronsized ferric oxide in rats. *Toxicology*, 247(2–3), 102–111.



Chapter 10 Nanoerythrosome-Biohybrid Microswimmers for Cancer Theranostics Cargo Delivery

Sree Gayathri Subbaraju, Usha Chockaiyan, Sakthieaswari Pandi, Aarthy Kannan, and Muthupandian Saravanan

Introduction

Cancer causes about ten million deaths in 2018, and globally it is the second leading cause of cardiovascular disease. Malignant tumor was invigorated by the alteration of precancerous lesion which develops cancer as multiplex processes. Cancerous cells multiply and grow to other organs in the body, called metastases. For the survival of patients and to reduce the medication cost, it requires earlier observation of cancer and treatment (WHO, 2018). In spite of the notable developments in cancer treatment, particular side effects of chemotherapy and radiotherapy have yet to be discovered (Misra et al., 2010). Based on this matter, scientists put enormous results to evolve new nanomedication at the molecular level to treat cancer (Wu et al., 2015a; Zhang et al., 2019). Compared to free drugs, nanomedicines show high delivery efficiency, efficient retention time, lesser side effects, and prolonged circulation time (Gandhali, 2016). So, this encourages research related to nanoparticles, which would help to discover abnormalities or as carriers to transport drugs to the desired cell or as therapeutic means (Bharali et al., 2009). The concentration of

S. G. Subbaraju (🖂)

Department of Microbiology, The Madura College, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

U. Chockaiyan

Department of Biotechnology, Lady Doak College, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

S. Pandi

Department of Botany and Microbiology, Lady Doak College, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

A. Kannan

Narayana e-Techno School, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

M. Saravanan

AMR and Nanomedicine Lab, Department of Pharmacology, Saveetha Dental College, Saveetha Institute of Medical and Technical Sciences (SIMATS), Tamil Nadu, India

261

enhanced drugs found in cells with traces of cancer was functionalized by targeting ligands, enclosing multidrug molecules and detouring ancestral drug resistance. This helps to encapsulate both the medicinal and diagnostic agents as a unified particle (Cao et al., 2017).

The distribution of nanoparticles, identification and isolation of toxic content, initiation of clearance by the renal system, and maintenance of the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS) are biological barriers still faced by cancer nanomedicines. The phagocytic cell mediator system gets rid of nanoparticles in the liver and also ejects the hydrodynamic diameter of nanoparticles less than 5.5 nm, which is observed within the kidney (Liu et al., 2013a). Studies disclose about 0.7% nanoparticle is injected and delivered to solid tumors (Wilhelm et al., 2016). Encapsulation of various bioactive compounds (enzymes, peptides, toxins, genetic materials), ample cells in the human body, and long blood circulation up to 120 days (40–50%) of blood level) used to deliver drugs were observed as the major properties of RBC. The enhancement of cancer cell membrane coating drug delivery efficacy requires surface refunctionalization of erythrosome-based nanoparticles with target moieties (Xu et al., 2018). The nanoerythrosome drug loading method requires ultimate care in handling and is also based on its type of medium. The hypotonic solution-mediated lysis (hemolysis) was used to remove the cytoplasmic content observed in the cells. This should be performed in a controlled way to load the required therapeutic agents exactly into erythrocytes and hemoglobin (Lieber & Steck, 1989). Seamless nanosized capsules should be formed in plasma membranes without disruption during the hemolysis process. One erythrosome can be fragmented into 4000-5000 nanoerythrosome, all depending on cell recovery after stripping the cell off its organelles.

Different techniques like sonication, extrusion, and electric pulses are handed down for the preparation of nanoerythrosomes from hemoglobin-free erythrocyte ghosts (Schwoch & Passow, 1973). Uniform nanoerythrosomes with minimal cell loss are achieved by extrusion sizing method, which is the most efficient technique. The firmness and shelf-life of nanoerythrosomes formulation were supported by flexibility and fluidity, processing temperature, sizing technique, and combination of lysis medium of nanoerythrosomes. The usage of encapsulation and contrast agents was performed by biomimetic properties. The small molecular weight drugs conjugated with surface nanoerythrosomes were discovered, for example, daunorubicin and pyrimethamine (Villa et al., 2016).

Insight on Microswimmers Used for Anticancer Drug Cargo

The vital locomotion and cargo delivery to a particular site were attained by live mobile microorganisms as biohybrid microswimmers showed much growing interest in the past decades (Alapan et al., 2019). Cell-constructed biohybrid microswimmers have inherent abilities of sensing and motility, extract suitable response to unnatural and environmental changes, and engage in the passage of cargo to isolated locations within the human body. This helps to confine proactive transportation of medicinal bioagents which could also be used for performing diagnostics and isolation (Nguyen et al., 2016). Ghost cell bodies and beads coupled with bacteria were commonly observed (Park et al., 2017). Due to some drawbacks, these microorganisms show case risk to generate infectious agents, which leads to tremendous growth of bacteria in the biological environment and probable resistance toward antibiotics. Development of biohybrid systems has enlarged when compared to slow-growing motile microorganisms and shows greater need for biocompatibility (Ceylan et al., 2017). *C. reinhardtii* microalga was used to design and identify biohybrid microswimmers due to its active delivery of therapeutics.

Chlamydomonas reinhardtii (single-cell microalga) is designed as a biomodel microorganism along with a polymer-nanoparticle complex as an artificial component to extend the manufacturing efficiency up to 90%. The nanoparticle is coated on the cell wall of microalga by chitosan, the biopolymer. The accommodation of biomedical delivery particles was engineered because the smooth external layer does not damage the practicable and phototactic potential of microalgae. Moreover, thin-coated chemotherapeutic doxorubicin conjugated with nanoparticles is embedded by a photocleavage linker on request to cargo of drugs to cancerous cells, showing evidence for therapeutic confirmation (Erkoc et al., 2019). For future medicinal active cargo delivery jobs, the high-throughput plan can cover the way for the nextgeneration microswimmer swarms. Well-defined techniques to construct RBCm that combine different covalent and non-covalent conjugation methodologies are used. This technique also includes methods to monitor proper lipid insertion and implement biotin-avidin bridge; few other metrics such as EDC/NHS coupling, ligand receptor conjugation, and antibody conjugation are also considered. In addition to the above techniques, passive absorption (hitchhiking) is also considered to measure it for theranostic purposes. The implementation of the abovementioned different techniques and their intercommunication is depicted in Fig. 10.1.



Fig. 10.1 Various patterns of operationalized erythrocyte construct for nanodrugs

Nanocarriers that work toward drug delivery both actively and passively such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) and polyethylene oxide (PEO) are copolymers adsorbed on the surface of nanoparticles with hydrophilic surfactants reduced by opsonization. In order to enhance the properties, the nanoparticle shows a high tailorability, and it can be easily used by ligands and other functional molecules. As a consequence, they constitute favorable and adaptable tools in cancer therapy and drug delivery (Stevanovic & Uskokovic, 2009). In vitro, the therapeutic payloads along with liposomes were coupled with magnetic iron oxide-producing magnetotactic bacteria (Taherkhani et al., 2014). In vivo, drug-loaded liposomes are delivered to the mouse tumor site using magnetic fields, which are guided by these modified bacteria (Felfoul et al., 2016) (Table 10.1). The combination of streptavidin genetically with altered E. coli substrain with nanoerythrosomes (biotin) was realized and fabricated with nanoerythrosome-functionalized biohybrid microswimmers. Recent advances in artificial biology made it possible to use bioengineered biohybrid microswimmers that do not have any inorganic constituents for delivering the biological cargo materials. The release of the constructed payload on the bacterial lysis was triggered to generate a therapeutic payload like alpha-hemolysin E. This is achieved by using genetically engineered bacteria, S. typhimurium. This is controlled and monitored such that it generates an activator/repressor to synchronize and control the cyclic continuous delivery process where this lysis event was overcome by these small numbers of bacteria (Din et al., 2016).

	Resource			
Physiological function	Chemical method	Physical method	Biohybrid microswimmers	
Pattern	20 μm Janus nanoparticle with MgTiO2 10 μm of Janus nanoparticle with CaCO3	300 µm of magnetic microrods 300 m of polymeric griper	 1.2 μm bacteria combined with <i>s. typhimurium</i> 1 μm streptavidin-polystyrene nanoparticle with <i>L.</i> <i>monocytogenes</i> 	
Position of the stereotype (in vivo)	Stomach of mouse Liver of mouse	Rabbit and bile duct of pig	Colon of mouse and intraperitoneal cavity of mouse	
Purpose	Cargo huge content of microswimmers Bleeding stops	Navigation through intraocular Biopsy (tissue)	Production of pore-forming toxin (α -hemolysin E) against tumor cells Gene expression using fluorescence imaging, delivering payload, and monitoring	

 Table 10.1 Comparison of cargo delivery of biohybrid microswimmers with physical and chemical methods

Characterization and Design of a Biohybrid Microswimmer for Cancer Nanotheranostics

On the cell membrane of bacteria, the biotin acceptor peptides encode, and it is induced by isopropyl-beta-D-thiogalactopyranoside containing pOS233 plasmid in genetically engineered bacteria through autotransporter antigen 43 (Schauer et al., 2018). Green fluorescence protein expression was enhanced by using L-arabinose induced by bacterial species carrying another plasmid, which could be utilized to perform fluorescence detection in any bacteria. The induction of IPTG and L-arabinose is used to determine the growth characteristics of the bacterial cell and to investigate the growth rate of bacteria by observing a single colony upon infusion of plasmid to identify particular genes. Also, as the metabolic burden increased, these IPTG and L-arabinose growth rates decreased; further experiments were carried out to get better bacterial growth characteristics. To reach the OD value of 0.6 at OD 600, these genetically engineered bacterial cultures were incubated for 12-18 hours and then are pursued with IPTG. Biotin molecules are coated upon the cell membrane of bacteria; this was done after proper plasmid DNA genetic sequencing. Then, nanoerythrosome conjugation methods were performed after further incubation of streptavidin particles for 1 hour to modify the bacterial membrane. Anti-TER 19 antibodies combined with biotin (modified nanoerythrosomes) were realized for 1 hour for bacterial actuators in noninvasive conjugation with delivery carriers. The expression level of TER 119 proteins was high on mature erythrocyte membranes and is denoted as lineage markers (Kina et al., 2000).

The characterization of SEM analysis shows the perfect conjugation of genetically engineered bacteria-modified streptavidin with nanoerythrosomes. Fluorescence microscopy images demonstrate the fabrication of powered biohybrid microswimmers carried with nanoerythrosomes. The fabrication of nanoerythrosome was done in three steps. First by using a Percoll gradient assay, the RBCs were removed from murine blood; using centrifugation, the middle layer was taken, which is visualized as a dark red ring in the middle layer. Second, the dispersion of the cytoplasmic content was done by emptying RBCs using hypotonic-isotonic processes, which led in the formation of 100 nm pores on the cell membrane of RBCs (Delcea et al., 2012). In the last step, the cell extruder method is used as this emptied RBCs slightly moved through the polycarbonate membrane at 1 micrometer pore size (Fig. 10.2). The size and uniformity of surface-coated nanoerythrosomes were finalized by membrane pore size and extrusion speed (Ong et al., 2016). DLS analysis revealed polydisperse population with a maximum peak at 350 nm ranging from 100 nm to 1 µm diameter, and these inhabitants with vesicle sizes smaller than the extracted pore size were noticed (Hu et al., 2013). Flow cytometry investigation shows more than 90% of the population are double-positive for TER 119 and CD47 proteins on the membrane, and fluorescence signals as green and red were given to differentiate both TER 119 and CD47 proteins, and staining procedures were performed for identification process. In addition, it is also observed that 2D motility characterization done on the free swimming bacteria that are genetically engineered and biohybrid microswimmers sowed the mean speed of $19.91 \pm 9.37 \,\mu$ m/s and $14.06 \pm 6.71 \,\mu$ m/s (Kim et al., 2009).



Fig. 10.2 Diagrammatic representation of hypotonic lysis method

Functionalization of Micro-/Nanoswimmers with Different Bioreceptors Toward Targeting Tumor Cells

Lipid Insertion

The presence of biological molecules on RBCm performed by natural carriers like RBC- non-disruptive functionalization process performs better when compared to chemical analysis methods. In lipid insertion process done by direct mixing or placing the alkyl chain or lipid part inserted into lipid bilayer at 37 °C room temperature, the unwanted section or debris of lipid conjugates were filtered by centrifugation (Fang et al., 2013). Ligand-linker-lipid conjugates insert surface proteins without any disturbances along with therapeutic molecules. It also facilitates RBCm to be made functional by performing and enhancing targeting processes and imaging processes (Hymel and Peterson 2012). The most cell surface modification was performed by ligand-linker-lipid couples through detectable poly(ethylene glycol) PEG-lipid conjugates (Zalipsky et al., 1999). While analyzing the various tumor types, the folate receptors are overexpressed, and DSPE-PEG-folate acts as an active cargo agent in cancer drug delivery. Although some side effects have been observed, folate-modified RBCm-cloaked nanoparticles express similar physicochemical properties (Rao et al., 2017). This large delivering ligand with MW of approximately 9000 Da conjugated to a smaller lipid anchor with MW of approximately 748 Da shows an excellent conjugation with RBCm (Fang et al., 2013).

Biotin-Avidin Bridges

Lipid insertion process and chemical alteration are used by biotin-avidin bridges, which utilize indirect surface engineering of RBCm. Biotinylated RBCm methodderived vesicle shows less damage than chemical modification, e.g., NHS-biotin or Sulfo-NHS-biotin. Four subunits show similarity in tetrameric avidin, which strongly binds the biotin. A rapid formation and stable bonding of non-covalent interaction between proteins and ligands shows about Kd = 10–15 mol/L value, which shows the strongest bond (Hofmann & Kiso, 1976). One hour at room temperature, this avidin/streptavidin was incubated and rinsed using PBS to destrain any unreacted traces of biotin (Sun et al., 2017). To select glioma and transport chemotherapeutic drugs, the tumor-targeting peptide c(RGDyK) is fixed with RBCcoated drug nanocrystals by lipid insertion method through biotin-avidin bridges (Chai et al., 2019).

EDC/NHS Coupling

An amine reactive O-acylisourea intermediate was formed by a carboxyl group merged with primary amines, which is mediated by 1-ethyl-3-3-dimethylaminopropyl-carbodiimide cross-linking substance that reacts with amide bond, giving the final product isourea, and unwanted and excessive things are removed by gel filtration process (Conde et al., 2014). Sulfo-NHS (N-hydroxysulfoxuccinimide) is used for active ester stabilization; while doing this, the hydrolysis reaction was optimized, and nanoparticle aggregation was prevented, and the pH and ratio of NHS/EDC controlled. UCNP nanoparticle-coated RBCs are utilized for fluorescence imaging during tumor surgery (Shen et al., 2009).

Antibody/Ligand-Receptor Conjugation

In order to evade the difficulties faced in ex vivo alteration and transfusion, antibody/ligand receptor process is combined with circulating RBCs in vivo with therapeutic agents (Villa et al., 2015). By intravascular injection of antibody-drug conjugates, it chokes significant binding to the blood stream of circulating RBCs. Band 3, complement receptor 1 cr-1, and glycophorin A (GPA) were used as cargo receptors for ADC, which shows approximately 1,000,000 per single RBC. The encapsulation of co-polymer-based nanoparticles on various GPA ligands like ERY1 is done through fluorescent BSA with RBCm and protamine-based CPP without damaging RBCm. Ligands in complexing nanoparticles with RBCm showed efficient in vitro study by protamine-based CPP (Sahoo et al., 2017).

Passive Adsorption (Hitchhiking)

Passive adsorption utilizes electrostatic interaction, hydrogen bonds, and van der Waals forces, which were nanoparticle-functionalized on the surface of RBC carriers. Theranostic-based nanoparticles are transported on the surface of RBC, referred to as RBC hitchhiking, which prolongs the circulation. Chambers and Mitragotri in 2004 initiated *Hemobartonella* mammalian pathogen and first developed this strategy at a diameter of $0.2-2 \,\mu$ m (Chambers & Mitragotri, 2004). Compared to large particles, 220 nm and 450 nm particles show the largest circulation times of >7 hours, and polystyrene nanoparticles are removed from RBCs due to cell-cell contact and shear forces and are cleared in the spleen. The surface of doxorubicin (DOX)-loaded RBCs showed positively charged chitosan-coated nanoparticles (CTSs). This suppresses pulmonary metastatic melanoma by reducing metastatic nodes by threefold (Liang et al., 2019).

System Integration and Propelled Navigation of Microswimmers to Promote Cancer Cell Targeting

The independent movement was authorized by motile methods such as flagellar, crawling, ciliary movement, and contractile deportment by propulsion of bacteria, sperm cells, microalgae, and macrophages. The controllable biohybrid microswimmers are considered as a major important and steerable movement because the absence of an external factor makes the movement of a particular microorganism very random. There are two methods for controlling the motion: one is intrinsically controlled by microorganisms which are thrusted chemotaxis, surrounded by chemical energy (Tu et al., 2017), and another method by extrinsically controlled by synthetic chambers which are connected to the living organisms or sound wavebased control (Behzadi et al., 2017). The hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) level is increased to generate oxidative stress by cancerous cells. These micro-artificial swimmers utilize the hydrogen peroxide as a good energy source for propulsion. Catalysts such as platinum are layered in the inner side of motors, which are used to convert chemical energy into mechanical energy and for catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxides. Unidirectional force is utilized for propulsion where oxygen bubbles come out through one opening and the center of motors are tapered as hollow texture observed in motors. The navigation of drugs to target cells is caused by magnetic fields and is controlled by embedding Fe3O4 nanoparticles into the human body system, whereas gold nanoparticles are coated for drug release, which focused on external IR triggers. DOX uptake of HeLa cells was determined by Janus motors for maximum motility and high surface area. In order to increase the biocompatibility, one end was molded with immobilized catalase, and hollow polyelectrolyte multilayer capsules were created (Ma et al., 2015).

Propelled Ultrasound Nanoswimmers Used for Identification of miRNA in Intact Tumor Cells

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are encoded in plant, animal, and viral genomes with more than 25 nucleotides, ascetic, and biomolecules compiling RNAs. Hematopoiesis, cell difference and multiplication process, and amplitude of mRNA expression were regulated by this process (Dong et al., 2013). Abnormal manifestation of miRNA results in certain diseases ranging from cancer to diabetes. Ryoo et al. (2013), used miRNAs as a biomarker for the diagnosis of diseases and also for therapeutic purposes, considered as important in clinical purposes. Different methods like electrochemical, Northern blotting, real-time quantitative PCR, and electrochemiluminescence of photoelectric cell take longer time to detect the expression of miRNA (Yoo et al., 2014). To overcome this difficulty, the novel nanomotors were identified for rapid intracellular miRNA detection. The intracellular hybridization process was accelerated into cells, which were internalized by ultrasound propelled nanowires supported by graphene oxide with motor-based miRNA used to detect fluorescence biosensing and quenching of nucleic acids. Single-cell step processes such as miRNA intracellular biosensing nanomotor plan revealed in tumor cells were also suggested by Avila et al. (2015). Also, the efficient penetrating power in intact tumor cells was possessed by gold nanowire covered with graphene oxide. The procedures followed in this method are fluorescence shift ON-OFF intracellular method, intrinsic cell nanomotor process, and dye-coated ssDNA-quenched probe attached to cargo miRNA from displaced surface GO quenching.

Steered Segregation of Circulating Cancer Cells for Perception

Circulating cancer cells (CCC) were first observed in patients having cancer cells in their blood that had been transmuted (Ashworth 1869). The cancerous genotype mechanism evolved during the growth of tumor cells, and enormous information was provided by CCCs. The forecast message of tumor cells and treatment were done, and earlier detection of noninvasive cancer cells was efficiently observed in CCC patient's blood samples. Technological provocation was satisfied by detecting 1 ml of blood, which contains more than eight million leukocytes and three million erythrocytes, showing greater importance of CCCs (Yap et al., 2010). The enhanced approach of CCCs is presently examined as a current research area.

Various methods to separate CCCs were developed using physical effects such as moving properties, density, size, charge, and unique cell-type properties, including melanocyte grains in melanoma cells. During the circulation of blood, flow cytometry is considered as an efficient tool for distinguishing CCC from other cells by immune separation processes (Yu et al., 2011). Quick research advances for the detection of CCC were surveyed by micro-/nanomotors. The energetic charging, transportation, and managed declaration of magnetic nanoparticles were authorized by magnetic segments that are inserted into nanowire motors. This review includes disassembled motors, location targeted by contacting assemblage of micromotors, and early identification of micromotors in human B lymphocyte. Isolation of CCC and micromotor development were studied by these initial works (Balasubramanian et al., 2011). Miniature motors that are technologically performed and huge cellular targeted transport in biological liquids are done with high viscosity and ionic strength (Gao et al., 2018).

Enhanced Intracellular Cancerous Cargo Delivery By Powered Cell Membrane Penetration

During the drug delivery process, there are tremendous problems in handling tumor cells (Behzadi et al., 2017). Hydrophilic nature, increased molecular weight, and negative charges cause restriction in penetration through plasma membranes (Au et al., 2016). Endosomal entrapment of drug bioactivity inside the cytoplasm leads to endocytosis of cell opening, which regulates nanoparticle formulations. The drug is delivered within the cell by introducing a constriction lesser than the cell diameter and by squeezing through microfluidic methods (Szeto et al., 2015). In the cell membrane, the pores are created through an array of bubbles introduced by microcavitation, which explodes pulsing laser formed via electroporation laser associated with microfluidic method (Wu et al., 2015b). Straight cytosolic approach was achieved by piercing cell membrane to provide liquid pipelines in cells created by nano-designed nano-straws (VanDersarl and Xu, 2012).

Helical nanomotor was designed for cargo delivery, which is a mechanical-based principle exploited to load lipoplex gene delivery with more force for propulsion to deliver through cell membrane (Qiu et al., 2015). Without the use of transfection materials, the initial delivery of nanomotors to transport DNA and miRNA inside the cells was attempted. Cells propelled externally using ultrasound mechanics by cordial upper-layer chemistry and forceable transport for quick internalization by nanomotors. Cellular incision was generated for surgeon to microdaggers developed by nanomotors to enter the cell membrane powered using unique abilities. Microdaggers are microneedles raised from Dracaena .sp, coated with Ti-Fe layers of alloy to accept the exterior magnetic field. These microdaggers are cultured with HeLa cells and stabbed into the cell membrane during magnetic orientation, which leads to cell death and acts as anticancer drug with increased tumor cell damage by releasing camptothecin.

Insight on Cancer Drug Delivery Erythrocyte-Based Nanomedicine

The significance of using erythrocyte-based nanomedicines includes good biocompatibility, a long mode of circulation, the ability to target a specific location for drug delivery with a nanosized structured erythrocyte membrane-coated nanoparticle, and nanocarriers that are designed as biomimetic cargo delivery methods with lesser immunogenicity to individual patients due to the use of their own erythrocyte. Specialized model drug carriers, such as red blood cells and macrophages, are considered as excellent biodegradable, easy to handle, and biocompatible (Villa et al., 2016). The cargo transport efficiency enhanced by maturation of RBCs from erythroid cell lineage, which lacks nucleus and cargo encapsulation space, is reduced, which gives huge deformability (Ji et al., 2011). The natural cargo carriers like biohybrid microswimmers derived from bacteria are considered as excellent carriers for encapsulation to specific regions. For energetic cargo transfer, red blood cells/erythrocyte bacterial microswimmers act as auto-cargo carriers for drug delivery (Alapan et al., 2018). Biotin-avidin irrevocable complex includes motile E. coli MG 1655 biologically engineered with SPIONS (superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles) loaded with doxorubicin as an anticancer drug, which was constructed with RBCs as multifunctional activity for biohybrid microswimmers. RBC microswimmers have lots of functional behavior, such as acceptable delivery deformed by bacteria with force generation; noninvasive, simple construction; magnetic property; and NIR-activated hyperthermia switch termination (Park et al., 2017). Biohybrid microswimmer crafts the scheme for multimode targeted cargo drug delivery.

Construction of Nanoerythrosome Employed By Cell Extrusion Method

Manufacture of vital drug delivery from microbial/biomaterials in the human body has more significance in the medical treatment of cancerous cells (Buss et al., 2020). For specific medical application, bioactuators occupied in biohybrid microswimmers. Magnetotactic bacteria have an intrinsic magnetic navigating ability and excellent motility, but their withstanding capacity in the human body is reduced to less than an hour for short interventions. *E. coli* is slower compared to other microorganisms and has been optimized to withstand the situation and operate in human body conditions to perform medical functions (Song et al., 2018). The main critical factor is size, which is considered as an effective drug carrier and also affects the navigation in limited area and propulsion activation. The union of ultrasound and extrusion method helps to attain the propulsion of RBC motor, acting as an alternate switchable guide for fabrication of nanoerythrosomes (Fig. 10.3). The biohybrid nanosized microswimmers show quick propulsion and locomotion in complex



Fig. 10.3 Construction of nanoerythrosomes by sonication and cell extrusion methods

biotic environments. The cargo carriers are designed as biohybrid microswimmers assimilated with nanoliposomes and nanosized particles (SeungBeum et al., 2019). The unsought immune cells that need to be avoided are challenged to natural nanoerythrosomes, which were designed as nanocarriers containing membrane proteins (Wilchek et al., 2006).

Morphological and Physiochemical Characterization of Nanoerythrocytes

The recent development in the fields of human and veterinary medicine is nanoerythrocytes. A drug could be delivered by circulating for a long period or directly to the target specific sites like lymph node and other organs like the spleen or liver by using natural cells (circulating erythrocytes) or RBC carriers. Nanoerythrocytes have been successfully used for drug delivery, such as cancer therapeutic drugs like adriamycin, asparaginase, and methotrexate. The usage of drug-loaded erythrocytes for drug delivery is still in a preclinical phase. Resealed erythrocytes are also used in various applications like delivery of antiviral agents and removal of toxic agents and RES iron overload (Banerjee and Singh 2013). It is also used in biopharmaceuticals, along with peptides and proteins that are therapeutically significant, vaccines, antigen, and drug delivery on targeted sites based on their nucleic acid. A good drug carrier should possess certain ideal characteristic features like the size and shape and physicochemical properties that could recognize the desired target site, and, after the release of the drug at the targeted site, should be biocompatible with minimum toxic side effect. It should maintain its stability during storage and should carry a broad spectrum of drugs and drug delivery in a controlled manner (Bhise et al., 2010). Latha et al. (2012), studied about erythrocytes used in patients with appropriate size and shape, which will not trigger immunological response and are biocompatible with minimum leakage before the target site is reached. To use RBCs as a carrier system, they have to be encapsulated with drugs, enzymes, and peptides; this is done by various methods; currently, it is done mainly based on the osmosisbased methods in which hypoosmotic dialysis is widely used. For effective disease management with controlled site-specific safe drug delivery system of various drugs at passive and active target sites, encapsulated erythrocytes have become a revolutionized effective delivery system (Nangare et al., 2016).

Mobility Assessment of Nanoerythrosome-Functionalized Biohybrid Microswimmers

A biohybrid microswimmer is an integrated synthetic cargo carrier that has been recently shown to be a promising invasive theranostic application. These biohybrid microswimmers are fabricated with various microorganisms, including bacteria and spermatozoids, which have autonomous control that can navigate through narrow gap and with controlled environmental stimuli with advanced medical functionalities that accumulate to necrotic regions of tumor environments (Nicole et al., 2020). The steer ability of biohybrid microswimmers with long-range applied external fields, with a broad range of medical active cargo delivery application such as acoustic or magnetic fields (Wu et al., 2014; Alapan et al., 2018), and fundamental taxis behaviors of biological actuators regarding numerous environmental stimuli, like chemoattractants, pH, and oxygen, make it a promising candidate. A biohybrid microswimmer that is genetically engineered bacterium studded with nanoerythrosomes can be loaded with molecular cargo and can be injected into the body and push itself through thick environments and tissue cells to dispense drugs at a tumor site. To get where it needs to go, the microswimmer could home in on a signal of some kind. A chemical signal could allow microswimmer dispatchers to take advantage, however passively, of a bacterium's natural sensing capabilities. Alternatively, magnetic or sound signals could allow for a more active, hands-on approach, in which microswimmer movements could be subjected to remote control. Nicole et al., (2020), reported fabricated biohybrid bacterial microswimmers by combining a genetically modified E. coli MG1655 substrain with natural cells, which are small

vesicular structures made from red blood cells. The new NEs were found to have a homogeneous size distribution, good stability, and increased shelf-life storage. Wang et al. (2019), engineered core-shelled structure palladium/gold and magnetite (Fe_3O_4) nanoparticles and doxorubicin-based spirulina microswimmers. It has the ability to transport and release the drug at the targeted site by inducing a hyperthermic effect in the cell population, thereby killing the cancer cells and acting as an effective system in cancer treatment. Another example of biocompatible microswimmer employed for drug delivery came from Darmawan et al. (2020), who studied a new biocompatible microswimmer for drug delivery with a self-folding helical magnetic structure, which on ultrasonic stimulation could rapidly release the preloaded drug doxorubicin. Similarly, Chen et al. (2020), employed magnetic and pH-sensitive double-layer microswimmers for in vitro sustained drug release, with two different designs: thumbtack-like and frisbee-like. The microswimmers contained magnetite nanoparticles, as well as doxorubicin, embedded first in a chitosan matrix and then into a calcium alginate hydrogel. Lee et al. (2020), designed needletype microswimmers which were coated with nickel and titania (TiO₂) and subsequently loaded with the chemotherapeutic agent paclitaxe; this unique features facilitated piercing and a scaffold body for increased surface area through the target microtissue. The needle-type feature enables the microswimmers to spike all the way through the target cell population for fixation and reduces cancer cell viability. The release of chemotherapeutic agents by biohybrid microswimmers was reported by Akolpoglu et al. (2020).

Surface Functionalization of Erythrocyte-Based Nanomedicine for Improved Drug Delivery in Cancer Nanotherapy

Various surface moieties present in erythrocytes are involved in complex biological mechanisms when nanoparticles (NPs) are used as carriers loaded with drugs and directed toward a specific target site. NPs are commonly prepared by bottom-up approach of surface functionalization for site-specific targeted drug delivery. Surface functionalization is done by various chemical and nonchemical interactions by incorporating functional moieties such as antibodies, enzymes, ligands, and other functional target molecules onto the surface of drug delivery carriers. Through enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effects, more than 80% of NP systems are available to treat cancer, but only a few tumors have been reported to attain NP accumulation through EPR effects. Zhang et al. (2013), stated that they used RBC membrane to cover NPs in order to neutralize the bacterial exotoxin and drug delivery for anticancer and antibacterial treatment (Gao et al., 2015). In one study, DOX was encapsulated into lactic-co-glycolic acid nanoparticles and camouflaged by red blood corpuscles membrane to increase the half-life. Through this approach, half-life of 40 h was achieved (Chai et al., 2019). In one more similar study, RBC

membranes masked with magnetic O-carboxymethyl-chitosan nanoparticles were used to encapsulate DOX and paclitaxel (PTX) to increase tumor inhibition (Fu et al., 2015). Red blood cell membrane (RBCM)-camouflaged NPs are excellent biomimetic nanoparticles, which can be used in biomedical applications. It has also involved a great deal of attention and opened up new doors for surface modification of nanoparticles for cancer therapy. Cell membrane-based NPs drug carriers possess multifunctional abilities and are shown to be a better system compared to synthetic NP-based drug carriers. Cell membrane-coated NP (CMCNPs) have been constantly observed for their ability to mimic cell surface functionality effectively, which can aid in minimizing the immune responses of artificial NPs in vivo and enhance the capability to merge both natural and artificial elements (Chai et al., 2019).

Shape-Changing Nano- and Micromotors for Cancer Therapy

In order to overcome challenges in cancer treatment and diagnostics, recently nanotechnology and nanomaterials have paved new ways in nanomedicine revolution, in which a variety of nanomaterials are used for fabrication such as quantum dots (QDs), upconverting nanomaterials (UCNPs), hydrogel sheets, magnetic nanobeads (MNs), and gold nanoparticles (AuNPs). These nanoparticles have the capacity to release the drug at a reasonable time and space at the targeted site. Other than the abovementioned nanomaterials, self-propelled micro-/nanomotors have gained more attention in the field of cancer diagnostics and treatment. These nanomaterials are biocompatible and have enabled precise diagnostics and therapy of cancers. Metal-organic framework-based biomedical microrobots were recently reported (Wang et al., 2019). These helical microswimmers were fabricated by nickel or titanium for magnetic actuation and subsequently with the zeolitic imidazolate framework-8. Using this principle, biodegradable MOFBOTS were developed and employed in vitro for doxorubicin delivery (Terzopoulou et al., 2020). A different type of biodegradable microswimmer, microrockets propelled by gastric acid, was developed by Zhou et al. (2019), which consisted of a microtube made up of polyaspartic acid surrounded by a zinc core covered with a thin iron layer, which helps drug transport to the stomach using an external magnet, and the acidic pH in the stomach triggers the bubble propulsion of the microrockets to the galvanic corrosion of the zinc core; this was demonstrated in vivo in mouse stomach using doxorubicin. Liu et al. (2020), developed similar microswimmers (organic-inorganic Janus) made up of a magnesium core partially surrounded by a mixture of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) and doxorubicin. Magnesium core and water undergo a catalytic reaction that produces a hydrogen bubble that helps in propelling the microswimmers. Alapan et al. (2020), reported a magnetic gold/nickel-coated silica Janus microspheres, which are employed for targeted doxorubicin delivery. Gao et al. (2012), designed nanomotors which are self-propelled and provide the carriers with continuous driving power to help them transport across biological tissues for cancer cells. These self-propulsion abilities of nanomotors are more advantageous and efficient drug delivery systems with better therapeutically effects with less toxicity (Medina-Sánchez et al., 2016). Apart from other microswimmers, Hortelão et al. (2017), designed enzyme-powered nanomotors for enhancing anticancer drug delivery. Villa et al. (2018), reported superparamagnetic microrobots for cell manipulation and anticancer drug delivery, which are navigated by an external magnetic field and deliver bioactive molecules. Zhang et al. (2019), proposed a jellyfish-like micromotor for the detection of target DNA. The concave surface of the micromotor was assembled with sandwich DNA hybridization. The detection of DNA can be realized, which is simple, cheap, and fast. Yan et al. (2017), used spirulina microalgae to fabricate biohybrid magnetic robots, which allowed in vivo fluorescence imaging and remote diagnostic sensing; it is controlled and navigated in hard to reach cavities of the human body, making them promising miniaturized robotic tools. Nanomotors have been broadly used for cancer nanomedicine, as evidenced by breakthroughs now made in this area.

Evaluation of Stability Profiles of Erythrosomes and In vitro Release Studies

RBCs are engineered and developed rapidly in surface engineering to target diseases. These engineered RBCs can improve the pharmacokinetics and modulate immune response, which helps in targeting certain diseases. The natural cells can be used as releasing systems both as internal and external loading systems (Zhai et al., 2017). Various methods can be used in ex vivo surface engineering of RBCs (Xu et al., 2018). Recently, nanocarriers act as building substance to leverage engineered RBCs as drug carrier, the intracellular parts are removed by hypotonic lysis and by either sonication, microfluidic electroporation, or extrusion; the nanoparticles are coated to the membrane vesicle (Yang et al., 2017). These surface-engineered RBCs can circulate the complex proteins for a prolonged duration in the blood flow, and it is biocompatible to the mother cells (Wang et al., 2019). A biodegradable and biocompatible simple synthesized method of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles has been reported in cancer cargo delivery (Liu et al., 2013b).

RBC carriers are attached on either the alkyl chain or the lipid section of molecule; this is yet another approach in functional RBC carriers known as RBC carrier lipid insertion that requires direct mixing (stirring) for a few minutes to hours based on the necessity at normal temperature. RBC carrier lipid insertion facilitates more functionality toward precise outlining, targeting, and biological molecules without harming the proteins (Fang et al., 2013). The indirect surface engineering of RBCm can be done by biotin-avidin bridges, which can be done by modifying the holding element on the RBC either through inducing lipids or by performing chemical change. Zhu et al. (2018), modified folic acid and magnetic nanoparticles in the surface of erythrocyte tumor targeting, which facilitate the filtration of the circulating tumor cells. Villa et al. (2018), used another method of antibody/ligandreceptor combination, in which the biological agents are made to circulate RBCs in vivo; this provides a relatively safe method to avoid complications associated with ex vivo modification and transfusion. The most recent method in which nanoparticles can be functionalized on the surface of RBC carriers via passive adsorption to deliver theranostic-based nanoparticles can prolong their circulation (Zelepukin et al., 2019). The latest advancement of surface functionalization performed in erythrocyte-dependent nanomedicine has confirmed the potential changeover of this as the next major step toward personalized tumor treatment.

Optimization of Drug Dosage in Nanoerythrosomes (NERs)

At an optimal dose, the nano-based cargo delivery focuses the drug to the target site. The medicinal agents having properties like polymer matrices and dispersed, encapsulated vesicles which are covalently bound are nanosized particle nanodrug cargo (Jadhav et al., 2015). Nano-based drug delivery systems improve the therapeutic property of the drug and comparatively have few negative reactions in the body. Drugs are loaded in NERs by extrusion, sonication, and electrical breakdown method. In extrusion method, with the means of the membrane filter, the erythrocyte ghost combination is ejected. Using a microscope, the obtained erythrocyte ghost mixture pigmented with uranyl acetate was visualized. The above processes are usually performed in a thermostatically restricted device at room temperature. In general, the size of the vesicles seems to be independent of the temperature but decreases considerably with an increase in pressure (Abhilash et al., 2013). In sonication method, electrical signal is converted into physical vibration. The transducer was induced by a signal created by this device. By creating a mechanical vibration, the transducer further transmits to electric signals. The sonicator boosts up the vibration molecules and interacts through the probe (Nandgude and Bhisa 2013). In the electrical breakdown method, erythrocyte ghosts are converted into vesicles. The NERs are also referred to as lipo-proteosomes due to its analogy with liposomes. Due to the huge volume surface ratio, NERs are also considered as buoyant vesicles. The breakdown by electrical method in liquid is the formation of bubbles and superheating by electricity. The breakdown process in liquids seems to be more complicated because pressure is applied on the liquid by the electric field's strength by hydrodynamic effects (Ierardi et al., 2012).

Nano-/Microswimmers: Toward Clinical Translation

In accordance with the treatment of disease and preclinical trials, it is very much advanced by nanotechnology-dependent methods. Scientific research is essential for generating a step forward in medical advances. Moreover, the translation of
clinical practices is not attained by initial scientific research. Thus, the outcome of maximum clinical trials reveals that the majority of the nanotechniques are less effective than the current standards of care. Hence, it is necessary to recognize the positivity and negativity and maintain the significance in mind for further processing and implementation.

The perspective of the present scenario nanorobotics is dependent on their translational shifting. The design of nanorobots with smartness is focused nowadays due to their environmental sensing applications. Even though a lot of research has been performed, few issues like environmental manipulation, micro-/nanorobot retrieval, and toxicology are still required to be labelled. Nevertheless, substantial improvement has been undergone in the field of micro-/nanorobotics technology. In order to apply the nanowires in clinical practices, it is indispensable to regulate the reproducibility of various aspects related to micro-/nanorobotics research.

Biohybrid Microswimmers as Cargo Delivery Agents

In recent times, biohybrid microswimmers have been reported to be promising toward invasive theranostic applications. Erkoc et al. (2019) have reported that biohybrid microswimmers are made of unified biological controllers and artificial cargo carriers. Synthetic cargo carriers with magnetotaxis (Alapan et al., 2018), chemoattractants (Zhuang & Sitti, 2016), and pH and oxygen (Zhuang et al., 2015) make biohybrid microswimmers a potential aspirant for a wide range of therapeutic applications (Alapan et al., 2019).

Lucratively nanoerythrosomes are employed to enhance the human system circulation by passive cargo carriers (Hu et al., 2012). Gupta et al. (2014) reported that by intravenous, subcutaneous route and intraperitoneal administration, the treatment of lymph node, spleen, and liver diseases can be treated through nanoerythrosomes (Gupta et al., 2014). For example, decreased detection of immune cell drug-packed particles was observed in intravenous mice injection when attached to RBC membrane (Wibroe et al., 2017). The transportation of nanocarriers to specific locations of organs is uplifted by conjugating with RBCs and also changing the bioaccumulation process of nanocarriers (Brenner et al., 2018).

RBCs were also used in the production of biohybrid microswimmers powered by motile bacteria to meet cargo transport requirements in medicine (Alapan et al., 2018). RBCs coupled with drugs were set in motion by bacteria and guided via magnetic areas.

Production of active cargo delivery systems using bacterial cells presents a promising perspective to modernize drug delivery and cancer treatment (Brenner et al., 2018). One of the essential parameters in the cargo carrier selection is its size because the size has a direct effect on the impulsion performance. Therefore, for speedy motion in biotic surroundings, the nanosized carriers in biohybrid microswimmers were used and designed with more advanced technology (Samira et al., 2014).

Future Perspectives

The development in the field of microswimmers has achieved considerable advances. Various types of microswimmers have been announced with therapeutic applications at in vitro conditions. However, several issues and challenges need to be considered in order to apply the microswimmers for clinical applications. The benefits of microswimmers in in vivo conditions for treatment of several diseases are far away in doubt. Further research should be focused on various aspects of preclinical studies and the methods of clinical translation. Making use of microswimmers in in vivo is a creditable goal; in vivo therapeutic appeal must be accessible in a muchtapered timeframe.

Customized microswimmers can be extensively used in diagnosing a low quantity of selected constituents by "probing" the specimen. For diagnostic applications, the intriguing solution was given by improved imaging offered by microswimmers. Microswimmers are required to fulfill the requirements from scientific and regulatory bodies. It is also indispensable to consider the ethical, economic, and social inferences to employ medical nanorobotics. These implications are likely to be on par with those of the considerable biological revolutions. Thus, microswimmers need to sustain the considerable challenges in the upcoming future. There are more challenges highlighted despite the rapid development of microswimmers. We also believe that the enormous curiosity and rational implication in the development of microswimmers are likely to throw in appropriate solutions to transferral challenges.

References

- Abhilash, M., Kumar, M. S., Prasds, S. S., et al. (2013). Resealed erythrocyte: A review. International Journal of Innovative Drug Discovery, 1, 1–9.
- Akolpoglu, M. B., Dogan, N. O., Bozuyuk, U., et al. (2020). High-yield production of biohybrid microalgae for on-demand cargo delivery. *Advanced Science*, 7, 2001256.
- Alapan, Y., Yasa, O., Schauer, O., et al. (2018). Soft erythrocyte-based bacterial microswimmers for cargo delivery. *Science robotics*, *3*, 4423–4429.
- Alapan, Y., Yasa, O., Yigit, B., et al. (2019). Microrobotics and microorganisms: Biohybrid autonomous cellular robots. *Annual Review of Control, Robotics, and Autonomous Systems*, 2, 205–230.
- Alapan, Y., Bozuyuk, U., Erkoc, P., et al. (2020). Multifunctional surface microrollers for targeted cargo delivery in physiological blood flow. *Science robotics*, 5, eaba5726.
- Ashworth, T. R. (1869). A case of cancer in which cells similar to those in the tumours were seen in the blood after death. *The Medical Journal of Australia, 14*, 146–147.
- Au, J. L. S., Yeung, B. Z., Wientjes, M. G., et al. (2016). Delivery of cancer therapeutics to extracellular and intracellular targets: Determinants, barriers, challenges and opportunities. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 97, 280–301.
- Avila, B. E. F., Martin, A., Soto, F., et al. (2015). Single cell real-time miRNAs sensing based on nanomotors. ACS Nano, 9, 6756–6764.

- Balasubramanian, S., Kagan, D., Hu, C. M. J., et al. (2011). Micromachine-enabled capture and isolation of cancer cells in complex media. *Angewandte Chemie, International Edition*, 50, 4161–4164.
- Banerjee, N., & Singh, S. (2013). Nanoerythrosomes dawn of a new era drug delivery. *International Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Sciences*, 4, 436–455.
- Behzadi, S., Serpooshan, V., Tao, W., et al. (2017). Cellular uptake of nanoparticles: Journey inside the cell. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 46, 4218–4244.
- Bharali, D. J., Khalil, M., & Gurbuz, M. (2009). Nanoparticles and cancer therapy: A concise review with emphasis on dendrimers. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, *4*, 1–7.
- Bhise, K. S., Nandgude, T. D., Bhura, R. G., et al. (2010). Advances in nanoscience and nanotechnology in treatment of cancer. *Journal of Current Research in Ayurvedic and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 2, 1–8.
- Brenner, J. S., Pan, D. C., Myerson, J. W., et al. (2018). Red blood cell-hitchhiking boosts delivery of nanocarriers to chosen organs by orders of magnitude. *Nature Communications*, 9, 2684–2692.
- Buss, N., Yasa, O., Alapan, Y., et al. (2020). Nanoerythrosome-functionalized biohybrid microswimmers. APL Bioengineering, 4(2), 026103.
- Cao, S., Liu, Y., Shang, H., et al. (2017). Supramolecular nanoparticles of calcitonin and dipeptide for long-term controlled release. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 256, 182–192.
- Ceylan, H., Giltinan, J., Kozielski, K., et al. (2017). Mobile microrobots for bioengineering applications. Lab on a Chip, 17, 1705.
- Chai, Z., Ran, D., Lu, L., et al. (2019). Ligand-modified cell membrane enables the targeted delivery of drug nanocrystals to glioma. ACS Nano, 13, 5591–5601.
- Chambers, E., & Mitragotri, S. (2004). Prolonged circulation of large polymeric nanoparticles by non-covalent adsorption on erythrocytes. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 100, 111–119.
- Chen, W., Sun, M., Fan, X., et al. (2020). Magnetic/pH-sensitive double-layer microrobots for drug delivery and sustained release. *Applied Materials Today*, 19, 100583.
- Conde, J., Dias, J. T., Grazú, V., et al. (2014). Revisiting 30 years of biofunctionalization and surface chemistry of inorganic nanoparticles for nanomedicine. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 2, 48.
- Darmawan, B. A., Lee, S. B., Nguyen, V. D., et al. (2020). Self-folded microrobot for active drug delivery and rapid ultrasound-triggered drug release. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 324, 128752.
- Delcea, M., Sternberg, N., Yashchenok, A. M., et al. (2012). Nanoplasmonics for dual-molecule release through nanopores in the membrane of red blood cells. ACS Nano, 6(5), 4169–4180.
- Din MO, Danino T, Prindle A et al (2016) Synchronized cycles of bacterial lysis for in vivo delivery. Nature 536: 81–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18930.
- Dong, H., Lei, J., Ding, L., et al. (2013). Micro-RNA: Function, detection, and bioanalysis. *Chemical Reviews*, 113, 6207–6233.
- Erkoc, P., Yasa, I. C., & Ceylan, H. (2019). Mobile microrobots for active therapeutic delivery. *Advanced Therapeutics*, 2, 180–187.
- Fang, R. H., Hu, C. M., Chen, K. N., et al. (2013). Lipid-insertion enables targeting functionalization of erythrocyte membrane-cloaked nanoparticles. *Nanoscale*, 5, 8884–8888.
- Felfoul, O., Mohammadi, M., Taherkhani, S., et al. (2016). Magneto-aerotactic bacteria deliver drug-containing nanoliposomes to tumour hypoxic regions. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 11, 941–947. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2016.137
- Fu, Q., Lv, P., Chen, Z., et al. (2015). Programmed co-delivery of paclitaxel and doxorubicin boosted by camouflaging with erythrocyte membrane. *Nanoscale*, 7, 4020–4030.
- Gandhali, A. D. (2016). Cancer nanotechnology: The recent developments in the cancer therapy. Global Journal of Nanomedicine, 1, 555551.
- Gao, W., Kagan, D., Pak, O. S., et al. (2012). Cargo-towing fuel-free magnetic nanoswimmers for targeted drug delivery. *Small*, 8, 460–467.
- Gao, M., Liang, C., Song, X., et al. (2015). Erythrocyte-membrane- enveloped per fluorocarbon as nanoscale artificial red blood cells to relieve tumor hypoxia and enhance cancer radiotherapy. Advanced Materials, 29, 1701429.

- Gao, A., Berta, F., Avila, J., et al. (2018). Targeting and isolation of cancer cells using micro/nanomotors. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 125, 94–101.
- Gupta, N., Patel, B., & Ahsan, F. (2014). Nano-engineered erythrocyte ghosts as inhalational carriers for delivery of Fasudil: Preparation and characterization. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 31, 1553–1565.
- Hofmann, K., & Kiso, Y. (1976). An approach to the targeted attachment of peptides and proteins to solid supports. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 73, 3516–3518.
- Hortelão, A. C., Patiño, T., Perez-Jiménez, A., et al. (2017). Enzyme-powered nanobots enhance anticancer drug delivery. Advanced Functional Materials, 28, 1705086.
- Hu, C. M., Fang, R. H., & Zhang, L. (2012). Erythrocyte-inspired delivery systems. Advanced Healthcare Materials, 1, 537–547.
- Hu, C. M. J., Fang, R. H., Luk, B. T., et al. (2013). Marker-of-self functionalization of nanoscale particles through a top-down cellular membrane coating approach. *Nanoscale*, 5(7), 2664–2668.
- Hymel, D., & Peterson, B. R. (2012). Synthetic cell surface receptors for delivery of therapeutics and probes. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 64, 797–810.
- Ierardi, D. F., Pizauro, J. M., & Ciancaglini, P. (2012). Eythocyte ghost cell alkaline phosphatase construction and characterization of a vesicular sytem for use in biomineralization studies. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1567*, 183–192.
- Jadhav, C. M., Vaishali, K., & Payghan, S. A. (2015). Investigation of effect of non-ionic surfactant on preparation of griseofulvin non-aqueous nanoemulsion. *Journal of Nanostructure in Chemistry*, 5, 107–113.
- Ji, P., Murata-Hori, M., & Lodish, H. F. (2011). Formation of mammalian erythrocytes: Chromatin condensation and enucleation. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 21, 409–415.
- Kim, H., Kim, E. J., Hou, J. H., et al. (2009). Opsonized erythrocyte ghosts for liver-targeted delivery of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides. *Biomaterials*, 30(5), 959–967.
- Kina, T., Ikuta, K., Takayama, E., et al. (2000). The monoclonal antibody TER-119 recognizes a molecule associated with glycophorin A and specifically marks the late stages of murine erythroid lineage. *British Journal of Haematology*, 109(2), 280–287.
- Latha, S., Selvamani, P., Naveen Kumar, K., et al. (2012). Formulation and evaluation of capecitabine nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *International Journal of Biological & Pharmaceutical Research*, 3, 477–487.
- Lee, S., Kim, J., Kim, J., et al. (2020). Needle-type microrobot for targeted drug delivery by axing to a microtissue. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, *9*, 1901697.
- Liang, X., Ye, X., Wang, C., et al. (2019). Photothermal cancer immunotherapy by erythrocyte membrane-coated black phosphorus formulation. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 296, 150–161.
- Lieber, M. R., & Steck, T. L. (1989). Hemolytic holes in human erythrocyte membrane ghosts. *Methods in Enzymology*, 173, 356–367.
- Liu, J., Yu, M., Ning, X., et al. (2013a). PEGylation and zwitterionization: Pros and cons in the renal clearance and tumor targeting of near IR emitting gold nanoparticles. *Angewandte Chemie (International Ed. in English)*, 52, 12572–12576.
- Liu, J., Yu, M., Zhou, C., et al. (2013b). Passive tumor targeting of renal-clearable luminescent gold nanoparticles: Long tumor retention and fast normal tissue clearance. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 135, 4978–4981.
- Liu, K., Ou, J., Wang, S., et al. (2020). Magnesium-based micromotors for enhanced active and synergistic hydrogen chemotherapy. *Applied Materials Today*, 20, 100694.
- Lu, Z., Zhang, L., Deng, Y., et al. (2012). Graphene oxide for rapid MicroRNA detection. Nanoscale, 4, 5840–5842.
- Ma, X., Hahn, K., & Sanchez, S. (2015). Catalytic mesoporous Janus nanomotors for active cargo delivery. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 137, 4976–4979.
- Medina-Sánchez, M., Schwarz, L., Meyer, A. K., et al. (2016). Cellular cargo delivery: Toward assisted fertilization by sperm-carrying micromotors. *Nano Letters*, 16, 555–561.
- Misra, R., Acharya, S., & Sahoo, S. K. (2010). Cancer nanotechnology: Application of nanotechnology in cancer therapy. *Drug Discovery Today*, 15, 842–851.

- Nandgude, T. D., & Bhise, K. S. (2013). Development of controlled and colon specific drug delivery system of capecitabine. *Invent Rapid NDDS*, 13, 1–6.
- Nangare, K. A., Powar, S. D., & Payghan, S. A. (2016). Nanoerythrosomes carrier for targeted drug delivery. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutics, 10(3), 223.
- Nguyen, V. D., Han, J. W., Choi, Y. J., et al. (2016). Active tumor-therapeutic liposomal bacteriobot combining a drug (paclitaxel)-encapsulated liposome with targeting bacteria (Salmonella Typhimurium). Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical, 224, 217.
- Nicole Buss, Oncay Yasa, Yunus Alapan et al (2020). Nanoerythrosome-functionalized biohybrid Microswimmers. APL Bioeng. 4: 026103.
- Ong, S., Chitneni, M., Lee, K., et al. (2016). Evaluation of extrusion technique for nanosizing liposomes. *Pharmaceutics*, 8(4), 36.
- Park, B. W., Zhuang, J., Yasa, O., et al. (2017). Multifunctional bacteria-driven microswimmers for targeted active drug delivery. ACS Nano, 11, 8910–8923.
- Qiu, F. M., Fujita, S., Mhanna, R., et al. (2015). Magnetic helical microswimmers functionalized with lipoplexes for targeted gene delivery. *Advanced Functional Materials*, 25, 1666–1671.
- Rao, L., Meng, Q. F., Bu, L. L., et al. (2017). Erythrocyte membrane-coated upconversion nanoparticles with minimal protein adsorption for enhanced tumor imaging. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9, 2159–2168.
- Ryoo, S. R., Lee, J., Yeo, J., et al. (2013). Quantitative and multiplexed MicroRNA sensing in living cells based on peptide nucleic acid and nano graphene oxide (PANGO). ACS Nano, 7, 5882–5891.
- Sahoo, K., Karumuri, S., Hikkaduwa, K. R. S., et al. (2017). Molecular and biocompatibility characterization of red blood cell membrane targeted and cell-penetrating-peptide-modified polymeric nanoparticles. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14, 2224–2235.
- Samira, T., Mahmood, M., Jamal, D., et al. (2014). Covalent binding of nanoliposomes to the surface of magnetotactic bacteria for the synthesis of self-propelled therapeutic agents. ACS Nano, 8, 5049–5060.
- Schauer, O., Mostaghaci, B., Colin, R., et al. (2018). Motility and chemotaxis of bacteria-driven microswimmers fabricated using antigen 43-mediated biotin display. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 9801.
- Schwoch, G., & Passow, H. (1973). Preparation and properties of human erythrocyte ghosts. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 2, 197–218. 11.
- SeungBeum, S., Ami, J., Mahama, A. T., et al. (2019). Nanoscale bacteriaenabled autonomous drug delivery system (NanoBEADS) enhances intratumoral transport of nanomedicine. *Advancement of Science*, 6(3), 1801309.
- Shen, H., Jawaid, A. M., & Snee, P. T. (2009). Poly(ethylene glycol) Carbodiimide coupling reagents for the biological and chemical functionalization of water soluble nanoparticles. ACS Nano, 3, 915–923.
- Song, S. Y., Vuai, M. S., & Zhong, M. T. (2018). The role of bacteria in cancer therapy-enemies in the past, but allies at present. *Infectious Agents Cancer*, 13(1), 9.
- Stevanovic, M., & Uskokovic, D. (2009). Poly (lactide-co-glycolide)-based micro and nanoparticles for the controlled drug delivery of vitamins. *Current Nanoscience*, 5(1), 1–14.
- Sun, X., Han, X., Xu, L., et al. (2017). Surface-engineering of red blood cells as artificial antigen presenting cells promising for cancer immunotherapy. *Small*, 13, 1701864.
- Szeto, G. L., Van Egeren, D., Worku, H., et al. (2015). Microfluidic squeezing for intracellular antigen loading in polyclonal b-cells as cellular vaccines. *Scientific Reports*, 5, article number: 10276.
- Taherkhani, S., Mohammadi, M., Daoud, J., et al. (2014). Covalent binding of nanoliposomes to the surface of magnetotactic bacteria for the synthesis of self-propelled therapeutic agents. ACS Nano, 8, 5049–5060. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn5011304
- Terzopoulou, A., Wang, X., Chen, X., et al. (2020). Biodegradable metal–organic frameworkbased microrobots (MOFBOTs). *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, *9*, 2001031.
- Tu, Y., Peng, F., Sui, X., et al. (2017). Self-propelled supramolecular nanomotors with temperature-responsive speed regulation. *Nature Chemistry*, 9, 480–486.

- VanDersarl, J. J., Xu, A. M., & Melosh, N. A. (2012). Nanostraws for direct fluidic intracellular access. Nano Letters, 12, 3881–3886.
- Villa, C. H., Pan, D. C., Zaitsev, S., et al. (2015). Delivery of drugs bound to erythrocytes: New avenues for an old intravascular carrier. *Therapeutic Delivery*, 6, 795–826.
- Villa, C. H., Anselmo, A. C., Mitragotri, S., et al. (2016). Red blood cells: Supercarriers for drugs, biologicals, and nanoparticles and inspiration for advanced delivery systems. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 106, 88–103.
- Villa, K., Krejčová, L., Novotný, F., et al. (2018). Cooperative multifunctional self-propelled paramagnetic microrobots with chemical handles for cell manipulation and drug delivery. Advanced Functional Materials, 28, 1804343.
- Wang, X., Chen, X., Alcântara, C. C. J., et al. (2019). MOFBOTS: Metal–organic frameworkbased biomedical microrobots. Advanced Materials, 31, 1970192.
- WHO: Geneva, Switzerland. Cancer. 12 September 2018. http://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/cancer.
- Wibroe, A. C., Anselmo, A. C., & Nilsson, P. (2017). Bypassing adverse injection reactions to nanoparticles through shape modification and attachment to erythrocytes. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 12(6), 589–594.
- Wilchek, M., Bayer, E. A., & Livnah, O. (2006). Essentials of biorecognition: The (strept)avidinbiotin system as a model for protein-protein and protein-ligand interaction. *Immunology Letters*, 103(1), 27–32.
- Wilhelm, S., Tavares, A. J., Dai, Q., et al. (2016). Analysis of nanoparticle delivery to tumours. *Nature Reviews Materials*, 1, 16014.
- Wu, Z. G., Li, T. L., Li, J. X., et al. (2014). Turning erythrocytes into functional micromotors. ACS Nano, 8(12), 12041–12048.
- Wu, Y. C., Wu, T. H., Clemens, D. L., et al. (2015a). Massively parallel delivery of large cargo into mammalian cells with light pulses. *Nature Methods*, 12, 439–444.
- Wu, Z., Ávila, B. E. F., Martín, A., et al. (2015b). RBC micromotors carrying multiple cargos towards potential theranostic applications. *Nanoscale*, 7(32), 13680–13686.
- Xu, Q., Wan, J., Bie, N., et al. (2018). A biomimetic gold nanocages-based nanoplatform for efficient tumor ablation and reduced inflammation. *Theranostics.*, 8, 5362–5378.
- Yan, X., Zhou, Q., Vincent, M., et al. (2017). Multifunctional biohybrid magnetite microrobots for imaging-guided therapy. *Science robotics*, 2, 1155.
- Yang, X., Huang, F., Xu, X., et al. (2017). Bioinspired from salivary acquired pellicle: A multifunctional coating for biominerals. *Chemistry of Materials*, 29, 5663–5670.
- Yap, T. A., Sandhu, S. K., Workman, P., et al. (2010). Envisioning the future of early anticancer drug development. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 10, 514–523.
- Yoo, B., Kavishwar, A., Ghosh, S. K., et al. (2014). Detection of MiRNA expression in intact cells using activatable sensor oligonucleotides. *Chemistry & Biology*, 21, 199–204.
- Yu, M., Stott, S., Toner, M., et al. (2011). Circulating tumor cells: Approaches to isolation and characterization. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 192, 373–382.
- Zalipsky, S., Qazen, M., Walker, J. A., et al. (1999). New detachable poly(ethylene glycol) conjugates: Cysteine-cleavable lipopolymers regenerating natural phospholipid, diacyl phosphatidylethanolamine. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 10, 703–707.
- Zelepukin, I. V., Yaremenko, A. V., Shipunova, V. O., et al. (2019). Nanoparticle-based drug delivery via RBC-hitchhiking for the inhibition of lung metastases growth. *Nanoscale*, 11, 1636–1646.
- Zhang, H. (2016). Erythrocytes in nanomedicine: An optimal blend of natural and synthetic materials. *Biomaterials Science*, 4(7), 1024–1031.
- Zhang, Z., Wang, J., & Chen, C. J. (2013). Near-infrared light-mediated nanoplatforms for cancer thermo-chemotherapy and optical imaging. Advanced Materials, 25, 3869–3880.
- Zhang, X., Chen, C., Wu, J., et al. (2019). Bubble-propelled jellyfish-like micromotors for DNA sensing. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 11, 13581–13588.
- Zhou, M., Hou, T., Li, J., et al. (2019). Self-propelled and targeted drug delivery of poly (aspartic acid)/iron-zinc microrocket in the stomach. *ACS Nano*, *13*, 1324–1332.

- Zhu, D. M., Wu, L., Suo, M., et al. (2018). Engineered red blood cells for capturing circulating tumor cells with high performance. *Nanoscale*, *10*, 6014–6023.
- Zhuang, J., & Sitti, M. (2016). Chemotaxis of bio-hybrid multiple bacteria-driven microswimmers. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 321–335.
- Zhuang, J., Carlsen, R. W., & Sitti, M. (2015). pH-taxis of biohybrid microsystems. Scientific Reports, 5, 114–119.

Chapter 11 Role of Artificial Intelligence in Cancer Nanotheranostics



Usha Chockaiyan, Abirami Sitharanjithan, Kiruthika Lakshmi Parameswaran, and Meenakshi Selvaraj

Introduction

Artificial intelligence stands for the intellect of man-made machines which became possible through computer-based algorithms. The integration of various branches of science such as computer science, robotics, engineering, medicine, physiology, linguistics, and psychology resulted in the development of this novel branch of science. The era of artificial intelligence came into glare of publicity by continuous research across the world, and currently it is used as a common name for machine-based algorithms that are being used in various fields. AI can make rapid and accurate decisions similar to the human brain to overcome various hitches faced in diagnosis and therapy of several diseases (Lo et al., 2017).

Even though the algorithms of artificial intelligence were designed to overcome the challenges of industrial applications like maintenance of aseptic conditions, labeling of products, and packaging, now it is widely utilized to predict the severity of diseases, to make decisions related to dose optimization, and to manage surgical procedures especially in clinical oncology (Shiraishi & Moore, 2016; McIntosh et al., 2017). The prevalence and death rate caused by cancer is continuously increasing owing to lifestyle changeover and usage of harmful chemicals for

U. Chockaiyan (🖂)

A. Sitharanjithan CEOA Matriculation Higher Secondary School, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

K. L. Parameswaran Department of Microbiology, The Madura College, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

M. Selvaraj Department of Biology, VMJ School, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India

285

Department of Biotechnology, Lady Doak College, Madurai, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: usha@ldc.edu.in

agricultural and industrial practices. The recurrent cases can be minimized with the help of modern technologies such as tumor adjuvant therapy, robotic surgery, and laparoscopic surgery (Simmons et al., 2017).

The two major difficulties in cancer therapy are delayed diagnosis and its recurrence. Besides that, the precise prognosis and perfect assumptions are not possible in conventional methods. The diagnosis at early stage is very challenging for some types of cancers due to asymptomatic nature and cannot be predicted through scans and other techniques like mammograms. Therefore, there was a boom for the development of several predictive methods for cancer based on statistical tools and modern diagnostic techniques with more accuracy. However, the accurate prediction and diagnosis through artificial intelligence was a big hurdle for scientists and was getting resolved day by day. The algorithms based on AI are playing a vital role in the prognosis of cancer at an early stage. Furthermore, it is providing insights of cancer vulnerability, relapse, and predictions of survival. The literature survey reveals that the magnitude of AI has developed tremendously using the available huge data of clinical oncology (Obermeyer & Emanuel, 2016).

Artificial intelligence is a field of research that correlates mathematical and statistical approaches to build up algorithms for processing large sets of clinical data. Ultimately, this results in accurate conclusions derived by machines without human observation. The branches of AI are deep learning, machine learning, and artificial neural networks. All these subdomains of AI utilize algorithms to identify, analyze, and categorize the data for precise conclusions (Wang & Summers, 2012). Ultimately, the highly advanced computer-based algorithms like gradient boosting, support vector machines, and random forest methods would outpace the classical methods and statistical approaches (Valdes et al., 2016; Valdes et al., 2018).

AI had been adopted in the field of radiology for decision-making in such a way that even it may replace the role of human prophecy in the near future. Furthermore, AI will reveal the facts concealed in the huge clinical data that were needed for decision-making

(Dilsizian & Siegel, 2014; Kolker et al., 2016). Through these data and images from radiology, appropriate diagnosis and treatment of tumors will become possible (Sherbet et al., 2018; Houssami et al., 2019). Hence, the newly rooted AI technology will pave the way for concrete applied research involving clinical oncology and robotics (O'Leary, 2013; Iafrate, 2018). This chapter focuses on the various aspects of artificial intelligence such as delineation of algorithms, development of nanosensors and nanoarrays for computational screening, clinical decision-making, artificial neural networks for synthesis and formulation of nanoparticles, dose determination, and successful cancer treatment by means of nanotheranostics.

Application of AI in Medical Imaging

Artificial intelligence (AI) involves the use of computerized algorithms to analyze data. AI has been used clinically in diagnostic imaging and detection and quantification of an extensive array of clinical conditions. Computer-aided diagnostics have been reported to show excellent precision, sensitivity, and specificity for the detection of abnormalities, with the prospective to improve health.

Machine learning (ML), a part of AI (Samuel, 1959), includes approaches that allow computers to learn from data without being explicitly programmed (Lee et al., 2017). Among the various techniques of machine learning, deep learning (DL) has emerged as a promising technique. DL methods belong to representation learning methods with multiple levels of representation, which process raw data for the detection of clinical conditions (LeCun et al., 2015). At present, many AI imaging studies estimate diagnosis of clinical conditions by calculating sensitivity and specificity (Liu et al., 2019). AI detects minor image alterations, new diagnosis of advanced disease, disease requiring treatment, and conditions likely to affect long-term survival. The occurrence of symptoms, need for disease-modifying therapy, and mortality strongly affect the quality of AI-based investigations (Park et al., 2019).

AI imaging is widely employed in cancer detection and characterization. Highpower quantitative analysis of image alterations is used to predict the probability of malignancy and anticipated tumor kinetics. Let us consider an example of prostate cancer. Prostate cancer has the most prevalent neoplasm in men and lacks an effective screening approach. In the past 5 years, multiparametric MRI was revealed to increase the detection of clinically relevant prostate cancer, but variability remains a major obstacle (Stabile et al., 2020). Deep learning algorithms have been reported to enhance the assessment of MRI features such as texture, volume, and shape.

Due to accuracy in results of AI imaging, physicians have an ability to diagnose advanced prostate cancer while decreasing biopsies in low-probability cases (Yoo et al., 2019). The approach for adrenal incidentalomas could also benefit from AI-based imaging analysis. Adrenal nodules are the most frequently encountered incidental radiographic finding and can reflect malignant or benign conditions (Oren et al., 2020).

Computational Analysis of Multiplex Nanosensors for Differentiating Wild Type and Cancerous Gene

A new trend of employing multiplex nanosensors for differentiating wild types and cancerous genes has attained phenomenal development. These nanosensors are modeled to analyze and quantify the specific chemicals based upon the detectable signals. Some of the commonly used nanosensors are carbon nanowires and nanotubes, gold nanoparticles, and quantum dots. The major significance of these nanosensors includes early diagnosis, continuous monitoring of disease progression, and specific treatment plan for control of cancerous growth (Swierczewska et al., 2012). The analysis of multiplex nanosensors through computational methods requires specialized methods for constructing clusters to classify the huge amount of data collections. Eventually, this analysis will reveal the importance of these nanosensors over other conventional sensors (Scott et al., 2006).

The nanoarray technique was used to recognize genetic profile and expression pattern of subtypes of NSCLC which was earlier based on microarray (Koivunen et al., 2008; Ohashi et al., 2012). These studies about genes and its subtypes involved in lung cancer are useful to plan a treatment method targeting toward the specific site. The mutations in the genes responsible for EGFR and ALKR are significantly affecting NSCLC (non-small cell lung cancer), and the management options based on molecular approaches are recommended (Lawrence et al., 2013). This new approach focuses on the correlation between molecular profile and pathological symptoms to uproot the molecular mechanism and biological phenomenon behind the origin and development of cancer. Ultimately, this results in the appropriate screening and suitable site-directed therapy. Two different researches on KRAS (Tam et al., 2006) and EGFR (Ninomiya et al., 2009) revealed that there is a close relationship between pathological symptoms and mutations in tumor-related genes. The molecular abnormalities at several loci of oncogenes as well as tumor suppressor genes related to NSCLC had been studied (Djuric et al., 2017).

The integration of machine learning algorithms and nanosensors is much useful to find out the subtypes of cancer, growth pattern, and metastasis (Li et al., 2014). The genetic profiling of cancerous genes through microarray technique is helpful in the identification of gene subtypes of NSCLC. This is also useful to design machine learning algorithms to analyze genomic pathways. The identification of adenocarcinoma is mainly based on the microarray data and widely applied to recognize the probable NSCLC biomarkers (Kikuchi et al., 2003). The major pitfall in this approach is the multidimensional analysis of data obtained from imaging and genome profiling, which is a new area of clinical oncology and needs more concrete research. The analysis of genomic profile data results in the identification of transcriptional and translational events of cancerous genes. The images obtained from radiology give details about the pathological changes, cancer development, and spread to the surrounding tissues. The comparison of genomic and imaging data of specific tumors will be more useful to predict the consequences faced from the onset of cancerous growth to its recovery. On the other hand, designing a model to handle such a huge clinical data is a great concern (Wang et al., 2019). But, the advanced sequencing methods along with machine learning algorithms and accurate nanosensors will help the oncologists to distinguish the subtypes of NSCLC on the basis of genome analysis (Podolsky et al., 2016).

There are several in vitro methods developed judiciously to recognize biomarkers such as DNA, RNA, protein, and metabolites in liquid samples (saliva, sweat, urine, and blood) and breath by combining a ligand that can detect the target biomarkers through suitable nanomaterials (Kosaka et al., 2014). Quantum dot nanosensor with a DNA strand conjugated with streptavidin is capable of emitting fluorescence after binding with the mutated gene. It is widely used to differentiate the wild and cancerous KRAS with point mutation at a specific locus (Zhang et al., 2005). These types of sensors can be restructured to identify several other mutant genes and will become the appropriate diagnostic tools to monitor cancer patients through further improvisation. Medically authorized diagnostic tools are already available to isolate malignant cells from blood by magnetic beads incorporated with antibodies for EpCAM (epithelial cell adhesion molecule) (Green et al., 2016). The highly sensitive nanosensors will be more useful for the earlier identification of biomarkers even at femtomolar concentrations during the first stage of cancer development (Fig. 11.1) (Acimovic et al., 2014).

Nanosensors, which can act as olfactory systems and are capable of quantifying the volatile organic compounds (VOC), are available for complex analysis of several metabolites in gaseous state (Wilson & Baietto, 2009). The major advantage of these electronic nose nanosensors is that they do not rely on the antibodies but it can specifically react with volatile organic compounds and produces several patterns in the nanosensor array. This facilitates the application of nanosensor arrays for wide targets such as lung, breast, prostate, and colorectal cancers. The gold nanoparticles with specific ligands are commonly employed nanosensors that can differentiate normal people and cancer patients by analyzing the breath samples (Peng et al., 2010). Several models of electronic nose sensors were developed to detect VOC from the exhalation samples of suspected patients at an early stage (Phillips et al., 1999; Altomare et al., 2013).



Fig. 11.1 Integration of nanosensors and artificial neural networks along with computational analysis using AI methods supports earlier prediction of cancerous biomarkers, suitable drug designing, and dose determination

Computational Analysis in Nanopore Sequencing Using Artificial Neural Networks

Precision medicine is a personalized treatment plan designed for treating cancer patients based on their unique molecular profile. Generation of molecular profile for each patient involves compilation of disease-related biomarkers, which are generated by applying various omics approaches, as molecular signature (Chen et al., 2012). Advent of nanopore sequencing and real-time sequencing of single molecules enhanced the accuracy and speed of omics data generation as they permit direct sequencing of template DNA (Korlach et al., 2010). Single-molecule realtime sequencing provides epigenomic information such as identification of lesions and DNA methylations, which could be utilized as biomarkers for detecting malignancy and other types of cancer (Flusberg et al., 2010). Nanopore sequencing technology is based on detection of change in ionic current during translocation of single-stranded DNA (under a specific voltage) across a lipid membrane (Deamer and Branton, 2002). But, the dispersion of applied electric voltage to adjacent nucleotides near the nanopore affects the detection efficiency and remains a major challenge in the field of nanopore sequencing (Lindsay, 2016). In order to overcome this pitfall, artificial intelligence involving neural network algorithms is widely used in nanopore sequencing to translate voltage signals into nucleotide sequence.

Neural networks consist of several layers of interconnected nodes, which are trained by using known nucleotide sequences, and the alteration in the electrical signals imposed by each nucleotide was recorded to obtain sequencing results with high accuracy (Goodwin et al., 2015). Quantum sequencing, which is an advanced form of nanopore sequencing, involves nanoscale electrodes to measure the changes in electron tunneling when the nucleotide gets translocated through the nanopore (Huang et al., 2010). Machine learning algorithms, like support vector machine algorithms, are being exploited for the interpretation of such electrical signals.

Combination of feature selection with machine learning algorithms can be utilized for detection of disease-specific molecular signatures. Features, such as genes, that are specific to a particular type of cancer can serve as a biomarker in cancer detection based on machine learning algorithms (Ren et al., 2013). Efforts are being taken to combine various omics data, such as epigenomic, proteomic, genomic, transcriptomic, microbiomic, and metabolomic data, to create disease profiles for each patient with high accuracy (Kim et al., 2016).

Role of Artificial Neural Networks in Nanoparticle Biosynthesis

The nanoparticle biosynthesis has reached maximum progress due to increasing awareness to produce nanoparticles by ecofriendly green synthesis. Especially, extracellular biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles using phytochemical extracts and microbes like actinomycetes, fungi, and bacteria had been widely studied (Shameli et al., 2012). The accurate models are needed to study a chemical reaction on the basis of data obtained from experimental research. ANNs (artificial neural networks) are used as powerful tools for the calculation of nanoparticle dimension and percentage yield in different branches of medical as well as engineering fields. The major advantages of artificial neural network include precise prediction without any previous familiarity, its ability to deal with multiple datasets, and detection of both positive and negative correlations (Chandwani et al., 2015).

The nanoparticles were synthesized using varying concentrations of chitosan solution with pH 6.2 and sodium triphosphate to determine the mass ratio for maximum yield of desirable nanoparticles. The characterization of nanoparticles was carried over by the comparative analysis of particle size, zeta potential, and yield. These parameters were also analyzed through artificial neural networks to determine the optimum conditions, and it was found that sodium triphosphate concentration is positively influencing the particle size yield (%). The maximum yield was recorded as 91.5% with 227 nm particle size and + 24.13 zeta potential, and a stable spherical structure was also observed. The analysis of nanoparticles through FTIR spectroscopy and DSC revealed that there are positive interactions between chitosan and sodium triphosphate. The role of artificial neural networks on nanoparticle size and yield determination was useful to formulate the nanoparticle with desired characteristics and high percentage of yield (Rania et al., 2016).

ANN was used to determine the size and polydispersity of nanoparticles synthesized using polymers. A mathematical method was developed using artificial neural networks to analyze the characteristics and yield of biopharmaceutical polymerbased nanoparticles. In addition to that, the effects of polymeric properties such as viscosity, surface activity, and hydrophobicity on the particle size were determined. This research study revealed the prediction of the properties of nanoparticles through in silico method within a least time period than the already existing conventional methods (Youshia et al., 2017).

In another work, gold nanoparticles were biosynthesized using AuCl₄⁻ (tetrachloroaurate) and water-based extract of leaf samples obtained from Camellia sinensis L. The plant extract played the role of a reducing agent as well as a stabilizing agent. These nanoparticles were characterized using TEM, XCRD, and UV-visible spectroscopy. The cost-effective strategies based on ANN algorithms were used to assess the properties of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles. This ANN method was optimized using a biogeography method and chaotic map, and these improvisations lead to less mean squared error (0.0134) and maximum R² value (0.9822) when compared to all other ANN-based algorithms. The accurate prediction of gold nanoparticle size became possible through this optimization protocol. The measurement through ANN was based on the process parameters, such as quantity of leaf extract and AuCl₄⁻, reaction temperature, agitation speed, and time, and it was comparatively analyzed with the results of transmission electron microscopic images. The IBBO (4-3-1 architecture) algorithm forms the basis of this artificial neural network, and it is more advanced than the other existing algorithms. The experimental results revealed that the agitation speed, time of reaction, temperature,

and volume of tetrachloroaurate are positively correlated with the essential characteristics of the nanoparticles. On the other hand, the volume of leaf extract was negatively correlated with the particle size of gold nanoparticles. The particles obtained ranged between 7 and 36 nm under various process conditions. This model was found to be a highly useful method to calculate the size of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles (Shabanzadeh et al., 2019).

Similarly, the computational ANN method was used to optimize and evaluate the size of silver nanoparticles. In this method, four input data, such as the concentration of bentonite, starch, silver nitrate, and gallic acid, were compared with the output (particle size). The production of silver nanoparticles is based on a green biogenic reduction method. The LM algorithm was used to develop ANN. The architecture of the ANN was 4-10-1(4 input nodes, 10 neurons, 1 output layer) and named as MLP (multilayer perceptron). ANN results were compared with the experimental outcomes and revealed that the method was well suitable for in silico analysis of silver nanoparticles. The statistical analysis revealed less MSE and high R^2 value. The predominant factor that affects the nanoparticle size and yield was determined as the concentration of silver nitrate. This study proved that the application of ANN based on LM algorithm (4–10-1) is an economically feasible alternative method to predict the results of nanoparticle biosynthesis (Anupama et al., 2018).

Optimizing Drug Combinations Using AI-Based Tools

The synergistic effects of drug combinations can be obtained by optimization of a set of drugs, which will be useful to improvise the positive results of cancer treatment. There is a great difficulty faced by the researchers in the selection of drug combinations, dosage, and treatment intervals without toxicity. Due to the complex metabolic machineries existing in the living system, some toxic effects may come across during treatment by chance. Though nanomedicines enhance the therapeutic efficiency dramatically, they also have the same problems in the optimization process. Therefore, the combined application of nanomedicine and artificial intelligence will be more useful for the effective management of cancer (Ho et al., 2019).

Several research works to find out the drug combinations for various cancer therapies were carried out in the past few decades to reveal the possibilities behind these obstacles. The combinations of manifold drugs against the renal adenocarcinoma cell line 786–O were studied by Weiss et al. (2015). This type of carcinoma is mostly resistant to radiotherapy and chemotherapy, and the specific drug combinations with targeted release will be useful to overcome this resistance. They found that the optimum concentration of broad spectrum anticancer drugs such as erlotinib, AZD4547, axitinib, and dasatinib minimized the negative effects drastically with their synergistic effect.

An AI-based method named as CURATE.AI was programmed and introduced by Pantuck et al. (2018). This is based on the topographic analysis of the cell surface, and correlation is made with probable physical changes of target cells. This

technique was earlier employed for the treatment of TB patients under immunosuppression for liver transplantation. Later, it was applied to control prostate cancer using enzalutamide and ZEN-3694. This technique was useful to adjust the dosage according to the specific response of the patients under observation. Thus, the CURATE.AI-based therapy for prostate cancer diminished the specific antigen that induces malignancy and arrested the disease spread.

The feedback system control method was introduced by Wang et al. (2018) to optimize drug dosage for cancer treatment by nanotheranostics. This AI-based method was used to determine the optimum concentration and drug-dose relationship with higher cytotoxicity. The drugs optimized were unmodified paclitaxel, nanodiamond-bleomycin, nanodiamond-mitoxantrone, and nanodiamond-doxorubicin. The different amalgamations were tested on various breast cancer cell lines. Their study revealed that AI-based drug dosage and combinations gave better results than the normal conventional methods.

Utilization of Machine Learning Algorithms in Nanotheranostic Formulation to Predict Encapsulation Efficiency

Computational models are being employed efficiently to hasten the development of novel drug delivery systems. Liposomes are considered to be an effective vehicle for delivering drugs. Particularly, nanosized liposomes are of great importance as they are highly stable and allow controlled drug release. Moreover, they can pass through the membrane passively and are efficient in delivering drugs to the target (Barenholz, 2003). Computational modeling could be applied to predict the efficiency of liposome-mediated drug delivery systems. Quantitative structure-property relationship (QSPR) models have been generated using in silico tools to predict the suitability of drugs for remote loading (high intra-liposomal concentration) with 90% accuracy. This high loading efficiency is determined by the structure of the drug molecule and experimental conditions (Cern et al., 2014). Moreover, drug-to-lipid ratio also determines the high loading capacity, as this ratio suggests whether the effective dose of the drug could be achieved by using liposomal drug delivery system. Several imaging techniques and computational models have been designed to monitor the biodistribution and QSPR of liposomes. Artificial intelligence could be exploited as an imaging agent, in which the encapsulation efficiency of the drug can be predicted by loading the drug onto the nanoparticle and by employing machine learning algorithms (Hathout & Metwally, 2016).

Prediction of Personalized Drug Potency Using Computational Tools

Computational tools play a key role in predicting the potential of a drug for each patient individually and enhance their recovery rate. But the inadequacy in algorithm and data availability makes drug response prediction a difficult one. Recent advancement in designing computational models increases the accuracy of prediction, and these machine learning techniques are of great use to the clinicians for prescribing personalized medicines. For instance, computational tools for analyzing single-cell profiles help to sort out the most effective combination of drugs in treating cancer (George et al., 2020).

Neural networks, such as graph convolutional networks, have been designed on the basis of biological information related to cancer (Hamilton et al., 2017). In the field of pharmacogenomics, the relationship between various features, like mutation and gene expression pattern, are incorporated by using conditional scaling technique. In order to understand the complete biological background and to achieve high accuracy in drug screening, integration of multiple models and algorithms becomes mandatory.

Automation in designing and testing neural networks is of prime importance in case of predicting the drug response (Zoph & Le, 2016). Molecular simulation involves designing of drugs as well as the target receptor molecules to elucidate the mechanism of binding and action potential (Xiaoqian et al., 2020).

Biomarker system has been developed to determine binding of drugs and its response. Development of efficient diagnostic kits requires a large set of experimental data and computational tools for analyzing it. Integration of statistical and machine learning tools also gives insights of drug resistance in preclinical (Dhandapani & Goldman, 2017) and clinical levels (Perez-Gracia et al., 2017). Development of drug and elucidation of its response using computational tools and neural networks minimizes the time and expenses, which in turn facilitate the availability of drugs for treating cancer (Xiaoqian et al., 2020).

Relating Drug Dosage, Biodistribution Profiles, and Therapeutic Efficacy of Nanoparticles

AI tools can correlate the condition of the patient and a treatment option to predetermine the effect of a particular drug and its dosage. One such model named pharmacogenetic predictor was used to determine the effect of doxorubicin, fluorouracil, cyclophosphamide, and paclitaxel in breast cancer patients. The genetic profile data obtained from 82 breast cancer patients treated with these drug combinations revealed that the treatment given was effective in 92% of the study population. These AI-based predictors will be much useful to determine the patient-specific dose determination (Hess et al., 2006). The nanomaterial produced using bismuth has been designed as a nanotheranostic tool to get a quality treatment measure for cancer based on the enhancement of image quality. These nanoparticles should be excreted out of the body through the renal pathway if they didn't reach the target tissue. Based on their biodistribution profile, clearance after usage, and other therapeutic efficacies, bismuth-based nanomaterials had been widely studied in vivo. The bismuth-based nanomaterials showed less cytotoxic effects, prolonged biodistribution profile, and appropriate renal clearance pathways. Which were proved through in vitro and in vivo studies. The application of these bismuth-based nanomaterials as a nanotheranostic drug after a clinical approval will result in an effective nanotherapy (Badrigilan et al., 2020).

The nanomedicines are variable chemical structures that should be treated with suitable agents to modify its surface characteristics to escape from phagocytosis (Cho et al., 2008). Besides this, several other factors also severely affect the transport of drugs toward the target tissues. These factors can be avoided from binding with the nanomedicines and nanocarriers by using suitable co-polymers such as glycerate-based chitosan nanoparticles. The glycerate will form stabilized micelles to protect the drug through the intestinal tract and circulation. These co-polymers can be optimized by using AI models (Tian et al., 2015). Therefore, the nanomedicine delivery to the target tissue is mainly influenced by physicochemical and surface characteristics of the nanoparticles. To overcome these biological barriers, the surface-modified carriers are being used in a tissue-specific drug delivery (Fortuna et al., 2011).

Rationalization of Nanomedicine Interaction with Membrane Receptors

Drug-loaded nanoparticles are generally coated with specific ligands like membranebound receptor ligands, antibodies, etc. for the selective binding of nanomedicine to the target tissues. But these drug-loaded nanoparticles with specific ligands cannot ensure proper release of the drug in the target site and its therapeutic efficiency. Hence, rationalization of the nanoparticle has to be performed during the designing stage of nanomedicine in order to enhance the success rate of nanotherapy. Computational modeling paved the way to study the interaction between nanoparticles with vascular endothelium, cell membrane, etc. based on the binding energy of the nanomedicine with the target tissues (Fig. 11.2).

Metropolis Monte Carlo algorithm is widely used for rationalization of the nanoparticles, wherein the computational tools based on system simulation will be used to determine the influence of antibody coverage ratio of each nanoparticle on its binding energy to the system. The results obtained using computational analysis were in congruent with the experimental analysis based on in vivo models and cell culture techniques (Liu et al., 2010).





Computational models are essential to predict the capability of nanomedicine to cross the barriers before reaching the target cells. For example, Shityakov et al. (2017) applied various computational models for predicting the efficiency of nanoparticles in crossing blood-brain barriers as well as the potential toxicity of nanoparticle. These models could be useful for enhancing the efficiency of nanoparticle formulations targeting the brain. But the construction of these models is highly complex and involves large computational capacity, as they require a wide knowledge on physical and biological mechanisms that govern the permeation of nanoparticles.

Machine learning algorithm has been designed to envisage the permeability of nanoparticles against the blood-brain barrier and to determine its side effects and chemical properties (Gao et al., 2017). Designing the machine learning algorithm involves a huge set of experimental data to infer the correlation among the variables for predicting the model. Machine learning models should be selected appropriately to achieve high accuracy. Data types and mathematical relationships among the variables are essential for designing a computational model. For instance, DNA sequences in text format were divided into short oligonucleotides and then converted into two-dimensional image forms in order to create a neural network for predicting the structure of DNA chromatin. This type of data conversion from text to image could be useful for designing computational models for image processing with high degree of accuracy (Yin et al., 2018).

Contribution of Artificial Neural Networks in Survival Prediction of Cancer

Artificial neural networks (ANNs) are widely used in diagnosis of cancer (Cichetti, 1992). ANNs have been effectively employed for pattern recognition and survival prediction of several diseases (Dybowski et al., 1996). The crucial goal of cancer prediction and prognosis are distinct from the goals of cancer identification and analysis. The benefit of a neural network is the capability of the model to capture nonlinearities and complex interactions among factors (Burke, 1996). Trained on a

number of predictive factors, neural networks have been employed to progress the precision of endurance calculation for patients with lung and colorectal cancer (Burke et al., 1997).

Accurate evaluation of survival and prediction duration is the most significant part of a clinical decision-making process in patients with cancer (Chen et al., 2009). The following are the three predictive foci which are to be considered in cancer patients: the calculation of cancer vulnerability, the prediction of cancer reappearance, and the survival prediction of cancer. In the first case, one is trying to predict the possibility of emergence of cancer prior to the incidence of the disease. In the second case, one is trying to predict the probability of reemergence of cancer after the obvious resolution of the disease. In the third case, one is trying to predict the life anticipation, survivability, tumor drug sensitivity, and succession. In the latter two situations, the success of the analytical prediction is apparently reliant on the quality of the diagnosis. However, a disease prognosis can be identified after the diagnosis (Hagerty et al., 2005).

The prediction of diagnosis includes a huge range of decisions about the different aspects of cancer treatment (Van Vliet et al., 2012). The gene expression in normal tissue and diseased tissue will bring an insight and understanding of the cancer pathology (Shimada et al., 2009). Checking gene expression patterns for attributes coupled with the clinical performance is very significant, because these patterns examine prognosis and lead to the alternative approach to recognize the molecular and physiological mechanism.

Previous research reports have given an insight on the influence of analytical methods than histological and clinical data in survival prediction. Recently in the artificial intelligence field, increasing clinical decision support systems based on machine learning methods to evaluate gene expression data have facilitated the medical diagnosis. Studies have revealed the higher precision of machine learning algorithms than regression models in cancer survival prediction (Spechler, 2013). Gene expression data have the possibility to avoid errors caused by fatigue and annoyance of oncology experts in the evaluation of cancer survival. Analyzing such data with machine learning techniques leads to the development of clinical decision support systems for the accurate estimation of survival time and hence provides appropriate treatments to patients.

Predicting Potential Toxicity of Nanoparticles Using Computational Analysis

Nanotheranostics aimed at enhancing the efficiency of the drug to the target system and reducing the side effects. But the toxicological nature and biocompatibility of some nanoparticles create a major hindrance in the clinical translation of nanoparticles. Machine learning models for determining toxicological properties of nanoparticles are limited due to ethical issues, time consumption, and high cost. Chen et al. (2016) classified nanoparticles on the basis of its ecotoxicity using machine learning models. The toxicity data from multiple sources were utilized to develop species-specific models as well as for predicting toxicity for different species using a single model. Ecotoxicology of iron oxide nanoparticles on kidney cells was predicted by using neural network models. The kidney cell viability was predicted based on the surface charge, concentration, incubation time, and particle size of nanoparticles (Hataminia et al., 2019).

Challenges in Clinical Implementation and Future Prospects

Machine learning algorithms have improved the accuracy of cancer detection, treatment, and posttreatment monitoring of patients. Artificial intelligence in integration with traditional imaging techniques such as X-rays, CT, and MRI scans paved the way for early prognosis of cancer and its treatment. It could be useful in the interpretation of some rare pathological data, to which most of the clinicians remain unaware.

Secondly, precision medicine contributes to a major revolution in the treatment of cancer. It also provides newer insights on the distribution of nanomedicine and their therapeutic potential. Unsupervised learning methods aimed at clustering patients into different groups based on their unique feature for developing medical regime. For instance, Franconi and Campesi (2014) found that the gender of the patient is an important feature which affects the therapeutic efficiency, pharmacokinetic properties, and adverse effects of the administered drug, and hence, it has to be considered for developing treatment plans. Similar results were observed by Serpooshan et al. (2018), in which a patient's gender influences the uptake of nanoparticles by amniotic stem cells.

Moreover, utilization of easy-to-use and portable nanosensors can help in the advancement of a patient's follow-up procedure. Development of electronic skin nanosensors allows continuous monitoring of patients via their saliva, sweat, and blood profile analysis (Jin et al., 2016). Gao et al. (2010) designed a sensor for monitoring sweat electrolytes and connected the sensor to a mobile app using Bluetooth. This kind of smart, user-friendly sensor simplifies the follow-up procedure of patients and reduces the work burden of clinicians.

Although artificial intelligence plays a critical role in cancer nanotheranostics, various hurdles and challenges have to be addressed before its clinical translation. Curation and annotation of medical data remains a major obstacle in the construction of artificial neural networks as they require professional expertise.

The most important challenge in clinical translation of AI includes lack of ground-truth data for validation. To evaluate the reliability of AI, the results have to be compared with human experts. But the paucity of the patient's ground clinical data makes the training and validation of AI a difficult one. In spite of various ethical issues, medical data should be made accessible to improve the collaborative research and to develop AI-based computational algorithms. Recently, the National

Institutes of Health supported AI scientists by sharing CT scan and chest X-ray data from their repository (Wang et al., 2017). Moreover, increase in availability of genomics data from various patients enables AI to unravel the unique relationship among patient subgroups, which helps in developing better treatment plans (Kalinin et al., 2018).

In addition to the abovementioned hindrance, there is a lack of transparency among different companies regarding AI techniques. But for the validation of AI algorithms, reproducibility of experimental data is mandatory. Hence, transparency in the techniques along with a well-defined research protocol may help in further improvement and implementation of AI techniques (Hutson, 2018).

Clinicians and patients have to adopt this computational revolution in healthcare instead of experience-based medicines. Doctors have to update their knowledge on AI techniques for using the tools efficiently and for providing effective treatment to the patients (Mesko et al., 2017). Implementation of AI tools in the pathology field helps not only in the diagnosis but also for exploring the ground truth behind them (Zomnir et al., 2018). On the other hand, there are lots of probabilities for the patients to get misinterpreted clinical data. Hence, clinicians should make the patients aware about the risks and benefits of AI (Mesko et al., 2017).

Achieving accuracy in computational techniques remains a major challenge as it requires large datasets for training the ML algorithm. Data collected from a large group of heterogeneous individuals is necessary for developing the models. Experts from various disciplines, such as medicine, nanoparticles, and computer science, should be involved to devise, optimize, and validate the computational tools for increasing the clinical relevance. Further complications in the clinical approval of precision medicine, its production cost, and toxicity analysis have to be addressed.

Successful implementation of precision nanomedicine in cancer treatment will enhance the therapeutic efficacy of the administered drug and prevent the development of drug resistance. The role of computational tools and AI is inevitable in cancer diagnosis as well as in designing, rationalization, and implementation of nanomedicines for treating cancer. But the challenges posed by this digital healthcare transformation should be addressed properly to ensure the safety of the patients.

References

- Acimovic, S. S., Ortega, M. A., & Sanz, V. (2014). LSPR chip for parallel, rapid, and sensitive detection of cancer markers in serum. *Nano Letters*, 14, 2636.
- Altomare, D., Di Lena, M., Porcelli, F., et al. (2013). Exhaled volatile organic compounds identify patients with colorectal cancer. *The British Journal of Surgery*, 100, 144.
- Anupama, T., Roop, K. K., & Amrish, C. (2018). Artificial neural network modelling of Green synthesised silver nanoparticles in bentonite/starch bio-nanocomposite. *Current Nanoscience*, 14, 239.
- Badrigilan, S., Heydarpanahi, F., Choupani, J., et al. (2020). A review on the biodistribution, Pharmacokinetics and Toxicity of Bismuth-Based Nanomaterials. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 15, 7079–7709.

- Barenholz, Y. (2003). Relevancy of drug loading to liposomal formulation therapeutic efficacy. Journal of Liposome Research, 13, 1–8.
- Burke, H. B. (1996). Statistical analysis of complex systems in biomedicine. In D. Fisher & H. J. Lenz (Eds.), *Learning from data: AI and statistics V* (Vol. 112, pp. 251–258). Springer.
- Burke, H. B., Goodman, P. H., Rosen, D. B., Henson, D. E., Weinstein, J. N., Harrell, F. E., Marks, J. R., Winchester, D. P., & Bostwick, D. G. (1997). Artificial neural networks improve the accuracy of cancer survival prediction. *Cancer*, 79, 857–862.
- Cern, A., Barenholz, Y., Tropsha, A., et al. (2014). Computer-aided design of liposomal drugs: In silico prediction and experimental validation of drug candidates for liposomal remote loading. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 173, 125–131.
- Chandwani, V., Agrawal, V., & NagarR. (2015). Modeling slump of ready mix concrete using genetic algorithms assisted training of artificial neural networks. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 42(2), 885–893.
- Chen, Y-C, Yang, W-W, Chiu, H-W. (2009). Artificial neural network prediction for cancer survival time by gene expression data. 3rd International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Engineering, IEEE.
- Chen, R., Mias, G. I., Li-Pook-Than, J., et al. (2012). Personal omics profiling reveals dynamic molecular and medical phenotypes. *Cell*, 148(6), 1293–1307.
- Chen, G., Peijnenburg, W. J., Kovalishyn, V., et al. (2016). Development of nanostructure–activity relationships assisting the nanomaterial hazard 202 categorization for risk assessment and regulatory decision-making. *RSC Advances*, *6*, 52227–52235.
- Cho, K., Wang, X. U., Nie, S., et al. (2008). Therapeutic nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14(5), 1310–1316.
- Cichetti, D. (1992). Neural networks and diagnosis in the clinical laboratory: State of the art. *Clinical Chemistry*, *38*, 9–10.
- Deamer, D. W., Branton, D. (2002). Characteization of nucleic acids by nanopore analysis. Accounts of Chemical Research, 35, 817–825.
- Dhandapani, M., & Goldman, A. (2017). Preclinical cancer models and biomarkers for drug development: new technologies and emerging tools. *Journal of Molecular Biomarkers & Diagnosis*, 8, 356.
- Dilsizian, S. E., & Siegel, E. L. (2014). Artificial intelligence in medicine and cardiac imaging: Harnessing big data and advanced computing to provide personalized medical diagnosis and treatment. *Current Cardiology Reports*, 16, 441.
- Djuric, U., Zadeh, G., Aldape, K., et al. (2017). Precision histology: How deep learning is poised to revitalize histomorphology for personalized cancer care. npj Precision Oncol, 1, 16–24.
- Dybowski, R., Weller, P., Chang, R., & Gant, V. (1996). Prediction of outcome in critically ill patients using artificial neural network synthesised by genetic algorithm. *Lancet*, 347, 1146–1150.
- Flusberg, B. A., Webster, D. R., Lee, J. H., et al. (2010). Direct detection of DNA methylation during single-molecule, real-time sequencing. *Nature Methods*, 7(6), 461–465.
- Fortuna, A., Alves, G., & Falcao, A. (2011). In vitro and in vivo relevance of the P-glycoprotein probe substrates in drug discovery and development: Focus on rhodamine 123, digoxin and talinolol. *Journal of Bioequivalence & Bioavailablity, 1*, 1–23.
- Franconi, F., & Campesi, I. (2014). Pharmacogenomics, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: Interaction with biological differences between men and women. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 171(3), 580–594.
- Gao, W., Chan, J. M., & Farokhzad, O. C. (2010). pH-responsive nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 7(6), 1913–1920.
- Gao, Z., Chen, Y., Cai, X. S., et al. (2017). Predict drug permeability to blood-brain-barrier from clinical phenotypes. *Bioinformatics*, 33(6), 901–908.
- George, A., Ladislav, R., Zhaleh, S., et al. (2020). Machine learning approaches to drug response prediction: Challenges and recent progress. *Npj Precision Oncology*, *4*, 19.

- Goodwin, S., Gurtowski, J., Ethe-Sayers, S., et al. (2015). Oxford nanopore sequencing, hybrid error correction, and de novo assembly of a eukaryotic genome. *Genome Research*, 25(11), 1750–1756.
- Green, B. J., SaberiSafaei, T., Mepham, A., et al. (2016). Beyond the capture of circulating tumor cells: Next-generation devices and materials. *Angewandte Chemie (International Ed)*, 55, 1252.
- Hagerty, R. G., Butow, P. N., Ellis, P. M., et al. (2005). Communiceating prognosis in cancer care: A systematic review of the literature. *Ann Oncol*, 16, 1005–1053.
- Hamilton, W., et al. (2017). Inductive representation learning on large graphs. Neural Information Processing Systems, 1024–1034.
- Hataminia, F., Noroozi, Z., & Mobaleghol Eslam, H. (2019). Investigation of iron oxide nanoparticle cytotoxicity in relation to kidney cells: A mathematical modeling of data mining. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 59, 197–203.
- Hathout, R. M., & Metwally, A. A. (2016). Towards better modelling of drug-loading in solid lipid nanoparticles: Molecular dynamics, docking experiments and Gaussian processes machine learning. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 108, 262–268.
- Hess, K. R., Anderson, K., Symmans, W. F., et al. (2006). Pharmacogenomic predictor of sensitivity to preoperative chemotherapy with paclitaxel and fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide in breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 24, 4236.
- Ho, D., Wang, P., & Kee, T. (2019). Artificial intelligence in medicine. Nanoscale Horizons, 4, 365–377.
- Houssami, N., Kirkpatrick-Jones, G., Noguchi, N., et al. (2019). Artificial intelligence (AI) for the early detection of breast cancer: A scoping review to assess AI's potential in breast screening practice. *Expert Review of Medical Devices*, 16(5), 351–362.
- Huang, S., He, J., Chang, S., et al. (2010). Identifying single bases in a DNA oligomer with electron tunnelling. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 5(12), 868–873.
- Hutson M. (2018). Missing data hinder replication of artificial intelligence studies. sciencemag. org/news. 15:02.
- Iafrate, F. (2018). Artificial intelligence and big data- the birth of a new intelligence. ISTE Ltd and John Wiley & Sons.
- Jin, H., Huynh, T. P., & Haick, H. (2016). Self-healable sensors based nanoparticles for detecting physiological markers via skin and breath: Toward disease prevention via wearable devices. *Nano Letters*, 16, 4194–4202.
- Kalinin, A. A., et al. (2018). Deep learning in pharmacogenomics: From gene regulation to patient stratification. *Pharmacogenomics*, 19, 629–650.
- Kikuchi, T., Daigo, Y., Katagiri, T., et al. (2003). Expression profiles of non-small cell lung cancers on cDNA microarrays: Identification of genes for prediction of lymph-node metastasis and sensitivityto anti-cancer drugs. *Oncogene*, 22, 2192–2205.
- Kim, M., Rai, N., Zorraquino, V., et al. (2016). Multi-omics integration accurately predicts cellular state in unexplored conditions for *Escherichia coli*. Nature Communications, 7(7), 13090.
- Koivunen, J. P., Mermel, C., Zejnullahu, K., et al. (2008). EML4-ALK fusion gene and efficacy of an ALK kinase inhibitor in lung cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14, 4275–4283.
- Kolker, E., Özdemir, V., & Kolker, E. (2016). How healthcare can refocus on its super-customers (patients, n =1) and customers (doctors and nurses) by leveraging lessons from Amazon, Uber, and Watson. *OMICS*, 20, 329–333.
- Korlach, J., Bjornson, K. P., Chaudhuri, B. P., et al. (2010). Real-time DNA sequencing from single polymerase molecules. In N. G. Walter (Ed.), *Methods in enzymology, single molecule tools*, *Pt A: Fluorescence based approaches* (Vol. 472, pp. 431–455). Elsevier Academic Press Inc.
- Kosaka, P. M., Pini, V., Ruz, J. J., et al. (2014). Detection of cancer biomarkers in serum using a hybrid mechanical and optoplasmonic nanosensor. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 9, 1047.
- Lawrence, M. S., Stojanov, P., Polak, P., et al. (2013). Mutational heterogeneityin cancer and the search for new cancer-associated genes. *Nature*, 499, 214–218.
- LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., & Hinton, G. (2015). Deep learning. Nature, 521, 436-444.

- Lee, J. G., Jun, S., Cho, Y. W., et al. (2017). Deep learning in medical imaging:general overview. *Korean Journal of Radiology*, 18, 570–584.
- Li, J., Li, D., Wei, X., et al. (2014). In silico comparative genomic analysis of two non-small cell lung cancer subtypes and their potentials for cancer classification. *Cancer Genomics & Proteomics*, *11*, 303–310.
- Lindsay, S. (2016). The promises and challenges of solid-state sequencing. *Nature Nanotechnology*, *11*, 109–111.
- Liu, J., Weller, G. E., Zern, B., et al. (2010). Computational model for nanocarrier binding to endothelium validated using in vivo, in vitro, and atomic force microscopy experiments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 107(38), 16530–16535.
- Liu, X., Faes, L., Kale, A. U., et al. (2019). A comparison of deep learning performance against health-care professionals in detecting diseases from medical imaging: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Digital Health*, 1, e271–e297.
- Lo, C. M., Iqbal, U., & Liet, Y. J. (2017). Cancer quantification from data mining to artificial intelligence. *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, 145, A1.
- McIntosh, C., Welch, M., McNiven, A., et al. (2017). Fully automated treatment planning for head and neck radiotherapy using a voxel-based dose prediction and dose mimicking method. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, 62, 5926.
- Mesko, B., Drobni, Z., Benyei, E., et al. (2017). Digital health is a cultural transformation of traditional healthcare. *Mhealth*, *3*, 38.
- Ninomiya, H., Hiramatsu, M., Inamuraa, K., et al. (2009). Correlation between morphology and EGFR mutations in lung adenocarcinomas significance of the micropapillary pattern and the hobnail cell type. *Lung Cancer*, 63, 235–240.
- O'Leary, D. E. (2013). Artificial intelligence and big data. IEEE Intelligent Systems, 28(2), 96-99.
- Obermeyer, Z., & Emanuel, E. J. (2016). Predicting the future big data, machine learning, and clinical medicine. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *375*, 1216–1219.
- Ohashi, K., Sequist, L. V., Arcila, M. E., et al. (2012). Lung cancers with acquired resistance to EGFR inhibitors occasionally harbor BRAF gene mutations but lack mutations in KRAS, NRAS, or MEK1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 109, E2127–E2133.
- Oren, O., Blankstein, R., & Bhatt, D. L. (2020). Incidental imaging findings in clinical trials. *JAMA*, 7, 603–604.
- Pantuck, A. J., Lee, D. K., Kee, T., et al. (2018). Modulating BET bromodomain inhibitor ZEN-3694 and enzalutamide combination dosing in a metastatic prostate cancer patient using CURATE.AI, an artificial intelligence platform. *Advances in Therapy*, 1, 1800104.
- Park, V. Y., Han, K., Seong, Y. K., et al. (2019). Diagnosis of thyroid nodules: performance of a deep learning convolutional neural network model vs. radiologists. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 17843.
- Peng, G., Hakim, M., Broza, Y. Y., et al. (2010). Detection of lung, breast, colorectal, and prostate cancers from exhaled breath using a single array of nanosensors. *British Journal of Cancer*, 103, 542.
- Perez-Gracia, J. L., et al. (2017). Strategies to design clinical studies to identify predictive biomarkers in cancer research. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 53, 79–97.
- Phillips, M., Gleeson, K., Hughes, J. M. B., et al. (1999). Volatile organic compounds in breath as markers of lung cancer: A cross-sectional study. *Lancet*, 353, 1930.
- Podolsky, M. D., Barchuk, A. A., Kuznetcov, V. I., et al. (2016). Evaluation of machine learning algorithm utilization for lung cancer classification based on gene expression levels. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 17, 835–838.
- Rania, A., et al. (2016). Chitosan-tripolyphosphate nanoparticles: Optimization of formulation parameters for improving process yield at a novel pH using artificial neural networks. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 86, 50–58.
- Ren, X., Wang, Y., Chen, L., et al. (2013). Ellipsoid FN: A tool for identifying a heterogeneous set of cancer biomarkers based on gene expressions. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(1), e53.
- Samuel, A. L. (1959). Some studies in machine learning using the game of checkers. *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, *3*, 210–229.

- Scott, S. M., James, D., Ali, Z., et al. (2006). Data analysis for electronic nose systems. *Microchimica Acta*, 156, 183.
- Serpooshan, V., Sheibani, S., & Pushparaj, P. (2018). Effect of cell sex on uptake of nanoparticles: The overlooked factor at the nanobio interface. ACS Nano, 12, 2253–2266.
- Shabanzadeh, P., Yusof, R., Shameli, K., et al. (2019). Computational modeling of biosynthesized gold nanoparticles in black Camellia sinensis leaf extract. *Journal of Nanomaterials*, 2019, 1–11.
- Shameli, K., Ahmad, M. B., Zamanian, A., et al. (2012). Green biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using Curcuma longa tuber powder. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 7, 5603–5610.
- Sherbet, G. V., Woo, W. L., & DlayS. (2018). Application of artificial intelligence-based technology in Cancer management: A commentary on the deployment of artificial neural networks. *Anticancer Research*, 38(12), 6607–6613.
- Shimada, Y., Sato, F., Shimizu, K., Tsujimoto, G., & Tsukada, K. (2009). cDNA microarray analysis of esophageal cancer: discoveries and prospects. *General Thoracic and Cardiovascular* Surgery, 57(7), 347–356.
- Shiraishi, S., & Moore, K. L. (2016). Knowledge-based prediction of three-dimensional dose distributions for external beam radiotherapy. *Medical Physics*, 43, 378–387.
- Shityakov, S., Broscheit, J. A., Roewer, N., et al. (2017). In silico models for nanotoxicity evaluation and prediction at the blood-brain barrier interface. *Computational Toxicology*, 2, 20–27.
- Simmons, C. P. L., McMillan, D. C., McWilliams, K., et al. (2017). Prognostic tools in patients with advanced cancer: A systematic review. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 53(5), 962–970.
- Spechler, S. J. (2013). Barrett esophagus and risk of esophageal cancer: a clinical review. *JAMA*, 310(6), 627–636.
- Stabile, A., Giganti, F., Rosenkrantz, A. B., et al. (2020). Multiparametric MRI for prostate cancer diagnosis: Current status and future directions. *Nature Reviews. Urology*, 17, 41–61.
- Swierczewska, M., Liu, G., Lee, S., et al. (2012). High-sensitivity nanosensors for biomarker detection. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 41, 2641.
- Tam, I. Y. S., Chung, L. P., Suen, W. S., et al. (2006). Distinct epidermal growth factor receptor and KRAS mutation patterns in non-small cell lung cancer patients with die rent tobacco exposure and clinicopathologic features. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 12, 1647–1653.
- Tian, Y., Shi, C., Sun, Y., et al. (2015). Designing micellar nanocarriers with improved drug loading and stability based on solubility parameter. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 12(3), 816–825.
- Valdes, G., Luna, J. M., Eaton, E., et al. (2016). MediBoost: A patient stratification tool for interpretable decision making in the era of precision medicine. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 37854.
- Valdes, G., Chang, A. J., Interian, Y., et al. (2018). HDR brachytherapy: Multiple hypothesis testing versus machine learning analysis. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics*, 101, 694–703.
- Van Vliet, M. H., Horlings, H. M., Van De Vijver, M. J., Reinders, M. J., & Wessels, L. F. (2012). Integration of clinical and gene expression data has a synergetic effect on predicting breast cancer outcome. *PloS One*, 7(7), e40358.
- Wang, S., & Summers, R. M. (2012). Machine learning and radiology. *Medical Image Analysis*, 16(5), 933–951.
- Wang X, Peng Y, Lu L et al. (2017). ChestX-ray8: Hospital-scale chest x-ray database and benchmarks on weakly-supervised classification and localization of common thorax diseases. Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition (CVPR). 2097–2106.
- Wang, G., Gao, S., Tian, R., Miller-Kleinhenz, J., Qin, Z., Liu, T., Li, L., Zhang, F., Ma, Q., Zhu, L. (2018). Theranostic hyaluronic acid-iron micellar nanoparticles for magnetic-feld-enhanced in vivo cancer chemotherapy. *ChemMedChem*, 13, 78–86.
- Wang, S., Donghan, M. Y., Ruichen, R., et al. (2019). Artificial intelligence in lung Cancer pathology image analysis. *Cancers*, 11, 1673.

- Weiss, A., Berndsen, R. H., Ding, X., et al. (2015). A streamlined search technology for identification of synergistic drug combinations. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 14508.
- Wilson, A., & Baietto, M. (2009). Applications and advances in electronic-nose technologies. Sensors, 9, 5099.
- Xiaoqian, L., Xiu, L., & Xubo, L. (2020). A Review on Applications of Computational Methods in Drug Screening and Design. *Molecules*, 25(1375), 1–17.
- Yin, B., Balvert, M., Zambrano, D. et al. (2018). An image representation based convolutional network for DNA classification. International conference on learning representations (ICLR), arXiv preprint arXiv:1806.04931. 10:27:44.
- Yoo, S., Gujrathi, I., Haider, M. A., & Khalvati, F. (2019). Prostate cancer detection using deep convolutional neural networks. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 19518.
- Youshia, J., Ali, M. E., et al. (2017). Artificial Neural Network based Particle Size Prediction of Polymeric Nanoparticles. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 119, 333–342.
- Zhang, C. Y., et al. (2005). Single-quantum-dot-based DNA nanosensor. Nature Materials, 4, 826.
- Zomnir, M. G., Lipkin, L., & Pacula, M. (2018). Artificial intelligence approach for variant reporting. JCO Clinical Cancer Information, 2, CCI.16.00079.
- Zoph, B. & Le, Q. V. (2016). Neural architecture search with reinforcement learning. Preprint at https://arxiv.org/abs/1611.01578

Chapter 12 Limitations of Current Cancer Theranostics



Akshada Mhaske, Sayali Dighe, Shruti Ghosalkar, Vidhi Tanna, Padmini Ravikumar, and Sujata P. Sawarkar

Introduction

Throughout the last decade, a tremendous breakthrough in nanotechnology has resulted in highly versatile nanomaterials worthy of recognizing, tracking, regulating, and curing disease progression (Caldorera-Moore et al., 2011). Nanocarriers have shown promising results in the therapy of cancer, which is the second leading cause of death worldwide. Nearly 7,556,956 deaths are caused by cancer in the year 2020. Owing to new studies reported in The Lancet Oncology, the worldwide cancer prevalence is expected to increase by greater than 75% by the year 2030. This surge is expected to become even greater in the developing countries, with the poorest countries witnessing a predicted rise of higher than 90%. The complex composition of cancerous tumors quite often makes it complicated to provide an accurate diagnosis and effective treatment. Interindividual tumor variability is due to the wide variability of the types of tumors, distinct genetic factors, and histogenesis (Bray et al., 2019). Conversely, traditional cancer treatment modalities, such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy, lack the individualized treatment approach as tumor characteristics vary from person to person (Guo et al., 2019; Peng et al., 2019; Thorat et al., 2019). Currently, the nanotheranostic approach has been widely applied in cancer treatment for early tracking and diagnosis.

The idea of theranostics usually includes combining medication, diagnostic tools, and image analysis methodologies into a single procedure for cancer care regimen. Integrating nanostructures (nanocarriers, imaging nanoagents) with theranostics on a single framework is referred to as "nanotheranostics." One of the goals of the nanotheranostic approach is to develop personalized and uniquely engineered

A. Mhaske · S. Dighe · S. Ghosalkar · V. Tanna · P. Ravikumar (⊠) · S. P. Sawarkar (⊠) Department of Pharmaceutics, SVKM's Dr. Bhanuben Nanavati College of Pharmacy, Mithibai College Campus, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India e-mail: padmini.ravikumar@bncp.ac.in; sujata.sawarkar@bncp.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_12

chemotherapeutic agent-associated nanocarriers, which can both provide therapy and perform diagnosis according to the tumor variability of an individual (Tang et al., 2019a, 2019b; Yu et al., 2019; Liao et al., 2020; Boehnke et al., 2020). Leveraging the application of nanocarrier and anticancer agents makes nanotheranostics an attractive technique for cancer treatment. Nanotheranostics deliver and release chemotherapy agents in reaction to internal or external signals or stimuli to elicit a successful therapy (An et al., 2019). Simultaneously, monitoring and regulating drug release can allow cancer clinicians to supervise excess chemotherapyinduced adverse effects or insufficient dose (Ding et al., 2019).

Although nanotheranostics have numerous advantages, some challenges need to be tackled for successful delivery. The biggest obstacle in the preclinical characterization of nanotheranostics is the need for a thorough comprehension of nanoformulations. The consistency of the formulations under the varying environments that could affect their efficacy should be scrutinized at each point of the process of production. The application of multifunctional nanomedicine platforms is limited by high levels of production expenditure and difficulties in their development process. The main obstacle for their clinical therapy is the conflicting intervals and proportions of imaging and therapeutic agents used in these platforms. Although the primary aim of the imaging technique is to use the minimum quantity of imaging agent for a short period to achieve a high signal-to-noise ratio, for therapeutics, the maximum allowable dose (maximum tolerated dose) is required to induce a good potential cytotoxic effect (Svenson, 2013). Another drawback is the difficulty in successfully encapsulating both cytotoxic and image contrasting agents within a single nanocarrier. According to the principle, if the encapsulated sections do not modify the surface properties and dimension of the nanostructures, combined encapsulation is not necessary, given that these are administered simultaneously in a balanced proportion. However, as it is proven, the implanted substance can affect physicochemical processes; there is a consistent drawback of targeting strategy. The main aim of combining sophisticated guided delivery systems is to enhance the specificity of presently existing therapies. There is a reason for integrating multiple approaches within a single nanocomposite to address the shortcomings of each modality, leading to the development of multidisciplinary nanotheranostics.

Current Nanotheranostic Platforms for Cancer

Numerous nanotheranostic frameworks have become introduced over the last tenure. However, the most widely used nanotheranostics are gold nanoparticles, mesoporous silica nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes, liposome-based nanocomposites, and upconversion nanoparticles. These nanocomposites make it possible to imagine and track the path followed by the formulation, to provide insights on pharmacokinetics, intra-organic and intra-tumor utilization, and drug efficacy and safety profile. The stability of nanoparticles should be maintained inside the body. It must withstand intervention from the host's defense mechanism before it enters its key trigger site and is ingested. The form and size of nanotheranostics used are relevant to their potency at a binding site (Penet et al., 2014).

Gold Nanoparticle (AUNPs)

AuNPs made with gold bases are a revolutionary device that displays special attributes for theragnostic delivery. They are biocompatible primed by chemical modification with hydrogen tetrachlorocuprate and are often in the form of balls, cubes, sticks, cages, and wires. The gold nanoparticles can be easily customized into different sizes and shapes or can be conjugated with the other surface. Researchers can take advantage of this flexibility to explore its potential in nanotheranostics, particularly in malignant tumors. Compared to other nanoparticles, gold nanoparticles have demonstrated an antineoplastic impact caused by oxidative emphasis on the cellular level. The powerful aspects of gold nanoparticles involve characteristic diagnostic properties, monodispersible ability, surface-to-volume ratio, less toxicity, and ability to connect the biomolecule, and packing of therapeutic agents is carried out by electrostatic activity as well as covalent conjugation (Norden et al., 2008; Fan et al., 2017). Wang and his work colleagues had already created a double stratified device for chemotherapeutic drug delivery. The LDH-Gd/Au nanoparticles demonstrated a strong non-anionic chemotherapeutic drug volume fraction of DOX (264 mg drug/g carrier, which shows a feature of pH-sensitive activation.

Magnetic Nanoparticle (MNP)

MNPs have proven to be effective in enhancing targeted cancer drug delivery with the aid of magnetic resonance imaging. Nanoparticles can be retained in tumor tissues in conjunction with an external force field. Due to this field, the magnetic center elevates the targeted delivery of nanoparticles. Iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs) typically comprise of a magnetic center, e.g., magnetite/iron oxide and an external polymeric shell starch and dextran are used. They provide a valid approach of application in theranostics, owing to potential superparamagnetic effects, suitable biocompatibility, and its use as a contrast agent in MRIs. MNPs have proven promise as nanomedicines in enhancing drug delivery at cancer sites with the benefit of MRI tracking. IONPs are best known to be biocompatible since they degrade in the biological process and metabolize into the serum (Sonali et al., 2018). The key limitation of magnetic nanoparticles is the low solubility in water and accumulation within the cell. For example, Santra and his colleagues used poly(acrylic amide) (PAA) to embed lipophilic NIR dye and anticarcinogenic drug Taxol inside hydrophobic spaces, combining a double-fluorescence nanostructure with MRI imaging tracking of drug delivery in a theranostic.

Quantum Dots (QD)

QDs are nanosized inorganic multifunctional platforms for nano-therapy. Quantum dots have lately been identified as appealing diagnostic operators for therapeutic purposes, which are noticed to be better than traditional organic fluorophores. For example, cadmium and zinc sulfide-based QDs are the most common nanostructures in clinical diagnostics. It comprises Cd-Se (cadmium-selenium) center that is laminated with a heap of zinc sulfide (Zhang et al., 2017). For example, QDs-525 and QDs-585 are selective for HER2 (generally expressed in breast cancer) and type IV collagen (ECM) and have explored the function of HER2 in breast cancer cell lines.

Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs)

CNTs have a cylindrical tube resulting from stacks of graphene layers (allotropic forms). They have unique electronic and mechanical properties ideal for theranostic formulation. CNTs will boost cancer therapy, which offers a good substitute for therapeutic implementation and also provides potentially lethal heat for NIR irradiation. If the cells are taken up, they can also interfere with proteins and DNA to influence cell signaling or mechanism for other treatments.

Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles (MSNPs)

Mesoporous silica nanoparticles are developing delivery systems and are widely studied in terms of their configurable size. A lot of diverse drugs like paclitaxel, camptothecin, doxorubicin, and methotrexate are incorporated into mesoporous nanoparticles. Bioresponsive MSN prevents early release and provides fluorescent images, whereas trifunctional MSN covers the benefit of target specificity (ATN0647N is used as a contrasting agent) and minimal damage to healthy cells.

Upconversion Nanoparticles (UCNPs)

Components are activated by the uptake of low power radiation at a higher wavelength, accompanied by the transmission of light with greater intensity. Such feature makes upconversion nanoparticles successful nanotheranostic applications (Fang & Wei 2016). A narrow and sharp UCNP emission band considerably enhances the productivity and responsiveness of upconversion nanotheranostics. Lanthanide containing upconversion nanoparticles is most widely used, as they are rapidly removed from circulation (Auzel 2004). Upconversion nanoparticles are insoluble in water due to their hydrophobic nature, and they are also sometimes water-dispersible. The benefits of UCNPs are small emission levels, strong physical-chemical stability, broad stroke shift range, and reduced toxicity. UCNPs are also important substitutes to traditional fluorescent probes for clinical applications (Sonali et al., 2018).

Polymeric Nanoparticles (PNPs)

Polymeric nanoparticles have proven unique benefits due to their ability to trap antineoplastic agents and restrict their metabolization (Van Haute et al., 2018). The therapeutic value of various water-soluble or insoluble drug products has been shown to enhance bioavailability, solubility, and retention (Invernici et al., 2011). Such traditional natural polymers that are used for the development of nanoparticles involve chitosan, gelatine, polyanhydride, etc.

Polymeric Micelles (PMs)

The pH-sensitive polymeric micelle self-assembled from a biodegradable brushtype copolymer (PHF-g-(PCL-PEG)) showed a threefold increase of cumulative drug release at pH 5.0 than that of at pH 7.4. PEG, poly(acrylic acid), and dextran are also reported to create the micellar outer shell, which offers defense from drug clearance by suppressing opsonization process and reducing clearance by the RES uptake. The extent and design of the hydrophilic polymers had an impact on the dimension of the polymeric micelles and also expressed the particle aggregation pattern at the tumor site and subsequent internalization capacity of the tumor cells.

Solid Lipid Nanoparticles (SLNs)

Solid lipid nanocarriers are effective possible opportunities in anticancer therapy. It is synthesized by dispersing lipids and surfactant with aqueous media. This adds the perks of both lipidic formulation and polymeric nanoparticles and exhibits an enhanced degree of safety in the host's biological conditions. SLN can be loaded with various imaging agents and can also incorporate various contrasting agents. This nanostructure is accountable for the continued delivery of anticancer drugs and has effective penetrability throughout the outer cellular membrane and enhanced cytotoxicity. Table 12.1 highlights the advantages and disadvantages of current nanotheranostic platforms.

Limitations of Current Cancer Nanotheranostic Approach

Design and Development Limitations

The development of nanotheranostics has largely benefited from nanoscience advancements since many drug deliveries based on nanoparticle platforms represent a logical and basic choice for developing nanotheranostic systems (Cui & Wang, 2016). There are few nanotheranostic platforms that have been present for decades. However, frequently employed are traditional platforms like silica and gold, silver nanoparticles, liposomes, quantum dots, and composite nanoparticles.

The physicochemical property of nanoparticles like size, shape, surface functionalization, and charge decides their fate. Nanoparticles with small size (<20 nm) undergo rapid distribution but also get subjected to quick renal clearance. On the other hand, nanoparticles of larger size (>200 nm) undergo clearance by the mononuclear phagocytic system and accumulate in various organs like the spleen and liver. Also, the size distribution is a key factor to be taken into consideration while designing nanotheranostics. The normal size distribution for a wide variety of particles is <200 nm in size, to confer the full advantage of nanomedicines. The pore size of the endothelial junction in the tumor environment lacks lymphatic drainage, which further enhances the retention effect and permeability of nanoparticles. Nanoparticles have a unique characteristic that affects their application in imaging and functionalization. For example, certain sizes are strongly recommended and serve advantageous for targeting specific sites and exhibit their action particularly in anticancer treatment. The particular size supports their circulation time over standard anticancer therapeutics in vivo and enhances the absorption from the tumor blood vessels into tissues via tumor vasculature. Some methods of nano-fabrication utilize toxic raw material or generate toxic by-products. This phenomenon needs to be understood completely to be clear with the harmful effects of engineered nanoparticles as it largely depends on the species as well as the size and geometry of particles (Murty et al., 2013). After size, the surface property of nanoparticles plays an important role, which affects interaction and behavior with cells and protein. For example, in the case of siRNA, the diffusion across the plasma membrane is thwarted by anionic charge and large size, which prevents accumulation intracellularly (Gavrilov & Saltzman, 2012). Another example is of Myocet® and Doxil® is quite relative. Non-stealth or conventional liposomes have a higher affinity for the mononuclear phagocytic system, and they get quickly removed from circulation. PEGylated liposomes of doxorubicin have shown prolonged half-life, enhanced drug concentration, and better efficacy with limited side effects as compared to conventionally available doxorubicin formulation. Myocet®, the non-PEGylated liposomes of doxorubicin combined with cyclophosphamide for breast cancer, is superior to it. The component variations allow Myocet to exhibit reduced toxicity and no hand-foot syndrome.

Some important factors that are to be considered while working with nanoparticles in nanotheranostics are:

Nanotheranostics			
platforms	Advantages	Limitations	References
Gold nanoparticles	These are easy to synthesize, and the Surface can be modified easily. The targeted delivery can be achieved with attachment of ligands	There are many toxicity concerns related to gold nanoparticles. The lack of standardized assay methods results into altered interpretation which limits their application	Arvizo et al. (2010) Cell et al. (2019)
Polymeric micelles	They provide high drug loading capacity especially for hydrophobic drugs. These are nontoxic platforms And can exhibit controlled release	They show variation in blood circulation time. The stability shows variation in some cases	Ahmad et al. (2014) Yokoyama (2014)
Polymeric nanoparticles	The method of preparation is easy. It provides targeted delivery and high therapeutic efficiency	They show cytotoxicity via accumulation inside organs. They exhibit limited capacity of targeting. Some of them demonstrate carcinogenicity and inflammation	Singh et al. (2017) Gopalasatheeskumar et al. (2017)
Mesoporous silica nanoparticles	They have large Pore size, great compatibility, and biodegradability. They make stable dispersion in aqueous environment	The reproducibility is complex, And they also require expensive processes for manufacturing	Vallet-Regí et al. (2018) Jafari et al. (2019)
Carbon nanotubes	They exhibit great Mechanical strength; they have high surface area and aspect ratio and exhibit excellent conductivity. They increase the capacity of molecular imaging by enhancing sensitivity and selectivity of detection	They demonstrate toxicity by rupturing cell membrane, show cytotoxicity, produce reactive oxidative species, and also show biochemical toxicity	Gholizadeh et al. (2016) Porwal et al. (2017) Shao et al. (2013)
Quantum dots	They show good stability. They have broad band spectrum and high Surface-to-volume ratio	They usually have large size (10–30 nm) and also exhibit blinking response They also induce cytotoxicity	Barroso (2011)

 Table 12.1
 Highlighting the advantages and limitations of current nanotheranostics platforms

(continued)

Nanotheranostics	Advantages	Limitations	Poforonoos
platforms Magnetic nanoparticles	Advantages Magnetic nanoparticles demonstrate another type of hyperthermia behavior, are superparamagnetic, and also demonstrate effective targeting	Limitations They demonstrate varied toxicity depending on sizes. Also MNPs can Induce a cytotoxic reaction upon internalization. Further issue is with	References Mandal et al. (2017) Markides et al. (2012)
11	TTL	their poor degradation and accumulation in organs	J. D. s. J. st. sl
nanoparticles	They exhibit high signal-to- noise ratio, and they have greater photo stability; they show minimal photo damage and demonstrate deep tissue penetration. They can also show light stimuli drug release	They exhibit low targeting efficiency and thus require more strategies to deliver therapeutics at a target site. Only a small fraction reaches to tumor site	del Rosal et al. (2019) Ang et al. (2011) Wu et al. (2015)
Lipid nanoparticles	They enhance bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs. They are biocompatible and show controlled release	The design of lipid nanoparticle is complicated and often shows instability	Shahi et al. (2015) Lee et al. (2012)

Table 12.1 (continued)

- 1. Thorough knowledge of the target cell type and biomarkers present at the target site.
- 2. Route of therapeutic administration and pathway that will be followed to reach the site of action.
- 3. In vivo stability of nanoparticles (they must show resistance to immune reaction).
- 4. The nanoparticle's size and shape play a vital role and it directly controls the efficacy.

Rod-shaped, disk-shaped, and worm-like, all differ in their drug loading capacity, absorption at the target site, circulation time, and uptake at the target site, for example, for cancer theranostics, the recommended shape is spherical.

A simple alteration in nanoparticle shape provides new labeling opportunities. Example nano-prisms show interaction with light differently as compared to spherical particles and subsequently appear differently colored. This variation provides the basis of multiplexed assays, wherein nanoparticle labels are made from the same material but depend on shape differences to generate unique optical signals (Emerich & Thanos, 2006).

5. The size range of nanoparticles may vary from 50 nm to 200 nm. In the intestine, this size range has been tested.

All these characteristics of nanoparticles were found beneficial in the field of personalized medicines in diagnosis even based on biomarker identification.

Based on the reports, the ideal size required for tumor targeting nanoparticles is in the range of 70–200 nm. From a technical standpoint, polymeric particles can hardly be made with a size smaller than 5 nm. To highlight the major role of size, the difficulties of getting precise measurements of size will be the first standpoint. However, out of all techniques, most cited ones are SEM and LS (Gaumet et al., 2008).

Another challenge in the development of nanotheranostic platforms is the successful manufacturing of nanotheranostics. Conventional formulation development does not involve the creation of a 3D system of nanoscale multi-components, and this leads to a series of challenges for scale-up of nanoparticles. Complete knowledge of multi-components with their interaction is the main requirement to define key characteristics of the formulation. Identifying important manufacturing conditions is essential to achieve the main function and attributes. Based on conditions, the procedure may result in a changed chemical structure of API with a substantial quantity of impurities. In the case of macromolecules specifically biologics, it may lead to altered conformation, cross-linking, denaturation, coagulation, and degradation. Ideally, the manufacturing process should be robust and should be streamlined so that it ensures easy scale-up for production. Nanoparticles which are to be administered by parenteral route need sterilization, where it will face problems related to particle size and composition; also they are known to get damaged by the method of sterilization. The sterilization method is not problematic when the structure is malleable or has flexibility (Desai, 2012). Another issue during the manufacturing of nanoparticles is the safety of the environment. The handling and dealing with dry matter of nanometer range requires specific caution as nanoparticles which are airborne distribute as aerosols. The deposition of these nanoparticles in the lung leads to pulmonary toxicity. During the preparation of the dosing solution, the aerosolization should be avoided to prevent unintended exposure. Nanoparticles which are created in liquid environments demonstrate low impact on the environment, presumably the same as standard manufactured liquid pharmaceutical formulations. The most challenging aspect of developing nanomedicines is a selection of the most suitable analytical method to characterize nanomedicines whether biologically, physically, or chemically from technical and regulatory perspectives. More innovative methods of testing are continuously being developed and used for the analyzing nanoparticles. However, these tests cannot differentiate between an active and inactive formulation effectively. The most critical feature for the intended function is the spatial distribution of these moieties. To determine these aspects, another series of tests are required. Also to validate the highly reproducible process of manufacturing, it is essential to have a well-established "structure-function" test. Some of the nanotherapeutics have complex complicated components (protein, nucleic acid), forming an integral part of nanotherapeutics, which might be sensitive to the condition of the manufacturing process and sometimes can undergo changes during manufacturing. These components are not necessarily the "active" moiety, but their presence might play a role in targeting biological pathways or specific cells or
distribution in the body. These ingredients can't be counted as inactive and should be characterized completely by an accurate analytical method. However, with the latest upcoming techniques, this limitation can be overcome (Neuberger et al., 2005).

Biopharmaceutical Limitations

It is important to achieve desired pharmacokinetic (PK) and pharmacological (PD) profiles for successful nanomedicines. However, few limitations are associated while applying the standard criteria of small therapeutic molecule PK to nanomedicines PK. The fact is well known that small changes in composition can affect the biodistribution largely. To characterize the behavior of the wide range of potential nanoparticles, the standard pharmacological strategies are not appropriate. Several factors like composition, physicochemical properties, and geometry influence the PK and biodistribution of therapeutic within nanoparticles compared to the conventional approach. The uniform effective method of designing nanomedicines to achieve optimized PK profile still doesn't exist. A unique approach was the attempt to prolong circulation using nanomedicines to take advantage of EPR effect. However, for required indication, this approach might not be appropriate every time and in a few cases might result in reduced efficacy and undesired exposure. In summary for nanomedicines, the standard PK might not be appropriate as plasma PK is not always representative of PK within tumor and site of disease, and hence it might fail to predict clinical activity. Contrary to this, it is more relevant to consider PK at the site of action since it shows a better correlation with therapeutic efficacy. This is mainly in the case of targeted nanoparticles. In conclusion, the development of medicines based on nanoparticles has numerous biopharmaceutical limitations. When a certain parameter gets altered, it results in changes in the PK profile of nanoparticles, and hence there is a need for different pharmacokinetic approaches for various diseases. Rather than using the standard approach for testing PK of plasma, it is more relevant to consider physicochemical properties and accumulation of active agents at the target site for evaluating the activity of nanomedicines and ensuring reproducibility. In the future, these approaches may also be effective for characterizing the bioequivalence of nanotechnology-based products (Desai, 2012).

Immunological Limitations

The different factors elicit an immune response. Nanoparticles sometimes themselves can be antigenic, where immunogenicity is influenced by size, charge, hydrophobicity, and surface characteristics. Sometimes nanoparticles get recognized as foreign bodies and are opsonized by plasma proteins, which activate complement pathways causing phagocytosis and clearance by macrophages. The complement activation also causes undesired provoking consequences which include lifethreatening allergy, hypersensitivity, and anaphylactic reactions along with activation immune response against the nanoparticles. Nanoparticles have also been reported to be associated with hematologic safety concerns like thrombogenicity and hemolysis. The antibodies against nanoparticles can induce immunogenic or non-immunogenic hemolysis. It has been demonstrated that a positive surface charge enhances the damage of erythrocytes and hemolytic potency. The nanoparticles whose surface is modified with hydrophobic-hydrophilic region act as a surfactant to disturb erythrocyte membrane. These toxicity limitations of nanoparticles impose significant limitations to assure the safety of medicines based on nanoparticles. A preferred safety profile would be required for careful adjustments of composition and key parameters during manufacturing. Minute differences in components or conformation arise, which could change the nanoparticle toxicities. Another challenge is the testing of nanoparticle toxicity. Listed in vitro assays may test the interaction between nanoparticle and immune system, which includes hemolysis assay, plasma coagulation, platelet aggregation, and phagocytosis. For predicting the immunological response, rodents are not very predictive, whereas rabbits show hypersensitivity to antigens. The preclinical study of toxicity specifically related to immunotoxicity cannot precisely predict the safety of nanomedicines. More likely in the case of nanomedicinal products, the immunological studies might need to be carried out in human trials (Desai, 2012).

Limitations Related to the Interaction of Nanotheranostics

To overcome various biologic barriers, nanomaterials must be engineered skillfully so that they can perform therapeutic action at a disease site. The biological effect of a complex interaction between nanomaterial and barriers is still not understood completely. Interaction between nanomaterial and various biological components in the cancer microenvironment will be discussed in this section. Table 12.2 describes the key factors influencing the interaction between biomolecules and nanotheranostics.

Interactions with Complement

The dual activation of the complement system by the surface of nanoparticles results into uncontrolled release of high pro-inflammatory mediators known as "anaphylatoxins" and opsonization by C3b or iC3b, which leads to the uptake of nanoparticles by phagocytic cells. However, pseudo-allergy related to activation of complement induced by nanocarriers is highly concerned. There is more preclinical and clinical research required to understand the implication of complement activation on the performance of nanocarriers (Anchordoquy et al., 2017).

Factor	Significance
Size	The small particle size promotes rapid interaction with the cell membrane and leads to greater accumulation
Shape	The shape of the nanoplatform influences the endocytosis process, biodistribution, elimination, and internalization
Surface modification	The surface chemistry influences the plasma protein binding, absorption, bypassing BBB, and colloidal behavior
Protein corona	The interaction between nanoparticles and protein results in the formation of protein corona which alters the physicochemical and biological identity of nanoplatforms

 Table 12.2 Addressing key factors influencing the interaction between nanotheranostics and biomolecules

Interaction with Serum Protein

During the circulation of nanoparticles within the body, they get exposed to a complex system of fluid which contains biomolecules, blood, lymph, cytoplasm, etc. Protein and some other biomolecules like albumin, fibrinogen, and transferrin compete with each other for the binding site on the nanomaterial surface. This will result in alteration of the secondary structure, and it results into the formation of soft as well as hard protein corona. This formed corona on the surface of nanomaterials impacts the biological interaction of nanomaterials like biodistribution and cellular compartments. The physicochemical characteristics of nanomaterials will be influenced by the properties, formation, and composition of the protein corona. Nanomaterials with negative charge show enhanced uptake and improved lysosomal escape with no toxicity; they also exhibit particular interaction with a biological membrane of negative charge (Dorothy et al., 2021).

Interaction with Mononuclear Phagocytic System (MPS)

The main factor for reduced concentration of therapeutics at tumor site and less efficacy of therapy is MPS. The liver, lymph node, and spleen contain the majority of MPS. The nanomaterials with positive charge have a high affinity for macrophages as compared to the anionic and neutral nanomaterial. Upon attaching surface protein like opsonins, there are greater chances of them getting recognized by scavenger receptors of Kupffer cells. Around 95% of administered nanoparticles get cut off by MPS. However, strategies to avoid uptake by MPS have been established, such as modification of the surface with zwitterions, PEG, and dysopsonic proteins, which allows bypassing the phagocyte-mediated barrier and enhances blood circulation time and efficacy of theranostics.

Limitations Related to Tumor Targeting

The microenvironment of a tumor mainly consists of tumor cells, stromal cells, cells from the immune system, extracellular matrix, etc. The existing therapies have mainly failed due to the tumor microenvironment which limits the access of drugs to tumor cells. When nanomaterials enter through the blood vessel leakage, they will first interact with the microenvironment of the tumor, where it acts as a physical and biological barrier for drug delivery to solid tumors. The M2 type of macrophage, which is a different type, traps and degrades the nanomaterial delivered to the tumor. Also, the high pressure of tumor interstitial fluid forces the nanomaterial to go back to circulation, thus preventing them from reaching the target site. All these pathophysiological characteristics affect and delay the intratumoral delivery of nanotheranostics. In the case of metal and metal oxide NPs, there is another phenomenon that is called "dissolution" because of the large surface area and reactivity. Different approaches have been used to overcome these stromal barriers and increase intratumoral targeting (Jang et al., 2003). In the case of active targeting, the strategy is that the targeted NP demonstrates a reduction in tumor penetration than nontargeted NPs. Though macromolecules like polymers, antibodies, and nanoparticles predominantly accumulate in the tumor over healthy tissues, when they reach the target site, they exhibit reduced penetration because of the reduced rate of suppressed convective movement and diffusion in the tumor. When the targeted nanoparticle gets bound to the target followed by extravasation, their mobility in that tissue reduces, which enhances heterogeneity in the intratumoral distribution of NPS and results in recurrence of tumor and drug resistance. Li et al. had shown that targeted LPD nanoparticles did not enhance the tumor uptake compared to nontargeted PEGylated nanoparticles (Chen et al., 2012). In the case of passive targeting, there is enhanced permeation due to the tumor's defective vasculature, which causes ischemia and low perfusion in the tumor. This deficit perfusion decreases the delivery of blood-borne compounds to the microenvironment of the tumor. This dysfunctional lymphatic system is responsible for the retention and enhanced interstitial pressure, which counteracts the drug diffusion from the bloodstream to tumors (Shohdy & Alfaar, 2013). Another limitation is the size of nanoparticles. The size range optimal for tumor targeting is between 10 nm and 200 nm, and lesser than this get removed by the kidney, whereas larger size gets accumulated in extracellular space and hence fails to reach the target site. From patient to patient, the vascular fenestration varies for each tumor type even overtime during tumor treatment; hence, developing a size-specific targeting system will be challenging.

Limitation Related to the Safety of Nanotheranostics

The toxicity of nanoproducts depends upon their size, as it can have a great impact on safety. The nanoparticles of size less than 100 nm can be toxic as they can travel to other sites other than the targeted site, cross cell membranes and blood-brain barriers, and accumulate in the healthy cells of the body (Oberdörster et al., 2005). The human body does not have natural biological mechanisms for dealing with nanomaterials such as carbon, gold, silver, and titanium. Thus, they might harm the health and appropriate development of the nanoproducts necessary, which are suitable for safe delivery (Buzea et al., 2007). Nanotheranostics' impact on the body depends on their physicochemical properties as they have an impact on protein binding and cellular uptake (Vishwakarma et al., 2010). Exposure of particles through inhalation or penetration through damaged skin leads to translocation to the dermis and lymph nodes, causing uptake by dendritic cells and macrophages affecting the immune system (Köhler & Som, 2008). Various in vivo studies of titanium dioxide showed inflammatory reactions and cytotoxicity after UV irradiation (Gurr et al., 2005; Shukla et al., 2011), whereas iron nanoparticles showed interaction with proteins and DNA, which damages structure (Könczöl et al., 2011). Silicon dioxide interacts with cell membranes and causes a hemolytic effect (Barnes et al., 2008). Quantum dots also have major toxicity issues due to the release of free radicals and the use of materials such as selenium or cadmium. They can accumulate in adipose tissue and can impact the kidney and liver (Xu et al., 2008; Rzigalinski & Strobl, 2009). To avoid such toxicities, the regulatory agency should scrutinize the nanotheranostic development process. Traditional chemical toxicity testing methods can be useful as a primary approach for nanomaterial testing. The parameters for toxicity screening are physicochemical analysis, in vivo studies, and in vitro assays of nanotheranostics. The biological activity of the product depends upon its physicochemical properties. Hence, characterization of size, shape, surface charge, aggregation, and solubility should be performed at administration as well as conclusion time. Cellular and non-cellular assays should be conducted to determine the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic behavior of the material on the body. Risk assessment of exposure as well as the hazard is done by exposure modelling and epidemiological studies. The regulatory agencies should come together to make decisions regarding the safety guidelines of the nanotheranostics (Nel, 2006). Environmental concerns are also associated with nanotheranostics, and studies suggested that they accidentally enter into the environment through the disposal of wastes, emissions from production sites, or natural sources. They can stay in the environment for a longer period, causing accumulation in the environment. Toxicological studies indicated that nanometals such as silver, zinc, and copper oxides are toxic to underwater organisms. Still, the proper data is not available, and many researchers are studying the environmental effects of nanotheranostics. Therefore, there is a need for stringent regulatory processes for the safety of mankind as well as the environment (Gaur et al., 2020).

Pitfalls of Nanotheranostic Research

Clinical research is based on the interpretation of multiple experimental statistics. The foundation of these studies is the validity of conclusions from statistical analysis which are mainly based on the significance of statistical results. An example of famous research where difficulty was highlighted was by Lui et al. Florence highlighted the lacuna of the statistical significance of results observed by Lui et al. on carbon nanotube's fate in mice, in which accumulation in tumor did not go beyond 6% of the dose, and the study concluded that carbon nanotubes are efficient in tumor targeting. Moreover, few studies of nanoparticle targeting ignored the essence of satisfying all the criteria for a successful drug delivery system, declaring the success of a few target mechanisms that satisfied only the subset of criteria. The gold nanoshells were fabricated by Choi et al. by using monocytes isolated from human whole blood's buffy coat, and to examine their hypothesis, the researchers administered a breast cancer mouse model which was metastasized to CNS using macrophages laden with nanoparticles and tracked the location of the macrophages using another NP for moment microspheres labeled fluorescently. The results signify that macrophages were able to cross BBB and delivered the nanoparticles to near cells width away from closer metastatic cells, giving a paradigm to the delivery method of Trojan horse. It was considered as the "first successful disclosure of active delivery." Although controlled release criteria are not discussed, more research requires an understanding of how macrophages unload their cargo. Despite dynamic knowledge of tumor biology, the development of cancer-targeted nano-particulates is still moving at a slow pace. The oncology drugs have an attrition rate at the last stage of as high as 70% and 59% for Phase II and III trials, respectively. Many characters of cancer biology have been elucidated; however, there are only a few models for preclinical studies. The current studies focus less on the cancer cell and more on medicines. More research studies are required to detect the cancer cell's behavior, and many failures in the nanomedicine field come from this point (Shohdy & Alfaar, 2013).

Case Study

Challenges in the Development of nab-Paclitaxel

The development of nab-paclitaxel demonstrates the challenges in the manufacturing, formulation, and testing of nanoparticles with suitable physicochemical characteristics. Nab-paclitaxel is the first approved nanomedicine based on proteins that were subjected to extensive testing at a small-scale level. A wide range of manufacturing conditions was analyzed along with proteins of different sources; quality and purity were also investigated. Altered conditions often result in the suboptimal formulation; this is the challenge that can be overcome only by conducting trial and error. This hurdle for successful nab-paclitaxel scale-up was further demonstrated by failed attempts in the marketplace to copy the nab-paclitaxel formulation. Challenges in the development of therapeutics based on nanoparticle optimization batches were carried out to define the composition and components of nanoparticle and to develop a robust process which assures reproducibility and consistency for scale-up.

As an outcome, the nanoparticles of nab-paclitaxel have shown many key characteristics for an injectable nanoformulation. The size distribution in solution form was in a narrow range with a mean particle size of 130 nm measured using dynamic laser light scattering (Merisko-Liversidge et al., 1996). Cryo-TEM and TEM images revealed that the nanoparticles had a spherical shape with a size >200 nm. The surface of albumin has zeta-potential which falls in negative, which leads to steric stabilization, prevents aggregation, and provides good stability to suspension. The X-ray powder diffraction showed that in nanoparticles, paclitaxel is non-crystalline, which makes the drug bioavailable with no time lag required for paclitaxel dissolution as is well known for nanocrystals (Langer et al., 2003). Nab-paclitaxel consists of nanoparticles which have albumin-coated cross-linked therapeutics; the paclitaxel is bound to albumin noncovalently via hydrophobic interactions, thus allowing high bioavailability with quick distribution to tissues. In contrast with other nanoparticles based on albumin reported in literature, this involves the addition of glutaraldehyde or any other cross-linking agent during formation and also requires enzymatic metabolism of albumin for in vivo drug release (Lin et al., 1993). In conclusion, selection of main components, identification of key characteristics, and thorough knowledge of critical steps of manufacturing should be done carefully as they determine whether the formulation will have the desired or required PD, PK, and safety profiles to obtain the said therapeutic action. For testing in-process quality and controls, multiple orthogonal methods of analysis are required. Deviation from desired parameters and processes would result in a negative effect on the efficacy and safety of nanomedicines.

Regulatory Concerns of Cancer Nanotheranostics

Regulatory Evaluation of Cancer Nanotheranostics

Nanotheranostics is an emerging approach of nanotechnology, used for prevention, treatment, and diagnosis of diseases, which improves the quality of life. Today, more than 200 pharmaceutical companies are focusing their research work on developing nanotherapeutics and theranostics, with 38 nanomedicines on the market (Wagner et al., 2006). Among various diseases, cancer is one such area where theranostic research has been carried out prominently. Nanomedicines for biomedical applications have emerged recently, but the lack of established general guide-lines for animal studies and analysis of these products has limited their scope for forwarding development in humans (Peer et al., 2007).

The regulatory process of cancer theranostics depends on various parameters such as composition of the product, therapeutic or diagnostic function, mechanism of action, imaging mode, drug delivery, and whether they are combination or companion products (Bardhan et al., 2011). As per the regulatory agencies, the characteristics of the nanomedicine evaluation primarily rely on the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API), which suggests that nanomaterial must be reviewed for the biologic specification along with those for new chemical entities (NCEs). The human use of these diverse and advanced nanoproducts largely depends on the characterization and evaluation of certain properties. Their characteristics can be easily changed by modification in raw materials as well as in manufacturing processes. Such small modifications can significantly affect biological and biodistribution patterns (Duncan & Gaspar, 2011). Along with these, researchers attach tracking and imaging molecules with nanomedicines; new sophisticated methods and assays need to be developed to significantly determine their physicochemical properties, drug release, protein binding, metabolism, and cellular uptake (Tinkle et al., 2014). Another barrier is the development and manufacturing process of this nanotherapeutics. Every process should be identified for a critical point during the scale-up process. The recent approach of "Quality by Design" to access the critical points during production helps to solve the problems in a systematic manner. This concept gave rise to the International Council for Harmonisation (ICH) guidelines Q8, Q9, and Q10 for pharmaceutical development. Another obstacle in the regulatory pathway is the data collection during the life cycle of products, including animal and clinical studies. Hence, regulatory authorities should draft regulations for the successful development and scale-up of nanoproducts (Sainz et al., 2015).

The US Food and Drug Administration

The FDA evaluates cancer nanotheranostics according to the regulations that apply to other existing drugs and devices with particular information about the nanomaterial with a route of administration, dose, and biological behavior in both efficacy and safety studies. It ensures that the study design and clinical studies conducted are safe for human volunteers (Commissioner, 2019). Regulatory bodies and advisory boards responsible for the safety of human beings must carry out a risk-benefit ratio that measures possible harm both unknown and known. The FDA regulatory pathway depends on whether the theranostic is a drug, device, or a combination product (Clancy, 2014).

The FDA suggests early consultation of new and emerging drugs, biologics, or devices. Early-phase clinical trials can be conducted for a new product, but the FDA requires proof of efficacy. The investigator (sponsor) should submit preclinical data including first-in-human (FIH) studies, and research data should ensure the safety of participants in further trials (Kimmelman, 2007). Early trials for a new drug or device give a risk-benefit ratio and identify endpoints to study complicated factors such as dose, population characteristics, and delivery of a new intervention drug or device. Adverse effects accompanied by FIH trials are scrutinized by regulatory and ethics boards resulting in changes in study designs and trials (Kimmelman, 2012a).

Exploratory IND studies are implemented in Phase 1, involving less human exposure to new intervention drugs. This study predicts the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of new theranostics (2006). The exploratory IND includes population characteristics such as age, indications, contraindications, diagnostic approach and outcomes, and treatment parameters such as schedule, route of administration, and risk mitigation. This helps to determine unknown effects and helps to frame efficient study designs that can form the basis of further trials of theranostics with the main aim of providing safety to human subjects. The investigator should determine both known and unknown risks before and during these early studies. The risk analysis must include the severity and frequency of adverse effects of the theranostics. If the investigator fails to do this, it can cause a delay or halt in the study. The FDA suggests a device evaluation strategy "failure mode and effect analysis" (FMEA) for investigational device exemptions (IDEs) in early device trials. This assessment benefits to translate research to further clinical trials (Kimmelman, 2012b).

The Investigational New Drug (IND) application of any cancer theranostics should be submitted to the FDA before clinical trials. The application form 1571 is the guidance document for IND, which tells requirements that include investigational plan, study protocol, investigator's brochure, IRB information, facilities, manufacturing and chemistry data, pharmacological and toxicological information, and any existing INDs of human use (2020a). When a drug application is received by the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), it is reviewed by the Office of Hematology and Oncology Products (OHOP). The sponsor has to wait 30 days before initiating clinical trials. The FDA, while evaluating the IND, requires all other additional information; the key goal is to ensure the well-being of the participants in the trial. The IND also needs information about theranostics, including function and composition, preclinical or prior human use, laboratory or animal study data, and manufacturing and clinical conditions to be treated by theranostic. On this basis, the FDA gives the IND approval (Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, 2019). The changes made to the drug or process such as change of the ingredients, equipment, and manufacturing facilities after approval by the FDA

should be notified in a stipulated time. The FDA informs the sponsor to file a New Drug Application (NDA), Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA), or Biologics License Application in case of potential changes that severely affect the characteristics of the product (Office of the Commissioner, 2020). Other types of INDs includes an investigator IND, which is submitted by a physician who conducts and initiates the trial, i.e., a research IND given by a physician to study a new drug or an approved drug for a new indication and an emergency IND that allows approving a new interventional drug in an urgent situation that has no time to follow the regulations and treatment IND submitted for a drug, showing promising results in clinical testing for life-threatening situations while the final clinical studies are conducted.

An approved cancer drug theranostics will need an application if it involves (Clancy, 2014):

- 1. Replacement of a new drug when the standard is favorable.
- 2. Supplementary chemotherapy when the patient has a low risk of occurrence, if the study will result in a change in labeling, or if standard therapy has good results.
- 3. Use of cytotoxic drugs in case of no standard treatment.
- 4. Animal studies should determine the safe schedule or starting dose, including:
 - (a) New drug combinations indicating synergistic toxicity effect.
 - (b) Change in the route of administration.
 - (c) Change in dose.
 - (d) Radiosensitizers or chemosensitizer drugs.

If Phase 1 trial shows safety in healthy volunteers, then the new investigational drug can be allowed to test in a larger population. Phase 2 and 3 trials are conducted to determine the safety, efficacy, as well as toxicity in diseased patients. If the results of these trials ensure efficacy outweighing the risk, then the sponsor can submit a New Drug Application (NDA) to the FDA. The NDA must include bioavailability data, analytical data, chemistry, manufacturing, and control (CMC) data for each and also toxicological data. It is submitted to the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) for review (2020b). There are three types of NDA under Sect. 505:

505(b)(1): It includes the use of a drug which has not been approved previously.

- **505(b)2:** It involves reports regarding changes in strength, dosage form, and route of administration or change of an active pharmaceutical ingredient in an approved combination product. This applies to nanoproducts where nanocarriers are used in an approved product (2020c).
- **505(j)** (Generics): This application is for generic products which include that the product is the similar inactive ingredient, route of administration, strength, dosage form, label, quality, performance, and use in comparison to an approved drug called "Abbreviated New Drug Application" (ANDA), which does not require animal studies and human trials to determine safety and efficacy (2019a).

Biologics License Application (BLA) This is for biological components submitted to the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) or CDER for

review. It includes information the same as the NDA such as manufacturing, chemistry and control, and clinical and toxicity data of the biological product. It is marketed under the Public Health Service (PHS) Act (2019b).

In case of cancer, the sponsor can request the FDA for a faster process through programs such as breakthrough, fast track designation, prior review designation, and accelerated approval. The FDA reviews the application in a faster way but with a great degree of scrutiny, providing high chances of availability of a new product. During this process, the FDA conducts efficient and clear communication with an investigator during the development process of a drug (2020d).

Regulations of Combination Products and Companion Products

Combination products are composed of any drug with a device or biological product or combined drug, device, and a biological product. For approval of these products, the investigator should communicate with the Office of Combination Products (OCP) of the FDA. The investigator should have data on the product such as its use, mechanism of action, therapeutic activity, and targeted population before consulting OCP. A request for determination (RFD) of a maximum of 15 pages describing the product and IND and IDE status of physicochemical or pharmacological characteristics, mechanism of action, use, route, schedule, and manufacturing details of the product should be submitted. The OCP will give a decision within 60 days of receipt. The FDA requires separate applications for a component which has been approved, and labeling requires a change based on the new activity. The application must include all the information about the products with the approval status of a component (2019c).

Companion products are combined with drug/biological therapeutic agents and diagnostic devices/imaging modalities. According to the FDA, healthcare professionals must be able to rely on the results, if diagnostic device results are an important parameter in a treatment. The in vitro diagnostic companion products can have severe consequences if the product fails to be performed analytically or clinically. The investigator should consult the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER) and Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH) for study designs and development of the companion products. Both products must be developed and reviewed together in the same clinical investigation (2020e).

The final step in the pathway of new drug/device/biological products from the laboratory to clinical trials is reviewed by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) or the Institutional Ethics Committee (IEC). The investigator should not start the clinical trials on human subjects unless the IRB reviews and approves. The IRB protects human subjects and can stop or delay the study. Hence, early consultation is required in the process. Ethics guidelines should be signed to avoid the risk involved in nano-theranostics trials. The informed consent should be taken from subjects before

initiating the trials. The study should outweigh the risk and provide benefits to the patients and society (Clancy, 2014).

European Medicine Agency

The European Medicine Agency (EMA) rules help in preparing the market approval application for drugs and devices. The methodology of the EU Member State and the Agency demonstrates the requirement for authorization, which includes safety, quality, and efficacy of the product. The EMA collaborates with a different organization to evaluate the risk-benefits at the early stage of development of theranostics (Tambe et al., 2019).

Nanomedicines composed of drugs or medical devices or both have to be evaluated for risk assessment. Any drug or device gets market approval only under the guidance of "clinical trial directives," which includes applying good manufacturing practices (GMP) and good clinical practices (GCP). The application for a clinical trial should include information on the investigational medicinal product (IMP) and the clinical trials. The information should be in the format of a common technical document and should contain all the information in the Investigational Medicinal Product Dossier (IMPD). It includes the manufacturing, production, and pharmacological and toxicological data of the IMP. The clinical trial has to be approved by the national competent authority as well as the local ethical committee. The clinical trial application with EudraCT number is important for every clinical trial generated by the European Union Drug Regulating Authorities Clinical Trials (EudraCT) database system. The application should include an investigator brochure (IB) and study protocol, including study designs, objective, human volunteer inclusion, exclusion criteria, and scientific background of the clinical trials. Along with this, an informed consent form is also required, stating that the patient is known of all the risks and consequences of the trial. Besides this, the standard operating procedures, investigator information, and relationship between the sponsor and the trial site should be provided for evaluation. The trials should be monitored efficiently to avoid unnecessary risk to the study participants and conducted according to the regulations of the state (Kolenc Peitl et al., 2019).

Marketing of Cancer Nanotheranostics

The market of nanotheranostics is prominently growing nowadays due to the FDA's guidelines. The FDA's Emerging Technology Program (ETP) encourages the development and production of novel pharmaceuticals, which includes early trials and constant feedback from regulatory authorities. This embraces the industries and academic researches to develop nanotheranostics.

The FDA's Nanotechnology Task Force is an initiative to collaborate with industries, hospitals, and academia to investigate the nanomaterials' influence on the body and to develop innovative and effective drugs and devices. The FDA also started public-private partnerships (PPPs) to produce awareness among the people regarding the researches in the field of nanotheranostics (2018). It was also created to improve and help the public and private sectors in taking the research from the lab to the bedside. Besides this, it is necessary to perform pharmacoeconomic studies for new nanotheranostics to indicate the economic and social benefits in comparison with the existing products. Quality-adjusted life expectancy years (QALYs) and future consecutive hospitalization costs are indicators necessary in the development of new innovative products (Gaspar et al., 2014).

The Unwither Conference in 2009 quoted the development of nanomedicines such as nanofluidic devices for delivering therapies, functionalized nanoparticles, implants, or nanodevices with sensors to detect drug delivery and other motors or nanobots traveling through the circulatory system to cure diseases. The commercialization of nanotheranostics is increasing, and over 200 companies are investing in the development of nanoproducts. The Grand View Research statistics predicted that by the year 2025, the global market of nanomedicines will be 350.8 billion USD (Bawa, 2009).

The challenges faced by the stakeholders such as researchers, stockholders, and patients in marketing include improper definitions for nanotechnology, technological difficulties, the need for proper regulatory guidelines, and the necessity of financial aid. There is a need to overcome those challenges to bring more nanotheranostics from the lab to commercial scale to improve the health of mankind.

Table 12.3 gives the summary of all types of limitations and the factors influencing it.

Conclusion

Despite tremendous efforts, the morbidity related to cancer disease is still inescapable. The emerging nanotechnology has provided better opportunities to advance the design and manufacturing of novel nanotheranostics. Nanotechnology has transformed the treatment and diagnosis of cancer by enabling early tumor detection, which in turn is followed by effective delivery of therapeutic drugs. These nanoscale platforms have gradually travelled from benchtop to the bedside and have improved overall management of cancer. Nanotheranostics is an "act on-site" strategy that narrows the time required for the detection of cancer and treatment. The development of smart nanotheranostics which acts on the bioresponsive system has been evolved and offers promising outcomes with high efficiency and accuracy at the target site. Nanotheranostics is an upcoming efficient field which offers costeffective quick detection and delivery of therapeutics to the targeted site with reduced side effects. However, there is an urgent need to address certain limitations of nanotheranostics for their successful clinical application. By considering these limitations and developing an effective strategy to overcome them, an efficient and successful smart nanotheranostic platform can be constructed. Based on this

Type of limitations	Key factors
Design and development	Major aspects of design like size, shape, surface properties, and composition regulate overall performance and applicability of nanoplatforms
Biopharmaceutical limitations	Some of the nanotheranostic platforms demonstrate variation in PK and biodistribution, and sometimes it is difficult to attain optimal PK profile
Immunogenic reaction	The surface properties, charge, and size induce a lethal immunogenic reaction, which needs to be addressed
Interaction with biomolecules	The interaction with the cellular system, complement system, mononuclear phagocytic system, and proteins alters performance of nanotheranostics
Targeting related limitations	The presence of biological barriers, design of nanotheranostics, their physicochemical properties, and type of targeting all influence targeting
Safety concerns	The toxicity of nanotheranostics is largely influenced by their size; some of the nanometals (carbon, gold, iron, etc.) have shown harmful effects on health
Regulatory aspects	Based on various parameters such as composition of the product, therapeutic or diagnostic function, mechanism of action, imaging mode, drug delivery, and whether they are combination or companion products

Table 12.3 Summary of all limitations discussed above and factors influencing them

concept, the efficiency of these platforms should be observed before and after their administration, as well as during the therapy and after collecting sufficient data of cytotoxicity, immunogenicity, cost-effectiveness, and genotoxicity; these nanotheranostic therapeutics can be used in routine as a crucial agent of predictive and personalized medicine.

References

- Ahmad, Z., et al. (2014). Polymeric micelles as drug delivery vehicles. *RSC Advances*, 4(33), 17028–17038. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3ra47370h
- An, H.-W., Li, L.-L., Wang, Y., Wang, Z., Hou, D., Lin, Y.-X., Qiao, S.-L., Wang, M.-D., Yang, C., CongY, M. Y., Zhao, X.-X., Cai, Q., Chen, W.-T., Lu, C.-Q., Xu, W., Wang, H., & Zhao, Y. (2019). A tumour-selective cascade activatable self-detained system for drug delivery and cancer imaging. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 4861. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12848-5
- Anchordoquy, T. J., Barenholz, Y., Boraschi, D., Chorny, M., Decuzzi, P., Dobrovolskaia, M. A., Farhangrazi, Z. S., Farrell, D., Gabizon, A., Ghandehari, H., Godin, B., La-Beck, N. M., Ljubimova, J., Moghimi, S. M., Pagliaro, L., Park, J. H., Peer, D., Ruoslahti, E., Serkova, N. J., & Simberg, D. (2017). Mechanisms and barriers in cancer nanomedicine: Addressing challenges, looking for solutions. ACS Nano, 11(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.6b08244
- Ang, L. Y., et al. (2011). Applications of upconversion nanoparticles in imaging, detection and therapy. *Nanomedicine*, 6(7), 1273–1288. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.11.108
- Arvizo, R., Bhattacharya, R., & Mukherjee, P. (2010). Gold nanoparticles: Opportunities and challenges in nanomedicine. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 7(6), 753–763. https://doi. org/10.1517/17425241003777010
- Auzel F (2004) Upconversion and Anti-Stokes Processes with f and d Ions in Solids. Chem Rev 104(1):139–174. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr020357g

- Bardhan, R., Lal, S., Joshi, A., & Halas, N. J. (2011). Theranostic nanoshells: From probe design to imaging and treatment of cancer. Accounts of Chemical Research, 44(10), 936–946. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ar200023x
- Barnes, C. A., Elsaesser, A., Arkusz, J., Smok, A., Palus, J., Leśniak, A., Salvati, A., Hanrahan, J. P., de Jong, W. H., Dziubałtowska, E., Stępnik, M., Rydzyński, K., McKerr, G., Lynch, I., Dawson, K. A., & Howard, C. V. (2008). Reproducible comet assay of amorphous silica nanoparticles detects no genotoxicity. *Nano Letters*, 8(9), 3069–3074. https://doi.org/10.1021/nl801661w
- Barroso, M. M. (2011). Quantum dots in cell biology. Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry, 59(3), 237–251. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155411398487
- Bawa, R. (2009). The Unither Conference—Recent advances in nanomedical structures and devices. *Journal of Bionanoscience*, 3(2), 67–72. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbns.2009.1014
- Boehnke, N., Correa, S., Hao, L., Wang, W., Straehla, J. P., Bhatia, S. N., & Hammond, P. T. (2020). Theranostic layer-by-layer nanoparticles for simultaneous tumor detection and gene silencing. Angewandte Chemie, International Edition, 59(7), 2776–2783. https://doi.org/10.1002/ anie.201911762
- Bray, L. J., Hutmacher, D. W., & Bock, N. (2019). Addressing patient specificity in the engineering of tumor models. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 7, 217. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.0021
- Buzea, C., Pacheco, I. I., & Robbie, K. (2007). Nanomaterials and nanoparticles: Sources and toxicity. *Biointerphases*, 2(4), MR17–MR71. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.2815690
- Caldorera-Moore, M. E., Liechty, W. B., & Peppas, N. A. (2011). Responsive theranostic systems: Integration of diagnostic imaging agents and responsive controlled release drug delivery carriers. Accounts of Chemical Research, 44(10), 1061–1070. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar2001777
- Cell, C., Khan, M. Y., & Roy, M. (2019). Synthesis, limitation and application of gold nanoparticles in treatment of cancerous cell. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Multidisciplinary Studies*, 5(September), 8–14. https://doi.org/10.26438/ijsrms
- Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. (2019). FDA office of Hematology Oncology products reorganizes, renamed office of oncologic diseases. FDA.
- Chen, W. C., Zhang, A. X., & Li, S. (2012). Limitations and niches of the active targeting approach for nanoparticle drug delivery. *European Journal of Nanomedicine*, 4, 89–93. https://doi. org/10.1515/ejnm-2012-0010
- Clancy, M. K. (2014). Clinical translation and regulations of theranostics. In *Cancer theranostics* (pp. 439–456). Elsevier.
- Cui, H., & Wang, J. (2016). Theranostics progress in the development of nanotheranostic systems. *Theranostics*, 6(7), 7–9. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.16153
- del Rosal, B., et al. (2019). Upconversion nanoparticles for in vivo applications: Limitations and future perspectives. https://doi.org/10.1088/2050-6120/ab029f.
- Desai, N. (2012). Challenges in development of nanoparticle-based therapeutics. *The AAPS Journal*, 14(2), 282–295. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-012-9339-4
- Ding, X., Zhao, H., Li, C., Wang, Q., & Jiang, J. (2019). All-in-one theranostic nanoplatform with controlled drug release and activated MRI tracking functions for synergistic NIR-II hyperthermia-chemotherapy of tumors. *Nano Research*, 12(12), 2971–2981. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12274-019-2540-3
- Dorothy, R., Karthiga, N., Kumaran, S. S., Rathish, R. J., Rajendran, S., & Singh, G. (2021). Nanoparticle. À physiological media interactions. In *Nanotoxicity* (pp. 3–20). Elsevier. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819943-5.00001-4
- Duncan, R., & Gaspar, R. (2011). Nanomedicine(s) under the microscope. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 8(6), 2101–2141. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp200394t
- Emerich, D. F., & Thanos, C. G. (2006). The pinpoint promise of nanoparticle-based drug delivery and molecular diagnosis. *Biomolecular Engineering*, 23(4), 171–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bioeng.2006.05.026

- Fan X, Hao Q, Jin R, Huang H, Luo Z, Yang X, Chen Y, Han X, Sun M, Jing Q, Dong Z, Qiu T (2017) Assembly of gold nanoparticles into aluminum nanobowl array. Sci Rep 7(1):2322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02552-z
- Fang W, Wei Y (2016) Upconversion nanoparticle as a theranostic agent for tumor imaging and therapy. J Innov Opt Health Sci 09(04):1630006. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1793545816300068
- FDA. (2019a). Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA). https://www.fda.gov/drugs/typesapplications/abbreviated-new-drug-application-anda. Accessed 13 Sept 2020.
- FDA. (2019b). Transfer of therapeutic products to the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER).
- FDA. (2019c). Combination products. https://www.fda.gov/combination-products. Accessed 13 Sept 2020.
- FDA. (2020a). Investigator-Initiated Investigational New Drug (IND) applications.
- FDA. (2020b). The drug development process. https://www.fda.gov/patients/learn-about-drugand-device-approvals/drug-development-process. Accessed 13 Sept 2020.
- Gaspar, R. S., Florindo, H. F., Silva, L. C., Videira, M. A., Corvo, M. L., Martins, B. F., & Silva-Lima, B. (2014). Regulatory aspects of oncologicals: Nanosystems main challenges. In M. J. Alonso & M. Garcia-Fuentes (Eds.), *Nano-oncologicals* (pp. 425–452). Springer International Publishing.
- Gaumet, M., Vargas, A., Gurny, R., & Delie, F. (2008). Nanoparticles for drug delivery: The need for precision in reporting particle size parameters. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 69, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2007.08.001
- Gaur, N., Sharma, N., Dahiya, A., Yadav, P., Ojha, H., Goyal, R. K., & Sharma, R. K. (2020). Toxicity and regulatory concerns for nanoformulations in medicine. In C. M. Hussain (Ed.), *The ELSI handbook of nanotechnology* (1st ed., pp. 333–357). Wiley.
- Gavrilov, K., & Saltzman, W. M. (2012). Therapeutic siRNA: Principles, challenges, and strategies. Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine, 85(2), 187–200.
- Gholizadeh, S., Allahyari, Z., & Haghighipour, N. (2016). Current challenges and limitations of carbon nanotubes for tissue engineering applications: A review (pp. 131–132).
- Gopalasatheeskumar, K., Komala, S., & Mahalakshmi, M. (2017). An overview on polymeric nanoparticles used in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Pharmatutor*, 5(12), 40. https://doi. org/10.29161/pt.v5.i12.2017.40
- Guo, P., Yang, J., Liu, D., Huang, L., Fell, G., Huang, J., Moses, M. A., & Auguste, D. T. (2019). Dual complementary liposomes inhibit triple-negative breast tumor progression and metastasis. *Science Advances*, 5(3), eaav5010. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aav5010
- Gurr, J.-R., Wang, A. S. S., Chen, C.-H., & Jan, K.-Y. (2005). Ultrafine titanium dioxide particles in the absence of photoactivation can induce oxidative damage to human bronchial epithelial cells. *Toxicology*, 213(1–2), 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2005.05.007
- Invernici G, Cristini S, Alessandri G, E. Navone S, Canzi L, Tavian D, Redaelli C, Acerbi F, A. Parati E (2011) Nanotechnology Advances in Brain Tumors: The State of the Art. PRA 6(1):58–69. https://doi.org/10.2174/157489211793979990
- Jafari, S., et al. (2019). Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy mesoporous silica nanoparticles for therapeutic / diagnostic applications. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*. Elsevier, 109(October 2018), 1100–1111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.10.167
- Jang, S. H., Wientjes, M. G., Lu, D., & Au, J. L. (2003). Drug delivery and transport to solid tumors. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 20(9), 1337–1350.
- Kimmelman, J. (2007). Ethics at phase 0: Clarifying the issues. The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 35(4), 727–733. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-720X.2007.00194.x
- Kimmelman, J. (2012a). Beyond human subjects: Risk, ethics, and clinical development of nanomedicines. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 40(4), 841–847. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-720X.2012.00712.x
- Kimmelman, J. (2012b). A theoretical framework for early human studies: Uncertainty, intervention ensembles, and boundaries. *Trials*, 13(1), 173. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-13-173

- Köhler, A. R., & Som, C. (2008). Environmental and health implications of nanotechnology—Have innovators learned the lessons from past experiences? *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 14(3), 512–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807030802071812
- Kolenc Peitl, P., Rangger, C., Garnuszek, P., Mikolajczak, R., Hubalewska-Dydejczyk, A., Maina, T., Erba, P., & Decristoforo, C. (2019). Clinical translation of theranostic radiopharmaceuticals: Current regulatory status and recent examples. *Journal of Labelled Compounds and Radiopharmaceuticals*, 62(10), 673–683. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlcr.3712
- Könczöl, M., Ebeling, S., Goldenberg, E., Treude, F., Gminski, R., Gieré, R., Grobéty, B., Rothen-Rutishauser, B., Merfort, I., & Mersch-Sundermann, V. (2011). Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of size-fractionated Iron oxide (magnetite) in A549 human lung epithelial cells: Role of ROS, JNK, and NF-κB. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 24(9), 1460–1475. https://doi. org/10.1021/tx200051s
- Langer, K., Balthasar, S., Vogel, V., Dinauer, N., Von Briesen, H., & Schubert, D. (2003). Optimization of the preparation process for human serum albumin (HSA) nanoparticles. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 257(1–2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-5173(03)00134-0
- Lee, J. B., et al. (2012). Lipid nanoparticle siRNA systems for silencing the androgen receptor in human prostate cancer in vivo. *International Journal of Cancer*, 131(5), 1–10. https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.27361
- Liao, J., Jia, Y., Wu, Y., Shi, K., Yang, D., Li, P., & Qian, Z. (2020). Physical-, chemical-, and biological-responsive nanomedicine for cancer therapy. WIREs Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology, 12(1), e1581. https://doi.org/10.1002/wnan.1581
- Lin, W., Coombes, A. G. A., Davies, M. C., Davis, S. S., & Illum, L. (1993). Preparation of sub-100 nm human serum albumin nanospheres using a ph-coacervation method. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 1(3), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.3109/10611869308996081
- Mandal, A., et al. (2017). Diagnosis and drug delivery to the brain: Novel strategies, emerging nanotechnologies for diagnostics, drug delivery, and medical devices. Elsevier. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-323-42978-8.00004-8
- Markides, H., Rotherham, M., & El Haj, A. J. (2012). Biocompatibility and toxicity of magnetic nanoparticles in regenerative medicine (pp. 13–15). https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/614094.
- Merisko-Liversidge, E., Sarpotdar, P., Bruno, J., Hajj, S., Wei, L., Peltier, N., Rake, J., Shaw, J. M., Pugh, S., Polin, L., Jones, J., Corbett, T., Cooper, E., & Liversidge, G. G. (1996). Formulation and antitumor activity evaluation of nanocrystalline suspensions of poorly soluble anticancer drugs. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 13, 272–278.
- Murty, B. S., Shankar, P., Raj, B., Rath, B. B., & Murday, J. (2013). Textbook of nanoscience and nanotechnology (pp. 214–223). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-28030-6.
- Nel, A. (2006). Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel. Science, 311(5761), 622–627. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.1114397
- Neuberger, T., Scho, B., Hofmann, M., & Von Rechenberg, B. (2005). Superparamagnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications: Possibilities and limitations of a new drug delivery system. *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, 293, 483–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmmm.2005.01.064
- Norden AD, Drappatz J, Wen PY (2008) Novel anti-angiogenic therapies for malignant gliomas. The Lancet Neurology 7(12):1152–1160. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70260-6
- Oberdörster, G., Oberdörster, E., & Oberdörster, J. (2005). Nanotoxicology: An emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 113(7), 823–839. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7339
- Office of the Commissioner. (2019). FDA's approach to regulation of nanotechnology products. FDA.
- Office of the Commissioner. (2020). Nanotechnology task force report 2007. FDA.
- Peer, D., Karp, J. M., Hong, S., Farokhzad, O. C., Margalit, R., & Langer, R. (2007). Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 2(12), 751–760. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2007.387

- Penet M-F, Krishnamachary B, Chen Z, Jin J, Bhujwalla ZM (2014) Molecular Imaging of the Tumor Microenvironment for Precision Medicine and Theranostics. In: Advances in Cancer Research. Elsevier, pp 235–256
- Peng, J., Yang, Q., Shi, K., Xiao, Y., Wei, X., & Qian, Z. (2019). Intratumoral fate of functional nanoparticles in response to microenvironment factor: Implications on cancer diagnosis and therapy. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 143, 37–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2019.06.007
- Porwal, M., Rastogi, V., & Kumar, A. (2017). An overview on carbon nanotubes, 3(5), 114–116. https://doi.org/10.15406/mojbb.2017.03.00045.
- Raj V (2016) Comprehensive Update on Carbon Nanotubes and their Significances in the Field of Pharmaceutics. ATROA 1(3). https://doi.org/10.15406/atroa.2016.01.00014
- Rajesh G, Muthukumarasamy N, Subramanian EP, Venkatraman MR, Agilan S, Ragavendran V, Thambidurai M, Velumani S, Yi J, Velauthapillai D (2015) Solution-based synthesis of high yield CZTS (Cu 2 ZnSnS 4) spherical quantum dots. Superlattices and Microstructures 77:305–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spmi.2014.11.016
- Rzigalinski, B. A., & Strobl, J. S. (2009). Cadmium-containing nanoparticles: Perspectives on pharmacology and toxicology of quantum dots. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 238(3), 280–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2009.04.01
- Sainz, V., Conniot, J., Matos, A. I., Peres, C., Zupanöiö, E., Moura, L., Silva, L. C., Florindo, H. F., & Gaspar, R. S. (2015). Regulatory aspects on nanomedicines. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 468(3), 504–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.08.02
- Shahi, S., Zadbuke, N., & Jadhav, A. (2015). Osmotic controlled drug delivery systems: An overview. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Technology & Innovation Systems, 03(15), 32–49.
- Shao, W., Arghya, P., Yiyong, M., Rodes, L., & Prakash, S. (2013). Carbon nanotubes for use in medicine: potentials and limitations (pp. 2–29). https://doi.org/10.5772/51785
- Shohdy, K. S., & Alfaar, A. S. (2013). Nanoparticles targeting mechanisms in cancer therapy: Current limitations and emerging solutions. *Therapeutic Delivery*, 4(9), 1197–1209. https:// doi.org/10.4155/tde.13.75
- Shukla, R. K., Sharma, V., Pandey, A. K., Singh, S., Sultana, S., & Dhawan, A. (2011). ROSmediated genotoxicity induced by titanium dioxide nanoparticles in human epidermal cells. *Toxicology In Vitro*, 25(1), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2010.11.008
- Singh, N., et al. (2017). Drug delivery: Advancements and challenges. In Nanostructures for drug delivery. Elsevier Inc., https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-323-46143-6.00027-0
- Sonali, Viswanadh MK, Singh RP, Agrawal P, Mehata AK, Pawde DM, Narendra, Sonkar R, Muthu MS (2018) Nanotheranostics: Emerging Strategies for Early Diagnosis and Therapy of Brain Cancer. Nanotheranostics 2(1):70–86. https://doi.org/10.7150/ntno.21638
- Su S, Zuo X, Pan D, Pei H, Wang L, Fan C, Huang W (2013) Design and applications of gold nanoparticle conjugates by exploiting biomolecule–gold nanoparticle interactions. Nanoscale 5(7):2589. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3nr33870c
- Svenson, S. (2013). Theranostics: Are we there yet? *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 10(3), 848–856. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp300644n
- Tambe, V., Maheshwari, R., Chourasiya, Y., Choudhury, H., Gorain, B., & Tekade, R. K. (2019). Clinical aspects and regulatory requirements for nanomedicines. In *Basic fundamentals of drug delivery* (pp. 733–752). Elsevier.
- Tang, W., Fan, W., Lau, J., Deng, L., Shen, Z., & Chen, X. (2019a). Emerging blood–brain-barriercrossing nanotechnology for brain cancer theranostics. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 48(11), 2967–3014. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8CS00805A
- Tang, W., Fan, W., Lau, J., Deng, L., Shen, Z., & Chen, X. (2019b). Emerging blood–brain-barriercrossing nanotechnology for brain cancer theranostics. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 48(11), 2967–3014. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8CS00805A
- Thorat, N. D., Townely, H., Brennan, G., Parchur, A. K., Silien, C., Bauer, J., & Tofail, S. A. M. (2019). Progress in remotely triggered hybrid nanostructures for next-generation brain cancer theranostics. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, 5(6), 2669–2687. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b01173

- Tinkle, S., McNeil, S. E., Mühlebach, S., Bawa, R., Borchard, G., Barenholz, Y. C., Tamarkin, L., & Desai, N. (2014). Nanomedicines: Addressing the scientific and regulatory gap: Nanomedicines. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1313(1), 35–56. https://doi. org/10.1111/nyas.12403
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2020c). Applications Covered by Section 505(b)(2). https:// www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/applications-coveredsection-505b2. Accessed 13 Sept 2020.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2020d). Best practices for communication between IND sponsors and FDA during drug development. https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/best-practices-communication-between-ind-sponsors-and-fda-during-drug-development. Accessed 13 Sept 2020.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2020e). In vitro companion diagnostic devices. https://www. fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/vitro-companion-diagnosticdevices. Accessed 13 Sept 2020.
- Vallet-Regí, M., Colilla, M., et al. (2018). *Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for drug delivery* (pp. 1–19). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23010047.
- Van Haute D, Liu AT, Berlin JM (2018) Coating Metal Nanoparticle Surfaces with Small Organic Molecules Can Reduce Nonspecific Cell Uptake. ACS Nano 12(1):117–127. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.7b03025
- Vishwakarma, V., Samal, S. S., & Manoharan, N. (2010). Safety and risk associated with nanoparticles - a review. *Journal of Managed Care Continuing Education*, 09(05), 455–459. https://doi. org/10.4236/jmmce.2010.95031
- Wagner, V., Dullaart, A., Bock, A.-K., & Zweck, A. (2006). The emerging nanomedicine landscape. *Nature Biotechnology*, 24(10), 1211–1217. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1006-1211
- Wu, X., et al. (2015). Upconversion nanoparticles: A versatile solution to multiscale biological imaging. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 26(2), 166–175. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc5003967
- Xu, G., Yong, K.-T., Roy, I., Mahajan, S. D., Ding, H., Schwartz, S. A., & Prasad, P. N. (2008). Bioconjugated quantum rods as targeted probes for efficient transmigration across an in vitro blood-brain barrier. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 19(6), 1179–1185. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bc700477u
- Yokoyama, M. (2014). Polymeric micelles as drug carriers: Their lights and shadows. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 22(7), 576–583. https://doi.org/10.3109/1061186X.2014.934688
- Yu, G., Cen, T., He, Z., Wang, S., Wang, Z., Ying, X., Li, S., Jacobson, O., Wang, S., Wang, L., Lin, L., Tian, R., Zhou, Z., Ni, Q., Li, X., & Chen, X. (2019). Porphyrin nanocage-embedded single-molecular nanoparticles for cancer nanotheranostics. *Angewandte Chemie, International Edition*, 58(26), 8799–8803. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201903277
- Zhang C, Xia Y, Zhang Z, Huang Z, Lian L, Miao X, Zhang D, Beard MC, Zhang J (2017) Combination of Cation Exchange and Quantized Ostwald Ripening for Controlling Size Distribution of Lead Chalcogenide Quantum Dots. Chem Mater 29(8):3615–3622. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.7b00411

Chapter 13 Safety of Nanobiomaterials for Cancer Nanotheranostics



Sweta Bhanushali, Vidhi Tanna, Yogesh Nimbalkar, Padmini Ravikumar, and Sujata P. Sawarkar

Introduction

Cancer is the second leading cause of human death worldwide, with approximately 7.5 million deaths reported till date in 2020 (Cancer Statistics – Worldometer, n.d.. Globally, about one in six deaths is due to cancer (https://www.who.int/westernpacific/health-topics/cancer). As per the WHO, there might be approximately around 13 million deaths from cancer in 2030 (WHO | Key statistics, 2020). Cancer is one of the fatal diseases for which scientists have been battling for decades (Anand et al., 2020). The traditional therapy of cancer involves chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and surgery (Shukla et al., 2019). Chemotherapy kills both the normal and the healthy cells, also attributing to multidrug resistance (Brannon-peppas & Blanchette, 2004). Radiotherapy is appropriate for localized cancer, but it also lacks specificity, leading to toxicity and damage to neighboring cells (Lungu et al., 2019).

Cancer theranostics have combined action of diagnosis as well as a therapeutic effect (Gobbo et al., 2015). Nanotheranostics is a rapidly evolving area for tracking the delivery and release of drugs and therapeutic evaluation at the same time and efficacy by a single nanoscale carrier. Nanoparticles are modified to integrate different bioconjugated moieties for accurate detection and therapy (Gobbo et al., 2015; Indoria et al., 2020). The use of nanobiomaterials overcomes the drawback associated with the traditional methods. These materials are nontoxic, biocompatible, and biodegradable and allow controlled and sustained release of anticancer drugs. The major attractions include ease of size and charge manipulation, decrease in adverse effects, site specificity, and flexibility of route of administration (Pandurangan et al., 2016). Nanobiomaterials should interact with cancer cells without disturbing

S. Bhanushali · V. Tanna · Y. Nimbalkar · P. Ravikumar (⊠) · S. P. Sawarkar (⊠) Department of Pharmaceutics, SVKM's Dr. Bhanuben Nanavati College of Pharmacy, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India

e-mail: padmini.ravikumar@bncp.ac.in; sujata.sawarkar@bncp.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 M. Saravanan, H. Barabadi (eds.), *Cancer Nanotheranostics*, Nanotechnology in the Life Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76263-6_13

normal biological functions. In cancer therapy, they are useful in molecular imaging, early detection of cancer, bioinformatics, and targeting of cancer cells (Mody et al., 2016). These materials exhibit different properties in bulk form compared to when they are nanosized. The safety of the nanobiomaterials lies in the difference in this property (Tekade et al., 2018). This chapter addresses the thin line that exists between safety and toxicity of nanobiomaterials and will cover various nanobiomaterials used in cancer theranostics, their safety, evaluation parameters, and regulatory perspectives.

Nanobiomaterials Used in Cancer Theranostics

There are various nanobiomaterials used for cancer theranostics. For better understanding, they have been categorized into metal-based nanobiomaterials, polymeric nanobiomaterials, carbon-based nanobiomaterials, nanomaterials derived from natural origin, and protein-based nanomaterials. The metal-based nanomaterials include gold nanoparticles, silver nanoparticles, iron oxide nanoparticles, silica, selenium, titanium dioxide, and zinc oxide-based nanobiomaterials (Mody et al., 2016). Applications like bioimaging, phototherapy, gene delivery, drug delivery, and use as a biosensor are possible using the optical, surface, chemical, and electrical properties of gold nanoparticles. Gold nanoparticles can absorb near- infrared light and transfer light energy to localized surface plasmon resonance for bioimaging or as a photothermal agent in cancer theranostics (Jiang et al., 2012). The wholebody scan is possible using this optical property. Since epidermal growth factors express themselves in several cancers, one can conjugate gold nanoparticles with endothelial growth factor receptor

antibodies. Using these conjugates for imaging is possible with the help of a scanning confocal microscope (Guo et al., 2017). The oxidative stress induction and cytotoxic effects of gold nanoparticles make it a potential candidate for cancer therapy (Saravanan et al., 2019). Gold nanoparticles can serve as a suitable marker for increasing intratumor localization of anticancer drugs (Rejinold et al., 2015). The inherent optical property of silver nanoparticles makes silver interact with the wavelength of light (400nm) (Seeta et al., 2019). Compared to other nanobiomaterials, silver nanoparticles show better light absorption and resolution (Mihail et al., 2016). Silver alone or its amalgam with other metals can be used for medical imaging (Seeta et al., 2019). The nanosized silver nanoparticles can enter the tumor efficiently by passive or active targeting. They affect the mitochondria-producing reactive oxygen species, leading to oxidative stress and apoptosis of cancer cells. At 435 nm, it shows maximum cytotoxicity and anticancer activity due to activation of the apoptotic gene (Aydin et al., 2019). The capacity of iron oxide nanoparticles to bind with antibodies, chemotherapeutic agents, and nucleic acid also makes it a suitable candidate for cancer theranostics (Santhosh & Ulrih, 2013). Iron oxide nanoparticles (IONPs) are suitable as MRI contrast agents. These nanoparticles can bind covalently or noncovalently with the overexpressed cancer biomarker (Zhu et al., 2016). They can also navigate through tumor margin, metastasis, and inflammatory areas and can find the location of angiogenesis, making it possible to visualize and predict the stage of cancer. IONP labeling of cells can help to determine the spread of immune-competent cells in the tumor (Singh & Sahoo, 2013) and for biosensing. The study by Liu et al. depicted that they are sensitive and precise in detecting biomarkers at higher spatial and temporal resolution. Using the phenomenon of magnetic fluid hyperthermia, one can apply external heat to IONPs to target the cancer cells. It will convert magnetic energy to heat energy and will selectively kill the cancer cells (Liu et al., 2013). Research has increased in the development of mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs) due to their unique properties like high surface area, flexibility in size, and ability to modify functional groups. Imaging and drug delivery are feasible using these properties. A study by Bobo et al. showed a synergistic effect of using a photosensitizer, porphyrin, and a drug, camptothecin, in lecithin-targeted mesoporous silica nanoparticles (Gary-Bobo et al., 2011). Cheng et al. developed polydopamine poly(ethylene)glycol-folic acid-modified MSNs for delivering doxorubicin for the treatment of cervical cancer. This novel system has higher antitumor activity in vivo and is a promising carrier (Cheng et al., 2017). Selenium is one of the extensively used chemotherapeutic agents. It is due to the ability to regulate cell cycle, inhibit migration of tumorcells, stimulate apoptosis, and invade them in vitro. Selenium can enhance anticancer effect of photodynamic therapy, modulate growth-stimulating hormone systems, and decrease seleniumbinding protein expression for personalized therapy for people suffering from hepatocellular carcinoma (Sanmartin et al., 2012). The investigation of difference in disulfide, thioether, diselenide, carbon, and selenoether bonds depicts that selenoether and diselenide bonds produce more reactive oxygen species (ROS) and enhance cytotoxicity of paclitaxel-citronella prodrug conjugate (Sun et al., 2019). Titanium dioxide can stop the growth of tumors and bring improvement in cancer therapy. Nanoformulations developed from titanium oxide affect the proliferation of cells by blocking cell cycle. It exhibits an increased cytotoxicity effect and potential dose-dependent effect on cell proliferation and leads to cell death. It also leads to decrease in ATP level, inhibition of apoptosis, and necrotic cell death (Raja et al., 2020). Sonodynamic therapy involves the use of titanium dioxide and zinc oxide. Using a conjugation of antibodies with titanium oxide and zinc oxide helps in targeting specific receptors. It also decreases the adverse effects associated with daunorubicin and doxorubicin (Çeşmeli & BirayAvci, 2019). A study by Bai et al. depicted that the use of 20 nm-sized zinc oxide nanoparticles induced considerable cytotoxicity in human ovarian cancer cells by induction of ROS, which affects cells by apoptosis, autophagy, and mitochondrial malfunction. Photodynamic therapy using zinc oxide produces ROS, leading to significant cytotoxicity in cancer cells, thereby increasing the selectivity and decreasing the adverse effects. It gets localized in tumor cells, and by focusing light on that region, selective and specific therapeutic action is achievable (Ancona et al., 2018).

Polymeric nanobiomaterials include poly(lactide-co-glycolic acid), polycaprolactone, chitosan, polylactide acid, polyethylene glycol-poly(lactic acid-co-glycolic acid) (PEG-PLGA), etc. PEGylated form of PLGA nanoparticles (NPs) increases

the therapeutic index of paclitaxel (Prabhu et al., 2015). The hyaluronic acid-based paclitaxel nano-lipid carrier gives a high therapeutic index and site specificity (Shukla et al., 2019). Chemotherapeutic drugs like paclitaxel, doxorubicin, docetaxel, camptothecin, and 5- fluorouracil are delivered using chitosan as a carrier. Conjugating chitosan with quantum dots, gadolinium, supermagnetic iron oxides, etc. is useful for imaging (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2011). PLGA has been used to encapsulate vincristine sulfate, dexamethasone, paclitaxel, doxorubicin, and cisplatin. It has completed its journey from benchside to bedside (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2011). Doxorubicin chitosan-polyalkyl cyanoacrylate nanoparticles show an increased therapeutic effect on cancer cells expressing folate receptors (Kumar et al., 2019). Polycaprolactone (PCL) can enhance the oral efficacy of the cytotoxic drugs - doxorubicin and paclitaxel. A PEGylated derivative of PCL was used as a nanoparticulate implant to be administered postsurgery. Polycaprolactonehydrazine linkage releases the drug in acidic media with significant toxicity on cancer cells (Kumar et al., 2019). The cisplatin PEGylated polyglutamic acid micelles exhibited longer circulation time and accumulation in Lewis lung carcinoma cells. The treatment gave promising tumor regression, 20 times higher accumulation, and no weight loss in animal models (Prabhu et al., 2015).

Carbon nanomaterials consist of carbon nanotubes, carbon nanohorns, and fullerenes. Its graphene and carbon cage-like structure allows functional modification, imparts stability, and increases its drug-carrying capacity. Its unique property makes it flexible for incorporating both hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs. Fullerenes being smaller in size can easily penetrate intracellularly (Yamashita et al., 2012). Drugs like paclitaxel and doxorubicin conjugated with fullerenes are efficient cancer theranostic. It is used as self-labeled probes designed for imaging, tracking drug delivery, mitigating adverse effects associated with chemotherapeutic drugs, and increasing selectivity toward cancer cells. The functional derivatives are capable of downregulating various angiogenic factors and suppress metastasis (Chen et al., 2012). Carbon nanotubes have the potential to penetrate the cell membrane and diffuse through lipid bilayer without killing normal cells. As per reports, it can selectively kill cancer cells using NIR light heating effect (Veerapandian et al., 2009), showing its utility in the field of thermal ablation and imaging. Gadolinium atoms are inserted inside carbon nanotubes for MRI and modified drug delivery (Mody et al., 2016). Carbon nanotubes take advantage of folic acid overexpression in cancer cells and get selectively bound to the surface of folic acid (Eskandari et al., 2014).

The natural origin-based nanobiomaterials include starch nanoparticles, alginate nanoparticles, pullulan nanoparticles, heparin-based nanoparticles, and silk fibroin (Mody et al., 2016). In the past decade, scientists have been attracted to natural polysaccharide like starch as a carrier. Due to the virtue of several hydroxyl groups, it can easily attach hydrophobic side chains and facilitate substitution, which enables the dissolution of the final product. It is biocompatible, biodegradable, nontoxic, non-immunogenic, renewable, economic, and biocompatible with drugs. Docetaxel is a potent chemotherapeutic drug. To tackle the low aqueous solubility, researchers

have encapsulated this drug in starch nanoparticles (Dandekar et al., 2012). In the experiment conducted by Li H *et al.*, the group

observed synergism in suppressing human lung cancer cells by simultaneously delivering doxorubicin and siRNA via folate-biotin-quaternized starch nanoparticles. The nanoparticles exhibited high cytotoxicity and inhibited proliferation in A549 cells and had specificity and potential in treating lung cancer (Li et al., 2019). Alginate is sensitive to acidic environment of the tumor vasculature. The polymer is being envisaged for its application in the design of smart cancer theranostics. Alginate-based magnetic nanogel by Peng N et al. caused rapid endocytosis and release of doxorubicin in the presence of a magnetic field. Also, it exhibited a desirable effect as an MRI and contrast agent (Peng et al., 2018). Pei M et al. discovered that in the acidic microenvironment of cancer, real-time noninvasive locating of cancer cells was possible (Pei et al., 2017). Pullulan nanoparticles have shown to prolong blood circulation time along with better stability and active tumor targeting. Pullulan-based doxorubicin nanoparticles developed by Li H et al. showed low cardiotoxicity. The group concluded that the developed pullulan-based doxorubicin nanoparticles not only improved the therapeutic efficacy but also eradicated chemoresistance and exhibited synergism effect compared to single-drug therapy (Li et al., 2015). Hua et al. loaded adriamycin-O-urocanyl pullulan nanoparticles to overcome drug resistance in cancer cells. There was higher cellular uptake of adriamycin due to avoidance of export by P-glycoprotein. This helped in reversing drug resistance in cancer cells (Guo et al., 2014). According to studies, heparin is a good anti-metastatic agent. It is due to heparinase, which inhibits metastasis or binding to growth factors or binding to platelets to expose circulating tumor cells to natural killer cells. The study performed by Sun H et al. displayed that doxorubicin-heparin had anti-metastatic activity and synergism (Sun et al., 2018). Yang and coworkers observed that heparin could overcome problems like low solubility, low selectivity, and improper release of drugs (Yang et al., 2017). Silk fibroin is obtained from silkworm. The biocompatibility, biodegradability, mechanical strength, and flexibility make it a suitable candidate for sustained release of drug. In a study performed by Montalban et al., curcumin silk fibroin nanoparticles showed cytotoxicity in two different cell lines (Hep3B cells and Kelly cells) without decreasing viability in normal cells (Montalban et al., 2018). Since most of the anticancer drugs have poor aqueous solubility, a carrier like silk fibroin can increase bioavailability. Application of doxorubicin-silk fibroin film in residual tumor bed, after removal of tumor, has shown to prevent regrowth of tumor (Jastrzebska et al., 2015). Cisplatin-loaded silk fibroin nanoparticles could internalize in the A549 cell line and could exhibit significant inhibition (Qu et al., 2014).

Albumin is protein-based commonly used as nanobiomaterial. Abraxane is the marketed formulation of albumin-based paclitaxel formulation used in the treatment of breast cancer. It has high penetration and selective anticancer activity with minimum harm to normal cells. Being flexible, it exhibits the EPR effect (Shukla et al., 2019). In a study performed on albumin nanoparticles, it was observed that there was an increase in cytotoxicity when tested in MCF-7 and A549 cells along with prolonged distribution in tumor, leading to slower tumor growth and increase in

mice survival (Pandurangan et al., 2016). Concentration-dependent cytotoxicity is seen in MCF-7 cells by paclitaxel albumin nanoparticles. It gives optimal therapeutic efficacy with minimal side effects (Lomis et al., 2016). The combination of nano-albumin-bound paclitaxel along with gemcitabine for treating pancreatic cancer showed good antitumor activity and doubled the rate of survival. Nanoparticles also exhibited synergistic effect due to modulation of cytidine deaminase (Fanciullino et al., 2013).

Safety Aspects

Safety of Nanobiomaterials

It is of utmost importance for a formulation to be safe when administered to a patient. It is necessary to understand a thin line between safety and toxicity of these nanobiomaterials. Safety aspects of these nanobiomaterials are described in the following text.

The bulk form of gold is inert, biocompatible, and nontoxic; however, with size reduction to prepare nanoparticles, safety is compromised (Fratoddi et al., 2015). The cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles depends on the shape and concentration. A study by Steckiewicz et al. illustrated that star-shaped gold nanoparticles were the most cytotoxic, whereas spherical forms were the least cytotoxic. The larger the size, the lesser is the cytotoxicity (Steckiewicz et al., 2019). There is no significant toxicity of tumor necrosis factor observed with colloidal gold delivery (Powell et al., 2010). The toxicity also depends on the surface charge. Serious and five times severe toxicity is observed in cationic compared to anionic nanoparticles. It is due to the interaction between negatively charged cell membranes and positively charged cationic, which leads to internalization and disruption of membranes (Jiang et al., 2012). Silver nanoparticles are safe and effective for cancer treatment. There is a thin line between the safety and adverse effects of silver nanoparticles, which can be governed by monitoring the physicochemical properties (Mihail et al., 2016). The size of the silver nanoparticles influences the cell viability, reactive oxygen species generation, and lactate dehydrogenase action. Akter et al. demonstrated that the generation of reactive oxygen species in the macrophage cell lines was more by nanoparticles of size 15 nm and less by nanoparticles of size 55 nm (Akter et al., 2018). As per findings, toxicity was due to the changes in biological media. It disrupted the mitochondrial respiratory chain, thereby increasing the ROS level. It also interfered with the production of ATP, causing DNA damage. It had also inhibited cell proliferation by activating signaling pathways (Singh et al., 2017). Safety is maintained if we ensure the controlled release of silver ions. An in vivo study using zebrafish described size-dependent toxicity, with 100% mortality by the end of 120 hours. Toxicity can be decreased by sulfidation of silver nanoparticles, thereby reducing the release of silver ions. Another approach was to coat the nanoparticles

with organic (citrates, proteins, polymers, etc.) or inorganic (carbonate, chloride, sulfide, etc.) capping agents. This coating stabilizes the nanoparticles, manages the surface chemistry, gives a proper shape, and reduces the amount of silver ions (Akter et al., 2018). In our body, iron oxide nanoparticles convert into elemental iron species for hemoglobin production. IONPs are safe up to a concentration of 200 µg/ml. A high dose of IONPs leads to ROS generation, affecting the normal functioning of the cell and cell apoptosis (Thomas et al., 2013). ROS generated in higher amounts leads to cell damage, DNA disruption, alteration in gene transcription, and protein alteration. The surface charge should be neutral. The cationic surface charge may lead to hemolysis and aggregation of platelets (Liu et al., 2013). Coating the surface will mask the oxidative sites, rendering the nanoparticles less reactive. For coating, various organic polymers like chitosan, poly(ethylene)glycol (PEG), dextran, and organic surfactants like sodium oleate, dodecyl amine, and inorganic metals can be used (Singh & Sahoo, 2013; Zhu et al., 2016). IONPs of 10-100 nm have promising pharmacokinetics (Zhu et al., 2016). Santhosh and Ulrich's study concluded that PEG-coated IONPs showed no cytotoxicity, and cytotoxicity was due to uncoated IONPs (Santhosh & Ulrih, 2013). While evaluating dextran-coated IONPs, there was a decrease in proliferation; and cell death was observed. It was due to the breaking of the dextran coat that exposes cells to iron oxide aggregates (Singh et al., 2010). These nanoparticles may get detached from the surface of tumor due to cell division or leakage, so it is advisable to study the clearance pathway in the initial phase to develop efficient targeted systems (Liu et al., 2013). The fluorescent mesoporous nanoparticles were compatible at therapeutic doses, and it reduces the associated toxicity of chemotherapeutic agents along with excellent tumor suppression (Lu et al., 2010). Selenium in large quantity leads to toxicity. Some chemical forms have reported genotoxicity, but there is insufficient reported data to claim it a carcinogen. At times, selenosis occurs; hence, long-term use is not recommended. The toxic level leads to hair loss, damage, or removal of nails and skin lesions and affects the nervous system (Brozmanová et al., 2010).

Titanium dioxide exhibits noticeable toxicity like genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in humans. The large surface area and redox activity also contribute to the toxicity. The intraperitoneal injection of titanium dioxide in mice results in acute toxicity like tremor, lethargy, loss of appetite, and passive behavior. It showed more toxic effect on the kidney compared to the liver (Chen et al., 2009; Jinyuan et al., 2009). Zinc oxide can dissolve in the extracellular region, which increases the intracellular level of zinc oxide, leading to toxicity. Toxicity can also be due to uptake of zinc oxide by cells, followed by its dissolution. The systemic exposure of zinc oxide leads to neurological effects (Pandurangan & Kim, 2015).

In a study on polymeric nanobiomaterials by *Jesus S. et al.*, the group concluded that oral toxicity associated with chitosan nanoparticles is ruled out, confirming compatibility of nanoparticles with the blood components. Dose-dependent toxicity is seen on intravenous (iv) injection. In various studies, there is a proportionate increase in ROS associated with chitosan nanoparticles. The generation of ROS is less in the nonlethal concentration (1%) of chitosan. Further, it is reported that

PLGA NPs did not exhibit toxicity on oral or intravenous (iv) administration. Only one study reports the toxicity of daunorubicin-PEG-PLL-PLGA nanoparticles (Jesus et al., 2019). The toxicity evaluation of cationic and anionic polyamidoamine in zebrafish demonstrated that cationic form caused cardiovascular dysfunction and decreased survival rate, whereas anionic form did not show such toxicity (Jia et al., 2019). As per findings, bovine serum albumin decreased cytotoxicity associated with PLGA (Razavi & Khandan, 2017). Literature also reports that there is toxicity associated with polycaprolactone (PCL) on intravenous (iv) and intraperitoneal (ip) administration (Garcia et al., 2014). Administering paclitaxel-tamoxifen in polyethylene oxide-polycaprolactone via the iv route had a significant anticancer activity with minimal toxicity (Prabhu et al., 2015).

The macrophage cells are inefficient in completely engulfing the long fibers of carbon nanotubes. It leads to the production of ROS and inflammatory response. Contents of metal impurity in carbon nanotubes (CNTs) also determine the carcinogenicity. Apart from this, particle length and width also have an impact on safety. CNTs having a large diameter or tangled ones are comparatively less toxic. The fabrication should be such that it is biocompatible, biodegradable, and watersoluble; otherwise, it will lead to chronic toxicity (Yamashita et al., 2012). If CNTs are present as aggregates, it becomes difficult for macrophages to recognize them, leading to potential systemic toxicity. Doping the surface can increase or decrease toxicity. The acid-oxidized CNTs induce more toxicity, whereas nitrogen doping decreases toxicity (Narei et al., 2018). Injecting multi-walled CNTs in zebrafish leads to long-term reproductive toxicity and a higher death rate. It may be due to metal catalyst residues that is not removed during purification (Jia et al., 2019). Using purification techniques like sonication in different media, treatment with hydrochloric acid, ion-exchange chromatography, etc. can tackle this problem (Eatemadi et al., 2014).

The blank starch nanoparticles are safe, and there is no significant effect on cell viability, even at a dose of 2 mg/ml (Dandekar et al., 2012). Yu et al. performed chemo-photothermal therapy to eradicate tumors using hydroxyethyl starch-based nanoparticle systems. It was biodegradable and biocompatible and had efficient and safe in vivo performance (Yu et al., 2019). Zhao K et al. also found hydroxyethyl starch nanoparticles safe compared to the free doxorubicin. The conjugate had lower organ toxicity; hence, long-term administration is possible (Zhao et al., 2017). Saralkar P and Dash A prepared curcumin-resveratrol alginate nanoparticles for evaluating the effect on prostate cancer cell line DU145. The blank nanoparticles were found to be safe as they did not cause hemolysis and showed cytotoxic effect on cancer cells (Saralkar & Dash, 2017). Alginate is biocompatible, biodegradable, nontoxic, and hemocompatible (Bhunchu & Rojsitthisak, 2014). On investigating pullulan, it did not show any alteration in liver and kidney tissues. Even the orally administered dose did not show significant signs of toxicity. There was no change in clinical findings even after 14 days of repeat toxicity study (Raychudhuri et al., 2020). The folate-conjugated pullulan acetate nanoparticles for cervical cancer did not exhibit mortality in the control as well as the experimental group. There is a minor change in vital organs, along with inflammation in experimental groups (Tang et al., 2015). The long-term use of heparin leads to thrombocytopenia, osteoporosis, and bleeding in women. Also, it triggers the immune system, forms abnormal clots, and leads to myocardial infarction, stroke, and ischemia. Therefore, monitoring of patients is required (Hwang & Lee, 2016). The doxorubicin-silk fibroin hydrogel is safe and efficacious compared to iv doxorubicin in the treatment of breast cancer. It is efficient in reducing tumor growth and metastasis (Jastrzebska et al., 2015).

Albumin selectively accumulates in the tumor as the tumor cells require it to meet their increasing need of amino acids and energy (Li et al., 2020). Albumin is biodegradable, biocompatible, and non-immunogenic and has specificity for glycoprotein 60 receptor present in cancer cells. It allows the delivery of various anticancer drugs without inducing an immune response (Lomis et al., 2016). Drugs bound to albumin are likely taken up by cancer cells compared to normal cells rendering it safe. Usually, cationic polymer-based nanoparticles exhibit incompatibility and cause hemolysis and cytotoxicity. But, the bovine serum albumin nanoparticles do not damage RBC, cell line, or endothelial cells in vitro (Taguchi et al., 2013).

Importance of Dose of Nanobiomaterials

It is the dose that decides whether the outcome will exhibit a therapeutic effect or toxicity. It is necessary to determine a practically feasible dose from pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies. It is important to observe the effects of a high dose of nanobiomaterial as well as the toxicity due to long-term exposure. Also, determine appropriate dosage form, route of administration, dosing frequency, and exposure time, and establish safety protocols. There is a rare possibility of developing a neurodegenerative disorder, asthma, etc. due to exposure to high dose of nanomaterial. It necessitates the dose calculation of nanomaterial along with active pharmaceutical ingredients (Tekade et al., 2018). To explain the importance, we would like to quote certain examples. Using 10/20/50 nm-ranged gold nanoparticles can lead to liver damage. However, a single dose of gold nanoparticles did not lead to liver toxicity. Based on the observations of the same study, it was proposed that administering gold nanoparticles dose of 2.5 mg/kg after every 48 hours for 21 days did not cause any liver or brain toxicity (Pastoris Muller et al., 2017). In another example, the biotin-modified pullulan nanoparticle did not show apparent acute toxicity up to 200 mg/kg (Tang et al., 2015). The intraperitoneal injection of 1.5 g/kg of mesoporous silica nanoparticles leads to distress or death in mouse. It is attributed to high doses and size of nanoparticle (Lu et al., 2010). The use of selenium in low dose helps in cancer prevention, reduces inflammation, and regulates blood pressure, but intake of $300-700 \ \mu g/day$ leads to toxicity (Sanmartin et al., 2012).

Safe-by-Design Strategy for Developing Safer Nanotherapeutics

On seeing the adverse effects associated with nanomaterials, there is a need for efforts to minimize the risk during the development stage. Scientists have proposed a safe-by-design (SbD) strategy for developing safer nanotherapeutics (Yan et al., 2019). It is an innovative approach that stands on the pillars of safe materials, safe production, and safe use for maximizing safety while maintaining the efficacy of the final product (Schmutz et al., 2020).

The word "design" in safety-by-design does focus not only on the properties of nanomaterials that we modify but also on the entire process, the materials, as well as the final product. The implementation starts with defining the workflow of the project along with a schedule of evaluating the collected data of nanomaterial property, defining prerequisites, characterizing process, and product safety profile (Kraegeloh et al., 2018).

The product developed should be safe and meet all the regulatory requirements. Being a new concept, it is not a part of the ICH, FDA, or EMA guidelines (Schmutz et al., 2020). It follows REACH and OECD guidelines. REACH stands for Registration, Evaluation, Authorization, and Restriction of chemical substances. It emphasizes risk management by following three principles: evaluating the effect, assessing the exposure, and characterizing the risk. Effect evaluation involves the collection of data that affect toxicity like size, distribution of size, shape, surface area, aggregation, stability, surface property, and reactivity. As per reports, smaller particle size showed more toxicity due to greater uptake by cells. The positive charge exhibited more toxicity due to an increase in interaction with negative charge present on the biological membrane. Also, high ionic dissolution and rod-shaped nanomaterials caused damage to the cells. Exposure assessment identifies all the likely sources of exposure in the manufacturing process. Finally, risk characterization involves adapting a strategy for testing and managing the risk (Zielińska et al., 2020). The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has published a guideline on the quantitative structure-activity relationship for the environment, health, and safety (Schmutz et al., 2020). The OECD is used to develop nano-QSAR for developing a relationship between physicochemical properties of nanobiomaterials and observed desirable and undesirable effects. However, this technique requires more quantitative data of structure and chemical properties to develop a robust technique to co-relate the structure with the response (Yan et al., 2019).

Various strategies under safe-by-design can establish safety in products. It involves coating, doping, grafting, loading, optimizing size/shape, managing surface charge, reducing persistence, reducing interaction, and passivating defect site (Torres Andón & Fadeel, 2014; Yahaya & Zain, 2017; Yan et al., 2019; Reijnders, 2020). Coating involves encapsulating toxic material inside a biocompatible carrier to decrease the potential side effects (Yan et al., 2019). Coating the inorganic nanomaterial with polymers or silica decreases undesirable contact with biologics, while coating the rare-earth oxide with phosphate reduces the impact of damage caused

by phosphonates due to phosphate stripping. The coating of carbon nanotubes with poloxamer reduced lung fibrosis (Reijnders, 2020). The coated gold nanoboxes were capable of developing personalized nanosystems for treating lung cancer (Movia et al., 2014). Doping involves the addition of a small amount of foreign atoms to modify the electrical, optical, or magnetic properties. It leads to change in energy near the surface, causing charge separation which will interfere ROS generation and oxidative stress (Yan et al., 2019). As per literature, doping the copper oxide nanoparticles with 1-10% iron reduced cytotoxicity, rendering it safe to the environment (Naatz et al., 2017). Doping nano-silica with iron and titanium minimizes inhalation hazards (Reijnders, 2020). Grafting is the covalent attachment of targeting ligands to nanomaterials. There are two modes of grafting - "grafting-to" and "grafting-from." Grafting-to approach attaches reactive species to functionalized surface of nanomaterial, whereas grafting-from involves embedding nanomaterial inside a matrix (Yan et al., 2019). Grafting the carbon with small organic molecules reduced cytotoxicity. Loading is like grafting, but here it involves noncovalent bond formation. It helped in improving drug delivery and imaging (Reijnders, 2020). Next comes the optimization of properties. The cellular uptake and its distribution in the tissues depend upon the size of nanomaterial. The higher the uptake by the cells, the higher is the toxicity observed (Torres Andón & Fadeel, 2014). Studies have reported that the size of nanomaterials used in cancer should be in the range of 2-200 nm for having suitable half-life and accumulation in tumor via EPR effect (Yan et al., 2019). The small particle size in the range of 1–100 nm had a hazardous profile compared to bulk or large particle size formulation (Dekkers et al., 2020). The shape of nanomaterial will also determine the toxicity. The macrophages can efficiently engulf ellipsoidal-shaped particles compared to spherical nanoparticles. Nanoformulations that are in the form of needle or multi-walled nanotubes resist uptake of macrophages and cause damage to cellular membranes (Torres Andón & Fadeel, 2014). The shape of nanomaterial influences the stability, surface adsorption, transport, and absorption in the body (Zielińska et al., 2020). The surface charge of the nanocarrier is also responsible for the interaction with biological membranes. If the nanocarriers have net positive charge, it interacts with the negative charge of the cell surface. It increases the rate of internalization and associated toxicity of positively charged nanocarriers compared to negatively charged nanocarriers (Torres Andón & Fadeel, 2014). All the above discussed points were strategies to promote safety; in the following sections, we will discuss what parameters can be controlled or reduced to enhance safety of nanobiomaterials. Avoiding or reducing the use of toxic elements eventually decreases toxicity (Yahaya & Zain, 2017). Attempts to modify the oxidative state to alleviate reactivity of nanocarriers are required. One can reduce the release of toxic material from the matrix by optimizing Van-der Waals, coordination and ionic and covalent bonding present between matrix and nanoparticle with the aid of stabilizer or compatibilizers. There is a need to reduce the persistence of such materials or develop strategies to control their end life (Yahaya & Zain, 2017). Sometimes, the presence of defects like steps, kinks, corners, and edges have atoms possessing weak bonds that can lead to change in electronic structure and reactivity. Passivation of such defects during the development stage inhibits such toxic reactions without hampering desired activity of nanomaterials. It is possible by simple coating, for example, zinc oxide, and iron oxide nanoparticles can be coated with silica shells to shield the reactive site on the surface. Such coatings impart stability and biocompatibility, thereby maintaining functionality (Yan et al., 2019).

Safe-by-design (SbD) also helps in risk assessment, addressing the uncertainty, indeterminacy, and responsibility toward the design. This uncertainty is managed by identifying the risk and defining the consequences if the risk occurs without ignoring the facts. Sometimes, the risk is due to scenario uncertainty; to resolve this, apply a safety factor that makes it several times safer than expectations. Another approach is substituting all the dangerous parameters with less dangerous ones. However, one must understand that it is not possible to control all the hazards, but addressing only known parameters develops more uncertainty. Ruling out the indeterminacy will make the design more adaptable. The operators should have adequate expertise and skills to improve safety. There should be constant self-improvement within workers to remove indeterminacy and exposure to unknown hazards. Lastly, there should be a sense of responsibility, to not only safeguard themselves but also protect the end user (Van De Poel & Robaey, 2017).

"NaNoREG" and "Prosafe" are European projects for guiding the industry for SbD of manufactured nanomaterial. It is a combination of the innovative management process, risk assessment, environment, health, and safety assessment with regulatory affairs and data management. It consists of four elements: innovative projects, safety dossier, safety profile, and SbD protocols. The objective is to transfer precautionary measures to practical actions. It involves the use of all the precautionary measures to eradicate uncertainty and associated risks that may hinder the product's entry to the market (Kraegeloh et al., 2018). NaNoREG has introduced an innovative approach for effective communication between regulators, researchers, decision-makers, and industry. It has developed SbD, on the stage-gate model, where the entire project is divided into various stages from the proposal of idea to its entry in the market and contains a gate between every stage and where decisions regarding cancellation, modification, or its entry into the next stage are taken (Micheletti et al., 2017). Another project named GoNanoBioMatSbD was developed from the SbD approach to deal with polymeric nanocarriers. It involves design of the material, evaluation, human health and environment risk, manufacturing and control, storage, and transport. The initial stage includes all the set of questions such as type of drug, its application, dose, and design of nanocarrier, which is an extensive literature search. It is followed by screening the model for toxicity with the aid of QSAR modelling. It is necessary to evaluate human risk at the initial stage with the help of literature search and toxicity modeling. The material design stage compares all the nanobiomaterials and attempts to maintain a proper balance between safety, efficacy, and budget. Then, it characterizes the polymer properties for optimizing the batch. It is tested for all types of toxicity, like immunotoxicity, carcinogenicity, and mutagenicity, and the endpoints are noted. All the environment risks

are listed, and after comparing all the nanobiomaterials, at least one nanobiomaterial is selected by the end of this stage. It is followed by manufacturing and control steps. It is also necessary to apply the good manufacturing practices (GMPs) and define critical quality attributes (CQAs) and critical process parameters (CPPs), scale-up, storage, and transportation measures (Schmutz et al., 2020).

Gold Standard for Safety Assessment

The use of zebrafish is considered a gold standard for safety assessment (Jia et al., 2019). The evaluation is done on zebrafish from the environment, health, and safety perspective of nanomaterial, which helps in risk assessment and framing guidelines on safety, precautionary measures, control, and strategy development to improve characteristics of nanobiomaterial and decrease the associated toxicity (Chakraborty et al., 2016). Zebrafish is gaining importance due to similarities with humans. Compared to rodents' models, it has more sensitivity toward toxins, and it develops a toxicity mechanism quickly. It is preferred due to small size, ease of handling, and less requirement of chemicals to determine toxicity (Kim et al., 2019). It is widely used in bioimaging to characterize the toxicity profile of nanomaterials. An experiment depicted that silver nanoparticles in the size range of 30–72 nm were able to diffuse in zebrafish embryos, leading to potential toxicity. To evaluate the cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles, use the zebrafish model. The 20-day exposure of 16 and $55 \mu g/g dry$ weight of gold nanoparticles caused change in oxidative stress, neurotransmission, and mitochondrial metabolism. The evaluation of cytotoxicity of carbon nanotube was assessed using this model, which showed bioaccumulation of 16 L/kg wet weight of fish and biochemical alterations (Chakraborty et al., 2016). There was a disturbance in the behavior and development of zebrafish exposed to cadmium tellurium quantum dots. Titanium dioxide leads to neurotoxicity when it is in the form of nanoparticles compared to bulk titanium dioxide. The metal oxides interfered with hatching of zebrafish. Thus, to assess the safety of nanobiomaterials, the zebrafish response is evaluated (Haque & Ward, 2018).

Toxicology Study

The most common toxicological studies of nanomaterials involve analysis of physical and chemical parameters and in vitro, in silico, and in vivo evaluations. In vivo and in vitro toxicological studies are mostly carried out in animal models or cell models (Pandey & Mishra, 2019).

In Vitro and in Vivo Toxicology Study in Vitro Assessment of Nanomaterial Toxicity

The in vitro toxicology studies of nanobiomaterial involve the test for cytotoxicity, genotoxicity, apoptosis, and markers of oxidative stress. The benefits of in vitro study include reduced animal testing, faster analysis, and lower costs, and it is currently required to produce and confirm in vitro assays to determine nanomaterial toxicity. For evaluating the cytotoxicity of biomaterials, use multiple assays like cell membrane integrity, functionalization assay, and cell proliferation assay (Pandey & Mishra, 2019; Stone et al., 2009).

Table 13.1 gives a brief description of all assays for in vitro toxicology study.

In Vivo Toxicology

In vitro characterization used to estimate the nanotoxicity of nanomaterials is not sufficient to ensure complete human safety (Tekade et al., 2018). In vivo toxicology study is also commonly conducted on animal models like mice and rats. Zebrafish (Danio rerio) is also a popular model and has several distinct benefits in toxicological testing over its mammalian counterparts (Jia et al., 2019). The biodistribution, clearance, hematology, serum chemistry, and histopathology are among the evaluation techniques for in vitro toxicity. Biodistribution studies investigate the path of localization nanoparticles to the tissue or organ. Nanoparticles are detected in the killed or live animals through radiolabels. One can perform the clearance studies of nanoparticles to analyze the excretion and metabolism of nanoparticles at different intervals after exposure (Kumar & Sharma, 2017). The examination of alteration in serum chemistry and cell type following exposure of nanoparticles is another technique for in vivo toxicity evaluation. Studies have been conducted to evaluate the histopathology of the cell, tissue, or organ after exposure to determine the toxicity effect induced by nanoparticles (Lei et al., 2008). Histopathology examination determines nanoparticle accumulation in tissues such as the lungs, eyes, brain, liver, kidneys, heart, and spleen (Baker et al., 2008).

Biocompatibility Study

Biocompatibility is related to the capacity of a biomaterial to carry out its specific medical therapy role without having any unintended effect on the patient or effect of the patient on the therapy (WEBSTER et al., 2013). It determines the incompatibility with the biological system. The compatibility with blood is an important attribute to claim safety. Nanomaterial incompatibility with blood can result in protein complexes and complement activation of the system by forming a clot. Different

Assay	Details	Merits	Demerits	Reference
Trypan blue dye exclusion assay	It helps in determining the cell viability. It involves assessment based on cell membrane integrity. The dead cells uptake the dye, whereas living cells do not uptake the dye	This method is easy to apply, economical, and widely used	This method cannot distinguish between apoptosis and necrosis. It has low sensitivity	(Strober & Diseases, 2019; Adan & Baran, 2016)
Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay	It is used to assay the cellular cytotoxicity. It is a colorimetric technique which measures LDH enzymes released from dead cells. The released LDH is determined by a coupled enzymatic action which gives red-color formazan	This method is simple and reliable facilitates faster evaluation	It determines only the last apoptosis/ necrosis stage. It interferes with the culture media. The use of this method is limited to the compounds with low-serum or serum-free compounds	(Katriina Lappalainen et al., 1994), (Adan & Baran, 2016; Aslantürk & Aslantürk, 2018)
MTT (3-(4,5- dimethylthiazol-2-yl)- 2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assay	It determines cytotoxicity and cell variability by estimating activity of mitochondrial enzymes. The principle involves reduction of MTT to water-soluble insoluble purple formazan by mitochondrial NADH enzymes	It is easy and safe to use. It has high reproducibility. It is widely used and is superior to exclusion dye methods	There is significant well- to-well error is observed in this method. Formazan is insoluble in water. It is difficult to remove cell culture media	(Stone et al., 2009) (Langdon, 2003; Aslantürk & Aslantürk, 2018)

 Table 13.1 In vitro toxicology studies to determine toxicity of nanomaterials and evaluate them for cytotoxicity, genotoxicity, apoptosis, and cell viability

(continued)

Assay	Details	Merits	Demerits	Reference
XTT (sodium 3,3' – [1(phenylamino)- carbonyl]-3,4- tetrazolinium]-3(4- mdthoxy-6-nitro) benzene sulfonic acid hydrate) assay	This method helps in determining cellular viability by estimating the activity of mitochondrial enzymes. These enzymes reduce XTT to water-soluble orange formazan	This method is more sensitive and easier compared to MTT	The outcome of this method depends upon the reductive capacity of viable cells with mitochondrial dehydrogenase activity	(Aslantürk & Aslantürk, 2018; Kuhn et al., 2003)
MTS (3-(4,5-dimethyl thiazol-2-yl)-5- (3- carboxymethoxyphenyl)- 2-(4-sulphonphenyl)-2H- tetrazolium, inner salt) assay	This method determines cytotoxicity and cell viability. Here, the mitochondrial enzymes reduce the tetrazolium salt MTS to water-soluble formazan compound	This method has high precision. The identification of outcome is faster. This method is also cheap	The absorbance is influenced by incubation time, cell number, and cell type	(Malich et al., 1997), (Aslantürk & Aslantürk, 2018)
WST (water-soluble tetrazolium) assay	This method identifies the number of viable cells. The principle involves the reduction of tetrazolium salt WST to water-soluble formazan by mitochondrial enzymes in presences of electron acceptor like mPMS (1- methoxy-5- methyl- phenazinium methyl sulfate)	This technique has high reproducibility. It is safe and easy to use	The reflection of effect of addition of WTS-1, on testing at different endpoints is unclear	(Aslantürk & Aslantürk, 2018), (Adan & Baran, 2016)

Table 13.1 (continued)

(continued)

Assay	Details	Merits	Demerits	Reference
H3 Thymidine Uptake	This method helps in determining DNA synthesis and cell proliferation	There are no significant advantages associated with this method	This method has harmful effects. It is time- consuming and difficult to handle	(Madhavan, 2007), (Adan & Baran, 2016)
BrdU (bromodeoxyuridine) assay	This method helps in determining DNA synthesis and cell proliferation. The DNA synthesis can be determined by measuring the incorporation of BrdU in S-phase using a monoclonal antibody or BrdU ELISA	This method requires less time and equipment. It is suitable for simultaneous technique	BrdU is a potential carcinogen	(Leif et al., 2004; Adan & Baran, 2016)
Ki-67 antigen	This method helps in determining the DNA synthesis and cell proliferation. It gives information about the growth of tumor cell and the effect of drug on it	This method can determine all the phases of cell cycle and mitosis	This method is not suitable for formalin-fixed paraffin sections	(Scholzen & Gerdes, 2000),(Singhal et al., 2001), (Romar et al., 2016; Adan & Baran, 2016)

Table 13.1	(continued)
------------	-------------

(continued)
Assay	Details	Merits	Demerits	Reference
ATP (adenosine triphosphate) assay	It determines cell viability and cytotoxic effects by estimating the ATP levels. The enzymes luciferase and luciferin react with cellular ATP producing light that can be measured using luminometer. The luminescence light is directly proportional to viability of cells	This method has very good sensitivity and is widely applicable. It has a short protocol to be followed.	This method cannot differentiate between cytotoxic and cytostatic cells	(Crouch et al., 1993; Mueller et al., 2004; Adan & Baran, 2016)
Ames test	This method determines genotoxicity. It uses Salmonella Typhimurium which has mutation in gene encoding histidine enzyme. Therefore, subjecting to toxic insult leads to reverse mutation This reverse mutation helps in identification of mutagen/ carcinogen	This method is approved by regulatory bodies. It is simple and gives faster results	This method is less suitable for bacterial agents. Sometimes, the prokaryotic models might reflect eukaryotic model	(Dusinska et al., 2012) (Arne Biesiekierski et al., 2018)

Table 13.1 (continued)

(continued)

Assay	Details	Merits	Demerits	Reference
Annexin-V assay	The method helps in the identification and quantification of apoptotic cells. Annexin-V binds to phosphatidyl serine on the surface of apoptotic cells. The flow cytometer allows identification of both apoptotic and necrotic cells	This method can identify the type of cell undergoing apoptosis. It can also determine the early phase of apoptosis	In this method, the intensity andthe patterndiffer depending on efficacy of injection protocol. This method is expensive sometimes	(Kumar & Sharma, 2017) (Michiko et al., 2002)
TUNEL (terminal transferase dUTP labelling) assay	The method helps in the identification and quantification of apoptotic cells. The assessment is possible due to the selective binding to the fragmented end of DNA strand	This method can detect the concentrated DNA fragments. The commercial kits of this test are available	The method sometimes gives false positive results. Therefore, there is a need of additional assay to confirm the results. It is time consuming and expensive	(Shmuel, 1992) (Arne Biesiekierski et al., 2018) (Michiko et al., 2002)
Comet assay	It helps in the detection of DNA damage and repair The principle is based on separation of DNA fragment using gel electrophoresis. The relative intensity of tail of comet to its head accounts for the DNA damage	This technique has high sensitivity. It requires small number of cells per cycle	This method does not detect aneugenic effect and epigenetic effect of DNA. It cannot detect DNA fragments from apoptosis and necrosis	(Sligo et al., 2018) (Costa & Paulo Teixeira, 2014)

continued)

nanomaterials have been documented to induce a hemolytic impact through different mechanisms, such as oxidative damage to the membrane, changes in osmotic stability, enzymatic modifications, and alterations in the physical properties of blood (Pandey & Mishra, 2019). Different assays, such as bleeding time, clotting time, prothrombin time, thrombin time, and activated partial thromboplastin time, are useful for analyzing the influence of nanomaterial on extrinsic and intrinsic pathways of blood (Tekade et al., 2018).

Risk Assessment of Nanomaterials

Risk assessment involves identifying the potential of risk, usually by giving a score or ranking. The main aim of risk assessment is to provide details that will be useful in evaluating substitutes (Hegde et al., 2015). To choose any nanomaterial, the human health risk assessment must be correlated with exposure to hazard assessment (Jesus et al., 2019). Exposure assessment is an estimation of the concentrations or doses that the human population experiences through the environment or environmental compartments (Hegde et al., 2015). Human exposure to nanomaterials is possible via numerous routes at various phases of nanomaterial synthesis (Sligo et al., 2018). The different exposure routes include respiratory, oral, ocular, dermal, and parenteral route (injectable and implantable). We will further discuss the most prominent exposure routes and characteristics of NMs (Sharma et al., 2016). The respiratory system is the most popular route of exposure for ENM in the occupational environment. The particle size in the respiratory system has a significant effect on their distribution and lung aggregation (Kreyling et al., 2009; Pietroiusti et al., 2018). In the alveolar area, particulate size around 20 nm has the largest percentage of rate of deposition, and a size less than 55 nm will reach the alveoli more successfully compared to particle size 200 nm or larger. Nanomaterials with a positive charge show higher interaction with the negative charge of mucus, thus avoiding fast mucociliary clearance (Jesus et al., 2019). The skin is the largest organ in the human body and hence has a potential role in dermal exposure to ENMs. Estimates of potential dermal exposure to generate ENMs have been recorded in the workplace. However, there is no convincing evidence for the entry of ENM into systemic circulation by intact or even injured or inflamed skin. However, dermal penetration may lead to nanoparticles penetrating the skin's superficial layers, the dermis, causing a local inflammatory reaction (Gulson et al., 2010). For customers, the gastrointestinal path is theoretically important. However, at least in contrast to the pulmonary path, oral exposure was lower in staff. It is notable that a large proportion of nanoparticles inhaled are cleared into the oral cavity by the mucociliary escalator cells and then ingested into the gastrointestinal tract (Pietroiusti et al., 2018). The absorption depends on several variables, such as the form of nanoparticles, and essential physicochemical characteristics: particle size, dispersibility, and charge (Patricia, 2015). The particles having a diameter of about <50 nm and <500 nm cross epithelial barriers through paracellular and endocytosis. The nanomaterial having a positive charge has more affinity toward the intestinal mucus; hence, retention is more, and absorption is less. Neutrally charged nanomaterials diffuse more efficiently through the mucus layers s(Jesus et al., 2019). Hazard assessment is an evaluation of the nature and severity of biological effects (typically in toxicology studies). The hazard assessment concept is the same for nanomaterial is done by using various toxicology tests and assays. Determination of hazard by using experimental testing helps to identify the properties of a chemical or substance and its potential that leads to harmful health effects of human, terrestrial, or aquatic organisms (Hegde et al., 2015).

Risk Management of Nanomaterials

Risk management for nanomaterials is assumed as naturalistic (Murashov, 2015). Risk management pays attention mostly to choosing and implementing the most appropriate risk monitoring step. It is widely seen that conventional structure and devices for risk management systems do not cover all problems related to developing, handling, and use of engineering nanomaterial. Hence, it is required to develop a new approach to become more responsive to the nano-specific problem (Marchant et al., 2008). There are a variety of technical documents and recommendations released by international organizations and standard-setting bodies that advise on risk management problems and control measures associated with ENMs. According to the risk management strategy, all possible hazards and exposures are determined, tested, and evaluated (Oksel, 2017). The most effective hazard control strategy is based on (1) limiting, substituting, and modifying the nanomaterials, (2) the engineering process to minimize or eliminate exposure to the nanomaterials, (3) implementing administrative controls that limit the quantity or duration of exposure to the nanomaterials, and (4) providing for use of PPE (NIOSH, 2012). The Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) regulation, which requires employers to properly control the occupational exposure to all chemicals used in the workplace concentrates on preventing or reducing exposure to hazardous substances by controlling equipment, procedures, and worker behavior, demonstrating the clear importance given to management controls (e.g., supervision and training to reduce exposure; Oksel, 2017).

Regulatory Aspects

Legal Requirements

Cancer theranostics is one of the emerging field of cancer treatment and has multiple functions, such as diagnostic and therapeutic functions, targeted and regulated release of medicinal agents, and effectiveness of therapy (Svenson, 2013). Regulatory approval of pharmaceutical drug products for human use, particularly those that are biological products in which a nanomaterial in the finished products is present, needs extensive toxicology and safety studies. The same is applicable for any newly developed cancer theranostics. This can be a challenging job, as size, shape, composition, surface properties, loading of drug, dosage, route of administration, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics are all variables that can influence the toxicity profiles (Cole et al., 2011).

Nanotechnology is used in a wide variety of products governed by the FDA, such as human drugs and biologics. Products containing nanobiomaterials have quality characteristics which differ from those products that do not contain nanobiomaterials and therefore require analysis. The guidance document and review processes provided by the FDA addresses issues such as public health impact, safety, effectiveness, or the regulatory status of pharmaceutical products containing nanomaterials on case-by-case basis; and the guidance provided should be used as supplementary with other documents ('Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA-Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology', 2011; FDA/CDER/"Yeaton, 2017).

It includes characterization of the nanomaterial, understanding of the expected use and application of the nanomaterial, and how nanomaterial attributes contribute to product quality, safety, and efficacy; it is also an effective structure for assessing potential risks associated with nanomaterial-containing drug products. All drugs including finished drug products and drugs that are subject to OTC monograph regulations should be manufactured under current good manufacturing practice (cGMPs) as mentioned in the following sections: 501(a)(2)(B) of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act); 21 CFR parts 210, 211, and 212; and the regulations in 21 CFR parts 600–680. Building a knowledge base to better understand potential threats to product safety, identification, strength, consistency, and purity characteristics during the manufacture of nanomaterial-containing drug products is important for robust control strategies and successful process validation protocols to be put in place (FDA/CDER/"Yeaton, 2017; Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

The current FDA guidance on determining new excipient safety is applicable when a standard excipient is intentionally transformed into a nanoscale material. An appropriate safety assessment is required when existing safety data does not completely demonstrate the safety of nanomaterials with regard to exposure period, exposure level, and route of administration. In case, a typical excipient has been deliberately modified to be a nanomaterial or inserted into a nanomaterial; it is important to research the effect on safety and exposure of the materials (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA-Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

For Nonclinical Studies

All current guidelines from the International Council for Harmonisation (ICH) on nonclinical safety studies of the drug product as well as the components are generally applicable to nanomaterial-containing drug products. In terms of safety, newly developed drug products containing nanomaterials should be carefully analyzed:

- (a) absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) Nanomaterial drug products including excipients as drug carriers' biological fate and possible safety impacts in addition to active ingredient are required to be studied. Radiolabelled or fluorescence of nanomaterial will help in biodistribution studies of materials.
- (b) Risk assessment for routes of administration While evaluating safety of a drug product containing nanomaterials, the following route-specific issues should be addressed and may require special evaluation in addition to the nonclinical studies usually performed in support of drug product production.
- (c) Testing of representative nanomaterial Before conducting toxicity studies, the nanomaterial to which the human is exposed should be known; and different factors, media, and in vitro and in vivo solvents that affect the aggregation and surface properties of the drug should be understood. Adequate validated method of analysis should be employed to examine the test articles used in nonclinical studies. In general, such nonclinical evaluations, normally carried out to support the manufacture of any drug product, will be sufficient to evaluate nanomaterial-containing drug products when the clinical content is tested in nonclinical studies.
- (d) Bridging toxicology (a drug product not containing nanomaterials to a drug product containing nanomaterials) When an existing approved drug product is changed to nanomaterial ADME and a bridging toxicology analysis may be adequate and necessary to allow reliance on prior nonclinical expertise, provided that other regulatory requirements are met. Consideration should be given to the effect of the transition on the drug ADME and the possible effects of the transition on toxicity (FDA/CDER/"Yeaton, 2017; Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

For Clinical Studies

Nanomaterial-containing drug products should be manufactured according to all policies and guidelines that apply to the NDA, ANDA, IND, BLA, clinical efficacy, and safety studies (Narang et al., 2018).

505(b)(2) Submissions – For the NDA (New Drug Application) submitted under section 505(b)(1) and approved by 505(c) section (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011)

505(j) Submissions – Approval for generic product referencing a nanomaterial drug product can be applied by submitting an ANDA under section 505(j)of FD&C Act (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

351(k) Submissions – For the development of a biological reference product containing nanomaterials, existing guidelines on biosimilars should be followed. As part of product development, the contribution of the nanomaterial to product potency, safety, and purity should be assessed. Sponsors are encouraged to approach the FDA early on to develop nanomaterial-containing biosimilars (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

Bioanalytical Methods – After the administration of products containing nanomaterials, the clinically important elements, i.e., the parent drug and major active metabolites, should be calculated in the required biological matrices. It is recommended to use verified, relevant, and highly sensitive methods for examination of free and nanomaterial-associated drugs (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

In vitro Tests – The following parameters such as biocompatibility, plasma protein binding, stability, in vitro clearance, and metabolism should be carried out with human biomaterials (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA-Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

Immunogenicity – Applications for general guidelines for risk reduction associated with adverse immune responses shall address the FDA Guidance on the Evaluation of Industry Immunogenicity for Therapeutic Protein Products and the ICH Guideline S8 Immunotoxicity Research for Human Pharmaceuticals on sample approaches. Assessments of the probability of immunogenicity of biological products having a nanomaterial nonbiological component should consider the adjuvant properties of the component. Accordingly, the biological products that contain a nanomaterial component may have different immunogenic properties, which are important to be assessed (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA-Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011).

Environmental Impact Considerations

The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) requires federal agencies to determine the environmental effects and to ensure that environmental analysis is made known to the concerned and affected public. Applicants must submit an environmental assessment (EA) or claim categorical exclusion [21 CFR 25.15(a)]. The information registered in EA will be reviewed by the CDER (Center for Drug Evaluation and Research) or CBER(Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research) to decide if it is reliable, or the proposed action may have a substantial effect on the quality of the human environment. They encourage industries to notify them in early development phase of their plan to either demand a categorical exclusion or apply for an EA in order to assist them in decision-making and late-cycle information requests (Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA- Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology, 2011; Narang et al., 2018).

Global Regulatory Strategy

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)

Within its chemical safety framework, the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) initiated a strategic initiative in 2006 which provides a global forum to discuss and support responsible development of nanomaterials processed, in particular their safety assessment and risk assessment. They established Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (WPMN). It facilitates global collaboration on aspects of the human health and environmental protection of manufactured nanomaterials and focuses on the production of suitable methodologies and techniques to ensure the safe use of nanotechnology (Rauscher et al., 2017).

They are divided into six groups, namely, environment, health, and safety research strategy on manufactured nanomaterials, development of research database nanomaterials, safety testing of a set or representative manufactured, cooperation on voluntary schemes and prevention, manufactured nanomaterial test guidelines, and cooperation on risk assessments and exposure measurement (Park & Yeo, 2016).

Data obtained in accordance with the guidelines are covered by the Mutual Acceptance of Data (MAD) agreement of the OECD for the assessment of chemicals. MAD is a critical component for international harmonization of chemical safety approaches by regulatory acceptance of these test guidelines. Therefore, MAD also includes data on nanomaterials collected following OECD test guidelines that are specific to nanomaterials (Rauscher et al., 2017).

International Organization for Standardization (ISO)

ISO was established in June 2005 and is composed of 33 member countries and 15 observing countries. The ISO/TC 229 conducted ISO standardization of nanotechnologies based on four working groups (WGs): terminology and nomenclature (WG 1), measurement and characterization (WG 2), health safety and environmental aspects of nanotechnologies (WG 3), and material specifications (WG 4). It plays a significant role in developing basic framework for global nanotechnologies for risk assessment, risk control, and standardization (Park & Yeo, 2016).

Emerging Green Nanomaterial Approach for Cancer Theranostics

Researchers are moving toward safer and environment friendly approaches, which are not only safe for the environment but also for health. Many advances had been made in research toward a greener approach, where natural plant extracts, sources, and microorganisms are used for the synthesis of biogenic nanoparticles. The manufacturing of nanoparticles can be carried out using three methods: physical, chemical, and biological (green) methods. The conventional methods, physical and chemical methods, have certain limitations such as high energy consumption, low production rate, use of toxic and hazardous chemicals, instability, huge production cost, and environmental and health hazards (Si et al., 2020). The alternative methods are biological methods based on green nanotechnology (Saravanan et al., 2019). The advantages of green nanotechnology over conventional are low cost production, less energy consumption, use of renewable sources, resolving sustainability problems of climate change, reduction in use of toxic chemicals, simplicity of handling, and biodegradable yet recyclable products (Barry, 2019; Si et al., 2020). In the last few years, metal nanoparticles such as gold, silver, platinum, palladium, selenium, zinc, and copper have proven to be of great interest in the field of cancer theranostics.

Plants Used as a Natural Source for Green Approach

The phytochemicals extracted from the plant source are useful in combating cancer. Phytochemicals present in the medicinal plants had shown cytotoxic effects against cancer cells. Though phytonanotechnology has high potential in synthesizing biogenic nanoparticles, the exact mechanism of the phytosynthesis is yet to be understood (Saravanan et al., 2019). Plant parts such as roots, leaves, and barks are

collected, washed, and cut into small pieces for extraction under sterile conditions. The extract is purified by filtration and centrifugation. Extract, metal salt, and water are incubated for the growth of nanoparticles. The natural compounds used are starch, glucose, chitosan, sucrose, and calcium alginate as reducing and/or capping agents. Nontoxic, biodegradable polymers such as polyethylene glycol(PEG) and carboxymethyl cellulose(CMC). Nanoparticles synthesized are generally spherical in shape (Noruzi, 2015). Reduction and agitation methods, choice of suitable types of protecting agents, and concentration; synthesizing conditions such as pH, concentration of reductive biomass, temperature, and time; and use of alternative energy sources such as ultrasound and UV light are some of the factors responsible for the sizes and shapes of nanoparticles (Barry, 2019).

Microorganisms Used as a Natural Source for Green Approach

Various microorganisms such as yeast, fungi, bacteria, and algae are studied and used for synthesis of biogenic nanoparticles. One of the drawbacks of using microorganisms is that they require long incubation period for reduction, whereas the plant-based synthesis is quick. The use of microorganisms also has biosafety issues, where they are resolved in green synthesis using plant extracts (Ovais et al., 2016).

There are two approaches of synthesis, i.e., intracellular and extracellular. The advantage of extracellular process over intracellular process is that it is devoid of downstream processing steps. Downstream processing steps in an intracellular process are the recovery steps. It includes sonication, centrifugation, and washing steps for purification of nanoparticles. There are some important factors that play a crucial role in synthesis. Some important factors play a crucial role in synthesis, including metal-resistant agents, proteins, peptides, enzymes, reducing cofactors, and organic materials that play a role of a reducing agent (Soni et al., 2019).

For nanoparticles synthesis, the widely used bacterial species include *Actinobacteria* sp., *Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumonia, Lactobacillus* spp., *Bacillus cereus, Corynebacterium* sp., and *Pseudomonas* sp. (Soni et al., 2019).

In recent years, the studies have confirmed the biocompatibility and effectiveness of green nanoparticles and can be used as theranostic agent for cancer. The anticancer potential of phytosynthesized metallic NPs has grown over the past decade, with relatively little research on their genotoxicity, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and safety profiles alone or in combination with others. The studies conducted on in vivo models elicit potential value of green nanoparticles, and future research would allow us to conclude more on the anticancer activity of green nanoparticles (Saravanan et al., 2019).

Conclusion and Future Aspects

The use of nanobiomaterial in cancer theranostic is an innovative approach toward cancer diagnosis and therapeutics. This dual-purpose technique aims at interacting with the cells such that there is no interaction with the normal cells, thereby promoting selectivity and sensitivity toward cancer cells and reducing the duration of cancer treatment. There are various nanobiomaterials used in cancer cells, briefly divided as metal-based, polymer-based, derived from natural origin, carbon-based, and protein-based nanobiomaterials. These nanobiomaterials show promising results in cancer therapy if used properly. Scientists need to optimize the physicochemical properties and the dose of these nanomaterials to achieve maximum safety and minimal toxicity. Though toxicity cannot be eradicated, efforts can be made to make the formulation safe for end users. Researchers have adopted the use of the "safe-by-design" strategy that not only focuses on the physicochemical properties of these materials but also considers the entire process, material, and final product. The REACH guideline emphasizes evaluating the effect, assessing the exposure, and characterizing the risk, whereas the OECD guidelines suggest using QSAR modelling to establish a relationship between physicochemical properties and observed effects. Various techniques under SbD include coating, grafting, loading, doping, optimizing size/shape/charge, reducing persistence, and passivating defects. NaNoREG has developed SbD on the stage-gate model, whereas GoNanoBioMatSbD was developed for dealing with polymeric NBM. Both were concerned about the product right from the initial stage to its entry into the market.

The in vitro evaluation of toxicology involves cell membrane integrity assay, trypan blue dye exclusion assay, lactate dehydrogenase assay, metabolic activity assay, MTS assay, MTT assay, XTT assay, cell proliferation assay, and assay for genotoxicity. In vivo evaluation involves various animal models, but zebrafish is preferable due to its peculiar characteristics. Biocompatibility studies are performed to evaluate if any incompatibility exists with the biological system. The various routes by which exposure to nanobiomaterials occurs involve pulmonary, dermal, oral, ocular, and parenteral root. Optimizing the size, shape, and surface charge minimizes the exposure and associated exposure. As per the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) regulation, the employers should properly control the occupational exposure to all chemicals used in the workplace. They should concentrate on the prevention and/or reduction of exposure to hazardous substances by controlling worker behavior, equipment, and procedures.

As per the FDA, characterization of the nanomaterial, understanding of the expected use and application of the nanomaterial, and how nanomaterial characteristics contribute to product safety, efficacy, and quality are an effective structure for assessing potential risks associated with nanomaterial-containing drug products. The current FDA guidance on determining new excipient safety applies where a typical excipient is intentionally transformed into a nanomaterial. An appropriate safety assessment should be ensured when existing safety data regarding exposure level, duration of exposure, and route of administration do not completely demonstrate the safety of the nanomaterials. New products containing nanobiomaterials should be tested for ADME and risk considerations for the route of administration, testing nanobiomaterial for in vivo, in vitro, vehicle, media, and surface properties, thereby bridging regulations of conventional dosage forms and nanoformulations. They should follow clinical trials similar to the recommendations for the IND, NDA, ANDA, and BLA. The FDA also requires applicants to submit an environmental assessment or some similar document. The OECD facilitates international collaboration on aspects of the human health and environmental protection of processed nanomaterials and focuses on the production of suitable methods and techniques to ensure the safe use of nanotechnology. ISO also plays a significant role in developing a basic framework for global nanotechnologies for risk assessment, risk control, and standardization.

Advances in research are being achieved by moving toward the use of green technology. The advantages of green nanotechnology over conventional are low cost production, less energy consumption, use of renewable sources, resolving sustainability problems of climate change, reduction in the use of toxic chemicals, simplicity of handling, and biodegradable yet recyclable products. The in vivo studies of green nanoparticles elicit its potential for developing safe nanotherapeutics in the future.

References

- Adan, A., & Baran, Y. (2016). Cell proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*, 17, 1213–1221. https://doi.org/10.2174/13892010176661608081605
- Akter, M., et al. (2018). A systematic review on silver nanoparticles-induced cytotoxicity: Physicochemical properties and perspectives. *Journal of Advanced Research*, 9, 1–16. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2017.10.008
- Anand, P., et al. (2020). Expert review cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. *Pharmacy Research*, 25(9), 2097–2116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9661-9
- Ancona, A., et al. (2018). Lipid-coated zinc oxide nanoparticles as innovative ROS- generators for photodynamic therapy in cancer cells. *Nanomaterials*, 8(3), 143. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nano8030143
- Arne Biesiekierski, Y. L., Yin Xiao, Cuie Wen. (2018). Assessing the biocompatibility of biomaterial.
- Aslantürk, Ö. S., & Aslantürk, S. (2018). In vitro cytotoxicity and cell viability assays: Disadvantages in vitro cytotoxicity and viability assays: Principles, advantages, and disadvantages, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.71923
- Aydin, A. C., Yesilot, S., & Aydin, C. (2019). Silver nanoparticles; A new hope in cancer therapy? *East Journal of Medicine*, 24(1), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.5505/ejm.2019.66487
- Baker GL, Gupta A, Clark ML, Valenzuela BR, Staska LM, Harbo SJ, Pierce JT, Dill JA. Inhalation toxicity and lung toxicokinetics of C60 fullerene nanoparticles and microparticles. Toxicol Sci. 2008 Jan;101(1):122–31. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm243. Epub 2007 Sep 17. PMID: 17878152.
- Barry S. Biogenic synthesis of gold nanoparticles using red and green pear fruit extracts. http:// hdl.handle.net/11394/7166
- Bhunchu, S., & Rojsitthisak, P. (2014). Biopolymeric alginate-chitosan nanoparticles as drug delivery carriers for cancer therapy. *Die Pharmazie*, 69(8), 563–570.

- Brannon-peppas, L., & Blanchette, J. O. (2004). Nanoparticle and targeted systems for cancer therapy. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 56, 1649–1659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2004.02.014
- Brozmanová, J., et al. (2010). Selenium: A double- edged sword for defence & offence in cancer. *Archives of Toxicology*, 84(12), 919–938. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-010-0595-8
- Cancer Statistics Worldometer (n.d.). Available at: https://www.worldometers.info/cancer/. Accessed: 29 Nov 2020.
- Çeşmeli, S., & BirayAvci, C. (2019). Application of titanium dioxide (TiO2) nanoparticles in cancer therapies. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 27(7), 762–766. https://doi.org/10.108 0/1061186X.2018.1527338
- Chakraborty, C., et al. (2016). Zebrafish: A complete animal model to enumerate the nanoparticle toxicity. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, 14(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12951-016-0217-6
- Chen, J., et al. (2009). In vivo acute toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles to mice after intraperitioneal injection. *Journal of Applied Toxicology: JAT, 29*(4), 330–337. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.1414
- Chen, Z., Mao, R., & Liu, Y. (2012). Fullerenes for cancer diagnosis and therapy: Preparation, biological and clinical perspectives. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 13, 1035–1045.
- Cheng, W., et al. (2017). A pH-sensitive delivery vehicle based on folic acid-conjugated polydopamine-modified mesoporous silica nanoparticles for targeted cancer therapy. *Applied Materials and Interfaces*, 9, 18462–18473.
- Cole, A. J., Yang, V. C., & David, A. E. (2011). Cancer theranostics: The rise of targeted magnetic nanoparticles. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 29(7), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2011.03.001
- Costa, S., & Paulo Teixeira, J. (2014). Comet assay. In *Encyclopedia of toxicology* (Vol. 1, 3rd ed., pp. 1020–1023). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386454-3.01072-1
- Crouch, S. P. M., et al. (1993). The use of ATP bioluminescence as a measure of cell proliferation and cytotoxicity. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, *160*(1), 81–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1759(93)90011-U
- Dandekar, P., et al. (2012). A hydrophobic starch polymer for nanoparticle-mediated delivery of docetaxel a. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 12(2), 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mabi.201100244
- Dekkers, S., et al. (2020). Safe-by-design part I: Proposal for nanospecific human health safety aspects needed along the innovation process. *Nano, 18*, 100227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. impact.2020.100227
- Dusinska, M., et al. (2012). Critical evaluation of toxicity tests. In Adverse effects of engineered nanomaterials (pp. 63–83). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-3869 40-1.00004-0
- Eatemadi, A., et al. (2014). Carbon nanotubes: Properties, synthesis, purification, and medical applications. Nanoscale Research Letters, 9(1), 393. https://doi.org/10.1186/1556-276X-9-393
- Eskandari, M., et al. (2014). Polymer-functionalized carbon nanotubes in cancer therapy: A review. *Iranian Polymer Journal (English Edition)*, 23(5), 387–403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13726-014-0228-9
- Fanciullino, R., Ciccolini, J., & Milano, G. (2013). Challenges, expectations and limits for nanoparticles-based therapeutics in cancer: A focus on nano-albumin-bound drugs. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 88(3), 504–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. critrevonc.2013.06.010
- FDA/CDER/"Yeaton, A. (2017). Drug products, including biological products, that contain nanomaterials – guidance for industry, p. 29.
- Fernandez-Fernandez, A., Manchanda, R., & McGoron, A. J. (2011). Theranostic applications of nanomaterials in cancer: Drug delivery, image-guided therapy, and multifunctional platforms. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 165(7–8), 1628–1651. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12010-011-9383-z

- Fratoddi, I., et al. (2015). How toxic are gold nanoparticles? The state-of-the-art. *Nano Research*, 8(6), 1771–1799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12274-014-0697-3
- Garcia S.C., Guterres S.S., Bubols G.B., Bulcão R.P., Charão M.F., Pohlmann A.R. (2014) Polymeric Nanoparticles: In Vivo Toxicological Evaluation, Cardiotoxicity, and Hepatotoxicity. In: Durán N., Guterres S., Alves O. (eds) Nanotoxicology. Nanomedicine and Nanotoxicology. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8993-1_14
- Gary-Bobo, M., et al. (2011). Pharmaceutical nanotechnology cancer therapy improvement with mesoporous silica nanoparticles combining targeting, drug delivery and PDT. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 423, 509–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.11.045
- Gobbo, O. L., et al. (2015). Magnetic nanoparticles in cancer theranostics. *Theranostics*, 5(11), 1249–1263. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.11544
- Guidance for Industry Considering Whether an FDA-Regulated Product Involves the Application of Nanotechnology. (2011). Biotechnology. *Law Report*, 30(5), 613–616. https://doi.org/10.1089/ blr.2011.9814
- Gulson, B., et al. (2010). Small amounts of zinc from zinc oxide particles in sunscreens applied outdoors are absorbed through human skin. *Toxicological Sciences*, 118(1), 140–135. https:// doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfq243
- Guo, H., et al. (2014). pH-sensitive pullulan-based nanoparticle carrier for adriamycin to overcome drug-resistance of cancer cells. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 111, 908–917. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.05.057
- Guo, J., et al. (2017). Gold-nanoparticles-enlighten-the-future-of-cancer-thera. International Journal of Nanomedicine, 12, 6131–6152. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S140772
- Haque, E., & Ward, A. C. (2018). Zebrafish as a model to evaluate nanoparticle toxicity. *Nanomaterials*, 8(7), 561. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano8070561
- Hegde, K. et al. (2015). Environmental hazards and risks of nanomaterials, (November). https:// doi.org/10.1061/9780784414088.ch14.
- Hwang, H. H., & Lee, D. Y. (2016). Antiangiogenic actions of heparin derivatives for cancer therapy. *Macromolecular Research*, 24, 767–772. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13233-016-41111-8
- Indoria, S., Singh, V., & Hsieh, M.-F. (2020). Recent advances in theranostic polymeric nanoparticles for cancer treatment: A review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 582, 119314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119314
- Jastrzebska, K., et al. (2015). Silk as an innovative biomaterial for cancer therapy. Reports of Practical Oncology and Radiotherapy, 20, 87–98.
- Jesus, S., et al. (2019). Hazard assessment of polymeric nanobiomaterials for drug delivery: What can we learn from literature so far. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 7(October), 261. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00261
- Jia, H. R., et al. (2019). Nanomaterials meet zebrafish: Toxicity evaluation and drug delivery applications. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 311–312(July), 301–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2019.08.022
- Jiang, X. M., et al. (2012). Gold nanomaterials: Preparation, chemical modification, biomedical applications and potential risk assessment. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 166(6), 1533–1551. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9548-4
- Jinyuan, C., et al. (2009). In vivo acute toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles to mice after intraperitioneal injection. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*, 29, 330–337.
- Katriina Lappalainen, I. J., Syrjanen, K., & ArtoUrtti, S. S. (1994). Comparison of cell proliferation and toxicity assays using two cationic liposome. *Pharm Res*, 11(8), 1127–1131.
- Kim, D., et al. (2019). Safety and photochemotherapeutic application of poly(γ-glutamic acid)based biopolymeric nanoparticle. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B*, 9(3), 565–574. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.apsb.2019.01.005
- Kraegeloh, A., et al. (2018). Implementation of safe-by-design for nanomaterial development and safe innovation: Why we need a comprehensive approach. *Nanomaterials*, 8(4), 239. https:// doi.org/10.3390/nano8040239

- Kreyling, W. G., et al. (2009). Size dependence of the translocation of inhaled iridium and carbon nanoparticle aggregates from the lung of rats to the blood and secondary target organs. *Inhalation Toxicology*, 21, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/08958370902942517
- Kuempel, E. D., Geraci, C. L., & Schulte, P. A. (2012). Risk assessment and risk management of nanomaterials in the workplace: Translating research to practice. *Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, 56(5), 491–505. https://doi.org/10.1093/annhyg/mes040
- Kuhn, D. M., et al. (2003). Uses and limitations of the XTT assay in studies of Candida growth and metabolism. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41(1), 506–508. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.41.1.506-508.2003
- Kumar, V., & Sharma, N. (2017). In vitro and in vivo toxicity assessment of nanoparticles. International Nano Letters, 7(4), 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40089-017-0221-3
- Kumar, P. et al. (2019). Current status and future challenges of various polymers as cancer therapeutics, Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816963-6.00001-7
- Langdon, S. P. (2003). Cancer cell culture. *Cancer Cell Culture*, 731, 237–245. https://doi.org/10.1385/1592594069
- Lei R, Wu C, Yang B, Ma H, Shi C, Wang Q, Wang Q, Yuan Y, Liao M. Integrated metabolomic analysis of the nano-sized copper particle-induced hepatotoxicity and nephrotoxicity in rats: a rapid in vivo screening method for nanotoxicity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2008 Oct 15;232(2):292–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2008.06.026. Epub 2008 Jul 26. PMID: 18706438
- Leif, R. C., Stein, J. H., & Zucker, R. M. (2004). A short history of the initial application of Anti-5-BrdU to the detection and measurement of S phase. *Cytometry Part A*, 58(1), 45–52. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cyto.a.20012
- Li, H., et al. (2015). PH-sensitive pullulan-DOX conjugate nanoparticles for co-loading PDTC to suppress growth and chemoresistance of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 3(41), 8070–8078. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5tb01210d
- Li, L., et al. (2019). Codelivery of DOX and siRNA by folate-biotin-quaternized starch nanoparticles for promoting synergistic suppression of human lung cancer cells Codelivery of DOX and siRNA by folate-biotin-quaternized starch nanoparticles for promoting synergistic suppression of human lung cancer cells. *Drug Delivery*, 26(1), 499–508. https://doi.org/10.108 0/10717544.2019.1606363
- Li, C., et al. (2020). Current multifunctional albumin-based nanoplatforms for cancer multimode therapy. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 15, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajps.2018.12.006
- Liu, G., et al. (2013). Iron oxide nanoparticles applications and potential toxicity of magnetic Iron oxide nanoparticles. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. https://doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201201531
- Lomis, N., et al. (2016). Human Serum albumin nanoparticles for use in cancer drug delivery: process optimization and in vitro characterization. *Nanomaterials*, 6(116), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano6060116
- Lu, J., et al. (2010). Tumor suppression biocompatibility, biodistribution, and drug-delivery efficiency of mesoporous silica nanoparticles for cancer therapy in animals. *Nano Small micro*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201000538
- Lungu, I. I., et al. (2019). Nanobiomaterials used in cancer therapy: An up-to-date overview. *Molecules*, 24(19), 3547. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24193547
- Madhavan, H. N. (2007). Simple Laboratory methods to measure cell proliferation using DNA synthesis property. *Journal of Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine*, 3(1), 12–14.
- Malich, G., Markovic, B., & Winder, C. (1997). The sensitivity and specificity of the MTS tetrazolium assay for detecting the in vitro cytotoxicity of 20 chemicals using human cell lines. *Toxicology*, 124, 179–192.
- Marchant, G. E., Sylvester, D. J., & Abbott, K. W. (2008). Risk management principles for nanotechnology. *NanoEthics*, 2, 43–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11569-008-0028-9

- Micheletti, C., et al. (2017). Implementation of NaNoREG safe-by-design approach nanomaterial applications. *IOP Conference series Journal of Physics*, 838, 012019. https://doi. org/10.1088/1742-6596/838/1/012019
- Michiko, W., et al. (2002). Pros and cons of apoptosis assays. *Microscopy and Microanalysis*, 8, 375–391. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1431927602010346
- Mihail, G., et al. (2016). Chapter 2. Silver nanoparticles in cancer therapy. In Nanobiomaterials in cancer therapy (pp. 29–56). Oxford. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-42863-7.00002-5
- Mody, N., et al. (2016). Nanobiomaterials: Emerging platform in cancer theranostics. In Nanobiomaterials in cancer therapy: Applications of nanobiomaterials (7th ed., p. 146). Elsevier Inc., https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-42863-7.00005-0
- Montalban, M. G., et al. (2018). Production of curcumin-loaded silk fibroin nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Nanomaterials*, 8, 126. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano8020126
- Movia, D., et al. (2014). A safe-by-design approach to the development of gold nanoboxes as carriers for internalization into cancer cells. *Biomaterials*, 35(9), 2543–2557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.12.057
- Mueller, H., et al. (2004). Comparison of the usefulness of the MTT, ATP, and calcein assays to predict the potency of cytotoxic agents in various human cancer cell lines. *Journal of Biomolecular Screening*, 9(6), 506–515. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087057104265386
- Murashov, V. (2015). Overview of risk management for engineered nanomaterials, 1–13. https:// doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/429/1/012062.Overview
- Naatz, H., et al. (2017). Safe-by-design CuO nanoparticles via Fe-Doping, Cu-O bond length variation, and biological assessment in cells and zebrafish embryos. ACS Nano, 11(1), 501–515. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.6b06495
- Narang, J. K., et al. (2018). Nano-Oncologicals: Regulatory aspects and safety issues. Applied Clinical Research, Clinical Trials and Regulatory Affairs, 5(2), 122–131. https://doi.org/1 0.2174/2213476X05666180528094458
- Narei, H., Ghasempour, R., & Akhavan, O. (2018). 7 toxicity and safety issues of carbon nanotubes. In *Carbon nanotube-reinforced polymers* (pp. 145–171). Elsevier. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-323-48221-9.00007-8
- Noruzi, M. (2015). Biosynthesis of gold nanoparticles using plant extracts. *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, 38(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-014-1251-0
- Oksel, C. (2017). Risk management of nanomaterials.
- Ovais, M., et al. (2016). Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles via plant extracts: Beginning a new era in cancer theranostics. *Nanomedicine*, 11(23), 3157–3177. https://doi.org/10.2217/ nnm-2016-0279
- Pandey, S., & Mishra, A. (2019). Rational approaches for toxicological assessments of nanobiomaterials. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology*, 33(7), e22335. https://doi. org/10.1002/jbt.22335
- Pandurangan, M., & Kim, D. H. (2015). In vitro toxicity of zinc oxide nanoparticles: A review. Journal of Nanoparticle Research, 17(3), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-015-2958-9
- Pandurangan, A. K., et al. (2016). Nanobiomaterial-based delivery of drugs in various cancer therapies: Classifying the mechanisms of action (using biochemical and molecular biomarkers). In *Nanobiomaterials in cancer therapy: applications of nanobiomaterials* (7th ed., p. 365). Elsevier Inc., https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-42863-7.00011-6
- Park, H.-G., & Yeo, M.-K. (2016). Nanomaterial regulatory policy for human health and environment. *Molecular & Cellular Toxicology*, 12(3), 223–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13273-016-0027-9
- Pastoris Muller, A., et al. (2017). Safety protocol for the gold nanoparticles administration in rats. *Materials Science & Engineering C*, 77, 1145–1150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2017.04.027
- Patricia I. Dolez. (2015). Nanoengineering global approaches to health and safety issues.

- Pei, M., et al. (2017). Alginate-based cancer-associated, stimuli-driven and turn-on theranostic prodrug nanogel for cancer detection and treatment. *Carbohydrate Polymers*. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2017.12.013
- Peng, N., et al. (2018). Novel dual responsive alginate- based magnetic nanogels for onco- theranostics. *Carbohydrate Polymers*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbopol.2018.09.084
- Pietroiusti, A. et al. (2018). Nanomaterial exposure, toxicity, and impact on human health. https:// doi.org/10.1002/wnan.1513
- Powell, A. C., Paciotti, G. F., & Libutti, S. K. (2010). Chapter 25 Colloidal gold: A novel nanoparticle for targeted cancer therapeutics. In *Cancer nanotechnology, methods in molecular biol*ogy. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-609-2_25
- Prabhu, R. H., Patravale, B., & Joshi, M. D. (2015). Polymeric nanoparticles for targeted treatment in oncology: Current insights. *International Journal of Nanomedicine Dovepress*, 10, 1001–1018. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S56932
- Qu, J., et al. (2014). Silk fibroin nanoparticles prepared by electrospray as controlled release carriers of cisplatin. *Material Science and Engineering C*, 44, 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2014.08.034
- Raja, G., et al. (2020). Mechanoregulation of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in cancer therapy. *Materials Science and Engineering C*, 107, 110303–110303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msec.2019.110303
- Rauscher, H., Rasmussen, K., & Sokull-Klüttgen, B. (2017). Regulatory aspects of nanomaterials in the EU. *ChemieIngenieur Technik*, 89(3), 224–231. https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.201600076
- Raychudhuri, R., et al. (2020). Pullulan based stimuli responsive and sub cellular targeted nanoplatforms for biomedical application: Synthesis, nanoformulations and toxicological perspective. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 169, 1189–1205.
- Razavi, M., & Khandan, A. (2017). Safety, regulatory issues, long-term biotoxicity, and the processing environment, nanobiomaterials science, development and evaluation (p. 279). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100963-5.00014-8
- Reijnders, L. (2020). Safer-by-design for nanomaterials. Nanotoxicity. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-819943-5.00010-5
- Rejinold, N. S., Jayakumar, R., & Kim, Y. C. (2015). Radio frequency responsive nano- biomaterials for cancer therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 204, 85–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2015.02.036
- Romar, G. A., Kupper, T. S., & Divito, S. J. (2016). Research techniques made simple: Techniques to assess cell proliferation. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 136(1), e1–e7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jid.2015.11.020
- Sanmartin, C., et al. (2012). Selenium compounds, appoptosis& other types of cell death: An overview for cancer therapy. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 13, 9649–9672.
- Santhosh, P. B., & Ulrih, N. P. (2013). Mini-review multifunctional superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: Promising tools in cancer theranostics. *Cancer Letters*, 336, 8–17. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.04.032
- Saralkar, P., & Dash, A. K. (2017). Alginate nanoparticles containing curcumin and resveratrol: Preparation, characterization, and in vitro evaluation against DU145 prostate cancer cell line. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 18(7), 2814–2823. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-017-0772-7
- Saravanan, M., et al. (2019). Emerging plant-based anti-cancer green nanomaterials in present scenario. *Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry*, 87, 291–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/ bs.coac.2019.09.001
- Schmutz, M., et al. (2020). A methodological safe-by-design approach for the development of nanomedicines. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 8, 258. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fbioe.2020.00258
- Scholzen, T., & Gerdes, J. (2000). The Ki-67 protein: From the known and the unknown. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 182(3), 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4652(200003)182:3<311::AID-JCP1>3.0.CO;2-9

- Seeta, G., et al. (2019). Nanomaterials multifunctional behavior for enlightened cancer therapeutics. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 69, 178–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.08.013
- Sharma, M., et al. (2016). Framework to evaluate exposure relevance and data needs for risk assessment of nanomaterials using in vitro testing strategies. *Risk Analysis*, *36*(8), 1551–1563. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12581
- Shmuel, A. (1992). Identification of programmed cell death in situ. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 119(3), 493–501. Shukla, A. K. (2019) *Nanoparticles in Medicine*.
- Shukla, R., et al. (2019). Conclusion and future prospective of polymeric nanoparticles for cancer therapy. In *Polymeric nanoparticles as a promising tool for anti-cancer therapeutics*. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816963-6.00018-2
- Si, A., et al. (2020). Sustainable preparation of gold nanoparticles via green chemistry approach for biogenic applications. *Materials Today Chemistry*, 17, 100327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mtchem.2020.100327
- Singh, A., & Sahoo, S. K. (2013). Magnetic nanoparticles: A novel platform for cancer theranostics. Drug Discovery Today, 19, 474–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2013.10.005
- Singh, N., et al. (2010). Potential toxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION). Nano Reviews, 1(1), 5358–5358. https://doi.org/10.3402/nano.v1i0.5358
- Singh, S. P., et al. (2017). Silver nanoparticles: Biomedical applications, toxicity, and safety issues. International Journal of Research in Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2, 2455–2698.
- Singhal, N., Rishi, V., & Yadav, H. (2001). Cell proliferation assays. https://doi. org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0002566.
- Sligo, T., Lane, A., & Yw, S. F. (2018). Toxicity of nanomaterials: Exposure, pathways, assessment, and recent advances. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, 4, 2237–2275. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.8b00068
- Soni, M. et al. (n.d.) Green nanoparticles: Synthesis and applications, p. 7.
- Steckiewicz, K. P., et al. (2019). Impact of gold nanoparticles shape on their cytotoxicity against human osteoblast and osteosarcoma in in vitro model. Evaluation of the safety of use and anti-cancer potential. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 30, 22. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10856-019-6221-2
- Stone, V., Johnston, H., &Schins, R. P. F. (2009). Development of in vitro systems for nanotoxicology: Methodological considerations. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408440903120975
- Strober, W., & Diseases, I. (2019). Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability, pp. 4–6. doi: https:// doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.ima03bs111.Trypan
- Sun, H., et al. (2018). Development of low molecular weight heparin based nanoparticles for metastatic breast cancer therapy. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 112, 343–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.01.195
- Sun, B., et al. (2019). Probing the impact of sulfur/selenium/carbon linkages on prodrug nanoassemblies for cancer therapy. *Nature Communications*, 10, 3211. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-11193-x
- Svenson, S. (2013). Theranostics: Are we there yet? *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 10(3), 848–856. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp300644n
- Taguchi, K., et al. (2013). Safety of nanoparticles based on albumin-polymer conjugates as a carrier of nucleotides for pancreatic cancer therapy. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, *4*, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8TB01613E
- Tang, H., et al. (2015). Stability, pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and safety assessment of folateconjugated pullulan acetate nanoparticles as cervical cancer targeted drug carriers. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 15(9), 6405–6412. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2015.10752
- Tekade, R. K., Maheshwari, R., & Jain, N. K. (2018). Toxicity of nanostructured biomaterials, nanobiomaterials: nanostructured materials for biomedical applications (p. 256). Elsevier Ltd.. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100716-7.00027-1
- Thomas, R., Park, I.-K., & Jeong, Y. Y. (2013). Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for multimodal imaging and therapy of cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14, 14–14. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms140815910

- Torres Andón, F., & Fadeel, B. (2014). Nanotoxicology: Towards safety by design. Advances in Delivery Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08084-0_14
- Van De Poel, I., & Robaey, Z. (2017). Safe-by-design: From safety to responsibility. *Nanoethics*, 11, 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11569-017-0301-x
- Veerapandian, M., et al. (2009). Biomaterial as nanobiopharmaceuticals. *Thai Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 33(1), 1–21.
- WEBSTER, T. J., et al. (2013). Experimental methods and in vitro cytoxicity and genotoxicity of nanomaterials. *Nano LIFE*, 03(01), 1340008–1340008. https://doi.org/10.1142/ s1793984413400084
- WHO | Key statistics (2020) WHO. World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/ cancer/resources/keyfacts/en/. Accessed: 27 Nov 2020.
- Yahaya, J. W., & Zain, M. (2017). Safer by design strategies. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 836, 012016. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/838/1/012016
- Yamashita, T., et al. (2012). Carbon nanomaterials: Efficacy and safety for nanomedicine. Materials, 5(2), 350–363. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma5020350
- Yan, L., et al. (2019). A safe-by-design strategy towards safer nanomaterials in nanomedicines. Advanced Materials, 31(45), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201805391
- Yang, X., et al. (2017). Redox- sensitive self-assembled nanoparticles based on alpha- tocopherol succinate-modified heparin for intracellular delivery of paclitaxel. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 496, 311–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2017.02.033
- Yu, C., et al. (2019). Hydroxyethyl starch-based nanoparticles featured with redox- sensitivity and chemo-photothermal therapy for synergized tumor eradication. *Cancers*, 11(207), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11020207
- Zhao, K., et al. (2017). Targeted hydroxyethyl starch prodrug for inhibiting the growth and metastasis of prostate cancer. *Biomaterials*, *116*, 82–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2016.11.030
- Zhu, L. et al. (2016). Magnetic nanoparticles for precision oncology: theranostic magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for image-guided and targeted cancer therapy. Nanomedicine. https://doi. org/10.2217/nnm-2016-0316
- Zielińska, A., et al. (2020). Nanotoxicology and nanosafety: Safety-by-design and testing at a glance. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(13), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17134657